
 
Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 

Policy Committee 
Virtual Meeting 

 
Thursday, May 14, 2020 

1:30 p.m. 
 

Agenda 
      1. Call to Order          
    A. Determination of a Quorum   Oral  
    B. Audience Participation*  
     
  2. Minutes      
    A. March 11, 2020 Meeting – Motion Required   Attachment 2A    
                                                           
  3. Staff Reports 
    A. Financial Progress Report – Motion Required    Attachment 3A  
    B. Technical Progress Report   Oral 
    C. AMATS Federal Funds Report   Oral     
     
  4. Old Business 
 
  5. New Business     
   
  6.  Resolutions 
    A. Resolution 2020-05 – Approving an Amendment to    Attachment 6A 
      Transportation Outlook 2040. – Motion Required 
 
    B. Resolution 2020-06 – Approving the Transportation   Attachment 6B 
      Improvement Program FY 2021-2024. – Motion Required 
 
    C. Resolution 2020-07 – Reaffirming the Approval of the Regional    Attachment 6C 
      Transportation Plan and the Transportation Improvement Program,  
      and Affirming the Consistency between the Regional Transportation  
      Plan, the Transportation Improvement Program,  
      and the State Implementation Plan.  – Motion Required 
 
      Resolution 2020-08 – Certification of the Urban     
      Transportation Planning Process. – Motion Required 
 
    D.  Resolution 2020-09 – Approving the FY 2021 Transportation Planning   Attachment 6D 
      Work Program and Budget. – Motion Required    
   
    E. Resolution 2020-10 – Opposing the elimination of the Akron Metropolitan  Attachment 6E  
      Statistical Area by combining it with the Cleveland Metropolitan  
      Statistical Area. – Motion Requested 
     
  7. Other Business  
 
 

- MORE - 
 
  
 



8. Adjournment
Next Regular Meeting:  
Thursday, June 25, 2020 - 1:30 PM 

* Please note that AMATS will be unable to provide an opportunity for live public comment regarding agenda items or other transportation-related issues
due to technological limitations.  AMATS Director Baker will instead read any email or written correspondence that the agency has received from the
public regarding agenda items.

All mailout material is available on the AMATS Web Site at www.amatsplanning.org

http://www.amatsplanning.org/


Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 
Technical Advisory Committee 

Virtual Meeting 

Wednesday, May 6, 2020 
1:30 p.m. 

Agenda 
1. Call to Order

A. Determination of a Quorum Oral 

2. Minutes
A. March 5, 2020 Meeting – Motion Required Attachment 2A 

3. Staff Reports
A. Financial Progress Report – Motion Required Attachment 3A 
B. Technical Progress Report Oral   
C. AMATS Federal Funds Report Oral   

4. Old Business

5. New Business

6. Resolutions
A. Resolution 2020-05 – Approving an Amendment to Attachment 6A 

Transportation Outlook 2040. – Motion Required

B. Resolution 2020-06 – Approving the Transportation Attachment 6B 
Improvement Program FY 2021-2024. – Motion Required

C. Resolution 2020-07 – Reaffirming the Approval of the Regional Attachment 6C 
Transportation Plan and the Transportation Improvement Program,
and Affirming the Consistency between the Regional Transportation
Plan, the Transportation Improvement Program,
and the State Implementation Plan. – Motion Required

Resolution 2020-08 – Certification of the Urban
Transportation Planning Process. – Motion Required

D. Resolution 2020-09 – Approving the FY2021 Transportation Planning Attachment 6D 
Work Program and Budget. – Motion Required

E. Resolution 2020-10 – Opposing the elimination of the Akron Metropolitan Attachment 6E 
Statistical Area by combining it with the Cleveland Metropolitan
Statistical Area. – Motion Requested

7. Other Business

8. Adjournment
Next Regular Meeting:  
Thursday, June 18, 2020 - 1:30 PM 

- MORE -



* Any individual or representative of a group may take three (3) minutes to address the Policy Committee on any topic on the agenda.  Anyone
desiring more time than provided herein shall notify the Director by the Friday preceding the committee meeting so that they may
be placed on the agenda for a maximum of five (5) minutes.

All mailout material is available on the AMATS Web Site at www.amatsplanning.org

http://www.amatsplanning.org/


Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 
Citizens Involvement Committee 

Virtual Meeting 
AMATS Facebook Page - AMATSPlanning 

Thursday, May 7, 2020 
6:30 p.m. 

Agenda 

1. Welcome

2. Introductions and Virtual Meeting Orientation

3. Items
A. Presentation regarding the Draft Transportation Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021

Through 2024 (TIP).

B. An amendment to Transportation Outlook 2040 to add an auxiliary lane along State Route 8 to
a major reconstruction project sponsored by the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT)
on Interstates 76 and 77 and SR 8.

4. Open Discussion

5. Adjournment 7:45 P.M.
Next Regular Meeting: 
Thursday, June 18, 2020 - 6:30 p.m. 
Location – To Be Announced 

All mailout material is available on the AMATS Web Site at www.amatsplanning.org

https://www.facebook.com/AMATSPlanning


1 

Attachment 2A-POLICY 

Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 
Policy Committee 

Wednesday, March 11, 2020 – 1:30 p.m. 

Minutes of Meeting 

Recordings of AMATS committee meetings are available in the Podcast section of the agency web site at 
www.amatsplanning.org/category/meetings/. 

I. Call to Order

A. Chairwoman Clark called the meeting to order in Ballroom A of the Hilton
Garden Inn.  The attending members constituted a quorum.

Chairwoman Clark asked for the meeting attendees to introduce themselves.
Introductions were made.

B. Audience Participation

None.

II. Minutes – Motion Required

A. Approval of Minutes

Members were asked to approve the minutes of the January 23, 2020 meeting.

Motion
Michael Marozzi made a motion to approve the minutes and it was seconded by
Frank Hairston. The motion was approved by a voice vote.

III. Staff Reports

A. Financial Progress Report

Curtis Baker presented Attachment 3A.

Motion
David G. Kline made a motion to approve the Financial Progress Report and it
was seconded by Amy Mohr. The motion was approved by a voice vote.

B. Technical Progress Report

Mr. Baker said that a potential consequence of the Coronavirus outbreak is that
the Trump administration and Congress are reportedly considering an economic
stimulus program that is primarily focused on transportation spending.

http://www.amatsplanning.org/category/podcasts/


2 

Mr. Baker said that AMATS is receiving guidance from the city of Akron, the 
Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) and federal officials that the 
AMATS Policy Committee should be prepared to make decisions remotely in the 
event of a shutdown.  Mr. Baker noted that federal guidelines regarding the 
approval of the TIP remain unchanged with approval by the Policy Committee 
expected in May and final approval of the TIP by the federal government in June. 

Mr. Baker said that he and Chairwoman Clark discussed the issue and agreed to 
poll the members regarding whether AMATS should have a method of online 
voting or other process in place to make decisions.    

Mayor Bertrand expressed support for having a voting process in place, possibly 
a ballot that could be distributed through email.  Mayor Goncy asked how such 
voting would take place.  Mr. Baker noted that ballots would likely be Word 
documents sent through email rather than postal mail.   

PARTA General Manager Amrhein asked whether metropolitan planning 
organizations (MPOs) are permitted to vote remotely.  Mr. Baker said that the 
agency must conduct additional research to determine whether MPOs and 
councils of governments (COGs) are permitted to vote online.  Mr. Baker said 
that the agency has been in constant consultation with ODOT regarding this issue. 

Frank Hairston noted that the Policy Committee should be prepared in the event 
that the virus may recede in May, but return in the fall and winter. 

Tom Sheridan noted that the city of Hudson is investigating the issue of remote 
decision making with regards to public meetings in the event that Gov. DeWine 
declares a state of emergency. 

Mayor Adamson said that the issue of public participation may apply differently 
to a governmental body such as AMATS versus a municipality due to the 
agency’s composition. 

Mr. Baker noted that there are questions between AMATS and ODOT as to 
whether the planned public participation period for the Draft AMATS FY 2021-
2024 TIP and the Draft State FY 2021-2024 TIP, which was scheduled for March 
30 through April 10, will proceed.  Chad Root said that he was informed that the 
Draft TIP and Draft STIP are considered “critical mission items” and that 
development would proceed as planned.  

Mr. Baker polled the Policy Committee as to whether the members approved of 
online voting in the case of emergencies if able and legal to do so.  Mr. Marozzi 
asked Mr. Baker if he wanted a motion by the committee to address the issue.  
Mr. Baker said yes. 



3 

Motion 
Michael Marozzi made a motion that the AMATS Policy Committee utilize online 
voting in the event of emergencies and it was seconded by Frank Hairston. The 
motion was approved by a voice vote.   

Joe Paradise asked whether the Staff would prepare a policy statement regarding 
online voting by the Policy Committee for the committee’s consideration and 
vote.  Mr. Baker said yes. 

C. AMATS Federal Funds Report

David Pulay presented Attachment 3C and tables concerning STBG, CMAQ and
TASA Funding Program and Balances dated February 24, 2020.

IV. Old Business

A. FY 2021-2024 TIP – Second Draft Projects List.

Mr. Pulay presented Attachment 4A.

Motion
Scott A. Miller made a motion to approve the FY 2021-2024 TIP – Second Draft
Projects List and it was seconded by Glenn M. Broska. The motion was
approved.

V. New Business

None. 

VI. Resolutions

A. Resolution 2020-03 – Approving Amendment #28 to the Transportation
Improvement Program FY 2018-2021 - To Add Ohio EPA-Awarded DERG
Funds in FY 2020 for PARTA and Add Additional Funding for METRO and
PARTA.

Jeff Gardner presented Attachment 6A.

Motion
Joe Paradise made a motion to approve Resolution 2020-03 and it was seconded
by Bill Goncy. The motion was approved.

B. Resolution 2020-04 – Approving Amendment #29 to the Transportation
Improvement Program FY 2018-2021 to add four new projects.

Mr. Pulay presented Attachment 6B.



4 

Motion 
Glenn M. Broska made a motion to approve Resolution 2020-04 and it was 
seconded by Claudia B. Amrhein. The motion was approved. 

VII. Other Business

A. Development of METRO 10-Year Strategic Plan.

METRO Director of Planning and Strategic Development Valerie Shea
described the need for and purpose of METRO’s 10-Year Strategic Plan.  Ms.
Shea summarized the three-phase development of the plan and how communities
in the region can participate in its preparation.

Ms. Shea described METRO’s internal and public outreach activities concerning
its new 10-Year Strategic Plan.  Ms. Shea described METRO’s Buses & Brews
events.  Ms. Shea said that additional information is available on the METRO
website - akronmetro.org.

Ms. Shea thanked AMATS and PARTA for cosponsoring the March 25
Collaborative Community Transit Workshop at The Venue in Tallmadge as part
of the plan update process.  Mr. Baker expressed support for the workshop and
said that those planning on attending the workshop should contact Martha
Chandler of the AMATS staff to register.

VIII. Adjournment

A. Mr. Baker said that the location of the May 14 meeting of the AMATS Policy
Committee may change due to scheduling concerns.  The Staff will notify the
members if there is a change in location.

B. Motion
David G. Kline made a motion to adjourn the meeting and it was seconded by
Frank Hairston. The motion was approved..

The next regularly scheduled Policy Committee meeting is tentatively scheduled
for 1:30 p.m. on Thursday, May 14, 2020.



5 

AMATS POLICY COMMITTEE 
2020 ATTENDANCE 

M  Denotes Member Present   
A   Denotes Alternate Present 

Jan 
23 

Mar 
11 

May 
14 

June 
25 

Sept 
24 

Dec 
17 

AKRON - Mayor Dan Horrigan (Hardy) (DiFiore) A A 
AURORA - Mayor Ann Womer Benjamin (Stark) (Januska) A 
BARBERTON - Mayor William B. Judge (Stefan) (Vinay) M M 
BOSTON HEIGHTS - Mayor Bill Goncy (Polyak) M 
CLINTON - Mayor Clarissa Allega 
CUYAHOGA FALLS - Mayor Don Walters (Zumbo) A 
DOYLESTOWN - Mayor Terry Lindeman (Kerr) A 
FAIRLAWN - Mayor William Roth (Spagnuolo) (Staten) 
GARRETTSVILLE - Mayor Rick Patrick (Klamer) 
GREEN - Mayor Gerard Neugebauer (Wax Carr) 
HIRAM - Mayor Lou Bertrand (J. McGee) M M 
HUDSON - City Mgr. Jane Howington (Comeriato) (Hannan) (Sheridan) A A 
KENT – City Mgr. David Ruller (Baker) (Bowling) A 
LAKEMORE – Mayor Rick Justice (Fast) A 
MACEDONIA - Mayor Nick Molnar (Gigliotti) (Sheehy) 
MANTUA - Mayor Linda Clark (Iafelice) (Trew) M M 
METRO – Dawn Distler (Shea) A M 
MOGADORE - Mayor Michael Rick 
MUNROE FALLS - Mayor James W. Armstrong (Bowery) 
NEW FRANKLIN - Mayor Paul Adamson (Kepler) (Kochheiser) M M 
NORTHFIELD – Mayor Jesse Nehez (Magistrelli) 
NORTON - Mayor Mike Zita (Fowler) A 
ODOT – Gery Noirot (Rebillot) (Root) M A 
PARTA – Rick Bissler (Amrhein) (Baba) (Popik) (Schrader) A A 
PENINSULA - Mayor Douglas Mayer 
PORTAGE COUNTY COMM. - Kathleen Clyde (Hairston) A A 
PORTAGE COUNTY COMM.  – Vicki Kline (Long) A 
PORTAGE COUNTY COMM.  - Sabrina Christian-Bennett (Hlad) A A 
PORTAGE COUNTY ENGINEER - Michael Marozzi (Jenkins)   M M 
RAVENNA - Mayor Frank Seman (Finney) A A 
REMINDERVILLE - Mayor Sam Alonso (Krock) 
RICHFIELD - Mayor Michael Wheeler (Darwish) (Papp) M M 
RITTMAN – City Mgr. Bobbie Beshara (Robertson) (Heater) M 
SILVER LAKE - Mayor Bernie Hovey (Housley) 
STOW - Mayor John Pribonic (Kurtz) (McCleary) A 
STREETSBORO - Mayor Glenn M. Broska (Cieszkowski) M 
SUGAR BUSH KNOLLS - Mayor John Guidubaldi 
SUMMIT COUNTY ENGINEER-Al Brubaker (Fulton) (Paradise) A A 
SUMMIT COUNTY EXECUTIVE - Ilene Shapiro (Genet) A 
SUMMIT COUNTY COMM. & ECON. DEV. - Connie Krauss 
SUMMIT COUNTY COMM. & ECON. DEV. – Stephen Knittel 
TALLMADGE - Mayor David G. Kline (Kidder) M M 
TWINSBURG - Mayor Ted Yates (Mohr) (Finch) A A 
WAYNE COUNTY COMM. BOARD - Dominic Oliverio (Broome) 
WAYNE COUNTY ENGINEER – Scott A. Miller M 
WINDHAM - Mayor Deborah Blewitt 



6 

AMATS POLICY COMMITTEE 
2020 ATTENDANCE 

OBSERVERS AND STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

NAME REPRESENTING 
Ms. Emily Baarson METRO 
Ms. Marilu Gaar NEOSTAR 
Mr. Chuck Hauber Summit County Engineer 
Ms. Lauren Phillis ODOT District 4 
Mr. Clayton Popik PARTA 
Mr. Chad Root ODOT District 4 
Ms. Valerie Shea METRO 

Mr. Curtis Baker AMATS 
Mr. Seth Bush AMATS 
Ms. Heather Davis Reidl AMATS 
Mr. Jeffrey Gardner AMATS 
Mr. Darryl Kleinhenz AMATS 
Mr. Kerry Prater AMATS 
Mr. Dave Pulay AMATS 



1 

Attachment 2A – TAC 

Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 
Technical Advisory Committee 

Thursday, March 5, 2020 – 1:30 p.m. 

Minutes of Meeting 

Recordings of AMATS committee meetings are available in the Podcast section of the agency web site at 
www.amatsplanning.org/category/meetings/. 

I. Call to Order

A. Chairman John H. Cieszkowski, Jr. called the meeting to order in Ballroom A
of the Hilton Garden Inn.  The attending members constituted a quorum.

II. Minutes – Motion Required

A. Approval of Minutes

Members were asked to approve the minutes of the January 16, 2020 meeting.

Motion
Joe Paradise made a motion to approve the minutes and it was seconded by John
Kovacich. The motion was approved by a voice vote.

III. Staff Reports

A. Financial Progress Report

Curtis Baker presented Attachment 3A.

Motion
Jim Bowling made a motion to approve the Financial Progress Report and it was
seconded by Tony Demasi.  The motion was approved by a voice vote.

B. Technical Progress Report

Mr. Baker said that a potential consequence of the Coronavirus outbreak is that
the Trump administration and Congress are reportedly considering an economic
stimulus program that is primarily focused on transportation spending.

Development of the Greater Akron area’s Pavement Condition Index (PCI) is
underway.

C. AMATS Federal Funds Report

David Pulay presented Attachment 3C and tables concerning STBG, CMAQ and
TASA Funding Program and Balances dated February 24, 2020.

http://www.amatsplanning.org/category/podcasts/


2 

Steve Rebillot noted that project sponsors that have FY 2020 projects that get 
delayed may have to wait until October for a TIP amendment to include such 
projects in the new FY 2021-2024 TIP.  Mr. Rebillot urged sponsors to contact 
AMATS regarding the inclusion of FY 2020 projects in the new listing by March 
12. Mr. Baker reiterated Mr. Rebillot’s comments that FY 2020 projects that are
delayed must be included in the listing otherwise such projects lack federal
authorization through the TIP process.

Mr. Pulay said that most of the FY 2020 projects are included on the Draft TIP’s 
Carry Forward List, which may be sufficient in terms of federal authorization.  
Mr. Pulay added that AMATS wants sponsors to keep them apprised regarding 
the scheduling of projects.  

IV. Old Business

A. FY 2021-2024 TIP – Second Draft Projects List.

Mr. Pulay presented Attachment 4A.

Joe Paradise said that ODOT officials indicated during a recent conference that,
when Gov. Mike DeWine sought approval of a statewide gas tax increase last
year, his administration and ODOT identified 150 projects in high-accident
locations across the state that would receive funding if the tax was approved by
the Ohio General Assembly.  (The increase was approved and these projects are
being funded.)  The DeWine administration has requested a second list of 150
projects in high-crash locations.  Mr. Paradise said that AMATS project
sponsors should rely on the 2016-2018 Traffic Crash Report and New Safety
Performance Measures to identify safety projects for submittal for this funding.

Mr. Baker asked Mr. Rebillot to address Mr. Paradise’ comments and noted that
Akron’s Dart Avenue project was among the initial 150 projects to receive
funding.  Mr. Rebillot said that ODOT District 4 has a tentative list of safety
projects for submittal.  Mr. Rebillot added that any project approved by ODOT
for safety funding during calendar year 2020 will not require a 10 percent funding
match.

Motion
Jim Bowling made a motion to approve the FY 2021-2024 TIP – Second Draft
Projects List and it was seconded by Joe Paradise. The motion was approved.

V. New Business

None. 

VI. Resolutions

A. Resolution 2020-03 – Approving Amendment #28 to the Transportation
Improvement Program FY 2018-2021 - To Add Ohio EPA-Awarded DERG



3 

Funds in FY 2020 for PARTA and Add Additional Funding for METRO and 
PARTA. 

Mr. Pulay presented Attachment 6A. 

Motion 
Jim Kusner made a motion to approve Resolution 2020-03 and it was seconded 
by Jim Bowling. The motion was approved. 

B. Resolution 2020-04 – Approving Amendment #29 to the Transportation
Improvement Program FY 2018-2021 to add four new projects.

Mr. Pulay presented Attachment 6B.

Motion
Jim McCleary made a motion to approve Resolution 2020-04 and it was
seconded by Tony Demasi. The motion was approved.

VII. Other Business

A. Development of METRO 10-Year Strategic Plan.

METRO Executive Director Dawn Distler introduced METRO Director of
Planning and Strategic Development Valerie Shea.  Director Distler described
METRO’s internal and public outreach activities concerning its new 10-Year
Strategic Plan.

Ms. Shea described the need for and purpose of METRO’s 10-Year Strategic
Plan.  Ms. Shea summarized the three-phase development of the plan and how
communities in the region can participate in its preparation.

Ms. Shea thanked AMATS and PARTA for cosponsoring the March 25
Collaborative Community Transit Workshop at The Venue in Tallmadge as part
of the plan update process.  Mr. Baker expressed support for the workshop and
said that those planning on attending the workshop should contact Martha
Chandler of the AMATS staff to register.

B. Mr. Baker asked the attendees to remind the mayors of their respective
communities that the AMATS Policy Committee will meet on Wednesday, March
11. Chairman Cieszkowski noted that the next meeting of the TAC will be on
Wednesday, May 6.

VIII. Adjournment

Motion 
John Kovacich made a motion to adjourn and it was seconded by Jim Bowling. 
The motion was approved. 



4 

The next regularly scheduled TAC meeting will be at 1:30 p.m. on 
Wednesday, May 6, 2020.



5 

AMATS TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
2020 ATTENDANCE 

M  Denotes Member Present   
A   Denotes Alternate Present 

Jan 
16 

Mar 
5 

May 
6 

June 
18 

Sept 
17 

Dec 
10 

AKRON ENGINEERING BUREAU- Michael J. Teodecki (Jonke) M 
AKRON PLANNING DEPT. – Mark Moore (Tomic) 
AKRON TRAFFIC ENGINEERING - Michael Lupica M 
AURORA - Harry Stark (Czekaj)(Cooper) 
BARBERTON – Melissa McFadden 
BARBERTON – Greg Tracy 
CUYAHOGA FALLS - Fred Guerra (Paul) 
CUYAHOGA FALLS - Tony V. Demasi (Marko) M 
DOYLESTOWN - Eng. Assoc. - Ronny Portz 
FAIRLAWN - Nicholas Spagnuolo (Staten) A 
GREEN - Wayne Wiethe (Haring) M 
GREEN - Paul Pickett (Schemansky) 
HUDSON – Bradley Kosco (Sheridan) M M 
HUDSON – Kris McMaster (Hannan) M M 
KENT - Jim Bowling M M 
KENT - Jon Giaquinto (Baker) 
LAKEMORE – Mayor Richard Cole, Jr. (Fast) 
MACEDONIA - Joseph Gigliotti (Sheehy) 
METRO - Dawn Distler (Baarson) (Shea) A A 
MOGADORE – Vacant 
MUNROE FALLS – Vacant 
NEFCO - Joe Hadley (Lautzenheiser) A 
NEW FRANKLIN - Bryan Kepler (Ganoe) M 
NORTHFIELD - Richard S. Wasosky 
NORTON – Josh Slaga (Hess) 
ODOT – Chad Root (Phillis) (Rebillot) M A 
PARTA – Claudia Amrhein (Baba) (Popik) (Schrader) A A 
PORTAGE COUNTY ENGINEER – Larry Jenkins (Kusner) M 
PORTAGE CO. REG. PLANNING COMM. - Todd Peetz (McGee) 
PORTAGE COUNTY SMALL VILLAGES – John Trew 
PORTAGE COUNTY TOWNSHIP ASSOC – John Kovacich (Greener) M M 
RAVENNA - Robert Finney (Jeffers) M M 
RICHFIELD - Chris Papp (Frantz) (Neumeyer) M 
RITTMAN – Bobbie Beshara (Robertson) 
SILVER LAKE – John Tutak 
STOW – James McCleary (Donovan) M M 
STOW – Mike Jones (Sisson) M 
STREETSBORO – John H. Cieszkowski, Jr. (Broska) M M 
SUMMIT CO. COMM. & ECON. DEV. – Stephen Knittel (Krauss) 
SUMMIT COUNTY ENGINEER - Alan Brubaker (Fulton) (Paradise) A A 
SUMMIT COUNTY SMALL VILLAGES - Vacant 
SUMMIT COUNTY TOWNSHIP ASSOC. - Richard Reville (Funk) 
TALLMADGE - Andrea Kidder (Kline) 
TWINSBURG - Amy Mohr (Muter) M 
WAYNE COUNTY ENGINEER – Scott A. Miller 
WINDHAM – Deborah Blewitt (Brown) 

A 



6 



AMATS TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
2020 ATTENDANCE 

7 

M  Denotes Member Present   
A   Denotes Alternate Present 

Jan 
16 

Mar 
5 

May 
6 

June 
18 

Sept 
17 

Dec 
10 

NON-VOTING MEMBERS  
AKRON CANTON AIRPORT - Renato Camacho 
AKRON REG. AIR QUALITY MGT. DISTRICT – Sam Rubens M 
AMATS - Curtis Baker M M 
CUYAHOGA VALLEY NATIONAL PARK – Vacant 
ENVIRONMENTAL COMMUNITY REP. - Kurt Princic 
GREATER AKRON CHAMBER - Gregg Cramer 
OHIO TURNPIKE COMMISSION – Anthony Yacobucci 
PORTAGE COUNTY PORT AUTHORITY – Vacant 
PORTAGE PARK DISTRICT - Christine Craycroft 
PRIVATE TRANSPORTATION PROVIDER (CYC) – Deb Stolfo (Posten) 
RAILROAD INDUSTRY REP. - William A. Callison (Davis) 
SUMMIT COUNTY PORT AUTHORITY – Vacant 
SUMMIT METRO PARKS – Mark Szeremet (King) M M 
TRUCKING INDUSTRY – Vacant 

OBSERVERS AND STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

NAME REPRESENTING 

Ms. Dawn Distler METRO 
Mr. George Maki E.L. Robinson Engineering
Ms. Jesenia Medina DLZ
Ms. Valerie Shea METRO

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

Mr. Seth Bush AMATS 
Ms. Heather Davis Reidl AMATS 
Mr. Jeff Gardner AMATS 
Mr. Darryl Kleinhenz AMATS 
Mr. Kerry Prater AMATS 
Mr. Dave Pulay AMATS 



1 

Attachment 2A - CIC 

Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 
Citizens Involvement Committee 

Thursday, March 5, 2020 – 6:30 p.m. 

Meeting Summary 

Recordings of AMATS committee meetings are available in the Podcast section of the agency web site at 
www.amatsplanning.org/category/podcasts/.   

Attendees: 

Carson Barnes 
William J. Maki 

Diane Schultz 
Fred Wise 

Matt Mullen

Staff: 

Curtis Baker, Director 
Jeff Gardner, Transportation Planner 

Darryl Kleinhenz, Planner 
Heather Davis Reidl, Planner

I. Welcome

Curtis Baker welcomed the AMATS Citizens Involvement Committee (CIC) meeting
attendees.

The attendees introduced themselves.

Mr. Baker said that a potential consequence of the Coronavirus outbreak is that the
Trump administration and Congress are reportedly considering an economic stimulus
program that is primarily focused on infrastructure funding.

Mr. Baker said that METRO has begun development of its 10-Year Strategic Plan.  Mr.
Baker introduced METRO Grants and Compliance Specialist Matt Mullen who would be
addressing the CIC regarding the plan later during the meeting.

II. Discussion Items

A. Second Draft Projects List for the Draft Transportation Improvement
Program for Fiscal Years 2021 Through 2024 (TIP).

Mr. Baker presented Attachment 4A.

Carson Barnes addressed the CIC regarding the Draft FY 2021-2024 TIP.  Mr.
Barnes expressed concerns that the Draft TIP omits Transportation Systems
Management and related approaches to the dilemmas of traffic congestion, air
quality improvement and reductions in vehicle miles travelled.  (See
ATTACHMENT)

Mr. Barnes stated that there is a need for an origin-and-destination (O&D) study
for several key employers within the city of Akron: Akron Children’s Hospital,

http://www.amatsplanning.org/category/podcasts/


2 

Cleveland Clinic Akron General, Summa Akron City Hospital, and The 
University of Akron.   

Mr. Barnes presented lists of several suggested locations for park and ride lots 
and High Occupancy Vehicle (HOV) lanes in the Greater Akron area.   

Mr. Barnes stated that the Draft TIP should address additional modes of 
transportation such as paratransit and van pool services for children, the elderly 
and persons with disabilities. 

Mr. Barnes stated that, once the final draft of the TIP is prepared, AMATS 
should hire a planning firm to assess the environmental impacts of the program’s 
projects on surrounding neighborhoods.  Mr. Barnes stated that citizens should 
be allowed to comment on the assessment.   

Mr. Baker said that, while AMATS has stated its support for park and ride lots in 
its long-range planning, issues in developing such lots arise when communities 
attempt to identify and acquire property for their development.  Mr. Baker added 
that the Draft TIP does include funding for METRO and PARTA to purchase 
vans and small and large buses for their respective paratransit services. 

Mr. Baker noted that AMATS does use traffic and air quality data based on 
O&D studies compiled by the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT).  Mr. 
Baker said that AMATS does not have adequate funds or resources in its 
planning budget to conduct as comprehensive of an O&D study as Mr. Barnes is 
advocating.  Mr. Baker said that AMATS is using other tools – most notably cell 
phone data - that provide information similar to that provided by an O&D study, 
but are more cost efficient for the agency’s purposes.   

Mr. Baker added that AMATS supports comprehensive transit and express bus 
service in the Greater Akron area. 

Mr. Baker invited Mr. Barnes to an April 2 public involvement meeting at the 
library regarding the Draft TIP.  Mr. Baker said that Mr. Barnes could submit his 
comments regarding the Draft TIP in writing for incorporation into the final 
program.  Mr. Baker indicated that Mr. Barnes’ comments would be shared with 
the AMATS Policy Committee during its Wednesday, March 11 meeting.  Mr. 
Baker said that, if Mr. Barnes did not address the Policy Committee, he would 
inform the committee that AMATS had received public comments regarding the 
Draft TIP.        

B. METRO 10-Year Strategic Plan.

Mr. Baker introduced METRO Government Affairs and Compliance Specialist
Matt Mullen.

Mr. Mullen described METRO’s internal and public outreach activities
concerning its new 10-Year Strategic Plan.



3 

Mr. Mullen described the need for and purpose of METRO’s 10-Year Strategic 
Plan.  Mr. Mullen summarized the three-phase development of the plan and how 
communities in the region can participate in its preparation. 

Mr. Baker asked what sort of alternative fuel technology that the Stark Area 
Regional Transit Authority (SARTA) uses.  Mr. Mullen said that SARTA’s 
buses use hydrogen fuel cell technology.  Mr. Mullen said that METRO is 
considering electric vehicles and hydrogen fuel cell technology.  The attendees 
discussed the use of alternative-powered vehicles.  

Mr. Mullen said that METRO anticipates completion of its 10-Year Strategic 
Plan by June.  William J. Maki asked whether METRO will have finalized new 
routes and schedules by fall.  Mr. Mullen said yes.  The attendees discussed the 
development and planning of bus routes.       

Fred Wise asked about the termini of the Freedom Trail Phase 4 project (PID# 
107930) listed in Table H-3 and when the project would be completed.  Mr. 
Baker said that there are concerns regarding the project’s termini and that he was 
informed that the project would be completed in 2023.  The attendees discussed 
the development of the Freedom Trail and its connection to The PORTAGE Trail. 

Mr. Baker announced that AMATS is organizing several Bike-N-Brainstorm 
events, including an event involving the mayors of the cities of Akron, Cuyahoga 
Falls and Tallmadge during the last week in May.  Darryl Kleinhenz said that 
AMATS is working with METRO to host an upcoming Bikes and Buses event.   

III. Adjournment

There being no other business, the meeting was adjourned. 

The next meeting of the CIC is scheduled for 6:30 p.m. on Thursday, 
May 7, 2020.









Attachment 3A

F:\Administration\AMATS Committee Meetings\2020\5 - May\Meeting Materials - pdfs\March FPR for KP 4.15.20

Annual Year-to-Date % Budget March
Description Budget Expenses Expended  Expenses

I. Short Range Planning $446,000 $376,875 85% $33,327
     FY2019 Carryover 146,000 146,723 0
     FY2020 300,000 230,152 33,327

II. Transportation Improvement Program $331,550 $165,733 50% $25,146
     FY2019 Carryover 69,050 68,407 0
     FY2020 262,500 97,326 25,146

III. Continuing Planning & Data Collection $243,800 $164,595 68% $6,127
Transportation System Update
     FY2019 Carryover 63,800 63,281 0
     FY2020 180,000 101,314 6,127

IV. Long Range Plan Activity $404,000 $126,125 31% $9,545
     FY2019 Carryover 54,000 53,874 0
     FY2020 350,000 72,251 9,545

V. Service $449,500 $267,303 59% $18,654
     FY2019 Carryover 124,500 124,304 0
     FY2020 325,000 142,998 18,654

VI. OhioRideshare and AQ Advocacy $241,630 $5,599 2% $0
     FY2019 OhioRideshare Carryover 33,480 1,092 0
     FY2020 OhioRideshare 60,000 3,750 0
     FY2019 Air Quality Carryover 48,150 757 0
     FY2020 Air Quality 100,000 0 0

VII. Local $25,000 $26,175 105% $0
     AMATS local Costs 25,000 26,175 0

VIII. AMATS Transportation Quarterly $85,342 $38,290 45% $2,533
     FY2019 Carryover 15,750 15,660 0
     FY2020 69,592 22,629 2,533

IX. GRAND TOTAL AMATS BUDGET $2,226,822 $1,170,696 53% $95,332

 FINANCIAL PROGRESS REPORT
AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY

March 31, 2020



ODOT
PID STBG PROJECT NAME SPONSOR PHASE

Sold
88556 Tallmadge Ave/Dayton St Akron (R)C $2,484,000 1
103818 Portage Lakes Dr resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $161,200 3
98486 US 224 paving/curb ramps Akron C $73,639 3
110168 SR 43/59 curb ramps Kent C $150,000 3
108133 E Waterloo Rd PH 1 & 2 resurfacing Akron C $1,017,876 4

Pending
107761 Aurora Citywide Signal Improvement Aurora R(C) $60,000
103293 Cleveland Massillon Rd Fairlawn R(C) $200,000
84397 Seiberling Way Ph 1 Akron P(R)(C) $24,668
90415 SR 241 (Massillon Rd) Green (R)C $3,520,000
93822 SR 91 (Darrow Rd) Hudson (P)C $2,800,000
107261 S. Medina Line Rd-Ph 1 resurfacing Norton C $381,700
99725 Canton Rd resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $397,890
107794 South Main St South & North Resurfacing New Franklin C $882,356
108375 S Van Buren Ave/W Waterloo Rd resurfacing Barberton C $615,976
108132 South Hawkins Rd resurfacing Akron C $700,000
102701 E. Exchange St-complete street Akron R(C) $240,000
102904 W. Steels Corners Rd-phase 1 resurfacing Cuy Falls C $700,000
103172 Massillon Rd (SR 241) Ph 2/Corporate Woods Green R $1,398,346
102234 SR 14 widening Streetsboro C $2,170,005
103293 Cleveland Massillon Rd Fairlawn (R)C $266,667
107761 Aurora Citywide Signal Improvement Aurora (R)C $3,458,040
108498 Wooster Rd resurfacing Norton C $291,200
108372 Wooster Rd North/Norton Rd resurfacing Barberton C $767,160
108200 White Pond Dr resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $600,000
108370 Wooster Rd/State St reconstruction Barberton C $1,930,644
108467 Cleveland Massillon Rd Part 1 Resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $700,000
108468 Cleveland Massillon Rd Part 2 Resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $700,000
108454 Olde Eight Road Resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $700,000
108140 Ravenna Rd Part 1 Resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $700,000
105373 2nd St SW/Wooster Rd (Resurfacing) Barberton C $408,422
102701 E. Exchange St-complete street Akron (R)C $3,600,000
108865 Smith Rd Resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $700,000
108098 Chestnut Blvd Resurfacing Cuy Falls C $392,000
107886 North River Rd Resurfacing Munroe Falls C $558,590
108453 Akron Cleveland Rd Resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $700,000
108141 Valley View Rd Resurfacing Summit Co Eng C $300,000
108240 Wooster Rd West Reconstruction Barberton C $5,507,836
107689 Mill Rd/S. Diamond St Resurfacing Ravenna C $268,000
108084 Portage Trail Extension Turn Lane Cuy Falls C $3,649,197
106416 SR 43 Widening Streetsboro C $858,657

2020 2021 2022 2023
P = Engineering Annual STBG Expenditures $12,915,723 $9,991,418 $10,431,066 $11,842,280
R = Right-of-Way Annual STBG Allocations $14,037,459 $10,633,414 $10,633,414 $10,633,414
C = Construction Balance $1,121,736 $641,996 $202,348 -$1,208,866

AMATS TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
STBG Funding Program and Balances   

April 20, 2020

Q
ua

rte
r

FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023



ODOT
PID CMAQ PROJECT NAME SPONSOR PHASE

Sold
97834 Air Quality Advocacy Program AMATS $100,000 1
97831 Rideshare Program AMATS $60,000 1

Pending
93442 SR 43 (South Water St)* Kent R(C) $75,520

108131 Cleveland Massillon Rd/Ridgewood Rd Summit Co Eng C $280,000
100692 Air Quality Advocacy Program AMATS $120,000
100691 Rideshare Program AMATS $80,000
93433 Canton Rd/East Market St Akron (R)C $788,320

102992 CNG Bus Replacement (4 buses) PARTA C $832,000
98585 Tallmadge Rd Interchange Portage Co Eng (R)C $3,000,000

103293 Cleveland Massillon Rd Fairlawn (R)C $4,462,924
103173 Massillon Rd (SR 241) Ph 3/Boettler Green R(C) $445,500
111426 Air Quality Advocacy Program AMATS $100,000
111431 Rideshare Program AMATS $80,000
111777 CNG Bus Buy 2022 (2 buses) PARTA C $920,000
103173 Massillon Rd (SR 241) Ph 3/Boettler Green (R)C $2,827,675
103172 Massillon Rd/Corporate Woods Cir PH 2 Green C $2,606,199
106445 SR 91-13.53 (SR 91 South Widening Project) Hudson C $2,500,000
111428 Air Quality Advocacy Program AMATS $100,000
111432 Rideshare Program AMATS $80,000
112270 CNG Bus Buy (3 buses) METRO C $1,560,000
106416 SR 43 Widening Streetsboro C $3,300,775

2020 2021 2022 2023
P = Engineering Annual CMAQ Expenditures $932,058 $9,728,744 $9,033,874 $5,040,775
R = Right-of-Way Annual CMAQ Allocations $1,567,181 $5,591,127 $5,591,127 $5,591,127
C = Construction Balance $635,123 -$4,137,617 -$3,442,747 $550,352

ODOT
PID TASA PROJECT NAME SPONSOR PHASE

Sold
97856 Veterans Trail-Ph 1 Hudson C $500,000 2

107814 Darrow Rd (SR 91) Sidewalks Stow R(C) $174,131 3
Pending

105556 The Portage Trail - Ravenna Rd Bridge Portage Co Eng P(C) $40,000
99728 Moore Rd sidewalks Green C $500,000

103834 Portage Hike and Bike-Brady's Leap Connection Kent C $700,000
107814 Darrow Rd (SR 91) Sidewalks Stow (R)C $516,050
105556 The Portage Trail - Ravenna Rd Bridge Portage Parks (P)C $313,600
99729 Raber Rd sidewalks Green C $500,000

102796 Freedom Trail/Portage Trail Connector MetroParks/Tallm C $700,000
105373 2nd St SW/Wooster Rd (Towpath Trail connector) Barberton C $422,640
107797 CVNP Ped Bridge & Trail Summit Co Eng C $700,000
112788 Cleveland Massillon Rd sidewalk Summit Co Eng P(R)(C) $120,000
107930 Freedom Trail Phase 4 MetroParks C $700,000

2020 2021 2022 2023
$1,214,131 $1,216,050 $2,636,240 $820,000
$1,569,476 $1,063,342 $1,063,342 $1,063,342

Balance $355,345 -$152,708 -$1,572,898 $243,342

AMATS TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
CMAQ Funding Program and Balances 

April 20, 2020

FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022

Annual TASA Allocations

Q
ua

rte
r

FY 2021 FY 2022

AMATS TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
TASA Funding Program and Balances

April 20, 2020

FY 2023

Annual TASA Expenditures

FY 2020

FY 2023Q
ua

rte
r



Attachment 6A 

AKRON  METROPOLITAN  AREA  TRANSPORTATION  STUDY 

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Policy Committee  
Technical Advisory Committee  
Citizens Involvement Committee 

FROM: AMATS Staff 

RE: Resolution 2020-05 – Approving an Amendment to Transportation Outlook 
2040 

DATE: April 29, 2020 

Transportation Outlook 2040 is the area’s Regional Transportation Plan and identifies 
transportation policy and project recommendations, including long-term highway, transit, bike 
and pedestrian recommendations. In order for transportation projects in the greater Akron area to 
receive federal funds they must be consistent with Transportation Outlook 2040.  

A minor revision to AMATS Transportation Outlook is necessary to include the SUM-Central 
Interchange Reconstruction with SR 8 Southbound Auxiliary Lane project (PID 102329). The 
project involves adding a through lane southbound from the Carroll Street on-ramp, through the 
Central Interchange extending to I-277. An additional lane will also be carried northbound on I-
77 from I-277 to just south of the Central Interchange, as part of the Major Rehab project.  While 
the Central Interchange Reconstruction project is in the current plan, AMATS did not analyze 
the auxiliary lane on SR8 or I-77 lane addition for air quality conformity.   

Transportation Outlook 2040 as amended must be fiscally constrained.  AMATS must forecast 
revenues available for projects and forecast project costs to demonstrate that the recommended 
projects can be implemented over the life of the plan.  AMATS has amended project costs of the 
current major highway projects identified in Transportation Outlook 2040 and the Plan is fiscally 
constrained as shown in the table below. 

ID Freeway   Location Recommendation Year of 
Expenditure Cost

Amendment

1 I-77 Arlington to I-277 Add Capacity 64,000,000$           
2 I-77/76/277/SR 8 Akron Beltway Project Reconfigure Interchanges 50,000,000$           
3 I-77 Ghent to Cuyahoga County Line Add Capacity 150,000,000$        105,000,000$  
4 SR 8 Perkins to Glenwood Replace Bridge 150,000,000$        110,000,000$  

5 I-77/76/SR 8

I-77 and SR 8 including the
Central Interchange from I-277 
to Carroll St

Reconfigure Interchanges(including 
SR 8 SB Auxilary Lane and I-77 lane 
addition) 65,000,000$           150,000,000$  

6 I-76/US 224 State Rd/Wooster Rd Reconfigure Interchanges 26,000,000$        
505,000,000$        505,000,000$  



2 

Transportation Outlook 2040 as amended must also demonstrate air quality conformity.  The Air 
Quality Conformity Analysis forecasts the mobile emissions generated by vehicles of project 
recommendations.  The analysis is required to forecast emissions relating to ozone and PM2.5 
pollutants.  The results of the analysis demonstrate that the emissions of ozone and PM2.5 do not 
exceed the level of emissions established by the Ohio EPA in the State Implementation Plan 
(SIP).  This analysis can be found on the following page, the analysis will be approved as part of 
the FY2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program.   

The public was given the opportunity to review and comment on the draft of Transportation 
Outlook 2040 during the public comment period from March 27 through May 3.  AMATS 
promoted the public comment period using traditional methods as well as social media.  The 
draft amendment was posted on the AMATS website beginning April 2, 2020. 

In addition, two virtual public meetings were held on April 2 and May 7, 2020 on Facebook 
Live.  A press release, written notices, newspaper advertisements and social media were utilized 
to notify the public of the Transportation Outlook 2040 public involvement period and meetings. 
No comments on the amended Transportation Outlook 2040 have been received as of April 20, 
2020.  The April 2, 2020 virtual public meeting had 171 views as of April 20, 2020. 

Resolution 2020-05 affirms the results of the attached analysis demonstrating transportation 
conformity for the Central Interchange Reconstruction with SR 8 Southbound Auxiliary Lane 
project in Summit County as part of the Cleveland-Akron air quality nonattainment area.  The 
Staff recommends approval. 



3 

Air Quality Conformity Analyses Summary 

8-Hour Ozone
Attainment status: 2015 8-Hour Ozone standard – marginal nonattainment area (Federal Register / 

Vol. 83, No. 107 / Monday, June 4, 2018) 
SIP Status: Federal Register /Vol. 82, No. 4 /Friday, January 6, 2017 – direct final 

rule adequacy finding for Motor Vehicle Emission Simulator (MOVES) based on 
2008 ozone standard MVEB.  
No submittals required under 2008 8-Hour ozone standard until approved 
budgets are received. The budgets found adequate for the 2008 standard will 
satisfy the 2015 tests, per USEPA. 

8-Hour Geography: Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, Summit Counties, OH 
Conformity Tests: 2008 Standard 8-Hour budget tests 
Analysis Years: 2020 1st Analysis year and SIP Budget year 

2030 Interim and SIP Budget year 
2040 Plan(s) horizon year  

Table 1 

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) (tons/day) 

2015 
8-Hour Ozone

Test 
2021 

Emissions 

2030 
8-Hour
Budget

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA 16.20 9.77 6.58 
AMATS 9.11 4.22 3.76 
TOTALS 25.31 30.80 13.99 10.34 

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tons/day) 

2021 
Emissions 

2030 
8-Hour
Budget

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA 22.13 10.90 7.47 
AMATS 12.21 5.29 4.21 
TOTALS 34.34 43.82 16.19 11.68 

8-Hour Ozone
Attainment status: 2008 8-Hour Ozone standard – maintenance area (Federal Register / Vol. 82, No. 

4 /Friday, January 6, 2017) 
1997 8-Hour Ozone Standard - maintenance area (Federal Register Notice Final 
Rule Tuesday, September 15, 2009) 

SIP Status: Federal Register /Vol. 78, No. 53 /Tuesday, March 19, 2013 – direct 
final rule adequacy finding for MOVES based 1997 Ozone standard Motor 
Vehicle Emissions Budget (MVEB). 



4 

No submittals required under 2008 8-Hour Ozone standard until approved 
budgets are received. The budgets found adequate for the 1997 standard will 
satisfy both 1997 and 2008 tests for the time being per USEPA. 

8-Hour Geography: Ashtabula, Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, Summit Counties, 
OH 

Conformity Tests: 1997 Standard 8-Hour budget tests 
Analysis Years:  2020 1st Analysis year and SIP Budget year 

2030 Interim and SIP Budget year 
2040 Plan(s) horizon year  

Table 2 

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) (tons/day) 

2008 
8-Hour Ozone

Test 
2021 

Emissions 

2030 
8-Hour
Budget

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA 16.20 9.77 6.58 
AMATS 9.11 4.22 3.76 
Ashtabula County 1.26 0.58 0.54 
TOTALS 26.57 30.80 14.57 10.88 

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tons/day) 

2021 
Emissions 

2030 
8-Hour
Budget

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA 22.13 10.90 7.47 
AMATS 12.21 5.29 4.21 
Ashtabula County 1.87 0.84 0.72 
TOTALS 36.21 43.82 17.03 12.40 

PM2.5  2006 Standard 

Attainment status: 2006 Annual PM2.5 Standard – maintenance area (Federal Register / Vol. 78, No. 
144 / Friday, July 26, 2013) 

SIP Status:  Cleveland area to attainment for 1997 and 2006 PM2.5 Standards – FR 
notice included an adequacy finding for the MOVES based MVEBs. 

Geography:  Cuyahoga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, Summit Counties, OH, and 
Ashtabula Township (Ashtabula County, OH) 

Conformity Tests: Budget tests 
Analysis Years:  2020 Interim year 

2022 PM2.5 Budget year 
2030 Interim year 
2040 Plan(s) horizon year  



5 
 

Table 3 

Direct PM2.5 Emissions (tons/year) 
          

PM2.5  2006 
Standard 

Test  
2022 

Budget 
2022  

Emissions 
2030  

Emissions 
2040  

Emissions 
NOACA    343.76  264.33 224.07 
AMATS    133.88  108.62 108.04 
Ashtabula 
County   2.19  1.68 1.68 
TOTALS  880.89 479.83 374.63 333.79 
          

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Precursor (tons/year) 
          

  
2022 

Budget 
2022  

Emissions 
2030  

Emissions 
2040  

Emissions 
NOACA    9,977.68  5,457.77 3,787.06 
AMATS    2,736.88  1,872.30 1,664.22 
Ashtabula 
County   50.33  35.26 32.81 
TOTALS  17,263.65 12,764.89 7,365.33 5,484.09 

 
 
 

TABLE 4 
Northeast Ohio Mobile Source PM2.5 and Precursor Emissions Forecasts 

 
Attainment status: 2012 Annual PM2.5 Standard – maintenance area (80 FR 2205 / January 

14, 2015) 
SIP Status: Federal Register /Vol. 83, No. 246 /Wednesday, December 26, 2018 – 

approval of SIP and finding in support of MOVES based 2012 standard 
PM2.5 MVEB 

Geography: Cuyahoga and Lorain County, OH *Summit and Portage Counties are in attainment 
Conformity Tests: 2012 SIP Maintenance Plan tests 
Analysis Years: 2022 PM2.5 Budget year 
 2030 Interim and PM2.5 Budget year 
 2040 Plan(s) horizon year 

 
Direct PM2.5 Emissions (Annual Tons) 

           
PM2.5  2012 

Standard Test  
2022 

Budget 
2022 

Emissions 
2030 

Budget 
2030 

Emissions 
2040 

Emissions 
Direct PM2.5  406.79  243.93  270.57 192.28 162.50 
NOx 9,432.04  7,093.52  4,907.54 3,721.28 2,561.28 

 



6 
 

For additional detail on these topics, visit the following USEPA websites:  
 
http://www.epa.gov/air/ozonepollution/ (general ozone information) 
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/ozone/ozonetech/ (technical ozone information)  
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/fastfacts.html (fast facts on particulate matter) 
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/basic.html (general particulate matter information) 
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/standards/pm/s_pm_index.html (technical particulate matter 
information) 
  

http://www.epa.gov/air/ozonepollution/
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/ozone/ozonetech/
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/fastfacts.html
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/basic.html
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/standards/pm/s_pm_index.html


7 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-05 
 
OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 
APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 2040  
 
WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation and in cooperation with locally elected officials for Summit and 
Portage Counties and the Chippewa and Milton Township areas of Wayne County; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Congress of the United States, through law (23 USC § 134 and 49 USC § 
5303)) has required that an MPO must develop a long-range transportation plan (LRTP); and 
 
WHEREAS, ODOT requested AMATS amend the current Transportation Outlook 2040 to 
include updates to the Central Interchange Project which includes additional lanes on I-77/SR 8 
from I-277 to Carrol St; and 
 
WHEREAS, this Committee has reviewed the amended Transportation Outlook 2040 document 
and found that the recommendations contained therein function together to form an integrated 
metropolitan transportation system, take into account the planning considerations of the Fixing 
America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act (Pub. L. No. 114-94), and are consistent with 
regional transportation goals and objectives; and 
 
WHEREAS, a financial plan has been prepared and included in the document which 
demonstrates that the amended Transportation Outlook 2040 can be implemented in a fiscally 
sound manner, in accordance with the financial resources from public and private sources that 
can be reasonably expected to be made available between now and 2040; and 
 
WHEREAS, the amended Transportation Outlook 2040 assesses capital investment and other 
measures necessary to ensure the preservation of the existing metropolitan transportation system, 
and has been found to make the most efficient use of existing transportation facilities to relieve 
vehicular congestion and maximize the mobility of people and goods; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 require that AMATS make a 
determination, in cooperation with NOACA, ERPC and ODOT, that Transportation Outlook 
2040 is in conformity with respect to Ohio’s State Implementation Plan for attainment of the 
2008 8-hour ozone standard, 2015 8-hour ozone standard and the 2006 and 2012 fine particulate 
matter standards; and 
 
WHEREAS, a quantitative air quality analysis of the amended Transportation Outlook has been 
completed in accordance with the requirements specified by the FAST Act and the Clean Air Act 
Amendments of 1990; and   
 
WHEREAS, an Environmental Justice scan has been completed, in order to ensure that low- 



8 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-05 (Continued) 

income and minority population groups will not disproportionately bear the negative 
environmental consequences of implementing the projects recommended in the regional 
transportation plan; and 

WHEREAS, AMATS has carried out public involvement activities consistent with the AMATS 
Public Participation Plan in which various public agencies, local officials, private providers of 
transportation, members of the public, and area media outlets were notified that Transportation 
Outlook 2040 was available for review and posted on the AMATS web site; and that two virtual 
public involvement meetings were held to provide the general public with the opportunity to 
comment on the draft Transportation Outlook 2040. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 

1. That this Committee adopts the amended Transportation Outlook 2040 as the long-range
transportation plan for the AMATS area and affirms its consistency with the State
Implementation Plan.

2. That this Committee recommends that its members incorporate these improvements into
their respective transportation plans and pursue the funding necessary for project
implementation.

3. That this Committee approves the amended Transportation Outlook 2040 document.

4. That this Committee considers that the process used to develop the regional
transportation plan has adequately provided for participation by local officials and
members of the general public.

5. That this Committee affirms that the recommendations included in the amended
Transportation Outlook 2040 are able to be implemented within the constraints
established by the financial forecast contained in the Plan document.

6. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the
appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Planning Organization.

_____________________________________ 
Mayor Linda Clark, 2020 Chairwoman 

Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 

______________________________________ 
Date 



PLAN AMENDMENT
5-14-2020

Project Amendment Highlighted within Document



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204046 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

Over the past four years, AMATS has completed a number of reports and 
studies analyzing the Greater Akron area’s transportation system.  This analysis 
has led to a number of recommendations to improve and strengthen the area’s 
transportation network.  Recommendations included in Transportation Outlook 
2040 (TO2040) include infrastructure improvements and policies intended to 
ensure that our system remains an asset to the region from now until 2040.

TO2040 includes highway, transit, bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure and 
policy recommendations.  The recommendations included in TO2040 are 
financially constrained and conform to federal air quality requirements.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Highways are the most critical element of the region’s transportation system.  
The recommendations contained in TO2040 aim to preserve the existing system 
and improve system safety and efficiency.  The following section contains 
policy and highway infrastructure recommendations to improve and maintain 
the region’s highway network.

HIGHWAY RECOMMENDATIONS

Funding

AMATS receives federal transportation dollars to fund highway improvements.  
These funds can be used for many types of projects including: resurfacing, turn 
lanes and traffic signals, and major widening projects.

The agency’s funding comes from two major sources, the Surface 
Transportation Block Grant (STBG) and the Congestion Mitigation/Air Quality 
Program (CMAQ).  The STBG Program is the most versatile type of funding 
and can be used on any type of project.  CMAQ funding can only be used on 
projects which improve air quality and relieve congestion.

Federal funds may only be invested on roadways that are contained in the 
Federal Functional Classification of Highways.  Local roadways - such as 
streets in a residential subdivision - are not eligible for funding.

AMATS receives around $15 million annually for highway improvements.  
While this funding is a substantial source of revenue for highway projects, 
it is not the only funding available.  The Ohio Department of Transportation 
(ODOT) receives funds from federal and state gasoline taxes.  Counties and 
municipalities also receive federal and state funding.  Discretionary funding, 
also known as earmarks, can be made available for highway projects when 
written into federal legislation.

Any highway project using federal funding must be consistent with TO2040, 
regardless of whether AMATS provided the funding.  TO2040 is important 
because it gives the authority to local officials to determine how federal funds 
are spent collectively.

Preservation

The importance of maintaining and preserving the existing highway system 
cannot be understated.  Over the past 60 years, the United States has developed 
an incredible roadway network that has allowed the efficient movement of 
people and goods.  In the last few years, it has become apparent that this 
network is beginning to deteriorate.

In 2015, AMATS estimated that to maintain the existing system through 2040 
would cost $4 billion in year of expenditure costs.  These cost estimates have 
increased by over $720 million since 2012.  Most of the cost increase is due to 
the continued increase of construction costs.  The longer that large preservation 
projects are postponed, the more expensive they become.

TO2040 recommends a regional preservation policy.  Since 2008, AMATS has 
devoted a minimum of 20 percent of its funds for a local resurfacing program.  
This program has been incredibly successful and popular throughout the region.  
AMATS will continue this program and recommends providing additional 
AMATS Surface Transportation Funds for the program.

RECOMMENDATIONS



47RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

Operational and Safety Projects are consistent with
Transportation Outlook 2040

While it is important to develop a plan for the next 20 plus years, it is also 
necessary to provide flexibility to the planning process to allow for unseen 
developments.  To that end, AMATS maintains its policy that projects that 
improve safety conditions or contain operational improvements are consistent 
with TO2040.  This includes railroad grade separation projects.  AMATS has 
set aside $75 million over the next 23 years for unspecified safety and operation 
improvements.

Reduce Congestion by Promoting Carpooling and other
Alternative Modes of Transportation

While congestion is not the main focus of TO2040, it is still an important issue 
that can negatively impact the transportation system.  In order to help reduce 
congestion, AMATS will continue to promote OhioRideshare.com and Switch-
ing-gears.org.  OhioRideshare.com is a website that allows users to find carpool 
partners to share rides to and from work.  Switching-Gears.org is a bicycle 
advocacy website that promotes bicycle commuting in the region.

Complete Streets

TO2040 recommends that communities and project sponsors continue to 
consider complete streets principles as they develop transportation projects.  
AMATS supports alternative modes of transportation and complete streets 
promote making roadways more accessible for automobiles, buses, bicycles and 
pedestrians.

Embrace Technology

TO2040 is a document charged to look toward the future.  It is critical that 
the Greater Akron area embrace technology that is developing quickly in the 
transportation field.  Phone applications like Uber, Lyft, and Waze have already 
changed the way people find rides and get their traffic information.  AMATS an-
ticipates that as technology continues to become more responsive it will provide 
additional benefits and services for transportation.  New technology could in-
clude autonomous passenger vehicles, autonomous freight vehicles, technology 
to connect people to transportation and even more accurate transportation data.  
TO2040 recommends that the region embrace new technologies and applica-
tions to better serve communities.

$5 Billion of Highway Transportation
Infrastructure Investments

TO2040 recommends over $5 billion of highway infrastructure investments 
through 2040 in year of expenditure dollars.  This funding includes over $4.4 
billion for preservation of the existing system, $505 million specifically for 
freeway recommendations, $150 million for specific roadway projects, and 
approximately $128 million in bike/pedestrian, safety and other operational 
improvements in the AMATS area.

The following Long-Term Highway Recommendations table shows projects 
recommended in TO2040.  Project costs are shown in current dollars, Appen-
dix B shows costs inflated to year of expenditure.  All projects are financially 
constrained and conform to air quality requirements.

Asset Management Planning

According to AASHTO, Transportation Asset Management is a strategic 
and systematic process of operating, maintaining, upgrading, and expanding 
physical assets effectively throughout their lifecycle.  As AMATS has 
continually recognized preservation as its most important priority, TO2040 
recommends that AMATS pursue developing a regional asset management plan 
focused on preserving and maintaining pavement.  Asset Management planning 
can help communities extend the life of roadways and ensure that federal 
funding is used strategically for roadways most in need of major resurfacing or 
reconstruction.



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204048 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

Highways Eligible for
Federal Funding



49RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

LONG-TERM HIGHWAY RECOMMENDATIONS
Freeway Recommendations
ID Freeway   Location Recommendation Current Cost

1 I-77 Arlington to I-277 Add Capacity  $50,000,000 

2 I-77/76/277/SR 8 Akron Beltway Project Reconfigure Interchanges  $25,000,000 

3 I-77 Ghent to Cuyahoga County Line Add Capacity  $105,000,000 

4 SR 8 Perkins to Glenwood Replace Bridge  $110,000,000 

5 I-77/SR 8 I-277 to Carroll Reconfigure Interchanges (including SR-8 Auxiliary Lane and I-77 Lane Addition)  $150,000,000 

6 I-76/US 224 State Rd/Wooster Rd Reconfigure Interchanges  $26,000,000 

Freeway Total Cost  $505,000,000 

Arterial and Intersection Recommendations
ID Community Location Recommendation Current Cost

7 Akron Brittain Rd at Eastland Ave/Eastwood Ave Operational Improvements $4,000,000

8 Akron Evans Ave Railroad grade separation $8,200,000

9 Akron N Portage Path at Merriman Rd Operational Improvements, Enhance Transit, Improve Safety $2,000,000

10 Akron W Market St (SR 18) at Hawkins Ave/W Exchange St Operational Improvements, Enhance Transit $2,000,000

11 Akron Brittain Rd from E Tallmadge Ave (SR 261) to Independence Ave Improve Safety $1,500,000

12 Akron E Market St (SR 18) & Mogadore Rd/I-76 Ramps Improve Safety $3,000,000

13 Akron Waterloo Rd (US 224) & George Washington Blvd (SR 241) Improve Safety $2,000,000

14 Akron/Cuyahoga Falls SR 8 at Howe Ave Interchange Reconfiguration/Improvements $33,000,000

15 Akron/Cuyahoga Falls/Tallmadge Howe Ave at Brittain Rd/Northwest Ave Intersection Reconfiguration, Improve Safety $10,000,000

16 Akron/Fairlawn Miller Rd from Ridgewood Rd to SR 18 (W Market St) Operational Improvements (Add left turn lanes) $1,000,000

17 Barberton Wooster Rd N (SR 619) from Waterloo Rd to I-76 Operational Improvements (Potential Road Diet) $800,000

18 Bath Twp/Copley Twp/Fairlawn Medina Rd (SR 18) from Heritage Woods Dr to Cleveland-Massillon Rd Operational Improvements, Enhance Transit, Improve Safety $1,500,000

19 Cuyahoga Falls Portage Trail from Valley Rd to State Rd Operational Improvements $800,000

20 Cuyahoga Falls State Rd at Portage Trail Operational Improvements, Enhance Transit, Improve Safety $500,000

21 Fairlawn W Market St (SR 18) from Ghent Rd to Miller Av Improve Safety $1,000,000

22 Green Arlington Rd from Boettler Rd to September Dr Widen to 4 lanes and intersection improvements $12,000,000

23 Green Town Park Blvd from Greensburg Rd to Wise Rd New Roadway $3,700,000

24 Green Town Park Blvd from Wise Rd to Massillon Rd New Roadway $5,700,000

25 Hudson Darrow Rd (SR 91) from Ravenna Rd to SR 303 Add a Bypass $8,600,000

26 Hudson Hines Hill Rd and Norfolk Southern Rail Line Railroad grade separation $11,000,000

27 Hudson/Twinsburg Twp Darrow Rd (SR 91) from Middleton Rd to Twinsburg Rd Operational Improvements (Add left turn lanes) $1,000,000

28 Kent E Main St (SR 59) from Willow St to Luther Av Improve Safety $1,000,000

29 Macedonia Aurora Rd (SR 82) from Olde Eight Rd to SR 8 Improve Safety $1,000,000

30 Northfield Center Twp SR 82 at Olde Eight Rd/Brandywine Rd Operational Improvements $1,500,000

31 Richfield Wheatley Rd (SR 176) at Brecksville Rd Operational Improvements $1,100,000

32 Rootstown Twp SR 44 from Tallmadge Rd (CR 18) to I-76 Safety Study/Improvements $250,000

33 Stow Darrow Rd (SR 91) & Graham Rd Improve Safety $500,000



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204050 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

LONG TERM-HIGHWAY RECOMMENDATIONS (Continued)
Arterial and Intersection Recommendations (Continued)
ID Community Location Recommendation Current Cost

34 Stow Norton Rd from Hudson Drive to SR 91 Widen to standard lane width $4,000,000

35 Stow Graham Rd from Fishcreek Rd to Newcomer Rd Improve Safety $2,000,000

36 Stow Kent Rd (SR 59) at Darrow Rd (SR 91) Additional Capacity, Operational Improvements, Traffic Study, Enhance Transit $1,500,000

37 Streetsboro Streetsboro Town Center: SR 14/SR 43/SR 303 & SR 43 from SR 303 to Frost Rd Detailed Traffic Study, Improve Safety $350,000

38 Tallmadge Tallmadge Circle Operational Improvements, Improve Safety $8,000,000

39 Twinsburg Darrow Rd (SR 91) at Aurora Rd (SR 82) Operational Improvements $1,000,000

Various Miscellaneous Additional safety and operational projects $75,000,000

Freeway and Arterial Total Cost  $210,500,000

Highway Recommendations Total Cost $715,500,000

FUNDED HIGHWAY RECOMMENDATIONS (IN TIP)
ID Community Location Recommendation Current Cost

40 Akron Tallmadge Ave (SR 261) from N. Main St to SR 8 Road Diet, Operational Improvements, realignment at Dayton $3,842,400

41 Akron S. Main St from State St to Mill St Complete Street, Street replacement, Roundabout $12,720,000

42 Akron E. Exchange St from Broadway St to Fountain St Operational Improvements, complete streets $5,043,000

43 Brimfield Twp Tallmadge Rd (CR 18)  at I-76 Operational Improvements, Improve Safety $9,921,900

44 Copley Twp/ Fairlawn Cleveland-Massillon Rd from I-77 to Bywood Ave Widen to 4 lanes and roundabout at rothrock $7,564,200

45 Green Massillon Rd (SR 241) from Raber Rd to SR 619 (Turkeyfoot Lake Rd) Widen to 5 lanes, Improve Safety $14,467,800

46 Green Massillon Rd (SR 241) & Boettler Rd Operational Improvements, roundabout $5,566,000

47 Green Massillon Rd (SR 241) & Corporate Woods Circle Operational Improvements, roundabout $1,747,900

48 Hudson Darrow Rd (SR 91) at Steetsboro Rd (SR 303) Operational Improvements, Improve Safety $2,400,500

49 Kent S. Water St (SR 43) from SR 261 to Summit St Operational Improvements $3,072,100

50 Norton Cleveland-Massillon Rd from Weber Dr to I-76 Existing Project (Add Median Turn Lane, Intersection Improvements), Enhance Transit $6,086,500

51 Springfield Twp Waterloo Rd (US 224) at Canton Rd (SR 91/CR 66) Project: Standard Lanes, Turn Lanes, Concrete Median, Improve Safety $10,490,000

52 Streetsboro SR 14 from Portage Pointe Dr to Diagonal Rd Two way left turn lane, Improve Safety $7,772,400

53 Twinsburg SR 91 & I-480 Interchange Reconfiguration/Improvements $3,521,300

54 Twinsburg Darrow Rd (SR 91) from Glenwood Blvd to the north corp line Widen to four lanes $4,969,600

Funded Total $99,185,600



51RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

Long-Term
Highway Recommendations



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204052 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

BICYCLE & PEDESTRIAN RECOMMENDATIONS

Importance of Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities

Bicycle and pedestrian facilities are an important part of an active transportation 
system throughout the Greater Akron area in providing a low-cost means of 
transportation and serving as a recreational amenity. Bicycling and walking 
are efficient transportation modes for most short trips and, where convenient 
intermodal systems exist, these non-motorized trips can easily be linked with 
transit to significantly increase trip distance. Because of the benefits they 
provide, bicycle and pedestrian facilities should be given the same priority as 
is given to other transportation modes. Cycling and walking should not be an 
afterthought in roadway design.  

Acceptance of cycling and walking as alternatives to driving has increased 
throughout the region. AMATS has a long history of planning for active and 
multi-modal transportation systems.  TO2040 will build on recent and past 
efforts including the 2016 Bike Plan and 2015 Pedestrian Plan. The goals for 
the region’s bicycle and pedestrian network are to improve safety, increase 
connectivity, create a friendly bicycle network and promote quality of life 
throughout the region. A variety of bicycle and pedestrian facilities exist 
throughout the Greater Akron area with the Ohio and Erie Towpath Trail 
serving as the spine for the regional bicycle network.  There are more than 
108 miles of shared-use paths in the region with over 28 miles that have been 
developed since 2000.  On-road facilities, such as bike lanes, are being added 
at a steady pace to help fill in the gaps and connect people to places.  There are 
approximately 35 miles of bike lanes in the Greater Akron area.

The recommendations contained in TO2040 will expand the off-road bicycle 
system of trails and the pedestrian system through additional facilities as well as 
make safety improvements to the region’s bicycle and pedestrian network.

OVERVIEW

Local Bike Plans

AMATS’ 2016 Bike Plan includes recommendations for the region that 
encourage cycling as an alternative mode of transportation while also 
continuing to promote cycling as recreation. On the local level, communities 
can have a greater impact by creating their own bike plan.  The bike plan should 

assess existing conditions, identify gaps and recommend practical solutions 
that fit the community’s needs. A local bike plan can assist the community 
in prioritizing improvements that provide better connections to regional bike 
facilities already in place.

Create a Minimum Grid

According to Gil Penalosa of 8-80 Cities, a minimum grid of fully connected 
bikeways throughout a city is essential to creating safe biking for all users, 
from ages 8 to 80 years old. With a minimum grid in place, communities across 
North America have seen a marked increase in cycling. Creating a local bike 
plan using a minimum grid design can help make cycling a viable transportation 
option, especially if this grid can connect from one community to another. A 
minimum grid can transform transportation in our region.

FUNDING

AMATS receives federal funding for bicycle and pedestrian improvements 
through the Transportation Alternatives Set-Aside Program (TA), formerly 
known as the Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP).  This funding 
provides approximately $1 million each year that can be used for bicycle and 
pedestrian improvements.  All TA projects must relate to surface transportation 
and address a transportation need, use or benefit.  Preliminary engineering, 
right-of-way and construction are eligible project costs.  Planning is an eligible 
project phase only for Safe Routes to School (SRTS) District Travel Plans 
provided that the sponsor has first pursued and secured funding from the Ohio 
Department of Transportation SRTS Program.  

Many bicycle and pedestrian improvements are most effectively implemented 
at the outset of roadway or transit project funding and construction.  While all 
projects represent important steps for improving AMATS bicycle and pedestrian 
environment, limited financial resources require that most regional bicycle 
and pedestrian projects use a variety of federal, state and local sources.  It is 
therefore suggested that many regional off road trails rely on local initiative and 
commitment where member communities seek additional funding. 

Any bicycle or pedestrian project using federal funds must be consistent with 
TO2040, regardless of whether AMATS provides the funding.  TO2040 gives 
local officials the authority to collectively determine how federal funds are 
allocated.



53RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN PROJECTS ARE CONSISTENT WITH 
Transportation Outlook 2040

The bicycle and pedestrian recommendations focus implementation efforts 
where they will provide the greatest community benefit.  While it is important 
to develop a long-range plan, it is also necessary to provide flexibility in the 
planning process to allow for unseen developments.  TO2040 ensures that 
transportation improvements are planned and coordinated on a regional basis.  
It is AMATS policy that projects coupled with safety improvements, such as 
bicycle and pedestrian amenities, must be consistent with TO2040, in order to 
be eligible for federal funding.

ENCOURAGE BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN DESIGN STANDARDS 
THAT ENSURE THE SAFE AND ACCESSIBLE ACCOMMODATION 
FOR ALL USERS

The creation of well-connected walking and cycling networks is an important 
component for livable communities and their design should be a part of 
federally funded project developments.  Accordingly, transportation agencies 
and local communities are encouraged to go beyond minimum standards for 
these modes to provide safe, convenient, and context-sensitive facilities, and to 
utilize universal design characteristics when appropriate.  For example, shared-
use paths that have been designed to minimum width requirements will need 
retrofits as more people use them. It is more effective to plan for increased 
usage than to retrofit an older facility. Planning projects for the long-term 
should anticipate likely future demand for cycling and walking facilities and not 
preclude the provision of future improvements.  Below are various programs 
and design techniques that can be used for bicycle and pedestrian facilities to 
improve the safety and accessibility for all users.

Road Diets

A road diet is a technique that can be used to achieve traffic calming and 
improve safety.  Road diets occur when numbers of lanes or lane widths are 
reduced to promote a slower vehicle speed and accommodate other uses such 
as bike lanes, bus lanes, parking, pedestrian refuge islands, or more sidewalk 
space. AMATS compiled the 2015 Road Diet Analysis, which identifies 60 
candidates for road diets across the Greater Akron area.  The analysis is a useful 
planning resource that defines the road diet concept, identifies potential road 
diet locations, and serves as a guide to member communities to consider the 
design and application of road diets in certain locations.

Complete Streets

When planning a street or neighborhood, it is important to consider all users of 
the roadway. People like to have options for getting around town. According 
to Smart Growth America, a complete street is one that is designed with safety 
in mind for all users - pedestrians, cyclists, transit riders, and vehicles. No two 
complete streets look alike as each neighborhood or district will have different 
needs. Bike lanes, bus lanes, bus shelters, sidewalks, crosswalks, refuge islands, 
curb bump-outs, and roundabouts are all components of a complete street that 
can improve safety for everyone. Making a street welcome to everyone can 
improve the vitality of an area and make it a place where people want to be. 
Communities throughout the Greater Akron area should consider complete 
streets when planning their transportation projects.

Connecting Communities Program

In 2010, AMATS Policy Committee approved Connecting Communities - A 
Guide to Integrating Land Use and Transportation. This guide has shaped 
AMATS planning since its adoption, encouraging incremental, small-scale, and 
practical modifications to the way that our transportation system and our built 
environment interact with one another. The first two recommendations of the 
Connecting Communities plan are:

1. Improve pedestrian planning and facilities through targeted investments.
2. Improve bicycle planning and facilities through targeted investments.

The AMATS Connecting Communities Planning Grant Program developed 
from the Connecting Communities guide as it was also one of its 
recommendations. Since the program’s inception in 2010, AMATS has funded 
over $400,000 and leveraged an additional $75,000 in planning studies in the 
AMATS region.  Because of the program, multiple bike lanes, sidewalks, trails, 
signage and bus routes have been implemented and constructed, as well as plans 
that will shape communities for years to come.

Prioritize Pedestrian Safety and Improvements Near Schools

Communities should place a special emphasis on providing high-quality, safe 
bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure near schools.  The Ohio Safe Routes 
to School (SRTS) Program supports projects and programs that improve the 
health and well-being of children by enabling and encouraging them to walk 
and bicycle to school.  SRTS programs examine conditions around schools and 
conduct projects and activities that work to improve safety and accessibility in 



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204054 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

the vicinity of schools.  The most successful SRTS programs incorporate the 
Five E’s: Engineering, Education, Enforcement, Encouragement, and 
Evaluation.  

The development of a School Travel Plan (STP) is a requirement of the SRTS 
Program in order to be eligible for infrastructure improvements.  The STP 
outlines a community’s plans for engaging students in active transportation.  
The STP involves key community stakeholders to identify barriers to active 
transportation and develop a set of solutions to address them.  

In 2014, the Akron Public Schools completed its first District-Wide Travel Plan.  
Akron’s plan became one of the first districtwide STPs for a large school district 
in Ohio and one of the first nationwide.  It was created through a team-based 
approach in cooperation with ODOT, Akron Public Schools, City of Akron, 
AMATS and The University of Akron. 
 
Prioritizing pedestrian safety and improvements near schools provides an 
opportunity to work closely with schools, communities, and local government 
to create a healthy lifestyle for children—and a safer and cleaner environment 
for everyone.

Incorporate High-Quality Bicycle and
Pedestrian Design Standards

There are various types of bicycle and pedestrian facilities that are context-sen-
sitive to density, vehicle traffic and congestion, and improve safety for people 
of all ages and abilities. The following resources provide information to plan-
ners and agencies by referencing a recommended range of design values and 
describing alternative design approaches. The Federal Highway Administration 
(FHWA) supports the use of these resources to further develop non-motorized 
transportation networks, particularly in urban areas.

Mid-Block Crossings

In 2014, AMATS completed a Mid-Block Crossing Analysis that studied the 
frequency of pedestrians crossing outside of crosswalks. Crosswalks are safest 
as they direct pedestrians where and when it’s safe to cross the street, while also 
improving visibility of pedestrians to drivers.  There are many reasons that a 
pedestrian might not cross in a crosswalk, be it bad weather, hurrying, or simply 
finding the shortest distance to a destination. AMATS identified locations where 
mid-block crossings are already taking place. Next, potential locations for 

safe mid-block crossing solutions were recommended.  Some of the solutions 
include bump-outs, raised crosswalks, pedestrian islands, and signage, as well 
as fully-signalized crossings and High Intensity Activated Crosswalk (HAWK) 
signals.  Through careful analysis and the effective implementation of mid-
block crossings, increase the safety and usefulness of the regional pedestrian 
network can be greatly increased.

Traffic Calming / Sidewalk Widening in High Pedestrian Areas

Traffic calming measures should be considered in areas that experience high 
volumes of pedestrian traffic. Traffic calming is a concept that reduces the speed 
and volume of vehicular traffic through an area to make neighborhoods safer, 
more pleasant, and more livable.  This can be achieved either by physical means 
such as reducing the number of lanes; textured pavements and bump-outs, also 
known as “curb extensions” that extend an intersection corner; or psychological 
means such as adding street trees, on-street parking and the narrowing of lanes 
to slow drivers down. Over decades of use, these measures have been proven 
to reduce accidents, collisions, noise, vibration, pollution, and crime. Traffic 
calming is most often found in downtowns or urban centers due to their high 
levels of pedestrian activity. They may also be implemented in less dense 
planning areas.

Sidewalks in residential areas should meet or exceed the federal minimum 
width guideline of 60 inches. In a downtown, a town center, an urban core or 
other dense planning areas, widths may vary depending on the community or 
block context. Wide sidewalks should be constructed in areas experiencing 
heavy foot traffic or for such uses as sidewalk cafes or extensive street furniture.

Bicycle and Pedestrian Count Program

The purpose of conducting bicycle and pedestrian counts is to understand peak 
activity for these modes on a typical day. Lack of documentation on usage and 
demand is one of the challenges facing bicycle and pedestrian investments.  It 
is important to have accurate and consistent data to analyze the need, enable 
detailed safety analyses, target locations for future facilities and measure the 
benefits of investments.  In 2012, AMATS commenced its first year of bicycle 
and pedestrian counts throughout the region utilizing the standard National Bike 
and Pedestrian Documentation project (NBPD) method. The NBPD is an annual 
bicycle and pedestrian count and survey effort sponsored by the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers Pedestrian and Bicycle Council.   



55RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

There has been a public response to back up the need for improved bicycle 
and pedestrian facilities with supportive data in a more efficient manner.  One 
of the goals of AMATS count program is to engage more communities and 
organizations and to utilize electronic counters to improve documentation on the 
use and demand of bicycle and pedestrian facilities in the region.

$33 Million of Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvements

TO2040 recommends $33 million of bicycle and pedestrian improvements 
through 2040.  This funding includes bicycle trails and pedestrian 
improvements such as sidewalks.  

The Long-Term Bicycle Recommendations table and the Long-Term 
Pedestrian Recommendations table on the following pages contains many 
recommendations for promoting bicycle and pedestrian transportation in 
the region.  Project costs are shown in current dollars for the entire project.  
Appendix B shows costs inflated to year of expenditure and federal share, 
totaling $33 million in federal investment.  All projects are financially 
constrained and conform to air quality requirements.

RECOMMENDATIONS



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204056 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

LONG-TERM BICYCLE RECOMMENDATIONS
ID County Name From To Current Cost

1 Summit 3 Creeks - Silver Creek Trail Medina Line Rd Robinson Ave (Towpath Trail)  $5,035,018 

2 Summit Akron-Peninsula Trail SR 303 Boston Mills Rd  $2,605,923 

3 Summit Ashbrooke Connector Farnham Way Hines Hill Rd  $1,129,194 

4 Summit Barlow Rd Wilshire Park Dr Bike & Hike Trail  $333,776 

5 Summit Bike & Hike-Portage Connector Bike & Hike Trail Freedom Trail Connector  $400,689 

6 Summit Freedom Trail Phase 4 Towpath Trail Freedom Trail Phase 3 (Mill Street)  $1,323,928 

7 Summit Heights to Hudson Bike & Hike Trail Prospect at Hines Hill  $3,430,240 

8 Summit Heights to Hudson (Central Hudson Portion) Morse / Owen Brown Veterans Way  $709,017 

9 Summit Highbridge Connector Trail Towpath Trail Front Street Connector Trail  $2,803,056 

10 Summit Liberty Trail Post Rd Cannon Rd  $1,517,327 

11 Summit Magic Mile (North) Third St SW & Park W Wooster Rd & Robinson Ave  $193,785 

12 Summit Magic Mile (West) 5th St & Park Ave 4th St & W Wooster Rd  $200,354 

13 Summit Memorial Parkway Trail Aqueduct St Towpath Trail  $700,000 

14 Summit Portage Lakes Trail Towpath Trail Metro - Sandyville Local  $5,313,249 

15 Summit Rubber City Heritage Trail Towpath Trail Englewood Ave  $5,750,000 

16 Summit Spartan Trail (West) Rubber City Heritage Trail Springfield Lake  $2,381,724 

17 Summit Spartan Trail (East) Springfield Lake Summit/Portage County Line  $3,707,724 

18 Summit Turnpike Prospect Rd Hudson Aurora Rd  $2,138,164 

19 Portage Arsenal S Conrail Freedom Secondary Rock Spring Rd  $5,940,000 

20 Portage Arsenal S Rockspring Rd Portage County Line  $8,880,000 

21 Portage Headwaters Bikeway Aurora NCL Mennonite Rd  $7,925,434 

22 Portage Hiram SR 305 Headwaters Trail  $2,761,242 

23 Portage Lake Rockwell Trail Middlebury Rd /Portage Hike & Bike Mantua St / River Bend  Blvd  $2,728,767 

24 Portage Rock Spring Rd Cable Line Rd Newton Falls Rd  $851,225 

25 Portage The Portage Stow St W Main St  $310,386 

26 Portage Mogadore Lake The Portage Mogadore Lake  $4,932,888 

27 Portage Esplanade Extension Esplanade / Dix Stadium Lakewood Rd  $2,000,174 

28 Portage Headwaters Trail Extension SR 82 Portage County Line  $5,700,000 

29 Portage Franklin Connector Extension Hudson Rd extension Riverbend  $2,200,000 

30 Portage Railroad Trail Connection Hudson Rd Tinker’s Creek, Portage County Line  $7,300,000 

Bicycle Recommendations Total  $91,202,286 

FUNDED BICYCLE RECOMMENDATIONS (IN TIP)
ID County Name From To Current Cost

31 Summit Veterans Trail Barlow Rd Veterans Trail  $1,387,000 

32 Summit Magic Mile Towpath Connector Towpath 4th St  $500,000 

Funded Total  $1,887,000 



57RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

Long-Term
Bicycle Recommendations



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204058 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

LONG TERM PEDESTRIAN RECOMMENDATIONS
ID County Location Facility Street From To Current Cost

1 Summit Akron Sidewalks Portage Trail N. Portage Path Treetop Trail  $169,750 

2 Summit Akron Sidewalks Waterloo Rd. I-77 Arlington  $334,650 

3 Summit Copley Sidewalks Cleveland-Massillon Rd Hammond Blvd Commerce Dr  $417,100 

4 Summit Cuyahoga Falls Sidewalks Graham Rd Prange Dr Bath Rd  $281,300 

5 Summit Green Sidewalks Boettler Rd Arlington Kenway Blvd  $169,750 

6 Summit Green Sidewalks Interstate Parkway Arlington end  $247,350 

7 Summit Green Sidewalks Moore Rd S. Main Charleston  $446,200 

8 Summit Green Sidewalks Raber Rd Mayfair Kreighbaum  $392,850 

9 Summit Norton Sidewalks Cleveland-Massillon Rd Weber Rd Shellhart Rd  $460,750 

10 Portage Ravenna Twp/Rootstown Twp Sidewalks SR 44/Prospect St. Rootstown Elementary Ravenna South Corp. Line  $1,644,150 

11 Summit Stow Sidewalks SR 91 Lillian Rd Norton Rd  $936,050 

12 Summit Twinsburg Sidewalks Highland Rd Chamberlin Rd Hadden Rd  $421,950 

13 Summit Twinsburg Sidewalks SR 82 Chamberlin Rd Wilcox Rd  $465,600 

Pedestrian Recommendations Total  $6,387,450 

FUNDED PEDESTRIAN RECOMMENDATIONS (IN TIP)
ID County Location Facility Street From To Current Cost

14 Summit Akron Sidewalks Brittain Rd Tallmadge Independence  $195,000 

15 Summit Bath/Copley Sidewalks SR 18 Springside Dr Cleveland-Massillon Rd  $534,450 

16 Summit Green Sidewalks Moore Rd Charleston Dr Arlington  $1,512,000 

17 Summit Green Sidewalks Raber Rd Troon Mayfair  $1,334,000 

Funded Total  $3,575,450 



59RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

Long-Term
Pedestrian Recommendations



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204060 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

TRANSIT RECOMMENDATIONS

FUNDING

The availability of a comprehensive, reliable transit network is key to helping 
those who lack or are unable to use reliable transportation to get to work, have 
access to shopping and services, and complete other important daily tasks.  A 
convenient transit network can also draw choice-riders: those who have access 
to automobiles, but choose to use transit for reasons of ease, affordability and 
convenience.  The recommendations contained in TO2040 will work to preserve 
the existing transit system, provide enhanced service in key high-volume 
corridors and allow for strategic expansion into new communities that contain 
high densities of jobs, retail and other attractions.

OVERVIEW

AMATS receives federal transportation dollars to fund transit projects and 
improvements.  Most of this federal transit funding comes from programs 
specifically dedicated to transit, although transit may also receive a portion of 
the funds from certain programs designed for highway and transit funding.

Federal transit funds are typically used only for capital expenses, such as for the 
purchase of new buses, bus shelters and maintenance, garage or office facilities.  
Operating expenses, such as bus operator salaries and a portion of preventive 
maintenance, are typically paid for through local sources (fare box revenues, 
transit-dedicated sales tax, etc.).  However, certain funding programs may be 
used to supplement operating expenses, on a limited basis.

The Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Urbanized Area Formula Program 
(Section 5307), along with the Bus and Bus Facilities Program (Section 5339), 
are the largest sources of federal transit funding.  The 5307 and 5339 programs 
use a formula to allocate funding to urbanized areas.  AMATS receives nearly 
$8 million annually for the Akron Urbanized Area, and an additional $800,000 
portion for areas lying within the Cleveland Urbanized Area.  These funds are 
split between METRO and PARTA, generally in proportion to their respective 
county’s share of the total regional population.

The Federal Highway Administration’s (FHWA) Congestion Mitigation/
Air Quality Program (CMAQ) provides funds that may be used on projects 
demonstrating an improvement in air quality and congestion reduction.  

Although the majority of this funding is typically allocated towards regional 
highway projects, AMATS traditionally obtains a portion for local transit 
projects.

Other federal transit funding programs include the Specialized Transportation 
Program (Section 5310), which allocates funding to public transit agencies 
and non-profit providers of transportation to aid in the transportation of older 
or disabled individuals, and the Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP), 
which may be used by transit agencies to improve non-driver access to public 
transportation.

Other sources of transit funding are periodically made available from the federal 
government or the Ohio Department of Transportation, often in the form of 
competitive grant programs.  The FTA’s State of Good Repair Program is one 
such example, and has been used by METRO and PARTA to purchase new 
replacement buses in recent years.

Any transit project using federal funding must be consistent with TO2040, 
regardless of whether AMATS provided the funding.

Fix-It-First

The majority of federal transit funding will be used to preserve the existing 
transit network, assets and supporting facilities in the AMATS region.  Transit 
service is not useful unless it is predictable and dependable.  TO2040 continues 
AMATS’ longstanding policy of working with METRO and PARTA to ensure 
that they have the resources necessary to maintain their existing levels of 
service and to serve their existing customer base efficiently.  AMATS will 
continue to support the preservation and maintenance of METRO and PARTA’s 
bus fleets and other capital assets and facilities.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Service Enhancement

To achieve the most efficient use of the existing public transportation system, 
additional ridership must be developed.  Enhancing the existing service, 
particularly in corridors containing dense employment, attractions and 
residential areas, is one way of attracting new ridership.  Decreasing the waiting 
time between buses, expanding the hours and days of service, and providing 



61RECOMMENDATIONSAMENDED 5-14-2020

safe, attractive and comfortable waiting environments are all potential strategies 
to attract additional transit users.  TO2040 recommends that AMATS work 
with METRO and PARTA to explore and implement these and other strategies 
whenever practical.

Cross County Service

At the local level, most transit agencies are funded primarily through transit-
dedicated sales taxes.  Consequently, they face significant political pressure to 
confine service within their county borders.  Philosophically, the primary role of 
a transit agency should be to transport their ridership to whatever destination is 
necessary.  Northeast Ohio is a region of many counties and overlapping urban 
areas and the demand to travel between them is significant.  METRO, PARTA 
and SARTA (the Stark County/Canton public transit agency) currently provide 
service to limited cross-county destinations.  TO2040 recommends a more 
integrated, regional transit network – between Summit and Portage counties and 
beyond.  The ongoing NEORide initiative furthers this objective.

Coordination

AMATS is dedicated to ensuring that all of the region’s transportation assets are 
working together, achieving maximum operational and financial efficiency.  Co-
ordination between multiple transit agencies, social service agencies and other 
non-profit providers of transportation is the key to realizing this goal.  AMATS 
has helped to fund NEORide – an effort (initiated by PARTA) to build a soft-
ware platform in which all participating agencies may coordinate the use of 
their individual assets to move passengers wherever they need to go and in the 
most efficient, cost-effective way possible.  TO2040 recommends that AMATS 
continue to support this important endeavor.

Rail Portfolio Preservation

METRO currently holds a portfolio of rail corridors which connect Akron 
to other key cities, both within the AMATS region and beyond.  Although 
passenger rail does not seem feasible in the foreseeable future, there has 
been documented interest in the implementation of freight operations within 
METRO’s right-of-way.  Whatever the end result may be – freight rail, 
passenger rail or as multi-use pedestrian and bicycle trails – AMATS feels that 
it is important to maintain a public right-of-way in these key regional corridors.  
TO2040 recommends nearly $3 million in rail improvements to preserve these 
vital regional assets.

$2.2 Billion of Public Transit Investment

TO2040 recommends just under $2.2 billion of investment in the region’s 
public transportation system through 2040.  Of that investment, $1.8 billion will 
be dedicated to general operating expenses of the existing system, $330 mil-
lion will be reinvested to preserve the existing system, and approximately $50 
million will be allocated toward expansion of the regional public transportation 
system.

The following Long-Term Transit Recommendations table shows the projects 
recommended in TO2040.  Recommendations are shown in year of expendi-
ture dollars.  All projects are financially constrained and conform to air quality 
requirements.



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204062 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

LONG-TERM TRANSIT RECOMMENDATIONS

METRO RTA
  Operating Expenses - Base Service $ (1,555,033,761)

  Capital Costs - Base Service $ (311,303,755)

    Chapel Hill Turnaround

    Maintenance Facility Rehab

    Downtown Transit Facility Rehab

    Ghent Park and Ride Lot Rehab

    Fuel Facility Rehab

    Annual Bus Fleet Expenditures - Preservation

    Preventive Maintenance

    Bus Shelter and Stop Enhancements

  Annual Operating Expenses - Additional Service $ (84,978,292)

    West Market Street - Arlington

    Copley Rd

    Kenmore

    Twinsburg - Macedonia

    Northern Summit

    Southern Summit

  Capital Expenses - Additional Service $ (24,484,967)

    West Market Street - Arlington

    Copley Rd

    Kenmore

    Twinsburg - Macedonia

    Northern Summit 

    Southern Summit

    Park and Ride Facilities

    Sandyville Rail Line Rehab

    Akron Secondary Rail Line Barlow and Seasons Road Upgrade

  Total Current Cost $ (1,975,800,775)

PARTA
  Operating Expenses - Base Service $ (143,192,125)

  Capital Expenditures - Base Service $ (56,586,465)

    Maintenance Facility Rehab

    Annual Bus Fleet Expenditures - Preservation

    Preventive Maintenance

    Bus Shelter and Stop Enhancements

    Kent Central Gateway Rehab

    CNG Fueling Facility Rehab

  Annual Operating Expenses - Additional Service $ (10,860,669)

    Additional Saturday and Sunday Service on existing routes

    Ravenna to Streetsboro Service

  Capital Expenses - Additional Service $ (3,473,736)

    Ravenna to Streetsboro Service

    Streetsboro Park and Ride Lot

  Total Current Cost $ (214,112,996)

Coordinated Public Transportation Programs
  Cross County Coordination and Service $ (13,457,739)

    Stow-Kent Transfer Facility $ (1,473,009)

  Coordinated Public Transportation Human Services Programs

    Elderly & Disabled Program/Mobility Management Program $ (13,508,385)

  Total Current Cost $ (28,439,133)

Transit Recommendations
  Total Current Cost $ (2,218,352,904)



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204064 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

APPENDIX A AIR QUALITY ANALYSIS

  

Introduction 
 
The purpose of this appendix is to document the manner in which transportation conformity is 
demonstrated for AMATS’ Transportation Improvement Program FY 2021-2024 and AMATS 
Transportation Outlook 2040 Plan Amendment. 
 
Summit County and Portage County are part of the U.S. Census-designated eight-county 
Cleveland-Akron-Lorain Combined Statistical Area (CSA). This area includes: Ashtabula, 
Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, and Summit counties.  Based on air quality 
readings, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) designated this area as 
marginal non-attainment for the 2015 8-hour ozone standard, except for Ashtabula County 
which is a maintenance area.  This area is designated as a maintenance area for the 2008 8-
hour ozone standard. 
 
USEPA also designated several of the counties in this area (including Summit and Portage) as 
maintenance for PM2.5 (particulate matter) under the 2006 standard.  These areas include 
Cuyahoga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, and Summit Counties, and Ashtabula Township in 
Ashtabula County. 
 
Two Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) serve seven of these counties.  The 
Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency (NOACA) serves Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, 
Lorain, and Medina counties.  The Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) 
serves Summit and Portage counties.  The Erie Regional Planning Commission (ERPC) serves 
the City of Vermilion in Lorain County.  Ashtabula County is not part of a Metropolitan Planning 
Organization. 
 
New United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) conformity determinations are 
required every time a new Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) or Regional 
Transportation Plan is completed or updated.  New emissions analyses are required to meet the 
conformity rule requirement of using the latest planning assumptions.  AMATS has updated its 
travel demand model to conduct this analysis taking into account the latest planning 
assumptions. 
 
This conformity analysis reflects the aggregate regional mobile emissions generated by vehicles 
using the transportation system recommended in the Regional Transportation Plan and TIP.  
Conformity is demonstrated when the forecasted regional emissions are below the applicable 
State Implementation Plan (SIP) budgets that have been established by Ohio EPA. 
 
Before analysis began an interagency consultation call took place on October 31, 2019 and on 
February 4, 2020.  The notes from this call are listed beginning on page C-8. 
 
Methodology 
 
In order for the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain area to complete the regional emissions analysis, the 
overall level of pollution (both ozone and PM2.5) resulting from mobile sources must be 
forecasted. 
 
The ozone-related portion of this air quality analysis has to demonstrate that daily Volatile 
organic compounds (VOC) and nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions from mobile sources will not 
exceed those established in the budget contained in the SIP for ozone, which sets the allowable 
limits for each pollutant in the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain area.  The budgets for the 2015 ozone 
standard are from the 2008 SIP, which were set on January 6, 2017.  The budgets for the 2008 
ozone standard are from the 1997 SIP and were set on March 19, 2013.  The ozone analysis is 
shown in Tables 1 and 2.   

 

 
Similarly, the PM2.5-related portion of this air quality analysis has to demonstrate that annual 
direct PM2.5 and nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions from mobile sources will not exceed those 
found in the budget established by the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (OEPA).  The 
budgets for the 2006 PM2.5 standard were set on July 26, 2013 and are shown in Table 3. 
 
The AMATS and ODOT are jointly responsible for travel demand modeling and air quality 
analysis for the Akron area.  In May 2015, forecasted variables were approved as inputs to the 
model.  In January 2020, AMATS updated its travel demand model.  The air quality analyses 
documented in this appendix involve the use of the travel demand and emissions models to 
analyze future regional mobile source emissions.  Trip tables have been created using the latest 
planning assumptions and are based on the most recent forecasts of land use and 
socioeconomic data produced by AMATS. 
 
NOACA and ODOT are jointly responsible for travel demand modeling and air quality analysis 
for its area.  Emissions for Ashtabula County are generated using current ODOT traffic volume 
data and growth rates. 
 
In order to determine mobile source impacts on regional ozone and PM2.5 levels, all non-exempt 
(in keeping with 40 CFR 93) TIP projects have been coded into the travel demand model for the 
analysis years of 2021, 2030, and 2040 for ozone and 2022, 2030, and 2040 for PM2.5.  The 
projects coded in each network are listed in Exhibit C-1 through C-4.  Once the AMATS travel 
demand model was run for each of the analysis years described above, the traffic assignment 
results were post-processed and input into MOVES2014a. The output from MOVES2014a 
includes VOC and NOx for ozone and direct PM2.5 and NOx for PM2.5. 
 
The AMATS area results have been combined with the NOACA and Ashtabula County results to 
complete the conformity analysis for the entire Cleveland-Akron-Lorain ozone and PM2.5 non-
attainment area.  The conformity analysis results for the entire region are available for public 
comment at the April 2, 2020 Transportation Improvement Program public meeting. 
 
Results 
 
Table 1 shows the results of the MOVES2014a analysis for the 2015 8-Hour ozone standard for 
the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain non-attainment area.  This analysis must show that VOC and NOx 
emissions from mobile sources will not exceed those established in the budget contained in the 
SIP, which sets the allowable limits for each pollutant.  Table 1 confirms ozone precursor 
emissions do not exceed the budgets for either VOC or NOx. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



65APPENDIX A - AIR QUALITY ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

 

TABLE 1 
Cleveland-Akron-Lorain Mobile Source 
Ozone Precursor Emissions Forecasts 

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) (tons/day) 
2015  

8-Hour Ozone 
Test  

2021 
Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget  

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  16.20   9.77  6.58 
AMATS  9.11   4.22  3.76 
TOTALS 25.31 30.80 13.99 10.34 

  
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tons/day) 

  
2021 

Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget 

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  22.13   10.90 7.47 
AMATS  12.21   5.29 4.21 
TOTALS  34.34 43.82 16.19 11.68 

 
Table 2 shows the results of the MOVES2014a analysis for the 2008 8-Hour ozone standard for 
the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain maintenance area.  This analysis must show that VOC and NOx 
emissions from mobile sources will not exceed those established in the budget contained in the 
SIP, which sets the allowable limits for each pollutant.  Table 2 confirms ozone precursor 
emissions do not exceed the budgets for either VOC or NOx. 

 
TABLE 2 

Cleveland-Akron-Lorain Mobile Source 
Ozone Precursor Emissions Forecasts 

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) (tons/day) 
2008  

8-Hour Ozone 
Test  

2021 
Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget  

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  16.20   9.77 6.58 
AMATS  9.11   4.22 3.76 
Ashtabula County 1.26   0.58 0.54 
TOTAL  26.57 30.80 14.57 10.88 

  
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tons/day) 

  
2021 

Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget 

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  22.13   10.90 7.47 
AMATS  12.21   5.29 4.21 
Ashtabula County 1.87   0.84 0.72 
TOTAL  36.21 43.82 17.03 12.40 

 
 
 

 

Table 3 shows the results of the MOVES2014a analysis for the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain PM2.5 
maintenance area.  This analysis must show that direct PM2.5 and NOX emissions from mobile 
sources will not exceed those found in the 2022 budget.  Table 2 confirms emissions do not 
exceed the budgets for both direct PM2.5 and NOx. 
 

TABLE 3 
Northeast Ohio Mobile Source PM2.5 and Precursor Emissions Forecasts 

 
Direct PM2.5 Emissions (Annual Tons) 

          
PM2.5  2006 
Standard 

Test  
2022 

Budget 
2022 

Emissions 
2030 

Emissions 
2040 

Emissions 
NOACA    343.76  264.33 224.07 
AMATS    133.88  108.62 108.04 
Ashtabula 
County   2.19  1.68 1.68 
TOTALS  880.89 479.83 374.63 333.79 
          

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Precursor (Annual Tons) 
          

  
2022 

Budget 
2022 

Emissions 
2030 

Emissions 
2040 

Emissions 
NOACA    9,977.68  5,457.77 3,787.06 
AMATS    2,736.88  1,872.30 1,664.22 
Ashtabula 
County   50.33  35.26 32.81 
TOTALS  17,263.65 12,764.89 7,365.33 5,484.09 

 
TABLE 4 

Northeast Ohio Mobile Source PM2.5 and Precursor Emissions Forecasts 
 

Attainment status: 2012 Annual PM2.5 Standard – maintenance area (80 FR 2205 / January 
14, 2015) 

SIP Status: Federal Register /Vol. 83, No. 246 /Wednesday, December 26, 2018 – 
approval of SIP and finding in support of MOVES based 2012 standard 
PM2.5 MVEB 

Geography: Cuyahoga and Lorain County, OH *Summit and Portage Counties are in attainment 
Conformity Tests: 2012 SIP Maintenance Plan tests 
Analysis Years: 2022 PM2.5 Budget year 
 2030 Interim and PM2.5 Budget year 
 2040 Plan(s) horizon year 

 
Direct PM2.5 Emissions (Annual Tons) 

           
PM2.5  2012 

Standard Test  
2022 

Budget 
2022 

Emissions 
2030 

Budget 
2030 

Emissions 
2040 

Emissions 
Direct PM2.5  406.79  243.93  270.57 192.28 162.50 
NOx 9,432.04  7,093.52  4,907.54 3,721.28 2,561.28 

 



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204066 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

 

For additional detail on these topics, visit the following USEPA websites:  
 
http://www.epa.gov/air/ozonepollution/ (general ozone information) 
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/ozone/ozonetech/ (technical ozone information)  
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/fastfacts.html (fast facts on particulate matter) 
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/basic.html (general particulate matter information) 
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/standards/pm/s_pm_index.html (technical particulate matter 
information) 

 
EXHIBIT C-1 

2021 NETWORK 
 

The 2021 Network includes all existing facilities plus the following projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Cleveland-Massillon 
Rd  

NORTON - Weber Dr to I-76 Median turn lane 

Evans Ave AKRON - CSX Rail Line RR Grade separation 
Massillon Rd (SR 
241) 

GREEN - Raber Rd to SR 619 Widen to 5 lanes, Improve 
Safety 

SR 91 TWINSBURG - North of 
Glenwood Blvd to Cuyahoga 
County Line 

Widen to 4 lanes and 
roundabout at 
Meadowood/Ethan 

Tallmadge Ave (SR 
261) 

AKRON - N. Main St to SR 8 Road diet and realign Dayton 

Note: All of these projects are assumed 2021 for ozone; however for PM2.5 they would 
move to 2022. 

Please note that the following locations were added to all networks due to maintenance of 
traffic stripping 
I-76 AKRON - US 224 to I-77 

(Kenmore Leg) 
6 lanes w/ interchange 
modifications from MOT 

I-77 SPRINGFIELD TWP/AKRON - 
Arlington Rd to I-277 

Widen to 8 lanes and 
interchange modifications 
from MOT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

EXHIBIT C-2 
2022 NETWORK 

 
The 2022 Network includes those projects in the 2021 network plus the following 

projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Cleveland-Massillon 
Rd  

COPLEY TWP/FAIRLAWN - I-77 to 
Bywood Ave 

Widen to 4 lanes and roundabout 

I-76/US224 BARBERTON - State Rd/Wooster Rd 
Interchanges and widening 

Reconfigure Interchanges and widen 
I-76 to 3 lanes 

SR 14 STREETSBORO - Portage Pointe to 
Diagonal Rd 

Median turn lane 

Tallmadge Rd BRIMFIELD TWP - At I-76 Interchange Reconfigure Interchange 
   
Note: All of these projects are assumed 2022 for PM2.5; however they would move to 2030 for ozone. 
   
Please note the following location was added to 2022, 2030, and 2040 networks as a plan amendment to 
be approved May 2020 
SR 8/I-77 AKRON - US 224 to Carroll St Add an additional lane in each 

direction 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT C-3 
2030 NETWORK 

 
The 2030 Network includes those projects in the 2022 network plus the following 

projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Arlington Rd GREEN - Boettler Rd to September Dr Widen to 4 lanes with intersection 

improvements 
E Main St KENT - Main/SR 59/Willow to Horning Roundabouts, raised median, 

remove Terrace, Horning 
realignment, complete streets 

I-76/I-77 AKRON - Central Interchange Reconfigure Interchange 
I-77 BATH TWP/RICHFIELD/RICHFIELD TWP 

- Ghent Rd to Cuyahoga County Line 
Widen to 6 lanes 

Massillon Rd (SR 
241) 

GREEN - At Corporate Woods Circle Roundabout 

Massillon Rd (SR 
241) 

GREEN - At Boettler Rd/Franks Pkwy Roundabout 

N Main St AKRON - north of Y-bridge to north corp 
limit 

Road diet, complete streets 

SR 8 AKRON - Perkins St to Glenwood Ave Reconstruct bridge, Improve 
Perkins St ramp operation 

 
 

 
 
 
 



67APPENDIX A - AIR QUALITY ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

 

EXHIBIT C-4 
2040 NETWORK 

 
The 2040 Network includes those projects in the 2030 network plus the following 

projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Darrow Rd (SR 91) TWINSBURG - At I-480 Interchange Reconfigure Interchange 
Howe Rd CUYAHOGA FALLS - At SR 8 

Interchange 
Reconfigure Interchange 

Kent Rd (SR 59) STOW - At Darrow Rd (SR 91) Additional capacity, operational 
improvements, traffic study, enhance 
transit 

Oviatt St HUDSON - SR 91 to Ravenna Rd Add a Bypass 
Town Park Blvd GREEN - Massillon Rd to Wise Rd New Roadway 
Town Park Blvd GREEN - Lauby Rd to Wise Rd New Roadway 

 
 

 

FY2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
Air Quality Conformity Interagency Consultation Conference Call Minutes 

 
 
Present: Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) 

Erie County Regional Planning Commission (ERPC) 
Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency (NOACA) 
Federal Highway Administration, Ohio Division (FHWA) 
Ohio Department of Transportation, Statewide Planning (ODOT) 
Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (Ohio EPA) 
United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) 
 

Logistics: October 31, 2019, 2:00 p.m., Conference Call 
  

Purpose 

A formal interagency consultation (IAC) process is required in each nonattainment and 
maintenance area to address technical and procedural issues related to air quality 
planning. The Cleveland, Akron, and Erie County, Ohio metropolitan planning 
organizations (MPOs) (NOACA, AMATS and ERPC) are updating their FY2021-2024 
TIPs. The TIPs are part of the MPOs’ existing long-range transportation plans (LRTPs), 
for which the horizon year is 2040. 

Discussion 

 The IAC call began at 2:00 p.m. 
 All parties agreed on the geographic scope of the analysis, which includes the five 

NOACA counties (Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, and Medina), the two AMATS 
counties (Portage and Summit), and Ashtabula County 

o Ashtabula County not included in the nonattainment area for the 2015 ozone 
National Ambient Air Quality Standard (NAAQS), but it is part of the maintenance 
area for the 2008 NAAQS 

o All eight counties part of maintenance area for 2006 fine particulate matter 
(PM2.5) NAAQS, but only Cuyahoga and Lorain are part of maintenance area for 
2012 PM2.5 NAAQS 

 Parties agreed on the applicable conformity tests and budgets 
o Ohio has not completed the State Implementation Plan (SIP) for the 2015 ozone 
o Based on U.S. EPA guidance, the MPOs will use the 2008 ozone budgets to 

analyze both the 2008 and 2015 ozone NAAQS 
o MPOs will use the budgets for the 2006 and 2012 PM2.5 NAAQS for those 

analyses 
 Parties settled upon the analysis years 

o NOACA recommended the following analysis years 
 Ozone: 2021 (attainment year for the 2015 NAAQS), 2030 (budget year 

for 2008 NAAQS), and 2040 (horizon year for LRTP) 
 2006 PM2.5 NAAQS: 2022 (budget year), 2030 (interim year), and 2040 

(horizon year) 
 2012 PM2.5 NAAQS: 2022 (budget year), 2030 (budget year), and 2040 

(horizon year) 
o All parties agreed that these are the appropriate analysis years 

 Parties confirmed the geographic division for the analysis 



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204068 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

 

o NOACA will complete the conformity analysis for Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, 
Lorain, and Medina Counties 

o ODOT and AMATS would work together to run the analysis for Portage and 
Summit Counties 

o ODOT will also do the additional analysis for Ashtabula County 
o NOACA asked if ODOT will continue to do the post-processing for the NOACA 

region, and both agencies agreed to this 
o NOACA added that once post-processing is completed, ODOT will provide the 

final emissions totals to NOACA, and it will complete the conformity 
documentation 

 U.S. EPA confirmed that MOVES2014a is the version of record, and the MPOs/ODOT 
will use it to complete the emissions modeling 

 There was a discussion about the networks for the analysis 
o NOACA noted that it is processing two ODOT sponsored major rehabilitation 

projects along IR-77 and IR-90 through its project review. The projects are 
currently scoped as major rehabilitation projects for construction in 2021 and 
2024, respectively.  
 ODOT is evaluating the feasibility of incorporating hard shoulder running 

into each project.  Based on NOACA’s review of the guidance, if hard 
shoulder running is determined to be feasible and is incorporated into the 
project scopes, the projects will have to be analyzed for air quality 
conformity impacts. 

 This would trigger another conformity analysis if they are amended to the 
TIP later on 

 ODOT proposed conducting further research and holding additional 
discussions to determine whether or not they would be exempt; however, 
they will not be analyzed until next year, regardless 

 NOACA and ODOT agreed to proceed with the conformity analysis, as 
planned, and table this issue until later on 

o AMATS and ODOT explained that they are finalizing their travel demand model, 
and it will not be validated until around Thanksgiving (week of November 25, 
2019) 
 NOACA explained the tight timeline for the conformity determination, 

given the need to get approval from the NOACA Board of Directors at 
their March 13, 2020 meeting 

 MPOs and ODOT need to complete emissions modeling mid-January, at 
the latest 

 ODOT proposed that AMATS use its existing model in order to stick to 
this timeline, and all parties agreed 

 Once the analysis is complete, NOACA will distribute the conformity documentation to 
AMATS and ERPC, so they can bring it to their Technical Advisory and Policy 
Committees for approval 

 NOACA explained that it needs to get approval from its Board of Directors at its March 
13, 2020 meeting 

o This is earlier than previous TIPs, when NOACA had gotten approval at the June 
Board meeting 

o In order to meet this timeline, NOACA needs to get a recommendation for 
approval from its Planning and Programming Committee at its January 2020 
meeting 

 

 AMATS, and ERPC will pass resolutions to adopt the conformity determination after 
NOACA 

o ODOT advised AMATS and/or ERPC to wait until April or May to approve the 
conformity determination in order to abide by the public involvement process for 
the State TIP (STIP), which ends on April 10 

o AMATS indicated they can get approval from their Technical Advisory and Policy 
Committees on May 14 

o ERPC stated they can either get approval from their Technical Advisory and 
Policy Committees on April 23 or May 21, as appropriate 

o NOACA added that it will have its Board of Directors approve a draft TIP at its 
March meeting, pending major comments from the public 
 If there are major comments, NOACA would need to get approval on the 

revised, final TIP at the June Board of Directors meeting 
 All parties agreed to this process 

 NOACA asked U.S. EPA about whether the Lake Michigan Air Directors Consortium 
(LADCO) had made progress on updating the model inputs for MOVES. U.S. EPA 
indicated they were not sure of the status of that update but would inquire 

 The IAC call concluded at 2:30 p.m. 
 

 
Table 1. FY2021-2024 TIP Conformity Determination Timeline 

 
Organization Activity Date(s) 

NOACA Public Involvement Process January 10-April 10 

NOACA Planning & Programming Committee Meeting January 17 

NOACA Board of Directors Meeting March 13 

NOACA Board of Directors Meeting (if necessary to 
approve changes based on major comments) June 12 

AMATS Public Involvement Process In accordance with 
AMATS PI process 

AMATS Technical Advisory & Policy Committee Meetings May 14 

ERPC Public Involvement Process In accordance with 
ERPC PI process 

ERPC Technical Advisory & Policy Committee Meetings April 23 or May 21 

ODOT STIP Public Involvement Process March 30-April 10 

ODOT Final S/TIPs Due (ODOT, MPOs, RTPs to post 
final S/TIPs to ODOT STIP extranet) 

April 30 

ODOT S/TIPs Submitted to USDOT (USDOT 45 day 
review period. Approval anticipated July 1) 

May 1 

U.S. DOT Approved S/TIPs Posted to Web July 1 

 

 

 



69APPENDIX A - AIR QUALITY ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

 

 
FY2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

Air Quality Conformity Interagency Consultation Conference Call Minutes 
Including AMATS 2040 Plan Amendment 

 
 
Present: 

 
Curtis Baker – AMATS 
Phyllis Jividen – AMATS 
Dave Pulay – AMATS 
Amy Prater – AMATS 
Carrie Whitaker – ERPC 
Tim Kovach – NOACA 
Nino Brunello – ODOT Central Office 
Dave Moore – ODOT Central Office 
Lauren Phillis – ODOT District 4 
Steve Rebillot – ODOT District 4 
 

Logistics: February 4, 2020, 1:30 p.m., Conference Call 
  
 
Purpose 
 
This interagency consultation call was held to clarify what conformity determination and 
documentation would be needed to include a minor revision to the AMATS 2040 
Regional Transportation Plan. 
 
Discussion 
 

 The interagency consultation call began at 1:30 p.m. 
 Dave Moore described that recently ODOT District 4 decided to add a capacity adding 

alternative to PID 102329; which would be a minor revision to the AMATS 2040 Regional 
Transportation Plan.  The project would basically add an additional through lane in each 
direction on IR 77 from US 224/IR 277 to SR 8 and SR 8 from IR 77 to Perkins St in 
Akron. 

 A new air quality conformity determination is required to include this project alternative 
so that the project could sell in FY 2021. 

 After much discussion, it was decided that the project will be included in the AMATS 
2021-2024 TIP air quality conformity determination and that the AMATS 2040 Regional 
Transportation Plan will be revised to include this minor revision. 

 All parties agreed that the analysis years and geographic division previously determined 
on the last interagency call (October 31, 2019) would remain as agreed upon: 

o 2021, 2030, 2040 for Ozone 
o 2022, 2030, 2040 for PM2.5 

 MOVES2014a is still the version of record, and the MPOs/ODOT will use it to complete 
the emissions modeling. 

 ODOT District 4 agreed to send out slides of the proposed improvements to use for 
public involvement components. 

 Once the analysis is complete, NOACA will distribute the conformity documentation to 
AMATS and ERPC, so they can bring it to their Technical Advisory and Policy 
Committees for approval. 

 AMATS plans to take the project slides to their March 11th Policy committee meeting for 
review.  Then, AMATS will take the 2021-2024 TIP, including air quality conformity 
determination, and plan amendment to their May 14th Policy committee meeting. 

 

 NOACA plans to take 2021-2024 TIP including air quality conformity determination and 
concurrence with AMATS plan amendment to their March 13th Board of Directors 
meeting. 

o NOACA stipulated that approvals may be delayed until their June 12th Board of 
Directors meeting if significant changes need to be made to their TIP based on 
public comment. 

 ERPC plans to take 2021-2024 TIP including air quality conformity determination and 
concurrence with AMATS plan amendment to their May 21st Policy Committee meeting 

 The interagency consultation call concluded approximately 2:00 p.m. 
 
After the meeting an email was sent to all participants as well as FHWA, EPA, and 
OEPA.  FTA was accidently omitted but later added by FHWA.  All four agencies not on 
the call concurred via email with the approach outlined in the meeting.  Email 
concurrences are shown below including date and time information. 
 
 
From: Stemen, Carmen (FHWA) <carmen.stemen@dot.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, February 05, 2020 11:42 AM 
To: Prater, Amy <APrater@akronohio.gov>; Baker, Curtis <CBaker@akronohio.gov>; Jividen, 
Phyllis <PJividen@akronohio.gov>; Pulay, Dave <DPulay@akronohio.gov>; Carrie Whitaker 
(CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov) <CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov>; Tim Kovach 
(TKovach@mpo.noaca.org) <TKovach@mpo.noaca.org>; Nino.Brunello@dot.ohio.gov; 
Dave.Moore1@dot.ohio.gov; Lauren.Phillis@dot.ohio.gov; Steve.Rebillot@dot.ohio.gov 
Cc: paul.braun@epa.ohio.gov; Maietta, Anthony <maietta.anthony@epa.gov>; Kane, Mark 
(FTA) <Mark.Kane@dot.gov>; Mehlo, Noel (FHWA) <Noel.Mehlo@dot.gov> 
Subject: RE: Updated AQ Conformity Determination conference call minutes 
 
All, 
 
I have contacted US EPA, OEPA and FTA (you forgot to include Mark Kane on the e-mail 
below) and they are going to let me know if they concur with this approach or if they feel they 
need a call. If they do not need a call, I would add text to the meeting summary to the effect that 
“the other agencies concurred via e-mail with the approach outlined in the meeting.” 
 
In the future, please include all the agencies that should be on an IAC call so we can all be on the 
same page together and can document, in good faith, the outcomes of the meeting. 
 
FHWA concurs with the outlined approach. Below is FTA’s concurrence. Thanks. -Carmen 
 
Carmen M. Stemen 
Carmen M. Stemen, MUP 
Planning and Environment Specialist 
FHWA Ohio Division 
200 N. High St., Rm. 328 
Columbus, OH 43215 
(614) 280-6848 
 
 
 



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204070 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

 

From: Kane, Mark (FTA) <Mark.Kane@dot.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, February 5, 2020 12:30 PM 
To: Stemen, Carmen (FHWA) <carmen.stemen@dot.gov> 
Subject: RE: [External]RE: Updated AQ Conformity Determination conference call minutes 
 
Hi Carmen, 
 
FTA concurs with the approach. 
 
Thanks. 
 
Mark 
 
Mark Kane 
Community Planner 
Federal Transit Administration 
200 West Adams Street, Suite 320 
Chicago, IL 60606 
312.353.1552 
 
 
From: Maietta, Anthony <maietta.anthony@epa.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, February 5, 2020 1:13 PM 
To: Stemen, Carmen (FHWA) <carmen.stemen@dot.gov>; Prater, Amy 
<APrater@akronohio.gov>; Baker, Curtis <CBaker@akronohio.gov>; Jividen, Phyllis 
<PJividen@akronohio.gov>; Pulay, Dave <DPulay@akronohio.gov>; Carrie Whitaker 
(CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov) <CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov>; Tim Kovach 
(TKovach@mpo.noaca.org) <TKovach@mpo.noaca.org>; Nino.Brunello@dot.ohio.gov; 
Dave.Moore1@dot.ohio.gov; Lauren.Phillis@dot.ohio.gov; Steve.Rebillot@dot.ohio.gov 
Cc: paul.braun@epa.ohio.gov; Kane, Mark (FTA) <Mark.Kane@dot.gov>; Mehlo, Noel 
(FHWA) <Noel.Mehlo@dot.gov> 
Subject: RE: Updated AQ Conformity Determination conference call minutes 
 
Thanks Carmen, 
 
EPA is ok with this approach but as a reminder to everyone the full Cleveland/Akron/Erie IAC 
list is in the Ohio SIP (I’ve attached the relevant appendix to this email) and the group consists 
of:  



71APPENDIX B - FINANCIAL PLANAMENDED 5-14-2020

APPENDIX B

It is critical that Transportation Outlook 2040 (TO2040) provide a vision 
for the future while also maintaining a realistic perspective on the costs of 
transportation projects and anticipated revenues.  The purpose of the Financial 
Plan is to ensure that TO2040 is in fiscal constraint.  Fiscal constraint means 
that future projects in the plan do not exceed expected revenues.

The AMATS Policy Committee approved the Financial Resources Forecast 
in September 2016.  The document estimated future transportation revenues 
through 2040.  The Financial Plan uses the Financial Resources Forecast as 
a guide for the funds available for TO2040.  Both costs and revenues must 
be projected in year of expenditure dollars.  This means that both costs and 
revenues needed to be assigned inflation rates.   

Overall, AMATS projects $7,292,649,810 of funds to be available.  This 
analysis ensures TO2040 is in fiscal constraint.

In order to maintain fiscal constraint for future highway projects, AMATS first 
developed an estimate of highway revenues.  The revenues are shown below:

FINANCIAL PLAN

HIGHWAY RECOMMENDATION METHODOLOGY

HIGHWAY REVENUES THROUGH 2040
Federal $2,027,363,417

State $1,429,161,134

Local $1,295,475,584

Ohio Turnpike $353,835,617

Total Revenue $5,105,835,752

The growth rates used to project federal and state funding were based on 
estimates provided by ODOT. These growth rates were applied to the historical 
average and compounded to determine the financial forecast projections for 
short, medium, and long term years of the Plan.

For local funds historical data from the BMV for license plate registration 

fees and permissive taxes was obtained for 2013 to 2015 for Summit, Portage, 
and Wayne counties.  Historic fuel tax data distributed to the counties, 
municipalities, and townships was obtained for 2010 to 2015 from the Ohio 
Department of Taxation. A 0 percent growth rate was applied to that historical 
average and all years were totaled to determine the 2040 financial forecast.  

The Ohio Turnpike portion of forecasted funding was determined from the Ohio 
Turnpike and Infrastructure Commission’s Annual Reports.  The expenses for 
“maintenance of roadway and structures” and “traffic control, safety, patrol 
and communications” were added together to estimate the cost of maintaining 
the turnpike.  The statewide total was multiplied by 34/241 since 34 miles of 
the total 241 miles are within the AMATS area.  This adjusted total for each 
year from 2005 to 2015 is listed in Table 1 along with the resulting historical 
average.

Given that the Ohio Turnpike is a self-sustained entity, AMATS assumes 
a growth rate of 5.47 percent that generates at least the amount needed to 
maintain the Ohio Turnpike as shown in the Highway Preservation Needs report 
(July 2016).  The Ohio Turnpike forecast is projected to be approximately $353 
million between now and 2040.  Any money not used for turnpike maintenance 
could be used on other state projects in the future.

With revenues established, it was necessary to assign inflation costs to each 
project recommendation.  The table below shows the rates of inflation used to 
forecast project costs. Highway projects were assigned inflation rates based on 
the Ohio Department of Transportation’s (ODOT) July 2016 Construction Cost 
Outlook and Forecast through 2017.  AMATS assumed a flat 2.5 percent per 
year for the out years.  All projects are shown in 2017 costs so the inflation rate 
is 0 percent.



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204072 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

INFLATION RATE PER YEAR
2017 0.0%

2018 3.7%

2019 3.8%

2020 3.7%

2021 3.5%

2022-2040 2.5% per year

With inflation rates established, the next step was to estimate what year projects 
would take place to get an accurate inflated cost.  The table on the following 
page shows project cost in year of expenditure dollar and the time band for 
which the project is expected to occur.

Preservation funds were estimated over the life of the plan and were assumed 
to be distributed equally over the life of the plan.  The AMATS Program is 
included in total and considered to be in year of expenditure dollars.  Because 
the SR 8 bridge project is a preservation project, its costs were assumed to be 
part of the overall preservation funds.  The plan also shows funds reserved for 
unspecified safety and operation projects, as well as $33 million reserved for 
bicycle and pedestrian enhancements.  The table above demonstrates fiscal 
constraint for highway recommendations in TO2040.



73APPENDIX B - FINANCIAL PLANAMENDED 5-14-2020

HIGHWAY FINANCIAL CONSTRAINT ANALYSIS
2017-2040

Total Revenue $ 5,105,835,752.00 $ 5,105,835,752.00

Maintenance Recommmendations Year of Expediture Current Cost Year of Expenditure Cost

Pavement Resurfacing Ongoing Ongoing $ (1,172,518,000.00) $ (1,599,578,957.08)

Pavement Replacement Ongoing Ongoing $ (148,758,250.00) $ (202,939,798.27)

Bridge Preservation Ongoing Ongoing $ (1,899,537,976.00) $ (2,591,398,148.75)

AMATS Program 2017-2022

AMATS Program  (Included in TIP) 2017-2021 2017-2021 $ (94,520,000.00) $ (94,520,000.00)

AMATS Ongoing Regionwide Improvements

Bike and Pedestrian Ongoing Ongoing $ (33,000,000) $ (33,000,000)

Safety and Operational Ongoing Ongoing $ (75,000,000) $ (75,000,000)

Transit Ongoing Ongoing $ (20,000,000) $ (20,000,000)

Freeway Recommendations

Recommendation Limits Current Cost Yr of Expenditure Cost 

I-77 Arlington to I-277 2022-2028 2024 $ (64,000,000) $ (64,000,000)

I-77/76/277/SR 8 Akron Beltway Project 2022-2029 2024 $ (50,000,000) $ (50,000,000)

I-77 Ghent to Cuyahoga County Line 2022-2030 2022 $ (105,000,000) $ (105,000,000)

SR 8 Perkins to Glenwood 2021 2021 $ (110,000,000) included in preservation

I-77//SR 8 Central Interchange Reconstruction with SR 8 SB Auxiliary Lane 2021 2021 $ (150,000,000) included in preservation

I-76/US 224 State Rd/Wooster Rd 2019 2019 $ (26,000,000) $ (26,000,000)

Roadway Recommendations

Community Limits  Current Cost  Yr of Expenditure Cost 

Akron E. Exchange St from Broadway St to Fountain St 2022-2028 2022 $ (5,043,000) $ (5,971,838.44)

Akron Brittain Rd at Eastland Ave/Eastwood Ave 2022-2028 2025 $ (4,000,000) $ (5,100,945.33)

Akron Evans Ave 2022-2028 2022 $ (8,200,000) $ (9,710,306.40)

Akron N Portage Path at Merriman Rd 2029-2035 2030 $ (2,000,000) $ (2,885,625.72)

Akron W Market St (SR 18) at Hawkins Ave/W Exchange St 2036-2040 2037 $ (2,000,000) $ (3,430,102.18)

Akron Brittain Rd from E Tallmadge Ave (SR 261) to Independence Ave 2036-2040 2040 $ (1,500,000) $ (2,770,383.66)

Akron E Market St (SR 18) & Mogadore Rd/I-76 Ramps 2022-2028 2028 $ (3,000,000) $ (4,119,870.15)

Akron Waterloo Rd (US 224) & George Washington Blvd (SR 241) 2022-2028 2026 $ (2,000,000) $ (2,614,234.48)

Akron/Cuyahoga Falls SR 8 at Howe Ave 2022-2028 2025 $ (33,000,000) $ (42,082,798.98)

Akron/Cuyahoga Falls/Tallmadge Howe Ave at Brittain Rd/Northwest Ave 2022-2028 2028 $ (10,000,000) $ (13,732,900.51)

Akron/Fairlawn Miller Rd from Ridgewood Rd to SR 18 (W Market St) 2036-2040 2038 $ (1,000,000) $ (1,757,927.37)

Barberton Wooster Rd N (SR 619) from Waterloo Rd to I-76 2036-2040 2040 $ (800,000) $ (1,477,537.95)

Bath Twp/Copley Twp/Fairlawn Medina Rd (SR 18) from Heritage Woods Dr to Cleveland-Massillon Rd 2029-2035 2033 $ (1,500,000) $ (2,330,627.46)

Cuyahoga Falls Portage Trail from Valley Rd to State Rd 2036-2040 2039 $ (800,000) $ (1,441,500.44)

Cuyahoga Falls State Rd at Portage Trail 2036-2040 2040 $ (500,000) $ (923,461.22)

Fairlawn W Market St (SR 18) from Ghent Rd to Miller Av 2029-2035 2029 $ (1,000,000) $ (1,407,622.30)



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204074 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

HIGHWAY FINANCIAL CONSTRAINT ANALYSIS
2017-2040

Total Revenue $ 5,105,835,752.00 $ 5,105,835,752.00 

Roadway Recommendations (continued)

Community Limits Current Cost Yr of Expenditure Cost

Green Massillon Rd (SR 241) & Corporate Woods Circle 2022-2028 2023 $ (1,747,900) $ (2,121,580.57)

Green Arlington Rd from Boettler Rd to September Dr 2022-2028 2025 $ (12,000,000) $ (15,302,835.99)

Green Town Park Blvd from Greensburg Rd to Wise Rd 2036-2040 2038 $ (3,700,000) $ (6,504,331.27)

Green Town Park Blvd from Wise Rd to Massillon Rd 2029-2035 2032 $ (5,700,000) $ (8,640,374.99)

Hudson Darrow Rd (SR 91) at Steetsboro Rd (SR 303) 2022-2028 2022 $ (2,400,500) $ (2,842,632.99)

Hudson Darrow Rd (SR 91) from Ravenna Rd to SR 303 2022-2028 2024 $ (8,600,000) $ (10,699,543.86)

Hudson Hines Hill Rail Grade Seperation 2029-2035 2030 $ (11,000,000) $ (15,870,941.46)

Hudson/ Twinsburg Twp Darrow Rd (SR 91) from Middleton Rd to Twinsburg Rd 2029-2035 2030 $ (1,000,000) $ (1,442,812.86)

Kent E Main St (SR 59) from Willow St to Luther Av 2029-2035 2033 $ (1,000,000) $ (1,592,595.43)

Macedonia Aurora Rd (SR 82) from Olde Eight Rd to SR 8 2029-2035 2031 $ (1,000,000) $ (1,478,883.18)

Northfield Center Twp SR 82 at Olde Eight Rd/Brandywine Rd 2029-2035 2032 $ (1,500,000) $ (2,273,782.89)

Richfield Wheatley Rd (SR 176) at Brecksville Rd 2022-2028 2025 $ (1,100,000) $ (1,402,759.97)

Rootstown Twp SR 44 from Tallmadge Rd (CR 18) to I-76 2022-2028 2024 $ (250,000) $ (311,033.25)

Stow Darrow Rd (SR 91)& Graham Rd 2022-2028 2022 $ (500,000) $ (592,091.85)

Stow Norton Rd from Hudson Drive to Darrow Rd (SR 91) 2022-2028 2022 $ (4,000,000) $ (4,736,734.83)

Stow Kent Rd (SR 59) at Darrow Rd (SR 91) 2036-2040 2037 $ (1,500,000) $ (2,572,576.64)

Stow Graham Rd from Fishcreek Rd to Newcomer Rd 2022-2028 2023 $ (2,000,000) $ (2,427,576.60)

Streetsboro Streetsboro Town Center: SR 14/SR 43/SR 303 2029-2035 2030 $ (350,000) $ (504,984.50)

Tallmadge Tallmadge Circle 2022-2028 2025 $ (8,000,000) $ (10,201,890.66)

Twinsburg I-480 & SR 91 2022-2028 2023 $ (3,521,300) $ (4,274,112.74)

Twinsburg Darrow Rd (SR 91) at Aurora Rd (SR 82) 2036-2040 2040 $ (1,000,000) $ (1,846,922.44)

Total Expenses $ (4,096,546,926) $ (5,105,835,586)

Balance $ 1,009,288,826 $ 166.31 



75APPENDIX B - FINANCIAL PLANAMENDED 5-14-2020

Transit revenues were projected in the Financial Resources Forecast.  Transit 
funding data for both METRO and PARTA was collected over the last 10 years 
to estimate the amount of federal funding expected to be available. The growth 
rates used to forecast transit funding were assumed to be the same as highway 
federal assumptions, which were just over 2 percent until 2020 and then 0 
percent through 2040.   

Local funds were projected based on past transit budgets in the Financial 
Resources Forecast.   The 2016 estimated totals for METRO and PARTA 
were added together and were used as the baseline for future projections.  The 
growth rates used to forecast local transit funding were assumed to be 5 percent 
annually through 2020 and then 0 percent through 2040.

TRANSIT RECOMMENDATION METHODOLOGY

REVENUE
Federal Funds $380,001,132

Local and State Revenue $1,806,812,926

AMATS Revenue $20,000,000

AMATS used ODOT’s short-term inflation rate for transit projects through 
2020.  A 2 percent inflation rate was estimated for years 2022-2040.   AMATS 
reviewed the consumer price index performance over the last 10 years from 
2006-2016 to determine out-year inflation.  The inflation rate applied to projects 
is as follows:

INFLATION RATE PER YEAR
2017 0.0%

2018 3.7%

2019 3.8%

2020 3.7%

2021 3.5%

2022-2040 2.0% per year

With inflation rates established, the next step was to estimate what year projects 
would take place to obtain an accurate inflated cost.  The following table 
shows project cost in year of expenditure dollar and the time band for which 
the project is expected to occur.  Operating expenses to maintain the system 
were projected annually and operation expenses for additional new service 
were added when service is projected to start.  With all the recommendations 

included and placed in the year of expenditure, the following Transit Financial 
Constraint Analysis table demonstrates fiscal constraint.



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204076 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

TRANSIT FINANCIAL CONSTRAINT ANALYSIS

 Revenue $ 2,218,364,058 

 Federal Funds $ 380,001,132 

 New 5310 Funds $ 11,550,000 

 Local and State Revenue $ 1,806,812,926 

 AMATS Revenue $ 20,000,000  CMAQ 

 METRO 

 Operating Expenses - Base Service $ (1,555,033,761)  Annual 

 Capital Costs - Base Service 

 Chapel Hill Turnaround $ (441,717)  2026-2030, 2035-2040 

 Maintenance Facility Rehab $ (2,176,119)  2025-2040 

 Downtown Transit Facility Rehab $ (3,063,748)  2030-2040  

 Ghent Park and Ride Lot Rehab $ (750,919)  2024-2029, 2035-2040 

 Fuel Facility Rehab $ (1,524,395)  2030-2035 

 Annual Bus Fleet Expenditures - Preservation $ (143,685,639)  Annual 

 Preventive Maintenance $ (157,362,057)  Annual 

 Bus Shelter and Stop Enhancements $ (2,299,161)  Annual 

 Operating Expenses - Additional Service 

 West Market Street - Arlington $ (18,840,835)  2022-2040 

 Copley Rd $ (18,840,835)  2022-2040 

 Kenmore $ (18,840,835)  2022-2040 

 Twinsburg - Macedonia $ (11,654,541)  2025-2040 

 Northern Summit $ (8,400,623)  2030-2040 

 Southern Summit $ (8,400,623)  2030-2040 

 Capital Expenses - Additional Service 

 West Market Street - Arlington $ (5,511,269)  2021-2040 

 Copley Rd $ (3,985,730)  2021-2040 

 Kenmore $ (2,913,059)  2022-2040 

 Twinsburg - Macedonia $ (2,687,007)  2025-2040 

 Northern Summit  $ (2,201,192)  2030-2040 

 Southern Summit $ (2,201,192)  2030-2040 

 Park and Ride Facilities $ (2,532,027)  2022-2040 

 Sandyville Rail Line Rehab $ (650,528)  2025-2030 

 Akron Secondary Rail Line Barlow and Seasons Road Upgrade $ (1,802,963)  2022-2026 

 PARTA 

 Operating Expenses - Base Service $ (143,192,125)  Annual 

 Capital Expenditures - Base Service 

 Maintenance Facility Rehab $ (2,301,050)  2018, 2025-2040 

 Annual Bus Fleet Expenditures - Preservation $ (19,116,723)  Annual 

 Preventive Maintenance $ (33,002,735)  Annual 

 Bus Shelter and Stop Enhancements $ (204,487)  Annual 

 Kent Central Gateway Rehab $ (1,327,078)  2025-2030 

 CNG Fueling Facility Rehab $ (634,392)  2035-2040 

 Operating Expenses - Additional Service 

 Additional Saturday and Sunday Service on Existing Routes $ (5,477,573)  2018-2040 

 Ravenna to Streetsboro Service $ (5,383,096)  2022-2040 

 Capital Expenses - Additional Service 

 Ravenna to Streetsboro Service $ (2,559,099)  2022-2040 

 Streetsboro Park and Ride Lot $ (914,637)  2030-2040 

 METRO AND PARTA 

 Cross County Coordination and Service $ (13,457,739)  2022-2040 

 Stow-Kent Transfer Facility $ (1,473,009)  2018-2023 

 Coordinated Public Transportation Human Services Programs 

 5310 Program/Mobility Management Program $ (13,508,385)  Annual 

 BALANCE $ 11,154 



77APPENDIX B - FINANCIAL PLANAMENDED 5-14-2020

Bicycle and pedestrian improvements are funded through the estimated 
highway revenues.  AMATS reserved over $33 million for potential bicycle 
and pedestrian improvements in the greater Akron area.  Bicycle and pedestrian 
project costs are inflated based on the highway methodology.  The table 
below demonstrates how funds reserved for bicycle and pedestrian projects 
will be spent and are inflated to year of expenditure.  Bicycle and Pedestrian 
improvements are assumed to be covered mostly through additional local 
or state funds.  According to the AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines, only 
$700,000 may be used on each bicycle or pedestrian project per round of 
funding.  AMATS assumes that bicycle and pedestrian projects will either 
receive funds in multiple rounds or local or state funds will cover the remaining 
construction cost.

BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN RECOMMENDATION 
METHODOLOGY

BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN
RECOMMENDATIONS

AMATS Revenue $ 33,000,000.00

Pedestrian Facilities $ (6,837,540.72)

Bicycle Facilities $ (25,892,889,16)

Balance $ 269,570.12



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204078 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

BICYCLE RECOMMENDATIONS FINANCIAL CONSTRAINT ANALYSIS
2017-2040

Bicycle Recommendations (Price Per Mile $1,000,000)

County Recommendation  Distance  Cost (Current)  Time Band  Cost (Yr of Expenditure)  AMATS Funding 

Summit 3 Creeks - Silver Creek Trail from Medina Line Rd to Robinson Ave 5.04  $5,035,018.38 2029-2035  $5,135,724.87  $1,400,000.00 

Summit Akron-Peninsula Trail from SR 303 to Boston Mills Rd 2.61  $2,605,922.74 2022-2028  $3,454,762.13  $700,000.00 

Summit Ashbrooke Connector from Farnham Way to Hines Hill Rd 1.13  $1,129,193.64 2029-2035  $1,851,684.26  $700,000.00 

Summit Barlow Rd from Wilshire Park Dr to the Bike and Hike Trail 0.33  $333,775.85 2036-2040  $580,836.54  $580,836.54 

Summit Bike & Hike-Portage Connector from the Bike and Hike Trail to the Freedom Trail Connector 0.40  $400,689.01 2029-2035  $595,120.74  $595,120.74 

Summit Freedom Trail from the Towpath Trail to the Akron Secondary/CVS RR Junction 1.32  $1,323,928.49 2022-2028  $1,583,069.91  $700,000.00 

Summit Heights to Hudson from the Bike and Hike Trail to Prospect St/Hines Hill Intersection 3.43  $3,430,240.20 2022-2028  $4,393,805.19  $1,400,000.00 

Summit Heights to Hudson (Central Hudson Portion) from Morse Rd to Veterans Way 0.71  $709,017.37 2022-2028  $847,798.10  $700,000.00 

Summit Highbridge Connector Trail from Valley View Bikeway to the Front Street Connector Trail 2.80  $2,803,056.13 2036-2040  $5,074,942.94  $1,400,000.00 

Summit Liberty Trail from Post Rd to Cannon Rd 1.52  $1,517,327.23 2029-2035  $2,253,600.36  $700,000.00 

Summit Magic Mile (North) from Third St SW and Park to W Wooster Rd and Robinson Ave 0.19  $193,785.03 2022-2028  $239,825.93  $239,825.93 

Summit Magic Mile (West) from 5th St and Park Ave to 4th St and W Wooster Rd 0.20  $200,354.41 2022-2028  $265,616.79  $265,616.79 

Summit Memorial Parkway Trail from Aqueduct St to the Towpath Trail 0.70  $700,000.00 2029-2035  $1,081,673.12  $700,000.00 

Summit Portage Lakes Trail from the Towpath Trail to the Metro Sandyville Local 5.31  $5,313,249.15 2029-2035  $8,210,283.94  $700,000.00 

Summit Rubber City Heritage Trail from the Towpath Trail to Englewood Ave 5.75  $5,750,000.00 2029-2035  $9,429,015.63  $1,400,000.00 

Summit Spartan Trail (West) from the Rubber City Heritage Trail to Springfield Lake 2.38  $2,381,723.60 2022-2028  $3,157,533.55  $700,000.00 

Summit Spartan Trail (East) from Springfield Lake to the Summit/Portage County Line 3.71  $3,707,724.41 2022-2028  $5,293,034.87  $700,000.00 

Summit Turnpike Trail from Prospect Rd to Hudson Aurora Rd 2.14  $2,138,163.67 2029-2035  $3,506,222.37  $700,000.00 

Portage Arsenal S Trail from Conrail Freedom Secondary to Rock Spring Rd 5.94  $5,940,000.00 2036-2040  $10,543,520.41  $1,400,000.00 

Portage Arsenal S Trail from Rock Spring Rd to Portage County Line 8.88  $8,880,000.00 2036-2040  $12,676,818.56  $700,000.00 

Portage Headwaters Bikeway from Aurora North Corp Limit to Mennonite Rd 7.93  $7,925,433.94 2029-2035  $11,771,199.01  $2,100,000.00 

Portage Hiram Trail from SR 305 to Headwaters Trail 2.76  $2,761,242.18 2029-2035  $4,439,180.85  $700,000.00 

Portage Lake Rockwell Trail from Middlebury Rd to Mantua St/River Bend Blvd 2.73  $2,728,766.89 2022-2028  $3,819,122.36  $700,000.00 

Portage Rock Spring Rd from Cable Line Rd to Newton Falls Rd 0.85  $851,225.38 2029-2035  $1,289,562.48  $700,000.00 

Portage The Portage from Stow St to W Main St 0.31  $310,385.76 2022-2028  $411,489.16  $411,489.16 

Portage Mogadore Lake from The Portage to Mogador Lake 4.93  $4,932,888.29 2029-2035  $7,473,070.94  $1,400,000.00 

Portage Esplanade Extension from Dix Stadium to Lakewood Rd 2.00  $2,000,174.46 2022-2028  $2,651,700.64  $700,000.00 

Portage Headwaters Trail Extension from SR 82 to Portage County Line 5.70  $5,700,000.00 2022-2028  $7,821,171.71  $700,000.00 

Portage Franklin Connector Extension from Hudson Rd ext to Riverbend 2.20  $2,200,000.00 2029-2035  $3,267,535.637  $700,000.00 

Portage Railroad Trail Connection from Hudson Rd to Tinkers Creek, Portage County Line 7.30  $7,300,000.00 2036-2040  $12,957,525.079  $1,400,000.00 

82.32  $82,321,411.25  $122,927,649.90  $25,892,889.16 



79APPENDIX B - FINANCIAL PLANAMENDED 5-14-2020

PEDESTRIAN RECOMMENDATIONS FINANCIAL CONSTRAINT ANALYIS
2017-2040

Pedestrian Recommendations (Price Per Mile $485,000)

Community Recommendation Distance Cost (Current) Year  Cost (Yr of Expenditure)  AMATS Funding 

Akron Portage Trail Sidewalk from N. Portage Path to Treetop Trail Dr 0.35  $169,750.00 2025  $225,043.46  $225,043.46 

Akron Waterloo Rd Sidewalk from I-77 to Arlington Rd 0.69  $334,650.00 2022  $400,153.29  $400,153.29 

Copley Cleveland Massillon Rd Sidewalk from Hammond Blvd to Commerce Drive 0.86  $417,100.00 2030  $619,495.05  $619,495.05 

Cuyahoga Falls Graham Rd Sidewalk from Prange Dr to Bath Rd 0.58  $281,300.00 2035  $461,283.84  $461,283.84 

Green Boettler Rd Sidewalk from Arlington to Kenway Blvd 0.35  $169,750.00 2027  $237,578.38  $237,578.38 

Green Interstate Parkway Sidewalk from Arlington to terminus 0.51  $247,350.00 2030  $367,374.97  $367,374.97 

Green Moore Rd Sidewalk from S. Main St to Charleston 0.92  $446,200.00 2023  $552,211.54  $552,211.54 

Green Raber Rd Sidewalk from Mayfair Rd to Kreighbaum 0.81  $392,850.00 2029  $572,037.15  $572,037.15 

Norton Cleveland Massillon Rd Sidewalk from Weber Rd to Shellhart Rd 0.95  $460,750.00 2038  $801,796.89  $700,000.00 

Ravenna Twp/Rootstown Twp SR 44 Sidewalk from Rootstown Elementary to Ravenna South Corp. Line 3.39  $1,644,150.00 2031  $2,490,802.31  $700,000.00 

Stow SR 91 Sidewalk Lillian Rd to Norton Rd 1.93  $936,050.00 2024  $1,198,989.32  $700,000.00 

Twinsburg Highland Rd Sidewalk from Chamberlin Rd to Hadden Rd 0.87  $421,950.00 2028  $602,363.02  $602,363.02 

Twinsburg SR 82 Sidewalk from Chamberlin Rd to Wilcox Rd 0.96  $465,600.00 2035  $763,504.29  $700,000.00 

13.17  $6,387,450.00  $9,292,633.54  $6,837,540.72 



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204080 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

APPENDIX C

In accord with the Goals and Objectives of the AMATS Regional 
Transportation Plan, Transportation Outlook 2040 (TO2040), the transportation 
system should reflect and support the values and planning objectives of area 
communities and neighborhoods by ensuring that the planning process is 
conducted in conformance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the 
environmental justice requirements of Presidential Executive Order #12898 of 
1994.  

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Office of 
Environmental Justice defines environmental justice as:

The fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people 
regardless of race, color, national origin, or income with respect to 
the development, implementation, and enforcement of environmental 
laws, regulations and policies.  Fair treatment means that no group of 
people, including racial, ethnic, or socioeconomic group, should bear 
a disproportionate share of the negative environmental consequences 
resulting from industrial, municipal, and commercial operations or the 
execution of federal, state, local and tribal programs and policies.

Consequently, programs or activities that use federal funds must make a 
meaningful effort to involve low-income and minority groups in the process to 
make decisions regarding the use of federal funds.  It also means that agencies 
using federal funds must attempt to identify and address any disproportionately 
high and adverse human health and environmental effects on minority and low-
income groups, which may result from the implementation of their plans and 
programs.  

Meaningful public involvement means that people have an opportunity to 
participate in decisions about activities that may affect their environment or 
health.  The public’s contribution should influence the decision-making process 
and their concerns considered in the decision-making process.  Accordingly, the 

INTRODUCTION

ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSIS
decision-makers should seek out and facilitate the involvement of those persons 
potentially affected.

According to Presidential Executive Order #12898, disproportionately high and 
adverse effects are those that will be predominately borne by minority or low-
income groups; or those which will be suffered by minority and low-income 
groups in a manner that is appreciably more severe or greater in magnitude than 
those which will be suffered by non-minority and non-low-income groups.

Developing, improving and maintaining the regional transportation system 
is not only about moving the most vehicles as efficiently as possible. 
Transportation planning must also consider issues such as poverty, equal 
opportunity and equal access to ensure that the costs and benefits of 
transportation infrastructure and services are fairly distributed.

Historically, this has not always been the case.  During the development of the 
nation’s interstate highway system in the 1950s and 1960s, low-income and 
minority neighborhoods sometimes carried a greater social burden of these 
massive redevelopment projects.  The physical placement of these projects 
cut through established, older neighborhoods, creating physical barriers and 
isolating them from employment, shopping and recreational opportunities.  
Often, these neighborhoods suffered not only from the physical placement of 
projects, but from the negative externalities that they produced, such as noise 
pollution, harmful fumes, air pollution, accidents and spills.  In some cases, 
these consequences were unintentional.  However, these areas were sometimes 
specifically targeted for transportation development, due to their sometimes 
high crime and blighted development.  Eventually, neighborhood and 
environmental activists demanded equal access to the decision-making process 
and the equitable distribution of positive and negative effects of transportation 
projects, and thus, the concept of environmental justice emerged.

In keeping with the environmental justice requirements that the recipients 
of federal funds make greater efforts to involve low-income and minority 
populations in the decision-making process, the public involvement activities 



81APPENDIX C - ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

In addition to involving low-income and minority populations in the planning 
process, environmental justice also means assessing the impact of transportation 
plans, programs, and policies on low-income and minority populations.  In 
order to accomplish this, the following questions must be considered:

• What are low-income and minority populations?
• How should these populations be identified?
• Which environmental impacts should be considered?
• What are the potential impacts of recommended projects on low-income 

and minority populations?
• What is the overall level of accessibility in low-income and minority 

neighborhoods?
• What is the overall level of investment in transportation infrastructure 

in areas with above average concentrations of minority and low-income 
populations?

METHODOLOGY

conducted by AMATS ensure that low-income, minority individuals, and 
community groups have the opportunity to participate in the transportation 
planning process.  

Community groups and social service agencies representing minority and low-
income populations are included on the AMATS public notifications list.  These 
groups are made aware of opportunities to participate in the planning process by 
advertising public meetings in three newspapers: 1) The Akron Beacon Journal; 
2) The Kent-Ravenna Record Courier; and 3) The Reporter (a publication that 
serves the African-American community).  Draft planning documents and 
meeting notices are provided directly to AMATS members and social service 
agencies, and are made available on the AMATS website, amatsplanning.
org.  In addition, the AMATS website can be viewed in a number of different 
languages.  AMATS has enhanced its presence on several social media 
platforms such as Facebook and Twitter, where public meetings are advertised 
and comments may be submitted. 

The purpose of environmental justice principles and procedures is to improve 
all levels of transportation decision making. This approach hopes to:

• make better transportation decisions that meet the needs of all people; 
• design transportation facilities that fit more harmoniously into 

communities; 
• enhance the public-involvement process; and provide minority and 

low-income populations with opportunities to learn about and improve 
transportation

• improve data collection, monitoring, and analysis tools that assess the 
needs of, and analyze the potential impacts on minority and low-income 
populations;

• cooperate with other public and private programs on a continuous basis 
in order to achieve a comprehensive vision for communities; 

• avoid disproportionately high and adverse impacts on minority and low-
income populations; and

• minimize or mitigate unavoidable impacts by identifying concerns 
early in the planning phase and providing offsetting initiatives 
and enhancement measures to benefit affected communities and 
neighborhoods. 

Current efforts to support environmental justice are a consequence of Title VI 

of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, and subsequent statutes, executive orders 
and federal and state guidance to promote and enforce non-discrimination and 
the fair distribution of benefits and burdens associated with federal programs, 
policies and activities. Both Title VI and environmental justice aim to ensure 
full and fair participation and integration of the public into the planning process. 
The Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) most recent release of guidance 
found in Circular 4703.1 (August 2012) reiterates the federal government’s 
long-standing principles of environmental justice:

• To avoid, minimize, and mitigate disproportionately high and adverse 
human health and environmental effects, including social and economic 
effects, on minority populations and low-income populations;

• To ensure the full and fair participation by all potentially affected 
communities in the transportation decision-making process; and

• To prevent the denial of, reduction in, or significant delay in the receipt 
of benefits by minority and low-income populations.



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204082 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

Although low-income and minority persons live throughout the AMATS area, 
many are concentrated in specific locations and neighborhoods.  The following 
methodology was used to identify above average concentrations of low-income 
and minority groups:

• Concentrations of low-income population were identified by comparing 
the percentage of the population at or below 150 percent of the poverty 
level in each Census block group to the percentage of the population in 
the entire AMATS area.  The data used in this analysis were obtained 
from the 2010 Census.  Census block groups with a percentage of 
population considered low-income that were at or above the regional 
rate of 26.8 percent were considered to be above average concentrations 
of low-income populations.  These Census block groups are shown on 
Map C-1.

• Concentrations of minority population were identified by comparing 
the percentage of minorities living in each Census block group to the 
percentage of such persons living in the entire AMATS area.  The 
data used in this analysis were obtained from the 2010 Census.  Block 
groups with a percentage of minorities that were at or above the 
regional rate of 19.35 percent were considered to be above average 
concentrations of minority population.  These census block groups are 
shown on Map C-2.

Identifying Concentrations of
Low-Income and Minority Population

According to the latest United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) 
Order 5610.2(a) on Environmental Justice, contained in the Federal Register 
(May 2, 2012):

Low Income is defined as a person whose median household income 
is at or below the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services poverty guidelines.  For purposes of this analysis, the AMATS 
staff has expanded the definition of low-income population to include 
all individuals at 150 percent of the poverty level or below.

Minority is defined as a person who is:  1) Black (a person having 
origins in any of the black racial groups of Africa); 2) Hispanic (a 
person of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central or South American, or 
other Spanish culture or origin, regardless of race); 3) Asian (a person 
having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast 
Asia or the Indian subcontinent); 4) Native Hawaiian or other Pacific 
Islander (a person having origins in any of the original peoples of 
Hawaii, Guam, Samoa, or other Pacific Islands; or 5) American Indian 
and Alaskan Native (a person having origins in any of the prehistoric 
people of North America and who maintain cultural identification 
through tribal affiliation or community recognition).

Definitions



83APPENDIX C - ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

MAP C-1
HIGHWAY RECOMMENDATIONS



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204084 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

MAP C-2
HIGHWAY RECOMMENDATIONS



85APPENDIX C - ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

According to the U.S. Department of Transportation, adverse impacts are 
defined as significant individual or cumulative negative human health or 
environmental effects, resulting from the implementation of federal, state, or 
local transportation policies, plans, or projects.  

By reviewing environmental justice guidance developed by ODOT, the 
following 10 variables have been identified as a means of qualitatively 
evaluating the environmental impacts of projects in TO2040 that are located in 
low-income or minority areas:

1. Safety - How will the project affect the relative safety of those using 
the facility and living in the target area?

2. Pollution - How will the project affect the overall air quality, water 
quality, noise level or soil quality of the target area?

3. Natural Resources - How will the project affect vegetation, streams, 
parks or other aspects of the natural environment in the target area?

4. Aesthetics - How will the project affect the appearance and physical 
attractiveness of the target area?

5. Community Cohesion - How will the project affect the identity and 
cohesiveness of the target area?

6. Economic Vitality - How will the project affect the economic health 
of the target area?

7. Accessibility - How will the project affect the level of access to, or 
from, the target area?

8. Displacement of Businesses or Residents - How will the project 
affect businesses, residents and institutions in the target area?  Will it 
displace any of them?

9. Traffic Congestion - How will the project affect existing levels of 
traffic congestion?

10. Equal Access to Improvement - Will the overall benefits of the 
project be as available to residents of the target area as they will be to 
the region as a whole?

Environmental Impacts

Two analyses were developed to evaluate the potential adverse human health 
or environmental impacts of projects in the TO2040 upon minority population 
and low-income populations.  These analyses examine: 1) the potential 
environmental impacts of projects; and 2) transportation accessibility in low-
income and minority neighborhoods.

ANALYSES

Highway, public transportation, and transportation enhancement projects in 
TO2040 were analyzed in order to determine potential impacts on low-income 
populations and minority populations.  

AMATS has a “fix-it-first” preservation policy, focusing on preserving the 
existing transportation infrastructure rather than building new roads.  The policy 
of prioritizing the preservation of the existing system is a result of deteriorating, 
aging infrastructure and rapidly increasing construction costs.  The decrease in 
capacity expansion projects, such as new roads and road widenings, reduces the 
potential for negative adverse impacts.

The analysis of potential impacts was completed according to the following 
procedures:

Step 1 - Projects were divided into two categories: 1) capacity projects; and 
2) non-capacity projects.  Non-capacity projects were exempted from further 
analysis because they are not expected to have any disproportionately high 
adverse human health and environmental effects on minority and low-income 
groups.

Step 2 - Projects were then examined to determine whether they were located 
in or bordering on a census block group containing a regionally significant 
concentration of low-income or minority populations.  Projects that were 
not located in or bordering on these areas were exempted from further 
environmental justice analysis.  These block groups are shown on Maps C-1 and 
C-2.

The following project categories were exempted from further analysis because 
they are not expected to have any disproportionately high and adverse human 

Potential Environmental Impacts of Projects



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204086 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

health and environmental effects on minority and low-income groups:

• Highway operational improvements
• Public transportation system preservation 
• Pedestrian facilities / bicycle lanes
• Scenic/environmental enhancements 

Step 3 - The remaining categories were qualitatively evaluated as to their 
environmental impacts because they have the potential of disproportionately 
high and adverse human health and environmental effects on minority and low-
income groups:

• Major capacity improvements
• Realignment or reconfiguration
• Public transportation system expansion
• Bikeway/Multi-purpose facilities

The potential environmental impacts of highway, public transportation and 
transportation enhancement projects are displayed in Table C-1.  Projects that 
are expected to impact a variable in a positive manner are indicated by a “+.”  
Projects that are expected to impact a variable in a neutral manner are indicated 
by an “n.”  Projects that could impact a variable in a negative manner are 
indicated by a “-.”

All of the projects shown in Table C-1 should be analyzed more closely as they 
move into the stages of development.  Projects with potential negative impacts 
should be closely scrutinized as more detailed environmental analyses are 
completed.  A determination can then be made as to whether negative impacts 
will be disproportionately borne by low-income or minority individuals or 
communities.  Of the 54 highway projects recommended in TO2040, 29 are 
located in EJ areas.  Seven of these highway projects must be analyzed.  Of the 
32 bike trail projects recommended in TO2040, 21 are located in EJ areas and 
must be analyzed.

Two analyses have been completed in order to determine the overall level of 
accessibility in low-income and minority neighborhoods.  The first analysis 
focuses on the area’s highway projects.  The second analysis focuses on the 
existing public transportation system.  Transportation enhancement projects 
were exempted from the transportation accessibility analysis because these 

8. Chapel Hill Mall
9. Summit Mall
10. Montrose
11. Macedonia Commons
12. University of Akron
13. Kent State University

Highway Accessibility Analysis

The first step in the highway accessibility analysis was to identify a 
sample of six traffic analysis zones that represent low-income and minority 
neighborhoods:  1) East Akron; 2) West Akron; 3) North Akron; 4) 
Barberton; 5) Kent; and 6) Twinsburg.

The second step in the analysis was to identify traffic analysis zones 
that contain major activity centers.  Altogether, 13 traffic analysis 
zones containing major commercial, industrial, medical, educational, 
transportation and recreational facilities were identified:

1. Akron-Canton Airport
2. Downtown Akron Transit Center
3. Akron Central Business District
4. Akron City Hospital
5. Akron General Hospital
6. Goodyear
7. Northeast Ohio Medical University

In the third step, the AMATS travel-demand model network, representing 
the highway system as it is planned to operate in 2022, was used to estimate 
the average travel time from each low-income and minority neighborhood 
to each of the 13 major activity centers.  In order to provide a valid 
comparison, a similar analysis was conducted to estimate the average travel 
time to each major activity center from a sample of six traffic analysis 
zones, representing neighborhoods with below average concentrations of 
low-income and minority population: 1) Cuyahoga Falls; 2) Hudson; 3) 
Stow; 4) Green; 5) Macedonia; and 6) Aurora.

The results of the highway accessibility analysis are shown in Table C-2.  
According to this analysis, the highway projects in TO2040 provide low-
income and minority neighborhoods with slightly better accessibility to 
major activity centers located throughout the AMATS area, than non-low-
income and non-minority neighborhoods.  The average travel time to major 
activity centers is 16 minutes for low-income and minority neighborhoods, 
versus 20 minutes for non-low-income and non-minority neighborhoods.

projects are used mostly for recreational purposes and are difficult to analyze 
quantitatively.



87APPENDIX C - ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

Table  C - 1
POTENTIAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF PROJECTS

POTENTIAL IMPACTS*

Project From To Category Location S
af

et
y

P
o

llu
ti

o
n

N
at

u
ra

l
R

es
o

u
rc

es

A
es

th
et

ic
s

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

C
o

h
es

io
n

E
co

n
o

m
ic

V
it

al
it

y

A
cc

es
si

b
ili

ty

D
is

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

o
f

R
es

id
en

ts
 / 

B
u

si
n

es
se

s

T
ra

ffi
c

C
o

n
ge

st
io

n

E
q

u
al

 A
cc

es
s

to
 I

m
p

ro
ve

m
en

t

I-77 / 76 / 277 / SR 8 Akron Beltway Project Reconfiguration Low Income / Minority + n n + n + + - + n

I-77 / SR 8 I-277` Carroll St Reconfigure / Lane Add Low Income / Minority + n n + n + + - + n

I-76 / US 224 State Rd / Wooster Rd Reconfiguration Low Income + n n + - n + - + n

SR 8 Howe Ave Interchange Reconfiguration Low Income / Minority + n n + n + + - + n

Cleveland-Massillon Rd I-77 Bywood Ave Capacity Minority + - - n n + + n + n

Darrow Rd (SR 91) Glenwood Blvd North Corp Limit Capacity Minority + - - n n + + n + n

Howe Ave Brittain Rd/ Northwest Ave Reconfiguration Minority + n n + n + + - + n

3 Creeks - Silver Creek Trail Medina Line Rd Robinson Ave (Towpath Trail) Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + n + n + n

Freedom Trail Phase 4 Towpath Trail Freedom Trail Phase 3 Bike Trail Low Income / Minority + + n + + + + n + n

Highbridge Connector Trail Towpath Trail Front Street Connector Trail Bike Trail Low Income / Minority + + n + + n + n + n

Liberty Trail Post Rd Cannon Rd Bike Trail Minority + + n + + n + n + n

Magic Mile (North) Third St SW & Park Ave Wooster Rd W & Robinson Ave Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + + + n + n

Magic Mile (West) 5th St & Park Ave 4th St & Wooster Rd W Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + + + n + n

Memorial Parkway Trail Aquaduct St Towpath Trail Bike Trail Low Income / Minority + + n + + n + n + n

Rubber City Heritage Trail Towpath Trail Englewood Ave Bike Trail Low Income / Minority + + n + + + + n + n

Spartan Trail (West) Rubber City Heritage Trail Springfield Lake Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + + + n + n

Spartan Trail (East) Springfield Lake Summit/Portage County Line Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + + + n + n

Arsenal S Conrail Freedom Secondary Rock Spring Rd Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + n + n + n

Conrail Freedom Secondary Peck Rd S Main St Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + n + n + n

Headwaters Bikeway Aurora NCL Mennonite Rd Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + + + n + n

Lake Rockwell Trail Middlebury Rd / Portage Hike & Bike Mantua St / River Bend  Blvd Bike Trail Low Income/ Minority + + n + + + + n + n

Rock Spring Rd Cable Line Rd Newton Falls Rd Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + n + n + n

The Portage Stow St W Main St Bike Trail Low Income / Minority + + n + + + + n + n

Mogadore Lake The Portage Mogadore Lake Bike Trail Low Income / Minority + + n + + + + n + n

Esplanade Extension Esplanade / Dix Stadium Lakewood Rd Bike Trail Low Income + + n + + n + n + n

Franklin Connector Extension Hudson Rd extension Riverbend Bike Trail Low Income/ Minority + + n + + + + n + n

Railroad Trail Connection Hudson Rd Tinker's Creek, Portage Co. Line Bike Trail Minority + + n + + n + n + n

Magic Mile Towpath Connector Towpath Trail 4th St Bike Trail Low Income / Minority + + n + + + + n + n

* KEY: + denotes positive Impact, n denotes neutral impact and - denotes negative impact   



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204088 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

Table C - 2
AVERAGE  HIGHWAY TRAVEL TIME TO MAJOR ACTIVITY CENTERS

(in minutes)

Akron-
Canton 
Airport

Downtown 
Akron
Transit 
Center

Akron 
CBD

Akron 
City 

Summa 
Hospital

Akron 
General 
Hospital Goodyear

Northeast 
Ohio 

Medical 
University

Chapel 
Hill 
Mall

Summit 
Mall Montrose

Macedonia 
Commons

University 
of Akron

Kent 
State OVERALL 

AVERAGE 
(minutes)Traffic Zone Number 452 46 21 8 43 96 749 55 522 39 566 32 720

Low Income or Minority Zones 22 13 13 13 13 14 22 14 17 18 23 13 19 16

East Akron (zone 93) 14 7 7 5 8 3 17 9 15 16 24 6 17 12

West Akron (zone 181) 20 7 6 8 4 10 23 13 9 10 25 6 23 13

North Akron (zone 222) 18 6 4 5 5 9 21 6 12 14 20 5 18 11

Barberton (zone 259) 17 14 14 16 14 16 29 20 17 18 33 15 29 19

Kent (zone 718) 27 19 19 18 20 15 12 13 27 28 26 19 1 19

Twinsburg Twp (343) 38 28 26 25 28 29 27 23 23 22 7 27 23 25

Non-Low Income and Non-Minority Zones 27 20 19 17 20 20 25 15 22 23 16 19 20 20

Cuyahoga Falls (zone 302) 21 11 9 8 11 12 22 6 14 16 18 10 17 13

Hudson (zone 368) 32 22 20 19 22 22 25 17 25 24 11 20 17 21

Stow (zone 375) 25 15 13 12 15 16 21 10 20 22 17 14 10 16

Green (zone 447) 7 15 15 14 17 14 27 19 23 24 32 15 27 19

Macedonia (zone 568) 35 25 24 22 25 26 31 10 20 19 3 24 27 22

Aurora (zone 612) 42 32 30 29 32 33 27 27 33 32 15 31 23 30



89APPENDIX C - ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

Public Transportation Accessibility Analysis

It is AMATS’ goal that the regional transportation system provides adequate 
mobility for all persons.  Public transportation is especially important in 
low-income and minority communities, which often lack adequate access to 
employment opportunities, retail, recreational and social/cultural activities.  
In 2016, the AMATS Regional Public Transit Plan analyzed the overall 
level of accessibility that the existing public transit network offered to the 
Greater Akron area and specifically to low-income, minority, elderly and 
disabled persons in the region.  Those results were used to analyze public 
transportation accessibility in TO2040.

The first step in the public transportation accessibility analysis determined 
the percentage of the total population in Summit and Portage counties living 
within a 0.25 mile walking distance of existing fixed route transit service.  
The second step of the analysis determined the percentage of minority 
population and low-income population living within a 0.25 mile walking 
distance of existing fixed-route transit service.  The third step compared 
the percentage of minority population and low-income population to the 
percentage of the total population having access to fixed-route transit 
service.  

The definition of low-income used for the AMATS Regional Public Transit 
Plan is a household income at or below 150 percent of the poverty level.  
Based on 2010 Census data, this threshold would be set at $34,999 or below.  
Data were collected at the block group level for low-income and minority 
populations.  Data illustrating the distribution of those with disabilities was 
only available at the county level at the time of the analysis. 

The results of the transit accessibility analysis are shown in Table C-3.  
According to this analysis, a greater percentage of minority and low-income 
groups in both Summit County and Portage County have access to fixed-
route transit service than the general population.

In Summit County, 78.9 percent of the minority population lives within 
walking distance to fixed-route transit service, as compared to 52.6 percent 
of the total population.  The total number of low-income population in 
Summit County within walking distance of fixed-route transit service is 72.4 
percent.

In Portage County, 55.8 percent of the minority population lives within 
walking distance of fixed-route transit service, as compared to 21.4 percent 
of the total population.  The total number of low-income population in 
Portage County that lives within walking distance of fixed-route transit 
service is 47 percent.  

Many low-income and minority individuals rely on public transportation 
to access employment opportunities.  Both METRO and PARTA work 
diligently to provide transit service to key employment zones throughout the 
AMATS region.  Both agencies speak regularly with local employers and 
attempt to not only serve businesses with transit service, but to coordinate 
bus runs with shift start or ending times.  AMATS encourages coordination 
between employers and local transit providers to increase the access of low-
income and minority individuals to concentrated employment destinations.

Most of the areas with the greatest concentrations of employment are 
accessible through fixed-route transit.  In Akron, the Downtown, Montrose, 
Market Street and South Arlington Street corridors have among the highest 
concentrations of employment in the AMATS region, and also enjoy the 
most frequent transit service available.  Other cities with major employment 
centers, such as Barberton, Cuyahoga Falls, Hudson, Kent and Ravenna 
have varying degrees of fixed-route transit service.

Notable gaps in transit service to key employment areas are found in 
Aurora, portions of Green and Streetsboro, the Village of Mantua and 
Copley Township.  The Village of Richfield and the cities of Streetsboro, 
Twinsburg and Macedonia have very large employment concentrations, 
but are only served by infrequent express or commuter bus routes.  Each of 
these communities could benefit from more regular transit or new transit 
service to connect the region’s employment base to these key employment 
zones.  The AMATS Regional Public Transit Plan analyzes and discusses 
these issues more fully.



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204090 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

Table C - 3
TRANSIT ACCESSIBILITY ANALYSIS

FIXED ROUTE TRANSIT COVERAGE IN THE AMATS AREA

Summit County Portage County

Population Group Total

Total 
Covered by 

Transit
% Covered 
by Transit Total

Total 
Covered by 

Transit
% Covered 
by Transit

Total Population 542,600 285,373 52.6% 162,235 34,735 21.4%

Minority Population 107,179 84,592 78.9% 10,082 5,624 55.8%

Low Income Population 125,606 90,908 72.4% 25,943 12,204 47.0%

Source:  2014 American Community Survey (ACS)

Notes:   

A full discussion of transit coverage and performance can be found in the AMATS Regional Public Transit Plan - November 2016

Fixed route transit service in Summit County is provided by METRO RTA.  PARTA provides transit service in Portage County.

Non-Motorized Transportation Accessibility Analysis

Low-income and minority neighborhoods benefit greatly from non-vehicular 
modes of transportation.  Walking and bicycling are free or low cost, have 
few negative externalities (noise, air and other pollution, congestion, etc.) 
and produce positive health benefits.  For short-distance trips in compact 
neighborhoods, these modes may actually prove the most efficient.  
These transportation modes are available on-demand.  Rather than being 
constrained by a bus schedule or waiting for a ride in an automobile, a 
person can bicycle or walk at will.

In recent years, AMATS has focused on non-motorized transportation 
modes and is committed to building a network that allows all residents to 
travel safely between key regional communities and destinations.  Further 
discussion and analysis of non-motorized transportation can be found in the 
AMATS Pedestrian Plan (December 2015), Bike Plan (July 2016), Mid-
Block Crossing Analysis (December 2014) and Road Diet Analysis (May 
2015).  It remains AMATS’ policy to integrate multiple modes of travel and 
to develop complete streets through its Connecting Communities Initiative 
and funding policies.  

Bicycle
Thirty percent (10 of the 33) of the bicycle recommendations listed 
in TO2040 are located in, or next to, above average low-income or 

minority census block groups.  Multi-purpose trails are included in the 
recommendations, and have the additional benefit of serving pedestrians as 
well as bicyclists. Maps C-3 (for low-income) and C-4 (for minority) show 
the bicycle recommendations in relation to these block groups.

Pedestrian
Of the 17 total pedestrian recommendations in TO2040, five (29 percent) 
are located in, or next to, above average low-income or minority census 
block groups.  In addition to these pedestrian recommendations and the 
multi-purpose trail recommendations, it should be noted that most of the 
above average low-income and minority block groups are located in the 
highest density communities within the AMATS area.  These areas are 
currently served well by existing sidewalks, crosswalks and other pedestrian 
infrastructure.  Maps C-3 (for low-income) and C-4 (for minority) show the 
pedestrian recommendations in relation to these block groups.



91APPENDIX C - ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

MAP C-3
BIKE & PEDESTRIAN
RECOMMENDATIONS



TRANSPORTATION OUTLOOK 204092 www.amatsplanning.orgAMENDED 5-14-2020

MAP C-4
BIKE & PEDESTRIAN
RECOMMENDATIONS



93APPENDIX C - ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSISAMENDED 5-14-2020

In keeping with the environmental justice requirements of Presidential 
Executive Order #12898, TO2040 has been analyzed to ensure that the projects 
will not have disproportionately high and adverse effects on low-income and 
minority groups.

The two analyses completed for this Environmental Justice Analysis are 
summarized below:

CONCLUSION

• None of the projects in TO2040 appear to have any fatal flaws from an 
environmental justice standpoint.

• It is recommended that all of the projects shown in Table C-1 be 
analyzed more closely as they move into future stages of development.

• Projects which were shown to have potential negative impacts should 
be closely scrutinized as more detailed environmental analyses are 
completed, in order to determine whether these negative impacts will 
be disproportionately borne by low-income or minority individuals or 
communities.

Potential Environmental Impacts of Projects

• Highway projects in TO2040 provide low-income and minority 
neighborhoods with adequate and equitable accessibility to major 
activity centers located throughout the AMATS area.

• Low-income and minority groups in both Summit and Portage counties 
are well served by public transportation, having greater access to fixed-
route transit service than the general population. 

• Low-income and minority groups in both Summit and Portage 
counties currently have good access to existing bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities, including sidewalks and crosswalks.  Furthermore, TO2040 
recommends additional improvements.

Transportation Accessibility in Low-Income and 
Minority Neighborhoods

Executive Order 12898: Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice 
in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations; Federal Register, 
vol. 59 no. 32, February 16, 1994.

DOT Order on Environmental Justice to Address Environmental Justice in 
Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations (DOT Order 5610.2(a)); 
May 2, 2012.

FHWA, Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations 
and Low-Income Populations, (Order 6640.23A); June 14, 2012

FTA Circular 4703.1, Environmental Justice Policy Guidance for Federal 
Transit Administration Recipients, August 15, 2012

ODOT Guidance and Best Practices for Incorporating Environmental Justice 
into Ohio Transportation Planning and Environmental Processes, June 2016

Title VI Requirements in Metropolitan and Statewide Planning

Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act

Title 23 of the U.S. Code (U.S.C.), Section 109(h)

Title 49 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, part 21 (Department of 
Transportation Regulations for the implementation of Title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, as amended

Title 29 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, part 1605.1

Ohio Administrative Code § 123:1-49-02

Ohio Revised Code § 4112.02

REFERENCES:



Attachment 6B 

 
 

 
AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

 
 
TO:  Policy Committee  

Technical Advisory Committee  
  Citizens Involvement Committee  
 
FROM: AMATS Staff 
 
RE: Resolution 2020-06 - Adopting the Transportation Improvement Program 

FY 2021-2024 
 
DATE:  April 29, 2020 
 
 
The Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) FY 2021-2024 contains a comprehensive listing 
of regional transportation improvement projects scheduled for implementation with federal or 
state funds within the next four years.  The TIP FY 2021-2024 was developed by the AMATS 
staff in conjunction with all AMATS committees, area transit operators, the Ohio Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) and US DOT.   
 
The TIP incorporates more than $993 million in highway, public transit, bike and pedestrian 
projects throughout the AMATS area.  The program includes more than $642.7 million for 
highway projects, $338.7 million for public transit needs, and slightly less than $12 million for 
bike and pedestrian projects.  These projects are scheduled to receive federal funds for fiscal 
years 2021 through 2024. 
 
The AMATS area includes all of Summit and Portage counties and the Chippewa and Milton 
Township areas of Wayne County.  The full TIP document contains: the list of highway 
improvements shown in Table 2-3 complete with codes and abbreviations; the list of transit 
improvements in Table 3-2; and the Statewide Line Items for the AMATS area in Table 2-4.  
 
Federal regulations derived from Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act require 
that the TIP demonstrate financial balance and air quality conformity, and include opportunities 
for public comment.  A summary of each of these activities follows: 
 
Financial Balance 
 
The FAST Act requires that a financial plan be included demonstrating that the TIP can be 
implemented with the financial resources expected to be available over the next four years.  For 
this purpose, Chapter 4 - Fiscal Assessment is included in the TIP.  This chapter summarizes 
highway and transit revenues and project costs.  Highway cost information was drawn from 
Table 2-3 and transit cost information was drawn from Table 3-2.   



 
 

2 
 

 
The fiscal constraint analysis indicates that sufficient federal, state and local funds are expected 
to be available to support the projects included in the TIP for FY 2021-2024. 
 
 
Air Quality Conformity 
 
The Air Quality Conformity Analysis forecasts the mobile emissions generated by vehicles using 
the transportation system recommended in Transportation Outlook 2040, the area’s Regional 
Transportation Plan.  The analysis is required to forecast emissions relating to ozone and PM2.5 
pollutants.  The results of the analysis demonstrate that the emissions of ozone and PM2.5 do not 
exceed the level of emissions established by the Ohio EPA in the State Implementation Plan 
(SIP).   
 
All of the projects in the TIP that require an air quality analysis were included in the Air Quality 
Conformity Analysis.  This analysis confirms that the TIP FY 2021-2024 is in conformity with 
the SIP.   
 
Included in the full TIP document is Appendix C – Air Quality Analysis, which provides 
additional details of this analysis. 
 
Performance Measures 
 
Performance measures are central to implementing a performance-based planning process that 
guides decision making.  Federal regulations require agencies such as AMATS to consider 
safety, infrastructure condition, congestion reduction, system reliability, freight movement and 
economic vitality to prioritize the programming of transportation projects.  AMATS is also 
required to consider Transit Asset Management (TAM) planning as part of its efforts to maintain 
the area’s capital resources in a state of good repair.   
 
Performance measures are discussed in greater detail in Appendix H of the full TIP document.   
 
Public Comment 
 
The public was given the opportunity to review and comment on the second draft of the TIP FY 
2021-2024 from March 30 through April 29.  Due to COVID-19 the draft TIP document was 
available on the AMATS website.   
 
In addition, a virtual public meeting was held on April 2, 2020, on the AMATS Facebook page.  
A press release, written notices, newspaper advertisements and social media were utilized to 
notify the public of the TIP public involvement period and meeting.  As of April 20, 2020 there 
were 171 views of the virtual public meeting and AMATS had received ten comments. 
  
In order to document the public’s involvement, Appendix E – Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-
2024, is included in the full TIP document. 
 



 
 

3 
 

Staff Recommendation 
 
Currently, the complete Draft TIP FY 2021-2024 is available on the “What’s New” section of 
AMATS website located at amatsplanning.org.  It is expected that the Federal Highway 
Administration and Federal Transit Administration will approve this document by the end of 
June.  On July 1, 2020, the new TIP is expected to become official.  With federal approval, the 
Final TIP FY 2021-2024 will be available on the “TIP” and “Reports” pages of the AMATS 
website. 
 
Attached to this memo is Resolution Number 2020-06.  This resolution adopts the Transportation 
Improvement Program FY 2021-2024.  The Staff recommends approval. 
  



 
 

4 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-06 
 
OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 
ADOPTING THE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FY 2021-2024  
 
WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and in cooperation with locally elected officials in 
Summit and Portage Counties and the Chippewa Township and Milton Township areas of 
Wayne County; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS has, pursuant to 23 United States Code 134, and relevant federal 
regulations,  prepared a Transportation Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021 through 
2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS has carried out public involvement activities consistent with the AMATS 
Public Participation Plan during the period of March 30 through April 29 and conducted a virtual 
public meeting on April 2; and 
 
WHEREAS, an Environmental Justice scan has been completed, in order to ensure that low-
income and minority population groups will not disproportionately bear the negative 
environmental consequences of implementing the projects scheduled in the Transportation 
Improvement Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, a fiscal constraint analysis was conducted demonstrating that adequate funding is 
available to finance the projects programmed in the Transportation Improvement Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 require that AMATS make a 
determination, in cooperation with NOACA, ERPC and ODOT, that Transportation Outlook 
2040 is in conformity with respect to Ohio’s State Implementation Plan (SIP) for attainment of 
the 2008 8-hour ozone standard, 2015 8-hour ozone standard and the 2006 and 2012 fine 
particulate matter standards; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 require that AMATS make a 
determination, in cooperation with NOACA and ODOT, that the Transportation Improvement 
Program Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024 is in conformity with respect to Ohio’s State 
Implementation Plan (SIP) for attainment of the 2015 8-hour ozone standard, the 2008 8-hour 
ozone standard, and the 2006 and 2012 PM2.5 standards, where applicable; and 
 
WHEREAS, a quantitative air quality analysis of the AMATS Transportation Improvement 
Program Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024 and Transportation Outlook  (amended May 14, 2020), 
the area’s 2040 Regional Transportation Plan, has been completed in accordance with the 
requirements specified by the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act and the 
Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990; and  



 
 

5 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-06 (Continued) 
 
WHEREAS, the projects programmed in the AMATS Transportation Improvement Program 
Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024 are consistent with Transportation Outlook  (amended May 14, 
2020), the area’s 2040 Regional Transportation Plan, and were included in the air quality 
analysis completed for the 2040 Plan and found to be in conformity with the State 
Implementation Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the development of performance measures is required in order to foster 
transparency and accountability, and help track transportation system improvement at regional, 
state, and national levels; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) has established performance 
targets for safety, infrastructure condition, congestion reduction and system reliability according 
to federal guidance and timetables; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS supports ODOT efforts and targets for these performance measures as 
further discussed in Appendix H: Performance Measures in the Transportation Improvement 
Program FY 2021-2024. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
1. That this Committee adopts the Transportation Improvement Program Fiscal Year 2021 

through 2024 and recommends that its members incorporate these improvements into 
their transportation improvement programming for their governmental units. 

 
2. That this Committee affirms that the public had adequate opportunity to comment on the 

Transportation Improvement Program FY 2021-2024. 
 
3. That this Committee affirms the consistency of the Transportation Improvement Program 

with available federal, state and local funding sources. 
 
4. That this Committee approves supporting the Ohio Department of Transportation's 

statewide targets for all applicable transportation performance measures as described in 
the attached memorandum and Appendix H: Performance Measures of the TIP: safety, 
National Highway System (NHS) pavement conditions, interstate bridge conditions, level 
of travel time reliability and level of truck time reliability. 

 
5. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects so that they contribute toward 

the achievement of ODOT’s current targets for each performance measure as described in 
Appendix H: Performance Measures, of the AMATS TIP. 

 
6. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects in support of air quality goals in 

coordination with ODOT, NOACA and ERPC. 
 



 
 

6 
 

7. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects in support of METRO RTA and 
PARTA Transit Asset Management (TAM) plans. 

 
8. That this Committee affirms the consistency between the Transportation Improvement 

Program FY 2021-2024, the area’s Regional Transportation Plan (Transportation 
Outlook 2040) and the State Implementation Plan for air quality. 

 
9. That this Committee approves the Transportation Improvement Program FY 2021-2024 

document. 
 

10. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the 
appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Transportation Policy 
Committee. 

 
 
 

 
_____________________________________ 

 Mayor Linda Clark, 2020 Chairwoman 
      Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
         Date   



TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
FISCAL YEAR 2021-2024

DRAFT



Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 MAY 2020 DRAFT

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
FISCAL YEAR 2021-2024

DRAFTMAY 2020

AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY

161 SOUTH HIGH STREET, SUITE 201
AKRON, OHIO  44308

This report is the product of a study financed (in part) by the U.S. Department of Transportation’s Federal Highway 
Administration, Federal Transit Administration and the Ohio Department of Transportation.
 
The contents of this report reflect the views of the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study which is responsible for the 
facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein.  The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policy of the U.S. 
Department of Transportation.  This report does not constitute a standard, specification or regulation.

Cooperative transportation planning by the Village, City and County governments of Portage and Summit Counties and the 
Chippewa and Milton Township areas of Wayne County; in conjunction with the U.S. Department of Transportation and the 
Ohio Department of Transportation.



Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table of Contents
Chapter 1 - Introduction

TIP Document Summary 1

Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements
Projects Sold or Obligated 3

Projects Delayed or Cancelled

FY 2021-2024 Highway Improvements 3

Table 2-1 - Highway Projects Sold or Obligated in FY 2018-2020

Table 2-2 - Highway Projects Delayed or Cancelled in FY 2018-2020 6

Table 2-3 and 2-4 - Highway Improvements Codes and Abbreviations

Table 2-3 - Highway Improvements 8

Map 2-1 - Highway Improvements

Statewide Line Items 13

Table 2-4 -Highway Improvements (Statewide Line Items)

Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements 18
Summary of FY 2018-2020 Transit Project Activity

Table 3-1 (FY 2018) - Transit Projects Activity 18

Table 3-1 (FY 2019) - Transit Projects Activity

Table 3-1 (FY 2020) - Transit Projects Activity 19

FY 2021-2024 Transit Improvements

Table 3-2 (METRO Regional Transit Authority) - Transit  Improvements 21

Table 3-2 (Portage Area Regional Transportation Authority) - Transit  Improvements

Table 3-2 (Specialized Transportation Program) - FTA 5310 Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled 22

Table 3-2 (Summary) - Transit Projects Summary Sheet

Chapter 4 - Fiscal Assessment 24

Transit Allocated Funds

Total TIP Revenues and Costs 25

Table 4-1 - AMATS Fiscal Constraint Analysis (FY 2021-2024)

Table 4-2A - Forecasted Revenues and Project Costs (FTA 5307) 26

ODOT Allocated Funds

AMATS Allocated Funds 24

Table 4-2B - Forecasted Revenues and Project Costs (FTA 5339)

Chapter 5 - Maintaining and Operating the Existing Transportation System 27
2021-2024 TIP Expenditures by Type of Project

Table 5-1 - Funding Sources by Type of Project 28

Chapter 6 - Summary
2021-2024 TIP Expenditures by Mode of Travel 29

2021-2024 TIP Expenditures by Funding Source

Transit Expenditures by Operator 30

Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines
Introduction 32

Policy Guidelines

TIP Project Selection and Implementation Process 41

Appendix B - Public Participation Plan
Introduction 43

AMATS Committees and Staff

On the Web 46

New Approaches

Unique Populations 48

Conclusion

Appendices 51

Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis
Introduction 57

Methodology

Results 58

Methodology

Analyses 66

Appendix E - Public Review of the Draft TIP FY 2021-2024

Appendix F - Resolution Approving the TIP FY 2021-2024 81

Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis
Introduction 64

1

3

3

4

7

12

13

18

19

20

22

23

24

25

24

26

27

29

29

31

32

42

44

47

50

57

57

65

73

64

Appendix G - Amendments to the TIP FY 2021-2024 84
Appendix H - Performance Measures 85

Appendix I - Carry Forward List 99

Infrastructure Condition

Safety 87

88

89System Reliability

91Freight Movement and Economic Vitality

Public Comments from Facebook

Public Comments from E-Mail 77

Public Comments from the Citizen’s Involvement Committee 73

76

Media Coverage 78



1Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 1 - Introduction  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Introduction
The Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) is a comprehensive and financially-
constrained listing of regional transportation projects and services that are scheduled 
for implementation within the next four years.  The projects identified in the TIP 
are prioritized with funding through federal, state and local revenues.  The program 
maintains a balance of local and regional needs and includes projects from all modes 
of transportation including highways, public transportation or transit, bicycles and 
pedestrians.

The development of the TIP is the responsibility of AMATS, which is the designated 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for Summit and Portage Counties and 
the Chippewa and Milton Township areas of Wayne County.  The TIP was developed 
in a continuing, cooperative and comprehensive manner with the Ohio Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) and area transit operators.

The TIP is important because it provides:

1. a schedule by which to coordinate projects among jurisdictions and 
transportation agencies, 

2. a guide for implementation of short and long range transportation planning, 
3. an aid to financial programming and administration, and 
4. a source of information for the public.

No project can be implemented with federal transportation funds unless it is included 
in the TIP.  Because of this provision, the AMATS Policy Committee has considerable 
control on the use of federal transportation funds in the AMATS study area.

Congress passed Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act, also known as FAST 
Act, on December 4, 2015.  This transportation bill guarantees funding for highway, 
highway safety, pedestrian and bicycle, freight, and transit projects through the end of 
Fiscal Year 2020.  FAST Act consolidates funding into five core programs: National 
Highway Performance Program, Surface Transportation Block Grant Prgram, 
Highway Safety Improvement Program, Congestion Mitigation/Air Quality program, 
National Highway Freight Program, and metropolitan planning.

FAST Act continues to emphasize fixing the existing transportation system before 
expanding it.  It also encourages alternative forms of transportation such as public 
transit, pedestrian and bicycle facilities.

The TIP is developed on a biennial basis.  The project listings, however, are regularly 
monitored and updated to reflect implementation of programmed projects, additions 

of new projects, major changes in projects and deletions of canceled projects.  Once 
the TIP is adopted by the AMATS Policy Committee, it is then included in ODOT’s 
Statewide Transportation Improvement Program and subsequently approved by the 
Governor of Ohio.

AMATS is the program manager for several federal funding programs in which sponsors 
apply for project funding.  In order to provide a systematic method for developing and 
modifying the TIP for projects that utilize AMATS suballocated federal funds, the 
Policy Committee has adopted the AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines.

The current funding policy was adopted in June 2019 and establishes the criteria to be 
used in selecting projects to be included in the TIP.  The policy: 

1. establishes a standing subcommittee of the Technical Advisory Committee 
(TAC) that is responsible for monitoring TIP funding, reviewing project 
applications, and making recommendations to the Policy Committee,

2. establishes the maximum amount of Surface Transportation Program 
(STBG) and Transportation Alternatives Program (TASA) funding that 
can be allocated to any project for preliminary engineering, right-of-way or 
construction, and

3. requires a minimum of 20% local funding for STBG or TASA funded 
projects.

In 2013, ODOT required that the individual MPO Congestion Mitigation/Air 
Quality (CMAQ) programs be combined into a single statewide program.  A statewide 
CMAQ Program Committee was formed to develop the program’s policies, procedures 
and project selection criteria. The new Statewide CMAQ Program Policy was finalized 
and approved in early 2014.  CMAQ projects selected by the statewide program for 
funding are included in the FY 2021-2024 TIP.

TIP Document Summary
The TIP contains six chapters and a set of appendices. Chapter 1 is the introduction, 
which discusses the purpose of the TIP.  Chapter 2 contains the highway improvements 
listed in the TIP and summarizes the status of projects from the previous TIP.  Chapter 
3 lists transit improvements and shows transit projects that have sold from the previous 
TIP.  Chapter 4 is a financial assessment of the TIP that demonstrates that the projects 
listed can be implemented with available financial resources.  Chapter 5 discusses 
the commitment made to maintain and operate the existing transportation system.  
Chapter 6 is a summary of the TIP.



2Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 1 - Introduction  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

The appendices focus on documenting that the AMATS TIP conforms to federal 
requirements and includes supporting information:

 Appendix A: AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines
 Appendix B: Public Participation Plan
 Appendix C: Air Quality Analysis
 Appendix D: Environmental Justice Scan
 Appendix E: Public Review of the Draft TIP FY 2021-2024
 Appendix F: Resolution Approving the TIP FY 2021-2024
 Appendix G: Amendments to the TIP FY 2021-2024
 Appendix H: Performance Measures
 Appendix I: Carry Forward List



3Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Highway Improvements
The highway portion of the Transportation Improvement Program presents those 
roadway, bridge and alternative projects scheduled to use available local, state and 
federal funds in fiscal years 2021 through 2024.  This Chapter is organized as follows:

Projects Sold or Obligated
During the previous TIP, which covered fiscal years 2018 through 2021, numerous 
highway projects have been sold and began construction and several projects had their 
right-of-way phase or planning activities obligated.  Each of these projects is listed in 
Table 2-1 and includes their description and the year in which funds were obligated.

Projects Delayed or Cancelled
Developing plans for highway projects is a complicated and time-consuming endeavor 
that includes adhering to many design requirements and environmental regulations. 
As such, project development can occasionally cause delays in the schedule.  Various 
highway projects programmed in the previous TIP FY 2018-2021 have experienced 
delays and, in some cases, projects have been cancelled due of a variety of reasons such 
as lack of funding or a change in priorities.  The status of each of these projects as they 
transition from the previous TIP to FY 2021-2024 is shown in Table 2-2.

FY 2021-2024 Highway Improvements
Highway projects and studies programmed for any phase of implementation during 
fiscal years 2021 through 2024 are shown in Table 2-3.  A map identifying the 
locations of these projects follows the table.  Following this map is Table 2-4, which 
lists statewide line items.

Highway, bridge and alternative transportation projects to be placed in the TIP are 
drawn from the AMATS Regional Transportation Plan, which places a priority 
on system maintenance and preservation.  The system maintenance projects, like 
resurfacings and bridges, may not be explicitly listed, but have been included as 
approved types of projects in the Regional Transportation Plan.

Projects submitted and funded by ODOT and the County Engineers Association of 
Ohio are reviewed for Regional Transportation Plan consistency before being included 
in the TIP.  Projects are also submitted to AMATS by local governments in the Akron 
metropolitan area, transit operators, the County Engineers and ODOT.

Projects submitted for AMATS sub allocated funds are evaluated using the criteria 
included in the AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines.  Separate criteria are used for 

projects submitted under the Surface Transportation Program (STBG), Transportation 
Alternatives Program (TASA) and the AMATS Resurfacing Program.  Congestion 
Mitigation/Air Quality (CMAQ) funding, which is managed by a statewide committee 
of MPOs, also has criteria for evaluating and prioritizing projects and is listed below.

A. STBG Criteria
1. Roadway Condition 
2. Roadway Safety
3. Delay Reduction
4. Weighted Average Daily Traffic
5. Project Readiness
6. Complete Streets Component
7. Connecting Communities Project
8. Equitable Distribution of Funds

B. TASA Criteria
1. Facilities – multipurpose trail, bike lane, and sidewalk
2. Project type/Logical Termini
3. Level of Use 
4. Consistency with Plans
5. Equitable Distribution of Funds

C. AMATS Resurfacing Program Criteria
1. Pavement Condition Rating (PCR)
2. Equitable Distribution of Funds 
3. Weighted Average Daily Traffic
4. Maintenance Performed by Sponsor

D. CMAQ Criteria
1. Project Type
2. Cost Effectiveness
3. Other Benefits
4. Existing Modal Level of Service
5. Positive Impact on LOS
6. Status of Project
7. Non-Federal Match of Requested CMAQ Funds
8. Regional Priority
9. History of Project Delivery

Project evaluations, development schedule and available funding are then considered 
in programming STBG, CMAQ, TASA and Resurfacing projects by year in the TIP.



4Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-1
Highway Projects Sold or Obligated in FY 2018-2020

PID # CO-RTE-SECTION LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK PHASE
SOLD OR 

OBLIGATED 
FISCAL YEAR

107679 POR - Infirmary Rd Shalersville Township and Ravenna Township 
SR 14 to SR 303

Resurfacing Construction 2019

99879 POR - Streetsboro Signal Upgrade Streetsboro
Various Locations

Fiber Interconnection, Upgrade Central Control Equipment, Emergency Preemption Engineering
Right Of Way
Construction

2018 
2019 
2019

102234 POR - SR 14 - 3.65 Streetsboro
Portage Point Dr to Diagonal Rd

Two-Way Left Turn Lane
Sidewalk

Engineering
Right Of Way

2018
2019

98585 POR - CR 18 - 0.51 (Tallmadge Rd) Brimfield Township
Tallmadge Rd to Mogadore Rd and IR 76

Interchange Improvements Right Of Way
Engineering

2019
2020

93442 POR - SR 43 - 10.26 (S Water St) Kent
SR 261 to Summit St

Turn Lanes, Signal Upgrades and Interconnects, Sidewalk Ramps Construction 2018

106416 POR - SR 43 - 18.23 Streetsboro
SR 14 to Frost Rd

Two-Way Left Turn Lane, Add Southbound Through Lane from Evergreen to IR 80, 
Northbound Right Turn Lane at Evergreen

Engineering 2018

110168 POR - SR 59 - 0.00 Kent
Summit County Line to SR 43 (S Mantua St)

Milling and Resurfacing Construction 2020

112026 POR - SR 59 - 2.14 (E Main St) Kent
Willow St to Horning

Raised Median, Roundabouts, Bus Pulloffs, Upgrade Lighting and Sidewalks Engineering 2020

93854 POR - SR 303 - 0.67 Streetsboro
West of W&LE RR Tracks to East of SR 303 Bypass Rd

Replace Culvert, Adjust Roadway Profile to Improve Drainage Construction 2018

94131 POR - SR 700 - 0.00 Hiram and Hiram Township
SR 88 to Geauga County Line

Resurfacing and Bridge Maintenance Construction 2018

97832
97833
97834

AMATS Air Quality Advocacy Program Summit County, Portage County, Chippewa and Milton Townships of Wayne County Promotion of Activities to Improve Air Quality such as Biking and Walking Other 2018
2019
2020

97829
97831
97832

Rideshare Summit County, Portage County, Chippewa and Milton Townships of Wayne County Promotion of Carpooling Other 2018
2019
2020

108929 SUM - Boston Mills Rd Study (CR 32) Boston Township
SR 271 to Boston Heights West Corp Line

Geotechnical Study to Stabilize Slide Areas Engineering 2019

102625 SUM - Brittain Rd - Sidewalks Akron
Tallmadge Ave to Independence Ave

New Sidewalk Construction 2019

99725 SUM - Canton Rd - Resurfacing Springfield Township
Salmon Dr to South of Springfield Lake Dr

Resurfacing Construction 2020

89113 SUM - SR 91 / US 224 / Canton Rd Springfield Township and Lakemore
South of Springfield Lake Dr to Farmdale Rd

Standard Lane Width, Concrete Median, Turn Lanes, Sidewalks Engineering
Construction

2018
2019

103833 SUM - Center Rd - East New Franklin
Eastview Dr to S Main St

Resurfacing Construction 2018

102906 SUM - Center Rd - West New Franklin
Cleveland Massillon Rd to Eastview Dr

Resurfacing Construction 2018

104582 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd Barberton
South Corp Line to 31st St, Wooster Rd N and Hopocan Ave

Resurfacing and Minor Intersection Improvements Construction 2018

97638 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd - Phase 2/3 Norton
North of Shannon to Weber Dr

Median Turn Lane, Signal Upgrade, Resurfacing, Sidewalks Construction 2019

108131 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd / Ridgewood Rd Copley Township
Cleveland Massillon Rd at Ridgewood Rd (North Intersection)

New Eastbound Left Turn Lane on Ridgewood and Southbound Right Turn Lane on 
Cleveland Massillon Rd

Construction 2020

103293 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd (CR 17) - 16.51 Fairlawn
IR 77 to North of Bywood Ave

Widen to 5 Lanes, Roundabout, Signal Reconstruct at Elgin, Multi-Use Path Right Of Way 2019 / 2020

107797 SUM - CVNP Pedestrian Bridge and Trail Boston Township
Across Cuyahoga River South of Boston Mills Rd

Construction of New Pedestrian Connector from the New CVNP Vicistor Center to 
Boston Mills Trail Head

Engineering 2020

80684 SUM - Evans Ave Railroad Grade Separation Akron
At CSX Railroad

Realign Evans Ave, Construct Bridge over Railroad Tracks Construction 2018

102796 SUM - Freedom Trail / Portage Hike and Bike Connector Stow, Tallmadge and Kent
End of Freedom Trail to Start of Portage Hike and Bike Trail

Asphalt Trail Right Of Way 2019

107812 SUM - Graham Rd Stow and Silver Lake
METRO Railroad Tracks to Elm Rd

Resurfacing Construction 2019



5Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-1
Highway Projects Sold or Obligated in FY 2018-2020

PID # CO-RTE-SECTION LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK PHASE
SOLD OR 

OBLIGATED 
FISCAL YEAR

93819 SUM - Howe Ave Cuyahoga Falls
Main St to Buchholzer Blvd

Reconstruction Engineering
RIght of Way
Construction

2018
2018
2019

104042 SUM - Main St Corridor Akron
State St to Mill St

Street ABD, Sidewalk Replacement, Dedicated Bike Lanes, Roundabout Construction 2018

108164 SUM - Main St Corridor - Phase 2 Akron
Mill St to SR 59 (MLK Jr Blvd)

Street ABD, Sidewalk Replacement, Dedicated Bike Lanes, Roudabout Construction 2020

107794 SUM - CR 50 - 0.00 (S Main St) New Franklin
Mt. Pleasant Rd to South of W Caston Rd

Resurfacing Construction 2020

107261 SUM - Medina Line Rd - Phase 1 Norton
Eastern Rd to Greenwich Rd

Resurfacing Construction 2020

103085 SUM - Medina Line Rd - Phase 2 Bath Township
SR 18 to Granger Rd

Resurfacing Construction 2019

99728 SUM - Moore Rd - Sidewalks Green
Arlington Rd to Charleston Dr

New Sidewalks Construction 2020

98702 SUM - Olde Eight Rd - Phase 1 Boston Heights
Boston Mills Rd to North Corp Line

Resurfacing Construction 2018

98703 SUM - Olde Eight Rd - Phase 2 Boston Heights
SR 303 to Boston Mills Rd

Resurfacing Construction 2018

108084 SUM - Portage Lakes Dr Coventry Township
SR 93 to Cormany Rd

Resurfacing Construction 2020

108084 SUM - Portage Trail Extension Cuyahoga Falls
Albertson Pkwy to State Rd

Add Two-Way Left Turn Lane Engineering 2019 / 2020

107603 SUM - Ravenna Rd (CR 12) - 1.90 Twinsburg
E Idlewood Dr to Richner Ct

Resurfacing Construction 2018

107961 SUM - Sanitarium Rd Lakemore
Flickinger Rd to Pawnee Blvd

Resurfacing Construction 2019

97856 SUM - Veterans Trail - Phase 1 Hudson
Barlow Rd to Veterans Way Park

Multipurpose Trail Construction 2020

108133 SUM - Waterloo Rd Akron
Manchester Rd to Kelly Ave

Resurfacing Construction 2020

91710 SUM - SR 8 - 1.75 Akron
SR 8 over Cuyahoga River Valley

Bridge Replacement Engineering
Right Of Way

2018 / 2019
2019

76721 SUM - SR 8 - 7.60 Stow and Hudson
Graham Rd to North of SR 303

Total Pavement Replacement Construction 2019

96562 SUM - SR 18 / SR 261 - Curb Ramps Akron Curb Ramps Construction 2019

103028 SUM - SR 18 Sidewalk - Phase 1 Bath Township
Driveway to Holiday Inn to Cleveland Massillon Rd

8’ Wide Sidewalk Engineering
Construction

2018
2019

91071 SUM - SR 59 - 0.07 Akron
SR 59 over IR 76

Bridge Maintenance Construction 2019

96670 SUM - IR 76 - 5.53 Akron and Barberton
Central Ave to 27th St

Reconstruction of IR 76 / Wooster Rd / East Ave Interchange, Extensive Ramp 
Realignments

Construction 2019

100713 SUM - IR 76 - 6.15 Akron
IR 277 / US 224 to IR 77 (Kenmore Leg)

Improve Shoulders, Possible Pulloffs, Ramp Reconstruction at Both Ends Engineering 2019

102329 SUM - IR 76 / 77 - 8.42 / 9.77 Akron
IR 77 (South Leg) and IR 76 / 77 (West Leg) from Waterloo Rd to Vernon Odom Blvd

Pavement Replacement Including Work to Bridges Engineering 2019

101402 SUM - IR 76 - Central Interchange Akron
Central Interchange (IR 76, IR 77, SR 8)

Reconstruction and Realign Westbound to Southbound Ramp, Eastbound to Northbound 
Ramp and Westbound to Northbound Ramp

Engineering
Right Of Way

2018
2019

106002 SUM - IR 77 / IR 277 / US 224 Interchange Akron and Coventry Township
IR 77 / IR 277 / US 224 Interchange

Add Lanes on IR 77 from Arlington Rd to IR 277 / US 224, Widen Northbound to 
Westbound Ramp to 2 Lanes

Engineering 2018 - 2020

93433 SUM - SR 91 / SR 18 - 1.75 Akron
Canton Rd / E Market St Intersection

Intersection Realignment with Roundabout Engineering
Right Of Way

2018
2019

107814 SUM - SR 91 - 9.96 Sidewalks Stow
South of Conwill Rd to South of Fishcreek Rd

New Sidewalks Right Of Way 2020

106445 SUM - SR 91 - 13.45 Hudson
Barlow Rd to Veterans Way

Add Two-Way Left Turn Lane, Bike Lane and Sidewalks Engineering
Right Of Way

2019
2020



6Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-2
Highway Projects Delayed or Cancelled in FY 2018-2020

PID # CO-RTE-SECTION LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK

TIP PROJECT STATUS

FY 2018-2021 FY 2021-2024

PE ROW CONST PE ROW CONST
93434 SUM - Waterloo Rd Signals Akron

Main St to Arlington St
Signal Coordination 2018 Cancelled

93437 SUM - E Exchange St Signals Akron
Main St to Fountain St

Signal Coordination 2018 Cancelled

93438 SUM - Darrow Rd Akron
Gilchrist Rd to Eastwood Ave

Signal Coordination 2018 Cancelled

99721 SUM - Canton Rd Sidewalks Summit County
Salmon Dr to Springfield Lake Dr

Sidewalks 2017 2020 Cancelled

102692 SUM - SR 91 / SR 303 - 14.58 / 13.13 Hudson
SR 91 at SR 303

Turn Lanes, Intersection Improvements, Sidewalks 2020 2021 Cancelled

84397 SUM - Seiberling Way Akron
Eagle St to Englewood Ave

New Bridge over Little Cuyahoga River, Roundabout, Signs, Pavement 
Markings

2021 2024

93433 SUM - SR 91 / SR 18 - 1.75 Akron
SR 91 (Canton Rd) / SR 18 (E Market St) Intersection

Roundabout 2020 2021

99729 SUM - Raber Rd Green
Troon Dr to Mayfair Rd

New Sidewalks 2020 2022

103173 SUM - SR 241 / Boettler Rd / Frank Pkwy - Phase 3 Green
SR 241 (Massillon Rd) at Boettler Rd / Frank Pkwy

Roundabout 2020 2021 2021 2022

Table 2-1
Highway Projects Sold or Obligated in FY 2018-2020

PID # CO-RTE-SECTION LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK PHASE
SOLD OR 

OBLIGATED 
FISCAL YEAR

93822 SUM - SR 91 - 15.67 Hudson
Turnpike Bridge to Middleton Rd

Turn Lanes and Sidewalks Engineering
Right Of Way
Construction

2018
2019
2020

92032 SUM - SR 91 - Phase 2 Twinsburg
Glenwood Dr to North Corp Line

Widen to 4 Lanes, Intersection Improvements Construction 2018

103171 SUM - SR 162 - 2.24 Copley Township
SR 162 at Cleveland Massillon Rd

New Eastbound Left and Eastbound Right Turn Lanes Construction 2019

98486 SUM - US 224 - Various Akron and Springfield Township
Logpoint 11.25-12.70 and Logpoint 14.30-14.84

Milling, Resurfacing and Bridge Maintenance Construction 2020

90415 SUM - SR 241 - 4.10 Green
Raber Rd to SR 619

Widen to 5 Lanes, Bike Lanes and Sidewalks Right Of Way
Construction

2018
2020

88556 SUM - SR 261 - 11.33 Akron
N Main St to Gorge Blvd Including Intersection with Dayton St

Reconstruct and Reduce to Three Lanes, Realign Dayton St, Signal and Sidewalk Upgrades Construction 2020



7Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-3 and 2-4 - Highway Improvements Codes and Abbreviations
Map No.

PID No.

Co-Rte-Section

Length

Number identifying project on map following Table 2-3.

The Project Identification (PID) Number assigned to a project by ODOT.

The official project title assigned by ODOT consisting of a three letter county 
abbreviation, the route number or street name, and for state routes, the straight 
line mileage from the county line to the project beginning point.

The project length to the nearest hundredth of a mile.
Location & Termini

Contains the name of the city, township, or village in which the project begins.  
Termini are described in terms of prominent intersecting streets or county lines.

Type of Work

FY
A brief description of the type of work.

State Fiscal Year (FY 2021 begins July 1, 2020)
Funding Type

CEAO - County Engineers Association of Ohio
CMAQ - Congestion Mitigation / Air Quality
FED - Various Federal Funding
HSIP - Highway Safety Improvement Program
LOCAL - Local Funding
NHPP - National Highway Performance Program
STATE - State / ODOT Funding
NPS - National Park System
STBG - Surface Transportation Block Grant
TASA - Transportation Alternatives Set Aside

Phase
P - Preliminary Engineering
R - Right of Way purchase
C - Construction
O - Other

Total Cost (000’s)
Total cost of all project phases in current dollars and rounded off to the nearest 
thousands.

Project Sponsor
The unit of government or agency that initiated the project, implementation 
responsibility and assigned local share.

TPM - Transportation Performance Measures
Performance Measures Group One (PM1):

Performance Measures Group Three (PM3):

Safety
Performance Measures Group Two (PM2):

Infrastructure - Pavement and Bridges

System Performance - Congestion and Air Quality, Time Travel Reliability, 
Peak-Hour Excessive Delay (PHED), Mobile Source Emissions, and Non-
Single Occupancy Vehicle (Non-SOV) Travel



8Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-3
Highway Improvements

M
A

P 
#

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

107761 POR - Aurora Signals N/A Aurora
Various Throughout the City

Upgrade / Interconnect Signals, Address ADA and Safe 
Routes to Schools Concerns

STBG
LOCAL

C
C

3,458.0
864.5

5,370.1 Aurora Exempt PM1
PM3

1 112756 POR - S Chestnut St 0.67 Ravenna
S Chestnut St from Lake Ave to Main St

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

192.0
48.0

244.3 Portage Coun-
ty Engineer

Exempt PM2

2 107689 POR - S Diamond St / Mill Rd 1.41 Ravenna
S Diamond St from Summit Rd to Mill St
Mill St from S Diamond St to Sycamore St

Resurfacing and ADA Ramps STBG
LOCAL

C
C

268.0
67.0

338.0 Ravenna Exempt PM2

3 112755 POR - New Milford Rd - 8.01 3.50 Ravenna Township and Rootstown Township
New Milford Rd from Tallmadge Rd to SR 5 / SR 44 
Bypass

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

590.9
147.7

752.8 Portage Coun-
ty Engineer

Exempt PM2

4 103834 POR - Portage - Brady’s Leap Section 0.22 Kent
W Main St to 0.1 South of Fairchild Ave

Construct Hike & Bike Trail from Main St to Existing 
Segment of the Portage Trail including Stairs to W 
Main St

TASA
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
538.7

1,283.3 Kent Exempt PM3

5 105556 POR - Ravenna Rd (CR 145) Bridge 0.01 Portage County
Ravenna Rd over Norfolk Southern Railroad

Bridge Replacement, Relocate Bike and Hike Trail FED
TASA

LOCAL

C
C
C

1,067.0
313.6
78.4

1,512.1 Portage 
County

Engineer

Exempt PM2

6 112757 POR - Riddle St 0.74 Ravenna
Riddle St from Meridian St to Liberty St

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

200.0
50.0

254.5 Portage Coun-
ty Engineer

Exempt PM2

7 98585 POR - Tallmadge Rd (CR 18) 0.55 Brimfield Township
Tallmadge Rd / IR 76 Interchange

Reconstruction of Tallmadge Rd at IR 76 Interchange 
and Relocation of Mogadore Rd

CMAQ
FED

CEAO
STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C
C
C

2,604.0
160.0

2,820.0
663.0

1,133.0

9,200.9 Portage 
County

Engineer

Analyze PM2
PM3

8 102234 POR - SR 14 - 3.65-5.36 1.71 Streetsboro
SR 14 from Portage Pointe Dr to Diagonal Rd

Add Two-Way Left Turn Lane and Sidewalks STBG
HSIP
FED

STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C
C
C

2,170.0
2,091.4

217.0
385.0
658.5

7,028.8 Streetsboro Exept PM1
PM2
PM3

9 106416 POR - SR 43 - 18.23-19.70 1.47 Streetsboro
SR 43 from SR 14 to Frost Rd

Add Two-Way Left Turn Lane and Add Additional 
Southbound Lane from Evergreen to IR 80

HSIP
LOCAL
CMAQ
STBG
HSIP

LOCAL

R
R
C
C
C
C

510.3
56.7

3,300.8
858.7
979.4

1,148.7

7,754.8 Streetsboro Analyze PM1
PM3

10 112026 POR - SR 59 - 2.14 (E Main St) 0.80 Kent
SR 59 (E Main St) from Willow St to Horning Rd

Reconstruction with Medians, Roundabouts, Bus Pull 
Offs, Replace Sidewalks and Lighting

HSIP
LOCAL

HSIP
LOCAL

P
P
R
R

1,350.0
150.0
990.0
110.0

17,555.6 Kent Exempt PM1
PM2
PM3

100692
111426
111428
111429

SUM - AMATS FY 21 AIR QUALITY
SUM - AMATS FY 22 AIR QUALITY
SUM - AMATS FY 23 AIR QUALITY
SUM - AMATS FY 24 AIR QUALITY

N/A Summit and Portage Counties, Chippewa and Milton 
Townships of Wayne County

Promotion of Activities to Improve Air Quality sucn as 
Biking and Walking

CMAQ S 120.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 420.0 AMATS Exempt PM3

100692
111426
111428
111429

SUM - AMATS FY 21 RIDESHARE
SUM - AMATS FY 22 RIDESHARE
SUM - AMATS FY 23 RIDESHARE
SUM - AMATS FY 24 RIDESHARE

N/A Summit and Portage Counties, Chippewa and Milton 
Townships of Wayne County

Promotion of Carpooling CMAQ S 80.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 320.0 AMATS Exempt PM3

11 105373 SUM - 2nd St SW / Wooster Rd 0.74 Barberton
2nd St from Hudson Run Rd to Wooster Rd
Wooster Rd from 2nd St SW to 4th St NW

Resurfacing, Road Diet and Shared-Use Path along 
Wooster Rd

TASA
STBG

LOCAL

C
C
C

422.6
408.4
207.8

1,057.5 Barberton Exempt PM2

12 108453 SUM - Akron Cleveland Rd (CR 16) - 7.2 
Part 1

1.43 Boston Township
Akron Cleveland Rd from Cuyahoga Falls North Corp 
Limit to Boston Heights South Corp Limit

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
175.0

890.8 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

13 108098 SUM - Chestnut Blvd 1.10 Cuyahoga Falls
Chestnut Blvd from State Rd to 2nd St

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

392.0
98.0

498.8 Cuyahoga 
Falls

Exempt PM2



9Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-3
Highway Improvements

M
A

P 
#

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

14 108467 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd (CR 17) - 
10.68 Part 1

1.77 Copley Township
Cleveland Masillon Rd (CR 17) from Norton North 
Corp Limit to 0.4 Miles North of Minor Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
400.0

1,119.8 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

15 108468 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd (CR 17) - 
12.79 Part 2

1.50 Copley Township
Cleveland Masillon Rd (CR 17) from 0.4 Miles North of 
Minor Rd to Ridgewood Rd (South Intersection)

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
446.5

1,167.1 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM3

16 112788 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd (CR 
17) - 16.01

0.44 Bath Township
Cleveland Masillon Rd (CR 17) from SR 18 to Spring-
side Dr

Sidewalk TASA
LOCAL
TASA

LOCAL
TASA

LOCAL

P
P
E
E
R
R

18.0
4.5

102.0
25.5

32.0
8.0

650.0 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM3

17 107797 SUM - CVNP Pedestrian Bridge and Trail 0.02 Boston Township
Southeast of Boston Mills Rd and Riverview Rd

New Pedestrian Bridge over Cuyahoga River TASA
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
17.5

975.8 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM3

18 102701 SUM - E Exchange St 0.92 Akron
E Exchange St from Broadway St to Fountain St

Reduce Lanes, Add Bike Lanes, Install Median and 
Signal Interconnect

STBG
LOCAL
STBG

LOCAL

R
R
C
C

240.0
60.0

3,600.0
900.0

4,962.0 Akron Exempt PM3

19 102796 SUM - Freedom Trail - Middlebury 0.35 Tallmadge, Stow and Kent
Freedom Trail from Portage Hike and Bike to Existing 
End Point of Freedom Trail

Multipurpose Trail TASA
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
748.2

2,700.3 Summit 
Metroparks

Exempt PM3

20 107930 SUM - Freedom Trail - Phase 4 1.30 Akron
Freedom Trail from Mill St to Rosa Parks Blvd

Multipurpose Trail TASA
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
3,428.7

4,277.4 Summit 
Metroparks

Exempt PM3

21 112745 SUM - Gilchrist Rd - Phase 1 0.58 Mogadore
Gilchrist Rd from Akron East Corp Limit to Mogadore 
Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

356.3
89.1

453.3 Mogadore Exempt PM2

22 108132 SUM - S Hawkins Ave 3.49 Akron
S Hawkins Ave from East Ave to Mull Ave

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
175.0

890.7 Akron Exempt PM2

23 112754 SUM - Johnson Rd 1.26 Norton
Johnson Rd from Hametown Rd to Norton East Corp 
Limit

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

443.9
111.0

564.8 Norton Exempt PM2

24 112741 SUM -Hopocan Ave 0.68 Barberton
Hopocan Ave from Hillsdale Ave to 8th St NW

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

281.7
70.4

358.5 Barberton Exempt PM2

25 107886 SUM - N River Rd 1.10 Munroe Falls
N River Rd from SR 91 to Stow Corp Limit

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

558.6
139.6

710.5 Munroe Falls Exempt PM2

26 112753 SUM - Norton Ave 0.69 Norton
Norton Ave from Cleveland Massillon Rd to Norton East 
Corp Limit

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

390.0
97.5

496.3 Norton Exempt PM2

27 108454 SUM - Olde Eight Rd (CR 16) - 12.70 
Part 2

1.16 Northfield Center Township
Olde Eight Rd (CR 16) from Boston Heights North 
Corp Limit to Highland Rd (South Intersection)

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
175.0

890.8 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

28 108084 SUM - Portage Trail Extension 0.73 Cuyahoga Falls
Portage Trail Extension from Albertson Pkwy to State Rd

Add Two-Way Left Turn Lane HSIP
LOCAL

HSIP
LOCAL
STBG
HSIP

LOCAL

P
P
R
R
C
C
C

80.1
8.9

737.6
82.0

3,649.2
927.2

1,015.3

7,726.4 Cuyahoga 
Falls

Exempt PM1
PM3

29 99729 SUM - Raber Rd Sidewalks 0.59 Green
Raber Rd from Troon Dr to Mayfair Rd

Construct New Multipurpose 10’ Trail (South Side) TASA
LOCAL

C
C

500.0
825.0

1,372.7 Green Exempt PM3

30 108140 SUM - Ravenna Rd - Part 1 1.28 Twinsburg Township
Ravenna Rd from Twinsburg South Corp Limit to Just 
North of Old Mill Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
225.0

941.6 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2



10Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-3
Highway Improvements

M
A

P 
#

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

31 112583 SUM - Ravenna Rd 1.10 Twinsburg
Ravenna Rd from Chamberlin Rd to E Idlewood Dr

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

432.0
108.0

549.8 Twinsburg Exempt PM2

32 84397 SUM - Seiberling Way - Phase 1 0.44 Akron
Seiberling Way from Englewood St to Eagle St

New Road and New Bridge over Little Cuyahoga River STBG
LOCAL

C
C

4,118.4
7,400.0

14,232.6 Akron Analyze PM2

33 108865 SUM - Smith Rd (CR 116) - 0.94 1.01 Bath Township
Smith Rd (CR 116) from 900’ West of Corunna to East 
Side of Sand Run Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
300.0

1,018.0 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

34 112735 SUM - Snyder Ave 1.04 Barberton
Snyder Ave from 2nd St SW to 5th St SE

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

612.0
153.0

778.8 Barberton Exempt PM2

35 102904 SUM - W Steels Corners Rd - Phase 1 2.40 Cuyahoga Falls
W Steels Corners Rd from State Rd to Northampton Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

700.0
175.0

890.8 Cuyahoga 
Falls

Exempt PM2

36 112743 SUM - Terex Rd 1.10 Hudson
Terex Rd from Londonairy Blvd to Barlow Rd (West)

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

506.0
126.5

643.9 Hudson Exempt PM2

37 108141 SUM - Valley View Rd 0.45 Northfield Center Township
Valley View Rd from SR 8 to Olde Eight Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

300.0
75.0

381.7 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

38 112797 SUM - Valley View Rd / Olde Eight Rd 
(CR 16) - 16.40

N/A Northfield Center Township
Valley View Rd / Olde Eight Rd Intersection

Intersection Improvements CMAQ
LOCAL
CMAQ
LOCAL

R
R
C
C

32.0
8.0

228.0
57.0

333.2 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

39 108200 SUM - White Pond Dr 1.03 Copley Township
White Pond Dr from Copley Rd to Akron South Corp 
Limit

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

600.0
150.0

763.5 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

40 108498 SUM - Wooster Rd (CR 96) - 0.50 0.92 Norton
Wooster Rd (CR 96) from SR 21 to Taylor Rd (Norton 
Corp Limit)

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

767.2
291.8

1,065.7 Norton Exempt PM2

41 108372 SUM - Wooster Rd N / Norton Rd 1.00 Barberton
Wooster Rd N from Norton Ave to Burt St
Norton Rd from Barber Rd to Wooster Rd N

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

76732
291.8

1,065.7 Barberton Exempt PM2

42 112740 SUM - Wooster Rd W 0.22 Barberton
Wooster Rd W from 31st St SW to Hudson Run Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

231.8
58.0

295.0 Barberton Exempt PM2

43 108240 SUM - Wooster Rd W 2.15 Barberton
Wooster Rd W from Hudson Run Rd to 2nd St NW

Reconstruction and Possible Road Diet STBG
LOCAL

C
C

5,507.8
1,377.0

6,946.7 Barberton Exempt PM2

44 108370 SUM - Wooster Rd / State St 0.38 Barberton
Wooster Rd / State St Intersection

Reconstruction of Concrete Pavement at Intersection STBG
LOCAL

C
C

1,930.6
482.7

2,630.5 Barberton Exempt PM2

45 93501 SUM / MED - IR 76 - 00.00 / 11.43 DB 5.63 Norton and Barberton
IR 76 from Medina County Line to Central Ave

Debt Service on Bonds Issued for Reconstruction Project NHPP
STATE

O
O

7,661.0
1,915.2

7,259.3
1,882.3

7,397.7
1,849.4

7,266.1
1,816.5

89,048.4 ODOT Analyze PM2

46 96670 SUM - IR 76 - 5.53 5.62 Akron and Barberton
IR 76 from Central Ave to 27th St

Debt Service on Bonds Issued for Reconstruction Project NHPP O 1,779.8 2,280.7 2,280.7 2,280.7 37,545.1 ODOT Analyze PM2

47 102329 SUM - IR 76 / IR 77 / SR 8 - 8.42 / 9.77 
/ 0.00

7.09 Akron
IR 76 from Kenmore Leg to Princeton St and East of 
Grant St to School Rd
IR 77 from Waterloo Rd to Lafollette St and Kenmore 
Leg to North of Vernon Odom Blvd
SR 8 from IR 76 / IR 77 to Perkins St

Pavement Replacement and Additional Lane in Each 
Direction

FED
STATE
LOCAL
NHPP
STATE
BONDS
LOCAL

P
P
P
C
C
C
C

4,213.7
533.8

8.0
33,690.6
4,453.9

120,000.0
172.3

165,350.0 ODOT Analyze PM2

48 106002 SUM -IR 77 / IR 277 / US 224 2.73 Akron
IR 77 from Arlington Rd to IR 277 / US 224

Provide 2 Lane Ramps at IR 77 / IR 277 Interchange and 
Additional Lanes on IR 77 from Arlington Rd to US 224

NHPP
STATE
NHPP
STATE

P
P
C
C

668.3
74.3

52,013.5
13,001.5

71,444.5 ODOT Analyze PM2

49 91710 SUM - SR 8 - 1.75 0.02 Akron
SR 8 High Level Bridge over Cuyahoga River Valley

Replace 1 Major Bridge with 2 New Bridges (1 in Each 
Direction)

NHPP
FED

STATE

C
C
C

105,312.0
88.0

26,350.0

146,291.6 ODOT Exempt PM2

50 76721 SUM - SR 8 - 7.60-13.30 5.25 Stow and Hudson
SR 8 from Graham Rd to Just North of SR 303

Debt Service on Bonds Issued for Reconstruction Project NHPP O 4,764.2 4,764.2 4,764.2 4,764.2 67,710.2 ODOT Exempt PM2



11Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-3
Highway Improvements

M
A

P 
#

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

51 93433 SUM - SR 91 / SR 18 - 1.75 (Canton Rd / 
E Market St)

0.01 Akron
SR 91 (Canton Rd) at the Intersection with SR 18 (E 
Market St)

Intersection Realignment, New Roundabout CMAQ
HSIP

LOCAL

C
C
C

788.3
2,000.0

433.9

4,300.5 Akron Exempt PM1
PM3

52 107814 SUM - SR 91 - 9.96 (Sidewalks) 1.91 Stow
SR 91 from 500’ S of Conwill Rd to Veterans Way

New Sidewalks TASA
LOCAL

C
C

516.0
129.0

885.9 Stow Exempt PM1
PM3

53 106445 SUM - SR 91 - 13.45 1.14 Hudson
SR 91 from Barlow Rd to Veterans Way

Add Two-Way Left Turn Lane, Bike Lanes and Sidewalk 
Improvements

HSIP
LOCAL

HSIP
LOCAL

HSIP
CMAQ
LOCAL

P
P
R
R
C
C
C

63.4
7.0

210.0
23.2

493.0
2,500.0

754.8

5,062.9 Hudson Exempt PM1
PM3

54 103173 SUM - SR 241 / Boettler Rd / Franks Pkwy 0.14 Green
SR 241 at Boettler Rd / Franks Pkwy Intersection

Replace Signalized Intersection with Hybrid Roundabout CMAQ
LOCAL
CMAQ
LOCAL

R
R
C
C

445.5
297.0

2,827.7
1,305.3

4,986.3 Green Exempt PM1
PM3

55 103172 SUM - SR 241 / Corporate Woods Cir - 
Phase 2

0.14 Green
SR 241 at Corporate Woods Cir / Thorn Dr Intersection

Replace Signalized Intersection with Hybrid Roundabout CMAQ
LOCAL
CMAQ
LOCAL

R
R
C
C

1,398.3
349.6

2,606.2
651.5

5,103.4 Green Exempt PM1
PM3

56 112549 WAY - CR 57 - 2.62 (S Main St) 1.18 Rittman
S Main St from South Corp Line to Front St

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs STBG
LOCAL

C
C

336.6
84.1

420.7 Rittman Exempt PM2

57 112543 WAY - CR 57 - 3.91 (E Ohio Ave) 1.01 Rittman
E Ohio Ave from Main St to E Sunset Dr

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs STBG
LOCAL

C
C

459.7
114.9

574.6 Rittman Exempt PM2



12Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

N

43210
Miles

Transportation Alternative Project

Preservation Project

Operational Project

Capacity Expansion Project

52

29

20

19

17

16

4

57

56

50

49

47

44

43
42

41

40

39

37

36

35

34

33

31

30

27

26

25

24
23

22

21

15

14

13

12

6

5

3

2 1

55
54

53

5147
46

38

32

28

18

11

10

9

8

7

48

45

422

224

224

224

224

700

764

619

619

604604

585

585

532

306

305

303
303

303

282

261

261

261

241

241

236

225

225

183

176

162

94

94

93

91

91

88

88

82

82

82

82

5959

59

57

44

44

44

44

43

43

43

43

21

21

18

18

14

14

14

8

8

5

5

480

480

277

271

271

80

80

80

77

77

21

2121

212121

77

77

76

76

76

Map 2-1  |  Highway Improvements



13Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Statewide Line Items
Projects that meet certain criteria are not required to be listed in Table 2-3 of the 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) but still need to be recognized in the 
TIP.  They may be grouped together by work type and/or geographic location and 
listed as statewide line items (SLI’s).  Table 2-4 is the current list and descriptions of 
the SLI’s that are included in the 2021-2024 TIP.  These projects all utilize federal 
funds but are not funded directly through AMATS funding sources.

The Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) provided the list of line item 
projects that need to be included in the 2021-2024 TIP.  In most cases they are the 
project sponsor.  This list provides important information to our transportation partners 
and well as the general public about projects scheduled during the TIP period.  The use 
of statewide line items will significantly decrease the need for TIP amendments and 
provide more flexibility in the various programs.

When utilizing a statewide line item, the criteria below should be followed and met.

• Projects considered for a statewide line item must meet the following criteria:
 º Not regionally significant
 º Air quality status of exempt
 º Environmental document type of CE 2 or below
 º Non-capacity adding
 º Consistent with ODOT’s and AMATS transportation plans

• An individual project utilizing a statewide line item does not require an 
amendment.  However when a category of projects reaches a defined threshold 
then an amendment is required for that category.  

• When requesting the use of a statewide line item on a phase of a project, 
the ODOT District is to coordinate the request with the Program Manager, 
AMATS, and the STIP Coordinator. Ellis will be updated by the STIP 
Coordinator.

Table 2-4
Highway Improvements (Statewide Line Items)

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

105550 POR - Silica Sand Rd (CR 253) Bridge 0.01 Portage County
Silica Sand Rd Bridge over Eagle Creek

Bridge Replacement FED
LOCAL

C
C

935.8
49.3

1,029.2 Portage Coun-
ty Engineer

Exempt PM2

109347 POR - N Water St (CR 502) - 0.18 0.29 Kent
N Water St (CR 502) from Main St to Fairchild Ave

Resurfacing, Curb Extensions, Reconfigure On-Street 
Parking and Lighting

HSIP
LOCAL

C
C

1,248.5
249.4

1,709.9 Kent Exempt PM1

101077 POR - IR 76 - 0.00-1.57 1.57 Brimfield Township
IR 76 from Summit County Line to East of Tallmadge 
Rd

Concrete Pavement Repair NHPP
LOCAL

C
C

327.6
36.4

371.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

94009 POR - IR 76 - 1.57-9.53 7.96 Brimfield Township and Rootstown Township
IR 76 from Tallmadge Rd to New Milford Rd

Resurfacing and Repairs to 14 Bridges NHPP
STATE

C
C

7,862.9
873.7

8,906.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

112778 POR - IR 76 - 9.73-13.55 3.82 Rootstown Township and Edinburg Township
IR 76 from New Milford Rd to West of Rock Spring Rd

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Rehab NHPP
STATE

C
C

1,804.6
200.5

2,035.1 ODOT Exempt PM2

102858 POR - IR 76 - 16.58 / 21.18 0.02 Palmyra Township
IR 76 Bridges over John Thomas Rd and Mahoning Rd

Bridge Deck Replacement NHPP
STATE

C
C

2,407.5
267.5

3,375.2 ODOT Exempt PM2

105144 POR - IR 76 - 19.34-21.20 1.86 Palmyra Township
IR 76 from Mahoning Rd to McClintocksburg Rd

Resurfacing and Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE

C
C

2,273.6
252.6

2,576.2 ODOT Exempt PM2

109670 POR - IR 76 - 20.05 Slide 0.23 Palmyra Township
IR 76 between McClintocksburg Rd and Jones Rd

Repair Slide Along IR 76 NHPP
STATE

C
C

1,155.6
128.4

1,464.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

112776 POR - IR 480 - 0.00 1.45 Portage County Minor Bridge Rehab on 3 Bridges NHPP
STATE

C
C

2,264.9
251.7

2,561.6 ODOT Exempt PM2

105860 POR - SR 14 - 12.96 0.01 Ravenna Township
SR 14 Bridge over SR 5 / SR 44

Bridge Deck Replacement NHPP
STATE

C
C

2,208.8
552.2

3,440.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

110672 POR - SR 14 - 18.20-25.34
POR - SR 183 - 3.00-7.61
POR - SR 225 - 0.00-2.53

14.28 Edinburg Township, Deerfield Township and Atwater 
Township
SR 14 from Rok Spring Rd to US 224
SR 183 from US 224 to SR 14
SR 225 from German Church Rd to US 224

Resurfacing FED
STATE

C
C

2,893.4
723.4

3,676.8 ODOT Exempt PM2

112808 POR - SR 43 - 7.51-9.89 2.38 Brimfield Township
SR 43 from South of Tallmadge Rd to Kent Corp Limit

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Rehab NHPP
STATE

624.0
156.0

802.5 ODOT Exempt PM2



14Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-4
Highway Improvements (Statewide Line Items)

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

98377 POR - SR 43 / SR 43D - 11.78-12.19 / 
12.28-13.21
POR - SR 43D - 0.00-0.35

0.76 Kent
SR 43 from South of Main St to Mantua St
SR 43 from Cuyahoga St to Kent North Corp Limit
SR 43D from SR 43 to Main St and Bridge over CSX 
Railroad

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C

820.5
51.1

154.0

1,073.9 ODOT Exempt PM2

101270 POR - SR 43 - 12.28-13.21 0.93 Kent
SR 43 from Cuyahoga St to Kent North Corp Limit

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C

742.6
80.5

105.2

971.8 ODOT Exempt PM2

96555 POR - SR 44 - 0.00-7.71
POR - SR 44 - 7.91-8.37

8.17 Randolph Township
SR 44 from Stark County Line to Tallmadge Rd
SR 44 from North of Tallmadge Rd to SR 5

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs FED
STATE

C
C

2,800
700.0

3,589.8 ODOT Exempt PM2

102394 POR - SR 44 - 16.48-19.18 2.70 Shalersville Township
SR 44 from North of Lake Rockwell Rd to North of 
SR 303

Resurfacing FED
STATE

C
C

865.2
216.3

1,102.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

111007 POR - SR 82 - 6.14 0.25 Twinsburg
SR 82 and Chamberlain Rd Intersection

Construct One Lane Roundabout at SR 82 and Cham-
berlain Rd

STATE
STATE
HSIP

STATE

P
R
C
C

13.5
173.8

2,118.6
235.4

3,054.0 ODOT Exempt PM1

110673 POR - SR 82 - 12.86-13.80
POR - SR 305 - 3.00-5.65

3.59 Hiram Township and Nelson Township
SR 82 from Ryder Rd to East of SR 700
SR 305 from West of Brosius Rd to SR 282

Resurfacing FED
STATE

C
C

1,254.4
313.6

1,589.1 ODOT Exempt PM2

105211 POR - SR 88 - 4.03-7.95
POR - SR 303 - 13.04-13.21

4.09 Ravenna Township and Freedom Township
SR 88 from Cooley Rd to SR 303
SR 303 from SR 700 to SR 88 (East Junction)

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs FED
STATE

C
C

1,242.2
310.5

1,607.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

110676 POR - SR 305 - 5.65-7.36
TRU - SR 305 - 0.00-1.57
TRU - SR 534 - 10.37-12.48

5.39 Nelson Township and Various Locations in Trumbull 
County
SR 305 from SR 282 to Trumbull County Line

Resurfacing FED
STATE

C
C

947.6
236.9

1,204.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111661 SUM - Amazon 1.50 Akron
Romig Rd from Vernon Odom Blvd to Kendale Rd

Full Depth Replacement and Widening of 7900’ of 
Roadway

STATE
LOCAL

C
C

200.0
14,291.9

14,491.9 Akron Exempt PM2
PM3

110491 SUM - Bailey Rd / CSX 1.66 Cuyahoga Falls
Bailey Rd at CSX Railroad Crossing

Modify / Upgrade Flashing Lights and Roadway Gates at 
CSX Railroad Crossing #142005B

FED P 10 313.0 Ohio Rail 
Development 
Commission

Exempt PM1

112085 SUM - Benner Rd (TR 236) - 0.01 0.01 New Franklin Replace Bridge FED
LOCAL

C
C

865.5
45.6

943.9 New Franklin Exempt PM2

107274 SUM - Boston Mills Rd - Phase 2 0.91 Boston Township
Boston Mills Rd from Blue Hen Falls Driveway to 1200’ 
West of Riverview Rd

Resurfacing FED
LOCAL

C
C

286.0
263.5

569.4 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt PM2

112869 SUM - East Ave 2.20 Tallmadge
East Ave from Community Rd to Portage County Line

Widen Roadway HSIP
STATE

P
P

511.3
56.8

2,552.6 Tallmadge Exempt PM1

111728 SUM - Graham Rd (CR 29) - 5.72 0.02 Stow
Graham Rd (CR 29) and Fishcreek Rd Intersection

Intersection Improvements HSIP
LOCAL

HSIP
LOCAL

HSIP
LOCAL

P
P
R
R
C
C

47.8
5.3

45.0
5.0

791.0
176.4

1,135.3 Stow Exempt PM1
PM3

112467 SUM - Goodyear Blvd Bridge 0.01 Akron
Goodyear Blvd Bridge over Wheeling & Lake Erie 
Railroad

Bridge Replacement FED
LOCAL

C
C

2,000.0
1,200.0

3,315.2 Akron Exempt PM2

107018 SUM - Ingleside Dr Bridge 0.01 Hudson
Ingleside Dr Bridge over Brandywine Creek

Bridge Replacement FED
LOCAL

C
C

977.4
286.6

1,290.9 Hudson Exempt PM2

101636 SUM - Valley View Detention Pond N/A Hudson
Valley View Rd approximately 1300’ West of SR 91

Construct 2-3 Acre Detention Pond on North Side of 
IR 80

STATE
LOCAL

C
C

284.0
25.0

320.4 Hudson Exempt PM2



15Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-4
Highway Improvements (Statewide Line Items)

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

106539 SUM - Wooster Rd / Robinson Ave 0.03 Barberton
Wooster Rd W from Robinson Ave to 2nd St

Eliminate Westbound Outside Lane, Improve Intersec-
tion and Signal Coordination

HSIP
LOCAL

HSIP
STATE
LOCAL

P
P
C
C
C

48.0
5.3

793.0
150.0
88.1

1,247.0 Barberton Exempt PM1
PM3

111218 SUM - IR 76 - 6.40-6.57 0.17 Akron
IR 76 from Kenmore Southbound Ramp to IR 277 
Eastbound

Resurfacing NHPP
STATE

C
C

360.0
40.0

525.7 ODOT Exempt PM2

88937 SUM - IR 77 - 15.87-19.51 3.64 Akron
IR 77 from Vernon Odom Blvd to Akron West Corp 
Line

Resurfacing and Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE

C
C

5,414.6
601.6

6,129.4 ODOT Exempt PM2

105861 SUM - IR 77 - 22.30 0.02 Copley Township
IR 77 Bridges over SR 21

Bridge Replacement NHPP
STATE
NHPP
STATE

P
P
C
C

54.0
6.0

7,992.9
888.1

9,759.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

88939 SUM - IR 77 - 24.20-28.38 4.17 Bath Township
IR 77 from Cleveland Massillon Rd to Everett Rd 
Overpass

Resurfacing and Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE

C
C

5,178.5
575.4

5,863.9 ODOT Exempt PM2

109076 SUM - IR 77 - 31.97 0.01 Richfield Township
IR 77 at Furnace Run Structures

Stream Erosion Protection NHPP
STATE

C
C

495.0
55.0

550.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106885 SUM - IR 271 - 1.51 0.01 Richfield Township
IR 271 over Southern Rd

Bridge Replacement NHPP
STATE
NHPP
STATE

P
P
C
C

33.9
3.8

1,540.8
171.2

2,102.4 ODOT Exempt PM2

111417 SUM - IR 271 - 8.25 0.02 Boston Township
Replace Bridges over Boston Mills Rd

Bridge Replacement NHPP
STATE
NHPP
STATE

E
E
P
P

585.0
65.0

90.0
10.0

3,750.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

93101 SUM - IR 271 - 8.54-12.63 4.09 Boston Township and Northfield Center Township
IR 271 from Boston Mills Rd Underpass to Aurora Rd

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE

C
C

5,941.8
610.2

6,158.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

94016 SUM - IR 277 - 0.00-3.91
SUM - US 224 - 10.22

5.54 Akron
IR 277 / US 224 from IR 76 (Kenmore Leg) to IR 77
US 224 from Arlington St to George Washington Blvd

Resurfacing, Minor Bridge Repairs and Culvert Repairs NHPP
STATE

C
C

6,385.0
765.2

7,318.2 ODOT Exempt PM2

110698 SUM - IR 480 - 0.00-8.67
SUM - SR 91 - 19.07-19.33

8.93 Macedonia, Twinsburg, Twinsburg Township and Hudson
IR 480 from Cuyahoga County Line to Portage County 
Line
SR 91 from South of IR 480 to North of IR 480

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Rehab NHPP
STATE

C
C

8,629.7
958.9

9,746.1 ODOT Exempt PM2

110644 SUM - SR 18 - 0.00-2.64 2.64 Bath Township, Copley Township and Fairlawn
SR 18 from Medina County Line to West of Fairlawn 
Corp Limit

Resurfacing NHPP
STATE

C
C

1,112.4
278.1

1,417.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

101264 SUM - SR 18 - 4.91-6.56
SUM - SR 18 - 8.15-9.70

3.20 Akron
SR 18 from Revere Rd to Westgate Cir
SR 18 from East of Casterton Ave to SR 59

Resurfacing NHPP
LOCAL

C
C

1,308.8
327.2

1,666.3 ODOT Exempt PM2

102744 SUM - SR 18 - 9.88-13.41 3.53 Akron
SR 18 (E Market St) from Main St to IR 76

Resurfacing and Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C

1,990.6
64.0

433.7

2,576.8 ODOT Exempt PM2

112793 SUM - SR 21 - 5.14-7.41 2.27 Copley Township
SR 21 from Norton Corp Limit to South of Wheeling 
and Lake Erie Railroad

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Rehab on 3 Bridges NHPP
LOCAL

C
C

1,648.0
412.0

2,100.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

110743 SUM - SR 59 - 7.83-12.67 1.57 Cuyahoga Falls, Silver Lake and Stow
SR 59 from South of Front St to Portage County Line

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Rehab NHPP
STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C

2,152.1
40.8

497.2

2,714.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

102745 SUM - SR 91 - 8.01-11.86 3.85 Munroe Falls and Stow
SR 91 (Darrow Rd) from South of N River Rd to South 
of Mac Dr

Resurfacing and Minor Bridge Repairs NHPP
STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C

1,651.2
21.4

391.4

2,124.0 ODOT Exempt PM2



16Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-4
Highway Improvements (Statewide Line Items)

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

106136 SUM - SR 91 - 14.54 0.01 Hudson
SR 91 Bridge over Brandywine Creek

Bridge Replacement NHPP
STATE
NHPP
STATE
LOCAL

P
P
C
C
C

32.1
8.0

452.0
113.0
200.0

1,210.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

102742 SUM - SR 93 - 9.10-11.40
SUM - SR 162 - 7.26-8.05
SUM - SR 162 - 8.56-8.83

1.78 Akron
SR 93 from Wilbeth Rd to Vernon Odom Blvd
SR 162 from West of Storer Ave to East of Diagonal Rd
SR 162 from Crestwood Ave to East of Oviatt Pl

Resurfacing FED
LOCAL

C
C

1,318.4
329.6

1,714.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

110668 SUM - SR 176 - 0.25-5.59
SUM - SR 303 - 0.00-5.49

10.83 Richfield and Richfield Township
SR 176 from Wheatly Rd to Luther Rd
SR 303 from Medina County Line to Peninsula Corp 
Limit

Resurfacing FED
STATE

C
C

1,871.2
447.7

2,371.4 ODOT Exempt PM2

102737 SUM - SR 241 - 7.78-10.32
SUM - SR 764 - 2.20-3.00
SUM - SR 764 - 3.86-4.16

3.64 Akron
SR 241 from Toombs Dr to Glaser Pa
SR 764 from Allendale Ave to East of Triplett Blvd and 
West of Landon St to SR 241

Resurfacing NHPP
FED

STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C
C

1,236.0
451.2

8.3
413.5

2,178.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111012 SUM - SR 261 - 8.19-8.24 0.05 Akron
SR 261 / Rand Ave and SR 261 / Dart Ave

Signal Upgrade / Replacement and New Pedestrian 
Buttons / Signals

HSIP
STATE

C
C

990.0
164.3

1,360.4 Akron Exempt PM2

106881 WAY - CR 133 (Black Diamond Rd) - 2.10 0.01 Chippewa Township
CR 133 (Black Diamond Rd) 0.125 Miles North of 
Bieri Rd

Bridge Replacement FED
LOCAL

FED
LOCAL

P
P
C
C

82.6
4.3

908.3
47.8

1,046.0 Wayne County 
Engineer

Exempt PM2

101439 WAY - SR 21 - 0.00 5.86 Chippewa Township
SR 21 from Stark County Line to Summit County Line

Major Roadway Rehabilitation NHPP
STATE

C
C

20,861.5
5,215.4

26,374.8 ODOT Exempt PM2

110923 WAY - SR 21 - 1.86 N/A Chippewa Township
SR 21 North of Galehouse Rd

Culvert Lining STATE C 220.0 258.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

95581 WAY - SR 94 - 16.73 0.01 Chippewa Township
SR 94 approximately 1200’ South of Warwick Rd

Bridge Replacement STATE
FED

STATE

R
C
C

80.0
640.0
160.0

1,157.1 ODOT Exempt PM2

110282 WAY - SR 94 - 18.76 N/A Chippewa Township Jack & Bore Culvert Replacement (Moved from PID# 
101449)

FED
STATE

C
C

132.0
33.0

277.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

101380 D04 BH FY2021 (West) N/A Summit County Deck Sealing of 39 Structures in Summit County NHPP
FED

STATE

C
C
C

1,819.0
428.0
428.0

2,725.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

103024 D04 BH FY2022 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Bridge Maintenance of Structures in Portage, Stark and 
Summit Counties

FED
STATE

C
C

4,494.0
856.0

5,450.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

105170 D04 BH FY2023 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Bridge Maintenance of Structures in Portage, Stark and 
Summit Counties

FED
STATE

C
C

856.0
214.0

1,170.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

107247 D04 BH FY2024 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Bridge Maintenance of Structures in Portage, Stark and 
Summit Counties

FED
STATE

C
C

3,880.0
970.0

4,910.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

107249 D04 BP FY2024 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Bridge Painting NHPP
FED

STATE

C
C
C

2,011.6
85.6

256.8

2,414.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111632 D04 CS FY2021 (West) N/A Districtwide Crack Sealing STATE C 1,030.0 1050.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111633 D04 FEN FY2021 (West) N/A Districtwide Fence Installation and Repair STATE C 192.5 195.3 ODOT Exempt PM2

111617 D04 GR FY2021 (West) N/A Districtwide Guardrail Maintenance and Repair STATE C 1,236.0 1,260.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

103432 D04 GR FY2021 (Systematic) N/A Districtwide Systematic Guardrail Maintenance and Repair STATE C 770.0 780.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

103433 D04 GR FY2022 (Systematic) N/A Districtwide Systematic Guardrail Maintenance and Repair STATE C 770.0 780.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106278 D04 GR FY2023 (Systematic) N/A Districtwide Systematic Guardrail Maintenance and Repair STATE C 770.0 780.0 ODOT Exempt PM2



17Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 2 - Highway Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 2-4
Highway Improvements (Statewide Line Items)

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS T
PM

107764 D04 GR FY2024 (Systematic) N/A Districtwide Systematic Guardrail Maintenance and Repair STATE C 770.0 780.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106204 D04 LG FY2022 N/A Summit and Stark Counties
SUM IR 271 Rest Area
STA US 30 / Raff Rd / Whipple Ave

Lighting Improvements STATE C 1,070.0 1,090.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111629 D04 LOOP FY2022 N/A Districtwide Loop Maintenance and Repair STATE C 165.0 168.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111624 D04 PM FY2021 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Pavement Markings STATE C 1,280.0 1,300.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106294 D04 PM FY2022 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Pavement Markings STATE C 1,030.0 1,050.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106295 D04 PM FY2023 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Pavement Markings STATE C 1,030.0 1,050.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

109830 D04 PM FY2024 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Pavement Markings STATE C 1,030.0 1,050.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106302 D04 PM FY2022 (WO) N/A Districtwide Pavement Markings Work Order STATE C 520.0 530.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106303 D04 PM FY2023 (WO) N/A Districtwide Pavement Markings Work Order STATE C 520.0 530.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

109832 D04 PM FY2024 (WO) N/A Districtwide Pavement Markings Work Order STATE C 520.0 530.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106306 D04 RPM FY2021 N/A Districtwide Install Raised Pavement Markers STATE C 171.6 175.6 ODOT Exempt PM2

106307 D04 RPM FY2022 N/A Districtwide Install Raised Pavement Markers STATE C 220.0 224.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

106308 D04 RPM FY2023 N/A Districtwide Install Raised Pavement Markers STATE C 220.0 224.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

109828 D04 RPM FY2021 N/A Districtwide Install Raised Pavement Markers STATE C 220.0 224.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

110489 D04 SIGN FY2023 (Systematic) N/A Districtwide Sign Upgrades STATE C 935.0 941.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111620 D04 SP FY2021 (West) N/A Portage, Stark and Summit Counties Pavement Preventative Maintenance STATE D 780.0 795.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

111645 D04 TSG FY2021 N/A Districtwide Replacement of Signals FED
STATE

C
C

218.0
54.5

328.7 ODOT Exempt PM2

112697 FACD04 POR IR 76 RA PARKING 
LOTS

N/A Districtwide Rest Area Parking Lots Eastbound and Westbound STATE C 4,280.0 4,680.0 ODOT Exempt PM2

105059 MAH / POR MCRO FY2023 N/A Mahoning and Portage Counties
MAH SR 45 - 11.77-14.15
POR SR 88 - 11.13-12.00
POR SR 88 - 12.63-13.70

Microsurfacing of Various Roadways FED
STATE

C
C

332.8
83.2

450.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

103275 MAH / POR SIGN FY2024 (Systematic) N/A Various Locations in Mahoning and Portage Counties Sysematic 2-Lane Sign Replacements STATE C 925.0 1,112.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

108828 POR / STA CULVERT FY2021 N/A Portage and Stark Counties Culvert Repair and Replacements STATE C 990.0 1,296.1 ODOT Exempt PM2

105120 POR / SUM MCRO FY2022 7.55 Mantua Township, Macedonia and Northfield
POR SR 82
POR SR 183
SUM SR 8

Microsurfacing of Various Roadways FED
STATE

C
C

1,071.2
267.8

1,406.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

96560 POR / TRU MCRO FY2021 15.12 Various Locations
POR SR 44 - 19.18-22.14 / 24.19-26.76
POR SR 82 13.80-17.89
POR SR 225 10.26-15.76

Microsurfacing FED
NHPP
STATE

C
C
C

1,648.0
988.8
659.2

3,338.5 ODOT Exempt PM2

112261 POR - PAVEMENT MARKINGS 
FY2021

N/A Various Locations in Portage County Pavement Markings FED
LOCAL

C
C

150.0
6.0

158.7 Portage Coun-
ty Engineer

Exempt PM2

103277 STA / SUM - SIGNS FY2021 (Systematic) N/A Stark and Summit Counties Systematic 2-Lane Sign Replacements STATE C 1,100.0 1,350.0 ODOT Exempt PM2



18Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Transit Improvements
The transit portion of the AMATS TIP FY 2021-2024 includes projects programmed 
for the area’s transit operators, earmark projects administered through the Federal 
Transit Administration, and for projects associated with the coordination of public 
transit and human service agencies utilizing the Specialized Transportation (Enhanced 
Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled) Program.  These projects use available federal, 
state, and local funds to subsidize expenditures for capital items, maintenance, planning, 
and operations.  This chapter is organized by the following sections:

Table 3-1 (FY 2018)
Transit Projects Activity

Project Description PID #

Total 
Project 

Cost

Federal Transit Funding Grant / 
Project 
StatusAmount Source

METRO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Capital
     Local Capital Projects - Various 99094 $8,500,000 $0 N/A N/A
     10 Small Buses 99090 $950,000 $760,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     6 Large Buses 99089 $3,090,000 $2,472,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     2 Large Buses 99089 $1,030,000 $824,000 Sec. 5339 Awarded
     6 Large Buses 94960 $2,700,000 $2,160,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     2 Large Buses 94960 $900,000 $720,000 Sec. 5339 Awarded
     Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled 104055 $1,162,893 $930,314 Sec. 5310 Awarded
     12 Small CNG Buses 94962 $1,260,000 $1,008,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     Support Equipment - Shelters, Benches 94967 $81,250 $65,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     Support Equipment - Shelters, Benches 99092 $81,250 $65,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded

$19,755,393 $9,004,314
Operating-Related
     Preventive Maintenance 94966 $765,120 $612,096 STP-S (UTP) Awarded
     Preventive Maintenance 94966 $2,500,000 $2,000,000 STP-S (OTPPP) Awarded
     Preventive Maintenance 94966 $3,828,630 $3,000,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     Preventive Maintenance 99091 $5,443,750 $3,680,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded

$12,537,500 $9,292,096
Planning
     Operational Planning 99095 $740,000 $0 N/A N/A

$740,000 $0

2018 METRO TOTALS $33,032,893 $18,296,410
PORTAGE AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Capital
     Tranit Enhancements - Pedestrian Access 99294 $41,250 $33,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     2 Large CNG Buses 102310 $1,037,500 $830,000 CMAQ-S (DERG) Awarded
     2 Large Buses 99823 $1,000,000 $800,000 CMAQ-S Awarded
     CNG Fueling Pump 106860 $89,274 $89,274 CMAQ-S (OTPPP) Awarded

$2,168,024 $1,752,274
Operating-Related
     Preventive Maintenance 99295 $1,040,218 $800,000 STP-S (OTPPP) Awarded

$1,040,218 $800,000
Planning
     Operational Planning 99310 $75,000 $0 N/A N/A

$75,000 $0

2018 PARTA TOTALS $3,283,242 $2,552,274

TOTAL PROJECT COST $36,316,135 $20,848,684

Summary of FY 2018-2020 Transit Project Activity
The following tables, labeled as 3-1, provide status reports for the transit projects that 
were programmed for the fiscal years 2018, 2019 and 2020 of the TIP.  Most of these 
projects were sponsored by METRO RTA and PARTA, and utilized funding from 
the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5307 Urbanized Area Formula 
Program for the purchase of replacement buses and the capitalized costs of preventive 
maintenance.  

In addition, METRO and PARTA are supplementing their purchase of replacement 
buses with funds from the Congestion Mitigation Air Quality Program.  Furthermore, 
ODOT has awarded funds to METRO and PARTA from the state’s share of Surface 
Transportation Block Program funds, administered through the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA).  Recent awards to the area’s transit agencies have also 
included funds through the Ohio Transit Partnership Program (OTP2).  Presently, 
ODOT is utilizing state general revenue funds (GRF) to finance OTP2 projects.   

Also shown in the tables are the projects that were awarded through the Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5339 Bus and Bus Facilities Program.  This 
program is redundant to the Section 5307 Program and provides capital funding to 
replace, rehabilitate and purchase buses and related equipment, as well as to construct 
bus-related facilities. 



19Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 3-1 (FY 2019)
Transit Projects Activity

Project Description PID #

Total 
Project 

Cost

Federal Transit Funding Grant / 
Project 
StatusAmount Source

METRO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Capital
     Local Capital Projects - Rail Repairs, Building Renovation 99101 $6,500,000 $0 N/A N/A

     32 Small Buses 99097 $3,450,000 $2,760,000 Sec. 5307, CMAQ-S 
(TPPP) Awarded

     2 Large Buses 99096 $1,030,000 $824,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded
     1 Large Bus 99096 $515,000 $412,000 Sec. 5339 Awarded
     3 Small Buses 108907 $341,162 $272,930 Sec. 5339 Awarded
     4 Large Buses 99826 $2,750,000 $2,200,000 CMAQ-S/A Awarded
     Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled 108908 $1,080,066 $862,964 Sec. 5310 Awarded
     Support Equipment - Shelters, Benches 99099 $81,250 $65,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded

$15,747,478 $7,638,893
Operating-Related
     Preventive Maintenance 99098 $798,616 $638,893 STBG-S (UTP) Awarded
     Preventive Maintenance 99098 $5,000,000 $4,000,000 Sec. 5307 Awarded

$5,798,616 $4,638,893
Planning
     Operational Planning 99102 $775,000 $0 N/A N/A

$775,000 $0

2019 METRO TOTALS $22,321,094 $12,035,787

PORTAGE AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Capital
     Bus Storage Facility - CNG 104386 $3,994,344 $3,195,475 Sec. 5307, Sec. 5339-b Awarded
     2 Large Buses 99825 $1,000,000 $800,000 CMAQ-S/A Awarded
     5 Small Buses 99311 $413,000 $413,000 CMAQ-S (OTPPP) Awarded
     Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled 108909 $293,902 $235,122 Sec. 5310 Awarded
     On-Board Computers, NEORIDE Coordination 109552 $265,053 $212,050 STBG-S (OTPPP) Awarded
     Security Cameras and Networking Equipment 109590 $50,000 $50,000 STBG-S (OTPPP) Awarded

$6,016,299 $4,905,647
Operating-Related
     Preventive Maintenance 99312 $1,243,703 $1,000,000 STBG-S (OTPPP) Awarded

$1,243,703 $1,000,000
Planning
     Operational Planning 99314 $75,000 $0 N/A N/A

$75,000 $0

2019 PARTA TOTALS $7,335,002 $5,905,647

TOTAL PROJECT COST $29,656,096 $17,941,434

Table 3-1 (FY 2020)
Transit Projects Activity

Project Description PID #

Total 
Project 

Cost

Federal Transit Funding
State 

Funding

Grant / 
Project 
StatusAmount Source

METRO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Capital
     Local Capital Projects - Rail Repairs, Building 
Renovation 104359 $6,000,000 $0 N/A $0 N/A

     10 Small Buses 104355 $950,000 $760,000 Sec. 5307 $0 Awarded
     6 Large Buses 104354 $3,090,000 $2,472,000 Sec. 5307 $0 Awarded
     2 Large Buses 104354 $1,040,000 $832,000 Sec. 5339 $0 Awarded
     2 Large Buses 109358 $1,048,963 $734,274 CMAQ-S (DERG) $0 Awarded
     2 Non-Revenue Support Vehicles 111275 $140,000 $98,000 Sec. 5307 $42,000 Awarded
     Support Equipment - Shelters, Benches, Signs 104358 $81,250 $65,000 Sec. 5307 $0 Awarded
     Cameras / Surveillance Equipment 111275 $1,200,000 $410,000 Sec. 5307 $790,000 Awarded
     Admin Building & Transit Center - Maintenance 
& Rehab 111276 $303,000 $212,100 Sec. 5307 $0 Awarded

     Gent Rd Park and Ride Lot - Rehab 111276 $30,000 $21,000 Sec. 5307 $0 Awarded
     Radio Equipment Acquisition 111275 $800,000 $280,000 Sec. 5307 $520,000 Awarded
     IT Hardware Acquisition 111275 $210,000 $0 N/A $210,000 Awarded
     Hybrid Bus Mid-Life Rehab 111277 $240,000 $168,000 Sec. 5307 $0 Awarded
     Bus Shelters - Design, Acquisition, Construction 111279 $500,000 $150,000 Sec. 5307 $350,000 Awarded
     NEORide Fare Validation Equipment 111499 $847,855 $0 N/A $847,855 Awarded
     Downtown Transit Center Rehab - Siding 112804 $197,500 $158,000 Sec. 5339 $0 Awarded

$16,678,568 $6,360,374 $2,759,855
Operating-Related
     Preventive Maintenance 104357 $5,443,750 $3,680,000 Sec. 5307 $675,000 Awarded

$5,443,750 $3,680,000 $675,000
Planning
     Strategic Plan, Bus Rapid Transit Feasibility Study 111278 $1,340,000 $938,000 Sec. 5307 $240,000 Awarded
     Operational Planning 99095 $740,000 $0 N/A $0 N/A

$2,140,000 $938,000 $240,000

2020 METRO TOTALS $24,262,318 $10,978,374 $3,674,855
PORTAGE AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Capital
     6 Small Buses 104391 $41,250 $33,000 Sec. 5307 $33,000 Awarded
     2 Large Buses 112319
     1 Large Bus 109540
     1 Large Bus 112479
     2 Non-Revenue Support Vehicles 111292 $1,037,500 $830,000 CMAQ-S (DERG) $830,000 Awarded
     Maintenance KCG Parking Deck 111292
     Shop Maintenance Equipment 111292
     Transit Enhancements - Pedestrian Access 104392
     NEORide Fare Validation Equipment 111499 $89,274 $89,274 CMAQ-S (OTPPP) $89,274 Awarded

$2,168,024 $1,752,274 $1,752,274
Operating-Related
     Preventive Maintenance 104390 $1,040,218 $800,000 STP-S (OTPPP) $800,000 Awarded

$1,040,218 $800,000 $800,000
Planning
     Operational Planning 104388 $75,000 $0 N/A $0 N/A

$75,000 $0 $0

2020 PARTA TOTALS $3,283,242 $2,552,274 $2,552,274

TOTAL PROJECT COST $36,316,135 $20,848,684 $20,848,684



20Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

FY 2021-2024 Transit Improvements
Project Priorities

As the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for the area, AMATS is responsible 
for programming public transportation projects for the two transit providers, METRO 
and PARTA.   METRO and PARTA submit projects to AMATS for programming 
in the TIP.  These projects are drawn from the AMATS Regional Transportation 
Plan.  The submissions from METRO and PARTA are evaluated and prioritized as 
described in the AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines.  Priorities are based on AMATS 
Regional Goals and Objectives.  The projects are then programmed by year in the TIP 
based on the evaluations, timing of the projects, and the availability of funding.  Most 
transit projects submitted to AMATS request funding through the FTA Section 5307 
Urbanized Area Formula Program.  The Akron Urbanized Area receives an annual 
apportionment from this program.  In addition, METRO and PARTA receive, by 
agreement, a portion of the Cleveland Urbanized Area’s Section 5307 funds for the 
northern part of their service area in each of their respective counties.  The bulk of 
Section 5307 funds that METRO and PARTA utilize are derived from the Akron 
Urbanized Area’s apportionment.  

Medina County Public Transit (MCPT) receives a small portion of Section 5307 
funds for serving portions of the Wadsworth area.  Wadsworth is in Medina County, 
and thus falls under the purview of NOACA, the MPO serving the greater Cleveland 
area.  MCPT projects are programmed in the NOACA TIP.  The fiscal constraint 
analyses for METRO and PARTA contained in this TIP take into consideration the 
urbanized area allocation of federal funds and the incongruous and variable nature 
of urbanized areas and consequent MPO boundaries.  Further discussions of these 
issues are contained in the attached AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines, as well as the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with MCPT (AMATS Resolution 2012-
22; December 13, 2012).  Because of these boundary variations, Greater Cleveland 
RTA (GCRTA) also receives a small portion of Akron Urbanized Area funds.

In addition, the FTA Section 5339 Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program provides 
capital assistance for new and replacement buses and related equipment and facilities.  
Presently, METRO and PARTA are the only transit operators utilizing Section 5339 
funds from the Akron Urbanized Area’s apportionment. 

Programmed Transit Projects for FY 2021-2024

The FY 2021-2024 TIP includes capital, maintenance, planning, and operating 
expenditures for METRO and PARTA.  As discussed above, the primary source 
of federal funding for capital and maintenance projects is the FTA Section 5307 
Program.  Capital projects may also be funded through the FTA Section 5339 Program.  
Operating expenditures are funded mainly through the respective county-wide sales 
taxes and farebox returns. 

Also included in the TIP are funds for the Specialized Transportation (FTA Section 
5310 Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled) Program, formerly administered 
by ODOT.  These funds are awarded on a biennial basis as part of the implementation 
of the area’s Coordinated Public Transit / Human Services Transportation Plan to 
provide transportation services that meet the special needs of elderly persons and 
persons with disabilities.  These funds may be used for capital or operating expenses.  
Project selection is administered by AMATS.

The tables labeled as 3-2 list all of the transit projects that are programmed for 
implementation for the FYs 2021 through 2024.  A summary table follows.  The FY 
TIP 2021-2024 includes $40.6 million in federal funds for capital projects, and $17.9 
million in federal funds for preventive maintenance expenditures.  No Section 5307 
or 5339 funds are programmed for planning activities.  Planning activities for both 
METRO and PARTA are presently being funded through local sources.



21Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 3-2 (METRO Regional Transit Authority)
Transit Improvements

Transit 
System 
Name

FTA 
ALI

Code Project Description PID # Qty
Expansion or 
Replacement

Air 
Quality Type

State 
FY

Federal 
Funding $

Federal
Funding Source

State
Funding $

State
Funding Source

Local
Funding $

Local
Funding Source

Total
Project 
Cost $

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 104367 Exempt Operating 2021 $55,600,000 Dedicated Local Tax $55,600,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 104368 Exempt Planning 2021 $825,000 Operating Revenue $825,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 104364 Exempt Capital 2021 $3,680,000 5307 $675,000 UTP (GRF) $1,088,750 Dedicated Local Tax $5,433,750
METRO 11.42.20 Capital Equipment 112220 Exempt Capital 2021 $1,500,000 OTP2 (GRF) $375,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,875,000
METRO 11.12.04 Small Transit Buses 104363 20 Replacement Exempt Capital 2021 $1,600,000 5307 $400,000 Dedicated Local Tax $2,000,000
METRO 11.12.01 Large Transit Buses 104362 4 Replacement Exempt Capital 2021 $1,800,000 5307 / 5339 $450,000 Dedicated Local Tax $2,250,000
METRO 11.92.02 Bus Shelters, Bus Stops 104365 Exempt Capital 2021 $160,000 5307 $40,000 Dedicated Local Tax $200,000
METRO 11.44.03 Capital Projects - Building Rehab 104366 Exempt Capital 2021 $500,000 5307 $4,500,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,000,000

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 104367 Exempt Operating 2022 $55,600,000 Dedicated Local Tax $55,600,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 104368 Exempt Planning 2022 $825,000 Operating Revenue $825,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 104364 Exempt Capital 2022 $3,680,000 5307 $675,000 UTP (GRF) $1,088,750 Dedicated Local Tax $5,433,750
METRO 11.42.20 Capital Equipment 112220 Exempt Capital 2022 $1,500,000 OTP2 (GRF) $375,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,875,000
METRO 11.12.04 Small Transit Buses 104363 20 Replacement Exempt Capital 2022 $1,600,000 5307 $400,000 Dedicated Local Tax $2,000,000
METRO 11.12.01 Large Transit Buses 104362 11 Replacement Exempt Capital 2022 $4,900,000 5307 / 5339 $1,200,000 Dedicated Local Tax $6,100,000
METRO 11.92.02 Bus Shelters, Bus Stops 104365 Exempt Capital 2022 $160,000 5307 $40,000 Dedicated Local Tax $200,000
METRO 11.44.03 Capital Projects - Building Rehab 104366 Exempt Capital 2022 $500,000 5307 $4,500,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,000,000
METRO 11.12.07 Commuter Buses 112221 2 Replacement Exempt Capital 2022 $1,120,000 5307 $280,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,400,000

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 104367 Exempt Operating 2023 $55,600,000 Dedicated Local Tax $55,600,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 104368 Exempt Planning 2023 $825,000 Operating Revenue $825,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 104364 Exempt Capital 2023 $3,680,000 5307 $675,000 UTP (GRF) $1,088,750 Dedicated Local Tax $5,433,750
METRO 11.42.20 Capital Equipment 112220 Exempt Capital 2023 $1,500,000 OTP2 (GRF) $375,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,875,000
METRO 11.12.04 Small Buses (LTVs) - <30’ 104363 10 Replacement Exempt Capital 2023 $800,000 5307 $200,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,000,000
METRO 11.12.01 Large Transit Buses 104362 13 Replacement Exempt Capital 2023 $5,800,000 5307 / 5339 $1,450,000 Dedicated Local Tax $7,250,000
METRO 11.92.02 Bus Shelters, Bus Stops 104365 Exempt Capital 2023 $160,000 5307 $40,000 Dedicated Local Tax $200,000
METRO 11.44.03 Capital Projects - Building Rehab 104366 Exempt Capital 2023 $500,000 5307 $4,500,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,000,000
METRO 11.12.07 Commuter Buses 112221 6 Replacement Exempt Capital 2023 $3,360,000 5307 $840,000 Dedicated Local Tax $4,200,000
METRO 11.12.01 Large Transit Buses - CNG 112270 3 Replacement Exempt Capital 2023 $1,560,000 CMAQ $390,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,950,000

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 104367 Exempt Operating 2024 $55,600,000 Dedicated Local Tax $55,600,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 104368 Exempt Planning 2024 $825,000 Operating Revenue $825,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 104364 Exempt Capital 2024 $3,680,000 5307 $675,000 UTP (GRF) $1,088,750 Dedicated Local Tax $5,433,750
METRO 11.42.20 Capital Equipment 112220 Exempt Capital 2024 $1,500,000 OTP2 (GRF) $375,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,875,000
METRO 11.12.04 Small Buses (LTVs) - <30’ 104363 18 Replacement Exempt Capital 2024 $1,440,000 5307 $360,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,800,000
METRO 11.12.01 Large Transit Buses 104362 16 Replacement Exempt Capital 2024 $7,040,000 5307 / 5339 $1,760,000 Dedicated Local Tax $8,800,000
METRO 11.92.02 Bus Shelters, Bus Stops 104365 Exempt Capital 2024 $160,000 5307 $40,000 Dedicated Local Tax $200,000
METRO 11.44.03 Capital Projects - Building Rehab 104366 Exempt Capital 2024 $500,000 5307 $4,500,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,000,000
METRO 44.23.02 Bus Rapid Transit Feasibility Study 112487 Exempt Planning 2024 $80,000 STBG-A $20,000 Dedicated Local Tax $100,000
METRO 11.12.01 Large Transit Buses - CNG 112245 3 Replacement Exempt Capital 2024 $1,260,000 CMAQ $315,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,575,000

TOTALS $49,720,000 $8,700,000 $257,780,000 $316,200,000



22Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 3-2 (Portage Area Regional Transportation Authority)
Transit Improvements

Transit 
System 
Name

FTA 
ALI

Code Project Description PID # Qty
Expansion or 
Replacement

Air 
Quality Type

State 
FY

Federal 
Funding $

Federal
Funding Source

State
Funding $

State
Funding Source

Local
Funding $

Local
Funding Source

Total
Project 
Cost $

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 104393 Exempt Operating 2021 $100,000 E & D Fare Assist (GRF) $5,000,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,100,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 104395 Exempt Planning 2021 $65,000 Operating Revenue $65,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 104396 Exempt Capital 2021 $800,000 5307 $230,000 UTP (GRF) $1,030,000
METRO 11.12.04 Small Buses (LTVs) - <30’ 104397 6 Replacement Exempt Capital 2021 $312,000 5307 $78,000 Dedicated Local Tax $390,000
METRO 11.12.02 Large CNG Transit Buses - 35’ 102992 2 Replacement Exempt Capital 2021 $832,000 CMAQ $208,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,040,000

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 111771 Exempt Operating 2022 $100,000 E & D Fare Assist (GRF) $5,000,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,100,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 111772 Exempt Planning 2022 $65,000 Operating Revenue $65,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 111774 Exempt Capital 2022 $800,000 5307 $200,000 UTP (GRF) $1,000,000
METRO 11.12.15 Small Transit Vans 111781 6 Replacement Exempt Capital 2022 $320,000 5339 $80,000 Dedicated Local Tax $400,000
METRO 11.12.02 Large CNG Transit Buses - 35’ 111777 2 Replacement Exempt Capital 2022 $920,000 CMAQ $230,000 Dedicated Local Tax $1,150,000

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 111790 Exempt Operating 2023 $100,000 E & D Fare Assist (GRF) $5,000,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,100,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 111791 Exempt Planning 2023 $65,000 Operating Revenue $65,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 111792 Exempt Capital 2023 $800,000 5307 $200,000 UTP (GRF) $1,000,000
METRO 11.12.04 Small Buses (LTVs) - <30’ 111794 3 Replacement Exempt Capital 2023 $206,400 5307 $51,600 Dedicated Local Tax $258,000
METRO 11.12.15 Small Transit Vans 111795 4 Replacement Exempt Capital 2023 $214,400 5339 $53,600 Dedicated Local Tax $268,000
METRO 11.92.05 Transit Enhancements - Pedestrian Access 111798 Exempt Capital 2023 $45,000 5307 $11,250 Dedicated Local Tax $56,250
METRO 11.12.02 Large Diesel Transit Buses - 35’ 111799 2 Replacement Exempt Capital 2023 $830,000 5307 $207,500 Dedicated Local Tax $1,037,500

METRO 30.09.00 Operating 111800 Exempt Operating 2024 $100,000 E & D Fare Assist (GRF) $5,000,000 Dedicated Local Tax $5,100,000
METRO 44.22.00 Planning 111801 Exempt Planning 2024 $65,000 Operating Revenue $65,000
METRO 11.7A.00 Preventive Maintenance 111802 Exempt Capital 2024 $800,000 5307 $200,000 UTP (GRF) $1,000,000
METRO 11.12.04 Small Buses (LTVs) - <30’ 111803 5 Replacement Exempt Capital 2024 $348,000 5339 $87,000 Dedicated Local Tax $435,000
METRO 11.12.02 Large Diesel Transit Buses - 35’ 111805 2 Replacement Exempt Capital 2024 $779,253 5307 $194,813 Dedicated Local Tax $974,066
METRO 11.12.01 Large Diesel Transit Buses - 40’ 112244 2 Replacement Exempt Capital 2024 $779,253 CMAQ $194,813 Dedicated Local Tax $974,066

TOTALS $8,786,306 $1,230,000 $21,656,576 $31,672,882

Table 3-2 (Specialized Transportation Program)
FTA 5310 Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled

Transit 
System 
Name

FTA 
ALI

Code Project Description PID # Qty
Expansion or 
Replacement

Air 
Quality Type

State 
FY

Federal 
Funding $

Federal
Funding Source

State
Funding $

State
Funding Source

Local
Funding $

Local
Funding Source

Total
Project 
Cost $

Specialized 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program 111808 2021 $564,914 5310 $0 $141,249 Other $706,143
PARTA 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $141,229 $35,307

METRO 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $423,686 $105,921

Specialized 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program 111811 2022 $564,914 5310 $0 $141,249 Other $706,143
PARTA 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $141,229 $35,307

METRO 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $423,686 $105,921

Specialized 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program 111814 2023 $564,914 5310 $0 $141,249 Other $706,143
PARTA 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $141,229 $35,307

METRO 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $423,686 $105,921

Specialized 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program 111815 2024 $564,914 5310 $0 $141,249 Other $706,143
PARTA 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $141,229 $35,307

METRO 11.12.04 Vehicle Replacement for 5310 Program Exempt Capital $423,686 $105,921

TOTALS $2,259,656 $0 $564,914 $2,824,570
Federal funding estimates based on the allocation presented in the December 20, 2019, Federal Register for FY 2020.
Elderly and Disabled projects are competitively selected biennially by the AMATS Policy Committee.  The RTAs and eligible social service agencies may apply for funds.



23Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 3-2 (Summary)
Transit Projects Summary Sheet

METRO RTA
(In Thousands of Dollars)

FY TOTAL EXPENDITURES FEDERAL FUNDING STATE FUNDING LOCAL FUNDING
Capital Operating Planning Capital1 Operating Planning Capital2 Operating Planning Capital Operating Planning

2021 $16,769 $55,600 $825 $7,740 $0 $0 $2,175 $0 $0 $6,854 $55,600 $825
2022 $22,019 $55,600 $825 $11,960 $0 $0 $2,175 $0 $0 $7,884 $55,600 $825
2023 $26,919 $55,600 $825 $15,860 $0 $0 $2,175 $0 $0 $8,884 $55,600 $825
2024 $24,694 $55,600 $925 $14,080 $0 $80 $2,175 $0 $0 $8,439 $55,600 $845
Total $90,400 $222,400 $3,400 $49,640 $0 $80 $8,700 $0 $0 $32,060 $222,400 $3,320

1Figures shown in this column include Section 5307 Capital Funds programmed for subsiding Preventive Maintenance expenses.
2State UTP funds are derived from state General Revenue Funds (GRF)

PARTA
(In Thousands of Dollars)

FY TOTAL EXPENDITURES FEDERAL FUNDING STATE FUNDING LOCAL FUNDING
Capital Operating Planning Capital1 Operating Planning Capital Operating Planning Capital Operating Planning

2021 $2,460 $5,100 $65 $1,944 $0 $0 $230 $100 $0 $286 $5,000 $65
2022 $2,550 $5,100 $65 $2,040 $0 $0 $200 $100 $0 $310 $5,000 $65
2023 $2,620 $5,100 $65 $2,096 $0 $0 $200 $100 $0 $324 $5,000 $65
2024 $3,383 $5,100 $65 $2,707 $0 $80 $200 $100 $0 $477 $5,000 $65
Total $11,013 $20,400 $260 $8,786 $0 $80 $830 $400 $0 $1,397 $20,000 $260

1Figures shown in this column include Section 5307 Capital Funds programmed for subsiding Preventive Maintenance expenses.

Specialized Transportation Program - Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled
(In Thousands of Dollars)

FY TOTAL EXPENDITURES FEDERAL FUNDING STATE FUNDING LOCAL FUNDING
Capital Operating Planning Capital Operating Planning Capital Operating Planning Capital Operating Planning

2021 $706 $0 $0 $565 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $141 $0 $0
2022 $706 $0 $0 $565 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $141 $0 $0
2023 $706 $0 $0 $565 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $141 $0 $0
2024 $706 $0 $0 $565 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $141 $0 $0
Total $2,825 $0 $0 $2,260 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $565 $0 $0



24Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 4 - Fiscal Assessment  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Fiscal Assessment
The FAST Act requires that the Transportation Improvement Program include a 
financial plan demonstrating that the TIP can be implemented with the financial 
resources that are expected to be available to the AMATS area.  The development of 
this financial component is based on a comprehensive, cooperative and continuing 
planning process that involves ODOT, AMATS and area transit operators.  Federal 
funding for transportation projects and programs are channeled through this planning 
process.

This chapter summarizes highway and transit revenues anticipated to be available and 
compares them to the estimated project costs for the FY 2021-2024 TIP.  Highway cost 
information has been drawn from Table 2-3 in Chapter 2 and transit cost information 
has been drawn from Table 3-2 in Chapter 3.  Projects listed in the four years of the 
TIP are limited to those for which funds are available or committed.

Project cost estimates in the TIP were developed by individual project sponsors and 
are updated using ODOT cost inflation factors which account for year of expenditure 
dollars.  Specifically, the year in which a project is programmed in the TIP reflects the 
cost of that project for that particular year.

ODOT Allocated Funds
The majority of the projects listed in the highway portion of the TIP are financed 
through ODOT-managed funding sources. The fiscal constraint analysis for these 
projects are recorded in the Financial Analysis chapter of the State Transportation 
Improvement Program for FY 2021-2024 and also included in Table 4-1.

Table 4-1 compares forecasted annual revenues with expenditures for highway funding 
programs controlled by the AMATS Policy Committee (STBG and TASA) and 
the Ohio MPOs (Statewide CMAQ).  Due to the nature of project programming 
and development, it can be seen that, in any particular year, project costs may exceed 
available revenue in a particular funding program.   The resulting negative funding 
balance is corrected by trading available funds among funding programs.

The local match component is provided by the various local governments that have 
been awarded AMATS funds.  Prior to being awarded these funds, local sponsors must 
pass specific legislation indicating that they have the capability and will provide the 
required local match in the year in which their project is scheduled.

The AMATS forecasted revenues, as shown in Table 4-1, and the aforementioned local 
match demonstrates the financial capability of covering the cost of project expenditures 
through AMATS funding programs as required by federal legislation.

AMATS Allocated Funds
ODOT suballocates federal funding to AMATS for the STBG, CMAQ and TASA 
funding programs.  As part of the development of the TIP, ODOT provided a forecast 
of these funds anticipated to be available during fiscal years 2021 through 2024.  Per 
ODOT’s guidance, it has been assumed that there will be no annual increase for the 
STBG and TASA funding programs.  Revenue from the statewide CMAQ funding 
program is adequate to cover project costs in the AMATS area.

AMATS uses a competitive application process to award these funds to project sponsors 
as outlined in the Funding Policy Guidelines.  It should be noted that these funds 
are not subject to an additional inflation factor because AMATS caps the amount of 
federal funds a project is to receive.

Transit Allocated Funds
Funds for the FTA Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility for the Elderly and Disabled 
Program have been programmed in each year of the TIP based on estimates derived 
from the federal fiscal year 2020 allocations.  Eligible agencies may apply for this 
funding as part of the Coordinated Public Transit / Human Services Transportation 
Plan process.  The fiscal constraint analysis for Enhanced Mobility Program projects is 
recorded in the project listings in table 3-2.  Projects are awarded biennially following 
the FTA publication of area allocations.

The forecast of FTA Section 5307 funds managed by AMATS is based on FTA’s 
actual allocations for the program for federal FY 2020.  Per ODOT’s guidance, it 
has been assumed that there will be no increase in Section 5307 funds for FY 2021 
through 2024.  The forecast of Section 5339 funds is also based on FTA’s allocations 
for FY 2020, and remains constant through the four-year TIP period.  Both FTA 
programs are urban formula based capital programs generally used for bus replacement 
procurement and capitalized preventive maintenance.

Table 4-1 compares forecasted revenues for all federal funds with the federal cost of 
the transit projects listed in the TIP.  No fiscal year is over-programmed. 



25Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 4 - Fiscal Assessment  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Total TIP Revenues and Costs
Table 4-1 also summarizes the total estimated revenue amount available by funding source and year and compares it to all highway and transit projects programmed in the TIP.  Based 
on these figures, it can be seen that in all cases projected federal, state and local revenues are adequate to cover project costs for the life of the TIP.

Table 4-1
AMATS Fiscal Constraint Analysis (FY 2021-2024)

Funding $(000)

HIGHWAYS - Federal Highway Administration (FHWA)

FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024
Funding Category Carry Forward Estimate Budget Balance Estimate Budget Balance Estimate Budget Balance Estimate Budget Balance

STBG $ 1,119,618 $ 10,001,751 $ 11,165,085 $ 2,282,952 $ 10,039,066 $ 11,165,085 $ 1,126,018 $ 12,234,280 $ 11,165,085 ($ 1,069,196) $ 4,914,640 $ 11,165,085 $ 6,250,444
CMAQ $ 5,643,897 $ 8,476,744 $ 5,870,683 $ 3,037,837 $ 8,113,874 $ 5,870,683 ($ 2,243,191) $ 3,480,775 $ 5,870,683 $ 2,389,908 $ 180,000 $ 5,870,683 $ 5,690,683
TASA $ 355,345 $ 1,216,050 $ 1,116,509 $ 255,804 $ 2,636,240 $ 1,116,509 ($ 1,519,731) $ 1,000,000 $ 1,116,509 $ 116,509 $ 0 $ 1,116,509 $ 1,116,509
HIGHWAY TOTALS $ 7,118,860 $ 19,694,545 $ 18,152,277 $ 1,542,267 $ 20,789,180 $ 18,152,277 ($ 2,636,903) $ 16,715,055 $ 18,152,277 $ 1,437,222 $ 5,094,640 $ 18,152,277 $ 13,057,637

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION - Federal Transit Administration (FTA)
FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024

Funding Category Carry Forward Estimate Budget Balance Estimate Budget Balance Estimate Budget Balance Estimate Budget Balance
FTA 5307 $ 15,284 $ 8,052 $ 8,445 $ 15,677 $ 11,960 $ 8,445 $ 12,162 $ 15,381 $ 8,445 $ 5,226 $ 13,599 $ 8,445 $ 71
FTA 5310 $ 565 $ 1,130 $ 565 $ 0 $ 0 $ 565 $ 565 $ 1,130 $ 565 $ 0 $ 0 $ 565 $ 565
FTA 5339 $ 1,772 $ 800 $ 1,083 $ 2,055 $ 1,120 $ 1,083 $ 2,018 $ 1,014 $ 1,083 $ 2,087 $ 1,148 $ 1,083 $ 2,023
CMAQ (Flex) $ - $ 832 $ 832 $ 0 $ 920 $ 920 $ 0 $ 1,560 $ 1,560 $ 0 $ 2,087 $ 2,039 $ 0
STBG (Flex) $ - $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 80 $ 80 $ 0
          Total Federal $ 10,925 $ 11,013 $ 11,653 $ 12,213
     Funding Match
STATE $ - $ 2,505 $ 2,475 $ 0 $ 2,475 $ 2,475 $ 0 $ 2,475 $ 2,475 $ 0 $ 2,475 $ 2,475 $ 0
LOCAL $ - $ 68,771 $ 68,771 $ 0 $ 69,825 $ 69,825 $ 0 $ 70,839 $ 70,839 $ 0 $ 70,567 $ 70,567 $ 0
TRANSIT TOTALS $ 82,090 $ 93,127 $ 11,037 $ 86,300 $ 94,327 $ 8,027 $ 92,400 $ 96,621 $ 4,221 $ 89,908 $ 97,467 $ 7,559
ODOT and AMATS have collaborated on the project selection process for ODOT controlled funding and have confirmed the availability of adequate revenue.



26Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 3 - Transit Improvements  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Table 4-2A
Forecasted Revenues and Project Costs (FTA 5307)

AMATS Funded Transit Improvements

FTA Section 5307 Urbanized Area Formula Grant Program

FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 TOTAL
CARRYOVER BALANCE $ 15,283,847 $ 15,676,906 $ 12,161,965 $ 5,225,625
REVENUE
     FTA 5307 (A) $ 7,887,777 $ 7,877,777 $ 7,887,777 $ 7,887,777 $ 31,551,109
     FTA 5307 (C) $ 557,282 $ 557,282 $ 557,282 $ 557,282 $ 2,229,128
     TOTAL $ 23,728,906 $ 24,121,965 $ 5,225,625 $ 13,670,684 $ 33,780,237
PROJECT EXPENDITURES
     METRO $ 6,940,000 $ 11,160,000 $ 13,500,000 $ 12,020,000 $ 43,620,000
     PARTA $ 1,112,000 $ 800,000 $ 1,881,400 $ 1,579,253 $ 5,372,653
     TOTAL $ 8,052,000 $ 11,960,000 $ 15,381,400 $ 13,599,253 $ 48,992,653
ENDING YEAR BALANCE $ 15,676,906 $ 12,161,965 $ 5,225,625 $ 71,431

FTA 5307 (A) - Section 5307 Formula Grant Program (Akron Urbanized Area)
FTA 5307 (C) - Section 5307 Formula Grant Program (Cleveland Urbanized Area)
Projected Revenue based on FY 2020 Allocations

FTA Section 5307

PROJECTED REVENUE Estimated Carryover 
Balance FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 TOTAL

METRO RTA $ 11,160,408 $ 6,592,970 $ 6,952,970 $ 6,952,970 $ 6,952,970 $ 38,972,286
PARTA $ 4,123,440 $ 1,492,090 $ 1,492,090 $ 1,492,090 $ 1,492,090 $ 10,091,798

$ 8,445,059 $ 8,445,059 $ 8,445,059 $ 8,445,059 $ 49,064,084

Table 4-2B
Forecasted Revenues and Project Costs (FTA 5339)

AMATS Funded Transit Improvements

FTA Section 5339 Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Grant Program

FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 TOTAL
CARRYOVER BALANCE $ 1,771,505 $ 2,054,901 $ 2,018,297 $ 2,087,293
REVENUE
     FTA 5339 (A) $ 1,012,016 $ 1,012,016 $ 1,012,016 $ 1,012,016 $ 4,048,064
     FTA 5339 (C) $ 71,380 $ 71,380 $ 71,380 $ 71,380 $ 285,520
     TOTAL $ 2,854,901 $ 3,138,297 $ 3,101,693 $ 3,170,689 $ 4,333,584
PROJECT EXPENDITURES
     METRO $ 6,940,000 $ 11,160,000 $ 13,500,000 $ 12,020,000 $ 43,620,000
     PARTA $ 1,112,000 $ 800,000 $ 1,881,400 $ 1,579,253 $ 5,372,653
     TOTAL $ 8,052,000 $ 11,960,000 $ 15,381,400 $ 13,599,253 $ 48,992,653
ENDING YEAR BALANCE $ 15,676,906 $ 12,161,965 $ 5,225,625 $ 71,431

FTA 5339 (A) - Section 5339 Formula Grant Program (Akron Urbanized Area)
FTA 5339 (C) - Section 5339 Formula Grant Program (Cleveland Urbanized Area)
Projected Revenue based on FY 2020 Allocations

FTA Section 5339

PROJECTED REVENUE Estimated Carryover 
Balance FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 TOTAL

METRO RTA $ 1,592,585 $ 899,359 $ 899,359 $ 899,359 $ 899,359 $ 5,190,021
PARTA $ 178,920 $ 184,037 $ 184,037 $ 184,037 $ 184,037 $ 915,068

$ 1,083,396 $ 1,083,396 $ 1,083,396 $ 1,083,396 $ 6,105,089



27Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 5 - Maintaining Existing System  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Maintaining and Operating the Existing Transportation System
Through the TIP, the AMATS Policy Committee has made a commitment to maintain 
and operate the existing transportation system as well as provide for new capacity 
improvements.  A total of $993.1 million in highway and transit projects is listed in 
the four years of the TIP.  Of this total, $564.1 million are for projects designed for the 
maintenance and operation of the highway and public transportation systems.

Federal funds are not the only source of revenue for implementing transportation 
projects in the AMATS area.  ODOT, municipalities, counties, townships and regional 
transit authorities also initiate transportation projects with funding received from 
other programs.  

ODOT implements many transportation projects through state funding programs.  
ODOT, in an effort to emphasize the commitment being made to maintain the 
existing transportation system, has identified projects and the amount of funding set 
aside for various maintenance-type activities.  These projects are included in Table 2-3. 

Municipalities, counties, and townships also initiate transportation improvements 
with local funds.  The major source of revenues for these projects is local permissive 
taxes, motor fuel taxes and license plate registration fees.  The revenues received from 
these sources are used to plan, construct, reconstruct, repair and maintain highways 
and bridges as defined in the Ohio Revised Code.  Another source of funding comes 
from the Ohio Public Works Commission, known as State Issue II funds, which 
focuses on repairing and maintaining local infrastructure.  These sources of revenue 
provide approximately $60 million annually for transportation improvements in the 
AMATS area.

The services operated by the AMATS area’s two transit authorities (METRO RTA 
and PARTA), and the services provided by agencies utilizing funds through the 
Coordinated Human Services Public Transportation Plan, are an important part of the 
region’s transportation system.  Their services provide basic mobility and an alternative 
to auto usage for many area residents.  Thus, the maintenance and operation of the 
area’s transit service is vital.  All of the transit projects programmed in the TIP are 
related to either:

1. the continued operation of METRO’s and PARTA’s services,
2. the replacement of expended rolling stock and equipment,
3. the maintenance and rehabilitation of existing equipment, facilities, and 

rolling stock; or 
4. the Coordinated Human Services Public Transportation Plan.

The total cost for all of these expenditures is $350.7 million.  These expenses are paid 
for by a combination of grants from the State of Ohio, local transit sales taxes, federal 
funds, passenger fare revenues and other local funds.

In summary, the AMATS area has demonstrated its financial commitment to 
maintaining and operating the existing transportation system.  Approximately 91% of 
the funding allocated to transportation improvements in the AMATS area is directed 
in this manner.  Table 5-1 demonstrates which funding sources and their amounts are 
being used to preserve/maintain, operate or expand the federal-aid highway, public 
transit and bike and pedestrian transportation systems.

Capacity projects are those that add additional travel lanes to a highway.  These are 
the most expensive projects to construct since they require more up front engineering 
and often involve right of way acquisition.  However they only account for 9% of the 

2021-2024 TIP Expenditures by Type of Project

PRESERVATION
$843,932 (85%)

CAPACITY
$90,195 (9%)

OPERATIONAL
$58,850 (6%)



28Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 5 - Maintaining Existing System  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

expenditures in the 2021-2024 TIP because there are only a couple projects that fall 
into this category.

Operational projects are those that improve the movement of traffic without adding 
more travel lanes.  The improvement is usually achieved by updating traffic signals, 
adding turn lanes, and constructing roundabouts.  These projects account for 6% of the 
expenditures in the TIP.

Preservation projects account for 85% of the expenditures in the TIP and are all the 
projects that do not fall into the other two project types.  The majority of these projects 
are pavement resurfacing and reconstruction and bridge repairs.

Table 5-1
Funding Sources by Type of Project

FY 2021-2024
Funds $(x1000)

Funding Source Preservation
Operational 

Improvements
Capacity or 
Expansion Total

Federal-Aid Highways
CMAQ $0 $21,650 $0 $21,650
CEAO $0 $2,820 $0 $2,820
HSIP $6,026 $11,579 $1,500 $19,105
NHPP $341,691 $0 $52,000 $393,691
NHS $0 $0 $0 $0
STBG $16,624 $10,518 $4,395 $31,537
TASA $0 $0 $0 $0
OTHER FEDERAL $35,175 $377 $0 $35,552
STATE $80,863 $1,048 $13,000 $94,911
LOCAL $24,907 $10,858 $7,636 $43,401
HIGHWAY TOTALS $505,286 $58,850 $78,531 $642,667

Federal-Aid Public Transportation
FTA 5307 - Urban Formula $33,780 $0 $0 $33,780

$0 $0 $0
FTA 5310 - Specialized $2,260 $0 $0 $2,260
FTA 5330 - Bus / Bus Facilities $4,334 $0 $0 $4,334
CMAQ $5,351 $0 $0 $5,351
STBG $0 $0 $80 $80
STATE $9,930 $0 $0 $9,930
LOCAL $282,991 $0 $0 $282,991
TRANSIT TOTALS $338,646 $0 $80 $338,726

Bicycle and Pedestrian
TASA $0 $0 $5,252 $5,252
LOCAL $0 $0 $6,412 $6,412
BIKE / PED TOTALS $0 $0 $11,664 $11,664

TIP Totals
Federal $445,241 $46,944 $63,227 $555,412
State $90,793 $1,048 $13,000 $104,841
Local $307,898 $10,858 $14,048 $332,804
GRAND TOTAL $843,932 $58,850 $90,275 $993,057



29Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 6 - Summary  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Summary

2021-2024 TIP Expenditures by Mode of Travel

2021-2024 TIP Expenditures by Funding Source

Transportation improvements require substantial investments in time and resources.  
The AMATS Policy Committee has endorsed many highway, transit and bicycle/
pedestrian projects which provide federal funding for maintaining the existing 
transportation system, as well as those improvements which will add new capacity.  
These projects are sponsored by local communities, transit operators and ODOT and 
are consistent with the “fix-it-first” priority of the AMATS Regional Transportation 
Plan. 

Highway, transit and bike and pedestrian projects requiring expenditures that total 
$993.1 million have been programmed for fiscal years 2021 through 2024.  The 
following pie chart shows this area’s financial commitment to the different modes 
of travel.  Please note that some highway projects include bike and pedestrian type 
improvements as a component of the project.

In the AMATS area, transportation projects are implemented not only with federal 
funds but also through local funding programs.  Many of these local funding programs 
address maintenance type transportation improvements.  Regional projects, which are 
usually larger and more complex in nature, are implemented with federal funding made 
available through action by the Policy Committee.  The following pie chart depicts the 
total TIP expenditure by funding source.

HIGHWAY
$642,667 (65%)

BIKE / PED
$11,664 (1%)TRANSIT

$338,726 (34%)

FEDERAL
$555,412 (56%)

LOCAL
$332,804 (33%)

STATE
$104,841 (11%)



30Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Chapter 6 - Summary  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Transit Expenditures by Operator

Transit in the AMATS area receives a considerable amount of revenue (34%) during 
the life of the TIP with $242.8 million for transit operations and $107.9 million for 
transit capital, maintenance, and planning projects.  

METRO RTA operates in Summit County and PARTA operates in Portage County.  
Total expenditures by transit operator can be seen below.

PARTA
$31,673 (9%)

METRO
$331,150 (91%)



31Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Funding Policy Guidelines

 
 

 
 
 

FUNDING POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revised  June, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 
Suite 201 

161 South High Street 
Akron, Ohio 44308 

 
This document was prepared by the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) in cooperation with 
the U.S. Department of Transportation, the Ohio Department of Transportation, and the Village, City and County 
governments of Portage and Summit Counties and a portion of Wayne County. 
 
The contents of this document reflect the views of AMATS, which is responsible for the facts and accuracy of the 
data presented herein.  The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view and policies of the Ohio and/or U.S. 
Department of Transportation.  This document does not constitute a standard, specification or regulation.

 

2 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
Section           Page 
 
 1  Introduction            3 
 
 2  Policy Guidelines         
     
    Program Administration        4 
    General Project Eligibility        5 
    Funding Programs 
     Surface Transportation Block Grant       7 
     Transportation Alternatives Program      9 
     Resurfacing Program      12 
     Pavement Repair and Sidewalk Ramp Program  15 
     FTA Urbanized Area Formula Program   16 
     FTA Elderly and Disabled Program    18 
     FTA Bus and Bus Facilities Program    20 
      
    
 3  TIP Project Selection and Implementation Process 
 
    Duties of TAC and TAC TIP Subcommittee    22 
    Project Selection Process      24 
 
 4  Evaluation Criteria 
 
    STBG Project Evaluation Criteria     26 
    TASA Project Evaluation Criteria     28 
    Resurfacing Project Evaluation Criteria    30 
    Elderly and Disabled Evaluation Criteria    31 
     
 
 5  Appendix 
 
    Overview of Transportation Funding Programs 
    Roadways Eligible for Federal-aid Funding 
    
  



32Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

3 
 

SECTION 1 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

Planning, design and construction of major transportation capital investment projects, such as 
major highway relocations and transit service expansions, are costly and time-consuming.  Even 
relatively minor improvements require a substantial investment of time and resources.  In order 
to implement transportation projects in a systematic manner, proper planning is essential. 
 
The Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study, also referred to as AMATS, is one of the 17 
transportation-planning agencies in Ohio.  These, and similar agencies throughout the United 
States, were established as a result of the 1962 Federal Aid Highway Act.  This Act requires 
urban areas of more than 50,000 in population to have a cooperative, continuous and 
comprehensive (or "3-C") planning process in order to receive federal aid for transportation 
improvements. 
 
A primary responsibility of AMATS is to prepare and maintain a Transportation Improvement 
Program (or TIP) that meets the travel needs of people and businesses in Summit and Portage 
Counties and portions of Wayne County.  The TIP is a four-year comprehensive listing of 
transportation improvements scheduled for implementation with federal or state funds.  A project 
must be included in an area's TIP in order to receive funding assistance from the Federal 
Highway Administration or the Federal Transit Administration. 
 
As part of preparing the TIP, the AMATS Policy Committee has the lead responsibility for 
programming transportation projects under the Federal Highway Administration's Surface 
Transportation Program and Transportation Alternatives Program and the Federal Transit 
Administration's Urban Formula, Bus and Bus Facilities, and Elderly and Disabled Programs.  
 
The purpose of this report is to document the funding policy guidelines established by the 
AMATS Policy Committee for these programs and the process to select projects for the TIP.  
These guidelines reflect the goals outlined in the Regional Transportation Plan that make 
preserving the existing transportation system the highest priority while continuing to improve 
safety and reduce congestion.  It also includes a procedure to continuously monitor funding 
programs.  It has four main sections. 
 
Section 2 describes the policy guidelines for the programming of federal transportation funds.  
Section 3 describes the process to select projects for the TIP as well as the process to expedite 
the implementation of these projects in a timely manner.  Section 4 describes the evaluation 
criteria for each funding program for which the AMATS Policy Committee has the lead 
responsibility and lastly a map of the federal-aid system and a list of definitions is included. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 
 

SECTION 2 
 

POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
 
The AMATS Policy Committee has established a set of Funding Policy Guidelines to be used in 
selecting projects using federal funding directly attributable to the AMATS area for the TIP.  The 
purpose of this section is to describe these policy guidelines.  They are grouped into three 
categories - Program Administration, General Project Eligibility and Funding Programs.  
 
PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION 
 
1. Responsibility – The Technical Advisory Committee is responsible for monitoring the 

federal funding programs attributable to AMATS and making recommendations to the Policy 
Committee. 

 
2. Project Review Meetings – Quarterly project review meetings are scheduled to monitor the 

status of programmed projects. Project sponsors or their representative are required to attend. 
 
3. Project Lockdown – Sponsors must have their associated project milestone dates finalized by 

December of each year for projects that are scheduled in the next fiscal year. 
 
4. Reservoir Projects – A project that is scheduled in the fourth quarter (April to June) of a 

fiscal year may be assigned as a reservoir project.  This means that the project may sell in 
either the current fiscal year or the first quarter (July to September) of the next fiscal year and 
not incur any adverse penalty.  Regardless of which fiscal year the project sells in, the 
project’s Plans, Specifications, and Estimate or PS&E package must still be submitted in the 
current fiscal year. 

 
5. Funds Management – If a significant funding balance remains at the end of the current fiscal 

year, one or more of several options will be pursued to avoid a shortfall of funds.  These 
options include but are not limited to moving reservoir projects as needed, applying funds to 
remaining projects in that year subject to the funding policy cap and a limit of a 15% 
increase, or trade/transfer funds with ODOT, County Engineers Association of Ohio, or 
another MPO.  

 
 If a shortfall in funds in one funding program is a concern, the funding source of one or more 

projects may be switched or split into two funding sources for items that are eligible for those 
funds. 

  
AMATS receives suballocated funds at the discretion of ODOT and US DOT.  If ODOT’s or 
US DOT’s current funding policy changes in regards to amount of funds suballocated or the 
elimination of a funding program, AMATS assumes no liability in funding projects that have 
been affected by these changes.  
 



33Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

5 
 

6. Fair Share Distribution – Several AMATS funding programs use equitable distribution of 
funds as an evaluation criterion.  This criterion uses a target budget for each community in 
the AMATS area.  The target budget is based on the community’s percent of the population 
compared to the total funds spent and programmed by AMATS since 1972.  The 
community’s percent population for the target budget is calculated using the percent urban 
population from the 1980 and 1990 Census and total population from the 2000 and 2010 
Census.  AMATS’ funds programmed for a project in a community is attributed to the 
community regardless of project sponsor.   

 
 
GENERAL PROJECT ELIGIBILITY 
 
1. Regional Transportation Plan – All projects implemented with federal funds must be 

included in or consistent with the approved AMATS Regional Transportation Plan. 
 
2. Performance Based Planning and Programming – All projects implemented with federal 

funds must be included in or consistent with the goals of Performance Based Planning and 
Programming (PBPP).  These policies are established to ensure targeted investment of 
federal transportation funds by increasing accountability and transparency and providing for 
better investment decisions that focus on key outcomes related to seven national goals: 
safety, infrastructure preservation, congestion reduction, system reliability, freight movement 
and economic vitality, environmental sustainability and reduced project delivery delays. The 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) has issued three related rules to date. The first rule 
is for safety performance measures, often referred to as PM1. The second set of rules is those 
pertaining to pavement and bridge conditions; often referred to as PM2. The third set is the 
system-wide performance measures, including Freight and CMAQ Measures. These are often 
referred to as PM3. The transit performance rules are issued by the Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA), and concern transit asset management (TAM) planning.  For a full 
discussion of PBPP and the AMATS area performance targets, see AMATS Policy 
Resolution 2018-17 (approved September 20, 2018).     

 
3. Submitting Projects for Funding – A sponsor that submits a project for funding must be a 

member of AMATS.  Generally, every two years the Policy Committee initiates a new round 
of project funding (see page 23 for a detailed project selection schedule).  It is highly 
recommended that project sponsors submit requests for funding during this two-year cycle of 
project funding.   

 
 If a project sponsor feels that their project can not wait for the normal two-year cycle of 

funding, the project must be first presented to the TAC TIP Subcommittee for consideration 
and then to the TAC and Policy Committee for final consideration. 

 
4.  Maximum Projects Awarded per Sponsor – The number of projects awarded to one sponsor 

shall be three projects per funding category. There is no limit to the number of project 
applications that a sponsor may submit.  

 

6 
 

5. Application Legislation – Local commitment, in the form of specific legislation, is required 
of sponsors and co-sponsor(s) seeking STBG or TASA funding.  This ensures that Councils 
and Boards recognize that the project is being submitted for federal funding and that a local 
funding match is required.  Legislation must include the following:  project name, description 
and cost, an acknowledgement that the sponsor and co-sponsor(s) have read and understand 
AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines, and that the sponsor and co-sponsor(s) are aware a local 
match is required.  Sample legislation will be included with project applications when they 
are given to project sponsors.  Failure to submit legislation by the established due date may 
result in cancellation of project application.  

 
6. Ineligible Items – Preliminary engineering and plan development costs, including the 

development of right-of-way and construction plans are the responsibility of the project 
sponsor and are not eligible for AMATS funds (except for TASA projects). 

 
7. Logical Termini and Independent Utility – Projects submitted for federal funds must have 

logical termini and independent utility.  This means a project must have rational end points 
and stand alone when completed.  For example, a project may be one phase in a multi-phase 
project, but each phase must have immediate benefit and use to the public in case additional 
phases are never funded.   

 
8. Contiguous Projects – Project sponsors that have contiguous projects, such as a phase one 

and two, may combine their projects after the original approval for funding by AMATS.  
Combining of projects is subject to the availability of funds and approval by AMATS.  
AMATS funding for the combined project is not to exceed the sum of the individual project 
caps that were originally approved for funding. 

 
9. Project Programming Package – Project sponsors must submit a Programming Package to 

ODOT within 45 days of notification of Policy Committee’s action to approve funding for 
the project.  Failure to do so may result in cancellation of project. 

 
10. Planning Studies – Applications that are submitted for planning studies will be evaluated on a 

case-by-case scenario. 
 

11. Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Transition Plan – Applicants must certify that they 
have developed and maintain an ADA transition plan. Title II of the ADA specifically 
applies to public entities (state and local governments), and the programs, services, and 
activities they deliver.  Title II Article 8, requires public entities to take several steps 
designed to achieve compliance with the ADA.  ADA transition plans provide a method for a 
public entity to schedule and implement ADA required improvements to existing streets and 
sidewalks.  The transition plan requires an inventory of the current curb ramps and sidewalks, 
the identification of barriers, and a system for the removal of these barriers.   Transition plans 
must also include a public involvement component.  Applicants will certify the existence of 
their ADA transition plan in their project application. 

 
  



34Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

7 
 

SURFACE TRANSPORTATION BLOCK GRANT 
 
 
Description 
The Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) provides flexible funding for a wide variety of 
projects including highways, transit and bicycle and pedestrian facilities. Funding for STBG 
projects is assigned to MPO areas by Congress and, in addition, ODOT suballocates a portion of 
their statewide STBG funding to Ohio MPOs. 
 
Eligibility 
STBG funds are the most versatile and may be used for any project that is recommended in or 
consistent with the AMATS Regional Transportation Plan.  STBG funds can be used on any 
federal-aid roadway classified above a local road or a rural minor collector and bridge projects 
on any public road. 
 
STBG projects can include highway projects and bridge improvements (construction, 
reconstruction, rehabilitation, resurfacing, restoration, and operational), transportation system 
management, public transit capital improvement projects, commuter rail, carpool projects, bus 
terminals and facilities, bikeways, pedestrian facilities and planning studies. 
 
The AMATS TAC TIP Subcommittee, with consultation from the AMATS staff, reserves the 
right to consider project applications under another funding program that it deems better suited 
for the application. 
 

Program Policies 
1. Federal Participation 
 a.   The maximum federal share for projects under the STBG program is 80% of the total 

eligible project costs (excluding 100% local items).  Federal funds are capped at the 
approved amount shown in the current TIP. 

 b.   Federal funding for STBG projects is either the federal participation rate approved for the 
project or the total federal funds approved for the project, whichever is less. 

 
2. Local Participation  

a. The minimum local share is 20% of total eligible project costs (excluding 100% local 
items). 

 b. The local share for STBG projects is required to be in cash from local, state or other non-
federal sources.  These projects are not eligible for softmatch credit, or 100% Federal 
funding participation, regardless of Federal or state eligibility.  Planning and engineering 
costs (including the development of right-of-way and construction plans) are not 
considered as local share. 

 

8 
 

3. Right-of-Way – the right-of-way funding may be adjusted from the original amount approved 
as long as the project’s total cap is not increased.  These projects have a combined right-of-
way and construction cap (see 5 below). 

 
4. Construction/Capital Purchases – the construction funding may be adjusted from the original 

amount approved as long as the project’s total cap is not increased.  These projects have a 
combined right-of-way and construction cap (see 5 below). 

 
5.  STBG Funding Cap – STBG projects have a combined right-of-way and construction cap of 

$6,000,000 in federal funds.  Assuming an 80% Federal share, total project cost should not 
exceed $7,500,000.  Any cost above this amount is the responsibility of the local sponsor. 

 
6. Project Delays – projects that are delayed or cancelled will be re-evaluated based on the 

following principles: 
a. If a project is delayed due to the lack of programmed federal funds, the project will be 

rescheduled as soon as funds become available. 
b. If a project is delayed due to the project sponsor, the project may be cancelled or 

rescheduled at a later time as not to impact or jeopardize other projects that have met 
their schedules. 

 
7. Project Cost Increases – Project phases scheduled in the next fiscal year will be updated in 

AMATS funding program to reflect the latest estimates.  Project sponsors must submit 
revised project cost estimates for the phase that is scheduled in the next fiscal year.  

 
 If the revised project cost estimate is lower than the original estimate, AMATS federal share, 

as shown in AMATS Funding Program and Balances Table, will be adjusted accordingly to 
reflect 80% of the revised estimate.  The project cost shown in the TIP will not be changed 
and the project is still eligible to receive federal funding up to 80% of the original estimate. 

 
If the revised project cost estimate, based on the original scope, is higher than the original 
estimate, AMATS federal share may be increased up to 80% of the revised estimate.  
AMATS federal share increase is limited to 15% above the original federal share 
programmed for the project and is not to exceed the funding policy cap for right-of-way and 
construction.  The AMATS Staff has the authority to make funding decisions for project cost 
increases based on the availability of funds.  Situations not specified herein will be reviewed 
by the TAC TIP Subcommittee. 

 
8. Major Changes to Project Funding – Projects which have already received federal STBG 

funds through AMATS are not eligible to apply for additional STBG funds through AMATS 
normal application cycle.  If additional funding for a project is necessary a request must be 
made to the AMATS Staff and will be reviewed by the TAC TIP Subcommittee, TAC and 
Policy Committee, with the Policy Committee having final decision making authority. 

 
9.  Self-Scoring – AMATS strongly recommends communities self-score their applications 

before submitting them for consideration. 
  



35Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

9 
 

TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES SET ASIDE 
 
 
Description  
The Transportation Alternatives Program (TASA) provides funding for bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities.  Funding for TASA projects is assigned to MPO areas by Congress and, in addition, 
ODOT suballocates a portion of their statewide TASA funding to Ohio MPOs. 
 
Eligibility 
All TASA projects must relate to surface transportation and must address a transportation need, 
use, or benefit.  Project categories include pedestrian and bicycle facilities including Safe Routes 
to School infrastructure projects.  Preliminary engineering, right-of-way and construction are 
eligible project costs.  Planning is an eligible project phase only for SRTS District-wide Travel 
Plans and only if the sponsor has first pursued and secured funding from ODOT’s SRTS 
program.  TASA applications for shared use paths or sidepaths (i.e. trails) must have a feasibility 
study for the project completed by the time funding is awarded by Policy Committee resolution.  
AMATS recommends using an ODOT prequalified consultant found under the Bicycle Facilities 
and Enhancement Design column in the following table: 
http://www.dot.state.oh.us/Divisions/Engineering/Consultant/Consultant/prequal-engineering.pdf 
 
Feasibility study must include the following: 

 Reasonable assurance that the preferred alignment conforms to AASHTO standards 
 Certified cost estimate 
 Planning level analysis to identify concerns (i.e. red flags) regarding environment, rights-

of-way, slope, soil and historical/cultural impediments 
 
The AMATS TAC TIP Subcommittee, with consultation from the AMATS staff, reserves the 
right to consider project applications under another funding program that it deems better suited 
for the application. 
 
 
Program Policies 
1. Ownership – The proposed Alternative project must be publicly owned and on existing 

publicly owned property (except when property acquisition is part of the proposal). 
 
2. Cost Estimates – Cost estimates for TASA projects must be submitted by a professional 

engineer or architect. 
 
3. Maintenance – Maintenance-type projects or work items, such as sidewalk replacement and 

bikeway resurfacing or regrading, are not eligible for TASA funding. 
 
4. Upgrading – Upgrading trails (such as converting a granular-surfaced bikeway to asphalt or 

concrete) are eligible for funding except if previously funded with federal funds through 
AMATS.  Sidewalks are eligible for upgrading if the project is taking a standard sidewalk 

10 
 

and substantially widening it to accommodate multiple uses (ex. upgrading a 4 ft sidewalk to 
an 8 ft sidewalk to accommodate bicycle traffic) 

5. Federal Participation 
 a. The maximum federal share for projects under the TASA Program is 80% of total eligible 

project costs (excluding 100% local items).  Federal funds are also capped at the 
approved amount shown in the current TIP. 

 b. Federal funding participation for TASA projects is either the federal participation rate 
approved for the project, or the total federal funds approved for the project, whichever is 
less.  

 
6. Local Participation  

a. The minimum local share is 20% of total eligible project costs (excluding 100% local 
items). 

 b. The local share for TASA projects  is required to be in cash from local, state or other 
non-federal sources.  These projects are not eligible for softmatch credit, or 100% Federal 
funding participation, regardless of Federal or state eligibility.  Planning is not considered 
as local share. 

 
7. Planning – The planning funding approved for a SRTS Plan is that Plan’s funding cap.  Any 

unused funds cannot be transferred to a SRTS Plan’s recommended infrastructure project.  
Up to 10% of the annual TASA allocation may be set aside to fund SRTS District-wide 
Plans.  

  
8. Preliminary Engineering – The preliminary engineering funding may be adjusted from the 

original amount approved as long as the project’s total cap is not increased (see 11 below).  
Up to 25% of the annual TASA allocation may be set aside to fund preliminary engineering. 

 
9. Right-of-Way  
 a. The right-of-way funding may be adjusted from the original amount approved as long as 

the project’s total cap is not increased (see 11 below). 
 b. Right-of-way acquisition may be included only as a part of the cost for the entire project, 

not as a stand alone project.  
 
10. Construction/Capital Purchases - the construction funding may be adjusted from the original 

amount approved for funding as long as the project’s total cap is not increased (see 11 
below). 

 
11. TASA Funding Cap - TASA projects have a combined preliminary engineering, right-of-way 

and construction cap of $700,000 in federal funds. Assuming an 80% Federal share, total 
project cost should not exceed $875,000.  Any cost above this amount is the responsibility of 
the local sponsor. 

 
12. Project Cost Increases – Project phases scheduled in the next fiscal year will be updated in 

AMATS funding program to reflect the latest estimates.  Project sponsors must submit 
revised project cost estimates for the phase that is scheduled in the next fiscal year.  

 



36Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

11 
 

 If the revised project cost estimate is lower than the original estimate, AMATS federal share, 
as shown in AMATS Funding Program and Balances Table, will be adjusted accordingly to 
reflect 80% of the revised estimate.  The project cost shown in the TIP will not be changed 
and the project is still eligible to receive federal funding up to 80% of the original estimate. 

 
If the revised project cost estimate, based on the original scope, is higher than the original 
estimate, AMATS federal share may be increased up to 80% of the revised estimate.  
AMATS federal share increase is limited to 15% above the original federal share 
programmed for the project and is not to exceed the funding policy cap for right-of-way and 
construction.  The AMATS Staff has the authority to make funding decisions for project cost 
increases based on the availability of funds.  Situations not specified herein will be reviewed 
by the TAC TIP Subcommittee. 

 
13. Major Changes to Project Funding – Projects which have already received federal TASA 

funds through AMATS are not eligible to apply for additional TASA funds through AMATS 
normal application cycle.  If additional funding for a project is necessary a request must be 
made to the AMATS Staff and will be reviewed by the TAC TIP Subcommittee, TAC and 
Policy Committee, with the Policy Committee having final decision making authority. 

 
14.  Self-Scoring – AMATS strongly recommends communities self-score their applications 

before submitting them for consideration. 
 
 
  

12 
 

AMATS RESURFACING PROGRAM 
 
Description 
Resurfacing projects on non-state routes using AMATS STBG funds. 
 
Eligibility 
Eligible routes for resurfacing include principal and minor arterials, urban collectors and major 
rural collectors that are not on a state route.  Minor rural collector and local roadways are not 
eligible for federal funding.  In order to be consistent with the ODOT Urban Paving Program, the 
eligibility of an item will be as outlined in ODOT’s Urban Paving Policy with the exception of 
full and partial depth pavement repair and ADA sidewalk ramps, which are eligible for AMATS 
funding.  Work items not directly related to the pavement resurfacing are not eligible for funding 
such as culvert replacement, street trees and guardrail.  Roadways with a Pavement Condition 
Rating (PCR) of greater than 80 are also not eligible for funding. 
 
The AMATS TAC TIP Subcommittee, with consultation from the AMATS staff, reserves the 
right to consider project applications under another funding program that it deems better suited 
for the application. 
 
Program Policies 
1. Resurfacing – Resurfacing is defined as a thin asphalt type overlay, not to exceed 3 inches, or 

similar treatment.  Geofabric is eligible.  Concrete roadways are not eligible unless being 
overlaid with asphalt. 

2. Reconstruction – Pavements in need of reconstruction are not eligible for AMATS 
Resurfacing Program funds.  A project is considered roadway reconstruction and not 
resurfacing when over 25% of the pavement surface area within the project limits needs 
repaired or replaced. 

 
3.  Structures – Any work on structures beyond the asphalt type overlay as mentioned above is 

not eligible for funding. 
 
4. Frequency of Resurfacing – Sponsors are responsible for maintaining their roadways so that 

the pavement does not deteriorate prematurely.  AMATS will only provide funding for 
resurfacing at a minimum of 10-year intervals if the previous resurfacing involved federal 
funds.  The 10-year interval begins on the date the last resurfacing was completed and does 
not include temporary overlays. 

 
5. Federal Participation 
 a. The maximum federal share for projects under the Resurfacing program is 80% of the 

total eligible project costs (excluding 100% local items).  Federal funds are capped at the 
approved amount shown in the current TIP. 

 b. Federal funding participation for Resurfacing projects is either the federal participation 
rate approved for the project, or the total federal funds approved for the project, 
whichever is less. 



37Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

13 
 

 c. A minimum of 20% of the annual STBG allocation will be set aside as a target budget to 
fund this program. 

 
6. Local Participation  

a. The minimum local share is 20% of total eligible costs (excluding 100% local items). 
 b. The local share for Resurfacing projects is required to be in cash from local, state or other 

non-federal sources.  These projects are not eligible for softmatch credit, or 100% Federal 
funding participation, regardless of Federal or state eligibility.  Planning and engineering 
costs (including the development of right-of-way and construction plans) are not 
considered as local share. 

 
7. Right-of-Way – the right-of-way phase is not eligible for funding. 
 
8.  Resurfacing Funding Cap – Resurfacing projects have a construction cap of $700,000 in 

federal funds.  Assuming an 80% Federal share, total project cost should not exceed 
$875,000.  Any cost above this amount is the responsibility of the local sponsor. 

 
9. Project Delays – Funding for STBG projects that are delayed or cancelled will be re-

evaluated based on the following principles: 
a. If a project is delayed due to the lack of programmed federal funds, the project will be 

rescheduled as soon as funds become available. 
b. If a project is delayed due to the project sponsor, the project may be cancelled or 

rescheduled at a later time as not to impact or jeopardize other projects that have met 
their schedules. 

 
10. Project Cost Increases – Project phases scheduled in the next fiscal year will be updated in 

AMATS funding program to reflect the latest estimates.  Project sponsors must submit 
revised project cost estimates for the phase that is scheduled in the next fiscal year.  

 
 If the revised project cost estimate is lower than the original estimate, AMATS federal share, 

as shown in AMATS Funding Program and Balances Table, will be adjusted accordingly to 
reflect 80% of the revised estimate.  The project cost shown in the TIP will not be changed 
and the project is still eligible to receive federal funding up to 80% of the original estimate. 

 
If the revised project cost estimate, based on the original scope, is higher than the original 
estimate, AMATS federal share may be increased up to 80% of the revised estimate.  
AMATS federal share increase is limited to 15% above the original federal share 
programmed for the project and is not to exceed the funding policy cap for right-of-way and 
construction.  The AMATS Staff has the authority to make funding decisions for project cost 
increases based on the availability of funds.  Situations not specified herein will be reviewed 
by the TAC TIP Subcommittee.   

 
11. Major Changes to Project Funding – Projects which have already received federal STBG 

funds through AMATS are not eligible to apply for additional STBG funds through AMATS 
normal application cycle.  If additional funding for a project is necessary a request must be 

14 
 

made to the AMATS Staff and will be reviewed by the TAC TIP Subcommittee, TAC and 
Policy Committee, with the Policy Committee having final decision making authority. 

 
12.  Self-Scoring – AMATS strongly recommends communities self-score their applications 

before submitting them for consideration. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



38Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

15 
 

PAVEMENT REPAIR & SIDEWALK RAMP PROGRAM 
 
Description: 
ODOT’s Urban Paving Program includes participation in resurfacing state and US routes within 
municipalities.  In accordance with ODOT’s Policy, ODOT District 4 requires that all partial and 
full depth pavement repairs within the project limits be completed before or in conjunction with 
a resurfacing project that has been scheduled under its paving program.  Municipalities are 
responsible for funding these pavement repairs.   
 
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), ODOT District 4 also 
requires that all sidewalk ramps within the project limits meet the current standards and be 
completed before or in conjunction with a resurfacing project that has been scheduled under the 
paving program.  Municipalities are also responsible for all sidewalk ramps costs.   
 
Title II of the ADA specifically applies to public entities (state and local governments), and the 
programs, services, and activities they deliver.  Title II Article 8, requires public entities to take 
several steps designed to achieve compliance with the ADA.  The first step in this compliance is 
the development of an ADA transition plan.  The ADA transition plan should include:  
 

1.    A list of the physical barriers in a public entity’s facilities that limit the accessibility      
of its programs, activities, or services to individuals with disabilities.  

2.    A detailed outline of the methods to be utilized to remove these barriers and make 
the facilities accessible.  

3.    The schedule for taking the necessary steps to achieve compliance with Title II. 
4.    The name of the official responsible for the plan’s implementation.  

 
Transition plans provide a method for a public entity to schedule and implement ADA required 
improvements to existing streets and sidewalks.  The transition plan requires an inventory of the 
current curb ramps and sidewalks, the identification of barriers, and a system for the removal of 
these barriers.   Transition plans must also include a public involvement component.    
 
AMATS requires that all of its members have an ADA Transition Plan, and certify this as part of 
the project funding application process.   
 
Eligibility 
Resurfacing projects on State and US routes within municipalities scheduled under ODOT’s 
Urban Paving Program. 
 
Program Policies 
AMATS may participate in funding these partial and full depth pavement repairs and sidewalk 
ramps with STBG funds at an 80% share.  The AMATS staff has the authority to make funding 
decisions of up to $150,000 in federal funds per project for a combination of both the pavement 
repairs and ADA ramps.  This action is subject to the availability of funds.  The AMATS Policy 
Committee will make funding decisions for projects that require more than the $150,000 federal 
share for these items.  

16 
 

FTA URBANIZED AREA FORMULA (SECTION 5307) PROGRAM 
 
Description 
The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5307 Program funding is apportioned to each 
Urbanized Area as a transportation block grant.  These funds are flexible and may be used for a 
variety of transportation projects.  However, these funds tend to be used for transit projects such 
as bus replacements and other transit capital projects.  For urbanized areas over 200,000 in 
population, such as Akron, Section 5307 funds may only be used for capital expenses.  The 
exceptions to this restriction include expenses for preventive maintenance, the capital cost of 
leasing, planning, and complementary ADA paratransit service.  The funding participation rate is 
generally 80% federal and 20% local.  See the FTA circular for program guidance. 
 
Eligibility 
Grants under the Urbanized Area Formula Program are available to finance planning and capital 
projects. Capital projects include acquisition, construction, improvement, and maintenance of 
facilities and equipment for use in public transit.  Eligible purposes include planning, 
engineering design and evaluation of transit projects and other technical transportation-related 
studies; capital investments in bus and bus-related activities such as replacement of buses, 
overhaul or rebuilding of buses, security equipment and construction of maintenance and 
passenger facilities; and capital investments in new and existing fixed guideway systems 
including rolling stock, overhaul and rebuilding of vehicles, track, signals, communications and 
computer hardware and software. All preventive maintenance costs are considered capital costs. 
 
Program Policies 
1. Designated Recipients – Currently, the only designated recipients of Section 5307 funds in 

the AMATS area are METRO RTA in Summit County and PARTA in Portage County.  Both 
METRO and PARTA receive the bulk of their Section 5307 funds from the Akron Urbanized 
Area’s apportionment and receive smaller suballocations from the apportionment to the 
Cleveland Urbanized Area.  Medina County Public Transit (MCPT) serves a portion of the 
Akron Urbanized Area, in and adjoining the Wadsworth area.  As a result, MCPT will 
receive a portion of these formula funds as described in the Memorandum of Understanding 
signed in 2013 (AMATS Policy Resolution 2013-15; September 25, 2013).  NOACA serves 
as the Metropolitan Planning Organization for MCPT.   

 
2. Evaluation of Projects – Annually, METRO and PARTA will submit a draft project list to 

AMATS requesting Section 5307 funds.  The staff will ensure that the project lists are 
consistent with the Regional Transportation Plan, as well as the region’s Transit Asset 
Management (TAM) planning activities. AMATS, METRO and PARTA will collaborate to 
ensure the appropriate and efficient use of funds and then make recommendations to the 
Policy Committee and Technical Advisory Committee based on the priorities of the Regional 
Transportation Plan.  If issues arise with a specific project that the staff cannot resolve, the 
TAC TIP Subcommittee will be called on to resolve the issue.   

 



39Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

17 
 

3. Cleveland Urbanized Area Section 5307 Funds – AMATS is responsible for programming 
the projects that METRO and PARTA will fund with the Section 5307 funds they receive 
from the Cleveland Urbanized Area’s apportionment.  Annually, AMATS will work with 
METRO and PARTA to ensure that FTA obligates all of the Cleveland Urbanized Area 
Section 5307 funds prior to obligating any Akron Urbanized Area funds. 

 
4. Program Funding Cap – There is no funding cap for the Section 5307 Program. 
 
  

18 
 

FTA ENHANCED MOBILITY OF SENIORS AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 
DISABILITIES (SECTION 5310) PROGRAM 

 
Description 
The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with 
Disabilities (Section 5310) Program provides funding for the purpose of assisting non-profit 
human/social services agencies, as well as providers of public transportation, in meeting the 
special transportation needs of the elderly and those with disabilities.  Until fiscal year 2015, this 
competitive grant program was administered by the ODOT Office of Transit as the Specialized 
Transportation Program. However, MAP-21 made significant changes to this program. FTA 
Section 5310 funding will now be allocated directly to the metropolitan areas by formula, 
allowing for greater local control and decision-making.  The Section 5310 program will now be 
administered by AMATS.  METRO RTA and PARTA will serve as the designated recipients of 
program funds.  See the FTA circular for program guidance. 
 
To receive FTA Section 5310 funding, an area must develop and maintain a locally developed 
coordinated transportation plan, as mandated by federal guidance. Local projects must be 
consistent with the AMATS Coordinated Public Transit – Human Services Transportation Plan 
(Coordinated Plan), as well as the region’s Transit Asset Management (TAM) planning 
activities. The current Coordinated Plan was approved by the AMATS Policy Committee on 
May 10, 2018 (Resolution 2018-11). 
 
Eligible Projects 
Grants under the FTA Section 5310 program are available to finance capital and, on a limited 
basis, operating expenses. Funding may be awarded to qualified public agencies, regional transit 
authorities and for-profit providers of shared-ride transportation.  Eligible projects include (but 
are not limited to): 
 

 Capital Rolling Stock & Related Equipment – accessible buses, vans and other vehicles, 
on-board communications equipment, and computer hardware and software to aid in the 
efficiency and coordination of transportation for the elderly and those with disabilities. 
 

 Capital Projects to Increase Access to Transportation – public transportation projects 
exceeding ADA requirements, construction of accessible shelters, infrastructure to 
improve access to transit stops that are not currently accessible, etc. 
 

 Operating Assistance – feeder services to provide access to fixed-route bus stops, new 
service to meet the needs of seniors and the disabled in areas where existing services are 
insufficient, inappropriate or unavailable and alternatives to public transportation. 
 

Program Policies 
1. Designated  Recipients – METRO RTA and PARTA are the designated recipients of 

Section 5310 funds. All subrecipients will receive their funds through METRO in 
Summit and Wayne Counties or PARTA in Portage County.  The area’s Program 
Management Plan (PMP) describes the designated recipient’s policies and procedures for 
administering FTA Section 5310 funds.  The PMP is part of the AMATS Area 



40Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

19 
 

Coordinated Public Transit – Human Services Transportation Plan.  The PMP also 
describes the competitive selection process. 
 

2. Administrative Expenses Reimbursement – Per the FTA Section 5310 program 
provisions, AMATS and/or the designated recipients may set aside up to 10% of total 
program funds for the reimbursement of administrative, planning and technical assistance 
expenses. 
 

3. Evaluation of Projects – All projects must be competitively selected and consistent with 
the region’s Coordinated Plan.  AMATS will develop and maintain evaluation criteria for 
the FTA Section 5310 program.  All projects must meet minimum scoring requirements. 
 
AMATS will evaluate and prioritize all projects, in keeping with the recommendations 
established within the Coordinated Plan and in consideration of the total funding 
available.  Projects that are not consistent with the Coordinated Plan will not be scored or 
considered for funding.  The AMATS Policy Committee with be responsible for final 
approval of the projects that receive Section 5310 funding. 
 

4. Program Funding Cap – There is no funding cap for the FTA Section 5310 program. 

 
 
  

20 
 

FTA BUS AND BUS FACILITIES (SECTION 5339) PROGRAM 
 
Description 
The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Bus and Bus Facilities (Section 5339) Program 
provides capital funding to replace, rehabilitate and purchase buses and related equipment, and to 
construct bus-related facilities. Several years ago federal surface transportation legislation 
created this program to replace the FTA Section 5309 Bus and Bus Facilities Program. 
 
Funds will be formulaically allocated to the Akron urbanized area (UZA), in accordance with the 
grant requirements established by the FTA Section 5307 program. The designated recipients of 
program funding are operators of fixed-route bus services, which include METRO RTA and 
PARTA in the AMATS region. Public agencies or private non-profit organizations engaged in 
public transportation are eligible subrecipients. The funding participation rate is 80% federal and 
20% local. 
 
Eligibility 
Grants under the Bus and Bus Facilities program are available to finance capital projects. 
Eligible activities include the replacement, rehabilitation and purchase of buses, vans, and related 
equipment, and the construction of bus-related facilities. 
 
Program Policies 

1. Designated  Recipients – As the AMATS region’s two operators of fixed-route bus 
service, METRO in Summit County, and PARTA in Portage County are the designated 
recipients for 5339 funding. Both METRO and PARTA receive the bulk of their Section 
5339 funding from the Akron Urbanized Area’s apportionment, and may receive smaller 
suballocations from the apportionment to the Cleveland Urbanized Area.  
 

2. Evaluation of Projects – Annually, METRO and PARTA will submit a draft project list to 
AMATS requesting Section 5339 funds. The staff will ensure that the project lists are 
consistent with the Regional Transportation Plan, as well as the region’s Transit Asset 
Management (TAM) planning activities. AMATS, METRO and PARTA will collaborate 
to ensure the appropriate and efficient use of funds and then make recommendations to 
the Policy Committee and Technical Advisory Committee based on the priorities of the 
Regional Transportation Plan. If issues arise with a specific project that the staff cannot 
resolve, the TAC TIP Subcommittee will be called on to resolve the issue. 
 

3. Cleveland Urbanized Area Section 5339 Funds – AMATS is responsible for 
programming the projects that METRO and PARTA will fund with Section 5339 funds 
they receive from the Cleveland Urbanized Area’s apportionment. Annually, AMATS 
will work with METRO and PARTA to ensure that FTA obligates all of the Cleveland 
Urbanized Area Section 5339 funds prior to obligating any Akron Urbanized Area funds. 
 

Program Funding Cap – There is no funding cap for the FTA Section 5339 program. 
 



41Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

21 
 

SECTION 3 

 
TIP PROJECT SELECTION AND IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS 

 
Final selection of STBG, TASA, Resurfacing, FTA Section 5307 Urban Area Formula, Section 
5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities and Section 5339 Bus and 
Bus Facilities projects is the responsibility of the AMATS Policy Committee.  The Policy 
Committee has assigned specific duties to the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) and the 
TAC TIP Subcommittee. In this section, the assigned duties of the TAC and the TAC TIP 
Subcommittee are listed. In addition, the steps included in the process to select projects for 
funding are described. 
 
DUTIES OF THE TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
The Policy Committee has assigned to the Technical Advisory Committee the following duties in 
the development and monitoring of the STBG, TASA, Resurfacing and FTA Sections 5307, 
5310 and 5339 funding programs: 
 a. Review project schedules, project costs and funding programs and provide a periodic 

TIP Status Report to the Policy Committee.  
 b. Appoint a TIP Subcommittee to monitor TIP funding and project activity.  The TAC 

Chairman will direct this Subcommittee and its membership shall include the Policy 
Committee Chairperson, one representative from each city with a population of over 
20,000, a representative from a city with a population between 10,000 and 20,000 
appointed by the Policy Committee Chairperson, a representative from a city with a 
population between 5,000 and 10,000 appointed by the Policy Committee 
Chairperson, a village representative appointed by the Policy Committee Chairperson, 
the Summit and Portage County Engineers, Portage Area Regional Transportation 
Authority and METRO Regional Transit Authority.  Each member of the 
Subcommittee has one vote.  The chairman can only vote if his or her community is 
not otherwise represented.  Policy Committee Chairperson appointments will be made 
before a round of AMATS funding begins. The appointees will serve for two years 
until the next round of funding. 

 c. Provide recommendations to the Policy Committee for the purpose of adding, 
deleting or altering TIP projects.  In developing its recommendations, the TAC will 
consider the results of an evaluation of project applications, TIP Subcommittee 
project funding recommendations, the goals and objectives of the AMATS Regional 
Transportation Plan, project development schedules, funding availability through 
other federal programs, anticipated availability of AMATS attributable federal funds, 
and an equitable distribution of funding among communities or agencies. 

 
DUTIES OF THE TAC TIP SUBCOMMITTEE 
The Policy Committee has assigned the TAC TIP Subcommittee the following funding policies 
and programming procedures activities.  Staff assistance will be provided to the TAC TIP 
Subcommittee in performing these duties.  

22 
 

 a. Conduct quarterly project review meetings to monitor the status of projects selected 
for funding. 

 b. Provide periodic TIP Status Reports to TAC.  The report will include an update of 
project schedules, project costs and funding availability. 

 c. Solicit project applications based on the availability of federal funds. 
 d. Conduct a preliminary review of proposed projects. 

 e. Review project applications, apply project criteria, and provide to the TAC a listing 
of project funding recommendations. 

 f. Complete air quality conformity evaluations as needed. 
 
 
 



42Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix A - Funding Policy Guidelines  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Public Participation Plan

3P3P
Public Par� cipa� on PlanPublic Par� cipa� on Plan
December 2018December 2018

This report was prepared by the Akron Metropolitan Area Transporta� on Study 
�AMATS� in coopera� on with the U.S. Department of Transporta� on, the Ohio 
Department of Transporta� on, and the Village, City and County governments of 
Portage and Summit Coun� es and Chippewa and Milton Township in Wayne County.  
The contents of this report refl ect the views of AMATS, which is responsible for the facts 
and accuracy of the data presented herein.  The contents do not necessarily refl ect 
the offi  cial view and policies of the Ohio and/or U.S. Department of Transporta� on.  
This report does not cons� tute a standard, specifi ca� on or regula� on.

Akron Metropolitan Area Transporta� on Study
161 S High St  |  Suite 201  |  Akron, Ohio 44308
Phone:  330-375-2436
Fax:  330-375-2275

3P3P
PublicPublic
ParticipationParticipation
PlanPlan

December 2018



43Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

i3P

TABLE OF CONTENTSTABLE OF CONTENTS

IntroductionIntroduction
What is AMATS?

AMATS Committees and Staff
Policy Committee

Technical Advisory Committee (TAC)

Citizens Involvement Committee (CIC)

Staff

On the Web
AMATSPLANNING.ORG

SWITCHING-GEARS.ORG

Social Media

New Approaches
Public Empowerment

Community Outreach

Speakers’ Bureau

Public Information

Unique Populations
Map - Low-Income Population

Map - Minority Population

Conclusion
Appendix A - Regional Transportation Plan

Appendix B - Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)

Appendix C - Involvement of Interested Parties and Public Comment

Appendix D - Comment Forms
Comment Form - 2018 Draft Public Participation Plan - “3P”

Audience Participation Form

Appendix E - Language Assistance Plan for Limited English Profi cient Poplations

1
2

3
3

4

4

5

6
6

7

7

8
8

9

9

9

10
13

14

15
16
18
20
21
21

22

23

1�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan

INTRODUCTION

This P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan or “3P” seeks to encourage an open planning process that supports early and 
sustained public involvement, � mely public no� ce, and full public access to informa� on regarding key 
transporta� on decisions within the Greater Akron area.

The 3P ensures a con� nuing, comprehensive, and coordinated process among all area stakeholders while 
encouraging and providing opportuni� es for broad-based par� cipa� on in the development and review of 
regional transporta� on plans, programs and policies. Through the 3P, AMATS strives to engage the public at the 
earliest stages of transporta� on planning, especially those popula� ons who are tradi� onally underserved or 
economically depressed such as limited-English profi ciency, minority and low-income popula� ons.

The 3P refl ects the reali� es of a changing society. AMATS seeks to foster an environment where the public feels 
that its insights not only ma� er, but are encouraged and welcomed. The 3P is updated periodically to: refl ect 
changes in local, state or federal legisla� on; adjust the plan to include new technologies; and to meet the needs 
of the community. The agency relies on the following guiding principles when upda� ng the 3P:

• AMATS recognizes that every major public policy decision or implemented transporta� on project 
signifi cantly aff ects someone.

• �f the agency�s decision-making process is open, objec� ve and considers all viewpoints, then policies, 
programs and projects are usually much more willingly accepted and embraced by aff ected communi� es.

• By u� lizing a variety of public outreach techni�ues in mul� ple formats to provide planning informa� on,  
the agency will gain a wide audience and solicit input from a greater number of people.

• �oordina� on and collabora� on among as many as transporta� on stakeholders as possible during the 
planning process produces the most eff ec� ve and balanced transporta� on solu� ons.

Because the agency relies on these principles, the 3P allows the Greater Akron area to meet unforeseen changes 
crea� vely and forcefully.

Throughout the change occurring around us, there is an old transporta� on adage that s� ll holds true: The journey 
of a thousand miles begins with a single step. �ur agency ac� vely pursues strategies to encourage the public to 
take their fi rst steps in ge�  ng involved in their region�s transporta� on planning process. AMATS provides many 
opportuni� es throughout this process for the public to par� cipate and infl uence transporta� on policies.

There are several diff erent ways to get involved with AMATS which are presented in 3P, most notably our �i� zens 
�nvolvement �ommi� ee. Please note that the public is by no means limited to the strategies detailed in these 
pages. The agency ac� vely seeks new opportuni� es to exchange ideas with the public and welcomes ideas and 
sugges� ons on how to do so.



44Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

2�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan

“AMATS” stands for the Akron Metropolitan Area Transporta� on Study. We are responsible for transporta� on 
planning within the Greater Akron area comprised of Portage and Summit coun� es and a por� on of Wayne 
County. From highways to bikeways, from buses to trails, our agency plays a role in the planning of the major 
transporta� on projects within the area and the funding that makes them possible.

A Policy Commi� ee, a Technical Ad�isory Commi� ee (TAC), a Ci� �ens In�ol�ement Commi� ee (CIC) and a staff  
are the offi  cial players that comprise AMATS with each suited to a par� cular role in the planning process. To learn 
more about each, read on.

What is AMATS?

“Planning is bringing the future into the 
present so that you can do something about 
it now.”
- Alan Lakein, author

33P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan

AMATS COMMITTEES AND STAFF
Each Player Has a Role - Even You!

Transporta� on planning in the Greater Akron area is accomplished 
through a cast of players. Like any ensemble cast, each player performs 
a unique role, but their roles are intertwined. The Policy Commi� ee, 
Technical Advisory Commi� ee (TAC), Ci� zens Involvement Commi� ee 
(CIC) and agency staff  are featured players in this cast, but - like any cast 
- they need feedback. The feedback that they need comes from you - the 
public - through your par� cipa� on in the planning process.

As a member of the public, you are encouraged to par� cipate in the planning process. AMATS strives to make 
the Greater Akron area�s transporta� on planning process as transparent and accessible as possible. The agency 
regularly:

• Posts � mely no� ces about mee� ng dates and loca� ons and mee� ng materials in advance on our website 
- amatsplanning.org.

• Provides podcasts of past mee� ngs on our agency website and through our podcast subscrip� on service.

• Schedules commi� ee mee� ngs in loca� ons that are accessible for all ci� zens, includiong the disabled 
and transit dependent.

�ou are welcome to a� end any of our commi� ee mee� ngs, all of which are open to the public. Below
are descrip� ons regarding our commi� ees and staff  and how you may par� cipate in the regional

Pol�cy Co���� ee

Currently, there are �� vo� ng members of the Policy Commi� ee 
represen� ng every community in the Greater Akron area. It is this 
body that decides how the area�s federal transporta� on dollars 
should be spent. The commi� ee is composed of elected offi  cials, 
county engineers, transit agencies and representa� ves from the 
�hio �epartment of Transporta� on. Its members meet regularly 
si� � mes a year to make funding decisions, discuss priori� es and 
policies, and collaborate on regional issues.

The Policy Commi� ee provides opportuni� es for the public to address the commi� ee with the following 
guidelines:

• Anyone interested in making comments before the Policy Commi� ee may do so during the public 
comment period at the beginning of the agenda.

• Public comments are limited to three minutes per person, but may be allowed more � me by the Policy 
Commi� ee chairperson.



45Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

• �rganiza� ons wishing to address the �olicy Commi� ee should select one representa� ve to speak during 
the public comment period.

• Speakers will be asked to fi ll out an �����n�� ��r� ��p�� on Form before addressing the �olicy Commi� ee 
(p. 22).

• Ci� zens may contact the AMATS staff  at 330-375-2436 or by email at amats@akronohio.gov in advance 
to re�uest � me to speak, or may do so in person before the mee� ng with any AMATS staff  member.

The TAC provides technical assistance to the Polic� Commi� ee throughout the planning process. The TAC is made 
up o� planners and engineers represen� ng communi� es� coun� es and transit providers across the Greater Akron 
area. The e�per� se o� these members provides the Polic� Commi� ee with needed “nuts-and-bolts” insights 
regarding the area’s projects.

Technical A�visory Commi� ee (TAC)

The CIC is the forum through which the public may weigh in directly on transporta� on�related ma� ers. Through 
its open�mee� ng format, CIC members may freely discuss issues with AMATS staff  members and other players 
in the region’s planning process. The AMATS staff  works closely with the CIC members to iden� fy poten� al 
discussion topics and in the prepara� on of necessary mee� ng materials and the scheduling of guest speakers.

The commi� ee meets si� � mes a year and its membership is open to all who wish to par� cipate. �egular mee� ngs 
commence at 6:30 p.m. and are usually held in the Akron-Summit County Public Library located at 60 South 
High Street in downtown, which is centrally located and transit accessible in the �reater Akron area. Addi� onal 
commi� ee mee� ngs may be scheduled by the CIC members if they so desire.

AMATS promotes CIC mee� ngs through regularly scheduled adver� sements with the �eacon �ournal. Addi� onal 
newspaper adver� sements are occasionally purchased if deemed necessary by the staff  given the regional 
signifi cance of and public interest in par� cular agenda items and topics. The agency also promotes CIC mee� ngs 
through email and social media campaigns to commi� ee members, interested agencies and groups, and area 
media.

Ci� �ens Involvement Commi� ee (CIC)

3P - Public Par� cipa� on Plan3P - Public Par� cipa� on Plan 44
5�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan

The AMATS staff  assists all three commi� ees and carries out the �day-to-day� administra� ve and technical work 
of the agency. The staff  develops the area’s long-range �egional Transporta� on Plan (p. 16 - p. 17) and the four-
year Transporta� on Improvement Program (TIP) (p. 18 - p. 19). The staff  is a mix of engineers, planners and other 
professional disciplines.

�hile serving as a liaison between the public and the commi� ees of AMATS, the staff  ensures that public comment 
is considered throughout the region’s planning process. The staff  welcomes verbal and wri� en comments and 
strives to respond to concerns in a � mely manner. You may contact the staff  at 330-375-2436 or by email at 
amats@akronohio.gov. You may contact individual staff  members directly by referencing the Staff  Directory on 
the AMATS web site at amatsplanning.org. �ri� en correspondence should be addressed to:

AMATS
161 S. High Street  |  Suite 201

Akron, Ohio 44308

As part of its du� es to maintain the programs of AMATS, the staff  is granted the discre� on by the AMATS Policy 
�ommi� ee to implement minor revisions or administra� ve modifi ca� ons to the �egional Transporta� on Plan and 
the TIP, and various plan and TIP amendments, reports, and studies as may be warranted. Such administra� ve 
modifi ca� ons are largely gramma� cal and typographical correc� ons or revisions that do not re�uire demonstra� on 
of fi scal constraint or an air �uality conformity determina� on. For the sake of transparency, the staff  will present 
all changes to the �egional Transporta� on Plan and TIP to the AMATS Policy �ommi� ee regardless as to whether 
they are minor revisions, administra� ve changes or amendments. (The criteria used by the staff  in making such 
determina� ons are presented in Appendix A - �egional Transporta� on Plan (p. 16 - p. 17) and Appendix B - 
Transporta� on Improvement Program (TIP) (p. 18 - p. 19) of the 3P.)

If the staff  determines that formal amendments to the �egional Transporta� on Plan or TIP are warranted, the 
staff  will determine whether such changes cons� tute Minor or Ma�or Amendments. Once such determina� ons 
are made by the staff , then the agency will pursue the appropriate public par� cipa� on procedures specifi ed in 
Appendices A and B of the 3P.

Staff 



46Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

6�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan

ON THE WEB
Emerging technologies present AMATS with new opportuni� es to connect with the public. The Internet has 
created boundless opportuni� es for you and your friends to engage with our agency without the need to leave 
the comfort of your home.

Along with its two web sites - amatsplanning.org and switching-gears.org - AMATS uses web pos� ng and social 
media sites such as Twi� er, Facebook and �ouTube to provide ci� zens with up-to-the-minute informa� on. The 
agency also has expanded its prac� ce of pos� ng announcements, mee� ng informa� on and news on community-
oriented sites such as the Summit County Community Calendar, Zvents and other appropriate venues.

Below are some of the ways that AMATS harnesses the power of the Internet.

AMATSPLANNING.ORG

AMATS rou� nely updates its website to make the site even more user-friendly. The agency is working to show 
you how your tax dollars are being spent in a clear, easy-to-understand format. Our web site includes an easy-to-
use interac� ve Transporta� on Improvement Program (TIP), which provides details about AMATS-funded projects 
and includes map images of TIP project loca� ons.

Among the agency’s goals for its site have been to make it easier to inform the public about events while 
providing opportuni� es for them to become more engaged and involved in the planning process. From the 
Home and Mee� ngs pages, a visitor can check out dates and � mes for our next �olicy Commi� ee, Technical 
Advisory Commi� ee �TAC�, and Ci� zens Involvement Commi� ee �CIC� mee� ngs. A visitor can also view the most 
recent commi� ee mee� ng packet, listen to an M�� mee� ng podcast, or complete an Audience Par� cipa� on 
Form (p. 22) to speak to the �olicy Commi� ee. Visitors will also fi nd access to � mely features under What’s New, 
check out our Twi� er feed, or search the en� re site for a specifi c topic.

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 requires that AMATS shall not, on the basis of race, color, religion, na� onal 
origin or sex, exclude anyone from par� cipa� on in, be denied the benefi ts of, or be subjected to discrimina� on 
under any program or ac� vity receiving federal fi nancial assistance. In the event that a member of the public 
believes that they are the vic� m of an alleged discriminatory prac� ce by AMATS during the Greater Akron area’s 
transporta� on planning process, our agency provides a Nondiscrimina� on Complaint Form on our agency website 
- amatsplanning.org. Using this form, ci� zens may describe in detail why they believe that their concerns or 
needs are not being addressed by the agency.

Addi� onally, our agency website - amatsplanning.org - includes a link to language interpreta� on so� ware to 
assist those for whom English is not the fi rst language. Using this link, visitors to our website can translate 
pages into other languages including Chinese, French and Spanish. The AMATS Title VI - Program Procedures and 
�ocumenta� on Plan outlines other steps to include limited-English profi cient persons in the planning process.

7�P - Public Par� cipa� on Plan

�his web site provides informa� on to people on ways to take advantage 
of the Greater Akron area’s trails and inform them on ways to u� lize 
cycling as a means of transporta� on. Switching-Gears.org also has a 
calendar announcing organized bike rides and events in our region and 
an easy-to-use Bike User Map.

SWITCHING-GEARS.ORG

Social media has fast become one of AMATS’ most u� lized tools for public outreach. The agency can interact with 
the public regarding transporta� on-related topics instantaneously. Below are some of the most popular media 
that AMATS uses on a regular basis.

• T�i� er is a great online tool that lets you send messages to your followers in 280 characters or 
less. Stay up to date with the most relevant news in transporta� on and land use planning. Follow
@amatsplanning on Twi� er to receive tweets about the latest transporta� on news.

• Facebook is a popular social media tool that is increasingly being used by agencies to reach new audiences 
and AMATS is no e�cep� on. The agency’s Facebook page is updated frequently with our latest tweets and 
pictures of the region. It is also linked to the AMATS website where the public can get more informa� on.

• YouTube is a social media site that allows users to post videos and share them with friends. Through its 
channel - AMATSPlanning - the agency presents many special video features highligh� ng transporta� on 
topics.  Topics range from mee� ng summaries to informa� ve features.

Social Media

“Social media is the ultimate equalizer.  
It gives a voice and a platform to anyone 
willing to engage.”
- Amy Jo Martin, author, speaker, 
entrepreneur, and founder and CEO of Digital 
Royalty



47Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

3P - Public Participation Plan 88

NEW APPROACHES
����� con� nually seeks new approaches to engage the 
public throughout the transporta� on planning process. 
�elow are descrip� ons of some of the newer strategies 
that our agency has embraced in recent years. 

Public Empowerment

A�AT� pursues innova� ve public empowerment strategies that present opportuni� es to challenge the public 
beyond mere dialogue. These strategies ac� vely urge the public to tackle transporta� on issues directly through 
par� cipa� on in unique events. Generally, these events entail a topic-specifi c ac� vity geared to spur dialogue 
between par� cipants and area policy makers. �ollowing par� cipa� on in a group endeavor, par� cipants share 
their ideas and insights gained through fi rsthand experiences as to what can be done to improve accessibility 
and livability in a par� cular locale. Below are several examples used by the agency:

• Ac� �e �ransporta� on Conferences - A�AT� hosts conferences dedicated to transporta� on-
related topics designed to provoke discussions between policy makers and the public. The intent 
of the conferences are to help communi� es address and iden� fy needs that policymakers may 
have overlooked. These conferences are daylong events with featured speakers and breakout 
sessions.

• Be� er Block - Be� er Block encourages the public to take one neighborhood block at a � me, start 
small, and actually do something. It could be se�  ng up new temporary bike lanes; it could be 
makeshi�  street art or furniture; it could be a coff ee shop, art gallery or beer garden for a brief 
period of � me. These events help the public experience something new in their neighborhoods 
by le�  ng them see it, live it and - perhaps most importantly � par� cipate in actually �re�� ng it.

• Bike-N-Brainstorms - These events embark on a group bike ride along key corridors as an 
alterna� ve way to get feedback about on-road biking. At the end of their ride, group members 
par� cipate in a brainstorming session with agency personnel and local offi  cials to share their 
ideas as to what can be done to improve bike travel within the area.

• Jane’s Walk - Inspired by pioneering author and 
urban ac� vist, Jane Jacobs, these events provide 
opportuni� es for people to engage in city planning 
by mee� ng and exploring ci� es through short walking 
tours. �uring these tours, par� cipants discuss what 
can be done to make areas more pedestrian friendly.

The agency also welcomes invita� ons and sugges� ons from 
the public to par� cipate and support community-oriented 
events benefi �  ng the area�s transporta� on systems.

93P - Public Participation Plan

As part of its eff orts to fashion a vibrant, 
livable Greater Akron area, AMATS 
frequently partners with various civic 
groups on a host of projects. Among the 
agency’s past partners have been the 
�arberton �ommunity �ounda� on, The 
�night �ounda� on, Leadership Akron, 

Community Outreach

AMATS staff  members are available by appointment to discuss technical and 
policy informa� on with ci� �ens and other interested par� es during and outside 
of the agency’s normal business hours. Staff ers are also available by appointment 
to present technical and policy informa� on to the public and to par� cipate in a 
variety of forums such as panel discussions.

�ndividuals and groups can request a speaker by contac� ng AMATS at amats@
akronohio.gov or at 330-375-2436. �equests should be transmi� ed via the 
agency’s public informa� on coordinator.

Speakers’ Bureau

As part of our eff orts to provide the region with a transparent planning process, AMATS goes beyond merely 
accommoda� ng requests for public informa� on - which we will gladly do� The agency disseminates all mee� ng 
materials one week prior to scheduled commi� ee mee� ng dates via email and through pos� ngs on its web site 
- amatsplanning.org. The public is welcome to subscribe to these electronic mailings. All that’s needed for a 
subscrip� on to AMATS is a subscriber’s name and their email address. Postal delivery of materials may be arranged 
by special request at no charge to recipients.

Many materials, such as our current and past reports, plans and studies are available for review and download 
on the agency web site. Please note that selected dra�  and interim materials may be available for viewing and 
downloading only for specifi ed � mes, such as public comment periods.

�ecords of commi� ee mee� ngs are available in the form of minutes and MP3 podcasts on the agency website. 
AMATS will gladly forward pdf or printed versions of commi� ee minutes to the public via email or postal delivery 
upon request. The agency also off ers a podcast subscriber service in which commi� ee recordings can be 
automa� cally downloaded to your computer as soon as they become available.

�n addi� on, AMATS regularly distributes press releases and other informa� on to Greater Akron area media 
regarding transporta� on-related events and developments. The agency also provides a free annual report and a 
semi-annual newsle� er to commi� ee members, the media, and subscribers. �ther informa� on and services such 
as traffi  c data, pro�ect status informa� on, accident data and more are readily available on the agency website. The 
staff  is available to answer ques� ons regarding informa� on that is not readily available on the site.

�u��ic �n�orma� on



48Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 10

UNIQUE POPULATIONS

AMATS strives to involve low-income and minority groups in the public par� cipa� on process for the Greater 
Akron area. The agency relies on the defi ni� ons of these popula� ons provided by the United States Department 
of Transporta� on (USD�T) �rder ��10.2(a) on Environmental �us� ce, contained in the Federal Register (May 2, 
2012). “Low-Income” is defi ned as a person whose median household income is at or below the U.S. Department 
of Health and Human Services poverty guidelines.

A “Minority” is defi ned as a person who is:

1) Black (a person having origins in any of the black racial groups of Africa);
2) Hispanic (a person of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central or South American, or other Spanish culture 

or origin, regardless of race);
3) Asian (a person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia or the Indian 

subcon� nent);
�) Na� ve Hawaiian or other Pacifi c Islander (a person having origins in any of the original peoples of Hawaii, 

Guam, Samoa, or other Pacifi c Islands; or
�) American Indian and Alaskan Na� ve (a person having origins in any of the original people of North 

America and who maintain cultural iden� fi ca� on through tribal affi  lia� on or community recogni� on)

Using 2010 U.S. Census Bureau data, the agency recognizes where these groups are located within the region (p. 
13 and p. 14) and seeks their involvement throughout the planning process using a mix of outreach strategies 
involving adver� sements, community groups, press releases, social media and other available means. The 
aforemen� oned Public Empowerment strategies, such as Be� er Block and Bike-N-Brainstorms, (p. 8) present 
valuable opportuni� es for the agency and members of these popula� ons to coordinate, network and organize 
ac� vi� es with direct par� cipa� on and fi rsthand experiences given the targeted neighborhood scale of many of 
these events.

The region is also witnessing growth in its Asian and Hispanic popula� ons. These popula� ons have unique 
interests and needs which will contribute to and infl uence the area�s transporta� on policies and systems. 
AMATS recognizes this and strives to foster a dialogue with these and other diverse communi� es within the 
area. Recently, the agency has increased its outreach eff orts to these popula� ons by ini� a� ng a dialogue with 
various organiza� ons including:

• the Akron Urban League
• Asian Services in Ac� on, Inc.
• the Interna� onal Ins� tute of Akron
• the �hio La� no Aff airs Commission
• Torchbearers
• and other community and neighborhood groups

The agency ac� vely pursues opportuni� es to collaborate on the development of transporta� on-related programs 
and pro�ects with representa� ves of these popula� ons. Each public process confronts the challenge of ge�  ng 
tradi� onally underrepresented popula� ons involved in the planning process. These poten� ally underrepresented 

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 11

Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regula� ons (49 CFR), Part 21 states that “no person in the United states shall on 
the grounds of race, color, or na� onal origin be excluded from the par� cipa� on in, or be denied the benefi ts of, 
or be sub�ected to discrimina� on under any program or ac� vity receiving Federal Financial assistance.” In May 
2015, AMATS adopted a comprehensive ����� ����� �� � ��o���� ��o������� �n� �o����n��� on Plan, which 
defi nes the agency’s program, procedures and means of documenta� on. AMATS employees are responsible for 
ensuring that the agency’s programs, policies, and services are developed, conducted and implemented without 
regard to a person’s race, color, na� onal origin (including Limited English Profi ciency), sex, disability, ancestry, 
religion, military status or age. Employees must ensure that ethnic minori� es and low�income popula� ons are 
not adversely impacted, and aim to achieve full par� cipa� on by these groups in the agency’s programs, policies 
and ac� vi� es.

AMATS’ Public Informa� on Coordinator�Title VI Coordinator is responsible for ini� a� ng and monitoring Title 
VI ac� vi� es, preparing required reports, and other responsibili� es as required by Title 23 Code of Federal 
Regula� ons (CFR) Part 200, and Title 49 CFR Part 21.

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964

Execu� ve Order 12898 requires that dispropor� onately high and adverse human health or environmental eff ects 
on minority and low�income popula� ons be iden� fi ed and addressed to achieve environmental �us� ce. Since the 
establishment of Title VI, Environmental �us� ce has been considered in local, state, and federal transporta� on 
pro�ects. Addi� onally, Title 28 CFR Sec� on 42.104 of Title VI and related statutes require federal agencies to 
ensure that no person is excluded from par� cipa� on in, denied the benefi t of, or sub�ected to discrimina� on 
under any program or ac� vity receiving federal fi nancial assistance on the basis of race, color, na� onal origin, 
age, sex, disability, or religion.

��ec�� ve Order 12898 - Federal Actions to address
�nvironmental ��stice in �inorit� �o��la� ons and Low-Income 
�o��la� ons

popula� ons may include youth of the community, persons with disabili� es, senior persons and others who may 
be too busy or unable to a� end public mee� ngs.

Long an adherent to the spirit and wording of Title VI of the landmar� Civil Rights Act of 1964, Execu� ve Orders 
12898 and 13166, and the Americans with Disabili� es Act of 1990 (ADA), the agency will broaden and con� nue 
its outreach to the region’s many varied communi� es and popula� ons. The passages below demonstrate that 
the agency recognizes the importance of these federal requirements throughout the regional planning process.

“Where you see wrong or inequality or injustice, 
speak out, because this is your country.  Th is is 
your democracy.  Make it.  Protect it.  Pass it on.”
- Th urgood Marshall, U.S. Supreme Court Justice



49Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

3P - Public Par� cipa� on Plan3P - Public Par� cipa� on Plan 1212

Execu� ve Order 13166 requires federal agencies to examine the services that they provide, iden� fy any need for 
services to those with limited English profi ciency (LEP), and develop and implement a system to provide those 
services so that LEP persons can have meaningful access to them. This order also requires that recipients of 
federal fi nancial assistance provide meaningful access to their LEP applicants and benefi ciaries.

To assist federal agencies in carrying out their LEP responsibili� es, the �.S. Department of �us� ce has issued a 
Policy Guidance Document, 2002 LEP Guidance. This document sets the compliance standards that recipients of 
federal fi nancial assistance must follow to ensure that their programs and ac� vi� es normally provided in English 
are accessible to LEP persons and thus do not discriminate on the basis of na� onal origin in viola� on of Title VI’s 
prohibi� on against na� onal origin discrimina� on.

Appendix E - Language Assistance Plan for Limited English Profi cient Popula� ons (p. 23 - p. 27) details how AMATS 
meets the needs of LEP popula� ons within the Greater Akron area and evaluates the eff ec� veness of its eff orts.

E�ec�� ve Order 13166 - Improving Access to Services for Patrons 
with Limited English Profi ciency (LEP)

The agency prides itself on its ongoing eff orts to meet and exceed the standards outlined in the Americans with 
Disabili� es Act of 1990. AMATS will make every eff ort to arrange for transla� on, sign language and other special 
assistance at mee� ngs for individuals with special needs who request them in a � mely manner of at least three 
business days beforehand.

In addi� on, our agency website - amatsplanning.org - includes a link to language interpreta� on so� ware to assist 
those for whom English is not the fi rst language. �he A�A�� �itle �� - Program Procedures and �ocumenta� on 
Plan outlines other steps to include limited-English profi cient persons in the planning process.

Americans with �isa�ili� es Act of 1990

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 13

Lo
w

��n
co

�
e 

Po
pu

l�
� o

n

Pe
rc

en
t o

� �
ot

�l
 P

op
ul

��
 o

n 
Be

lo
w

Po
ve

rt
y 

Le
ve

l b
y 

Bl
oc

k 
Gr

ou
p

DA
TE

:  
O

ct
ob

er
 2

01
8

SO
UR

CE
:  

US
 C

en
su

s 
Bu

re
au

, A
m

er
ic

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y,

 2
01

6 
5-

Ye
ar

 E
st

im
at

es
, T

ab
le

 C
17

00
2

39
.4

5%
 - 

78
.1

2%

14
.8

4%
 - 

39
.4

4%

0.
01

%
 - 

14
.8

3%

0%

0
1

2
4

M
ile

s
3

N S

W
E

W
IN

D
H

AM
W

IN
D

H
AM

G
AR

R
ET

TS
VI

LL
E

G
AR

R
ET

TS
VI

LL
E

H
IR

AM
H

IR
AM

R
AV

EN
N

A
R

AV
EN

N
AM
AN

TU
A

M
AN

TU
A

AU
R

O
R

A
AU

R
O

R
A

ST
R

EE
TS

B
O

R
O

ST
R

EE
TS

B
O

R
O

K
EN

T
K

EN
T

R
EM

IN
D

ER
VI

LL
E

R
EM

IN
D

ER
VI

LL
E

TW
IN

SB
U

R
G

TW
IN

SB
U

R
G

H
U

D
SO

N
H

U
D

SO
N

ST
O

W
ST

O
W

M
U

N
R

O
E

M
U

N
R

O
E

FA
LL

S
FA

LL
S

SI
LV

ER
SI

LV
ER

LA
K

E
LA

K
E

C
U

YA
H

O
G

A
C

U
YA

H
O

G
A

FA
LL

S
FA

LL
S

B
O

ST
O

N
B

O
ST

O
N

H
EI

G
H

TS
H

EI
G

H
TS

M
AC

ED
O

N
IA

M
AC

ED
O

N
IA

N
O

R
TH

FI
EL

D
N

O
R

TH
FI

EL
D

PE
N

IN
SU

LA
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

R
IC

H
FI

EL
D

R
IC

H
FI

EL
D FA

IR
LA

W
N

FA
IR

LA
W

N

N
O

R
TO

N
N

O
R

TO
N

TA
LL

M
AD

G
E

TA
LL

M
AD

G
E M
O

G
AD

O
R

E
M

O
G

AD
O

R
E

LA
K

EM
O

R
E

LA
K

EM
O

R
E

G
R

EE
N

G
R

EE
N

G
R

EE
N

G
R

EE
N

B
AR

B
ER

TO
N

B
AR

B
ER

TO
N

N
EW

N
EW

FR
AN

K
LI

N
FR

AN
K

LI
N

R
IT

TM
AN

R
IT

TM
AN

D
O

Y
LE

ST
O

W
N

D
O

Y
LE

ST
O

W
N

C
LI

N
TO

N
C

LI
N

TO
N



50Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 14

�
�n

or
�ty

 P
op

ul
a�

 o
n

�
�n

or
�� 

es
 a

s P
er

ce
nt

 o
f T

ot
al

Po
pu

la
� o

n 
by

 B
lo

ck
 G

ro
up

DA
TE

:  
O

ct
ob

er
 2

01
8

SO
UR

CE
:  

US
 C

en
su

s 
Bu

re
au

, A
m

er
ic

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y,

 2
01

6 
5-

Ye
ar

 E
st

im
at

es
, T

ab
le

 B
02

00
1

53
.5

0%
 - 

10
0%

19
.5

1%
 - 

53
.4

9%

0.
01

%
 - 

19
.5

0%

0%

0
1

2
4

M
ile

s
3

N S

W
E

W
IN

D
H

AM
W

IN
D

H
AM

G
AR

R
ET

TS
VI

LL
E

G
AR

R
ET

TS
VI

LL
E

H
IR

AM
H

IR
AM

R
AV

EN
N

A
R

AV
EN

N
AM
AN

TU
A

M
AN

TU
A

AU
R

O
R

A
AU

R
O

R
A

ST
R

EE
TS

B
O

R
O

ST
R

EE
TS

B
O

R
O

K
EN

T
K

EN
T

R
EM

IN
D

ER
VI

LL
E

R
EM

IN
D

ER
VI

LL
E

TW
IN

SB
U

R
G

TW
IN

SB
U

R
G

H
U

D
SO

N
H

U
D

SO
N

ST
O

W
ST

O
W

M
U

N
R

O
E

M
U

N
R

O
E

FA
LL

S
FA

LL
S

SI
LV

ER
SI

LV
ER

LA
K

E
LA

K
E

C
U

YA
H

O
G

A
C

U
YA

H
O

G
A

FA
LL

S
FA

LL
S

B
O

ST
O

N
B

O
ST

O
N

H
EI

G
H

TS
H

EI
G

H
TS

M
AC

ED
O

N
IA

M
AC

ED
O

N
IA

N
O

R
TH

FI
EL

D
N

O
R

TH
FI

EL
D

PE
N

IN
SU

LA
PE

N
IN

SU
LA

R
IC

H
FI

EL
D

R
IC

H
FI

EL
D FA

IR
LA

W
N

FA
IR

LA
W

N

N
O

R
TO

N
N

O
R

TO
N

TA
LL

M
AD

G
E

TA
LL

M
AD

G
E M
O

G
AD

O
R

E
M

O
G

AD
O

R
E

LA
K

EM
O

R
E

LA
K

EM
O

R
E

G
R

EE
N

G
R

EE
N

G
R

EE
N

G
R

EE
N

B
AR

B
ER

TO
N

B
AR

B
ER

TO
N

N
EW

N
EW

FR
AN

K
LI

N
FR

AN
K

LI
N

R
IT

TM
AN

R
IT

TM
AN

D
O

Y
LE

ST
O

W
N

D
O

Y
LE

ST
O

W
N

C
LI

N
TO

N
C

LI
N

TO
N

15������������������������������

CONCLUSION
Our agency aims to be as open as possible when it come to sharing informa� on and explaining why and how 
transporta� on decisions are made in the �reater ��ron area.

Our P������P�������������P��� or “3P” is intended to appeal to as many diff erent interested people through a mix 
of opportuni� es and strategies both digital and personal.

����� will con� nue to explore new opportuni� es for public outreach as they become available. Outreach can 
be challenging and our agency is commi� ed to receiving as much feedbac� as possible.

“Plans are nothing; planning is everything.”
- Dwight D. Eisenhower, 

34th President of the United States



51Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

������������������������������ 16

APPENDIX A
�egional �ransporta� on Plan

A primary responsibility of AMATS is to prepare and maintain a long-term Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan that 
meets the travel needs of the region. The Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan creates a framework for the region’s 
transporta� on system through the iden� fi ca� on of needs and project recommenda� ons. �t also sets the direc� on 
for transporta� on decisions, policy and planning throughout the region.

Public par� cipa� on is an integral part of preparing the Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan. This is your chance for 
your voice to be heard! Comments received during the review of the �ra�  Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan will 
be presented to the Policy Commi� ee and other stakeholder planning agencies for considera� on before fi nal 
adop� on of the Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan by the Policy Commi� ee.

Once a �ra�  Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan has been created, AMATS will:

• Make copies of the dra�  available to the public at:
 ° AMATS website - amatsplanning.org
 ° AMATS offi  ce

• Tweet on @amatsplanning
• Post on facebook.com/amatsplanning
• Schedule at least one public mee� ng for review and comment
• Place adver� sements in newspapers including the Akron Beacon Journal, the Record-Courier and The

Reporter and other publica� ons deemed as appropriate by the AMATS staff .
• Send news releases
• �egularly maintain and update its lists of those interested par� es and transporta� on stakeholders that

receive informa� on pertaining to the area’s transporta� on planning process

Please note that AMATS will not limit itself to the ac� vi� es iden� fi ed above to promote awareness of the �ra�  
Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan and will ac� vely pursue addi� onal opportuni� es to do so.

Amending the Plan

Periodically, local or state offi  cials request that the approved Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan be modifi ed, or that 
a project recommenda� on be added or dropped. Such requests will be iden� fi ed as either a major or minor 
amendment. The individual amendment determines which public involvement procedures are appropriate. The 
procedures for Major and Minor amendments and Administra� ve Modifi ca� ons are described below.

Major Amendments
�f the amendment involves a project recommenda� on that includes a new interchange; a new roadway or lane 
addi� on greater than one mile in length; a new major public transit project; commuter rail; or has a signifi cant 
impact on air quality, then it will be considered a major amendment and public involvement for the amendment 
will follow the same procedures as the �ra�  Re�ional Tran�porta� on �lan.

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 17

Minor Amendments
If the amendment does not include a project such as one previously men� oned, it will be considered a minor 
amendment. Such amendments will be available for public considera� on and comment through the appropriate 
�ee� ng Packet link and the Get Involved page of the agency website - amatsplanning.org - prior to Policy 
�ommi� ee ac� on.

Administra� ve Modifi �a� ons
The staff  is granted the discre� on by the AMATS Policy �ommi� ee to implement minor revisions or administra� ve 
modifi ca� ons to the �eg�onal ��an��o�ta� on Plan, and various plan-related amendments, reports, and studies 
as may be warranted. Such administra� ve modifi ca� ons are largely gramma� cal and typographical correc� ons 
or revisions that do not re�uire demonstra� on of fi scal constraint or an air �uality conformity determina� on.

For the sake of transparency, the staff  will present all changes to the �eg�onal ��an��o�ta� on Plan to the AMATS 
Policy �ommi� ee regardless as to whether they are amendments or minor administra� ve modifi ca� ons.

If adopted by the Policy �ommi� ee, amendments and administra� ve modifi ca� ons will be included in the 
�eg�onal ��an��o�ta� on Plan and will be posted on the website.



52Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 18

APPENDIX B
Transporta� on Improvement Program

The Tran�porta� on Improvement Program (TIP) is the Greater Akron area’s four-year program of highway, public 
transit, and bicycle and pedestrian projects. It must be consistent with the Regional Tran�porta� on Plan. Through 
the TIP process, projects are scored and selected, providing funding for area transporta� on projects.

Public par� cipa� on is necessary in the development of a sound TIP for the area. Comments generated during 
the review of the �ra�  TIP will be presented to the Policy Commi� ee and other stakeholder planning agencies 
for considera� on before adop� on of the Final TIP document by the Policy Commi� ee.

Once a �ra�  TIP has been created, AMATS will:

• Make copies of the dra�  available to the public at:
 ° AMATS website - amatsplanning.org
 ° AMATS offi  ce

• Tweet on @amatsplanning
• Post on facebook.com/amatsplanning
• Schedule at least one public mee� ng for review and comment
• Place adver� sements in newspapers including the Akron Beacon Journal, the Record-Courier and The 

Reporter and other publica� ons deemed as appropriate by the AMATS staff .
• Send news releases
• Regularly maintain and update its lists of those interested par� es and transporta� on stakeholders that 

receive informa� on pertaining to the area’s transporta� on planning process

Please note that AMATS will not limit itself to the ac� vi� es iden� fi ed above to promote awareness of the �ra�  
Regional Tran�porta� on Plan and will ac� vely pursue addi� onal opportuni� es to do so.

Amending the TIP

Periodically, local or state offi  cials request that a project in the approved TIP be modifi ed or cancelled or that a 
new project be added. Such requests will be iden� fi ed as either a major or minor amendment. The individual 
amendment determines which public involvement procedures are appropriate. The procedures for Major and 
Minor amendments and Administra� ve Modifi ca� ons are described below.

Major Amendments
If the amendment involves a project that includes a new interchange; a new roadway or lane addi� on
greater than one mile in length; a new major public transit project; commuter rail; or has a signifi cant
impact on air quality, then it will be considered a major amendment and public involvement for the
amendment will follow the same procedures as the �ra�  TIP.

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 19

Minor Amendments
If the amendment does not include a project such as one previously men� oned, it will be considered a minor 
amendment. Such amendments will be available for public considera� on and comment through the appropriate 
�ee� ng Packet link and the Get Involved page of the agency website - amatsplanning.org - prior to Policy 
�ommi� ee ac� on.

Administra� ve Modifi �a� ons
The staff  is granted the discre� on by the ���TS Policy �ommi� ee to implement minor revisions or administra� ve 
modifi ca� ons to the Tran�porta� on Improvement Program, and various TIP-related amendments, reports, and 
studies as may be warranted. Such administra� ve modifi ca� ons are largely gramma� cal and typographical 
correc� ons or revisions that do not require demonstra� on of fi scal constraint or an air quality conformity 
determina� on.

For the sake of transparency, the staff  will present all changes to the TIP to the ���TS Policy �ommi� ee regardless 
as to whether they are amendments or minor administra� ve modifi ca� ons.

If adopted by the Policy �ommi� ee, amendments and administra� ve modifi ca� ons will be included in the TIP 
and will be posted on the website.



53Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 20

APPENDIX C
Involvement o� Interested Par� es and Public Comment

The 201� P��li� Par� �ipa� on Plan or “3P” describes AMATS’ ongoing eff orts to engage and involve the public 
in the metropolitan transporta� on planning process for the Greater Akron area. 3P is an update to the 2015 
P��li� Par� �ipa� on Plan and will be an input into the upcoming Regional Transporta� on Plan and Transporta� on 
Improvement Program (TIP).

In developing 3P, AMATS is ac� vely seeking consulta� on with interested par� es and communi� es. Our agency 
seeks to develop a policy document that engages the public and other private and public organiza� ons by 
providing ample opportuni� es for input and involvement in the area’s planning process. It is our goal to base 3P 
on the insights of the area’s ci� zens, community groups, aff ected public agencies and representa� ves of public 
transporta� on, freight shipping and pedestrian and bicycle transporta� on.

The Dra�  3P details how the agency will provide opportuni� es for public comment and involvement throughout 
the planning process and for its most signifi cant products, the Regional Transporta� on Plan and TIP. These 
opportuni� es include pos� ng commi� ee mee� ng packets and MP3 podcasts on the AMATS website and using 
social media tools and non-tradi� onal mee� ngs and strategies to reach out to new audiences and communi� es.

AMATS will con� nue to give special considera� on to making all of its public mee� ngs convenient and accessible. 
Mee� ngs of the AMATS Ci� zens Involvement Commi� ee are scheduled in the evenings and in central loca� ons. 
Also, all materials, plans and informa� on can be accessed 24 hours a day on the AMATS website - amatsplanning.
org. Addi� onal review and involvement opportuni� es are provided during the development of the Regional 
Transporta� on Plan and the TIP.

The Dra�  3P was available for public comment for 45 days beginning on October 12, 2018 through November 
26, 2018. A Public Comment Form for the Dra�  3P was available as a pdf for downloading through the agency 
web site - amatsplanning.org - and is presented as part of Appendix D (p. 21) with this dra�  document. The Dra�  
3P was also presented to the public for review and comment during the 6:30 p.m. mee� ng of the AMATS Ci� zens 
Involvement Commi� ee (CIC) on December 6, 2018 at the Akron-Summit County Public Library - Main Library 
located at 60 South Main Street in Akron. �uring this mee� ng, the Staff  was informed by a CIC member that the 
Dra�  3P incorrectly stated in the fi rst sentence of the tenth paragraph on page 3 that the commi� ee meets four 
� mes a year. The member noted that the CIC meets si� � mes a year. The Staff  has corrected this item.

AMATS is con� nually seeking new ways to engage and involve the public and other agencies. As new opportuni� es 
arise, they will be incorporated into the transporta� on planning process. The 3P will be updated accordingly. 
The public is encouraged to forward their opinions and sugges� ons regarding this document to AMATS Public 
In�orma� on Coordinator Kerry Prater via email at kprater@akronohio.gov or postal mail at the following 
address:

Mr. Kerry Prater
AMATS
161 S. High Street | Suite 201
Akron, Ohio 44308

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 21

APPENDIX D
Comment Forms

��a�  P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan - “3P” Comment Form



54Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 22

�����n�� ��r� ����� on Form

3P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 23

APPENDIX E
Language Assistance Plan for Limited English Profi cient 
Popula� ons
It is the policy of AMATS to provide meaningful access to all of its programs and services to all individuals, 
including those who are limited in English profi ciency. AMATS recognizes that there are many individuals for 
whom English is not their primary language. Individuals who do not speak English as their primary language 
and who have a limited ability to read, speak, write, or understand English can be limited-English profi cient or 
“LEP.” These individuals are en� tled to language assistance with respect to a par� cular type or service, benefi t, 
or encounter. By defi ni� on, the term LEP refers to any person age 5 and older who reported speaking English 
less than “very well” as classifi ed by the U.S. Census Bureau. The term “English profi cient” refers to people who 
reported speaking English only or speaking English “very well” on their Census response form. If a respondent 
answered that they spoke English “well,’’ then they would s� ll be considered LEP.

According to the 2013 American Community Survey, 0.1� percent of the AMATS area popula� on is unable to 
speak English. The U.S. Census Bureau – American Fact Finder (2008-2012) reports there are several languages 
spoken in the AMATS area. Some of these languages include Spanish, Russian, Chinese, Hmong, and Nepalese. 
Language for LEP individuals can be a barrier to: accessing important benefi ts or services; understanding and 
exercising important rights; complying with applicable responsibili� es; and understanding other informa� on 
provided by federally funded programs and ac� vi� es.

Many individual federal programs, states, and locali� es have provisions requiring language services for LEP 
individuals. Federal laws applicable to language access include Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as well 
as Title VI regula� ons, prohibi� ng discrimina� on based on na� onal origin, and Execu� ve Order 13166 issued in 
2000 by then-President Bill Clinton. Execu� ve Order 13166 is an order to federal agencies sta� ng that people 
who are LEP should have meaningful access to federally conducted and federally funded programs and ac� vi� es. 
This order requires federal agencies to examine the services that they provide, iden� fy any need for services 
to those with limited-English profi ciency, and develop and implement a system to provide those services so 
that LEP persons can have meaningful access to them. It is expected that agency plans provide for such access 
consistent with the fundamental mission of the agency. Execu� ve Order 13166 also requires that the federal 
agencies work to ensure that recipients of federal fi nancial assistance provide meaningful access to their LEP 
applicants and benefi ciaries.

To assist federal agencies in carrying out these responsibili� es, the U.S. �epartment of �us� ce has issued a 
Policy �uidance �ocument en� tled, En�orcement o� Title VI o� the Civil �ights Act o� 1��� - �a� onal Origin 
�iscrimina� on Against Persons With Limited English Profi ciency (LEP Guidance). This guidance sets forth the 
compliance standards that recipients of federal fi nancial assistance such as AMATS must follow to ensure 
that their programs and ac� vi� es normally provided in English are accessible to LEP persons and thus do not 
discriminate on the basis of na� onal origin.

AMATS is commi� ed to taking measures to assure that individuals are not excluded from par� cipa� ng in 
programs simply because they face challenges communica� ng in English. The purpose of the LEP Plan contained 
in Appendix E is to outline the steps that AMATS follows to provide language assistance for LEP persons seeking 
meaningful access to AMATS programs and services. For further discussion of the agency’s LEP Plan, please 
consult the AMATS Title VI - Program Procedures and �ocumenta� on (May 2015). This document is available at 
amatsplanning.org.



55Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 24

Determining the Need
Recipients of federal funding and federal agencies are required to take reasonable steps to ensure meaningful 
access to their programs and ac� vi� es by LEP persons. AMATS considers various factors in its pursuit to provide 
meaningful access to LEP communi� es and popula� ons within the Greater Akron area. Following guidance from 
the U. S. �epartment of Transporta� on, four factors serve as the developmental founda� on of this LEP Plan. 
These four factors and how the agency considers them are presented below:

�. The number or propor� on of LEP persons eligible in the service area or likely to encounter an AMATS-
funded program� ac� vity or service.

This fi rst factor is the basis of the agency’s LEP Plan. It requires AMATS to review U.S. Census data to determine 
if a language meets the LEP “Safe Harbor” Threshold. The agency determines the Safe Harbor Threshold by 
ini� ally analyzing LEP demographic data for two to three of the largest iden� fi ed language groups other than 
English within the Greater Akron area. The threshold is then calculated by dividing the popula� on es� mate for 
a language group that “Speaks English not well, or not at all” by the total popula� on of the county. The LEP Safe 
Harbor Threshold provision s� pulates that for each LEP group that meets the LEP language threshold (5 percent 
or 1,000 individuals, whichever is less) AMATS must provide transla� on of vital documents in wri� en format for 
the non�English users. E�amples of wri� en transla� on of vital documents include the AMATS Title VI - Program 
Pro�e��re� an� �o��menta� on Plan and�or public no� ces, Title VI Complaint Procedures and Title VI Complaint 
Forms.

According to data from the U.S. Census Bureau, 5.5 percent of the popula� on of the Greater Akron area speak 
a language other than English at home. AMATS recognizes that this percentage is likely to increase in the future 
given current demographic trends.

Language Spoken At Home
(U.S. Census 2012-2016 American Community Survey)*

Number Percentage
Only English 646,025 94.5%
Spanish 7,343 1.1%
Other Indo-European 15,395 2.3%
Asian/Pacifi c Island Language 9,612 1.4%
Other 5,061 0.7%
Total 683,436 100.0%
* - Based on the U.S. Census Bureau’s American Community Survey’s 2016 fi ve-year estimates (2012-2016) for 
“Age by Language Spoken at Home by Ability to Speak English for the Population 5 Years and Over.” Table B16004

2. The Frequency with which LEP individuals come into contact with an AMATS-funded program.

LEP persons are persons iden� fi ed as speaking English less than very well, not well or not at all. Just because 
a person speaks a language other than English doesn’t mean they don’t speak English or are iden� fi ed as 
LEP. AMATS and its contractors, if relevant, will be trained on what to do when they encounter a person that 

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 25

speaks English less than well. AMATS or its contractor will track the number of encounters and consider making 
adjustments as needed to its outreach eff orts to ensure meaningful access to all persons and specifi cally to LEP 
and minority popula� ons of AMATS’ programs and services.

AMATS maintains records of public mee� ngs and phone inquiries in order to assess the frequency with which 
staff  has possibly been in contact with LEP persons. AMATS staff  has no record of receiving a request for an 
interpreter nor has there been any request for translated documents to the agency in its capacity as the Greater 
Akron area’s federally designated metropolitan planning organiza� on.

�. The nature and importance o� the program� ac� vit� or service provided b� AMATS to the LEP popula� on.

AMATS understands that an LEP person with language barrier challenges also faces diffi  cul� es obtaining health 
care, educa� on or access to employment. A transporta� on system is a key link to connec� ng LEP persons to 
these essen� al services. AMATS has iden� fi ed ac� vi� es and services which would have serious consequences to 
individuals if language barriers prevented access to informa� on or the benefi ts of those programs. The ac� vi� es 
and services include providing emergency evacua� on instruc� ons in our facili� es and providing informa� on to 
the public on security awareness or emergency preparedness.

AMATS’ assessment of what programs, ac� vi� es and services that are most cri� cal include contact with 
community organiza� ons that serve LEP persons, as well as contact with LEP persons themselves to obtain 
informa� on on the importance of the modes or the types of services that are provided to the LEP popula� ons.

It should be noted that AMATS does not provide any actual transporta� on services beyond its par� cipa� on with 
statewide partners in the contract for Gohio Commute, a carpool matching web site. As the Greater Akron area’s 
federally designated metropolitan planning organiza� on, the agency is responsible for the federal transporta� on 
funding that reaches communi� es within its region and for ensuring that there is public par� cipa� on in how that 
funding is spent.

4. The resources available to AMATS and overall costs to provide LEP assistance.

Transla� on of all AMATS plans and materials is limited due to cost restric� ons. Further, the LEP popula� on in 
the region is not necessarily of a signifi cant propor� on to warrant such expenses. The agency does provide 
transla� on services for informa� on and items posted on its website - amatsplanning.org. The agency will provide 
transla� on services at AMATS-hosted events in situa� ons deemed appropriate and necessary by the staff  or in 
those situa� ons where a request for such assistance is relayed to the staff  in a � mely manner of at least three 
business days beforehand.

Although AMATS does not have a separate budget for LEP outreach, the agency will con� nue to work with the 
city of Akron and the Greater Akron area’s transit providers - METRO RTA of Summit County and the Portage 
Area Regional Transporta� on Authority (PARTA) - to implement low cost methods of reaching LEP persons. For 
example, the city of Akron has a Spanish speaking person on staff , as do METRO RTA and PARTA. These resources 
ensure that AMATS can provide assistance to LEP Spanish-speaking persons, if needed. In addi� on, AMATS and 
our transit providers work with local advocacy groups to reach LEP popula� ons.



56Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix B - Public Participation Plan  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 26

With due considera� on of the aforemen� oned four factors, the AMATS LEP Plan for the 3P, is outlined below:

LEP �mplementa� on Plan

AMATS will strive to accommodate those members of the public who are LEP. If an LEP individual or someone on 
their behalf should contact AMATS for assistance, the agency staff  will take the name and contact informa� on of 
the person in need of assistance. The staff  will work with available interpreter/translator services to assist LEP 
individuals in their understanding of the transporta� on planning process. The staff  shall promote the availability 
of LEP assistance upon � mely request by LEP individuals through various available media prior to public mee� ngs, 
comment periods and public empowerment events.

For those with limited-English profi ciency, the AMATS website - amatsplanning.org - makes transla� ons available 
of all of its pages. An automa� c transla� on bu� on allows the AMATS website to be made accessible in Chinese, 
French and Spanish with the poten� al for addi� onal languages in the future.

�utreach programs, par� cularly in the area of bicycle and pedestrian safety educa� on, include the distribu� on 
of educa� onal material. The produc� on of mul� lingual publica� ons and documents and/or interpreta� on at 
mee� ngs/events will be provided to the degree that funding permits and based on current laws and regula� ons. 
Educa� onal material, e.g., safety brochures, provided free-of-charge from various en� � es, such as the �a� onal 
Highway Traffi  c Safety Administra� on, will be ordered and distributed at AMATS public par� cipa� on events. 
When available, copies of brochures, pamphlets, and similar documents, in other languages will be secured and 
distributed at events which are held throughout the Greater Akron area.

Ci� �en involvement with AMATS and/or its three commi� ees is voluntary. AMATS provides ample opportuni� es 
for the public to comment on the use of federal funds throughout the regional planning process and specifi cally 
during development of the four-year Tran�porta� on Improvement Program (TIP) and the long-range Regional 
Tran�porta� on Plan.

With the recogni� on that transporta� on projects impact all residents, AMATS strives to encourage an 
understanding of the process and promote opportuni� es to comment.

�onitoring an� �p�a� ng the LEP Plan

The staff , in concert with the Ci� �ens Involvement Commi� ee �CIC�, monitors the implementa� on of the agency’s 
LEP Plan. The CIC meets regularly and invites anyone with an interest in regional planning to par� cipate in their 
mee� ngs and ac� vi� es.

The AMATS LEP Plan is designed to be a living document that can be updated easily. Updates will examine all 
plan components, including:

� How to iden� fy persons who may need language assistance.

�P � P��l�� Pa�� ���a� on Plan 27

• Examine past records from past mee� ngs and events for requests for language assistance in order to 
an� cipate possible need for assistance at upcoming mee� ngs, i.e., a tracking system.

• Review to determine staff  training needs.

• Address all completed �on�is�rimina� on Complaint Forms received by the staff . This form is available on 
the agency website - amatsplanning.org. �sing this form, ci� zens may describe in detail why they believe 
that their concerns or needs are not being addressed by the agency.

AMATS will post this LEP Plan and related materials on its website at amatsplanning.org. Any person, including 
social service, non-profi t, and law enforcement agencies and other community partners with internet access, 
will be able to access the plan. Printed copies will be made available upon request.

Any ques� ons or comments regarding this LEP Plan should be directed to:

AMATS
161 S. High Street / Suite 201
Akron, Ohio 44308

Telephone - 330-375-2436
Fax - 330-375-2275
E-Mail - amats@akronohio.gov



57Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Air Quality Analysis

 

 C-1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AIR QUALITY ANALYSIS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 C-2 
 

Introduction 
 
The purpose of this appendix is to document the manner in which transportation conformity is 
demonstrated for AMATS’ Transportation Improvement Program FY 2021-2024 and AMATS 
Transportation Outlook 2040 Plan Amendment. 
 
Summit County and Portage County are part of the U.S. Census-designated eight-county 
Cleveland-Akron-Lorain Combined Statistical Area (CSA). This area includes: Ashtabula, 
Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, and Summit counties.  Based on air quality 
readings, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) designated this area as 
marginal non-attainment for the 2015 8-hour ozone standard, except for Ashtabula County 
which is a maintenance area.  This area is designated as a maintenance area for the 2008 8-
hour ozone standard. 
 
USEPA also designated several of the counties in this area (including Summit and Portage) as 
maintenance for PM2.5 (particulate matter) under the 2006 standard.  These areas include 
Cuyahoga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, and Summit Counties, and Ashtabula Township in 
Ashtabula County. 
 
Two Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) serve seven of these counties.  The 
Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency (NOACA) serves Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, 
Lorain, and Medina counties.  The Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) 
serves Summit and Portage counties.  The Erie Regional Planning Commission (ERPC) serves 
the City of Vermilion in Lorain County.  Ashtabula County is not part of a Metropolitan Planning 
Organization. 
 
New United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) conformity determinations are 
required every time a new Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) or Regional 
Transportation Plan is completed or updated.  New emissions analyses are required to meet the 
conformity rule requirement of using the latest planning assumptions.  AMATS has updated its 
travel demand model to conduct this analysis taking into account the latest planning 
assumptions. 
 
This conformity analysis reflects the aggregate regional mobile emissions generated by vehicles 
using the transportation system recommended in the Regional Transportation Plan and TIP.  
Conformity is demonstrated when the forecasted regional emissions are below the applicable 
State Implementation Plan (SIP) budgets that have been established by Ohio EPA. 
 
Before analysis began an interagency consultation call took place on October 31, 2019 and on 
February 4, 2020.  The notes from this call are listed beginning on page C-8. 
 
Methodology 
 
In order for the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain area to complete the regional emissions analysis, the 
overall level of pollution (both ozone and PM2.5) resulting from mobile sources must be 
forecasted. 
 
The ozone-related portion of this air quality analysis has to demonstrate that daily Volatile 
organic compounds (VOC) and nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions from mobile sources will not 
exceed those established in the budget contained in the SIP for ozone, which sets the allowable 
limits for each pollutant in the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain area.  The budgets for the 2015 ozone 
standard are from the 2008 SIP, which were set on January 6, 2017.  The budgets for the 2008 



58Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 

 C-3 
 

ozone standard are from the 1997 SIP and were set on March 19, 2013.  The ozone analysis is 
shown in Tables 1 and 2.   
 
Similarly, the PM2.5-related portion of this air quality analysis has to demonstrate that annual 
direct PM2.5 and nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions from mobile sources will not exceed those 
found in the budget established by the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (OEPA).  The 
budgets for the 2006 PM2.5 standard were set on July 26, 2013 and are shown in Table 3. 
 
The AMATS and ODOT are jointly responsible for travel demand modeling and air quality 
analysis for the Akron area.  In May 2015, forecasted variables were approved as inputs to the 
model.  In January 2020, AMATS updated its travel demand model.  The air quality analyses 
documented in this appendix involve the use of the travel demand and emissions models to 
analyze future regional mobile source emissions.  Trip tables have been created using the latest 
planning assumptions and are based on the most recent forecasts of land use and 
socioeconomic data produced by AMATS. 
 
NOACA and ODOT are jointly responsible for travel demand modeling and air quality analysis 
for its area.  Emissions for Ashtabula County are generated using current ODOT traffic volume 
data and growth rates. 
 
In order to determine mobile source impacts on regional ozone and PM2.5 levels, all non-exempt 
(in keeping with 40 CFR 93) TIP projects have been coded into the travel demand model for the 
analysis years of 2021, 2030, and 2040 for ozone and 2022, 2030, and 2040 for PM2.5.  The 
projects coded in each network are listed in Exhibit C-1 through C-4.  Once the AMATS travel 
demand model was run for each of the analysis years described above, the traffic assignment 
results were post-processed and input into MOVES2014a. The output from MOVES2014a 
includes VOC and NOx for ozone and direct PM2.5 and NOx for PM2.5. 
 
The AMATS area results have been combined with the NOACA and Ashtabula County results to 
complete the conformity analysis for the entire Cleveland-Akron-Lorain ozone and PM2.5 non-
attainment area.  The conformity analysis results for the entire region are available for public 
comment at the April 2, 2020 Transportation Improvement Program public meeting. 
 
Results 
 
Table 1 shows the results of the MOVES2014a analysis for the 2015 8-Hour ozone standard for 
the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain non-attainment area.  This analysis must show that VOC and NOx 
emissions from mobile sources will not exceed those established in the budget contained in the 
SIP, which sets the allowable limits for each pollutant.  Table 1 confirms ozone precursor 
emissions do not exceed the budgets for either VOC or NOx. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 C-4 
 

TABLE 1 
Cleveland-Akron-Lorain Mobile Source 
Ozone Precursor Emissions Forecasts 

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) (tons/day) 
2015  

8-Hour Ozone 
Test  

2021 
Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget  

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  16.20   9.77  6.58 
AMATS  9.11   4.22  3.76 
TOTALS 25.31 30.80 13.99 10.34 

  
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tons/day) 

  
2021 

Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget 

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  22.13   10.90 7.47 
AMATS  12.21   5.29 4.21 
TOTALS  34.34 43.82 16.19 11.68 

 
Table 2 shows the results of the MOVES2014a analysis for the 2008 8-Hour ozone standard for 
the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain maintenance area.  This analysis must show that VOC and NOx 
emissions from mobile sources will not exceed those established in the budget contained in the 
SIP, which sets the allowable limits for each pollutant.  Table 2 confirms ozone precursor 
emissions do not exceed the budgets for either VOC or NOx. 

 
TABLE 2 

Cleveland-Akron-Lorain Mobile Source 
Ozone Precursor Emissions Forecasts 

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) (tons/day) 
2008  

8-Hour Ozone 
Test  

2021 
Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget  

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  16.20   9.77 6.58 
AMATS  9.11   4.22 3.76 
Ashtabula County 1.26   0.58 0.54 
TOTAL  26.57 30.80 14.57 10.88 

  
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tons/day) 

  
2021 

Emissions 

2030  
8-Hour 
Budget 

2030 
Emissions 

2040 
Emissions 

NOACA  22.13   10.90 7.47 
AMATS  12.21   5.29 4.21 
Ashtabula County 1.87   0.84 0.72 
TOTAL  36.21 43.82 17.03 12.40 

 
 
 



59Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 

 C-5 
 

Table 3 shows the results of the MOVES2014a analysis for the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain PM2.5 
maintenance area.  This analysis must show that direct PM2.5 and NOX emissions from mobile 
sources will not exceed those found in the 2022 budget.  Table 2 confirms emissions do not 
exceed the budgets for both direct PM2.5 and NOx. 
 

TABLE 3 
Northeast Ohio Mobile Source PM2.5 and Precursor Emissions Forecasts 

 
Direct PM2.5 Emissions (Annual Tons) 

          
PM2.5  2006 
Standard 

Test  
2022 

Budget 
2022 

Emissions 
2030 

Emissions 
2040 

Emissions 
NOACA    343.76  264.33 224.07 
AMATS    133.88  108.62 108.04 
Ashtabula 
County   2.19  1.68 1.68 
TOTALS  880.89 479.83 374.63 333.79 
          

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Precursor (Annual Tons) 
          

  
2022 

Budget 
2022 

Emissions 
2030 

Emissions 
2040 

Emissions 
NOACA    9,977.68  5,457.77 3,787.06 
AMATS    2,736.88  1,872.30 1,664.22 
Ashtabula 
County   50.33  35.26 32.81 
TOTALS  17,263.65 12,764.89 7,365.33 5,484.09 

 
TABLE 4 

Northeast Ohio Mobile Source PM2.5 and Precursor Emissions Forecasts 
 

Attainment status: 2012 Annual PM2.5 Standard – maintenance area (80 FR 2205 / January 
14, 2015) 

SIP Status: Federal Register /Vol. 83, No. 246 /Wednesday, December 26, 2018 – 
approval of SIP and finding in support of MOVES based 2012 standard 
PM2.5 MVEB 

Geography: Cuyahoga and Lorain County, OH *Summit and Portage Counties are in attainment 
Conformity Tests: 2012 SIP Maintenance Plan tests 
Analysis Years: 2022 PM2.5 Budget year 
 2030 Interim and PM2.5 Budget year 
 2040 Plan(s) horizon year 

 
Direct PM2.5 Emissions (Annual Tons) 

           
PM2.5  2012 

Standard Test  
2022 

Budget 
2022 

Emissions 
2030 

Budget 
2030 

Emissions 
2040 

Emissions 
Direct PM2.5  406.79  243.93  270.57 192.28 162.50 
NOx 9,432.04  7,093.52  4,907.54 3,721.28 2,561.28 

 

 C-6 
 

 
For additional detail on these topics, visit the following USEPA websites:  
 
http://www.epa.gov/air/ozonepollution/ (general ozone information) 
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/ozone/ozonetech/ (technical ozone information)  
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/fastfacts.html (fast facts on particulate matter) 
http://www.epa.gov/air/particlepollution/basic.html (general particulate matter information) 
http://www.epa.gov/ttn/naaqs/standards/pm/s_pm_index.html (technical particulate matter 
information) 

 
EXHIBIT C-1 

2021 NETWORK 
 

The 2021 Network includes all existing facilities plus the following projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Cleveland-Massillon 
Rd  

NORTON - Weber Dr to I-76 Median turn lane 

Evans Ave AKRON - CSX Rail Line RR Grade separation 
Massillon Rd (SR 
241) 

GREEN - Raber Rd to SR 619 Widen to 5 lanes, Improve 
Safety 

SR 91 TWINSBURG - North of 
Glenwood Blvd to Cuyahoga 
County Line 

Widen to 4 lanes and 
roundabout at 
Meadowood/Ethan 

Tallmadge Ave (SR 
261) 

AKRON - N. Main St to SR 8 Road diet and realign Dayton 

Note: All of these projects are assumed 2021 for ozone; however for PM2.5 they would 
move to 2022. 

Please note that the following locations were added to all networks due to maintenance of 
traffic stripping 
I-76 AKRON - US 224 to I-77 

(Kenmore Leg) 
6 lanes w/ interchange 
modifications from MOT 

I-77 SPRINGFIELD TWP/AKRON - 
Arlington Rd to I-277 

Widen to 8 lanes and 
interchange modifications 
from MOT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



60Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 

 C-7 
 

EXHIBIT C-2 
2022 NETWORK 

 
The 2022 Network includes those projects in the 2021 network plus the following 

projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Cleveland-Massillon 
Rd  

COPLEY TWP/FAIRLAWN - I-77 to 
Bywood Ave 

Widen to 4 lanes and roundabout 

I-76/US224 BARBERTON - State Rd/Wooster Rd 
Interchanges and widening 

Reconfigure Interchanges and widen 
I-76 to 3 lanes 

SR 14 STREETSBORO - Portage Pointe to 
Diagonal Rd 

Median turn lane 

Tallmadge Rd BRIMFIELD TWP - At I-76 Interchange Reconfigure Interchange 
   
Note: All of these projects are assumed 2022 for PM2.5; however they would move to 2030 for ozone. 
   
Please note the following location was added to 2022, 2030, and 2040 networks as a plan amendment to 
be approved May 2020 
SR 8/I-77 AKRON - US 224 to Carroll St Add an additional lane in each 

direction 
 
 

EXHIBIT C-3 
2030 NETWORK 

 
The 2030 Network includes those projects in the 2022 network plus the following 

projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Arlington Rd GREEN - Boettler Rd to September Dr Widen to 4 lanes with intersection 

improvements 
E Main St KENT - Main/SR 59/Willow to Horning Roundabouts, raised median, 

remove Terrace, Horning 
realignment, complete streets 

I-76/I-77 AKRON - Central Interchange Reconfigure Interchange 
I-77 BATH TWP/RICHFIELD/RICHFIELD TWP 

- Ghent Rd to Cuyahoga County Line 
Widen to 6 lanes 

Massillon Rd (SR 
241) 

GREEN - At Corporate Woods Circle Roundabout 

Massillon Rd (SR 
241) 

GREEN - At Boettler Rd/Franks Pkwy Roundabout 

N Main St AKRON - north of Y-bridge to north corp 
limit 

Road diet, complete streets 

SR 8 AKRON - Perkins St to Glenwood Ave Reconstruct bridge, Improve 
Perkins St ramp operation 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 C-8 
 

EXHIBIT C-4 
2040 NETWORK 

 
The 2040 Network includes those projects in the 2030 network plus the following 

projects: 
 

PROJECT LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK 
Darrow Rd (SR 91) TWINSBURG - At I-480 Interchange Reconfigure Interchange 
Howe Rd CUYAHOGA FALLS - At SR 8 

Interchange 
Reconfigure Interchange 

Kent Rd (SR 59) STOW - At Darrow Rd (SR 91) Additional capacity, operational 
improvements, traffic study, enhance 
transit 

Oviatt St HUDSON - SR 91 to Ravenna Rd Add a Bypass 
Town Park Blvd GREEN - Massillon Rd to Wise Rd New Roadway 
Town Park Blvd GREEN - Lauby Rd to Wise Rd New Roadway 

 
 



61Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 

 C-9 
 

FY2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
Air Quality Conformity Interagency Consultation Conference Call Minutes 

 
 
Present: Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) 

Erie County Regional Planning Commission (ERPC) 
Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency (NOACA) 
Federal Highway Administration, Ohio Division (FHWA) 
Ohio Department of Transportation, Statewide Planning (ODOT) 
Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (Ohio EPA) 
United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) 
 

Logistics: October 31, 2019, 2:00 p.m., Conference Call 
  

Purpose 

A formal interagency consultation (IAC) process is required in each nonattainment and 
maintenance area to address technical and procedural issues related to air quality 
planning. The Cleveland, Akron, and Erie County, Ohio metropolitan planning 
organizations (MPOs) (NOACA, AMATS and ERPC) are updating their FY2021-2024 
TIPs. The TIPs are part of the MPOs’ existing long-range transportation plans (LRTPs), 
for which the horizon year is 2040. 

Discussion 

 The IAC call began at 2:00 p.m. 
 All parties agreed on the geographic scope of the analysis, which includes the five 

NOACA counties (Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, and Medina), the two AMATS 
counties (Portage and Summit), and Ashtabula County 

o Ashtabula County not included in the nonattainment area for the 2015 ozone 
National Ambient Air Quality Standard (NAAQS), but it is part of the maintenance 
area for the 2008 NAAQS 

o All eight counties part of maintenance area for 2006 fine particulate matter 
(PM2.5) NAAQS, but only Cuyahoga and Lorain are part of maintenance area for 
2012 PM2.5 NAAQS 

 Parties agreed on the applicable conformity tests and budgets 
o Ohio has not completed the State Implementation Plan (SIP) for the 2015 ozone 
o Based on U.S. EPA guidance, the MPOs will use the 2008 ozone budgets to 

analyze both the 2008 and 2015 ozone NAAQS 
o MPOs will use the budgets for the 2006 and 2012 PM2.5 NAAQS for those 

analyses 
 Parties settled upon the analysis years 

o NOACA recommended the following analysis years 
 Ozone: 2021 (attainment year for the 2015 NAAQS), 2030 (budget year 

for 2008 NAAQS), and 2040 (horizon year for LRTP) 
 2006 PM2.5 NAAQS: 2022 (budget year), 2030 (interim year), and 2040 

(horizon year) 
 2012 PM2.5 NAAQS: 2022 (budget year), 2030 (budget year), and 2040 

(horizon year) 
o All parties agreed that these are the appropriate analysis years 

 

 C-10 
 

 Parties confirmed the geographic division for the analysis 
o NOACA will complete the conformity analysis for Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, 

Lorain, and Medina Counties 
o ODOT and AMATS would work together to run the analysis for Portage and 

Summit Counties 
o ODOT will also do the additional analysis for Ashtabula County 
o NOACA asked if ODOT will continue to do the post-processing for the NOACA 

region, and both agencies agreed to this 
o NOACA added that once post-processing is completed, ODOT will provide the 

final emissions totals to NOACA, and it will complete the conformity 
documentation 

 U.S. EPA confirmed that MOVES2014a is the version of record, and the MPOs/ODOT 
will use it to complete the emissions modeling 

 There was a discussion about the networks for the analysis 
o NOACA noted that it is processing two ODOT sponsored major rehabilitation 

projects along IR-77 and IR-90 through its project review. The projects are 
currently scoped as major rehabilitation projects for construction in 2021 and 
2024, respectively.  
 ODOT is evaluating the feasibility of incorporating hard shoulder running 

into each project.  Based on NOACA’s review of the guidance, if hard 
shoulder running is determined to be feasible and is incorporated into the 
project scopes, the projects will have to be analyzed for air quality 
conformity impacts. 

 This would trigger another conformity analysis if they are amended to the 
TIP later on 

 ODOT proposed conducting further research and holding additional 
discussions to determine whether or not they would be exempt; however, 
they will not be analyzed until next year, regardless 

 NOACA and ODOT agreed to proceed with the conformity analysis, as 
planned, and table this issue until later on 

o AMATS and ODOT explained that they are finalizing their travel demand model, 
and it will not be validated until around Thanksgiving (week of November 25, 
2019) 
 NOACA explained the tight timeline for the conformity determination, 

given the need to get approval from the NOACA Board of Directors at 
their March 13, 2020 meeting 

 MPOs and ODOT need to complete emissions modeling mid-January, at 
the latest 

 ODOT proposed that AMATS use its existing model in order to stick to 
this timeline, and all parties agreed 

 Once the analysis is complete, NOACA will distribute the conformity documentation to 
AMATS and ERPC, so they can bring it to their Technical Advisory and Policy 
Committees for approval 

 NOACA explained that it needs to get approval from its Board of Directors at its March 
13, 2020 meeting 

o This is earlier than previous TIPs, when NOACA had gotten approval at the June 
Board meeting 



62Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 

 C-11 
 

o In order to meet this timeline, NOACA needs to get a recommendation for 
approval from its Planning and Programming Committee at its January 2020 
meeting 

 AMATS, and ERPC will pass resolutions to adopt the conformity determination after 
NOACA 

o ODOT advised AMATS and/or ERPC to wait until April or May to approve the 
conformity determination in order to abide by the public involvement process for 
the State TIP (STIP), which ends on April 10 

o AMATS indicated they can get approval from their Technical Advisory and Policy 
Committees on May 14 

o ERPC stated they can either get approval from their Technical Advisory and 
Policy Committees on April 23 or May 21, as appropriate 

o NOACA added that it will have its Board of Directors approve a draft TIP at its 
March meeting, pending major comments from the public 
 If there are major comments, NOACA would need to get approval on the 

revised, final TIP at the June Board of Directors meeting 
 All parties agreed to this process 

 NOACA asked U.S. EPA about whether the Lake Michigan Air Directors Consortium 
(LADCO) had made progress on updating the model inputs for MOVES. U.S. EPA 
indicated they were not sure of the status of that update but would inquire 

 The IAC call concluded at 2:30 p.m. 
 

 
Table 1. FY2021-2024 TIP Conformity Determination Timeline 

 
Organization Activity Date(s) 

NOACA Public Involvement Process January 10-April 10 

NOACA Planning & Programming Committee Meeting January 17 

NOACA Board of Directors Meeting March 13 

NOACA Board of Directors Meeting (if necessary to 
approve changes based on major comments) June 12 

AMATS Public Involvement Process In accordance with 
AMATS PI process 

AMATS Technical Advisory & Policy Committee Meetings May 14 

ERPC Public Involvement Process In accordance with 
ERPC PI process 

ERPC Technical Advisory & Policy Committee Meetings April 23 or May 21 

ODOT STIP Public Involvement Process March 30-April 10 

ODOT Final S/TIPs Due (ODOT, MPOs, RTPs to post 
final S/TIPs to ODOT STIP extranet) 

April 30 

ODOT S/TIPs Submitted to USDOT (USDOT 45 day 
review period. Approval anticipated July 1) 

May 1 

U.S. DOT Approved S/TIPs Posted to Web July 1 

 

 

 C-12 
 

 
FY2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

Air Quality Conformity Interagency Consultation Conference Call Minutes 
Including AMATS 2040 Plan Amendment 

 
 
Present: 

 
Curtis Baker – AMATS 
Phyllis Jividen – AMATS 
Dave Pulay – AMATS 
Amy Prater – AMATS 
Carrie Whitaker – ERPC 
Tim Kovach – NOACA 
Nino Brunello – ODOT Central Office 
Dave Moore – ODOT Central Office 
Lauren Phillis – ODOT District 4 
Steve Rebillot – ODOT District 4 
 

Logistics: February 4, 2020, 1:30 p.m., Conference Call 
  
 
Purpose 
 
This interagency consultation call was held to clarify what conformity determination and 
documentation would be needed to include a minor revision to the AMATS 2040 
Regional Transportation Plan. 
 
Discussion 
 

 The interagency consultation call began at 1:30 p.m. 
 Dave Moore described that recently ODOT District 4 decided to add a capacity adding 

alternative to PID 102329; which would be a minor revision to the AMATS 2040 Regional 
Transportation Plan.  The project would basically add an additional through lane in each 
direction on IR 77 from US 224/IR 277 to SR 8 and SR 8 from IR 77 to Perkins St in 
Akron. 

 A new air quality conformity determination is required to include this project alternative 
so that the project could sell in FY 2021. 

 After much discussion, it was decided that the project will be included in the AMATS 
2021-2024 TIP air quality conformity determination and that the AMATS 2040 Regional 
Transportation Plan will be revised to include this minor revision. 

 All parties agreed that the analysis years and geographic division previously determined 
on the last interagency call (October 31, 2019) would remain as agreed upon: 

o 2021, 2030, 2040 for Ozone 
o 2022, 2030, 2040 for PM2.5 

 MOVES2014a is still the version of record, and the MPOs/ODOT will use it to complete 
the emissions modeling. 

 ODOT District 4 agreed to send out slides of the proposed improvements to use for 
public involvement components. 

 Once the analysis is complete, NOACA will distribute the conformity documentation to 
AMATS and ERPC, so they can bring it to their Technical Advisory and Policy 
Committees for approval. 



63Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix C - Air Quality Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 

 C-13 
 

 AMATS plans to take the project slides to their March 11th Policy committee meeting for 
review.  Then, AMATS will take the 2021-2024 TIP, including air quality conformity 
determination, and plan amendment to their May 14th Policy committee meeting. 

 NOACA plans to take 2021-2024 TIP including air quality conformity determination and 
concurrence with AMATS plan amendment to their March 13th Board of Directors 
meeting. 

o NOACA stipulated that approvals may be delayed until their June 12th Board of 
Directors meeting if significant changes need to be made to their TIP based on 
public comment. 

 ERPC plans to take 2021-2024 TIP including air quality conformity determination and 
concurrence with AMATS plan amendment to their May 21st Policy Committee meeting 

 The interagency consultation call concluded approximately 2:00 p.m. 
 
After the meeting an email was sent to all participants as well as FHWA, EPA, and 
OEPA.  FTA was accidently omitted but later added by FHWA.  All four agencies not on 
the call concurred via email with the approach outlined in the meeting.  Email 
concurrences are shown below including date and time information. 
 
 
From: Stemen, Carmen (FHWA) <carmen.stemen@dot.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, February 05, 2020 11:42 AM 
To: Prater, Amy <APrater@akronohio.gov>; Baker, Curtis <CBaker@akronohio.gov>; Jividen, 
Phyllis <PJividen@akronohio.gov>; Pulay, Dave <DPulay@akronohio.gov>; Carrie Whitaker 
(CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov) <CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov>; Tim Kovach 
(TKovach@mpo.noaca.org) <TKovach@mpo.noaca.org>; Nino.Brunello@dot.ohio.gov; 
Dave.Moore1@dot.ohio.gov; Lauren.Phillis@dot.ohio.gov; Steve.Rebillot@dot.ohio.gov 
Cc: paul.braun@epa.ohio.gov; Maietta, Anthony <maietta.anthony@epa.gov>; Kane, Mark 
(FTA) <Mark.Kane@dot.gov>; Mehlo, Noel (FHWA) <Noel.Mehlo@dot.gov> 
Subject: RE: Updated AQ Conformity Determination conference call minutes 
 
All, 
 
I have contacted US EPA, OEPA and FTA (you forgot to include Mark Kane on the e-mail 
below) and they are going to let me know if they concur with this approach or if they feel they 
need a call. If they do not need a call, I would add text to the meeting summary to the effect that 
“the other agencies concurred via e-mail with the approach outlined in the meeting.” 
 
In the future, please include all the agencies that should be on an IAC call so we can all be on the 
same page together and can document, in good faith, the outcomes of the meeting. 
 
FHWA concurs with the outlined approach. Below is FTA’s concurrence. Thanks. -Carmen 
 
Carmen M. Stemen 
Carmen M. Stemen, MUP 
Planning and Environment Specialist 
FHWA Ohio Division 
200 N. High St., Rm. 328 
Columbus, OH 43215 
(614) 280-6848 
 

 

 C-14 
 

 
 
From: Kane, Mark (FTA) <Mark.Kane@dot.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, February 5, 2020 12:30 PM 
To: Stemen, Carmen (FHWA) <carmen.stemen@dot.gov> 
Subject: RE: [External]RE: Updated AQ Conformity Determination conference call minutes 
 
Hi Carmen, 
 
FTA concurs with the approach. 
 
Thanks. 
 
Mark 
 
Mark Kane 
Community Planner 
Federal Transit Administration 
200 West Adams Street, Suite 320 
Chicago, IL 60606 
312.353.1552 
 
 
From: Maietta, Anthony <maietta.anthony@epa.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, February 5, 2020 1:13 PM 
To: Stemen, Carmen (FHWA) <carmen.stemen@dot.gov>; Prater, Amy 
<APrater@akronohio.gov>; Baker, Curtis <CBaker@akronohio.gov>; Jividen, Phyllis 
<PJividen@akronohio.gov>; Pulay, Dave <DPulay@akronohio.gov>; Carrie Whitaker 
(CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov) <CWhitaker@eriecounty.oh.gov>; Tim Kovach 
(TKovach@mpo.noaca.org) <TKovach@mpo.noaca.org>; Nino.Brunello@dot.ohio.gov; 
Dave.Moore1@dot.ohio.gov; Lauren.Phillis@dot.ohio.gov; Steve.Rebillot@dot.ohio.gov 
Cc: paul.braun@epa.ohio.gov; Kane, Mark (FTA) <Mark.Kane@dot.gov>; Mehlo, Noel 
(FHWA) <Noel.Mehlo@dot.gov> 
Subject: RE: Updated AQ Conformity Determination conference call minutes 
 
Thanks Carmen, 
 
EPA is ok with this approach but as a reminder to everyone the full Cleveland/Akron/Erie IAC 
list is in the Ohio SIP (I’ve attached the relevant appendix to this email) and the group consists 
of:  



64Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Environmental Justice Analysis

D - 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix D 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSIS 

 
 
 

 
 
  

D - 2 

APPENDIX D 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ANALYSIS 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
According to the Goals and Objectives of the AMATS Regional Transportation Plan, 
Transportation Outlook, the transportation system should reflect and support the values and 
planning objectives of area communities and neighborhoods by ensuring that the planning 
process is conducted in conformance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the 
environmental justice requirements of Presidential Executive Order #12898 of 1994. 
 
The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Office of Environmental Justice 
defines environmental justice as: 
 

The fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, 
color, national origin, or income with respect to the development, 
implementation, and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations and policies.  
Fair treatment means that no group of people, including racial, ethnic, or socio-
economic group, should bear a disproportionate share of the negative 
environmental consequences resulting from industrial, municipal, and 
commercial operations or the execution of federal, state, local and tribal 
programs and policies. 

 
Consequently, programs or activities that use federal funds must make a meaningful effort to 
involve low-income and minority groups in the process to make decisions regarding the use of 
federal funds.  It also means that agencies using federal funds must attempt to identify and 
address any disproportionately high and adverse human health and environmental effects on 
minority and low-income groups, which may result from the implementation of their plans and 
programs.   
 
Meaningful involvement means that people have an opportunity to participate in decisions about 
activities that may affect their environment or health; the public’s contribution can influence the 
decision-making process; their concerns will be considered in the decision making process; and 
the decision-makers seek out and facilitate the involvement of those potentially affected. 
 
According to Presidential Executive Order #12898, disproportionately high and adverse effects 
are those that will be predominately borne by minority or low-income groups; or those which 
will be suffered by minority and low-income groups in a manner that is appreciably more severe 
or greater in magnitude than those which will be suffered by non-minority and non-low-income 
groups. 
 
In keeping with the environmental justice requirements that the recipients of federal funds make 
greater efforts to involve low-income and minority populations in the decision-making process, 
the public involvement activities conducted by AMATS ensure that low-income, minority 



65Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

D - 3 

individuals, and community groups have the opportunity to participate in the transportation 
planning process.  Community groups and social service agencies representing minority and low-
income populations are included on the AMATS notifications list.  These groups are made aware 
of opportunities to participate in the planning process by advertising public meetings in three 
newspapers: 1) The Akron Beacon Journal; 2) The Kent-Ravenna Record Courier; and 3) The 
Reporter (a publication that serves the black community).  Draft planning documents are 
provided directly to AMATS members and social service agencies, and are made available on 
the AMATS website, www.amatsplanning.org.  In addition, the AMATS website can be viewed 
in a number of different languages. 
 
The purpose of environmental justice principles and procedures is to improve all levels of 
transportation decision making. This approach hopes to: 

• make better transportation decisions that meet the needs of all people;  
• design transportation facilities that fit more harmoniously into communities;  
• enhance the public-involvement process; and provide minority and low-income 

populations with opportunities to learn about and improve transportation 
• improve data collection, monitoring, and analysis tools that assess the needs of, and 

analyze the potential impacts on minority and low-income populations; 
• cooperate with other public and private programs on a continuous basis in order to 

achieve a comprehensive vision for communities;  
• avoid disproportionately high and adverse impacts on minority and low-income 

populations; and 
• minimize or mitigate unavoidable impacts by identifying concerns early in the planning 

phase and providing offsetting initiatives and enhancement measures to benefit affected 
communities and neighborhoods.  

 
Current efforts to support environmental justice are a consequence of Title VI of the Civil Rights 
Act as amended, and subsequent statutes, executive orders and federal and state guidance to 
promote and enforce non-discrimination and the fair distribution of benefits and burdens 
associated with federal programs, policies and activities. Both Title VI and environmental justice 
aim to ensure full and fair participation and integration of the public into the planning process. 
The Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) most recent release of guidance found in Circular 
4703.1 (August 2012) reiterates the federal government’s long-standing principles of 
environmental justice: 

• To avoid, minimize, and mitigate disproportionately high and adverse human health and 
environmental effects, including social and economic effects, on minority populations 
and low-income populations; 

• To ensure the full and fair participation by all potentially affected communities in the 
transportation decision-making process; and 

• To prevent the denial of, reduction in, or significant delay in the receipt of benefits by 
minority and low-income populations. 

 
 
  

D - 4 

METHODOLOGY 
 
In addition to involving low-income and minority populations in the planning process, 
environmental justice also means assessing the impact of transportation plans, programs, and 
policies on low-income and minority populations.  In order to accomplish this, the following 
questions must be considered: 

• What are low-income and minority populations? 
• How should these populations be identified? 
• Which environmental impacts should be considered? 
• What are the potential impacts of recommended projects on low-income and minority 

populations? 
• What is the overall level of accessibility in low-income and minority neighborhoods? 
• What is the overall level of investment in transportation infrastructure in areas with above 

average concentrations of minority and low-income populations? 
 
Definitions 
According to the latest United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) Order 5610.2(a) 
on Environmental Justice, contained in the Federal Register (May 2, 2012): 
 
Low-Income is defined as a person whose median household income is at or below the 
Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) poverty guidelines.  The Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) reiterates this definition with Order 6640.23A (issued in June 2012).  
The low-income population means any readily identifiable group of low-income persons who 
live in geographic proximity, and, if circumstances warrant, geographically dispersed/transient 
persons (such as migrant workers or Native Americans) who will be similarly affected by a 
proposed project, program, policy or activity.    
 
Minority is defined as a person who is:  1) Black (a person having origins in any of the black 
racial groups of Africa); 2) Hispanic or Latin (a person of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, 
Central or South American, or other Spanish culture or origin, regardless of race); 3) Asian (a 
person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia or the Indian 
subcontinent); 4) American Indian and Alaskan Native (a person having origins in any of the 
original people of North America, South America (including Central America), and who 
maintain cultural identification through tribal affiliation or community recognition; or 5) Native 
Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander (a person having origins in any of the original peoples of 
Hawaii, Guam, Samoa, or other Pacific Islands.  Minority population means any readily 
identifiable groups of minority persons who live in geographic proximity, and if circumstances 
warrant, geographically dispersed/transient persons (such as migrant workers or Native 
Americans) who will be similarly affected by a proposed project, program, policy or activity. 
 
Adverse effects is defined as the totality of significant individual or cumulative human health or 
environmental effects, including interrelated social and economic effects, which may include, but 
are not limited to: bodily impairment, infirmity, illness or death; air, noise, and water pollution 
and soil contamination; destruction or disruption of man-made or natural resources; destruction 
or diminution of aesthetic values; destruction or disruption of community cohesion or a 



66Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

D - 5 

community's economic vitality; destruction or disruption of the availability of public and private 
facilities and services; vibration; adverse employment effects; displacement of persons, 
businesses, farms, or nonprofit organizations; increased traffic congestion, isolation, exclusion or 
separation of minority or low-income individuals within a given community or from the broader 
community; and the denial of, reduction in, or significant delay in the receipt of, benefits of US 
DOT programs, policies, or activities. 
 
A disproportionately high and adverse effect on minority and low-income populations means an 
adverse effect that is predominately borne by a minority population and/or a low-income 
population, or will be suffered by the minority population and/or low-income population and is 
appreciably more severe or greater in magnitude than the adverse effect that will be suffered by 
the non-minority population and/or non-low-income population. 
 
Programs, policies, and/or activities mean all projects, programs, policies, and activities that 
affect human health or the environment, and which are undertaken or approved by the US DOT. 
These include, but are not limited to, permits, licenses, and financial assistance provided by the 
US DOT. Interrelated projects within a system may be considered to be a single project, 
program, policy or activity for purposes of this Order.  Regulations and guidance refer to 
regulations, programs, policies, guidance, and procedures promulgated, issued, or approved by 
the US DOT. 
 
Identifying Concentrations of Low-Income and Minority Population 
Although low-income and minority persons live throughout the AMATS area, many are 
concentrated in specific locations and neighborhoods.  The following methodology was used to 
identify above average concentrations of low-income and minority groups: 

• Concentrations of low-income population were identified by comparing the percentage of 
the population at or below the poverty level in each Census block group to the percentage 
of the population in the entire AMATS area.  The data used in this analysis were obtained 
from the 2017 American Community Survey (ACS) 5-year estimates.  Census block 
groups with a percentage of population considered low-income that were at least the 
regional rate of 25.50% were considered to be above average concentrations of low-
income populations.  These Census block groups are shown on Map D-1. 

• Concentrations of minority population were identified by comparing the percentage of 
minorities living in each Census block group to the percentage of such persons living in 
the entire AMATS area.  The data used in this analysis were obtained from the 2017 
American Community Survey (ACS) 5-year estimates.  Census block groups with a 
percentage of minorities that were at least the regional rate of 35.66% were considered to 
be above average concentrations of minority population.  These census block groups are 
shown on Map D-2. 

 
Environmental Impacts 
According to the U.S. Department of Transportation, adverse impacts are defined as significant 
individual or cumulative negative human health or environmental effects, resulting from the 
implementation of federal, state, or local transportation policies, plans, or projects. 

D - 6 

By reviewing environmental justice guidance developed by ODOT, the following ten variables 
have been identified as a means of qualitatively evaluating the environmental impacts of projects 
in the AMATS Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) that are 
located in low-income or minority areas: 

1) Safety - How will the project affect the relative safety of those using the facility and 
living in the target area? 

2) Pollution - How will the project affect the overall air quality, water quality, noise level or 
soil quality of the target area? 

3) Natural Resources - How will the project affect vegetation, streams, parks or other 
aspects of the natural environment in the target area? 

4) Aesthetics - How will the project affect the appearance and physical attractiveness of the 
target area? 

5) Community Cohesion - How will the project affect the identity and cohesiveness of the 
target area? 

6) Economic Vitality - How will the project affect the economic health of the target area? 
7) Accessibility - How will the project affect the level of access to, or from, the target area? 
8) Displacement of Businesses or Residents - How will the project affect businesses, 

residents and institutions in the target area?  Will it displace any of them? 
9) Traffic Congestion - How will the project affect existing levels of traffic congestion? 

10) Equal Access to Improvement - Will the overall benefits of the project be as available to 
residents of the target area as they will be to the region as a whole? 

 
 
ANALYSES 
 
Three analyses were developed to evaluate the potential adverse human health or environmental 
impacts of projects in the FY 2021-2024 TIP based upon minority population and low-income 
populations.  These analyses examine: 1) the potential environmental impacts of projects; 2) 
transportation accessibility in low-income and minority neighborhoods; and 3) transportation 
investment in low-income and minority areas. 
 
 
 



67Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

N

43210
Miles

25.50 - 78.56

Less than 25.50

Percent Low Income Population
by Census Block Group

422

224

224

224

224

700

764

619

619

604604

585

585

532

306

305

303
303

303

282

261

261

261

241

241

236

225

225

183

176

162

94

94

93

91

91

88

88

82

82

82

82

5959

59

57

44

44

44

44

43

43

43

43

21

21

18

18

14

14

14

8

8

5

5

480

480

277

271

271

80

80

80

77

77

21

2121

212121

77

77

76

76

76

Map D-1  |  Low Income



68Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

N

43210
Miles

35.56 - 100

Less than 35.66

Percent Minority Population
by Census Block Group

422

224

224

224

224

700

764

619

619

604604

585

585

532

306

305

303
303

303

282

261

261

261

241

241

236

225

225

183

176

162

94

94

93

91

91

88

88

82

82

82

82

5959

59

57

44

44

44

44

43

43

43

43

21

21

18

18

14

14

14

8

8

5

5

480

480

277

271

271

80

80

80

77

77

21

2121

212121

77

77

76

76

76

Map D-2  |  Minority



69Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

D - 9 

Potential Environmental Impacts of Projects  
Highway, public transportation, and transportation enhancement projects in this TIP were 
analyzed in order to determine potential impacts on low-income population and minority 
population.  This analysis was completed according to the following procedure: 
 
Step 1 - Projects were examined to determine whether they were located in, or bordering on, an 
area that was identified as an above average concentration of low-income population or minority 
population.  Projects that were not located in or bordering on these areas were exempted from 
further analysis. 
 
Step 2 - The remaining projects were divided into eight categories: 1) major capacity 
improvements; 2) realignment or reconfiguration; 3) highway operational improvements; 4) 
public transportation system preservation; 5) public transportation system expansion; 6) bikeway 
facilities; 7) pedestrian facilities; and 8) scenic/environmental enhancements. 
 
The following project categories were exempted from further analysis because they are not 
expected to have any disproportionately high and adverse human health and environmental 
effects on minority and low-income groups: 

• Highway operational improvements 
• Public transportation system preservation  
• Pedestrian facilities / bicycle lanes 
• Scenic/environmental enhancements  

 
Step 3 - The remaining categories were qualitatively evaluated as to their environmental impacts 
because they have the potential of disproportionately high and adverse human health and 
environmental effects on minority and low-income groups: 

• Major capacity improvements 
• Realignment or reconfiguration 
• Public transportation system expansion 
• Bikeway/Multi-purpose facilities 

 
The potential environmental impacts of highway, public transportation and transportation 
enhancement projects are displayed in Table D-1.  Projects that are expected to impact a variable 
in a positive manner are indicated by a "+."  Projects that are expected to impact a variable in a 
neutral manner are indicated by an "n."  Projects that could impact a variable in a negative 
manner are indicated by a "-." 
 
All of the projects shown in Table D-1 should be analyzed more closely as they move into the 
stages of development.  Projects with potential negative impacts should be closely scrutinized as 
more detailed environmental analyses are completed.  A determination can then be made as to 
whether negative impacts will be disproportionately borne by low-income or minority 
individuals or communities. 
 

D - 10 

 

Project From To Category Location Sa
fe

ty
Po

llu
tio

n
N

at
ur

al
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
A

es
th

et
ic

s
C

om
m

un
ity

 
C

oh
es

io
n

Ec
on

om
ic

 
V

ita
lit

y
A

cc
es

sib
ili

ty
D

isp
la

ce
m

en
t o

f 
R

es
id

en
ts

/ 
Bu

sin
es

se
s

Tr
af

fic
 

C
on

ge
st

io
n

Eq
ua

l A
cc

es
s t

o 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t

Exchange St Broadway St Fountain St Reconfiguration
Low 

Income
+ n n + + n n n n n

I-76/77/SR 8
Reconfiguration/ 
Capacity

Low 
Income/ 
Minority

+ - n + + + n + n

Seiberling Way Eagle St
Englewood 
Ave

New roadway
Low 

Income
n - n + n + + n n n

SR 8 High Bridge Perkins St Glenwood Ave Reconfiguration
Low 

Income/ 
Minority

+ n n + n + - + n

SR 43 SR 14 Frost Rd
Reconfiguration/ 
Capacity

Low 
Income

+ - n + + + + n + n

SR 59 Willow St Horning Rd Reconfiguration
Low 

Income
+ + n + + + n n + n

Tallmadge Rd 
Interchange

At I-76 Reconfiguration
Low 

Income
+ n n + n + + n + n

Freedom Trail PH 4
Rosa Parks 
Blvd

Mill St
Bikeway/Multi-
purpose Facilities

Low 
Income/ 
Minority

+ + n + + + + n + n

Raber Rd Troon Dr Mayfair Rd
Bikeway/Multi-
purpose Facilities

Low 
Income

+ + n + + + + n + n

Wooster Rd 2nd St SW 4th St NW
Bikeway/Multi-
purpose Facilities

Low 
Income

+ + n + + + + n + n

The Portage Hike & 
Bike Trail - Brady's 
Leap Segment

W. Main St
South of 
Fairchild Ave

Bikeway/Multi-
purpose Facilities

Low 
Income/ 
Minority

+ + n + + + + n + n

* KEY:

n  denotes Neutral Impact
-   denotes Negative Impact

Table D-1
POTENTIAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF PROJECTS

+  denotes Positive Impact

POTENTIAL IMPACTS*

HIGHWAY PROJECTS

TRANSPORTATION ENHANCEMENT PROJECTS

I-76 Kenmore leg to Princeton 
and Grant to School; I-77 from 
Waterloo to Lafayette and 
Kenmore leg to Vernon Odom; 
SR 8 from I-76 to Perkins

 
 
 



70Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

D - 11 

Transportation Accessibility in Low-Income and Minority Neighborhoods 
The Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act (Pub. L. No. 114-94), signed into law on 
December 4, 2015, provides provisions that support transportation programming, planning and 
funding.  These provisions provide increased opportunities to enhance pedestrian and bicycle safety 
and mobility, reduce traffic congestion, improve efficiency in freight movement, increase 
intermodal connectivity and create more complete transportation systems that foster healthier, more 
livable communities.  This is especially crucial in low-income and minority communities, which 
sometimes lack adequate access and mobility to recreational, shopping, and employment 
opportunities. 
 
Two analyses have been completed in order to determine the overall level of accessibility in low-
income and minority neighborhoods.  The first analysis focuses on the TIP highway projects.  The 
second analysis focuses on the existing public transportation system.  Transportation enhancement 
projects were exempted from the transportation accessibility analysis because these projects are 
used mostly for recreational purposes and are difficult to analyze quantitatively. 
 
Highway Accessibility Analysis 
The first step in the highway accessibility analysis was to identify a sample of six traffic analysis 
zones that represent low-income and minority neighborhoods:  1) East Akron; 2) West Akron; 3) 
North Akron; 4) Barberton; 5) Kent; and 6) Twinsburg. 
 
The second step in the analysis was to identify traffic analysis zones that contain major activity 
centers.  Altogether, 13 traffic analysis zones containing major commercial, industrial, medical, 
educational, transportation and recreational facilities were identified: 

1) Akron-Canton Airport 8) Chapel Hill Shopping Area 
2) Downtown Akron Transit Center 9) Summit Mall 
3) Akron Central Business District 10) Montrose Shopping Area 
4) Akron City Hospital 11) Macedonia Commons 
5) Akron General Hospital 12) University of Akron 
6) Goodyear 13) Kent State University 
7) Northeast Ohio Medical University 

 
In the third step, the AMATS travel-demand model network, representing the highway system as it 
is planned to operate in 2024, was used to estimate the average travel time from each low-income 
and minority neighborhood to each of the 13 major activity centers.  In order to provide a valid 
comparison, a similar analysis was conducted to estimate the average travel time to each major 
activity center from a sample of six traffic analysis zones, representing neighborhoods below 
average concentrations of low-income and minority population:  
1) Cuyahoga Falls; 2) Hudson; 3) Stow; 4) Green; 5) Macedonia; and 6) Aurora. 
 
The results of the highway accessibility analysis are shown in Table D-2.  According to this 
analysis, the highway projects in the FY 2021-2024 TIP provide low-income and minority 
neighborhoods with slightly better accessibility to major activity centers located throughout the 
AMATS area, than non-low-income and non-minority neighborhoods.  The average travel time to 
major activity centers is 17 minutes for low-income and minority neighborhoods, versus 22 minutes 
for non-low-income and non-minority neighborhoods.  

D
 - 

12
 

 

 
  

A
k

ro
n-

C
an

to
n 

A
ir

po
rt

D
ow

nt
ow

n 
A

k
ro

n 
T

ra
ns

it
 

C
en

te
r

A
k

ro
n 

C
B

D

A
k

ro
n 

C
it

y 
S

um
m

a 
H

os
pi

ta
l

A
k

ro
n 

G
en

er
al

 
H

os
pi

ta
l

G
oo

dy
ea

r

N
or

th
ea

st
 

O
hi

o 
M

ed
ic

al
 

U
ni

ve
rs

it
y

C
ha

pe
l 

H
il

l 
S

ho
pp

in
g

S
um

m
it

 
M

al
l

M
on

tr
os

e 
S

ho
pp

in
g

M
ac

ed
on

ia
 

C
om

m
on

s
U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
of

 A
k

ro
n

K
en

t 
S

ta
te

T
ra

ff
ic

 Z
on

e 
N

um
be

r
45

2
46

21
8

43
96

74
9

27
4

52
2

39
56

6
32

72
0

L
ow

 In
co

m
e 

or
 M

in
or

it
y 

Z
on

es
22

14
14

14
15

14
22

15
19

19
24

14
21

17
Ea

st
 A

kr
on

 (z
on

e 
93

)
14

7
8

6
10

4
17

10
16

16
25

7
19

12
W

es
t A

kr
on

 (z
on

e 
18

1)
20

7
7

10
5

11
24

13
9

9
24

8
25

13
N

or
th

 A
kr

on
 (z

on
e 

22
2)

17
7

4
5

6
8

21
6

15
16

21
7

22
12

B
ar

be
rt

on
 (z

on
e 

25
9)

19
16

16
18

15
17

30
20

19
19

34
17

31
21

K
en

t (
zo

ne
 7

11
)

26
18

19
17

20
15

13
15

26
26

29
18

3
19

T
w

in
sb

ur
g 

T
w

p 
(3

43
)

39
30

29
27

31
30

30
25

27
25

9
29

27
27

N
on

-L
ow

 In
co

m
e 

an
d 

N
on

-
M

in
or

it
y 

Z
on

es
27

22
20

19
22

21
29

17
26

25
18

20
24

22
C

uy
ah

og
a 

Fa
lls

 (z
on

e 
30

2)
20

12
10

9
12

12
24

6
17

19
19

10
22

15
H

ud
so

n 
(z

on
e 

36
8)

31
23

21
20

23
23

29
17

29
27

14
21

22
23

St
ow

 (z
on

e 
37

5)
24

16
14

13
16

16
24

10
25

25
19

15
12

18
G

re
en

 (z
on

e 
44

7)
9

15
16

15
17

15
27

17
24

24
33

16
29

20
M

ac
ed

on
ia

 (z
on

e 
56

8)
35

27
25

24
27

27
35

21
22

21
3

26
32

25
A

ur
or

a 
(z

on
e 

61
2)

45
37

35
33

37
36

32
31

38
36

19
35

29
34

A
na

ly
si

s 
us

es
 2

03
0 

A
Q

 n
et

w
or

k

T
ab

le
 D

-2
H

IG
H

W
A

Y
 A

C
C

ES
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

IS
A

V
ER

A
G

E 
T

R
A

V
EL

 T
IM

E 
T

O
 M

A
JO

R
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
 C

EN
T

ER
S

(i
n 

m
in

ut
es

)

O
V

ER
A

L
L

 
A

V
ER

A
G

E 
(m

in
ut

es
)



71Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

D - 13 

Public Transportation Accessibility Analysis   
The first step in the public transportation accessibility analysis determined the percentage of the 
total population in Summit and Portage counties living within a 0.25 mile walking distance of 
existing fixed route transit service.  The second step of the analysis determined the percentage of 
minority population and low-income population living within a 0.25 mile walking distance of 
existing fixed route transit service.  The third step compared the percentage of minority 
population and low-income population to the percentage of the total population having access to 
fixed route transit service. 
 
The results of the transit accessibility analysis are shown in Table D-3.  According to this 
analysis, a greater percentage of minority and low-income groups in both Summit County and 
Portage County have access to fixed route transit service than the general population. 
 
In Summit County, 72.6% of the minority population lives within walking distance to fixed route 
transit service, as compared to 50.9% of the total population.  The total number of low-income 
population in Summit County within walking distance of fixed route transit service is 72.9%.  
 
In Portage County, 47.4% of the minority population lives within walking distance of fixed route 
transit service, as compared to 25.0% of the total population.  The total number of low-income 
population in Portage County that lives within walking distance of fixed route transit service is 
43.1%. 
 

Population Group Total

Total 
Covered 

by Transit
% Covered 
by Transit Total

Total 
Covered 

by Transit
% Covered 
by Transit

Total Population 544,868 277,360 50.9% 162,080 40,499 25.0%
Minority Population 113,171 82,146 72.6% 14,607 6,924 47.4%
Low Income Population 72,350 52,723 72.9% 22,493 9,690 43.1%

Source:  2017 American Community Survey (ACS)

Notes:   

     Fixed Route Transit Service in Portage County is provided by PARTA.
     Fixed Route Transit Service in Summit County is provided by METRO RTA.

     Percentage covered by transit includes all people within a 0.25 mile walking distance
     of existing fixed route transit service.

Table D-3
TRANSIT ACCESSIBILITY ANALYSIS

FIXED ROUTE TRANSIT COVERAGE IN THE AMATS AREA

Summit County Portage County

 
 

Transportation Investment in Low-Income and Minority Areas 
The overall level of investment in transportation facilities, by geographic area, was examined in 
order to determine whether areas with above average concentrations of low-income and minority 
groups would receive an equitable share of the benefits from planned transportation 
improvements.  The transportation facilities that have been examined in this analysis include all 
highway, public transportation and transportation enhancement projects in the FY 2021-2024 

D - 14 

TIP.  The results of the analysis of transportation investment in low-income and minority areas 
are shown in Table D-4 and described in the following section. 
 

Table D-4 

TRANSPORTATION INVESTMENTS IN LOW INCOME AND MINORITY AREAS 

     

  

Low-Income 
and/or 

Minority Areas 

Non-Low-
Income or Non-
Minority Areas Total 

Pct. 
LI & 
Min. 

Highway Expenditures $343,679,100 $110,589,100 $454,268,200 76% 
     -Debt Service Expenditures $45,939,400 $19,056,800 $64,996,200 71% 
Public Transportation Expenditures $281,256,363 $69,441,089 $350,697,452 80% 
Transportation Enhancement Expenditures  $7,215,000 $3,000,700 $10,215,700 71% 
Total Expenditures $678,089,863 $202,087,689 $880,177,552 77% 
          
Other Misc. Expenditures* N/A N/A $740,000 N/A 
          
Population 115,701 607,422 723,123 16% 
Land Area (sq. miles) 163.8 832.8 996.6 16% 
  

   
  

* These expenditures include the OhioRideshare program, air quality advocacy program and pavement 
    repair/sidewalk ramp funding. 

Population figures are from the 2017 American Community Survey (ACS) 
   

Highway Investment Analysis 
Highway projects analyzed in this analysis include specified projects, which have a fixed 
location.  These projects were examined to determine whether they were located in, or bordering 
on, an area that was identified as an above average concentration of low-income population or 
minority population. 
 
The highway expenditures are based on the funding allocated between FYs 2021 and 2024.  In 
all, $343.67 million, or 76%, of the total TIP highway expenditures will benefit areas with above 
average concentrations of low-income or minority groups.  This does not include $65.0 million 
in debt services, which are used to repay previous construction projects. 
 
Public Transportation Investment Analysis 
Public transportation includes preservation, operational and expansion projects. These projects 
are estimated based on what it will cost to preserve and maintain the existing transportation 
system between FYs 2021 and 2024. 
 
In all, $281.3 million, or 80%, of the total public transportation expenditures in the FY 2021-
2024 TIP will benefit areas with above average concentrations of low-income and minority 
groups. 
 
 



72Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix D - Environmental Justice Analysis  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

D - 15 

Transportation Enhancement Investment Analysis 
Transportation enhancement expenditures were examined to determine whether they were 
located in, or bordering on, an area that was identified as an above average concentration of low-
income households or minority population.  The total cost of the transportation enhancement 
expenditures recommended in low-income and minority areas is $7.2 million, or 72% of the 
total. 
 
Summary 
The analysis indicates that $678.1 million, or 77% of the total project expenditures in the FY 
2021-2024 TIP are located in areas with above average concentrations of low-income or 
minority groups.  Other miscellaneous expenditures totaling $740,000, include the 
OhioRideshare program and pavement repair/sidewalk ramp funding.  This analysis also 
demonstrates that low-income and minority areas, which comprise 16% of the total population, 
and 16% of the total land area in the AMATS area, will receive an equitable share of the benefits 
from planned transportation improvements. 
 
 
CONCLUSION 
In keeping with the environmental justice requirements of Presidential Executive Order #12898, 
the FY 2021-2024 TIP has been thoroughly analyzed to ensure that the projects will not have 
disproportionately high and adverse effects on low-income and minority groups. 
 
The three analyses completed for this Environmental Justice Analysis are summarized below: 
 
Potential Environmental Impacts of Projects 

• None of the projects in the AMATS Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Transportation Improvement 
Program appear to have any fatal flaws from an environmental justice standpoint. 

• It is recommended that all of the projects shown in Table D-1, be analyzed more closely 
as they move into future stages of development. 

• Projects which were shown to have potential negative impacts should be closely 
scrutinized as more detailed environmental analyses are completed, in order to determine 
whether these negative impacts will be disproportionately borne by low-income or 
minority individuals or communities. 

 
Transportation Accessibility in Low-Income and Minority Neighborhoods 

• Highway projects in the AMATS Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Transportation Improvement 
Program provide low-income and minority neighborhoods with adequate and equitable 
accessibility to major activity centers located throughout the AMATS area. 

• Low-income and minority groups in both Summit and Portage counties are well served 
by public transportation, having greater access to fixed route transit service than the 
general population.  

 
 
 

D - 16 

Transportation Investment in Low-Income and Minority Areas 

• Low-income and minority areas will receive an equitable share of the benefits from 
planned transportation improvements recommended in the AMATS Fiscal Year 2021-
2024 Transportation Improvement Program. 

• It is likely that a much greater percentage of public transportation expenditures actually 
benefit low-income and minority persons than the analysis indicates, because the amount 
of route miles does not accurately reflect the actual amount of service being provided.  
Specifically, trips to suburban employment centers also benefit low-income and minority 
persons.   

 
 
References: 
 
Executive Order 12898: Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority 
Populations and Low-Income Populations; Federal Register, vol. 59 no. 32, February 16, 1994. 
 
DOT Order on Environmental Justice to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations 
and Low-Income Populations (DOT Order 5610.2(a)); May 2, 2012. 
 
FHWA, Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income 
Populations, (Order 6640.23A); June 14, 2012 
 
FTA Circular 4703.1, Environmental Justice Policy Guidance for Federal Transit Administration 
Recipients, August 15, 2012 
 
ODOT, Guidance and Best Practices for Incorporating Environmental Justice into Ohio 
Transportation Planning and Environmental Processes, June 2016 
 
ODOT Office of Environmental Services (OES), Underserved Populations Guidance, July 2019 
 
Title VI Requirements in Metropolitan and Statewide Planning 
 
Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act 
 
Title 23 of the U.S. Code (U.S.C.), Section 109(h) 
 
Title 49 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, part 21 (Department of Transportation 
Regulations for the implementation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964  
 
The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, as amended 
 
Title 29 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, parts 1600-1699 
 
Ohio Administrative Code § 123:1-49-02 
 
Ohio Revised Code § 4112.02 



73Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024
Public Comments from the Citizen’s Involvement Commitee
The following pages are comments received from Citizen’s Involvement Committee 
member, Mr. Carson Barnes at the March 5th, 2020 CIC Meeting.



74Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT



75Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Public Comments from Facebook

On Thursday, April 2, 2020, AMATS hosted a Virtual Public Meeting on Facebook 
Live regarding the Draft FY 2021-2024 TIP along with a Plan Amendment to 
AMATS’ Transportation Outlook 2040.  This Virtual Public Meeting was, and will 
continue to be available at facebook.com/AMATSPlanning.  As of April 14th, this 
meeting has been viewed 163 times and received ten comments, within which the 
following question was asked of and answered by AMATS.



76Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Public Comments from E-Mail
The following are comments or questions received via E-Mail.

On April 3, 2020, the following question was received via E-Mail from Ms. Cindy 
Christman:

Will the new Rt. 8 bridge be completely fenced on both sides to prevent suicides? 
It is also important to have adequate fencing at both ends to prevent access to the 
exterior part of the fence.

On April 6, 2020, AMATS Director, Curtis Baker replied to Ms. Christman as 
follows:

Hello Ms. Christman,

I apologize on the delay in answering your questions.  I needed to reach out to 
ODOT to get an answer on the bridge design.  Here is the answer regarding your 
question:

The new structures will have Fence on both sides that will prohibit climbing/
jumping.  We also will be removing the catwalks from the outside of the parapets, 
that are currently there today, so there will not be any access to the exterior part of 
the fence. 

So short answer is yes – it will be fenced on both sides.

Thanks for your comment.

Sincerely,
Curtis Baker
AMATS
161 S High St. Suite 201
P: 330.375.2436  ext 4891
C: 330.283.4933



77Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

On April 9, 2020, the following comment was received via E-Mail from Ms. April 
Eaton:

Not sure where this applies, but it would be great of St rt 88 between Garrettsville 
and Freedom township was wide enough for 2 vehicles. Often larger vehicles, like 
semis, buses, rvs, and trucks are barely able to fit in their lane and drift left of center. 
It would be greatly appreciated by residents to not have this road be unnecessarily 
dangerous, especially during the winter months when the center and sides of the 
road are not always visible. Simply measuring the lanes and comparing it to those 
north of Garrettsville & south of the turnpike will show how this section is much 
more narrow than other areas. Just driving behind a semi you’re able to see the road 
is not wide enough.

On April 15, 2020, ODOT Distrct 4 Planning Managerr, Steve Rebillot replied 
to Ms. Eaton as follows:

Ms. Eaton,

Thank you for your inquiry through Natasha Turner related to POR State Route 
88.

After some initial desktop investigation, this segment of rural State Route 88 does 
warrant some type of field verification.

This will have to be put on hold until the COVID-19 shelter at home order expires. 
We at ODOT are currently working remotely.

Keep in mind that there are instances where our overall roadway widths are 
constrained by deep ditches and steep drop-offs.

If wider lanes are warranted, and can be incorporated within the current roadway 
footprint, we can do so with our next resurfacing project, which is a few years out.

The good news is that this three mile section is safe.

It is not listed on ODOT’s Highway Safety list in either 2017 or 2018.

Also, it is not listed on the 2016-18 AMATS (Akron Metropolitan Area 
Transportation Study) list of high crash locations in Portage & Summit Counties.

Thank you for your interest in transportation.

Be safe.

Steve J. Rebillot 
Planning Manager 
ODOT District 4
2088 South Arlington Road, Akron, Ohio 44306
330.786.4921
transportation.ohio.gov



78Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Media Coverage
The AMATS FY 2021-2024 TIP received the following media coverage:

Coronavirus impact: Traffic down,
big road projects still being planned
Traffic on the state’s roads has declined precipitously since the start 
of the coronavirus crisis, the director of the region’s transportation 
planning agency said Wednesday.

Traffic on some sections of Ohio’s interstates has declined as much 
as 50%, said Curtis Baker, director of the Akron Metropolitan Area 
Transportation Study.

“I think it’s accurate to say that most professionals have never seen 
anything like this for a prolonged period of time,” Baker said.

Those professionals remain busy planning future transportation 
projects, including a virtual public meeting Thursday on nearly $1 
billion in transportation projects planned for the next three years. 
AMATS covers Summit and Portage counties and a portion of 
Wayne County.

On Monday, the agency released its draft plan for $993 million in 
highway, public transit, bike and pedestrian projects throughout the 
Greater Akron area.

Among those is a $120 million Ohio Department of Transportation 
project to replace the state Route 8 bridge over the Little Cuyahoga 
River valley. Construction is expected to start in late summer of next 
year.

The bridge is expected to take four years to complete, and three lanes 
of traffic will be maintained most of the time. An ODOT daily traffic 
count in 2016 showed more than 100,000 vehicles per day used that 
section of Route 8.

Baker said the meeting will also cover a $160 million project at the Central Interchange in Akron, beginning 
in spring of next year.

That project — involving Interstates 76, 77 and Route 8 — includes reconstruction and realignment of the 
westbound to southbound ramp, the eastbound to northbound ramp and the westbound to northbound ramp.

Baker said three local projects in the agency’s three-year Transportation Improvement Program study will 
probably receive attention during the meeting.

• In Kent, a $17.5 million project on East Main Street from Willow Street to Horning Road will add a 
roundabout, medians and new sidewalks in front of Kent State University.
• In Cuyahoga Falls, a $7.7 million project will add a two-way turn lane on Portage Trails Extension.
• A $1 million pedestrian bridge will be built southeast of Boston Mills Road and Riverview Road. The bridge 
will connect the Towpath Trail to the Boston Mill Visitor Center, Baker said.

Baker said the virtual meeting will be a first for the agency, but it provides an opportunity for more public 
input on projects.

“In some ways, I think we are becoming more accessible,” Baker said. “This is our first one, so bear with us.”

The agency is taking comments on the three-year traffic study through the month of April.

Alan Ashworth can be reached at 330-996-3859 or emailed at aashworth@thebeaconjournal.com. Follow him 
on Twitter at @newsalanbeaconj.

April 1, 2020, BeaconJournal.com

March 23, 2020, the Akron Beacon Journal ran the following ad on page B4:

AK-0000885914-01 (100%)
ADVERTISER: CITY OF AKRON PROOF CREATED AT: 3/17/2020 2:28:35 PM
SALES PERSON: AKLMG.TERRI.B NEXT RUN DATE: 03/23/20
SIZE: 4.938X5 PROOF DUE: 03/20/20 10:59:55
PUBLICATION: AK-AKRON BEACON JOURNAL

PROOF O.K. BY:___________________________ O.K. WITH CORRECTIONS BY:________________________

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY • SUBMIT CORRECTIONS ONLINE

AMATS and ODOT present the next four years

If you’re interested in what the future holds for transportation in the

Greater Akron area, then mark March 30 on your calendar. That’s

the day that the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study

(AMATS) will unveil the area’s Draft Transportation Improvement

Program for Fiscal Years 2021 Through 2024 (TIP) for a two-week

public comment period.

The TIP is the area’s program of highway, public transit, bike and

pedestrian projects that are scheduled to receive federal funds

over the next four years. AMATS is reaching out to the public for

their thoughts on the newest program.

The new TIP will be available for online public comments from

March 30 through April 10 at amatsplanning.org and the

AMATS Twitter and Facebook pages - @AMATSPlanning. Please

call 330-375-2436 for more information.

Because the AMATS TIP is one of 17 such programs from

metropolitan planning organizations across Ohio that will comprise

the four-year state TIP, you are also invited to view and comment

on the Ohio Department of Transportation’s Draft State TIP by

visiting transportation.ohio.gov/stip.

AK-0000885914-01

The City of Akron is committed to ensuring that individuals with disabilities are
able to fully participate in public programs, services, and activities. Anyone who
is in need of an accommodation from any City department is invited to contact
Donald Rice, Director of Human Resources, 166 South High Street, Room 103,
Akron, Ohio 44308, (voice) 330-375-2780 as soon as possible. If you require
TDD phone service call Ohio Relay at 800-750-0750 and they will assist in
contacting the Department of Human Resources at (330) 375-2780.



79Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

April 2-3, 2020, BeaconJournal.com
Agencies detail Route 8 bridge plans
in virtual public meeting
The agencies that together plan much of the roadwork in Summit, 
Portage and Wayne counties took to the internet Thursday to present 
$993 million worth of road projects.

Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study director Curtis 
Baker and Ohio Department of Transportation Capital Programs 
Administrator Chad Root highlighted several projects during the 
half-hour presentation.

A $120 million project to replace the state Route 8 bridge over the 
Little Cuyahoga River valley is expected to start late next year, Root 
said.

The four-year project runs from Glenwood Avenue to Perkins Street 
on Route 8 in Akron and includes an auxiliary lane to give drivers 
more time to merge into traffic.

A second bridge will be built to the west of the existing 1,582-foot 
bridge that was built in 1953. After the new bridge is complete, the 
old bridge will be demolished, Root said.

One of the challenges of the project, Root said, is what lies beneath 
the bridge.

“It crosses over the Little Cuyahoga River, six sets of railroad tracks 
and North Street,” he said.

Root said the project will feature construction methods that are 
new to Ohio. A camera will be positioned so viewers can watch the 
construction progress.

Root said the age of the bridge made it a candidate for replacement.

“The bridge was built in 1953; structurally, it is time, condition wise, it 
is time with the amount of maintenance work we’ve had to do on this structure,” Root said. “It’s had its useful 
life and now is the time to replace this bridge.”

Another project will replace two bridges designed to accommodate speeds up to 25 mph. The new bridges will 
have a top speed of 45 mph.

AMATS Director Curtis Baker said that the presentation was made to give the public an idea of what’s coming 
up on area roads.

“Public input is a big part of the TIP [Transportation Improvement Program],” he said. “That’s why we’re 
doing what we’re doing tonight.”

Baker listed several local projects AMATS is undertaking, including:

‒ Bike lanes from Broad Street to Fountain Street in Akron.

‒ A $17.5 million project in Kent that includes a roundabout near the university.

‒ A resurfacing project in Barberton.

‒ A couple of roundabout projects — $4.9 million and $5.1 — in Green.

AMATS is soliciting public comment on the plans until April 29. To comment, go to amatsplanning.org/tip/

Alan Ashworth can be reached at 330-996-3859 or emailed at aashworth@thebeaconjournal.com.

April 2, 2020, Akron.com

AMATS accepting comments on draft improvements plan
GREATER AKRON — The Akron Metropolitan Area 
Transportation Study (AMATS), one of 17 regional transportation 
planning agencies, will offer the area’s Draft Transportation 
Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021 Through 2024 (TIP) for 
public comment through April 10 at amatsplanning.org.

According to AMATS officials, the Draft TIP encompasses more 
than $993 million in highway, public transit, bike and pedestrian 
projects throughout the Greater Akron area. The program includes 
more than $642.7 million for highway projects, $338.7 million for 
public transit needs and almost $12 million for bike and pedestrian 
projects, which are scheduled to receive federal funds for fiscal years 
2021 through 2024.

TIP Coordinator David Pulay stated that a number of significant 
improvements are included in the new program.

“The $164 million project to repave portions of state Route 8 and 
interstates 76 and 77 and the $146 million state Route 8 bridge 
replacement over the Cuyahoga River Valley are some of the major 
improvements planned for the next four years,” he added. “Other 
major projects planned throughout the region include the more than 
$12 million widening of Cleveland-Massillon Road in Fairlawn.”

Online public comments on the TIP also are being accepted on 
AMATS’ Facebook page and at transportation.ohio.gov/stip. No 
comments will be accepted in person due to the COVID-19 outbreak, 
officials said.

In addition, AMATS will host a virtual public meeting today, April 
2, at 6:30 p.m. through its Facebook page, with more details to be 
announced on its website.



80Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix E - Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

April 3, 2020, Record-Courier.com
City, Kent State agree to share local
cost of East Main Street Project
The city of Kent and Kent State University recently agreed to split 
costs associated with the multi-million dollar improvement of the 
East Main Street corridor.

Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) director 
Curtis Baker addressed the project during a recent virtual meeting. 
It was briefly discussed during a portion that outlined several road 
projects that will be constructed in the Greater Akron Area during 
the 2021-24 fiscal years. Baker described the planned improvement as 
a “very large” project that will be developed on the part of East Main 
Street that stretches from Willow Street to Horning Road.

“This project will include complete reconstruction with medians, 
roundabouts, sidewalk replacement and a lot of future development 
on the university side,” Baker said.

The total project cost, he said, is approximately $17.5 million. 
Kent City Engineer Jim Bowling clarified that the cost will be 
approximately $20 million. The price Baker mentioned during the 
virtual meeting, Bowling said, was a “conceptual funding alternate.” 
It is being continually refined and used to continually develop the 
project’s cost. The local share for the project is around 10%.

In March, Kent City Council and the Kent State University Board of 
Trustees approved paperwork that allowed those entities to evenly split the local share of design costs up to a 
maximum of $125,000 per entity. The local share of construction costs, which will also be divided between the 
two, is estimated in the agreement to be around $2.2 million. The trustees agreed to split 50% of that cost with 
the city. Any additional funds needed for the local construction cost match must be authorized by the trustees 
prior to entering into contracts.

The PARTA Board of Trustees also approved the agreement.

The city has received commitments and grants totaling $14.6 million currently, Bowling said. It will continue 
to pursue additional grant funding during the next appropriate application period.

A purpose and needs statement about the East Main Street area improvements laid out the project’s goals. It 
said the project will be considered successful if it jointly improves safety and aesthetics (as a function of safety) 
for all users; balances vehicular congestion with improvements to other modes of transportation; enhances the 
adjacent neighborhoods; integrates with KSU’s 2018 Gateway Master Plan; and provides reasonable access to 
adjacent properties and side streets.

According to a previous report, city council was informed that from 2016 to 2018, 12% of all crashes citywide 
happened on the 0.8 mile of road that makes up the corridor that fronts Kent State University.

Bowling said he is currently working with a citizen’s advisory group, Kent State University and PARTA to 
devise solutions and solve the corridor’s problems. Bowling said that plans for what will be built, specifically, 
have not been outlined yet.

Construction is anticipated to begin in 2024 and is anticipated to extend over multiple years. Traffic issues that 
will be caused by it have not been discussed at this point, Bowling said.

The citizen’s advisory group for the project will still continue to discuss plans about the project. It will help the 
city determine one or more proposal alternates and then invite the public to comment on those plans. Those 
interested in being a part of it should contact Bowling at bowlingj@kent-ohio.org.

Reporter Kaitlyn McGarvey can be reached at kmcgarvey@recordpub.com or on Twitter at @ktlynmcgrvy.



81Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix F - Resolution Approving the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Resolution Approving the Draft TIP FY 2021-2024

Attachment 6B 

 
 

 
AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

 
 
TO:  Policy Committee  

Technical Advisory Committee  
  Citizens Involvement Committee  
 
FROM: AMATS Staff 
 
RE: Resolution 2020-06 - Adopting the Transportation Improvement Program 

FY 2021-2024 
 
DATE:  April 29, 2020 
 
 
The Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) FY 2021-2024 contains a comprehensive listing 
of regional transportation improvement projects scheduled for implementation with federal or 
state funds within the next four years.  The TIP FY 2021-2024 was developed by the AMATS 
staff in conjunction with all AMATS committees, area transit operators, the Ohio Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) and US DOT.   
 
The TIP incorporates more than $993 million in highway, public transit, bike and pedestrian 
projects throughout the AMATS area.  The program includes more than $642.7 million for 
highway projects, $338.7 million for public transit needs, and slightly less than $12 million for 
bike and pedestrian projects.  These projects are scheduled to receive federal funds for fiscal 
years 2021 through 2024. 
 
The AMATS area includes all of Summit and Portage counties and the Chippewa and Milton 
Township areas of Wayne County.  The full TIP document contains: the list of highway 
improvements shown in Table 2-3 complete with codes and abbreviations; the list of transit 
improvements in Table 3-2; and the Statewide Line Items for the AMATS area in Table 2-4.  
 
Federal regulations derived from Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act require 
that the TIP demonstrate financial balance and air quality conformity, and include opportunities 
for public comment.  A summary of each of these activities follows: 
 
Financial Balance 
 
The FAST Act requires that a financial plan be included demonstrating that the TIP can be 
implemented with the financial resources expected to be available over the next four years.  For 
this purpose, Chapter 4 - Fiscal Assessment is included in the TIP.  This chapter summarizes 
highway and transit revenues and project costs.  Highway cost information was drawn from 
Table 2-3 and transit cost information was drawn from Table 3-2.   

 
 

2 
 

 
The fiscal constraint analysis indicates that sufficient federal, state and local funds are expected 
to be available to support the projects included in the TIP for FY 2021-2024. 
 
 
Air Quality Conformity 
 
The Air Quality Conformity Analysis forecasts the mobile emissions generated by vehicles using 
the transportation system recommended in Transportation Outlook 2040, the area’s Regional 
Transportation Plan.  The analysis is required to forecast emissions relating to ozone and PM2.5 
pollutants.  The results of the analysis demonstrate that the emissions of ozone and PM2.5 do not 
exceed the level of emissions established by the Ohio EPA in the State Implementation Plan 
(SIP).   
 
All of the projects in the TIP that require an air quality analysis were included in the Air Quality 
Conformity Analysis.  This analysis confirms that the TIP FY 2021-2024 is in conformity with 
the SIP.   
 
Included in the full TIP document is Appendix C – Air Quality Analysis, which provides 
additional details of this analysis. 
 
Performance Measures 
 
Performance measures are central to implementing a performance-based planning process that 
guides decision making.  Federal regulations require agencies such as AMATS to consider 
safety, infrastructure condition, congestion reduction, system reliability, freight movement and 
economic vitality to prioritize the programming of transportation projects.  AMATS is also 
required to consider Transit Asset Management (TAM) planning as part of its efforts to maintain 
the area’s capital resources in a state of good repair.   
 
Performance measures are discussed in greater detail in Appendix H of the full TIP document.   
 
Public Comment 
 
The public was given the opportunity to review and comment on the second draft of the TIP FY 
2021-2024 from March 30 through April 29.  Due to COVID-19 the draft TIP document was 
available on the AMATS website.   
 
In addition, a virtual public meeting was held on April 2, 2020, on the AMATS Facebook page.  
A press release, written notices, newspaper advertisements and social media were utilized to 
notify the public of the TIP public involvement period and meeting.  As of April 20, 2020 there 
were 171 views of the virtual public meeting and AMATS had received ten comments. 
  
In order to document the public’s involvement, Appendix E – Public Review of the TIP FY 2021-
2024, is included in the full TIP document. 
 



82Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix F - Resolution Approving the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 
 

3 
 

Staff Recommendation 
 
Currently, the complete Draft TIP FY 2021-2024 is available on the “What’s New” section of 
AMATS website located at amatsplanning.org.  It is expected that the Federal Highway 
Administration and Federal Transit Administration will approve this document by the end of 
June.  On July 1, 2020, the new TIP is expected to become official.  With federal approval, the 
Final TIP FY 2021-2024 will be available on the “TIP” and “Reports” pages of the AMATS 
website. 
 
Attached to this memo is Resolution Number 2020-06.  This resolution adopts the Transportation 
Improvement Program FY 2021-2024.  The Staff recommends approval. 
  

 
 

4 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-06 
 
OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 
ADOPTING THE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FY 2021-2024  
 
WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and in cooperation with locally elected officials in 
Summit and Portage Counties and the Chippewa Township and Milton Township areas of 
Wayne County; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS has, pursuant to 23 United States Code 134, and relevant federal 
regulations,  prepared a Transportation Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021 through 
2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS has carried out public involvement activities consistent with the AMATS 
Public Participation Plan during the period of March 30 through April 29 and conducted a virtual 
public meeting on April 2; and 
 
WHEREAS, an Environmental Justice scan has been completed, in order to ensure that low-
income and minority population groups will not disproportionately bear the negative 
environmental consequences of implementing the projects scheduled in the Transportation 
Improvement Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, a fiscal constraint analysis was conducted demonstrating that adequate funding is 
available to finance the projects programmed in the Transportation Improvement Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 require that AMATS make a 
determination, in cooperation with NOACA, ERPC and ODOT, that Transportation Outlook 
2040 is in conformity with respect to Ohio’s State Implementation Plan (SIP) for attainment of 
the 2008 8-hour ozone standard, 2015 8-hour ozone standard and the 2006 and 2012 fine 
particulate matter standards; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 require that AMATS make a 
determination, in cooperation with NOACA and ODOT, that the Transportation Improvement 
Program Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024 is in conformity with respect to Ohio’s State 
Implementation Plan (SIP) for attainment of the 2015 8-hour ozone standard, the 2008 8-hour 
ozone standard, and the 2006 and 2012 PM2.5 standards, where applicable; and 
 
WHEREAS, a quantitative air quality analysis of the AMATS Transportation Improvement 
Program Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024 and Transportation Outlook  (amended May 14, 2020), 
the area’s 2040 Regional Transportation Plan, has been completed in accordance with the 
requirements specified by the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act and the 
Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990; and  



83Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix F - Resolution Approving the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

 
 

5 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-06 (Continued) 
 
WHEREAS, the projects programmed in the AMATS Transportation Improvement Program 
Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024 are consistent with Transportation Outlook  (amended May 14, 
2020), the area’s 2040 Regional Transportation Plan, and were included in the air quality 
analysis completed for the 2040 Plan and found to be in conformity with the State 
Implementation Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the development of performance measures is required in order to foster 
transparency and accountability, and help track transportation system improvement at regional, 
state, and national levels; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) has established performance 
targets for safety, infrastructure condition, congestion reduction and system reliability according 
to federal guidance and timetables; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS supports ODOT efforts and targets for these performance measures as 
further discussed in Appendix H: Performance Measures in the Transportation Improvement 
Program FY 2021-2024. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
1. That this Committee adopts the Transportation Improvement Program Fiscal Year 2021 

through 2024 and recommends that its members incorporate these improvements into 
their transportation improvement programming for their governmental units. 

 
2. That this Committee affirms that the public had adequate opportunity to comment on the 

Transportation Improvement Program FY 2021-2024. 
 
3. That this Committee affirms the consistency of the Transportation Improvement Program 

with available federal, state and local funding sources. 
 
4. That this Committee approves supporting the Ohio Department of Transportation's 

statewide targets for all applicable transportation performance measures as described in 
the attached memorandum and Appendix H: Performance Measures of the TIP: safety, 
National Highway System (NHS) pavement conditions, interstate bridge conditions, level 
of travel time reliability and level of truck time reliability. 

 
5. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects so that they contribute toward 

the achievement of ODOT’s current targets for each performance measure as described in 
Appendix H: Performance Measures, of the AMATS TIP. 

 
6. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects in support of air quality goals in 

coordination with ODOT, NOACA and ERPC. 
 

 
 

6 
 

7. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects in support of METRO RTA and 
PARTA Transit Asset Management (TAM) plans. 

 
8. That this Committee affirms the consistency between the Transportation Improvement 

Program FY 2021-2024, the area’s Regional Transportation Plan (Transportation 
Outlook 2040) and the State Implementation Plan for air quality. 

 
9. That this Committee approves the Transportation Improvement Program FY 2021-2024 

document. 
 

10. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the 
appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Transportation Policy 
Committee. 

 
 
 

 
_____________________________________ 

 Mayor Linda Clark, 2020 Chairwoman 
      Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
         Date   



84Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix G - Amendments to the TIP FY 2021-2024  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Amendments to the TIP FY 2021-2024



85Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Performance Measures

H-1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix H 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

H-2 
 

Performance Measures 
 
The FAST ACT places federal emphasis on performance measurement.  This focus is consistent 
with AMATS’ goals and objectives, which promote the transparency of public data and decision-
making and seeks to improve the accountability of public spending by better linking investments 
to outcomes. 
 
Performance measures are central to implementing a Performance-Based Planning Process 
(PBPP) that guides decision making.  How performance is defined and measured can 
significantly affect the types of projects and strategies that are advanced by decision makers.  
Moreover, performance results inform agencies whether the types of projects and strategies they 
are implementing are in fact helping them achieve their goals.  Performance measures aim to 
answer questions about whether the performance of the transportation system is getting better or 
worse over time.  Performance measures also aim to demonstrate whether transportation 
investments are correlated or linked to stated goals and whether they produce desired outcomes. 
 
Introducing a performance management approach to planning is intended to improve project and 
program delivery, inform investment decision making, focus staff efforts on priorities, and 
provide greater transparency and accountability to the public.  Federal legislation applies 
performance measurement at the programmatic, rather than project level and links performance 
measures and targets to funding decisions by way of performance-based funding.  The purpose 
of this approach is to move towards performance-based decision-making for project selection in 
the future. 
 
State and local investments of federal funds must make progress toward these performance 
targets, and MPOs must incorporate these performance measures and targets into their 
Transportation Improvement Programs (TIPs) and long range Regional Transportation Plans.  
Federal guidance imposes financial penalties on states that fail to make progress toward these 
performance goals. 
 
There are seven areas for which the US DOT has established national performance goals.  These 
areas are: 
 

• Safety, 
• Infrastructure Condition, 
• Congestion Reduction, 
• System Reliability, 
• Freight Movement and Economic Vitality,  
• Environmental Sustainability, and  
• Reduced Project Delivery Delays 

 
To implement performance measure goals, US DOT has developed measures and minimum 
standards for states to follow for the various core programs established in MAP-21.  US DOT 
has issued performance measure goals for each of the above areas.  
 
In the transportation planning process, the public and other stakeholders articulate a strategic 
direction that is based on a shared vision for the future. 



86Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-3 
 

 
• Goals and Objectives stem from the area's vision and goals, and they address key 

desired outcomes.  Agencies like AMATS create objectives—which are 
specific, measurable statements—that shape planning priorities. 

• Performance Measures support objectives and are the basis for comparing 
alternative improvement strategies, investment and policy strategies, and 
tracking results. 

 
Driven by data on performance, along with public involvement and policy considerations, 
AMATS will conduct analyses that inform investment and policy priorities. 
 

• Identify Trends and Targets – Trends and targets let agencies compare 
alternative strategies.  This step relies on baseline data from past trends, tools 
to forecast future performance, and information on possible strategies, 
available funding, and other constraints. 

• Identify Strategies and Analyze Alternatives –Scenario analysis may also be 
used to compare alternative strategies and funding levels, or to explore 
funding levels required to achieve certain performance goals. 

• Develop Investment Priorities – To reach investment targets, AMATS will 
create a TIP and a Regional Transportation Plan that consider priorities and 
tradeoffs. 

 
Programming involves selecting specific projects to include in the TIP.  In a performance based 
planning approach, agencies make programming decisions based on whether those decisions 
support performance targets or contribute to desired trends. 
 
Performance based planning is founded on evidence that the process leads agencies to their 
goals. The following evaluation activities happen throughout implementation and when needed 
throughout performance based planning. 
 

• Monitoring – Gathering information on actual conditions. 
• Evaluation – Conducting analysis to understand whether implemented strategies 

have been effective. 
• Reporting – Communicating information about system performance and whether 

policymakers, stakeholders, and the public think plans and programs are 
effective. 

 
In a performance based planning approach, each step in the process is clearly connected to the 
next so that goals translate into specific measures.  Those measures then become the basis for 
selecting and analyzing strategies for the long range plan.  Ultimately, project selection decisions 
are influenced by expected performance results.  Keeping the next step in the process in mind is 
critical to each subsequent step. 
 
Public involvement and data are critical throughout the process.  The public's vision for their 
transportation system plays a central role in determining goals, performance measures, and 
investment priorities.  Agencies also decide on priorities using data and information on how 
potential strategies performed in the past, are performing now, and how they are projected to 
perform in the future. 

H-4 
 

 
Like all planning, the performance based planning process is cyclical.  As planning cycles 
evolve, goals and objectives may be adjusted and performance measures and targets may be 
refined.  Making adjustments ensures that agencies focus on the most important priorities and 
that those priorities remain achievable. 
 
Federal regulations have now placed a greater emphasis on the use of performance measures.  
ODOT will continue to develop statewide performance targets on a continuing basis.  And MPOs 
such as AMATS are coordinating with ODOT on this process.  AMATS and ODOT will 
continue to monitor and develop factors that influence the level of performance of various 
transportation modes, and refine the performance targets that will be necessary to maintain or 
improve operational efficiency. 
 
Table H-1 below summarizes project funding by performance group category for the 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) FY 2021-2024.  Highway, bicycle and pedestrian 
projects are programmed to receive approximately $720.5 million in funds over the life of the 
TIP. 
 

Table H-1 
Transportation Performance Management (TPM) Funding 

Highway, Bicycle and Pedestrian - by Year of Construction ($000's) 

 
 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total 

PM1 $18,250 $8,552 $14,903 $568 $42,274 

PM2 $279,172 $193,197 $76,140 $81,194 $629,704 

PM3 $16,350 $18,743 $12,956 $513 $48,562 

    TOTAL ($000'S) $720,540 

      
Notes:      
Performance Measures Group One (PM1): Safety   
Performance Measures Group Two (PM2): Infrastructure - Pavement and Bridges  
Performance Measures Group Three (PM3): System Performance - Congestion and Air Quality, Travel Time 

 
 

Reliability, Peak-Hour Excessive Delay (PHED), Mobile Source Emissions, and Non-Single 

 
 

Occupancy Vehicle (Non-SOV) Travel   
Transit Asset Management (TAM) - Listed under Transit Agencies (Vehicle Replacements and Rehab)  
Projects may be listed with multiple PM categories.  Summary above includes Line Item Projects.  

 
 Line Items are a category of projects with federal funding sources which may be used for 

 
 federal authorization purposes in place of an individual listing for each project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



87Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-5 
 

PM 1 - Safety 
 
Federal legislation requires MPOs like AMATS to establish performance targets and set targets 
that demonstrate fatal and serious injury reductions on all public roads.  The required 
performance measures for safety are: 

• Number of fatalities 
• Fatality rate  
• Number of serious injuries  
• Serious injury rate  
• Number of non-motorized fatalities and serious injuries 

 
In accordance with federal legislation, AMATS uses a five-year average to calculate baseline 
safety targets.  These baseline targets are the benchmarks to which all future calculations will be 
compared.  All future values will also be calculated using five years of data.  This five-year 
rolling average is used to smooth out short-term year-to-year fluctuations.  A full discussion of 
safety planning and the identification of safety needs for the AMATS area is found in the Traffic 
Crashes and Safety Performance Measures 2016-2018 Report, approved in December 2019.  
This technical memorandum also includes analyses of bicycle and pedestrian safety data. 
 
AMATS is also required to establish safety performance targets.  There are two options available 
for satisfying this requirement: commit to a quantifiable target for each measure within the 
metropolitan area, or approve of ODOT’s statewide targets and agree to plan and program 
projects so that they contribute toward the accomplishment of these targets.  AMATS supports 
the goals set forth by ODOT for the entire state, rather than develop separate targets for our area 
(See AMATS Policy Resolution 2019-22, approved December 2019). 
 
The current USDOT rules for safety performance measures were developed to support the 
Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP), as it establishes safety performance measure 
requirements for the purpose of carrying out the HSIP and to assess fatalities and serious injuries 
on all public roads.  The use of performance measures for safety will impact AMATS member 
applications for funding at the local, state and federal level.  The AMATS Funding Policy 
Guidelines will be amended in order to support the safety goals in the HSIP, as noted in the 
current federal program rules. 
 
In accordance with federal regulations, AMATS used a five-year average to calculate the initial 
safety targets in 2015.  These averages become the benchmark to which all future calculations 
will be compared.  All future values will also be calculated using five years of data.  This five-
year rolling average is used to smooth out short term year-to-year fluctuations in data. 
 
Table H-2 below shows the calculation of the AMATS rolling averages for the five safety 
performance measures.  The 2015 averages are the benchmark values to which the 2018 values 
are compared.  In each of the safety performance measures, AMATS has exceeded the ODOT 
goal of reducing each category by one percent.  
 
 
 
 

H-6 
 

Table H-2 
Safety Performance Data 

 

Year 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

2015 2016 2017 2018 
Percent 
Change 

5 
Year 

5 
Year 

5 
Year 

5 
Year 

Ave Ave Ave Ave 

Number of Fatalities 40 49 54 60 31 46 46 49 47 3% 

1000 Daily VMT (from ODOT) 20,826.53 51,701.50 20,181.96 20,894.07 20,087.25           

100 Million VMT 76.02 79.21 73.66 76.26 73.32           

Fatalities per 100M VMT 0.53 0.62 0.73 0.79 0.42 0.60 0.61 0.64 0.62 3% 
                      
Number of Serious Injuries 549 522 499 450 331 590 574 529 470 -20% 

1000 Daily VMT (from ODOT) 20,826.53 51,701.50 20,181.96 20,894.07 20,087.25           

100 Million VMT 76.02 79.21 73.66 76.26 73.32           

Serious Inuries per 100M VMT 7.22 6.59 6.77 5.90 4.51 7.79 7.58 6.94 6.20 -20% 
                      
Number of Non-motorized 

57 54 46 46 51 57.4 54.4 51.4 50.8 -11% 
Fatalities and Serious Injuries 

 
Tables 2-3 and 2-4 list all of the projects in the TIP that are anticipated to improve safety in the 
AMATS area and contribute to ODOT’s statewide safety goals (see Chapter 2).  These projects 
were prioritized and approved based on the AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines, with additional 
scoring given for safety-related improvements.  Safety projects are listed as Performance 
Measure Group One (PM1), and are often funded with Ohio Highway Safety Improvement 
Program (HSIP) funds.  
 
ODOT’s Calculated Safety Targets for CY 2020 

After reviewing historical crash trends, external factors, and through consultation with ODOT's 
partners, the Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP) Steering Committee recommended that Ohio 
set its 2% annual reduction target across all five categories for calendar year (CY) 2020. 
 
Although the 2% annual target will be difficult to achieve across all five categories, the SHSP 
Steering Committee feels an aspirational but achievable target is better than adopting targets that 
accept the status quo. 
 
ODOT has adopted the 2% annual reduction target based on the state’s commitment to safety.  
This commitment includes the following new initiatives: 

• An additional $50 million annually for ODOT’s Highway Safety Program 
• The statewide implementation of centerline rumble strips 
• Ohio Department of Public Safety (ODPS) young driver and driver training initiatives 
• Ten million dollars for a new pedestrian safety improvement program 

 
Below are Ohio's CY 2020 targets. The baseline years for setting CY 2020 targets are CY 2014-
2018. The Federal Highway Administration will determine whether a state DOT has met or made 
significant progress toward meeting its CY 2020 targets in December 2021.  States will be 
notified in March 2022. 



88Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-7 
 

 
A state is considered to have met or made significant progress toward meeting its performance 
targets if at least four of the five targets have been met or the actual outcome for the target is 
better than the baseline performance. 
 

CY 2020 Targets for Ohio are: 
 1,055 fatalities 
 8,348 serious injuries 
 0.91 fatality rate 
 7.21 serious injury rate 
 824 non-motorized fatalities and non-motorized serious injuries 

 
Baselines used to set targets are (CY 2014-2018): 

• 1,099 fatalities 
• 8,692.2 serious injuries 
• 0.95 fatality rate 
• 7.51 serious injury rate 
• 858.4 non-motorized fatalities and non-motorized serious injuries 

 
Safety data for CY 2019 will not be available until April 2020.  The staff will then take some 
time to develop that data for the AMATS area.  Although data for calendar year 2019 is still 
being compiled, ODOT is projecting that the state will have 1,041 fatalities for 2019.   
 
Table H-3 below shows AMATS investment in safety.  AMATS has 39 projects in the TIP that 
directly impact safety performance measures.  AMATS emphasizes safety in its Funding Policy 
Guidelines providing additional points to projects that increase safety. 
 

Table H-3 
TIP Projects Improving Safety 

 Projects funded with HSIP $ HSIP $ (Millions) Projects funded without HSIP $ Non-HSIP $ (Millions) 

12 $16.9 27.00 $17.7 

 
The staff has recommended and the Policy Committee has approved support for ODOT’s 
statewide 2 percent annual reduction target for all five safety performance measures in CY 2020 
(See AMATS Policy Resolution 2019-22, approved December 19, 2019). 
 
PM 2 - Infrastructure Condition Performance Measures 
 
Part of the Performance Based Planning and Programming rules are to examine Infrastructure 
Condition and monitor the condition of pavement and bridges and culverts.   
 
Federal rules 23 CFR 490.307 and 23 CFR 490.407 establish measures to evaluate the condition 
of Ohio’s National Highway System (NHS) pavements and bridges.  ODOT established 2-year 
and 4-year statewide targets for both metrics within a four year performance period.  
Additionally, ODOT must establish only 4-year targets for interstate pavements. There are four 
targets for highways and two for bridges.  These measures are listed in Table H-4 as follows:  
 

H-8 
 

Table H-4 
Ohio's National Highway System (NHS) Pavement and Bridge Condition Targets 

 National Highway System Pavement Condition 

Pavements 2-Year Target 4-Year Target 

Percentage of Interstate Pavements in Good Condition N/A 50% 

Percentage of Interstate Pavements in Poor Condition N/A 1% 

Percentage of Non-Interstate Pavements in Good Condition 35% 35% 

Percentage of Non-Interstate Pavements in Poor Condition 3% 3% 

 National Highway System Bridge Condition 

Pavements 2-Year Target 4-Year Target 

Percentage of NHS Bridges in Good Condition 50% 50% 

Percentage of NHS Bridges in Poor Condition 5% 5% 

 
The targets reflect ODOT’s review of eight years of HPMS submitted NHS pavement data and 
10 years of bridge condition data.  Highways and bridges are both rated as good, fair, or poor.  
Statewide targets are only required for the poor and good conditions.  ODOT’s review confirms 
that a high percentage of Ohio’s NHS and Interstate pavements and bridges are in good condition 
with low percentages of poor conditions.  ODOT’s Pavement and Bridge Management Systems 
predict these patterns to continue.   
 
AMATS current NHS pavement condition ratings are identified in Table H-5 as follows: 
 

Table H-5 
AMATS Pavement Condition 

 AMATS Interstate Lane Miles Pavement Condition (%) 

Year Good Fair Poor Total 

2014 30.68% 68.85% 0.47% 100% 

2015 12.35% 87.13% 0.52% 100% 

2016 42.93% 57.01% 0.06% 100% 

2017 55.00% 44.50% 0.50% 100% 

2018 54.65% 45.17% 0.19% 100% 

5-Year Average 39.12% 60.53% 0.35% 100% 

 AMATS Non-Interstate Lane Miles Pavement Condition (%) 

Year Good Fair Poor Total 

2014 18.75% 80.19% 1.05% 100% 

2015 17.71% 80.78% 1.51% 100% 

2016 28.70% 68.40% 2.90% 100% 

2017 32.00% 64.00% 4.00% 100% 

2018 30.66% 66.91% 2.42% 100% 

5-Year Average 25.57% 72.06% 2.38% 100% 

 



89Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-9 
 

AMATS Interstate and Non-Interstate pavement conditions are currently exceeding the targets 
set by ODOT.  Table H-6 below illustrates that 49 projects in the TIP directly relate to pavement 
condition improvement.  AMATS places an emphasis in its funding policy not only for pavement 
condition but also for communities that take preventative maintenance measures for local 
pavement.   
 

Table H-6 
TIP Projects Improving Pavements 

 Road Type Number of Projects Lane Miles Improved1 Construction $ (Millions)2 

Interstate 20 300 $272.2 

Non-Interstate NHS 29 171 $152.0 

 
AMATS current NHS bridge ratings as of 2019 are listed in Table H-7 as follows: 
 

Table H-7 
AMATS National Highway System Bridges NBI (2019) 

 Metric Total Percent of Total Total Deck Area (Sq Ft) Percent of Area 

Good 248 57.81% 3173674 52.89% 

Fair 179 41.72% 2807486 46.78% 

Bad 2 0.47% 19828 0.33% 

Total 429 100.00% 6000988 100.00% 

 
AMATS NHS bridge condition is currently exceeding the targets set by ODOT.  Table H-8 
below identifies 26 projects in the TIP directly relate to bridge condition with a total investment 
of $277 million. 
 

Table H-8 
TIP Projects Improving NHS Bridges 

 Number of Projects Bridges Improved1 Construction $ (Millions)2 

26 231 $277.2 

 
The AMATS Policy Committee has previously approved support for ODOT’s statewide goals 
for pavement and bridge conditions. (See AMATS Policy Resolution 2018-17, approved 
September 2018, attached below). 
 
 
PM-3 System Reliability, Freight Reliability, and CMAQ Performance Measures 
 
US DOT requires agencies to adopt travel time reliability measures to better manage and operate 
their transportation system.  Traffic professionals have come to recognize the importance of 
travel time reliability because it better quantifies the benefits of traffic management and 
operation activities than simple averages over a twenty-four hour period. 
 

H-10 
 

Federal rule 23 CFR 490.707 establishes Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) 
Traffic Congestion performance measures for large urbanized areas in Ohio.  One measure 
focuses on monitoring the Peak Hour Excessive Delay (PHED), which is the effort to monitor 
the time people spend in traffic delays.  Another measure focuses on decreasing single occupant 
vehicle trips (Percent of Non-Single Occupancy Vehicle (Non-SOV) Travel).  See the AMATS 
CMAQ Program Performance Plan for further discussion. 
 
Peak Hour Excessive Delay (PHED) 
 
ODOT and the Ohio MPOs collectively established a single target for each applicable urbanized 
area for the first performance period by May 20, 2018.  As part of a phased implementation 
approach, only four-year targets will be reported in the State’s baseline performance period 
report due by October 1, 2018. There is no requirement for states to report two-year targets or 
baseline condition for this specific measure in the report for the first performance period. With 
the first mid-performance period progress report, due October 1, 2020, four-year targets may be 
adjusted, and two-year condition/performance will be reported as baselines.   
 
Traffic congestion will be measured by the annual hours of peak hour excessive delay (PHED) 
per capita on the National Highway System (NHS).  The threshold for excessive delay will be 
based on the travel time at 20 miles per hour or 60% of the posted speed limit travel time, 
whichever is greater, and will be measured in 15-minute intervals.  Peak travel hours are defined 
as 6-10 am local time on weekday mornings; the weekday afternoon period is 3-7 pm, providing 
flexibility to state DOTs and MPOs.  The total excessive delay metric will be weighted by 
vehicle volumes and occupancy. 
 
Mode Share (Non-SOV Travel) 
 
ODOT and the Ohio MPOs established a single, unified two-year and four-year target for each 
applicable urbanized area for the first performance period of May 20, 2018. A baseline report for 
the first performance period was due October 1, 2018 and included two and four-year targets and 
a description of the data collection method used.   
 
Mode Share is a calculation of the percent of Non-SOV travel within the urbanized area.  Non-
SOV travel, defined by the FHWA, applies to travel occurring on modes other than driving alone 
in a motorized vehicle (Single Occupancy Vehicle) and includes travel that is avoided by 
telecommuting.  It is a measure of the percentage of all surface transportation occurring in the 
urbanized area. 
 
The PHED and Non-SOV measures and targets are listed in Table H-9 as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



90Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-11 
 

Table H-9 
Peak Hour Excessive Delay and Non-Single Occupancy Vehicle Travel 

 Peak Hour Excessive Delay  (PHED) 

Urbanized Area PHED 2-Year Target 4-Year Target 

Peak Hour Excessive Delay per Capita - Cincinnati N/A < 12 hrs / yr 

Peak Hour Excessive Delay per Capita - Cleveland N/A < 10 hrs / yr 

Peak Hour Excessive Delay per Capita - Columbus N/A < 12 hrs / yr 

 Non-Single Occupancy Vehicle (Non-SOV) Travel 

Urbanized Area Percent of Non-SOV Travel 2-Year Target 4-Year Target 

Percent of Non-SOV Travel - Cincinnati 17.4% 17.4% 

Percent of Non-SOV Travel - Cleveland 18.0% 18.5% 

Percent of Non-SOV Travel - Columbus 18.2% 19.0% 

 
For the establishment of the PHED measure, ODOT and its partner agencies reviewed data from 
2017 using the RITIS Analytics Tool, which draws data from the NPMRDS.  For the 
establishment of the Percent of Non-SOV Travel Measure, ODOT and its partner agencies used 
the American Community Survey data’s estimates of the percentage of people that travel to work 
by means other than driving alone (i.e. carpooling, telework, biking, walking, or taking the bus).  
ODOT was able to review five years of data, noting stable travel patterns for this measure.  Upon 
analysis, ODOT and its partner agencies adopted targets based on recent travel trends and future 
expected performance. 
 
AMATS is located in part of the Cleveland urbanized area (UZA).  Consequently, ODOT, 
NOACA and AMATS coordinated the setting of targets for the Cleveland area.   
 
The Cleveland urbanized area performance is documented in the Charts H-1 and H-2: 
 

 
 

H-12 
 

 
The Cleveland urbanized area is currently meeting the PHED target and the 2 year non-
sov target.  The Cleveland urbanized area is not currently meeting the 4 year non-sov 
target of 18.5%. 
 
AMATS has identified 8 projects totaling $13 million that will contribute to the non-sov 
travel performance measure and 8 projects totaling $90 million that will contribute to the 
PHED performance measure.  These numbers are reflected in tables H-10 and H-11 
below. 
 

Table H-10 
TIP Projects Improving Non-SOV Travel1 

 Projects funded with CMAQ $ CMAQ $ (Millions) Projects funded without CMAQ $ Non-CMAQ $ (Millions) 

0 $0.0 8 $13.1 

 
Table H-11 

TIP Projects Improving Peak Hour Excessive Delay1 

 Projects funded with CMAQ $ CMAQ $ (Millions) Projects funded without CMAQ $ Non-CMAQ $ (Millions) 

4 $11.0 4 $89.9 

 
 
Travel Time Reliability and Freight Movement Performance Measures 
 
Federal rules 23 CFR 490.507 and 23 CFR 490.607 establish National Highway System travel 
time reliability and Interstate System freight reliability measures.  For both personal travel time 
reliability and freight travel time reliability measures, ODOT is required to establish 2-year and 
4-year targets within a four year performance period.  The two measures are listed in Table H-12 
below: 



91Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-13 
 

Table H-12 
ODOT Travel Time Reliability Targets 

 Level of Travel Time Reliability 

Travel Time Reliability 2-Year Target 4-Year Target 

Interstate Travel Time Reliability 85% 85% 

Non-Interstate NHS Travel Time Reliability N/A 80% 

 Level of Truck Travel Time Reliability 

Truck Travel Time Reliability 2-Year Target 4-Year Target 

Interstate Truck Travel Time Reliability Index < 1.50 < 1.50 

 
Level of Travel Time Reliability (LOTTR) is defined as the ratio of the longer travel times (80th 
percentile) to a “normal” travel time (50th percentile).  The measures are the percent of person-
miles traveled on the relevant portion of the NHS that are reliable. 
 
Truck Travel Time Reliability (TTTR) is the ratio generated by dividing the 95th percentile 
travel time by the normal time (50th percentile) for each Interstate segment. The TTTR Index is 
established by multiplying each segment’s largest ratio of five reporting periods by its length 
then dividing the sum of all length-weighted segments by the total length of Interstate. 
The data to assess travel time reliability and establish targets is sourced from FHWA’s National 
Performance Management Research Data Set (NPMRDS).  ODOT is participating in FHWA’s 
Performance Management Analytical Tool pooled fund where a contractor assists states in 
calculating NPMRDS travel time reliability metrics.   

AMATS current performance is documented in the following Table H-13: 

Table H-13 
AMATS Travel Time Reliability 

      Level of Travel Time Reliability 

Year 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Average Target 

Interstate TTR 97.6% 96.5% 97.6% 98.6% 98.5% 97.8% 85.0% 

Non-Interstate NHS TTR 60.7% 63.1% 59.8% 89.3% 90.4% 72.7% 80.0% 

Interstate TTTR Index 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 < 1.50 

 
AMATS meets the performance targets for travel time reliability on the interstate system 
and on truck travel time.  The AMATS non-interstate system meets the target as of 2017.  
Overall state of Ohio performance is documented in table H-14 below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

H-14 
 

Table H-14 
Ohio Travel Time Reliability 

      Level of Travel Time Reliability 

Year 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Average Target 

Interstate TTR 92.4% 90.3% 9036.0% 90.7% 89.1% 90.6% 85.0% 

Non-Interstate NHS TTR 68.5% 67.4% 66.8% 90.5% 90.1% 76.7% 80.0% 

Interstate TTTR Index 1.46 1.48 1.45 1.34 1.38 1.42 < 1.50 

 
AMATS identifies 6 projects that will improve travel time reliability in the greater Akron 
area.  The projects total $85 million.  These projects are also anticipated to benefit truck 
travel time reliability as well. 
 

Table H-15 
TIP Projects Improving Travel Time Reliability 

 Road Type Number of Projects Construction $ (Millions)2 

Interstate 2 $67.6 

Non-Interstate NHS 4 $17.5 

 
 
Total CMAQ Emission Reduction Performance Measures 
 
Federal rule 23 CFR 490.807 establishes Total CMAQ Emission Reduction performance 
measures for Ohio’s US EPA designated air quality nonattainment and maintenance areas.  There 
are three mobile source pollutants Ohio is required to set performance targets for: Volatile 
Organic Compounds (VOCs), Nitrous Oxide (NOx), and Particulate Matter at 2.5 micrometers in 
diameter (PM2.5).  For all three measures, ODOT is required to set both 2-year and 4-year targets 
within a four year performance period.   
 
Emissions Reduction 
 
ODOT, in coordination with the Ohio MPOs, established statewide two and four-year targets for 
total emissions reduction of on-road mobile source emissions for each performance period for all 
non-attainment and maintenance areas within the state boundary, for each applicable criteria 
pollutants and precursors.   
 
Emissions reduction is defined as the total on-road mobile source total emission reductions for 
each applicable criteria pollutant and precursor for a nonattainment area. For nonattainment and 
maintenance areas, the applicable criteria pollutants are Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs), 
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) and Particulate Matter having a diameter of less than 2.5 micrometers 
(PM2.5).  This performance measure applies to projects that receive or are programmed for 
CMAQ funding.  Data was collected from the CMAQ Public Access System, as specified in the 
federal rulemaking. 
 
 
 



92Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-15 
 

The measures and targets are listed as follows: 
 

Table H-16 
Total CMAQ Emission Reduction Targets 

 Total CMAQ Emission Reduction 2-Year Target 4-Year Target 

Volatile Organic Compounds Total Emission Reduction 69 kg/day 69 kg/day 

Nitrous Oxide Total Emission Reduction 537 kg/day 537 kg/day 

Particulate Matter at 2.5 Micrometers Total Emission Reduction 36 kg/day 36 kg/day 

 
The targets reflect ODOT’s estimate of the emission reductions anticipated from future CMAQ 
projects in the 21 affected Ohio counties.  The targets are based on review of the 2013 – 2016 
project emissions data recorded in the Federal Highway Administration’s CMAQ Public Access 
Database and were averaged to form a trend analysis.  AMATS has approved support for 
ODOT’s targets.  The state of Ohio’s performance is reflected in tables H-17, H-18 and H-19 
below: 
 

Table H-17 
TIP Projects Improving Total VOC Emissions Reduction 

 Year Total Reduction (kg/day) 5-Year Average OH 2-Year and 4-Year Targets 

2014 48.033 85.778 69.000 

2015 109.332 85.778 69.000 

2016 37.346 85.778 69.000 

2017 166.329 85.778 69.000 

2018 67.848 85.778 69.000 

 
Table H-18 

TIP Projects Improving Total NOX Emissions Reduction 

 Year Total Reduction (kg/day) 5-Year Average OH 2-Year and 4-Year Targets 

2014 332.332 405.004 537.000 

2015 547.289 405.004 537.000 

2016 252.641 405.004 537.000 

2017 561.225 405.004 537.000 

2018 331.533 405.004 537.000 

 
Table H-19 

TIP Projects Improving Total PM2.5 Emissions Reduction 

 Year Total Reduction (kg/day) 5-Year Average OH 2-Year and 4-Year Targets 

2014 12.587 43.004 36.000 

2015 60.488 43.004 36.000 

2016 15.065 43.004 36.000 

2017 18.296 43.004 36.000 

2018 108.583 43.004 36.000 

H-16 
 

AMATS as part of the Statewide CMAQ Subcommittee continues to program CMAQ projects 
with an emphasis on reducing emissions.  The Statewide CMAQ Subcommittee Funding Policy 
places a high level of importance on emission reductions per project.  
 
In the current TIP, AMATS has programmed 7 projects totaling $15 million that will contribute 
to the emission reductions in the region. 
 

Table H-20 

TIP Projects with CMAQ Funding 

 Number of Projects CMAQ $ (Millions) 

7 $15.1  

 
 
Public Transit 
 
In terms of public transportation, US DOT is developing both performance measures and a 
formal definition for "state of good repair," (asset measures).  Within three months of the US 
DOT's rulemaking, transit agencies are required to develop performance targets for state of good 
repair.  Transit agencies are also required to develop transit asset management (TAM) plans, 
which in turn must include capital asset inventories, condition assessments, decision support 
tools, and investment prioritization.  Transit agencies must also report annually on the progress 
made toward performance targets, as well as define new performance targets for the coming 
fiscal year.  Ultimately, funding will be linked to meeting these goals. 
 
Performance and asset measures are widely used in the transit industry today, with most transit 
agencies reporting basic information about their service to the National Transit Database (NTD); 
reporting data to the NTD is required for most transit agencies to receive federal transit funding. 
 
ODOT is considering the following performance measures to be used for transit development: 

• Service effectiveness – passengers per hour 
• Cost efficiency – cost per hour 
• Cost effectiveness – cost per passenger 
• Customer satisfaction – portion of riders with high levels of satisfaction 
• Transit asset management – fleet and infrastructure capital maintenance 

 
Transit Asset Management Planning – METRO RTA and PARTA 
 
In July 2016, FTA published a final rule for Transit Asset Management (TAM).  The rule 
requires FTA grantees to develop asset management plans for their public transportation assets, 
including vehicles, facilities, equipment, and other infrastructure. 
  
Transit asset management is the strategic and systematic practice of procuring, operating, 
inspecting, maintaining, rehabilitating, and replacing transit capital assets to manage their 
performance, risks, and costs over their life cycles to provide safe, cost-effective, and reliable 
public transportation.  TAM uses transit asset condition to guide how to manage capital assets 
and prioritize funding to improve or maintain a state of good repair.  



93Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-17 
 

 
MAP-21 and the FAST Act required the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) to develop a rule 
to establish a strategic and systematic process of operating, maintaining and improving public 
transportation capital assets effectively through their entire life cycle.  FTA's national Transit 
Asset Management system rule defines the term, “state of good repair,” requires grantees to 
develop a TAM plan, establishes performance measures, establishes annual reporting 
requirements, and requires FTA to provide technical assistance. 
 
TAM requirements in this final rule are part of a larger performance management process.  
MAP-21 created a performance-based and multimodal program to strengthen the US 
transportation system, which is comprised of a series of nine rules overseen by FTA and the 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA).  FTA is tasked with developing other rules, including 
the National Public Transit Safety Plan and the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan, and 
worked jointly with FHWA on a rule to manage Statewide and Metropolitan Planning. 
 
Effective January 1, 2017, direct recipients of FTA Section 5307 and 5310 funding (METRO 
RTA and PARTA) were required to establish their initial Transportation Performance 
Management (TPM) rolling stock and infrastructure useful life targets.  Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations (MPOs) such as AMATS were required to set public transit rolling stock and 
infrastructure useful life targets 180 days following the transit operators’ action.  Effective 
October 1, 2018, direct recipients of FTA Section 5307 and 5310 funding are required to 
complete their initial Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plans. 
 
Similar to safety performance management, effective October 1, 2018, MPO Transportation Plan 
updates and amendments and/or TIP amendments must address direct recipient performance 
management targets.   
 
In preparation for amendments to the State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP), ODOT 
is requesting Ohio MPOs continue to work with their regional public transit system 
operators/FTA direct recipients to include the public transit performance management targets 
and provide a description of the anticipated effect of the TIP toward achieving the TAM targets 
set by the MPO.  TIP amendments cannot be approved unless the AMATS TIP reflects the 
METRO and PARTA TAM plans and state of good repair target outcomes.   
 
A state of good repair (SGR) is a threshold that identifies the desired performance condition of a 
capital asset, such as a bus, transfer facility, or office building.  An asset is in a state of good 
repair when it is able to operate at a full level of performance.  This means: 

• The asset is able to perform its designed function; 
• Does not pose a known or unacceptable safety risk (condition); and 
• Its life cycle investments have been met or recovered (useful life benchmark-ULB) 

   
SGR performance targets are based on realistic expectations derived from the most recent 
available data (condition and ULB), FTA performance measure criteria, and the financial 
resources from all sources that the area reasonably expects to be available during the TAM plan 
horizon period for capital planning purposes.  SGR performance targets for the current fiscal 
year are to be monitored on a quarterly basis.  Revised performance targets will be provided to 
FTA annually as part of the standard National Transit Database (NTD) submittal. 
 

H-18 
 

To that end, METRO RTA and PARTA have certified that they have developed and adopted the 
required performance targets for all rolling stock, equipment, facilities, and infrastructure, as 
required by federal guidance.  The area RTAs have also shared their agency’s performance 
targets for all rolling stock, equipment, facilities, and infrastructure with AMATS.  METRO and 
PARTA have also provided a narrative to AMATS for the TIP on their TAM performance 
targets and measures and how they will achieve those targets, for inclusion in the TIP.  And, 
METRO and PARTA have certified that their agencies will implement and maintain a Transit 
Asset Management Plan in accordance with 49 CFR part 625 (the current federal guidance, 
designated as “The TAM Rule”). 
 

Table H-21 
PARTA TAM Plan Targets 

 Asset Category -        
Performance Measure Asset Class 2019 

Target 
2020 

Target 
2021 

Target 
2022 

Target 
2023 

Target 
2024 

Target 

REVENUE VEHICLES 
Age - % of revenue vehicles 
within a particular asset class 
that have met or exceeded their 
Usful Life Benchmark (ULB) 

AB - Articulated Bus             

AO - Automobile             

BR - Over-the-road Bus             

BU - Bus 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

CU - Cutaway Bus 25% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

DB - Double Decked Bus             

FB - Ferryboat             

MB - Mini-bus             

MV - Mini-van             

RT - Rubber-tire Vintage Trolley             

SB - School Bus             

SV - Sport Utilivity Vehicle             

TB - Trolleybus             

VN - Van 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

EQUIPMENT 
Age - % of vehicles that have 
met or exceeded their Usful Life 
Benchmark (ULB) 

Non Revenue / Service Automobile 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

Steel Wheel Vehicles             

Trucks and other Rubber Tire 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

FACILITIES 
Condition - % of facilities with a 
condition rating below 
Economic Requirements Model 
(TERM) Scale 

Administration 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Maintenance 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Parking Structures 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Passenger Facilities 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

        *These targets depend largely on available funding from the Federal Transit Administration 

 
In addition to other funding and projects, the FY 2021-2024 TIP programs the following transit 
projects for PARTA, utilizing $3.5 million in federal funds, which will contribute to the 
attainment of the PARTA capital targets: 



94Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-19 
 

• PID 99823: 2 Large Replacement Buses, CMAQ funds, $800,000  
• PID 99311: 5 Small Buses, OTPPP (CMAQ) funds, $413,000  
• PID 99825: 2 Large Replacement Buses, CMAQ funds, $800,000 
• PID 104391: 6 Small Buses, FTA 5307 funds, $312,000 
• PID 104397: 6 Small Buses, FTA 5307 funds, $312,000 
• PID 102992: 2 Large Replacement Buses, CMAQ funds, $832,000 

 
Table H-22 

METRO RTA TAM Plan Targets 

 Asset Category -        
Performance Measure Asset Class 2019 

Target 
2020 

Target 
2021 

Target 
2022 

Target 
2023 

Target 
2024 

Target 

REVENUE VEHICLES 
Age - % of revenue vehicles 
within a particular asset class 
that have met or exceeded their 
Usful Life Benchmark (ULB) 

AB - Articulated Bus 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

AO - Automobile             

BR - Over-the-road Bus 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

BU - Bus 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

CU - Cutaway Bus 25% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

DB - Double Decked Bus             

FB - Ferryboat             

MB - Mini-bus             

MV - Mini-van 25% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

RT - Rubber-tire Vintage Trolley             

SB - School Bus             

SV - Sport Utilivity Vehicle             

TB - Trolleybus             

VN - Van 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

EQUIPMENT 
Age - % of vehicles that have 
met or exceeded their Usful Life 
Benchmark (ULB) 

Non Revenue / Service Automobile 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

Steel Wheel Vehicles             

Trucks and other Rubber Tire 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

FACILITIES 
Condition - % of facilities with a 
condition rating below 
Economic Requirements Model 
(TERM) Scale 

Administration 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Maintenance 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Parking Structures 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Passenger Facilities 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

        *These targets depend largely on available funding from the Federal Transit Administration 

 
In addition to other funding and projects, the FY 2018-2021 TIP programs the following transit 
projects for METRO, utilizing $20.9 million in federal funds, which will contribute to the 
attainment of the METRO capital targets: 

• PID 94960: 8 Large Replacement Buses, FTA 5307 and 5339 funds, $2,880,000  
• PID 94962: 12 Small Buses, FTA 5307 funds, $1,008,000  
• PID 94967: Shelter and Benches, FTA 5307 funds, $65,000 

H-20 
 

• PID 99089: 8 Large Replacement Buses, FTA 5307 and 5339 funds, $3,296,000 
• PID 99090: 10 Small Buses, FTA 5307 funds, $760,000 
• PID 99092: Shelter and Benches, FTA 5307 funds, $65,000 
• PID 99096: 3 Large Replacement Buses, FTA 5307 and 5339 funds, $1,236,000 
• PID 108907: 3 Small Buses, FTA 5339 funds, $272,930 
• PID 99097: 10 Small Buses, FTA 5307 funds, $760,000 
• PID 99099: Shelter and Benches, FTA 5307 funds, $65,000 
• PID 99826: 4 Large Replacement Buses, CMAQ funds, $2,200,000 
• PID 104354: 7 Large Replacement Buses, FTA 5307 and 5339 funds, $3,304,000 
• PID 104355: 10 Small Buses, FTA 5307 funds, $760,000 
• PID 104358: Shelter and Benches, FTA 5307 funds, $65,000 
• PID 104362: 7 Large Replacement Buses, FTA 5307 and 5339 funds, $3,304,000 
• PID 104363: 10 Small Buses, FTA 5307 funds, $760,000 
• PID 104365: Shelter and Benches, FTA 5307 funds, $65,000 

 
Investment prioritization assists AMATS area stakeholders in making more informed investment 
decisions to improve the SGR of capital assets, and defines when assets need overhaul or 
replacement.  The investment prioritization list, is a list containing the work plans and schedules 
of proposed METRO RTA and PARTA projects and programs, how METRO and PARTA 
estimates achieving their SGR goals, and ranks projects and programs based on implementation 
priority over the TAM Plan horizon period of four years.  METRO is designated as a Tier I TAM 
agency.  PARTA is designated Tier II.  Each agency is tracking their own capital assets and 
setting targets in coordination with AMATS.  The AMATS FY 2021-2024 TIP prioritizes transit 
funding for preventive maintenance, bus replacements, elderly and disabled transportation, and 
passenger amenities.  
 
The FY 2021-2024 TIP, includes $28.5 million in federal funds for capital projects, and $21.2 
million in federal funds for preventive maintenance expenditures.  Of the federal funds 
programmed in the FY 2021-2024 TIP, the largest part is designated for the preservation of the 
existing system.  PARTA’s recent acquisition of CNG buses and fueling capability were an 
expansion of their existing capital assets.  Going forward, PARTA will be acquiring a larger mix 
of CNG buses.  By mode of travel, transit projects comprise 46% of total (federal, state and 
local) TIP programmed costs at approximately $317 million.  
 
Approximately $2.2 million in federal funds for elderly and disabled transportation is made 
available from the FTA Section 5310 program.  Projects intended to assist in the transportation 
of the elderly and disabled are derived from the AMATS Coordinated Public Transit Human 
Services Transportation Plan (approved May 2018).  The goal of the plan is to better coordinate 
services among regional agencies in order to reduce costs, eliminate the duplication of services 
and provide assistance to those who are underserved. AMATS has recently awarded nearly $1 
million in federal funds to area social service agencies through METRO RTA and PARTA.   
 
The RTAs, in coordination with AMATS, rank selected projects and programs to improve or 
manage the SGR of capital assets for which the RTAs have a direct capital responsibility. The 
ranking criteria of projects and programs will be consistent throughout the TAM Plan.  Priority 
consideration will be given to local projects and programs that both improve SGR and correct an 
identified unacceptable safety risk; and also take into consideration Americans with Disabilities 



95Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-21 
 

Act (ADA) requirements (49 CFR Part 37) concerning maintenance of accessible features and 
the alteration of transit facilities.  Furthermore, when developing an investment prioritization list, 
the region will take into consideration its estimation of funding levels from all sources that it 
reasonably expects to be available in each fiscal year during the TAM Plan horizon period. 
The ranking of investment prioritization programs and projects will be expressed as: High 
Priority, Medium Priority, or Low Priority.  Each investment prioritization program or project 
ranked contains a year or specific date in which the RTA intends to carry out the program or 
project.   
 

Freight Movement and Economic Vitality 
 
Ultimately, the assessment of freight performance will be measured in terms of mobility and 
efficiency (travel time, delay and safety) and accessibility and connectivity.  Bottlenecks and 
roadways (or corridors) with particularly high levels of freight movement may be singled out for 
more detailed analysis once performance measures and goals are adopted.  The end result is to 
use performance measures to reach goals that are part of the Regional Transportation Plan.  
Projects that are essential to the movement of goods would then be programmed into the TIP as a 
part of an integral process.  A full discussion of freight in the AMATS area can be found in the 
Freight Plan (approved in May 2016)  
 
Environmental Sustainability 
 
AMATS is committed to enhancing the performance of the transportation system while 
protecting and enhancing the natural environment.  Both the AMATS Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP) and Regional Transportation Plan meet US DOT requirements for 
air quality conformity.  In the future, AMATS will further the goal of improved air quality by 
developing a transportation system that meets the intent of federal requirements. 
 
Reduced Project Delivery Delays 
 
It is a priority of AMATS to ensure that projects are completed on schedule.  AMATS continues 
to dedicate efforts to reduce project costs, promote jobs and the economy, and expedite the 
movement of people and goods by accelerating project completion through eliminating delays in 
the project development and delivery process, including reducing regulatory burdens and 
improving agencies work practices .   
 
The project scoring and evaluation criteria in the AMATS Funding Policy Guidelines are 
intended to effectively allocate the region’s resources.  In addition, AMATS coordinates its 
efforts with other MPOs, along with ODOT, to ensure that projects are fully funded and 
completed on time. 
 
  

H-22 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2018-17 
 
OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 
APPROVING SUPPORT FOR PERFORMANCE MEASURES GOALS, TRANSIT 
ASSET MANAGEMENT AND CMAQ PERFORMANCE PLANNING  
 
WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and in cooperation with locally elected officials in 
Summit and Portage Counties and the Chippewa Township and Milton Township areas of 
Wayne County; and 
 
WHEREAS, the federal authorization legislation: the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st 
Century Act (MAP-21) and the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (FAST) direct state 
DOTs and MPOs to collectively implement performance based transportation planning 
processes; and  
 
WHEREAS, AMATS is required to establish and set targets for five safety performance 
measures (per Title 23 CFR part 490), those measures applicable to all public roads: as the 
number of fatalities, number of serious injuries, fatality rate, serious injury rate, and number of 
non-motorized fatalities and serious injuries; and 
 
WHEREAS, the development of performance measures is being required in order to foster 
transparency and accountability, and help track safety progress at regional, state, and national 
levels; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) has established a statewide 1% 
annual reduction target across all five safety performance measures; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) has established performance 
targets for infrastructure condition, congestion reduction and system reliability according to 
federal guidance and timetables; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS must establish its own performance targets for the area or support the 
targets set by ODOT within 180 days of ODOT’s establishment of targets; and 
 
WHEREAS, the AMATS Policy Committee has determined that it will support the established 
Ohio Department of Transportation's statewide performance targets; and 
 
WHEREAS, Summit County and Portage County are part of the U.S. Census-designated eight-
county Cleveland-Akron-Lorain Combined Statistical Area (CSA), and this area includes: 
Ashtabula, Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Portage, and Summit counties; based on 
air quality readings, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) designated 
this area as non-attainment for the 2008 8-hour ozone standard; and 
 
 



96Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-23 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2018-17 (continued) 
 
WHEREAS, USEPA has designated several of the counties in this area (including Summit and 
Portage) as non-attainment for PM2.5 (particulate matter) under the 2006 standard; and 
 
WHEREAS, the necessary coordination between the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain air quality area 
partners (Erie Regional Planning Commission for the Lorain County portion of the City of 
Vermilion; AMATS for Portage and Summit Counties; NOACA for Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, 
Lorain, and Medina Counties; and ODOT for Ashtabula County) has occurred in order to 
develop CMAQ program performance targets; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS, NOACA and Erie County manage the transportation planning process in 
this non-attainment or maintenance area, and coordinate on air quality issues.  Consequently, 
AMATS has coordinated with ODOT, NOACA and ERPC in developing the Cleveland 
urbanized area traffic congestion (PHED and Non-SOV) targets as described in the above 
memorandum; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS has developed performance targets for the Congestion Mitigation and Air 
Quality Improvement (CMAQ) Program in coordination with ODOT and NOACA; and 
 
WHEREAS, METRO RTA and PARTA are eligible and direct recipients of Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) funds for the area; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS, METRO RTA and PARTA support the FTA’s Transportation 
Performance Management rolling stock and infrastructure useful life benchmarks; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is responsibility of AMATS to coordinate with METRO RTA and PARTA in 
maintaining a state of good repair of the area’s transit capital assets; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS has developed state of good repair targets for the region’s transit capital 
assets for each transit agency as part of transit asset management (TAM) planning, in 
coordination with METRO RTA and PARTA;  and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the responsibility of the AMATS Policy Committee to develop and maintain 
the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) in accordance with current state and federal 
guidelines; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the responsibility of the AMATS Policy Committee to develop and maintain 
the area’s Regional Transportation Plan, Transportation Outlook, in accordance with current 
state and federal guidelines; and 
 
WHEREAS, the AMATS Policy Committee agrees to plan and program projects so that they 
contribute toward the achievement of ODOT’s targets for each performance measure as 
described in the attached memorandum. 
 
 
 
 

H-24 
 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2018-17 (continued) 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
 

1. That this Committee approves supporting the Ohio Department of Transportation's 
statewide 1% annual reduction target for all five safety performance measures in CY 
2019. 

 
2. That this Committee approves supporting the Ohio Department of Transportation's 

statewide targets for all other applicable transportation performance measures as 
described in the attached memorandum: National Highway System (NHS) pavement 
conditions, Interstate bridge conditions, level of travel time reliability and level of truck 
time reliability.  
 

3. That this Committee approves a Cleveland urbanized area 4-year target of less than 10 
hours annual of peak hour excessive delay (PHED). 
 

4. That this Committee approves a Cleveland urbanized area non-single occupancy vehicle 
(Non-SOV) travel 2-year target of 18 percent and 4-year target of 18.5 percent.  
 

5. That this Committee supports ODOT emissions reductions targets as part of the 
Cleveland-Akron-Lorain non-attainment area as described in the attached memorandum. 

 
6. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects so that they contribute toward 

the accomplishment of the Ohio Department of Transportation's targets for each 
performance measure as discussed in the attached memorandum. 

 
7. That this Committee agrees to modify or amend the Transportation Improvement 

Program and Regional Transportation Plan, Transportation Outlook, to include further 
discussion of performance measures, including support for ODOT’s performance goals 
and targets, as well as include performance-based decision-making as part of the project 
selection and funding process in order to contribute towards the accomplishment of those 
ODOT performance goals and targets. 

 
8. That this Committee supports the FTA’s Transportation Performance Management 

(TPM) rolling stock and infrastructure useful life benchmarks and targets. 
 

9. That this Committee approves the separate targets of each area RTA for transit asset 
management (TAM), as developed in coordination with METRO RTA and PARTA, and 
described in the above memorandum. 
 

10. That this Committee agrees to modify or amend the Transportation Improvement 
Program and Regional Transportation Plan, Transportation Outlook, to include further 
discussion of transit asset management (TAM); and includes approval and support for 
METRO RTA and PARTA goals and targets.  Support for these goals includes 
performance-based decision-making as part of the project selection and funding process  

 



97Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-25 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2018-17 (continued) 
 
in order to contribute towards the maintenance and state of good repair of the area’s 
transit capital assets, as described in the above memorandum. 
 

11. That this committee accepts the self-certification from METRO RTA and PARTA that 
they are engaging in performance-based asset management planning as required by 
federal guidance. 

 
12. That this Committee approves the attached AMATS area CMAQ performance plan 

described in the above memorandum. 
 

13. That this Committee approves that AMATS, as part of the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain non-
attainment area, supports the intent of ODOT’s statewide targets for air quality 
improvements. 
 

14. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the 
appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Planning Organization. 

 
 

 
_____________________________________ 

 Mayor Bobbie Beshara, 2018 Chairwoman 
      Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 
 
      ______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
  

H-26 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2019-22 
 
OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 
APPROVING THE AMATS AREA TRAFFIC CRASH ANALYSIS TECHNICAL 
MEMORANDUM AND SUPPORT FOR ODOT SAFETY GOALS 
 
WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and in cooperation with locally elected officials in 
Summit and Portage Counties and the Chippewa Township and Milton Township areas of 
Wayne County; and 
 
WHEREAS, the federal authorization legislation: the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation 
Act (FAST) directs state DOTs and MPOs to collectively implement performance based 
transportation planning processes; and  
 
WHEREAS, AMATS is required to establish and set targets for five safety performance 
measures (per Title 23 CFR part 490), those measures applicable to all public roads: as the 
number of fatalities, number of serious injuries, fatality rate, serious injury rate, and number of 
non-motorized fatalities and serious injuries; and 
 
WHEREAS, the development of performance measures is required in order to foster 
transparency and accountability, and help track safety progress at regional, state, and national 
levels; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) has established a statewide 2% 
annual reduction target across all five safety performance measures; and 
 
WHEREAS, AMATS must establish its own performance targets for the area or support the 
targets set by ODOT within 180 days of ODOT’s establishment of targets; and 
 
WHEREAS, the AMATS Policy Committee has determined that it will support the established 
Ohio Department of Transportation's statewide performance targets; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the responsibility of the AMATS Policy Committee to develop and maintain 
the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) in accordance with current state and federal 
guidelines; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the responsibility of the AMATS Policy Committee to develop and maintain 
the area’s Regional Transportation Plan, Transportation Outlook, in accordance with current 
state and federal guidelines; and 
 
WHEREAS, the AMATS Policy Committee agrees to plan and program projects so that they 
contribute toward the achievement of ODOT’s targets for safety performance as described in the 
attached memorandum. 
 



98Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix H - Performance Measures  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

H-27 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2019-22 (continued) 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
 

1. That this Committee approves the attached AMATS area Traffic Crashes and Safety 
Performance Measures (2016-2018) Technical Memorandum. 

 
2. That this Committee approves supporting the Ohio Department of Transportation's 

statewide 2% annual reduction target for all five safety performance measures in CY 
2020. 

 
3. That this Committee agrees to plan and program projects so that they contribute toward 

the accomplishment of the Ohio Department of Transportation's targets for safety 
performance as discussed in the attached memorandum. 

 
4. That this Committee agrees to include performance-based decision-making as part of the 

project selection and funding process in order to contribute towards the accomplishment 
of those ODOT performance goals and targets. 

 
5. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the 

appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Planning Organization. 
 

 

 



99Transportation Improvement Program  |  Fiscal Year 2021-2024 Appendix I - Carry Forward List  |MAY 2020 DRAFT

Carry Forward List
Carry Forward List

Highway Improvements that May Slip into this TIP by Delay and Added by Amendments as Needed

PID# CO-RTE-SECTION L
E

N
G

T
H

LOCATION & TERMINI TYPE OF WORK
FUND 
TYPE PH

A
SE

2021 2022 2023 2024

TOTAL
PROJECT

COST 
($000)

PROJECT 
SPONSOR

AIR
QUALITY

STATUS
107761 POR - Aurora Signals N/A City of Aurora

Various Locations
Upgrade Signals with New Poles and Controllers, Signal Heads, 
ADA Curb Ramps, Pedestrian Signals and School Zone Flashers

STBG
LOCAL

R
R

60.0
15.0

5,.70.1 Aurora Exempt

105556 POR - CR 145 Ravenna Rd Bridge 0.01 Franklin Township
Ravenna Rd Bridge over Norfolk Southern Railroad

Bridge Structure Replacement, Relocate Portage Hike and Bike 
onto the New Structure (Hike and Bike was Originally PID 
107963)

TASA
LOCAL

P
P

40.0
10.0

1,512.1 Portage Coun-
ty Engineer

Exempt

98585 POR - CR 18 - 0.51 (Tallmadge Rd) 0.55 Brimfield Township
CR 18 (Tallmadge Rd) at Mogadore Rd and IR 76

Interchange Improvements HSIP
LOCAL

P
P

99.8
13.7

9,921.9 Portage Coun-
ty Engineer

Analyze

110168 POR - SR 59 - 0.00 2.13 Kent
Sr 59 from the Summit County Line to SR 43 (S Mantua St)

Milling and Resurfacing 4PF7*
STBG

LOCAL

C
C
C

652.0
150.0
365.5

1,167.5 ODOT Exempt

112026 POR - SR 59 - 2.14 (E Main St) 0.74 Kent
SR 59 (E Main St) from Willow St to Horning Rd

Install Raised Median, Replace 2 Signalized Intersections 
with Roundabouts, Install Bus Pulloffs, Ugrade Lighting and 
Sidewalks

HSIP
LOCAL

P
P

900.0
100.0

17,555.6 Kent Analyze

99725 SUM - Canton Rd - Resurfacing 0.94 Springfield Township
Canton Rd from Salmon Dr to 500’ South of Springfield Lake 
Dr

Resurfacing STBG-A
LOCAL

C
C

800.0
200.0

1,018.0 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt

108131 SUM - Cleveland Massillon Rd / Ridge-
wood Rd

0.20 Copley Township
Cleveland Massillon Rd at Ridgewood Rd (North Intersection)

New Eastbound Left Turn Lane on Ridgewood, Southbound 
Right Turn Lane on Cleveland Massillon  Rd

CMAQ
LOCAL

C
C

280.0
70.0

370.0 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt

107797 SUM - CVNP Pedestrian Bridge and Trail 0.03 Boston Township
Across Cuyahoga River just South of Boston Mills Rd

Construction of a New Pedestrian Connector fom the New 
CVNP Visitor Center to the Boston Mills Rd Trail Head

FED
LOCAL

P
P

200.0
50.0

906.5 Summit 
County 

Engineer

Exempt

107794 SUM - CR 50 - 0.00 (S Main St) 2.85 New Franklin
S Main St from Mt. Pleasant Rd to 0.2 Miles South of W 
Caston Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

1,157.5
985.8

2,143.3 New Franklin Exempt

107261 MED - Medina Line Rd Phase 1 CR 
2 - 0.00

2.55 Norton
Medina Line Rd from Eastern Rd to Greenwich Rd

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

381.7
468.6

857.6 Norton Exempt

99728 SUM - Moore Rd - Sidewalks 0.59 Green
Moore Rd from Arlington Rd to Charleston Dr

New Sidewalks TAP
LOCAL

C
C

500.0
1,000.0

1,581.0 Green Exempt

108084 SUM - Portage Trail Extension 0.74 Cuyahoga Falls
Portage Trail from Albertson Pkwy to State Rd

Addition of a Two-Way Left Turn Lane HSIP
LOCAL

P
P

241.2
26.8

7,099.7 Cuyahoga 
Falls

Exempt

108375 SUM - S Van Buren Ave / W Waterloo Rd 
Resurfacing

0.80 Barberton
S Van Buren Ave from Robinson Ave to Snyder Ave
W Waterloo Rd from Wooster Rd N to Cordelia Ave

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

616.0
154.0

783.9 Barberton Exempt

108133 SUM - Waterloo Rd 3.36 Akron
Waterloo Rd from Manchester Rd (SR 93) to Kelly Ave

Resurfacing STBG
LOCAL

C
C

1,101.3
1,275.0

2,476.9 Akron Exempt

106002 SUM - IR 77 / IR 277 / US 224 Interchange 2.73 Akron and Coventry Township
IR 77 / IR 277 / US 224 Interchange

Add Lanes on IR 77 from Arlington Rd to IR 277 / US 224, 
Widen Ramp to 2 Lanes from IR 77 Northbound to IR 277 / 
US 224 Westbound

TRAC
STATE

P
P

900.0
100.0

5,005.0 ODOT Analyze

93433 SUM - SR 91 / SR 18 - 1.75 (Canton Rd / 
E Market St)

0.01 Akron
SR 91 (Canton Rd at the Intersection with SR 18 (E Market St)

Intersection Realignment, Road Diet to the North and Possible 
Roundabout

HSIP
LOCAL

C
C

2,000.0
222.2

4,402.7 Akron Exempt

107814 SUM - SR 91 - 9.96 Sidewalks 1.91 Stow
SR 91 (Darrow Rd) from 500’ South of Conwill Rd to 375’ South 
of Fishcreek Rd

New Sidewalks TASA
LOCAL

R
R

174.1
43.5

885.9 Stow Exempt

106445 SUM - SR 91 - 13.45 (Darrow Rd) 0.94 Hudson
SR 91 (Darrow Rd) from Barlow Rd to Veterans Way

Construction of a Two-Way Left Turn Lane, Bicycle Lane and 
Sidewalk

HSIP
LOCAL

R
R

174.1
43.5

5,023.0 Hudson Exempt

93822 SUM - SR 91 - 15.67 (Darrow Rd) 1.04 Hudson
SR 91 (Darrow Rd) from Turnpike Bridge to Middleton Rd

Turn Lanes and Sidewalks STBG-A
LOCAL

C
C

210.0
23.3

4,073.9 Hudson Exempt

98486 SUM - US 224 - Various 1.99 Akron and Springfield Township
US 224 from Logpoint 11.25 to Logpoint 12.70 and Logpoint 
14.30 to Logpoint 14.84

Milling, Resurfacing and Bridge Maintenance 4PF7
STBG
STATE
LOCAL

C
C
C
C

1,480.9
150.0
163.3
244.5

2,091.3 ODOT Exempt

90415 SUM - US 241 - 4.10 0.51 Green
SR 241 (Massillon Rd) from Raber Rd to SR 619

Widen to 5 Lanes, Bike Lanes and Sidewalks STBG-A
HSIP

LOCAL

C
C
C

3.520.0
2,000.0
3.880.0

14,467.8 Green Analyze



The Transportation Improvement Program Fiscal Year 2021-2024 is published by: 
Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study 

161 S High St | Suite 201
Akron, Ohio 44308-1423

Editorial comments are welcome.
Director:  Curtis Baker

E-Mail:  amats@akronohio.gov

TIP Coordinator:  David Pulay

Please visit our website at:  www.amatsplanning.org
This report was prepared by the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) in cooperation with the U.S. Department of Transportation, the Ohio 
Department of Transportation, and the Village, City and County governemtns of Portage and Summit Counties and a portion of Wayne County.

The contents of this report reflect the views of AMATS, which is responsible for the facts and accuracy of the data presented herein.  The contents do not necessarily 
reflect the official view and policies of the Ohio and/or U.S. Department of Transportation.  This report does not constitute a standard, specificaton or regulation.

Layout / Design:  Seth Bush

Phone:  330-375-2436 | Fax:  330-375-2275



Attachment 6C 
 
 
 AKRON  METROPOLITAN  AREA  TRANSPORTATION  STUDY 
 
 M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO:  Policy Committee  

Technical Advisory Committee  
Citizens Involvement Committee 

 
FROM: AMATS Staff 
 
RE: Resolution 2020-07 - Reaffirming the Approval of the Regional 

Transportation Plan and the Transportation Improvement Program, and 
Affirming the Consistency between the Regional Transportation Plan, the 
Transportation Improvement Program, and the State Implementation Plan   

 
Resolution 2020-08 - Certification of the Urban Transportation Planning 
Process  

 
DATE: April 29, 2020 
 
 
In order to remain certified as a Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), AMATS must 
satisfy various requirements each year.  Four requirements are pending: 
 

1. Reaffirming the approval of Transportation Outlook, the area’s 2040 Regional 
Transportation Plan. 

2. Reaffirming the approval of the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). 
3. Affirming the consistency between Transportation Outlook, the Transportation 

Improvement Program, and the State Implementation Plan (SIP) for improving air 
quality. 

4. Certifying that the urban transportation planning process is being carried out in 
compliance with all applicable federal requirements. 

 
Transportation Outlook, the AMATS area’s current Regional Transportation Plan was adopted 
by the AMATS Policy Committee on May 25, 2017.  Federal planning requirements under the 
Fixing America's Surface Transportation Act (FAST) state that the regional transportation plan 
must be reviewed and updated every four years in air quality non-attainment or maintenance 
areas.  Consequently, the area’s next regional transportation plan update is scheduled for 
adoption by the Policy Committee in 2021. 
 
The AMATS Policy Committee will approve the FY 2021-2024 TIP on May 14, 2020.  The TIP 
is typically updated routinely every two years and is comprised of projects drawn from 
Transportation Outlook, the area’s Regional Transportation Plan.   



 2 

Because AMATS is part of the eight-county Cleveland-Akron-Lorain air quality non-attainment 
area, its Regional Transportation Plan and TIP must also contain an air quality analysis that 
shows that emissions from mobile sources will not exceed the allowable limits for ozone and fine 
particulate matter (PM2.5) that have been established by the Ohio Environmental Protection 
Agency (OEPA) in the State Implementation Plan (SIP).  To that end, an air quality analysis 
entitled, Ozone and PM2.5 Conformity Analyses for Transportation Plans, Programs, and 
Projects in the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain, Ohio Metropolitan Area was completed.  This air 
quality analysis demonstrates that Transportation Outlook and the TIP are in compliance with 
the applicable air quality standards. 
 
ODOT requests that AMATS annually reaffirm its approval of the area’s Regional 
Transportation Plan and TIP, and that it affirm the consistency of both of these documents with 
the SIP in a single resolution.  Resolution 2020-07 meets this objective. 
 
Resolution 2020-08 is also attached.  This resolution certifies that the AMATS transportation 
planning process is being carried out in compliance with all applicable federal requirements. 
 
Specifically, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 requires that AMATS shall not, on the 
basis of race, color, religion, national origin or sex, exclude anyone from participation in, be 
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving 
federal financial assistance.  Consequently, it is the policy of AMATS to provide an environment 
of nondiscrimination and equal opportunity in employment as well as in the development of the 
area’s regional transportation policies, plans, and programs contained in the Regional 
Transportation Plan (Transportation Outlook) and the Transportation Improvement Program.  
 
The Staff recommends that both Resolution 2020-07 and Resolution 2020-08 be approved. 
 
 
  



3 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-07 

OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 

REAFFIRMING THE APPROVAL OF THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
AND THE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM, AND AFFIRMING 
THE CONSISTENCY BETWEEN THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN, THE 
TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM, AND THE STATE 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and in cooperation with locally elected officials in 
Summit and Portage Counties, and the Village of Doylestown, Chippewa Township and Milton 
Township in Wayne County; and 

WHEREAS, AMATS has, pursuant to 23 United States Code 134 and 49 United States Code 
5303, prepared Transportation Outlook, the area’s 2040 Regional Transportation Plan, which 
was approved as amended on May 14, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, AMATS has, pursuant to Title 23 United States Code Section 134 prepared the 
Transportation Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024, which was approved 
on May 14, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, the Transportation Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021-2024 is consistent 
with Transportation Outlook, the area’s 2040 Regional Transportation Plan; and 

WHEREAS, Section 176(c)(3) of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, requires that the 
MPO make a determination that the Regional Transportation Plan and the Transportation 
Improvement Program are in conformity with respect to the State Implementation Plan for 
attainment of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS); and 

WHEREAS, a quantitative air quality analysis of Transportation Outlook and the Transportation 
Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021 through 2024 was completed for both ozone and 
fine particulate matter (PM2.5), in accordance with the requirements specified by the Fixing 
America's Surface Transportation Act (FAST) and the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990; and 

WHEREAS, this quantitative air quality analysis entitled, Ozone and PM2.5 Conformity 
Analyses for Transportation Plans, Programs, and Projects in the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain, 
Ohio Metropolitan Area SFY 2021 – 2024 Transportation Improvement Programs demonstrates 
that Transportation Outlook and the Transportation Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2021 
through 2024 are in conformity with the applicable air quality standards of the State 
Implementation Plan. 



 4 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-07 - Continued 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
1. That this Committee reaffirms its approval of Transportation Outlook as the Regional 

Transportation Plan for Summit and Portage Counties and the Chippewa and Milton 
Township areas of Wayne County.   

 
2. That this Committee reaffirms its approval of the Transportation Improvement Program 

for Fiscal Years 2021 and 2024 as the program of projects being implemented with 
federal transportation funds in Summit and Portage counties and the Chippewa and 
Milton Township areas of Wayne County. 

 
3. That this Committee affirms the consistency between the Transportation Improvement 

Program for Fiscal Years 2021 and 2024 and Transportation Outlook. 
 
4. That this Committee affirms the consistency between Transportation Outlook and the 

State Implementation Plan. 
 
5. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the 

appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Transportation Policy 
Committee. 

 
 
 
 

___________________________________ 
                              Mayor Linda Clark, 2020 Chairwoman 
 Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 
 
            

      ______________________________________ 
 Date   

 
 
 
  



 5 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-08 
 
OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE OF THE 
AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 
CERTIFICATION OF THE URBAN TRANSPORTATION PLANNING PROCESS 
 
WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and in cooperation with locally elected officials in 
Summit and Portage Counties, and the Village of Doylestown, Chippewa Township and Milton 
Township in Wayne County, as evidenced in the Agreement of Cooperation, Number 32963, 
between ODOT and the City of Akron finalized on April 5, 2019; and 
 
WHEREAS, the federal regulations pertaining to Urban Transportation Planning, published as 
23 CFR 450.334, require the MPO to certify that the cooperative metropolitan transportation 
planning process is in conformance with these regulations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the federal regulations published as 23 CFR 450 require that the metropolitan 
transportation planning process shall include activities to support the development and 
implementation of a regional transportation plan and a transportation improvement program and 
subsequent transportation planning activities to the degree appropriate for the area; and 
 
WHEREAS, these activities have been acted upon by the MPO by separate Resolution Number 
2020-07, dated April 29, 2020 and  
 
WHEREAS, the federal regulations published as 23 CFR 450.334 also require that the planning 
process be carried out in accordance with: 

a. Title 23 United States Code (U.S.C.) Section 134 and Title 49 U.S.C. 5303 concerning 
metropolitan planning for Highways and Transit, respectively; 

b. Sections 174 and 176 (c) and (d) of the Clean Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. 7504, 7506 
(c) and (d)) and Title 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) part 93 in non-attainment 
areas; 

c. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2000d-1) and 49 CFR 
part 21; 

d. 49 U.S.C 5332, prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, color, creed, national 
origin, sex, or age in employment or business opportunity; 

e. Section 1101(b) of the FAST Act (Pub. L. 114-94) and 49 CFR part 26 regarding the 
involvement of disadvantaged business enterprises in USDOT-funded projects; 

f. 23 CFR part 230, regarding the implementation of an equal employment opportunity 
program on federal and federal-aid highway construction contracts; 

g. The provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.) 
and 49 CFR parts 27, 37, and 38; 

h. The Older Americans Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. 6101), prohibiting discrimination on 
the basis of age in programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance; 

 



 6 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-08  - Continued 
 
i. Section 324 of Title 23 U.S.C. regarding the prohibition of discrimination based on 

gender; and 
j. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794) and 49 CFR part 27 

regarding discrimination against individuals with disabilities. 
 
WHEREAS, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 requires that AMATS shall not, on the 
basis of race, color, religion, national origin or sex, exclude anyone from participation in, be 
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving 
federal financial assistance; and 
 
WHEREAS, Executive Order 12898: Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 
Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations requires that recipients of federal funds 
make a meaningful effort to involve low-income and minority groups in the process to make 
decisions regarding the use of federal funds; and also requires that they identify and address any 
disproportionately high and adverse human health and environmental effects on minority and 
low-income groups, which may result from the implementation of their plans and programs; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the Fixing America's Surface Transportation Act (FAST), 
AMATS, as a Transportation Management Area, is carrying out its planning responsibilities 
under the applicable provisions of federal law. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
1. That this Committee certifies, in consideration of the requirements listed herein and to the 

degree appropriate for the size of the area and the complexity of its transportation system, 
that the urban transportation planning process is being carried out in compliance with all 
of the applicable federal requirements. 

 
2. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to implement and provide copies of the AMATS 

Title VI Plan as appropriate. 
 
3. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the 

appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Transportation Policy 
Committee. 

 
 

___________________________________ 
 Mayor Linda Clark, 2020 Chairwoman 
 Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 
 
            

      ______________________________________ 
 Date   



Attachment 6D 
 
 

AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO:  Policy Committee Members 

Technical Advisory Committee Members 
  Citizens Involvement Committee Members 
 
FROM: AMATS Staff 
 
RE:  Resolution 2020-09 – Approving the FY 2021 Transportation Planning 
  Work Program and Budget 
 
DATE: April 29, 2020 
 
 
Executive Summary 
This memorandum discusses the activities and budget for transportation planning in the Akron 
Metropolitan Area for the state fiscal year beginning July 1, 2020.  The purpose of this resolution 
is to approve the Transportation Planning Work Program and Budget.   
 
Annually, the AMATS Policy Committee adopts a Transportation Planning Work Program and 
Budget (Work Program) for the upcoming fiscal year.  A draft of the Fiscal Year 2021 Work 
Program was approved by the Policy Committee at its meeting on January 23, 2020, and it was 
subsequently submitted to ODOT for review and comment.  ODOT and the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) have reviewed the draft Work Program.  The major elements of the 
Work Program remain the same as the version presented to, and approved by, the Policy 
Committee in January.  
 
The major work products that are to be completed during FY 2021 include the following: 

• Maintain the new FY 2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program – The 
newest TIP is expected to be approved by the Policy committee on May 14, 2020.  

• Develop and approve the new Regional Transportation Plan: Transportation 
Outlook 2045 

• Traffic Counting Program – The staff completes over 300 counts per year on regional 
roadways and provides this data to the public.  Counts are also completed by member 
request.  

• Participate in the Statewide CMAQ Discretionary Funds Program - AMATS will 
continue to work with ODOT and the other Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) 
to select projects for the CMAQ Program. 

• Update the Region’s Transportation Planning Agreements in Coordination with 
ODOT – The staff will coordinate planning activities and duties with its partners to 
ensure the sharing of performance data and selection of performance targets. 



 2 

• Develop the new Congestion Management Process Report 
• Direct the Gohio Commute and Air Quality Advocacy Programs – The staff will 

utilize a multimodal approach to promote modes of travel that reduce the use of single-
occupancy vehicles. 

• Pavement Condition Data Collection and Analysis Program – continue the 
development and analysis of pavement conditions. 

• Develop and maintain the Signal Timing Optimization Program (STOP) 
 
AMATS member communities receive approximately $20 million annually in several funding 
categories to be used for highway, transit and enhancement improvements.  AMATS is the 
federally mandated conduit for these funds.   
 
It has been estimated that $1,229,673 in federal Consolidated Planning Grant (CPG) funds will 
be available to AMATS for planning activities in FY 2021.  CPG funds must be matched by state 
and local funds at a percentage rate of 80/10/10, yielding an initial budget of $1,537,092.  Any 
remaining funds from this fiscal year (FY 2020) will be carried over on July 1, and may be used 
through December 31, 2020.   
 
The following table (Table 1) entitled AMATS FY 2021 Work Program – Funding by Source 
summarizes the budget that is to be included in the FY 2021 Work Program. This budget 
includes an expenditure of $2,372,091 to support the AMATS staff and its activities.  Along with 
METRO RTA and PARTA, the budget for regional transportation planning totals $3,272,091. 
 
In addition, total annual dues for FY 2021 will be $169,080.  The attached AMATS Local Share 
Calculation table (Table 2) shows each member’s dues for the upcoming fiscal year.  Local share 
dues are used to match CPG funding as well as cover delayed expenses and reimbursements not 
immediately paid by ODOT.  Local share amounts for individual members reflect the US Census 
2010 population figures, charged per capita, by previous agreement of the Policy Committee. 
 
Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement (CMAQ) Program funds for staff air 
quality planning activities must now be matched with appropriate funding where applicable.  Per 
ODOT’s instructions, Toll Revenue Credit (TRC) is applied to portions of the staff CMAQ air 
quality planning activities. As a result, the amount of local share dues for AMATS members was 
less than anticipated. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation 
 
Attached is Resolution 2020-09 for your review and consideration.  This resolution approves the 
final FY 2021 Transportation Planning Work Program and Budget and authorizes the staff to 
collect annual dues.  The staff will adjust the FY 2021 budget once the final carryover balances 
from FY 2020 are known in July.  The Policy Committee’s approval is requested. 



 3 

Table 1 

AMATS FY 2021 WORK PROGRAM 
FUNDING BY SOURCE 

 
 

AMATS AGENCY ONLY FY 2021 
   
 USDOT Consolidated Planning Grant $1,229,673 
 ODOT Match $153,709 
 AMATS Local Share (Match) $153,709 
   
 SUBTOTAL $1,537,091 
   
 AMATS Local Expenses (Match) $25,000 
 FY 2020 Carryover (Estimated) $610,000 
 FHWA/CMAQ (Non-SOV Advocacy) $200,000 
   
        TOTAL $2,372,091 
   
   
METRO RTA PLANNING  
   
 METRO Planning (Local METRO Funds) $825,000 
   
PARTA PLANNING  
   
 PARTA Planning (Local PARTA Funds) $75,000 
   
   
GRAND TOTAL $3,272,091 

 
 
Note:   All carryover amounts will be adjusted when the FY 2020 program is closed out and final 

balances are known after June 30.   
 
 
  



Table 2

LOCAL CY 2020
2010 POP SHARE LOCAL

MEMBERS (CENSUS) PERCENT SHARE

METRO RTA N/A 13.2% $22,359
PARTA N/A 2.2% $3,731

SUMMIT COUNTY
AKRON 199,110 23.6% $39,957
BARBERTON 26,550 3.2% $5,328
CUYAHOGA FALLS 49,652 5.9% $9,964
FAIRLAWN 7,437 0.9% $1,493
GREEN 25,699 3.1% $5,157
HUDSON 22,262 2.6% $4,468
LAKEMORE 3,068 0.4% $616
MACEDONIA 11,188 1.3% $2,245
MOGADORE 3,853 0.5% $773
MUNROE FALLS 5,012 0.6% $1,006
NEW FRANKLIN 14,227 1.7% $2,855
NORTHFIELD 3,677 0.4% $738
NORTON 12,085 1.4% $2,425
REMINDERVILLE 3,404 0.4% $683
RICHFIELD 3,648 0.4% $732
SILVER LAKE 2,519 0.3% $506
STOW 34,837 4.1% $6,991
TALLMADGE 17,537 2.1% $3,519
TWINSBURG 18,795 2.2% $3,772
SUMMIT CO. UNINCORP. 75,433 9.0% $15,138
 

PORTAGE COUNTY
AURORA 15,548 1.8% $3,120
KENT 28,904 3.4% $5,800
RAVENNA 11,724 1.4% $2,353
STREETSBORO 16,028 1.9% $3,217
PORTAGE CO. UNINCORP. 80,772 9.6% $16,209
 

 WAYNE COUNTY
DOYLESTOWN 3,051 0.4% $612
RITTMAN 6,468 0.8% $1,298
WAYNE COUNTY ENGINEER 10,042 1.2% $2,015

TOTAL 722,769

TOTAL CONTRIBUTING MEMBERS 712,530 $169,080

* $0.201 per person

Communities under 2,400 in population do not pay local dues.

LOCAL SHARE CALCULATION*
SFY 2021 WORK PROGRAM

AMATS

 4



 5 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-09 
 
OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 
APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2021 TRANSPORTATION PLANNING WORK 
PROGRAM AND BUDGET 
 
WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and in cooperation with locally elected officials in 
Summit and Portage Counties and the Chippewa Township and Milton Township areas of 
Wayne County; and 
 
WHEREAS, this Committee annually reviews and approves a Work Program and Budget for the 
continuation of the transportation planning process; and 
 
WHEREAS, this Committee has reviewed the Transportation Planning Work Program for Fiscal 
Year 2021 and has found it to be consistent with local, State and Federal transportation planning 
priorities. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
1. That this Committee approves the Fiscal Year 2021 Transportation Planning Work 

Program. 
2. That this Committee approves the provisional Fiscal Year 2021 regional transportation 

planning budget totaling $3,272,091 as contained in the Fiscal Year 2021 Work Program. 
3. That this Committee approves a FY 2021 local share of $169,080 in order to match the 

federal funds in support of the AMATS budget, as discussed in the attached memorandum.   
4. That this Committee approves the collection of $169,080 in annual dues from member 

communities as shown in the attached table entitled AMATS Local Share Calculation FY 
2021 Work Program. 

5. That this Committee authorizes the Staff, without further action by this Committee, to 
adjust the provisional FY 2021 Budget as necessary to reflect the final carryover balances 
from FY 2020. 

6. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the 
appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Planning Organization. 

 
_____________________________________ 

 Mayor Linda Clark, 2020 Chairwoman 
      Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 
 
      ______________________________________ 
         Date   



Attachment 6E 

AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO:  Policy Committee Members 

Technical Advisory Committee Members 
Citizens Involvement Committee Members 

 
FROM: AMATS Staff 
 
RE: Resolution 2020-10 – Opposing the Elimination of the U.S. Census Akron 

Metropolitan Statistical Area 
 
DATE: April 29, 2020 
 
 
In the fall of 2019 the Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency contacted AMATS staff to 
discuss a NOACA initiative to combine the Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) with 
the Akron MSA and Canton MSA to create one larger Cleveland MSA.  An MSA is a unit of 
geography made up of counties that contain relatively high population density at its core and 
close economic ties throughout the area.  Combining the Akron, Canton, and Cleveland MSAs 
would effectively eliminate the Akron MSA from the U.S Census. 
 
In discussions with NOACA, AMATS staff was clear that it opposed the initiative and did not 
believe that the AMATS Policy Committee would support such an initiative.  In March, NOACA 
staff presented the item to the NOACA Executive Committee entitled “The Cleveland 
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA); Past, Present and Future (see NOACA attachment). 
 
The summary NOACA provided to its Executive Committee, while misrepresenting the past 
history of Northeast Ohio’s Metropolitan Statistical Areas, outlines policy changes that the U.S. 
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) would need to enact to increase the size of the 
Cleveland MSA in the 2020 U.S. Census. 
 
The AMATS staff disputes the representations made in the NOACA memo and does not support 
changes to the OMB methodology for MSAs as described. 
 
While the Akron MSA has existed since as early as 1930 and U.S. Census methodology has 
continually affirmed Akron’s appropriate geography as an MSA, the AMATS staff believes that 
there are a number of other reasons to oppose NOACA’s initiative.  These reasons are stated 
below: 
 

• NOACA’s effort to expand the Cleveland MSA comes at the expense of eliminating the 
Akron MSA. 



• Greater Akron has its own urbanized area which determines federal allocations for 
infrastructure.  A combined MSA could ultimately lead to a combined urbanized area 
which would diminish local control and consolidating funding. 

 
• The Akron MSA has typically over-performed on economic indicators in Ohio, while the 

Cleveland MSA has typically under-performed. 
https://www.brookings.edu/research/metro-monitor-2018/ 

 
• Combining these MSAs in the Census would require making an exception to the way the 

OMB defines MSAs.  Current Census travel to work data does not support combining the 
MSAs. 

 
• MSA economic data is reported by the Bureau of Labor Statistics and think tanks often 

use MSAs for analysis.  This has led to a great deal of positive press for the Akron MSA.  
Organizations like the Brookings Institute have highlighted the Akron MSA in the 
past.  Combining MSAs could be detrimental for outside analysis of Greater Akron 
performance.  https://www.brookings.edu/research/a-restoring-prosperity-case-study-
akron-ohio/ 

 
• The Akron MSA helps Akron and surrounding communities separate themselves from 

the rest of Northeast Ohio. Greater Akron benefits from being centrally located among 
the four metropolitan areas of Northeast Ohio. 

 
• Combining multiple MSAs into one mega Cleveland MSA erases Akron’s 

identity.  While this may be of perceived benefit to Cleveland, the overwhelming 
sentiment in Akron and surrounding communities would be the opposite, and is one of 
perceived cost – erosion of stature, loss of identity, etc. 

 
• The U.S. Census has acknowledged the Akron MSA and Cleveland MSA as separate, 

equal geographies for the last 90 years. There is no evidence that travel patterns are 
changing enough to justify eliminating the Akron MSA. (see Census attachment) 

 
• The U.S. Census and OMB have already (and wisely) acknowledged the geographic 

complexity and diversity of the region by having separate MSAs (Cleveland, Akron, 
Canton) as well as a larger Combined Statistical Area (CSA), which includes all three of 
these regions. 

 
• CSAs are groupings of adjacent metropolitan and/or micropolitan statistical areas that 

have social and economic ties as measured by commuting to work, but at lower levels 
than are found among counties within individual metropolitan and micropolitan statistical 
areas.  This accurately describes the relationship between the Akron and Cleveland 
MSAs. 
 

• Economic development professionals, marketers, etc. can (and do) use the Cleveland-
Akron-Canton CSA for economic development purposes (when they see fit).  The CSA is 
a totally legitimate, official census designation that captures the reality that the CSA does 

https://www.brookings.edu/research/metro-monitor-2018/
https://www.brookings.edu/research/a-restoring-prosperity-case-study-akron-ohio/
https://www.brookings.edu/research/a-restoring-prosperity-case-study-akron-ohio/


form one large, nationally-significant economic unit.  Similarly, the individual MSAs 
nicely capture the reality that each component part of the CSA (Cleveland, Akron, 
Canton, etc.) also exists as a separate and distinct economic unit within the larger region. 

 
 
The AMATS staff has attached a document (Census attachment) with exhibits to illustrate 
appropriate representations of the evolution of metropolitan statistical areas since 1950.  In short, 
the Akron MSA Counties (Summit and Portage) and Cleveland MSA Counties (currently 
Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Medina and at times Lorain) have always been represented as 
separate, equal units that are also combined to reflect large-scale regional interaction.  The 
current census methodology for identifying MSAs affirms the Akron MSA and provides a CSA 
that includes the larger region. 
 
This resolution is not a rejection of regional cooperation and is not intended to be interpreted as 
such.  The AMATS staff believes whole-heartedly in cooperating with our sister agencies and 
other Northeast Ohio communities when there is a coordinated goal with wide-spread regional 
benefits.  The current NOACA initiative provides no such goal or benefits to the greater Akron 
area. 
 
The AMATS staff strongly opposes eliminating the Akron MSA in order to benefit the 
Cleveland MSA.  The AMATS staff also fails to understand the reasoning behind NOACA’s 
insistence on this initiative and see it only benefiting greater Cleveland at the expense of greater 
Akron.  Resolution 2020-10 opposes the elimination of the Akron MSA and allows the staff to 
send letters along with this resolution to Congressional leadership, the U.S. Census Bureau, 
OMB, the NOACA Executive Director, and NOACA Executive Committee President.  The staff 
recommends approval of the resolution. 
  



RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-10 

OF THE METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION POLICY COMMITTEE 
OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY 

OPPOSING THE ELIMINATION OF THE U.S. CENSUS AKRON METROPOLITAN 
STATISTICAL AREA 

WHEREAS, the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study (AMATS) is designated as the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) by the Governor, acting through the Ohio 
Department of Transportation and in cooperation with locally elected officials for Summit and 
Portage Counties and the Chippewa and Milton Township areas of Wayne County; and 

WHEREAS, Summit and Portage Counties are both contained in the AMATS service area and 
make up the U.S. Census Bureau’s Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area; and 

WHEREAS, The Akron metropolitan area has been represented continuously in the U.S Census 
since 1930 when the U.S. Census Bureau incorporated Metropolitan Districts; and 

WHEREAS, Summit County has been part of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area since the 
creation of Standard Metropolitan Statistical Areas in 1950; and 

WHEREAS, Portage County has been part of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area since 
1970; and 

WHEREAS, the Akron metropolitan area (Summit and Portage Counties) geography was 
represented in the 1980 U.S. Census as a Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area and part of the 
Cleveland-Akron-Lorain, Ohio Standard Combined Statistical Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Akron metropolitan area geography was represented in the 1990 U.S. Census 
as a Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area and part of the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain, Ohio 
Combined Metropolitan Statistical Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Akron metropolitan area geography was represented in the 2000 U.S. Census 
as a Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area and part of the Cleveland-Akron-Elyria, Ohio 
Combined Statistical Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Akron metropolitan area geography was represented in the 2010 U.S. Census 
as a Metropolitan Statistical Area and part of the Cleveland-Akron-Canton, Ohio Combined 
Statistical Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Cleveland metropolitan area and Akron metropolitan area geography were each 
represented as separate Standard Metropolitan Statistical Areas in 1980, separate Primary 
Metropolitan Statistical Areas in 1990 and 2000 separate Metropolitan Statistical Areas in 2010; 
and 



WHEREAS, the Akron metropolitan area and Cleveland metropolitan area designations have 
continued to be identified in the U.S. Census as separate urban areas equal in status; and 
 
WHEREAS, this delineation of geographies of the Akron and Cleveland metropolitan areas 
have existed since the creation of Metropolitan Districts in the 1930 U.S. Census. 
 
WHEREAS, the Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency (NOACA) has proposed an 
initiative to combine the Akron, Canton and Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical areas to benefit 
the Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Area; and 
 
WHEREAS, the current U.S. Office of Management and Budget Metropolitan Statistical Area 
methodology does not support NOACA’s initiative; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Office of Management and Budget has already acknowledged the geographic 
complexity and diversity of the region by having separate Metropolitan Statistical Areas 
(Cleveland, Akron, Canton) as well as a larger Combined Statistical Area, which includes all 
three of these regions. 
 
WHEREAS, a combination of the Akron, Canton and Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Areas 
would effectively eliminate the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area; and 
 
WHEREAS, combining MSAs could lead to the elimination of the Akron Urbanized Area and 
loss of local control of federal transportation funding; and 
 
WHEREAS, communities in Summit and Portage County value being represented by the Akron 
Metropolitan Statistical Area; and 
 
WHEREAS, the elimination of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area would lead to a loss of 
identity and erosion of stature for the greater Akron area; and 
 
WHEREAS, the elimination of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area harms the Akron 
metropolitan area’s ability to differentiate itself in Northeast Ohio with no potential benefits. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
1. That this Committee opposes NOACA’s initiative to combine the Akron, Canton and 

Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Areas. 
 
2. That this Committee opposes the elimination of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area. 
 
3. That this Committee supports the existing Office of Management and Budget U.S. 

Census Metropolitan Statistical Area methodology. 
 



4. That this Committee affirms that the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area is important
census geography, providing Akron area communities identity as a separate metropolitan
area in Northeast Ohio.

5. That this Committee strongly believes that the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area must
and should remain in the 2020 U.S. Census.

6. That this Committee authorizes the AMATS staff to compose letters in opposition to this
initiative to its Congressional leadership, U.S. Office of Management and Budget, U.S.
Census Bureau and the NOACA Executive Committee and Executive Director.

7. That this Committee authorizes the Staff to provide copies of this Resolution to the
appropriate agencies as evidence of action by the Metropolitan Planning Organization.

_____________________________________ 
Mayor Linda Clark, 2020 Chairwoman 

Metropolitan Transportation Policy Committee 

______________________________________ 
          Date 



NORTHEAST OHIO AREAWIDE COORDINATING AGENCY 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: NOACA Executive Committee 

FROM: Grace Gallucci, Executive Director 

DATE: February 7, 2020  

RE: The Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA): Past, Present and Future 

ACTION REQUESTED 
No action is requested. This item is for presentation and discussion only at this time. 

BACKGROUND/JUSTIFICATION FOR CURRENT ACTION 
The United States Office of Management and Budget (OMB) delineates MSAs according to published 
standards that are applied to Census data. The general concept of an MSA is that it is a core area 
containing a substantial population nucleus, which is then joined together with adjacent communities that 
have a high degree of economic and social integration with the core area. 

The OMB creates MSAs strictly for statistical purposes for reporting various socioeconomic and 
demographic data. While MSAs are created for reporting on data, there are a number of agencies, both 
inside and outside the Federal government, that make use of the MSA delineations for nonstatistical 
programmatic applications. Most notably, MSAs are often used by researchers and economic development 
officials to gather data about a specific region and to make national and global comparisons between 
regions, which often has implications for business site selection. 

The Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) has consistently changed over time since the creation of 
MSAs by the United States Office of Management and Budget (OMB) in 1949. For the first five decades, the 
MSA delineation standards issued by the OMB did not change very much, and thus the Cleveland MSA 
changed organically; expanding primarily due to urban sprawl commuting patterns. However, around the lead 
up to the 2000 Census, the OMB significantly changed the MSA delineation standards resulting in many MSAs 
throughout the country changing dramatically, including the Cleveland MSA. 

At its largest geographic size in 1993, the Cleveland MSA consisted of 8 counties: Cuyahoga, Geauga, 
Lake, Lorain, Medina, Summit, Portage, and Ashtabula. In 2003, due to the OMB changes, the Cleveland 
MSA was reduced to only 5 counties: Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake, Lorain, and Medina; and has remained this 
composition ever since. The major change implemented by the OMB in 2003 was to increase the worker 
commute threshold from a variable percentage, which could be as low as 15%, to a stringent 25% for all 
counties in the US. The implications of this dramatic change is most evident when comparing the Cleveland 
MSA to other MSAs in the country, showing that the Cleveland MSA is much smaller in geographic size 
than its peers. 

Based on current trends, the urbanized areas (UAs) and commuting patterns of Northeast Ohio are not 
expected to change dramatically enough to significantly change the composition of the Cleveland MSA after 
the 2020 Census. Under current MSA delineation standards, there is a small chance of adding a county or 

4 - 1

NOACA ATTACHMENT



two to the current five county composition, but the likeliest outcome is that the Cleveland MSA will not 
change. The only way the Cleveland MSA will significantly change after the 2020 Census, is for there to be 
a change in the OMB’s delineation criteria or evaluation data. NOACA staff evaluated three possible criteria 
or data changes that would result in an increase in the size of the Cleveland MSA. 
 

1) The commuting threshold for inclusion into an MSA is decreased from 25% to its previous 
threshold of15% 
 

2) The American Community Survey data, used to measure commute data for adding outlying 
counties to an MSA, is replaced with the Census LODES (LEHD Origin- Destination Employment 
Statistics), a more robust commuting dataset that shows higher commuting patterns. 

 
3) The contiguous urbanized areas (UA) of Northeast Area (Cleveland, Lorain-Elyria, Akron, and 

Canton) are combined into one expanded UA that would be used as the new unit of analysis for 
the formation of the Cleveland MSA 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
There is no financial impact. 
 
CONCLUSION/NEXT STEPS 
Input received from the Committee will be utilized in discussions with the Census Bureau and to formulate 
any strategies and actions. 
 
GG/ks/dt/8486c 

4 - 2



CENSUS Attachment
Resolution 2020-10



AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

RE: RESOLUTION 2020-10 OPPOSING THE ELIMINATION OF THE AKRON 
METROPOLITAN STATISTICAL AREA (MSA)

This memorandum is in response to the Northeast Ohio Area-wide Coordinating Committee’s 
Memo and Presentation titled Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) – Past-Present-
Future.  

The memo claims that in 1993, “the Cleveland MSA consisted of 8 counties: Cuyahoga, 
Geauga, Lake, Lorain, Medina, Summit, Portage and Ashtabula.”   This is false.  The 8 counties 
referenced made up the Cleveland-Akron-Lorain, OH Combined Metropolitan Statistical 
Area (CMSA).  The CMSA combined Primary Metropolitan Statistical Areas (PMSA) that 
had geographic, transportation and economic relationships, but still maintained their own 
metropolitan areas.  The documentation below provides a brief history of the U.S. Census 
treatment of MSAs and demonstrates the Akron MSAs existence and relevance since 1950.  The 
Akron MSA counties of Summit and Portage were not taken away from the Cleveland MSA as 
the memo and presentation suggest.  

1950 Census

The 1950 U.S. Census was the first census to introduce standard definitions of metropolitan 
areas. The then named Bureau of the Budget (predecessor of Office of Management and Budget), 
developed the “standard metropolitan area” (SMA). The Akron SMA contained only Summit 
County and had a population of 407,981.







1960 Census

The Akron MSA continued to only include Summit County in the 1960 U.S. Census.  The 
population of the MSA was 514,000.  



1970 Census

Portage County was added to the Akron SMSA in the 1970 U.S. Census.  The total population 
of the region was 673,485.  The 1970 U.S. Census was the last to not include some type of 
combined MSA for large regions with multiple metropolitan areas. 



1980 Census

The 1980 Census featured Standard Combined Statistical Areas (SCSA) and Standard 
Metropolitan Statistical Areas (SMSA).  The SMSA is similar to the MSA of today.  In the 1980 
U.S. Census, Akron, Cleveland and Lorain all had separate and equal SMSAs.  The SCSA was 
the combined Cleveland-Akron-Lorain metropolitan areas.  At the time Akron’s metropolitan 
population was over 660,000.





1990 Census

While the terminology changed in 1990, the concepts remained the same.  There was an Akron 
Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area (PMSA), a Cleveland PMSA, and a Lorain-Elyria PMSA.  
The PMSA equates to the MSA of today.  The combined PMSAs created the CMSA which 
NOACA refers to in its memo.  To state the Cleveland MSA was 8 counties is inaccurate. The 
CMSA was 8 counties.  The 1990 U.S. Census documents metropolitan areas very similar to 
today. 

  JOBNAME: No Job Name PAGE: 1 SESS: 2 OUTPUT: Mon Oct 19 11:41:39 1992 / node2/  F main F / 90dec/ cp1/ 1b/ cvrtpsp

1990 CP-1-1B

1990 Census of Population
General Population

Characteristics

Metropolitan Areas
Section 1 of 3

U.S. Department of Commerce
Economics and Statistics Administration
BUREAU OF THE CENSUS

TIPSII [UPF]  GP11B  CENSUS90  71580800  11/ 03/ 92   2:36 PM  MACHINE: C  DATA:CENSUS90*P11BTIPSDA00. 10/ 08/ 92  14:31:53  TAPE: NONE  FRAME:  7
TSF:CENSUS90*92.  10/ 08/ 92  14:33:46  UTF:CENSUS90*93.  10/ 08/ 92  14:33:46  META:CENSUS90*P11BTABLES00.  10/ 08/ 92  16:11:01

Table 1. Summary of General Characteristics of Persons: 1990�Con.
[For definitions of terms and meanings of symbols, see text]

United States
Inside and Outside
Metropolitan Area

Population Size Class of
Metropolitan Area

Metropolitan Area

Percent of all persons Percent of all persons

In households

Persons in group quar-
ters

All persons
Under 5

years
Under 18

years
18 to 24

years
25 to 44

years
45 to 64

years
65 years
and over

80 years
and over

Median
age

Persons
18 years

and
over�
Males

per 100
females

In fami-
lies

Non-
family
house-

holders
and non-
relatives

of house-
holder

In group
quarters Total

Percent
institu-

tionalized

METROPOLITAN AREA�Con.
Chico, CA MSA 182 120����������������������� 6.8 23.5 13.8 28.4 17.0 17.3 3.6 33.8 93.1 74.8 22.6 2.6 4 705 37.5

In central city 40 079�������������������� 6.0 18.6 33.1 30.0 9.3 9.0 3.0 24.5 99.8 52.2 40.1 7.7 3 099 23.5
Chico city, CA 40 079������������������ 6.0 18.6 33.1 30.0 9.3 9.0 3.0 24.5 99.8 52.2 40.1 7.7 3 099 23.5

Not in central city 142 041����������������� 7.0 24.9 8.3 27.9 19.2 19.6 3.8 37.2 91.1 81.2 17.7 1.1 1 606 64.4
Urban 114 353���������������������� 7.0 24.3 8.8 27.5 18.6 20.9 4.2 37.3 88.9 79.8 18.9 1.3 1 466 70.0
Rural 27 688����������������������� 7.1 27.6 6.5 29.7 21.9 14.3 2.2 36.8 101.3 86.8 12.6 .5 140 6.4

Cincinnati--Hamilton, OH--KY--IN CMSA 1 744 124������ 7.8 26.7 10.7 32.4 18.4 11.8 2.8 32.2 88.1 83.2 14.4 2.3 40 823 57.8
Indiana (pt.) 38 835����������������� 7.4 28.6 8.9 31.2 19.4 11.9 2.6 33.1 92.5 88.9 9.9 1.2 465 93.8
Kentucky (pt.) 283 486���������������� 8.0 27.7 10.0 33.1 17.9 11.2 2.5 31.9 88.5 86.0 12.9 1.2 3 288 76.8
Ohio (pt.) 1 421 803������������������� 7.7 26.4 10.9 32.3 18.5 11.9 2.8 32.3 87.9 82.5 14.9 2.6 37 070 55.6

In central city 471 430�������������������� 8.3 25.4 12.3 32.0 16.3 14.0 3.7 31.2 82.1 73.7 22.9 3.4 16 010 54.9
Not in central city 1 272 694����������������� 7.6 27.2 10.1 32.6 19.2 10.9 2.4 32.6 90.5 86.8 11.3 1.9 24 813 59.6

Urban 1 013 038���������������������� 7.7 26.9 10.3 32.6 19.0 11.3 2.5 32.6 88.3 86.0 12.2 1.7 17 522 54.8
Rural 259 656����������������������� 7.2 28.2 9.5 32.6 20.3 9.4 1.9 32.8 99.8 89.6 7.6 2.8 7 291 71.1

Cincinnati, OH--KY--IN PMSA 1 452 645����������� 7.9 26.8 10.2 32.5 18.4 12.1 2.9 32.4 87.8 83.2 14.8 2.0 29 618 69.9
Indiana (pt.) 38 835����������������� 7.4 28.6 8.9 31.2 19.4 11.9 2.6 33.1 92.5 88.9 9.9 1.2 465 93.8
Kentucky (pt.) 283 486���������������� 8.0 27.7 10.0 33.1 17.9 11.2 2.5 31.9 88.5 86.0 12.9 1.2 3 288 76.8
Ohio (pt.) 1 130 324������������������� 7.8 26.5 10.3 32.4 18.5 12.3 3.0 32.5 87.4 82.3 15.4 2.3 25 865 68.6

In central city 364 071�������������������� 8.4 25.1 13.0 32.4 15.6 13.9 3.8 30.8 81.7 70.7 25.3 4.1 14 778 52.1
Cincinnati city, OH 364 040��������������� 8.4 25.1 13.0 32.4 15.6 13.9 3.8 30.8 81.7 70.7 25.3 4.1 14 778 52.1
Middletown city (pt.), OH 31��������� 6.5 12.9 6.5 29.0 25.8 25.8 3.2 45.5 92.9 93.5 6.5 – – –

Not in central city 1 088 574����������������� 7.7 27.4 9.3 32.6 19.3 11.4 2.5 32.9 89.9 87.4 11.3 1.4 14 840 87.6
Urban 878 921���������������������� 7.7 27.1 9.3 32.5 19.1 11.9 2.7 33.0 87.6 86.8 12.1 1.1 9 930 82.4
Rural 209 653����������������������� 7.4 28.6 9.0 32.9 20.1 9.5 2.0 32.7 100.5 89.9 7.7 2.3 4 910 98.1

Hamilton--Middletown, OH PMSA 291 479�������� 7.4 26.2 13.2 31.9 18.6 10.2 2.2 31.5 89.8 83.4 12.7 3.8 11 205 25.6
In central city 107 359�������������������� 8.1 26.6 9.9 30.8 18.4 14.3 3.3 32.7 83.2 83.9 15.0 1.1 1 232 88.1

Hamilton city, OH 61 368��������������� 8.2 27.3 9.8 30.8 17.9 14.2 3.4 32.3 82.6 83.8 14.9 1.3 811 86.3
Middletown city (pt.), OH 45 991��������� 7.8 25.7 10.0 30.7 19.1 14.5 3.1 33.3 83.8 84.0 15.1 .9 421 91.4

Not in central city 184 120����������������� 6.9 25.9 15.1 32.5 18.6 7.8 1.6 30.7 93.9 83.2 11.4 5.4 9 973 17.9
Urban 134 117���������������������� 7.1 25.7 16.4 32.9 17.7 7.3 1.6 29.9 92.8 81.2 13.1 5.7 7 592 18.7
Rural 50 003����������������������� 6.5 26.5 11.8 31.4 21.2 9.0 1.7 33.1 96.9 88.3 6.9 4.8 2 381 15.4

Clarksville--Hopkinsville, TN--KY MSA 169 439������� 8.6 26.3 16.6 33.2 15.1 8.7 2.1 28.0 111.6 80.3 9.8 9.9 16 843 11.1
Kentucky (pt.) 68 941���������������� 8.6 26.0 17.9 31.7 14.5 9.9 2.6 27.5 122.7 76.7 9.0 14.3 9 861 14.2
Tennessee (pt.) 100 498��������������� 8.6 26.5 15.8 34.2 15.6 7.9 1.7 28.4 104.5 82.8 10.3 6.9 6 982 6.8

In central city 105 303�������������������� 8.6 26.1 15.8 32.9 15.8 9.4 2.3 28.7 99.3 80.4 11.8 7.7 8 157 20.0
Hopkinsville city, KY 29 809������������� 7.4 25.9 10.2 29.1 19.7 15.2 4.3 33.8 81.0 81.9 13.9 4.2 1 259 96.4
Clarksville city, TN 75 494��������������� 9.0 26.2 18.0 34.4 14.2 7.1 1.6 27.3 107.6 79.9 11.0 9.1 6 898 6.1

Not in central city 64 136����������������� 8.7 26.7 17.9 33.6 14.1 7.7 1.6 27.1 135.7 80.1 6.4 13.5 8 686 2.8
Urban 22 087���������������������� 11.9 26.7 34.5 36.8 1.6 .4 – 22.8 280.1 59.4 2.6 38.0 8 393 –
Rural 42 049����������������������� 7.0 26.6 9.3 31.9 20.7 11.5 2.4 33.5 96.5 90.9 8.4 .7 293 82.6

Cleveland--Akron--Lorain, OH CMSA 2 759 823�������� 7.1 24.8 9.9 31.6 19.7 13.9 2.9 34.2 87.1 83.1 15.1 1.9 51 062 52.3
In central city 913 084�������������������� 8.2 26.1 11.9 30.8 17.3 13.9 3.0 31.7 84.0 78.1 19.3 2.6 23 813 37.8
Not in central city 1 846 739����������������� 6.6 24.2 9.0 32.1 20.9 13.9 2.8 35.4 88.6 85.5 13.0 1.5 27 249 65.0

Urban 1 572 440���������������������� 6.5 23.6 9.0 32.1 20.8 14.5 3.0 35.6 87.2 84.6 13.9 1.5 23 912 65.5
Rural 274 299����������������������� 7.0 27.7 8.8 31.8 21.5 10.1 1.9 34.2 97.6 90.8 8.0 1.2 3 337 61.1

Akron, OH PMSA 657 575�������������������� 6.9 24.4 11.8 31.7 19.2 12.9 2.7 33.4 88.8 82.1 15.4 2.5 16 703 34.7
In central city 279 477�������������������� 7.3 23.7 15.2 30.5 16.4 14.3 3.3 31.4 84.2 75.0 20.5 4.4 12 433 20.7

Akron city, OH 223 019����������������� 7.6 24.5 12.4 31.3 17.0 14.9 3.4 32.5 84.7 77.2 20.5 2.3 5 024 44.7
Barberton city, OH 27 623��������������� 7.2 25.2 9.5 29.9 18.4 16.9 3.7 34.2 82.7 83.2 15.9 .9 247 95.5
Kent city, OH 28 835������������������ 4.9 16.6 42.3 24.7 9.3 7.0 1.7 22.4 82.5 50.1 25.1 24.8 7 162 1.4

Not in central city 378 098����������������� 6.7 25.0 9.3 32.6 21.3 11.8 2.3 34.8 92.4 87.3 11.6 1.1 4 270 75.2
Urban 285 648���������������������� 6.6 24.4 9.1 32.6 21.4 12.4 2.5 35.1 90.8 86.7 12.3 1.0 2 780 93.7
Rural 92 450����������������������� 6.8 26.8 9.7 32.4 21.2 9.9 1.8 33.7 97.4 89.1 9.3 1.6 1 490 40.7

Cleveland, OH PMSA 1 831 122����������������� 7.1 24.6 9.2 31.6 20.0 14.6 3.1 34.7 85.9 82.9 15.5 1.6 28 396 61.2
In central city 505 616�������������������� 8.7 26.9 10.6 30.8 17.7 14.0 3.0 31.8 83.4 78.0 20.0 2.0 9 864 52.0

Cleveland city, OH 505 616��������������� 8.7 26.9 10.6 30.8 17.7 14.0 3.0 31.8 83.4 78.0 20.0 2.0 9 864 52.0
Not in central city 1 325 506����������������� 6.5 23.7 8.7 31.9 20.8 14.8 3.1 35.8 86.9 84.8 13.8 1.4 18 532 66.1

Urban 1 180 659���������������������� 6.4 23.1 8.8 32.0 20.7 15.4 3.2 36.0 85.8 83.9 14.6 1.4 16 764 64.9
Rural 144 847����������������������� 7.3 28.2 8.3 31.4 21.8 10.4 2.1 34.6 97.1 91.4 7.4 1.2 1 768 76.6

Lorain--Elyria, OH PMSA 271 126��������������� 7.4 27.4 10.2 31.7 19.1 11.6 2.3 32.8 91.0 86.4 11.4 2.2 5 963 59.4
In central city 127 991�������������������� 8.2 28.2 10.0 31.3 17.8 12.7 2.6 31.9 86.0 85.1 13.7 1.2 1 516 85.4

Elyria city, OH 56 746������������������ 8.3 27.6 10.2 32.9 17.4 11.8 2.5 31.6 87.2 84.6 14.1 1.4 768 87.8
Lorain city, OH 71 245����������������� 8.1 28.7 9.8 30.0 18.1 13.4 2.7 32.2 85.0 85.5 13.5 1.0 748 83.0

Not in central city 143 135����������������� 6.7 26.7 10.4 32.1 20.3 10.5 2.0 33.6 95.7 87.6 9.3 3.1 4 447 50.5
Urban 106 133���������������������� 6.7 26.1 11.0 32.0 19.9 10.9 2.2 33.4 94.3 85.8 10.1 4.1 4 368 49.6
Rural 37 002����������������������� 6.6 28.5 8.5 32.2 21.4 9.4 1.4 34.0 99.9 92.7 7.1 .2 79 98.7

Colorado Springs, CO MSA 397 014�������������� 8.5 27.6 12.2 35.7 16.6 8.0 1.6 30.2 99.4 81.3 14.8 3.9 15 554 16.7
In central city 281 140�������������������� 8.4 26.8 11.0 36.3 16.7 9.2 2.0 31.0 92.8 80.7 17.4 1.9 5 356 48.2

Colorado Springs city, CO 281 140��������� 8.4 26.8 11.0 36.3 16.7 9.2 2.0 31.0 92.8 80.7 17.4 1.9 5 356 48.2
Not in central city 115 874����������������� 8.7 29.4 15.0 34.2 16.3 5.1 .7 28.2 118.0 82.8 8.4 8.8 10 198 .2

Urban 93 057���������������������� 9.1 29.3 17.2 33.7 15.2 4.6 .5 26.8 123.2 81.2 7.9 10.9 10 137 –
Rural 22 817����������������������� 7.2 29.6 5.9 36.3 20.9 7.2 1.2 34.3 99.2 89.4 10.3 .3 61 21.3

Columbia, MO MSA 112 379�������������������� 7.1 22.6 22.1 33.1 13.8 8.4 2.2 27.6 91.3 68.5 22.0 9.5 10 683 10.7
In central city 69 101�������������������� 6.1 18.5 30.3 30.5 12.1 8.7 2.4 25.5 90.4 57.4 27.4 15.1 10 449 9.6

Columbia city, MO 69 101��������������� 6.1 18.5 30.3 30.5 12.1 8.7 2.4 25.5 90.4 57.4 27.4 15.1 10 449 9.6
Not in central city 43 278����������������� 8.6 29.1 8.9 37.3 16.7 8.0 1.7 31.1 93.1 86.2 13.3 .5 234 59.4

Urban 10 167���������������������� 9.4 30.6 10.1 36.3 14.5 8.5 2.0 29.3 84.6 83.1 16.1 .9 88 100.0
Rural 33 111����������������������� 8.3 28.6 8.6 37.6 17.3 7.8 1.6 31.8 95.8 87.1 12.4 .4 146 34.9

Columbia, SC MSA 453 331�������������������� 7.1 25.0 13.2 35.2 17.4 9.3 1.7 31.2 91.7 79.3 14.7 6.1 27 480 44.9
In central city 98 052�������������������� 6.2 19.7 23.0 32.9 12.7 11.8 2.8 28.4 93.7 58.9 21.1 20.0 19 580 28.4

Columbia city, SC 98 052��������������� 6.2 19.7 23.0 32.9 12.7 11.8 2.8 28.4 93.7 58.9 21.1 20.0 19 580 28.4
Not in central city 355 279����������������� 7.3 26.5 10.4 35.8 18.7 8.6 1.4 32.0 91.1 84.9 12.9 2.2 7 900 85.8

Urban 245 342���������������������� 7.3 25.8 10.9 36.7 18.3 8.4 1.3 31.7 89.4 82.9 14.4 2.7 6 654 87.1
Rural 109 937����������������������� 7.3 28.0 9.4 34.0 19.6 9.0 1.7 32.8 95.0 89.3 9.5 1.1 1 246 79.1

Columbus, GA--AL MSA 243 072����������������� 8.1 27.0 13.5 31.7 17.3 10.5 2.1 30.1 96.6 81.4 12.6 6.0 14 470 23.8
Alabama (pt.) 46 860���������������� 7.5 26.6 10.6 29.7 20.4 12.7 2.5 33.0 86.1 86.1 12.6 1.2 574 70.7
Georgia (pt.) 196 212����������������� 8.2 27.1 14.2 32.2 16.5 10.0 2.0 29.5 99.2 80.3 12.6 7.1 13 896 21.8

In central city 178 681�������������������� 8.2 27.0 12.5 32.0 17.7 10.8 2.2 30.6 91.4 82.1 13.6 4.2 7 578 39.1
Columbus city (remainder), GA 178 681����� 8.2 27.0 12.5 32.0 17.7 10.8 2.2 30.6 91.4 82.1 13.6 4.2 7 578 39.1

GENERAL POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS METROPOLITAN AREAS 7

TIPSII [UPF]  GP11B  CENSUS90  71580800  11/ 03/ 92   2:36 PM  MACHINE: C  DATA:CENSUS90*P11BTIPSDA00. 10/ 08/ 92  14:31:53  TAPE: NONE  FRAME:  36
TSF:CENSUS90*92.  10/ 08/ 92  14:33:46  UTF:CENSUS90*93.  10/ 08/ 92  14:33:46  META:CENSUS90*P11BTABLES00.  10/ 08/ 92  16:11:01

Table 2. Summary of General Characteristics of Households and Families: 1990�Con.
[For definitions of terms and meanings of symbols, see text]

United States
Inside and Outside
Metropolitan Area

Population Size Class of
Metropolitan Area

Metropolitan Area

Percent of all households

Family households

Married-couple family Female householder,
no husband present

Nonfamily households

Householder living alone

65 years and over

Persons per�

All house-
holds Total

With own
children

under 18
years Total

With own
children

under 18
years Total

With own
children

under 18
years Total Total Female Total Female

House-
holder 65

years
and over

House-
hold Family

METROPOLITAN AREA�Con.

Cincinnati--Hamilton, OH--KY--IN CMSA 652 920������ 70.2 35.2 55.0 26.7 12.3 7.3 29.8 25.5 15.5 9.6 7.6 20.2 2.61 3.17
Indiana (pt.) 13 642����������������� 78.4 40.2 66.3 33.8 9.1 5.1 21.6 19.2 11.7 9.3 7.3 21.4 2.81 3.23
Kentucky (pt.) 103 986���������������� 72.5 37.4 57.9 29.6 11.5 6.4 27.5 23.9 14.7 9.8 7.9 20.3 2.69 3.23
Ohio (pt.) 535 292������������������� 69.5 34.7 54.2 25.9 12.5 7.5 30.5 26.0 15.7 9.5 7.6 20.2 2.59 3.15

In central city 196 696�������������������� 57.1 28.5 36.5 16.0 17.5 11.1 42.9 36.7 21.9 12.8 10.1 23.0 2.32 3.09
Not in central city 456 224����������������� 75.8 38.1 63.0 31.3 10.0 5.6 24.2 20.7 12.7 8.2 6.6 19.1 2.74 3.19

Urban 370 336���������������������� 74.1 37.2 60.8 30.1 10.5 5.9 25.9 22.2 13.8 8.7 7.1 19.5 2.69 3.18
Rural 85 888����������������������� 83.4 42.2 72.5 36.5 7.9 4.3 16.6 14.2 7.9 5.9 4.5 17.1 2.94 3.25

Cincinnati, OH--KY--IN PMSA 548 385����������� 69.4 34.8 53.8 26.1 12.6 7.5 30.6 26.4 16.0 9.9 7.9 20.7 2.59 3.18
Indiana (pt.) 13 642����������������� 78.4 40.2 66.3 33.8 9.1 5.1 21.6 19.2 11.7 9.3 7.3 21.4 2.81 3.23
Kentucky (pt.) 103 986���������������� 72.5 37.4 57.9 29.6 11.5 6.4 27.5 23.9 14.7 9.8 7.9 20.3 2.69 3.23
Ohio (pt.) 430 757������������������� 68.3 34.0 52.5 25.0 13.0 7.8 31.7 27.3 16.5 10.0 7.9 20.7 2.56 3.16

In central city 154 354�������������������� 53.6 27.0 32.2 14.0 18.2 11.7 46.4 39.5 23.2 13.0 10.1 22.5 2.26 3.11
Cincinnati city, OH 154 342��������������� 53.6 27.0 32.2 14.0 18.2 11.7 46.4 39.5 23.2 13.0 10.1 22.5 2.26 3.11
Middletown city (pt.), OH 12��������� 83.3 16.7 83.3 16.7 – – 16.7 16.7 8.3 16.7 8.3 41.7 2.58 2.90

Not in central city 394 031����������������� 75.6 37.9 62.3 30.8 10.4 5.8 24.4 21.3 13.2 8.7 7.0 20.0 2.72 3.19
Urban 324 568���������������������� 73.9 36.9 60.2 29.6 10.9 6.1 26.1 22.8 14.3 9.3 7.5 20.5 2.68 3.18
Rural 69 463����������������������� 83.2 42.6 71.9 36.6 8.1 4.5 16.8 14.5 8.1 6.2 4.7 17.2 2.95 3.26

Hamilton--Middletown, OH PMSA 104 535�������� 74.6 37.4 61.3 29.9 10.4 6.2 25.4 20.8 12.5 7.7 6.3 18.0 2.68 3.12
In central city 42 342�������������������� 70.0 33.8 52.1 23.3 14.7 8.9 30.0 26.6 17.1 12.1 9.9 24.8 2.51 3.04

Hamilton city, OH 23 992��������������� 69.9 34.7 51.8 23.9 14.9 9.2 30.1 26.7 17.5 12.4 10.2 24.8 2.52 3.07
Middletown city (pt.), OH 18 350��������� 70.1 32.5 52.5 22.5 14.4 8.5 29.9 26.4 16.6 11.7 9.5 24.7 2.48 3.00

Not in central city 62 193����������������� 77.6 39.9 67.6 34.3 7.5 4.4 22.4 16.9 9.3 4.7 3.8 13.4 2.80 3.17
Urban 45 768���������������������� 75.2 39.6 65.0 33.7 7.7 4.7 24.8 18.2 10.1 4.7 3.8 12.3 2.76 3.16
Rural 16 425����������������������� 84.3 40.7 74.6 36.0 6.9 3.5 15.7 13.3 7.3 4.9 3.8 16.3 2.90 3.19

Clarksville--Hopkinsville, TN--KY MSA 55 981������� 77.8 41.5 63.6 33.1 11.6 7.2 22.2 19.1 11.0 7.2 5.7 16.7 2.73 3.12
Kentucky (pt.) 21 636���������������� 77.0 41.6 61.5 32.6 12.9 7.8 23.0 20.6 12.4 9.2 7.2 20.1 2.73 3.17
Tennessee (pt.) 34 345��������������� 78.4 41.4 64.9 33.4 10.8 6.8 21.6 18.1 10.1 6.0 4.7 14.6 2.72 3.09

In central city 36 844�������������������� 74.6 39.0 58.8 29.5 13.3 8.2 25.4 21.7 12.8 7.9 6.3 16.8 2.64 3.08
Hopkinsville city, KY 11 402������������� 70.4 33.6 50.2 22.1 17.4 10.3 29.6 26.7 17.4 12.6 10.1 24.9 2.50 3.04
Clarksville city, TN 25 442��������������� 76.5 41.4 62.6 32.8 11.4 7.3 23.5 19.4 10.8 5.8 4.6 13.2 2.70 3.10

Not in central city 19 137����������������� 84.0 46.3 72.8 39.9 8.4 5.1 16.0 14.0 7.5 5.9 4.5 16.5 2.90 3.20
Urban 3 999���������������������� 90.5 72.9 82.6 65.9 6.2 5.7 9.5 7.4 1.8 .6 .2 1.3 3.42 3.62
Rural 15 138����������������������� 82.2 39.3 70.3 33.1 9.0 4.9 17.8 15.8 9.0 7.4 5.6 20.5 2.76 3.07

Cleveland--Akron--Lorain, OH CMSA 1 057 653�������� 69.4 31.6 53.2 23.3 13.0 7.1 30.6 26.5 16.0 10.6 8.3 23.6 2.56 3.12
In central city 357 221�������������������� 63.3 30.4 39.5 17.0 19.7 11.8 36.7 31.3 18.0 12.2 9.3 24.4 2.49 3.15
Not in central city 700 432����������������� 72.5 32.2 60.2 26.5 9.6 4.7 27.5 24.0 15.0 9.8 7.8 23.1 2.60 3.11

Urban 608 908���������������������� 70.9 31.1 58.2 25.2 10.0 4.9 29.1 25.4 16.1 10.4 8.4 24.0 2.54 3.08
Rural 91 524����������������������� 82.9 39.9 73.1 35.3 6.8 3.3 17.1 14.2 7.6 5.7 4.2 17.6 2.96 3.28

Akron, OH PMSA 249 227�������������������� 70.2 32.2 55.4 24.4 11.8 6.7 29.8 24.7 14.9 9.9 7.8 22.1 2.57 3.08
In central city 109 813�������������������� 62.8 29.3 43.3 18.3 16.1 9.7 37.2 30.3 18.4 12.4 9.9 24.8 2.43 3.04

Akron city, OH 89 923����������������� 62.9 29.1 42.8 17.8 16.6 9.9 37.1 30.8 18.6 12.6 10.0 25.2 2.42 3.05
Barberton city, OH 11 082��������������� 68.5 31.1 50.7 21.3 14.3 8.4 31.5 28.2 18.4 14.1 11.4 28.9 2.47 3.03
Kent city, OH 8 808������������������ 54.7 29.2 38.9 19.0 12.9 9.0 45.3 28.0 16.3 8.3 6.8 15.9 2.46 3.00

Not in central city 139 414����������������� 76.1 34.5 65.0 29.2 8.4 4.3 23.9 20.2 12.1 7.8 6.2 20.0 2.68 3.11
Urban 107 592���������������������� 74.7 33.4 63.5 28.0 8.6 4.5 25.3 21.5 13.2 8.4 6.7 20.7 2.63 3.08
Rural 31 822����������������������� 80.7 38.3 70.1 33.3 7.5 3.7 19.3 15.9 8.5 6.1 4.5 17.6 2.86 3.21

Cleveland, OH PMSA 712 362����������������� 68.2 30.6 51.4 22.2 13.6 7.2 31.8 27.9 16.9 11.2 8.7 24.4 2.53 3.13
In central city 199 787�������������������� 61.5 29.6 34.2 14.5 22.7 13.3 38.5 33.5 18.6 12.6 9.3 24.6 2.48 3.21

Cleveland city, OH 199 787��������������� 61.5 29.6 34.2 14.5 22.7 13.3 38.5 33.5 18.6 12.6 9.3 24.6 2.48 3.21
Not in central city 512 575����������������� 70.8 30.9 58.1 25.1 10.0 4.8 29.2 25.6 16.2 10.6 8.5 24.4 2.55 3.10

Urban 464 958���������������������� 69.4 29.9 56.4 24.0 10.4 5.0 30.6 26.9 17.1 11.1 8.9 25.1 2.50 3.07
Rural 47 617����������������������� 83.8 40.5 74.6 36.2 6.3 3.1 16.2 13.6 7.2 5.5 4.1 17.5 3.00 3.32

Lorain--Elyria, OH PMSA 96 064��������������� 75.9 37.7 60.8 29.1 11.7 7.0 24.1 20.8 12.3 8.7 6.8 20.7 2.76 3.21
In central city 47 621�������������������� 71.9 36.2 52.8 24.5 15.4 10.0 28.1 24.6 14.6 10.2 7.9 22.5 2.66 3.18

Elyria city, OH 21 423������������������ 71.6 36.3 54.3 25.7 13.9 8.9 28.4 24.8 14.6 9.6 7.7 20.6 2.61 3.13
Lorain city, OH 26 198����������������� 72.2 36.2 51.7 23.5 16.7 10.9 27.8 24.5 14.6 10.7 8.1 24.0 2.69 3.22

Not in central city 48 443����������������� 79.9 39.2 68.7 33.7 8.1 4.1 20.1 17.1 10.0 7.3 5.7 18.9 2.86 3.24
Urban 36 358���������������������� 78.1 38.5 66.5 32.6 8.6 4.5 21.9 18.7 11.2 7.9 6.2 19.4 2.80 3.21
Rural 12 085����������������������� 85.2 41.4 75.3 37.0 6.7 3.1 14.8 12.2 6.5 5.4 4.0 17.6 3.06 3.33

Colorado Springs, CO MSA 146 965�������������� 70.8 38.2 58.3 29.7 9.8 6.8 29.2 23.7 12.7 6.0 4.8 13.6 2.60 3.10
In central city 110 862�������������������� 67.2 35.5 54.3 26.8 10.1 7.1 32.8 26.7 14.6 6.8 5.5 14.7 2.49 3.04

Colorado Springs city, CO 110 862��������� 67.2 35.5 54.3 26.8 10.1 7.1 32.8 26.7 14.6 6.8 5.5 14.7 2.49 3.04
Not in central city 36 103����������������� 82.0 46.6 70.5 38.7 8.7 6.2 18.0 14.3 7.2 3.4 2.6 10.3 2.93 3.24

Urban 27 924���������������������� 82.6 48.1 70.3 39.6 9.4 6.7 17.4 13.8 7.1 3.1 2.4 9.5 2.97 3.27
Rural 8 179����������������������� 79.8 41.4 71.1 35.6 6.2 4.3 20.2 16.0 7.4 4.5 3.2 12.9 2.78 3.13

Columbia, MO MSA 41 937�������������������� 61.0 31.7 49.1 24.0 9.5 6.5 39.0 27.5 15.3 6.6 5.4 14.3 2.42 3.01
In central city 25 841�������������������� 52.4 25.7 40.4 18.4 9.7 6.3 47.6 32.2 17.9 6.9 5.7 14.3 2.27 2.93

Columbia city, MO 25 841��������������� 52.4 25.7 40.4 18.4 9.7 6.3 47.6 32.2 17.9 6.9 5.7 14.3 2.27 2.93
Not in central city 16 096����������������� 74.7 41.2 63.1 33.0 9.1 6.7 25.3 19.9 11.0 6.2 4.8 14.2 2.67 3.10

Urban 3 825���������������������� 70.9 41.4 55.1 29.5 13.3 10.1 29.1 22.3 14.1 7.9 6.5 15.2 2.64 3.11
Rural 12 271����������������������� 75.9 41.1 65.6 34.1 7.8 5.6 24.1 19.1 10.1 5.6 4.3 13.9 2.69 3.10

Columbia, SC MSA 163 223�������������������� 70.4 35.1 53.7 26.1 13.5 7.7 29.6 23.6 13.7 6.7 5.4 16.1 2.61 3.13
In central city 33 919�������������������� 56.0 25.6 36.4 15.3 16.5 9.3 44.0 34.0 20.5 11.1 9.2 22.1 2.31 3.04

Columbia city, SC 33 919��������������� 56.0 25.6 36.4 15.3 16.5 9.3 44.0 34.0 20.5 11.1 9.2 22.1 2.31 3.04
Not in central city 129 304����������������� 74.1 37.6 58.3 28.9 12.7 7.3 25.9 20.9 11.9 5.6 4.5 14.6 2.69 3.14

Urban 91 286���������������������� 71.8 36.2 55.1 26.9 13.7 8.0 28.2 22.5 13.2 5.5 4.5 14.1 2.61 3.10
Rural 38 018����������������������� 79.9 41.1 65.9 33.8 10.4 5.6 20.1 17.1 8.7 5.7 4.3 15.7 2.86 3.24

Columbus, GA--AL MSA 86 241����������������� 72.6 36.8 51.9 25.1 17.5 10.3 27.4 23.9 14.2 9.0 7.1 19.6 2.65 3.16
Alabama (pt.) 17 499���������������� 72.8 33.6 51.7 22.9 17.4 9.3 27.2 24.5 14.4 10.4 8.0 23.0 2.65 3.17
Georgia (pt.) 68 742����������������� 72.5 37.6 52.0 25.7 17.5 10.6 27.5 23.8 14.2 8.6 6.9 18.7 2.65 3.16

In central city 65 634�������������������� 71.7 36.1 50.7 23.9 17.9 10.8 28.3 24.5 14.7 8.9 7.1 19.2 2.61 3.12
Columbus city (remainder), GA 65 634����� 71.7 36.1 50.7 23.9 17.9 10.8 28.3 24.5 14.7 8.9 7.1 19.2 2.61 3.12

Not in central city 20 607����������������� 75.4 38.9 55.9 28.9 16.1 8.7 24.6 22.1 12.9 9.3 7.1 20.7 2.79 3.29
Urban 13 885���������������������� 75.0 40.9 55.4 30.2 16.4 9.4 25.0 22.7 13.9 9.8 7.6 20.2 2.79 3.31
Rural 6 722����������������������� 76.3 34.9 57.2 26.2 15.2 7.2 23.7 21.0 10.8 8.4 6.0 21.7 2.79 3.25

36 METROPOLITAN AREAS GENERAL POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS



2000 Census

In the 2000 Census, PMSAs remained as did CMSAs.  Again, there was an Akron PMSA, 
Cleveland PMSA and the Cleveland-Akron-Elyria Combined Statistical Area was combined 
MSA data. 

U.S. Department of Commerce
Economics and Statistics Administration
U.S. CENSUS BUREAU

United States Summary:  2000
Population and Housing Unit Counts

PHC-3-1

Issued April 2004

Part 1

2000 Census of Population and Housing

Table 34. Population and Housing Units: 1980 to 2000; and Area Measurements and Density for
Metropolitan Areas: 2000�Con.

[For information concerning historical counts, see "User Notes." MAs as defined on June 30, 1999. Counts relate to component parts as defined at each census. Density computed using land area. For
information on nonsampling error and definitions, see text]

United States
Metropolitan Area
Puerto Rico

Population Housing units 2000 area measurements in
square miles

2000 average per
square mile

2000 1990 1980 2000 1990 1980 Total area Land area Population
Housing

units

United States (258 MSAs, 18 CMSAs,
and 73 PMSAs)�Con.

METROPOLITAN AREA�Con.
Chicago�Gary�Kenosha, IL�IN�WI CMSA
�Con.

Illinois 8 376 601�������������������������������������� 7 507 113 7 348 974 3 173 248 2 888 755 2 727 742 7 393.65 5 739.12 1 459.6 552.9
In central city 3 416 380������������������������������ 3 208 337 3 403 259 1 336 284 1 285 238 1 316 967 378.14 369.18 9 253.9 3 619.6
Not in central city 4 960 221�������������������������� 4 298 776 3 945 715 1 836 964 1 603 517 1 410 775 7 015.51 5 369.94 923.7 342.1

Indiana 631 362������������������������������������� 604 526 642 733 252 608 230 254 227 904 1 147.95 915.10 689.9 276.0
In central city 135 160������������������������������ 150 538 191 754 56 891 60 566 69 383 72.88 62.21 2 172.8 914.6
Not in central city 496 202�������������������������� 453 988 450 979 195 717 169 688 158 521 1 075.08 852.89 581.8 229.5

Wisconsin 149 577����������������������������������� 128 181 123 137 59 989 51 262 47 506 754.31 272.83 548.2 219.9
In central city 90 352������������������������������ 80 426 77 685 36 004 31 249 29 411 23.96 23.81 3 795.1 1 512.3
Not in central city 59 225�������������������������� 47 755 45 452 23 985 20 013 18 095 730.35 249.02 237.8 96.3

Chicago, IL PMSA 8 272 768����������������������� 7 410 858 7 246 048 3 132 638 2 851 754 2 690 155 6 712.20 5 062.37 1 634.2 618.8
Cook County 5 376 741������������������������������

r 5 105 044 5 253 628 2 096 121 r 2 021 827 1 994 211 1 635.04 945.68 5 685.6 2 216.5
DeKalb County 88 969���������������������������� 77 932 74 628 32 988 27 351 25 296 634.97 634.16 140.3 52.0
DuPage County 904 161����������������������������

r 781 689 658 858 335 621 r 292 543 234 819 336.55 333.61 2 710.3 1 006.0
Grundy County 37 535���������������������������� 32 337 30 582 15 040 12 652 11 529 430.42 419.90 89.4 35.8
Kane County 404 119������������������������������ 317 471 278 405 138 998 111 496 98 547 524.08 520.44 776.5 267.1
Kendall County 54 544���������������������������� 39 413 37 202 19 519 13 747 12 518 322.67 320.58 170.1 60.9
Lake County 644 356������������������������������� 516 418 440 388 225 919 183 283 150 505 1 367.95 447.56 1 439.7 504.8
McHenry County 260 077��������������������������� 183 241 147 897 92 908 65 985 52 976 611.13 603.51 430.9 153.9
Will County 502 266�������������������������������� 357 313 324 460 175 524 122 870 109 754 849.39 836.94 600.1 209.7

Gary, IN PMSA 631 362�������������������������� 604 526 642 733 252 608 230 254 227 904 1 147.95 915.10 689.9 276.0
Lake County 484 564������������������������������� 475 594 522 917 194 992 183 014 186 375 626.34 496.98 975.0 392.4
Porter County 146 798����������������������������� 128 932 119 816 57 616 47 240 41 529 521.61 418.11 351.1 137.8

Kankakee, IL PMSA 103 833��������������������� 96 255 102 926 40 610 37 001 37 587 681.44 676.75 153.4 60.0
Kankakee County 103 833�������������������������� 96 255 102 926 40 610 37 001 37 587 681.44 676.75 153.4 60.0

Kenosha, WI PMSA 149 577���������������������� 128 181 123 137 59 989 51 262 47 506 754.31 272.83 548.2 219.9
Kenosha County 149 577��������������������������� 128 181 123 137 59 989 51 262 47 506 754.31 272.83 548.2 219.9

Chico�Paradise, CA MSA 203 171�������������� 182 120 143 851 85 523 76 115 61 360 1 677.11 1 639.49 123.9 52.2
In central city 86 362�������������������������������� 65 371 49 287 36 760 27 879 21 279 46.01 45.99 1 877.7 799.2

Chico city 59 954���������������������������������

r 39 970 26 716 24 386 r 16 248 11 156 27.76 27.74 2 161.0 879.0
Paradise town 26 408�����������������������������

r 25 401 22 571 12 374 r 11 631 10 123 18.25 18.25 1 447.1 678.1
Not in central city 116 809���������������������������� 116 749 94 564 48 763 48 236 40 081 1 631.10 1 593.50 73.3 30.6

Butte County 203 171�������������������������������� 182 120 143 851 85 523 76 115 61 360 1 677.11 1 639.49 123.9 52.2

Cincinnati�Hamilton, OH�KY�IN CMSA 1 979 202�� 1 817 569 1 726 430 820 756 722 224 649 222 3 865.64 3 809.00 519.6 215.5
In central city 443 580�������������������������������� 471 572 492 317 215 069 213 918 215 420 127.44 125.24 3 542.0 1 717.3

Cincinnati city, OH 331 285�������������������������

r 364 114 385 409 166 012 r 169 114 172 635 79.57 77.97 4 249.0 2 129.2
Hamilton city, OH 60 690��������������������������

r 61 436 63 189 25 913 r 25 419 24 951 22.08 21.61 2 808.2 1 199.0
Middletown city, OH 51 605������������������������ 46 022 43 719 23 144 19 385 17 834 25.80 25.66 2 011.4 902.1

Not in central city 1 535 622���������������������������� 1 345 997 1 234 113 605 687 508 306 433 802 3 738.19 3 683.76 416.9 164.4

Indiana 51 732������������������������������������� 44 150 39 405 20 215 16 693 14 582 394.52 391.94 132.0 51.6
Not in central city 51 732�������������������������� 44 150 39 405 20 215 16 693 14 582 394.52 391.94 132.0 51.6

Kentucky 370 715������������������������������������ 316 652 295 356 152 244 124 087 108 905 1 228.11 1 199.05 309.2 127.0
Not in central city 370 715�������������������������� 316 652 295 356 152 244 124 087 108 905 1 228.11 1 199.05 309.2 127.0

Ohio 1 556 755���������������������������������������� 1 456 767 1 391 669 648 297 581 444 525 735 2 243.01 2 218.01 701.9 292.3
In central city 443 580������������������������������ 471 572 492 317 215 069 213 918 215 420 127.44 125.24 3 542.0 1 717.3
Not in central city 1 113 175�������������������������� 985 195 899 352 433 228 367 526 310 315 2 115.57 2 092.77 531.9 207.0

Cincinnati, OH�KY�IN PMSA 1 646 395�������������� 1 526 090 1 467 643 690 963 611 871 556 694 3 395.44 3 341.73 492.7 206.8
Dearborn County, IN 46 109����������������������� 38 835 34 291 17 791 14 532 12 412 307.05 305.21 151.1 58.3
Ohio County, IN 5 623���������������������������� 5 315 5 114 2 424 2 161 2 170 87.47 86.72 64.8 28.0
Boone County, KY 85 991������������������������� 57 589 45 842 33 351 21 476 16 070 256.96 246.26 349.2 135.4
Campbell County, KY 88 616����������������������� 83 866 83 317 36 898 32 910 30 268 159.43 151.55 584.7 243.5
Gallatin County, KY 7 870������������������������ 5 393 4 842 3 362 2 290 1 779 104.67 98.81 79.7 34.0
Grant County, KY 22 384�������������������������� 15 737 13 308 9 306 6 543 5 355 260.79 259.93 86.1 35.8
Kenton County, KY 151 464������������������������� 142 031 137 058 63 571 56 086 51 241 164.38 161.97 935.2 392.5
Pendleton County, KY 14 390���������������������� 12 036 10 989 5 756 4 782 4 192 281.87 280.54 51.3 20.5
Brown County, OH 42 285������������������������� 34 966 31 920 17 193 13 720 11 846 495.22 491.76 86.0 35.0
Clermont County, OH 177 977�����������������������

r 150 167 128 483 69 226 r 55 308 44 760 457.67 451.99 393.8 153.2
Hamilton County, OH 845 303����������������������� 866 228 873 203 373 393 361 421 343 309 412.78 407.36 2 075.1 916.6
Warren County, OH 158 383������������������������

r 113 927 99 276 58 692 r 40 642 33 292 407.14 399.63 396.3 146.9

Hamilton�Middletown, OH PMSA 332 807��������� 291 479 258 787 129 793 110 353 92 528 470.20 467.27 712.2 277.8
Butler County 332 807������������������������������ 291 479 258 787 129 793 110 353 92 528 470.20 467.27 712.2 277.8

Clarksville�Hopkinsville, TN�KY MSA 207 033��� 169 439 150 220 79 349 60 662 50 919 1 267.85 1 260.59 164.2 62.9
In central city 133 544�������������������������������� 105 360 82 095 53 301 39 896 29 940 119.58 118.89 1 123.3 448.3

Hopkinsville city, KY 30 089������������������������

r 29 818 27 318 13 260 r 12 238 10 528 24.04 24.03 1 252.4 551.9
Clarksville city, TN 103 455�������������������������

r 75 542 54 777 40 041 r 27 658 19 412 95.54 94.86 1 090.6 422.1
Not in central city 73 489���������������������������� 64 079 68 125 26 048 20 766 20 979 1 148.27 1 141.71 64.4 22.8

Kentucky 72 265������������������������������������ 68 941 66 878 27 182 23 429 21 195 724.01 721.32 100.2 37.7
In central city 30 089������������������������������ 29 818 27 318 13 260 12 238 10 528 24.04 24.03 1 252.4 551.9
Not in central city 42 176�������������������������� 39 123 39 560 13 922 11 191 10 667 699.97 697.29 60.5 20.0

Tennessee 134 768���������������������������������� 100 498 83 342 52 167 37 233 29 724 543.84 539.28 249.9 96.7
In central city 103 455������������������������������ 75 542 54 777 40 041 27 658 19 412 95.54 94.86 1 090.6 422.1
Not in central city 31 313�������������������������� 24 956 28 565 12 126 9 575 10 312 448.30 444.42 70.5 27.3

Christian County, KY 72 265������������������������� 68 941 66 878 27 182 23 429 21 195 724.01 721.32 100.2 37.7
Montgomery County, TN 134 768���������������������� 100 498 83 342 52 167 37 233 29 724 543.84 539.28 249.9 96.7

Cleveland�Akron, OH CMSA 2 945 831����������� 2 859 644 2 938 277 1 246 124 1 163 911 1 118 487 6 274.48 3 611.96 815.6 345.0
In central city 847 988�������������������������������� 885 461 970 117 375 678 380 046 395 048 197.70 192.24 4 411.1 1 954.2

Akron city 217 074��������������������������������� 223 019 237 177 97 315 96 372 96 682 62.41 62.07 3 497.3 1 567.9
Cleveland city 478 403����������������������������� 505 616 573 822 215 856 224 311 239 557 82.42 77.58 6 166.5 2 782.4
Elyria city 55 953��������������������������������� 56 746 57 538 23 841 22 544 22 010 19.91 19.89 2 813.7 1 198.9
Kent city 27 906���������������������������������� 28 835 26 164 10 435 9 275 9 205 8.71 8.69 3 212.3 1 201.2
Lorain city 68 652��������������������������������� 71 245 75 416 28 231 27 544 27 594 24.25 24.02 2 858.6 1 175.5

Not in central city 2 097 843���������������������������� 1 974 183 1 968 160 870 446 783 865 723 439 6 076.78 3 419.72 613.5 254.5

Population and Housing Unit Counts United States Summary 179
U.S. Census Bureau, Census 2000

Table 34. Population and Housing Units: 1980 to 2000; and Area Measurements and Density for
Metropolitan Areas: 2000�Con.

[For information concerning historical counts, see "User Notes." MAs as defined on June 30, 1999. Counts relate to component parts as defined at each census. Density computed using land area. For
information on nonsampling error and definitions, see text]

United States
Metropolitan Area
Puerto Rico

Population Housing units 2000 area measurements in
square miles

2000 average per
square mile

2000 1990 1980 2000 1990 1980 Total area Land area Population
Housing

units

United States (258 MSAs, 18 CMSAs,
and 73 PMSAs)�Con.

METROPOLITAN AREA�Con.

Cleveland�Akron, OH CMSA�Con.
Akron, OH PMSA 694 960������������������������ 657 575 660 328 290 976 263 776 247 896 927.17 905.11 767.8 321.5

Portage County 152 061���������������������������� 142 585 135 856 60 096 52 299 47 530 507.11 492.39 308.8 122.0
Summit County 542 899���������������������������� 514 990 524 472 230 880 211 477 200 366 420.06 412.72 1 315.4 559.4

Cleveland�Lorain�Elyria, OH PMSA 2 250 871������� 2 202 069 2 277 949 955 148 900 135 870 591 5 347.31 2 706.84 831.5 352.9
Ashtabula County 102 728�������������������������� 99 821 104 215 43 792 41 214 40 528 1 368.47 702.44 146.2 62.3
Cuyahoga County 1 393 978�������������������������� 1 412 140 1 498 400 616 903 604 538 596 637 1 245.56 458.49 3 040.4 1 345.5
Geauga County 90 895���������������������������� 81 129 74 474 32 805 27 922 24 286 408.29 403.66 225.2 81.3
Lake County 227 511������������������������������� 215 499 212 801 93 487 83 194 75 166 978.87 228.21 996.9 409.7
Lorain County 284 664����������������������������� 271 126 274 909 111 368 99 937 95 953 923.02 492.50 578.0 226.1
Medina County 151 095���������������������������� 122 354 113 150 56 793 43 330 38 021 423.11 421.55 358.4 134.7

Colorado Springs, CO MSA 516 929������������ 397 014 309 424 202 428 165 056 117 571 2 129.56 2 126.45 243.1 95.2
In central city 360 890�������������������������������� 280 430 215 105 148 690 124 175 88 318 186.13 185.74 1 942.9 800.5

Colorado Springs city 360 890�����������������������

r 280 430 215 105 148 690 r 124 175 88 318 186.13 185.74 1 942.9 800.5
Not in central city 156 039���������������������������� 116 584 94 319 53 738 40 881 29 253 1 943.43 1 940.70 80.4 27.7

El Paso County 516 929������������������������������ 397 014 309 424 202 428 165 056 117 571 2 129.56 2 126.45 243.1 95.2

Columbia, MO MSA 135 454������������������� 112 379 100 376 56 678 44 695 37 419 691.31 685.43 197.6 82.7
In central city 84 531�������������������������������� 69 133 62 061 35 916 27 563 22 690 53.34 53.07 1 592.8 676.8

Columbia city 84 531������������������������������

r 69 133 62 061 35 916 r 27 563 22 690 53.34 53.07 1 592.8 676.8
Not in central city 50 923���������������������������� 43 246 38 315 20 762 17 132 14 729 637.97 632.36 80.5 32.8

Boone County 135 454������������������������������� 112 379 100 376 56 678 44 695 37 419 691.31 685.43 197.6 82.7

Columbia, SC MSA 536 691�������������������� 453 932 409 953 220 771 177 111 144 531 1 529.60 1 455.67 368.7 151.7
In central city 116 278�������������������������������� 103 477 101 229 46 142 37 492 32 853 127.72 125.22 928.6 368.5

Columbia city 116 278������������������������������

r 103 477 101 229 46 142 r 37 492 32 853 127.72 125.22 928.6 368.5
Not in central city 420 413���������������������������� 350 455 308 724 174 629 139 619 111 678 1 401.88 1 330.44 316.0 131.3

Lexington County 216 014���������������������������� 167 611 140 353 90 978 67 556 52 650 757.88 699.25 308.9 130.1
Richland County 320 677�����������������������������

r 286 321 269 600 129 793 r 109 555 91 881 771.72 756.41 423.9 171.6

Columbus, GA�AL MSA 274 624���������������� 260 862 254 660 112 617 101 458 90 927 1 592.48 1 570.04 174.9 71.7
In central city 185 781�������������������������������� 178 683 169 441 75 940 70 658 63 565 220.83 216.09 859.7 351.4

Columbus city, GA (balance) 185 781����������������

r 178 683 169 441 75 940 r 70 658 63 565 220.83 216.09 859.7 351.4
Not in central city 88 843���������������������������� 82 179 85 219 36 677 30 800 27 362 1 371.65 1 353.95 65.6 27.1

Alabama 49 756������������������������������������ 46 860 47 356 22 831 19 633 17 855 647.38 641.32 77.6 35.6
Not in central city 49 756�������������������������� 46 860 47 356 22 831 19 633 17 855 647.38 641.32 77.6 35.6

Georgia 224 868������������������������������������� 214 002 207 304 89 786 81 825 73 072 945.10 928.72 242.1 96.7
In central city 185 781������������������������������ 178 683 169 441 75 940 70 658 63 565 220.83 216.09 859.7 351.4
Not in central city 39 087�������������������������� 35 319 37 863 13 846 11 167 9 507 724.27 712.63 54.8 19.4

Russell County, AL 49 756��������������������������� 46 860 47 356 22 831 19 633 17 855 647.38 641.32 77.6 35.6
Chattahoochee County, GA 14 882������������������� 16 934 21 732 3 316 3 108 3 201 251.17 248.77 59.8 13.3
Harris County, GA 23 695���������������������������� 17 788 15 464 10 288 7 814 6 053 472.93 463.69 51.1 22.2
Muscogee County, GA 186 291������������������������

r 179 280 170 108 76 182 r 70 903 63 818 221.00 216.26 861.4 352.3

Columbus, OH MSA 1 540 157������������������� 1 345 450 1 214 291 653 067 547 847 471 428 3 169.24 3 141.24 490.3 207.9
In central city 793 084�������������������������������� 711 848 641 174 363 691 311 830 267 932 250.42 247.89 3 199.4 1 467.2

Columbus city 711 470�����������������������������

r 632 945 565 021 327 175 r 278 107 236 801 212.55 210.27 3 383.6 1 556.0
Lancaster city 35 335����������������������������� 34 507 34 953 15 891 14 754 14 004 18.08 18.07 1 955.9 879.6
Newark city 46 279��������������������������������

r 44 396 41 200 20 625 r 18 969 17 127 19.80 19.55 2 366.7 1 054.8
Not in central city 747 073���������������������������� 633 602 573 117 289 376 236 017 203 496 2 918.82 2 893.35 258.2 100.0

Delaware County 109 989����������������������������� 66 929 53 840 42 374 24 377 18 816 455.97 442.41 248.6 95.8
Fairfield County 122 759������������������������������

r 103 472 93 678 47 922 r 39 018 33 883 508.60 505.11 243.0 94.9
Franklin County 1 068 978������������������������������ 961 437 869 126 471 016 405 418 347 234 543.32 539.87 1 980.1 872.5
Licking County 145 491������������������������������� 128 300 120 981 58 760 50 032 45 002 688.38 686.50 211.9 85.6
Madison County 40 213����������������������������� 37 068 33 004 14 399 12 621 11 361 466.18 465.44 86.4 30.9
Pickaway County 52 727�����������������������������

r 48 244 43 662 18 596 r 16 381 15 132 506.79 501.91 105.1 37.1

Corpus Christi, TX MSA 380 783��������������� 349 894 326 228 147 905 136 452 113 857 1 873.48 1 527.47 249.3 96.8
In central city 277 454�������������������������������� 257 453 232 134 107 831 100 205 81 633 432.80 154.40 1 797.0 698.4

Corpus Christi city (part) 277 454�������������������� 257 453 232 134 107 831 100 205 81 633 432.80 154.40 1 797.0 698.4
Not in central city 103 329���������������������������� 92 441 94 094 40 074 36 247 32 224 1 440.68 1 373.07 75.3 29.2

Nueces County 313 645������������������������������ 291 145 268 215 123 041 114 326 94 381 1 166.42 835.82 375.3 147.2
San Patricio County 67 138�������������������������� 58 749 58 013 24 864 22 126 19 476 707.06 691.65 97.1 35.9

Corvallis, OR MSA 78 153�������������������� 70 811 68 211 31 980 27 024 25 189 678.97 676.46 115.5 47.3
In central city 49 322�������������������������������� 44 757 40 960 20 909 17 307 15 375 13.77 13.60 3 625.6 1 537.0

Corvallis city 49 322������������������������������� 44 757 40 960 20 909 17 307 15 375 13.77 13.60 3 625.6 1 537.0
Not in central city 28 831���������������������������� 26 054 27 251 11 071 9 717 9 814 665.20 662.86 43.5 16.7

Benton County 78 153������������������������������� 70 811 68 211 31 980 27 024 25 189 678.97 676.46 115.5 47.3

Cumberland, MD�WV MSA 102 008������������� 101 643 107 782 45 078 43 443 42 132 758.95 753.15 135.4 59.9
In central city 21 518�������������������������������� 23 714 25 933 11 143 11 433 11 562 9.08 9.07 2 372.7 1 228.7

Cumberland city, MD 21 518�����������������������

r 23 712 25 933 11 143 r 11 433 11 562 9.08 9.07 2 372.7 1 228.7
Not in central city 80 490���������������������������� 77 929 81 849 33 935 32 010 30 570 749.87 744.08 108.2 45.6

Maryland 74 930������������������������������������ 74 946 80 548 32 984 32 513 31 893 429.82 425.42 176.1 77.5
In central city 21 518������������������������������ 23 714 25 933 11 143 11 433 11 562 9.08 9.07 2 372.7 1 228.7
Not in central city 53 412�������������������������� 51 232 54 615 21 841 21 080 20 331 420.74 416.35 128.3 52.5

West Virginia 27 078�������������������������������� 26 697 27 234 12 094 10 930 10 239 329.13 327.73 82.6 36.9
Not in central city 27 078�������������������������� 26 697 27 234 12 094 10 930 10 239 329.13 327.73 82.6 36.9

Allegany County, MD 74 930������������������������� 74 946 80 548 32 984 32 513 31 893 429.82 425.42 176.1 77.5
Mineral County, WV 27 078�������������������������� 26 697 27 234 12 094 10 930 10 239 329.13 327.73 82.6 36.9

180 United States Summary Population and Housing Unit Counts
U.S. Census Bureau, Census 2000

Table 34. Population and Housing Units: 1980 to 2000; and Area Measurements and Density for
Metropolitan Areas: 2000�Con.

[For information concerning historical counts, see "User Notes." MAs as defined on June 30, 1999. Counts relate to component parts as defined at each census. Density computed using land area. For
information on nonsampling error and definitions, see text]

United States
Metropolitan Area
Puerto Rico

Population Housing units 2000 area measurements in
square miles

2000 average per
square mile

2000 1990 1980 2000 1990 1980 Total area Land area Population
Housing

units

United States (258 MSAs, 18 CMSAs,
and 73 PMSAs)�Con.

METROPOLITAN AREA�Con.
Chicago�Gary�Kenosha, IL�IN�WI CMSA
�Con.

Illinois 8 376 601�������������������������������������� 7 507 113 7 348 974 3 173 248 2 888 755 2 727 742 7 393.65 5 739.12 1 459.6 552.9
In central city 3 416 380������������������������������ 3 208 337 3 403 259 1 336 284 1 285 238 1 316 967 378.14 369.18 9 253.9 3 619.6
Not in central city 4 960 221�������������������������� 4 298 776 3 945 715 1 836 964 1 603 517 1 410 775 7 015.51 5 369.94 923.7 342.1

Indiana 631 362������������������������������������� 604 526 642 733 252 608 230 254 227 904 1 147.95 915.10 689.9 276.0
In central city 135 160������������������������������ 150 538 191 754 56 891 60 566 69 383 72.88 62.21 2 172.8 914.6
Not in central city 496 202�������������������������� 453 988 450 979 195 717 169 688 158 521 1 075.08 852.89 581.8 229.5

Wisconsin 149 577����������������������������������� 128 181 123 137 59 989 51 262 47 506 754.31 272.83 548.2 219.9
In central city 90 352������������������������������ 80 426 77 685 36 004 31 249 29 411 23.96 23.81 3 795.1 1 512.3
Not in central city 59 225�������������������������� 47 755 45 452 23 985 20 013 18 095 730.35 249.02 237.8 96.3

Chicago, IL PMSA 8 272 768����������������������� 7 410 858 7 246 048 3 132 638 2 851 754 2 690 155 6 712.20 5 062.37 1 634.2 618.8
Cook County 5 376 741������������������������������

r 5 105 044 5 253 628 2 096 121 r 2 021 827 1 994 211 1 635.04 945.68 5 685.6 2 216.5
DeKalb County 88 969���������������������������� 77 932 74 628 32 988 27 351 25 296 634.97 634.16 140.3 52.0
DuPage County 904 161����������������������������

r 781 689 658 858 335 621 r 292 543 234 819 336.55 333.61 2 710.3 1 006.0
Grundy County 37 535���������������������������� 32 337 30 582 15 040 12 652 11 529 430.42 419.90 89.4 35.8
Kane County 404 119������������������������������ 317 471 278 405 138 998 111 496 98 547 524.08 520.44 776.5 267.1
Kendall County 54 544���������������������������� 39 413 37 202 19 519 13 747 12 518 322.67 320.58 170.1 60.9
Lake County 644 356������������������������������� 516 418 440 388 225 919 183 283 150 505 1 367.95 447.56 1 439.7 504.8
McHenry County 260 077��������������������������� 183 241 147 897 92 908 65 985 52 976 611.13 603.51 430.9 153.9
Will County 502 266�������������������������������� 357 313 324 460 175 524 122 870 109 754 849.39 836.94 600.1 209.7

Gary, IN PMSA 631 362�������������������������� 604 526 642 733 252 608 230 254 227 904 1 147.95 915.10 689.9 276.0
Lake County 484 564������������������������������� 475 594 522 917 194 992 183 014 186 375 626.34 496.98 975.0 392.4
Porter County 146 798����������������������������� 128 932 119 816 57 616 47 240 41 529 521.61 418.11 351.1 137.8

Kankakee, IL PMSA 103 833��������������������� 96 255 102 926 40 610 37 001 37 587 681.44 676.75 153.4 60.0
Kankakee County 103 833�������������������������� 96 255 102 926 40 610 37 001 37 587 681.44 676.75 153.4 60.0

Kenosha, WI PMSA 149 577���������������������� 128 181 123 137 59 989 51 262 47 506 754.31 272.83 548.2 219.9
Kenosha County 149 577��������������������������� 128 181 123 137 59 989 51 262 47 506 754.31 272.83 548.2 219.9

Chico�Paradise, CA MSA 203 171�������������� 182 120 143 851 85 523 76 115 61 360 1 677.11 1 639.49 123.9 52.2
In central city 86 362�������������������������������� 65 371 49 287 36 760 27 879 21 279 46.01 45.99 1 877.7 799.2

Chico city 59 954���������������������������������

r 39 970 26 716 24 386 r 16 248 11 156 27.76 27.74 2 161.0 879.0
Paradise town 26 408�����������������������������

r 25 401 22 571 12 374 r 11 631 10 123 18.25 18.25 1 447.1 678.1
Not in central city 116 809���������������������������� 116 749 94 564 48 763 48 236 40 081 1 631.10 1 593.50 73.3 30.6

Butte County 203 171�������������������������������� 182 120 143 851 85 523 76 115 61 360 1 677.11 1 639.49 123.9 52.2

Cincinnati�Hamilton, OH�KY�IN CMSA 1 979 202�� 1 817 569 1 726 430 820 756 722 224 649 222 3 865.64 3 809.00 519.6 215.5
In central city 443 580�������������������������������� 471 572 492 317 215 069 213 918 215 420 127.44 125.24 3 542.0 1 717.3

Cincinnati city, OH 331 285�������������������������

r 364 114 385 409 166 012 r 169 114 172 635 79.57 77.97 4 249.0 2 129.2
Hamilton city, OH 60 690��������������������������

r 61 436 63 189 25 913 r 25 419 24 951 22.08 21.61 2 808.2 1 199.0
Middletown city, OH 51 605������������������������ 46 022 43 719 23 144 19 385 17 834 25.80 25.66 2 011.4 902.1

Not in central city 1 535 622���������������������������� 1 345 997 1 234 113 605 687 508 306 433 802 3 738.19 3 683.76 416.9 164.4

Indiana 51 732������������������������������������� 44 150 39 405 20 215 16 693 14 582 394.52 391.94 132.0 51.6
Not in central city 51 732�������������������������� 44 150 39 405 20 215 16 693 14 582 394.52 391.94 132.0 51.6

Kentucky 370 715������������������������������������ 316 652 295 356 152 244 124 087 108 905 1 228.11 1 199.05 309.2 127.0
Not in central city 370 715�������������������������� 316 652 295 356 152 244 124 087 108 905 1 228.11 1 199.05 309.2 127.0

Ohio 1 556 755���������������������������������������� 1 456 767 1 391 669 648 297 581 444 525 735 2 243.01 2 218.01 701.9 292.3
In central city 443 580������������������������������ 471 572 492 317 215 069 213 918 215 420 127.44 125.24 3 542.0 1 717.3
Not in central city 1 113 175�������������������������� 985 195 899 352 433 228 367 526 310 315 2 115.57 2 092.77 531.9 207.0

Cincinnati, OH�KY�IN PMSA 1 646 395�������������� 1 526 090 1 467 643 690 963 611 871 556 694 3 395.44 3 341.73 492.7 206.8
Dearborn County, IN 46 109����������������������� 38 835 34 291 17 791 14 532 12 412 307.05 305.21 151.1 58.3
Ohio County, IN 5 623���������������������������� 5 315 5 114 2 424 2 161 2 170 87.47 86.72 64.8 28.0
Boone County, KY 85 991������������������������� 57 589 45 842 33 351 21 476 16 070 256.96 246.26 349.2 135.4
Campbell County, KY 88 616����������������������� 83 866 83 317 36 898 32 910 30 268 159.43 151.55 584.7 243.5
Gallatin County, KY 7 870������������������������ 5 393 4 842 3 362 2 290 1 779 104.67 98.81 79.7 34.0
Grant County, KY 22 384�������������������������� 15 737 13 308 9 306 6 543 5 355 260.79 259.93 86.1 35.8
Kenton County, KY 151 464������������������������� 142 031 137 058 63 571 56 086 51 241 164.38 161.97 935.2 392.5
Pendleton County, KY 14 390���������������������� 12 036 10 989 5 756 4 782 4 192 281.87 280.54 51.3 20.5
Brown County, OH 42 285������������������������� 34 966 31 920 17 193 13 720 11 846 495.22 491.76 86.0 35.0
Clermont County, OH 177 977�����������������������

r 150 167 128 483 69 226 r 55 308 44 760 457.67 451.99 393.8 153.2
Hamilton County, OH 845 303����������������������� 866 228 873 203 373 393 361 421 343 309 412.78 407.36 2 075.1 916.6
Warren County, OH 158 383������������������������

r 113 927 99 276 58 692 r 40 642 33 292 407.14 399.63 396.3 146.9

Hamilton�Middletown, OH PMSA 332 807��������� 291 479 258 787 129 793 110 353 92 528 470.20 467.27 712.2 277.8
Butler County 332 807������������������������������ 291 479 258 787 129 793 110 353 92 528 470.20 467.27 712.2 277.8

Clarksville�Hopkinsville, TN�KY MSA 207 033��� 169 439 150 220 79 349 60 662 50 919 1 267.85 1 260.59 164.2 62.9
In central city 133 544�������������������������������� 105 360 82 095 53 301 39 896 29 940 119.58 118.89 1 123.3 448.3

Hopkinsville city, KY 30 089������������������������

r 29 818 27 318 13 260 r 12 238 10 528 24.04 24.03 1 252.4 551.9
Clarksville city, TN 103 455�������������������������

r 75 542 54 777 40 041 r 27 658 19 412 95.54 94.86 1 090.6 422.1
Not in central city 73 489���������������������������� 64 079 68 125 26 048 20 766 20 979 1 148.27 1 141.71 64.4 22.8

Kentucky 72 265������������������������������������ 68 941 66 878 27 182 23 429 21 195 724.01 721.32 100.2 37.7
In central city 30 089������������������������������ 29 818 27 318 13 260 12 238 10 528 24.04 24.03 1 252.4 551.9
Not in central city 42 176�������������������������� 39 123 39 560 13 922 11 191 10 667 699.97 697.29 60.5 20.0

Tennessee 134 768���������������������������������� 100 498 83 342 52 167 37 233 29 724 543.84 539.28 249.9 96.7
In central city 103 455������������������������������ 75 542 54 777 40 041 27 658 19 412 95.54 94.86 1 090.6 422.1
Not in central city 31 313�������������������������� 24 956 28 565 12 126 9 575 10 312 448.30 444.42 70.5 27.3

Christian County, KY 72 265������������������������� 68 941 66 878 27 182 23 429 21 195 724.01 721.32 100.2 37.7
Montgomery County, TN 134 768���������������������� 100 498 83 342 52 167 37 233 29 724 543.84 539.28 249.9 96.7

Cleveland�Akron, OH CMSA 2 945 831����������� 2 859 644 2 938 277 1 246 124 1 163 911 1 118 487 6 274.48 3 611.96 815.6 345.0
In central city 847 988�������������������������������� 885 461 970 117 375 678 380 046 395 048 197.70 192.24 4 411.1 1 954.2

Akron city 217 074��������������������������������� 223 019 237 177 97 315 96 372 96 682 62.41 62.07 3 497.3 1 567.9
Cleveland city 478 403����������������������������� 505 616 573 822 215 856 224 311 239 557 82.42 77.58 6 166.5 2 782.4
Elyria city 55 953��������������������������������� 56 746 57 538 23 841 22 544 22 010 19.91 19.89 2 813.7 1 198.9
Kent city 27 906���������������������������������� 28 835 26 164 10 435 9 275 9 205 8.71 8.69 3 212.3 1 201.2
Lorain city 68 652��������������������������������� 71 245 75 416 28 231 27 544 27 594 24.25 24.02 2 858.6 1 175.5

Not in central city 2 097 843���������������������������� 1 974 183 1 968 160 870 446 783 865 723 439 6 076.78 3 419.72 613.5 254.5

Population and Housing Unit Counts United States Summary 179
U.S. Census Bureau, Census 2000

Table 34. Population and Housing Units: 1980 to 2000; and Area Measurements and Density for
Metropolitan Areas: 2000�Con.

[For information concerning historical counts, see "User Notes." MAs as defined on June 30, 1999. Counts relate to component parts as defined at each census. Density computed using land area. For
information on nonsampling error and definitions, see text]

United States
Metropolitan Area
Puerto Rico

Population Housing units 2000 area measurements in
square miles

2000 average per
square mile

2000 1990 1980 2000 1990 1980 Total area Land area Population
Housing

units

United States (258 MSAs, 18 CMSAs,
and 73 PMSAs)�Con.

METROPOLITAN AREA�Con.

Cleveland�Akron, OH CMSA�Con.
Akron, OH PMSA 694 960������������������������ 657 575 660 328 290 976 263 776 247 896 927.17 905.11 767.8 321.5

Portage County 152 061���������������������������� 142 585 135 856 60 096 52 299 47 530 507.11 492.39 308.8 122.0
Summit County 542 899���������������������������� 514 990 524 472 230 880 211 477 200 366 420.06 412.72 1 315.4 559.4

Cleveland�Lorain�Elyria, OH PMSA 2 250 871������� 2 202 069 2 277 949 955 148 900 135 870 591 5 347.31 2 706.84 831.5 352.9
Ashtabula County 102 728�������������������������� 99 821 104 215 43 792 41 214 40 528 1 368.47 702.44 146.2 62.3
Cuyahoga County 1 393 978�������������������������� 1 412 140 1 498 400 616 903 604 538 596 637 1 245.56 458.49 3 040.4 1 345.5
Geauga County 90 895���������������������������� 81 129 74 474 32 805 27 922 24 286 408.29 403.66 225.2 81.3
Lake County 227 511������������������������������� 215 499 212 801 93 487 83 194 75 166 978.87 228.21 996.9 409.7
Lorain County 284 664����������������������������� 271 126 274 909 111 368 99 937 95 953 923.02 492.50 578.0 226.1
Medina County 151 095���������������������������� 122 354 113 150 56 793 43 330 38 021 423.11 421.55 358.4 134.7

Colorado Springs, CO MSA 516 929������������ 397 014 309 424 202 428 165 056 117 571 2 129.56 2 126.45 243.1 95.2
In central city 360 890�������������������������������� 280 430 215 105 148 690 124 175 88 318 186.13 185.74 1 942.9 800.5

Colorado Springs city 360 890�����������������������

r 280 430 215 105 148 690 r 124 175 88 318 186.13 185.74 1 942.9 800.5
Not in central city 156 039���������������������������� 116 584 94 319 53 738 40 881 29 253 1 943.43 1 940.70 80.4 27.7

El Paso County 516 929������������������������������ 397 014 309 424 202 428 165 056 117 571 2 129.56 2 126.45 243.1 95.2

Columbia, MO MSA 135 454������������������� 112 379 100 376 56 678 44 695 37 419 691.31 685.43 197.6 82.7
In central city 84 531�������������������������������� 69 133 62 061 35 916 27 563 22 690 53.34 53.07 1 592.8 676.8

Columbia city 84 531������������������������������

r 69 133 62 061 35 916 r 27 563 22 690 53.34 53.07 1 592.8 676.8
Not in central city 50 923���������������������������� 43 246 38 315 20 762 17 132 14 729 637.97 632.36 80.5 32.8

Boone County 135 454������������������������������� 112 379 100 376 56 678 44 695 37 419 691.31 685.43 197.6 82.7

Columbia, SC MSA 536 691�������������������� 453 932 409 953 220 771 177 111 144 531 1 529.60 1 455.67 368.7 151.7
In central city 116 278�������������������������������� 103 477 101 229 46 142 37 492 32 853 127.72 125.22 928.6 368.5

Columbia city 116 278������������������������������

r 103 477 101 229 46 142 r 37 492 32 853 127.72 125.22 928.6 368.5
Not in central city 420 413���������������������������� 350 455 308 724 174 629 139 619 111 678 1 401.88 1 330.44 316.0 131.3

Lexington County 216 014���������������������������� 167 611 140 353 90 978 67 556 52 650 757.88 699.25 308.9 130.1
Richland County 320 677�����������������������������

r 286 321 269 600 129 793 r 109 555 91 881 771.72 756.41 423.9 171.6

Columbus, GA�AL MSA 274 624���������������� 260 862 254 660 112 617 101 458 90 927 1 592.48 1 570.04 174.9 71.7
In central city 185 781�������������������������������� 178 683 169 441 75 940 70 658 63 565 220.83 216.09 859.7 351.4

Columbus city, GA (balance) 185 781����������������

r 178 683 169 441 75 940 r 70 658 63 565 220.83 216.09 859.7 351.4
Not in central city 88 843���������������������������� 82 179 85 219 36 677 30 800 27 362 1 371.65 1 353.95 65.6 27.1

Alabama 49 756������������������������������������ 46 860 47 356 22 831 19 633 17 855 647.38 641.32 77.6 35.6
Not in central city 49 756�������������������������� 46 860 47 356 22 831 19 633 17 855 647.38 641.32 77.6 35.6

Georgia 224 868������������������������������������� 214 002 207 304 89 786 81 825 73 072 945.10 928.72 242.1 96.7
In central city 185 781������������������������������ 178 683 169 441 75 940 70 658 63 565 220.83 216.09 859.7 351.4
Not in central city 39 087�������������������������� 35 319 37 863 13 846 11 167 9 507 724.27 712.63 54.8 19.4

Russell County, AL 49 756��������������������������� 46 860 47 356 22 831 19 633 17 855 647.38 641.32 77.6 35.6
Chattahoochee County, GA 14 882������������������� 16 934 21 732 3 316 3 108 3 201 251.17 248.77 59.8 13.3
Harris County, GA 23 695���������������������������� 17 788 15 464 10 288 7 814 6 053 472.93 463.69 51.1 22.2
Muscogee County, GA 186 291������������������������

r 179 280 170 108 76 182 r 70 903 63 818 221.00 216.26 861.4 352.3

Columbus, OH MSA 1 540 157������������������� 1 345 450 1 214 291 653 067 547 847 471 428 3 169.24 3 141.24 490.3 207.9
In central city 793 084�������������������������������� 711 848 641 174 363 691 311 830 267 932 250.42 247.89 3 199.4 1 467.2

Columbus city 711 470�����������������������������

r 632 945 565 021 327 175 r 278 107 236 801 212.55 210.27 3 383.6 1 556.0
Lancaster city 35 335����������������������������� 34 507 34 953 15 891 14 754 14 004 18.08 18.07 1 955.9 879.6
Newark city 46 279��������������������������������

r 44 396 41 200 20 625 r 18 969 17 127 19.80 19.55 2 366.7 1 054.8
Not in central city 747 073���������������������������� 633 602 573 117 289 376 236 017 203 496 2 918.82 2 893.35 258.2 100.0

Delaware County 109 989����������������������������� 66 929 53 840 42 374 24 377 18 816 455.97 442.41 248.6 95.8
Fairfield County 122 759������������������������������

r 103 472 93 678 47 922 r 39 018 33 883 508.60 505.11 243.0 94.9
Franklin County 1 068 978������������������������������ 961 437 869 126 471 016 405 418 347 234 543.32 539.87 1 980.1 872.5
Licking County 145 491������������������������������� 128 300 120 981 58 760 50 032 45 002 688.38 686.50 211.9 85.6
Madison County 40 213����������������������������� 37 068 33 004 14 399 12 621 11 361 466.18 465.44 86.4 30.9
Pickaway County 52 727�����������������������������

r 48 244 43 662 18 596 r 16 381 15 132 506.79 501.91 105.1 37.1

Corpus Christi, TX MSA 380 783��������������� 349 894 326 228 147 905 136 452 113 857 1 873.48 1 527.47 249.3 96.8
In central city 277 454�������������������������������� 257 453 232 134 107 831 100 205 81 633 432.80 154.40 1 797.0 698.4

Corpus Christi city (part) 277 454�������������������� 257 453 232 134 107 831 100 205 81 633 432.80 154.40 1 797.0 698.4
Not in central city 103 329���������������������������� 92 441 94 094 40 074 36 247 32 224 1 440.68 1 373.07 75.3 29.2

Nueces County 313 645������������������������������ 291 145 268 215 123 041 114 326 94 381 1 166.42 835.82 375.3 147.2
San Patricio County 67 138�������������������������� 58 749 58 013 24 864 22 126 19 476 707.06 691.65 97.1 35.9

Corvallis, OR MSA 78 153�������������������� 70 811 68 211 31 980 27 024 25 189 678.97 676.46 115.5 47.3
In central city 49 322�������������������������������� 44 757 40 960 20 909 17 307 15 375 13.77 13.60 3 625.6 1 537.0

Corvallis city 49 322������������������������������� 44 757 40 960 20 909 17 307 15 375 13.77 13.60 3 625.6 1 537.0
Not in central city 28 831���������������������������� 26 054 27 251 11 071 9 717 9 814 665.20 662.86 43.5 16.7

Benton County 78 153������������������������������� 70 811 68 211 31 980 27 024 25 189 678.97 676.46 115.5 47.3

Cumberland, MD�WV MSA 102 008������������� 101 643 107 782 45 078 43 443 42 132 758.95 753.15 135.4 59.9
In central city 21 518�������������������������������� 23 714 25 933 11 143 11 433 11 562 9.08 9.07 2 372.7 1 228.7

Cumberland city, MD 21 518�����������������������

r 23 712 25 933 11 143 r 11 433 11 562 9.08 9.07 2 372.7 1 228.7
Not in central city 80 490���������������������������� 77 929 81 849 33 935 32 010 30 570 749.87 744.08 108.2 45.6

Maryland 74 930������������������������������������ 74 946 80 548 32 984 32 513 31 893 429.82 425.42 176.1 77.5
In central city 21 518������������������������������ 23 714 25 933 11 143 11 433 11 562 9.08 9.07 2 372.7 1 228.7
Not in central city 53 412�������������������������� 51 232 54 615 21 841 21 080 20 331 420.74 416.35 128.3 52.5

West Virginia 27 078�������������������������������� 26 697 27 234 12 094 10 930 10 239 329.13 327.73 82.6 36.9
Not in central city 27 078�������������������������� 26 697 27 234 12 094 10 930 10 239 329.13 327.73 82.6 36.9

Allegany County, MD 74 930������������������������� 74 946 80 548 32 984 32 513 31 893 429.82 425.42 176.1 77.5
Mineral County, WV 27 078�������������������������� 26 697 27 234 12 094 10 930 10 239 329.13 327.73 82.6 36.9

180 United States Summary Population and Housing Unit Counts
U.S. Census Bureau, Census 2000



2010 Census

The 2010 Census removed the “Primary” terminology from the MSAs and replaced the CMSA 
with the Combined Statistical Area (CSA).  Again, Akron and Cleveland had separate MSAs 
similar to the last 60 years since the 1950 Census.  The census again provided a combined 
statistical measurement, but this time created the Cleveland-Akron-Canton CSA.  This CSA has 
over 3.6 million people.

The maps below represent the current status of the MSAs and the CSA.

AZ

AR

CA CO

CT

DC

GA

IL

IN

LA

MN

MS

MT

NM

ND

OK

PA

TN

VA

DE

WV

WI

WY

AL

FL

ID

KS

MD

NJ

NC

SC

WA

VT

UT

IA

KY

ME

MA

MI

MO

NE

NV

NH

NY

OH

OR

RI
SD

TX

ELDORADO

PLACER

DE
AR

BO
RN

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

WAYNE

ADAMS

PIATT

TIPPECANOE

OAKLAND

CHRISTIAN

GARFIELD

MONTGOMERY

LYNN

DUNN

ISABELLA

MEDINA

POLK

CADDO

ST. LOUIS

ASHTABULA

COFFEE

TUOLUMNE

PAULDING

CUMBERLAND

SCOTT

GEAUGA

DAWSON

GILLESPIE

PETERSBURG*

LYON

HOOD

HALE

ST. LUCIE

ESCAMBIA

HARALSON

BALTIMORE*

BRANCH

ALCORN

FRANKLIN

ARLINGTON

NEWTON

SPALDING

WAKE

KNOX

MARTINSVILLE*

MARATHON

MAHASKA

MENOMINEE

ATASCOSA

GREENE

HERNANDO

FRANKLIN

CHESAPEAKE*

ST. FRANCIS

GRANT

LINCOLN

PETTIS

GENESEE

MARION

TAYLOR

TOM GREEN

DANE

PHELPS

HANSON

FAIRFIELD

STEUBEN

MOWER

CASS

ERIE

MINNEHAHA

TELLER

MACOUPIN

KENDALL

HENRY

LAPEEROLMSTED

WEXFORD

JEFFERSON

KEWAUNEE

MOHAVE

MARSHALL

JOSEPHINE

ANDREWS

MATHEWS

HOT
SPRING

BOISE

MENARD

LAWRENCE

PUTNAM

MADISON

GENESEE

MONTEREY

MONTGOMERY

HANCOCK

CHELAN

CASS

SCHUYLER

BRADFORD

NUECES

SPOKANE

MORGAN

TIFT

LaSALLE

DUBOIS

FORD

EATON

DODGE

STARK

KENDALL

JOHNSON

CALUMET

BARTON

FLATHEAD

IRION

VERM
ILLION

SCOTTS BLUFF

PUTNAM

RENVILLE

RACINE

DeKALB

MADISON

MARSHALL

LINN

ALLEGAN

CREEK

LOGAN

FRANKLIN

STUTSMAN

HOPEWELL*

LEE

RANDOLPH

MACON

STORY

MASSAC

OUTAGAMIE

CERRO
GORDO

CLAY

WASHINGTON

SALINE

VANCE

WINNEBAGO

PORTER

CHRISTIAN

NOBLE

ALAMANCE

CHAMPAIGN

CHRISTIAN

COLONIAL
HEIGHTS*

FAIRFAX*

HARRISONBURG*

BECKHAM

BUTLER

SEDGWICK

BLACK HAWK

DeSOTO

BUENA VISTA

COLLIN

CORYELL

HARVEY

COWLEY

IONIA

KALAMAZOO

KENT

DODGE

MUSKEGON

FREEBORN

ST. JOSEPH

DOUGLAS

FALLS

UNION

BANDERA

GRUNDY

LINCOLN

RALLS

CHARLOTTESVILLE*

MARINETTE

BOWIE

CLARKE

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

LINN

CALDWELL

STEELE

CLAY

CLINTON

HENDRICKS

KEARNY

WYOMING

McKEAN
LIVINGSTON

BELKNAP

CARROLL

MADISON

LUNA

COOS

McLEOD

NEWTON

CA
BA

RR
US

MENOMINEE

SANBENITO

MADISON

INDIAN
RIVER

STOKES

ST.
JOSEPH

KNOX

MERCER

MIAMI

McPHERSON

McLEAN

SAN BERNARDINO

JONES

DAWSON

WASCO

MILLE
LACS

GILCHRIST

PICKAWAY

LEBANON

BROWN

HAYS

BEN HILL

CATOOSA

JONES

WALWORTH

CARSONCITY*

CALHOUN

DALLAS

PUTNAM

FRANKLIN

MONROE

MUSKINGUM

PERRY

STARK

RICHLAND

ROSS

WILLIAMSON

HARDEE

TUSCARAWAS

UNION

WARREN

MADISON

WILSON

PIKE

COSHOCTON

ARMSTRONG

FAYETTE

RICE

CLEVELAND

BREMER

ROCK-
WALL

SAN LUIS OBISPO

ADAMS

OLDHAM

OTTER TAIL

SANTA FE

HILLSDALE

WILLIAMSBURG*

DELAWARE

CRAWFORD

FOND DU LAC

CARROLL

MIDLAND

FAYETTE

BOONE

SHIAWASSEE

JACKSON

MARION

MIAMI

MONTGOMERY

POLK

OGLE

NEVADA

KINGS

SHASTA

OTTAWA

POLK

CASS

SCHLEY

NORTON*

HAMPTON*

HOWELL

MIDLAND

ARAPAHOE

SCURRY
JONES

CURRY

CALLAHAN

UPSHUR

CORTLAND

GOSPER

HUNT

BROOME

CARTER

WALKER

FULTON

BROOKE

PICKENS

MONON-
GALIA

SU
NFLO

WER

CALDWELL

DODDRIDGE

NASSAU

TAYLOR

CLINTON

FLAGLER

SEMINOLE

PAYNE

PIKE

JASPER

DALE

HOWARD

ELLIS

ORLEANS

WARREN

KOSCIUSKO

PERRY

TORRANCE

LINCOLN

MARION

COCONINO

GRAVES

PULASKI

GILA

WOODFORD

SANTA BARBARA

LIBERTY

PUTNAM

MANASSAS
PARK*

ELMORE

GREENE

COLQUITT

JEFFERSON

SAN PATRICIO

SUFFOLK*

OKTIBBEHA

COOSA

LABETTE

HENRY

TEHAMA

ELBERT

BARTHOLOMEW

ERATH

CARLTON

W
ASHINGTON

HURON

ECTOR

LINCOLN

SPENCER

HOCKING

SANDUSKY

CRAVEN

MIDDLESEX

EDMUNDS

TAYLOR

WASHTENAW

KOOTENAI

GRANT

WEBSTER

RADFORD*

ROOSEVELT

FORREST

DOUGHERTY

BROWN

McPHERSON

SAGINAW

WEAKLEY

POLK

DELAWARE

MOORE

ADAMS

DEAF SMITH

TOOMBS

SENECA

GUERNSEY

LITTLE RIVER

LENAWEE

WASHINGTON

LAWRENCE

HENRY

ARCHER

SEWARD

NOBLES

McLENNAN

WAPELLO

BENTON

RENO

BOND

JOHNSON

CROSBY

INGHAM

HARNETT

TURNER

WILLIAMSON

GRAFTON

GARFIELD

MADISON

HEARD

LORAIN

COFFEE

CARSON

WYANDOTTE

WAYNE

CRAWFORD

ISANTI

OKMULGEE

BUFFALO

WABASH

BOONE

SHAWANO

KERR

POQUOSON*

LYNCHBURG*

DeKALB

PONTOTOC

WORTH

OSCEOLA

HOWARD

MIAMI GATES

GRUNDY

WALTON

PERSON

LOGAN

ROCKLAND

RAPPA-
HANNOCK

ALLEGANY

POINSETT

BENTON

GUILFORD

CLINTON

SUMMIT

McDONOUGH

MORGAN

DADE

LOS ANGELES

JEFFERSON

STEPHENS

FINNEY

MARSHALL

BUTLER

WEBSTER

CHIPPEWA

FRESNO

MERCER

PEORIA

ALEX-
ANDRIA*

JACKSON

BEADLE

MADISON

PORTAGE

ANDERSON

UINTA

KEMPER

MARSHALL

CARROLL

HENDRY

GRAND ISLE

WHATCOM

MERCER

BERKELEY

LOGAN

TOLLAND

SUSSEX

ADAMS

OHIO

KNOX

TRIGG

MEADE

TULARE

NORFOLK

WORCESTER

WAYNE

MIDDLES
EX

WESTCHESTER

CAYUGA

RENSSELAER

CRAWFORD

LOWNDES

GARLAND

PITKIN

ROUTT

W
HI

TF
IEL

D

WAYNE

BRACKEN

JEFFERSON

CAMERON

ORLEANS

ALPENA

CHIPPEWA

MORGAN

JASPER

PULASKI

ANOKA

LEE

ADAIR

DODGE

WILKES

COFFEE

DENTON

BENZIE

FLOYD

COMAL

BALDWIN

MORGAN

BELL

SALT LAKE

SAUK

LANCASTER

GASTON

RANDOLPH

ST. CLAIR

SCOTT

SULLIVAN

GRAND FORKS
CLATSOP

PICKENS

BLOUNT

JEFFERSON

ISLE OF
WIGHT

SALINE

KERN

PUEBLO

BARROW

COBB

UPSON

HANCOCK

DuPAGE

TAZEWELL

HANCOCK

PIKE

BOONE

KENNEBEC

CARVER

LINCOLN

SCHOHARIE

CALDWELL

CANADIAN

WOODWARD

CROOK

POSEY

JONES

LEFLORE

BOONE

BOSSIER

CHISAGO

WASHINGTON

SALEM*

McHENRY

PHILLIPS

VENTURA

IMPERIAL

LITCHFIELD

HILLSBOROUGH

CHATTA-
HOOCHEE

SULLIVAN

SCOTT

LEAVENW
ORTH

ISLAND

MORRIS

ONTARIO

FORSYTH

CHATHAM

ETOWAH

DALLAS

GRAHAM

KNOX

CLEAR
CREEK

BUTTS

FULTON

COWETA

OCONEE

WEST
BATON

ROUGE

GUTHRIE

BOURBON

RAPIDES

SALINE

PIERCE

SUFFOLK

NIAGARA

KLEBERG

CRAIG

LIVINGSTON

DORCHESTER

ROANE

HOWARD

BRAZOS

OLDHAM

CAMPBELL

HARDIN

TALBOT

NODAWAY

CASS

PRINCE
GEORGE

IOWA

SHERBURNE

WALKER

YORK

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

COCHISE

MILLER

ORANGE

OWYHEE

MARICOPA

KANKAKEE

STOREY

DU
RH

AM

STARK

MONTOUR

VENANGO

LYON

GLOUCESTER

ORANGE

GEORGETOWN

ANDERSON

YANKTON

CHAMBERS

CLAY

UINTAH

ORANGE

SNOHOMISH

BROWN

WOOD

YAVAPAI

JEFFERSON

FREMONT

CAMAS

BINGHAM

BULLITT

HOWARD

RA
MSE

Y

BROWN

TATE

CASCADE

YELLOWSTONE

MERRICK

BEDFORD

OTERO

LOGAN

ONONDAGA

MARLBORO

BRONX

BREVARD

CHAMPAIGN

CLARK

JEFFERSON

DAKOTA

GRANVILL
E

ALLEGHENY

LINCOLN

CLARK

LAURENS

DUNKLIN

SURRY

DAUPHIN

IREDELL

ARMSTRONG

ATLANTIC

ST. MARY

CHESTERFIELD

AIKEN

SUFFOLK

BERKS

CALLOWAY

LEXINGTON

PERRYERIE

KENOSHA

NEW
CASTLE

CHARLOTTE

HARTFORD

PENNINGTON

ARANSAS

BEAUFORT

ST. CROIX

SHEBOYGAN

DELTA

SCOTT

BUNCOMBE

ELKHART

YADKIN

WICOMICO

AN
DR

OS
CO

GG
IN

CRAWFORD

COOKE

WISE

JASPER

CHARLESTON

AUSTIN

TETON

RICHLAND

NEWBERRY

SCHUYLKILL

YUBA

JOHNSON

CASSIA

EDDY

DICKINSON

HOPKINS

RUTHERFORD

DICKSON

CAMBRIA

CLAY

BEE

SHERIDAN

ROCKINGHAM

SUMTER

SALUDA

NEWPORT

LAWRENCE

SOMERSET

GALVESTON

FAULKNER

DeKALB

GRATIOT

HOUGHTON

CENTRE

HAWKINS
SULLIVAN

DARLINGTON

DELAWARE

BRISTOL

WASHINGTON

FRANKLIN

HAMPDEN

HENDERSON

SEBASTIAN

CUSTER

TIPTON

SUMNER

CLINTON

KNOX

RUTLAND

HANCOCK

SKAMANIA

LAMAR

JEROME

NEW LONDON

LIVINGSTON

TROUP

VIGO

BRANTLEY

MANATEE

SAN JOAQUIN

McCRACKEN

FILLMORE

KENT

HILLSBOROUGH

CO
LU

MBIA

CACHE

LE SUEUR

YAKIMA

WALLAWALLA

WHITMAN

RICHLAND

NELSON

DALLAS

STAFFORD

CHILTON

WOOD

EAGLE

HIGHLANDS

NEW
 HAVEN

DAVIS

CUMBERLAND

KEWEENAW

UTAH

LARAMIE

ALBEMARLE

GALLATIN

MONTGOMERY

WINDSOR

FR
AN

KL
IN

CLINTON

FLOYD

BALDWIN

AMELIA

MARION

NEWTON

CLARK

OZ
AU

KE
E

ROBERTSON

MARION

CROCKETT

GORDON

FRANKLIN

CHAVES

LEELANAU

MISSAUKEE

SPOTSYLVANIA

MERRIMACK

DYER

HOKE

STANISLAUS

FREMONT

JACKSON

ALACHUA

MADISON

HUNTINGDON

OWEN

WOODBURY

FRANKLIN

DAVIESS

WASHINGTON

OTTAWA

SUMNER

SCOT-
LANDLOUDON

HUGHES

CHESTER

GREENUP

MACON

MINIDOKA

LAKE

LACKA-
WANNA

SHELBY

LANCASTER

LAWRENCE

LEHIGH

LACLEDE

CHEROKEE

PIERCE

CONTRA COSTA

EFFINGHAM

OVERTON

POLK

ROWAN

WILL

CLINTON

LUZERNE

LAFAYETTE

WARREN

OSAGE

GEM

PAYETTE

DARE

BELL

DAVIDSON

BLUE EARTH

POTTAWATOMIE

McHENRY

WHITLEY

WASHINGTON

MONTGOMERY

SO
M

ER
SE

T

ULSTER

DAVIE

YORK

BOYD

BUTLER

OTTAWA

PAMLICO

TEXAS

PRINCE
WILLIAM

MANASSAS*

NORTHAMP-
TON

CAMDEN

HARDIN

JEFFER-
SON

ELMORE

MERCED

PIERCE

CHESTER

MARTIN

TARRANT

BURLINGTON

CUMBERLAND

BEAUFORT

CAMDEN

NEW
HANOVER

LUCAS

STEUBEN

RUTHERFORD

LAKE

LINCOLN

SPARTANBURG

BUTTE

CLAYTON

LONG

JACKSON

DAVIESS

HAMILTON

FLUVANNA

OSAGE

BRYAN

YORK

MATAGORDA

LAFAYETTE

LYON

CHEROKEE

THURSTON

KANAWHA

NATRONA

SAUNDERS

PROVIDENCE

ZAPATA

IRON

MOORE

OKLAHOMA

CLACKAMAS

SNYDER

UNION

STANLEY

SIOUX

DOÑA ANA

JOHNSON

HALL

CRAWFORD

DENVER

TERRELL

CUMBERLAND

DALLAS

WIN-
CHESTER*

BEDFORD

GOLIAD

QUEENS

UNION

ORANGE

NEWTON

WORTH

BUREAU

JASPER

PICKENS

CHEROKEE

DECATUR

FAYETTE

JOHNSON

GEARY

ROGERS

PULASKI

MADISON

WILSON

CHARLES

HAMILTON

GRANT

HENRY

METCALFE

BELTRAMI

LAFAYETTE

COLE

JESSAMINE

FR
ANKLIN

RAY

CHURCHILL

LEE

PORTAGE

RICHMOND

DUVAL

OLIVER

ORANGEBURG

MORTON

NORTH-

UMBERLAND

WESTMORELAND

MAURY
WARREN

JEFFERSON

LIBERTY

TWIN FALLS

ST. CLAIR

ALEXANDER

PIKE

DE SOTO

McKINLEY

CHEATHAM

NAVARRO

HOPKINS

HUTCHINSON

UVALDE

WARR
EN

HALL

CHEMUNG

DeKALB

SANTA CLARA

MONTGOMERY

NEW KENT

CULPEPER

STANTON

CASS

BULLOCH

SMITH

MOBILE

PLAQUEMINES

WASHINGTON

CHARLESCITY

COLUMBIA

GREENE

LAMPASAS

COMANCHE

CABELL

HOCKLEY

LASSEN

McINTOSH

JACKSON

CLAY

HUMBOLDT

RIO ARRIBA

GRANT

COLUMBIA

JEFFERSON

GUADALUPE

POTTER

ANDERSON

RICHMOND*

FRANKLIN

CRITTENDEN

LEE

BRYAN

LAKE

HAMILTON

BUTLER

JACKSON

ADAMS

GREENVILLE

LINCOLN

WARREN

JEFFERSON

CANYON

PINAL

MONROE

ANNE
ARUNDEL

ANDREW

EDGEFIELD

WASHINGTON

WISE

CAMPBELL

TUSCALOOSA

NACOGDOCHES

BENTON

SANTACRUZ

WINNEBAGO

ALLEN

BOONE

IBERIA

PIMA

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

WASHOE

UNION

PASSAIC

MONROE

DOUGLAS

ADA

BUTTE

FAYETTE

HUMBOLDT

CHATTOOGA

JERSEY

SAGADAHOC

ST.
MARY'S

PLYMOUTH

ST.
MARTIN

JEFFERSON

GALLIA

BUCKS

BARREN

LAUREL

SCOTT

HINDS

WEBSTER

ATCHISON
MASON

ST. BERNARD

CALCASIEU

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

CAMPBELL

WILLACY

JUAB

ORANGE

LINCOLN

JOHNSTON

WAGONER

HARRISON

ITAWAMBA

NYE

CLALLAM

ASOTIN

ROCK

MADISON

MOORETULSA

BURLESON

TIOGA

CALHOUN

CLARKE

SCOTT

SCHENECTADY

ROCKINGHAM

MARION

SEQUOYAH

COLUMBIA

TANEY

CALLAWAY

CANNON

GRAY

GRANT

LATAH

DAVIDSON

TAZEWELL

TUNICA

BRAZORIA

BRISTOL*

FLORENCE

CLAY

SANDOVAL

PALO PINTO

WARREN

GREENE

WALTON

CALHOUN

CLARK

RO
CK

-
DA

LE

SANGAMON

GRENADA

BERNALILLO

JACKSON

JOHNSON

MONT-
  GOMERY

CARROLL

STEPHENSON

LIVINGSTON

HOUSTON

DICKINSON

MERCER

MARION

KEARNEY

DEFIANCE

SILVER BOW

BURKE

BATH

MORROW

HAYWOOD

ALBANY

BENTON

BERRIEN

HENRY

KANDIYOHI

PITTSBURG

FULTON

BRADLEY

GILES

ROANOKE*

MONROE

LAMAR

PENDLETON

MIFFLIN

WILKIN

MAHONING

GRAINGER

BOONE

DORCHESTER

UNION

BUCHANAN

MAVERICK

LIVINGSTON

ST.
LOUIS*

ONSLOW

HENRY

HANCOCK

KALKASKA

COWLITZ

LAWRENCE

LIMESTONE

BAXTER

BLOUNT

LAURENS

CATTARAUGUS

MEADE

DUKES

CODINGTON

YELL

DAVISON

WILSON

HENDERSON

WAUKESHA

CITRUS

SARPY

JASPER

SIMPSON

DIXON

IBERVILLE

ONEIDA

MISSISSIPPI

RICHMOND

GADSDEN LEONOKALOOSA

PUTNAM

EFFINGHAM

OBION

WASHINGTON

ST.
CLAIR

VAL VERDE

PERRY

KITTITAS

SANTA ROSA

HARRIS

CARBON

REEVES

LAKE

CHAMBERS

WINDHAM

MARQUETTE

PASQUOTANK

DANVILLE*

POLK

SH
EL

BY

WARREN

BLAIR

KITSAP

WAKULLA

WARE
GREGG

RANDALL

BROWARD

VERMILION

BEAUREGARD

MONROE

WALLER

WASHINGTON

CAMPBELL

CLARKE

DeSOTO

LAWRENCE

LINCOLN

BANNER

OCONEE

HORRY

WAYNE

W
OODFORD

GREENE

BELMONT

ATHENS

WASHINGTON

OHIO

SALEM

CARTERET

LANCASTER

EDMONSON

HERKIMER

MONROE

MADISON

TITUS

PENOBSCOT

LOS ALAMOS

MUSKOGEE

FORT BEND

FREDERICKS-
BURG*

POTTAWATOMIE

JACKSON

SENECA

GREENWOOD

PIKE

GAGE

MIAMI-DADE

UNION

DES
MOINES

FREDERICK

KINGS

M
AR

SH
AL

L

HALE

LOGAN

BLAINE

SANTA CRUZ

SARASOTA

BONNER

ST. J
OHN THE

BAPTIST

PAWNEE

ALBANY

ST. TAMMANY

MECKLENBURG

FAYETTE

MINERAL

WALKER

WELD

JEFFERSON

PRINCE
GEORGE'S

SONOMA

WINONA

POPE

MARION

EAST
FELICIANA

FRANKLIN

PLATTE

EL PASO

COLUMBIA

CRISP

DUTCHESS

SEVIER

HARRISON

HIDALGO

SOLANO

WABASHA

BATES

SUMTER

MILLS

ANDER
SO

N

McCLAIN

KAUFMAN

BOLLINGER

LA
CROSSE

OSWEGO

YOLO

BOX ELDER

JONES

CARBON

BARTOW

MONTROSE

WARREN

SHELBY

NAVAJO

DISTRICT OF

COLUMBIA

HARRISON

NEWPORT
NEWS*

FAIRFIELD

ST. LAWRENCE

CALHOUN

WHITESIDE

SUMMIT

COLLIER

GLYNN

SUMTER

PEARL RIVER

ST.
JAMES

NORFOLK*

MOREHOUSE

PORTSMOUTH*

JACKSON

TOOELE

BASTROP

WASATCH

TRAVIS

LINCOLN

AUGLAIZE

TERREBONNE

UNION

MISSOULA

GILPIN

ST.
FRANCOIS

WICHITA

MASON

VICTORIA

CLERMONT

WEBB

FAYETTE

MER
IW

ETH
ER

MONROE

CLARK

POWHATAN

AUTAUGA

CAMERON

BOONE

LOGAN

STEVENS

MUSCOGEE

OGLETHORPE

CUYAHOGA

VIRGINIA
BEACH*

MACOMB

WHITLEY

EL PASO

BROOKS

BENNINGTON

DOUGLAS

PO
TT

AW
AT

TA
M

IE

FORSYTH

MALHEUR

CALVERT

LEE

ELLIS

LAFOURCHE

KENEDY

BOTETOURT

WASHINGTON

WAYNESBORO*

GREEN

LEE

DONIPHAN

LUBBOCK

KANE

EAU CLAIRE

ALLEN

LEA

NAPA

WARREN

WILLIAMSON

LANIER

FULTON

TWIGGS

HAMPSHIRE

VERMILION

MUSCATINE

DOUGLAS

SHAWNEE

ELKO

ST.
HELENA

TANGIPAHOA

LARIMER

NORTHAMPTON

ESSEX

BROWN

KENT

CALHOUN

VANDERBURGH

HENDERSON

RIVERSIDE

FLORENCE

MULTNOMAH

HALIFAX

CLAY

NASH

ALLEN

WHITE

ASHLAND

ROANOKE

UNION

KERSHAW

OTTAWA

MONT-
GOMERY

POLK

McDUFFIE

CROW
WING

NATCHITOCHES

MORGAN

COAHOMA

PHILADELPHIA

WARD

CAMDEN

JEFFERSON

CURRY

CAPE
MAY

RILEY

COLUMBIANA

OCONTO

WOOD

HU
DS

ON

NEW
YORK

MARTIN

PALM BEACH

OSAGE

MARION

MORROW

OKEECHOBEE

WRIGHT

CHESHIRE

LEWIS AND CLARK

MENDOCINO

DARKE

DINWIDDIE

MOFFAT

FRANKLIN

ORANGE

LEWIS

BEAVER

CHAUTAUQUA

CHATHAM

TETON

MORGAN

PUTNAM

RALEIGH

SUSSEX

BIBB

LEWIS

COLUMBIA

ST. LOUIS

SACRAMENTO

OUACHITA

BAY

SCOTT

JEFFERSON

FAIRFIELD

HUNTING-
TON

LARUE

WILLIAMS

HUNTERDON

NEZ
PERCE

BURKE

KENTON

HOUSTON

MEDINA

GWINNETT

M
ILW

AUKEE

BOLIVAR

WAS
HIN

GT
ON

GRANT

UMATILLA

CARBON

BERKSHIRE

PLATTE

ST.
JOHNS

LOWNDES

BRUNSWICK

ASCENSION

KING

LAKE

JIM
WELLS

WIRT

LEE

SUTTER

MADERA

BAKER

SEWARD

CULLMAN

PASCO

SCIOTO

TRUMBULL

WHARTON

CLARK

RANKIN

FREMONT

NELSON

HANCOCK

STRAFFORD

HOODRIVER

DAWSON

McMINN

GOOCHLAND

MONITEAU

WAYNE
PITT

LaPORTE

MADISON

CLINTON

SANMATEO

SAN FRANCISCO

LO
W

ND
ES

BROOKINGS

DELNORTE

HUDSPETH

SEQUATCHIE

SMITH

MECOSTA

MONTCALM

HENNEPIN

GRANT

BEXAR

DOUGLAS

GRADY

CLEVELAND

KAY

MARSHALL

ESSEX

CARTER

HAMBLEN

CHESTER

ADAMS

MORGAN BALTIMORE

PONTOTOC

RANDOLPH

AUGUSTA

SWEETWATER

BUTLER

BANNOCK

HE
ND

ER
SO

N HAMPSHIRE

FAYETTE

COLUMBIA

THOMAS

DESCHUTES MIDDLESEX

GALLATIN
SUMMIT

STAUNTON*

SHELBY

WABAUNSEE

WEBER

JEFFERSON

EAST
BATON
ROUGE

JACKSON

ADAMS

DUBUQUE

LYCOMING

BAY

ACADIA

WATAUGA

CUMBERLAND

BROWN

YORK

CONCORDIA

TRAN-
SYLVANIA

TALLADEGA

SAN DIEGO

MANITOWOC

BOULDER

HOUSTON

LAMAR

SAN MIGUEL

RHEA

CALHOUN

CHEROKEE

McCOOK

HENRICO

APPOMATTOX

JAMES
CITY

TOMPKINS

COTTON

NOLAN

POINTE
COUPEE

BERGEN

BALLARD

SOMERSET

BENTON

WASHINGTON

McLEAN

M
UR

RA
Y

UNICOI

FAIRFAX

PARK

OTSEGO

SARATOGA

ST. LANDRY

INDEPENDENCE

COLES

INDIANA

MARIN

WORCESTER

CLARK

VERNON

CIBOLA

VAN WERT

WILBARGER

FRANKLIN

LANE

FREDERICK

YAZOO

LINCOLN

OCEAN

PRESTON

OUACHITA

MADISON

FALLS
CHURCH*

BROOMFIELD

EDGECOMBE

JACKSON

HABER-
SHAM

PI
NE

LL
AS

McDOWELL

KING WILLIAM

CECIL

CRAIGHEAD

BRISTOL

PITTSYLVANIA

JEFFERSON

UNION

WAYNE

COPIAH

PENDER

PARKER

AMHERST

CATAWBA

FAUQUIER

WASHINGTON

DECATUR

JEFFERSON

JACKSON

NASSAU

ST. CHARLES

HARRISON

CLAY

GRAND
TRAVERSE

CLINTON

JEFFERSON

LONOKE

JENNINGS

HENRY

BONNEVILLE

UNION

GENEVA

WARRICK

ALAMEDA

MASON

DOUGLAS

CURRI-
TUCK

COCKE

NICOLLET

STEARNS

CUMBERLAND

JASPER

WASHINGTON

ROBERTSON

MASON

MESA

HARRISON

LENOIR

GRAYS HARBOR

SKAGIT

ECHOLS

ALEXANDER

MADISON

RUSSELL

ANGELINA

MENIFEE

HANCOCK

PER-
QUIMANS

DOUGLAS

CLEVELAND

MERCER

GRAYSON

ST.
CHARLES

EUREKA

CHITTENDEN

VALENCIA

CLEARFIELD

CASS

DAKOTA

COOK

ROCK ISLAND

BENTON

BURLEIGH

BERKELEY

AUDRAIN

MONTGOMERY

GLOUCESTER

HANOVER

RUSK

STARR

HARFORD

BOYLE

M
AR

SH
AL

L

LICKING

SUSSEX

RICHMOND

LOUDOUN

LA PLATA

PEACH

STEPHENS

QUEEN
ANNE'S

SHELBY

ROCKINGHAM

TAOS

ROBESON

COLBERT

CARROLL

MONTGOMERY

LINN

STANLY

YUMA

WEST
FELICIANA

COOS

PIERCE

MONMOUTH

ERIE

DOUGLAS

SAN JUAN

GOODHUE

KLAMATH

JACKSON

BIBB

VOLUSIA

WASH-
INGTON

DOUGLAS

YATES

YAMHILL

TROUSDALE

BARNSTABLE

LINCOLN

PULASKI

HARRIS

DeKALB

BARBOUR

QUIT-
MAN

ESCAMBIA

LINCOLN

MARTIN

MUHLENBERG

HEMPSTEAD

NEVADA

JEFFERSON
DAVIS

TALLAPOOSA

FANNIN

HAYWOOD

CARROLL

MARION

CLAY

ITASCA

ELK

GREENE

WASHINGTON

SHARP

FRANKLIN

OURAY

LEVY

STEWART

TREUTLEN

ATKINSON

TALBOT

POWER

JOHNSON

WARREN

PARKE

FRANKLIN

CHASE
GREEN

EST
ILL

CLAY

CARTER

ASSUMPTION

LAKE

PRENTISS

WEBSTER

HOLMES

COVINGTON

STONE

HOWARD

COOPER

RIPLEY

STILLWATER

MORA

SWAIN ANSON

BILLINGS

ELLIS

LOVE

CLARENDON

JERAULD

HAMLIN

GIBSON

STEWART

ROBERTS

LOVING
STERLING

CAMP

FRIO

DUVAL

BLAND

MADISON

KING AND QUEEN

SOUTHAMPTON
FRANKLIN*

JACKSON

MORGAN

CROOK

WESTON

Aberdeen

Aberdeen

Ada

Adrian

Alamogordo

Albe-
marle

Albert Lea

Albertville

Alexandria

Alice

Alma

Alpena

Altus

Americus

Amsterdam

Andrews

Angola

Arcadia

Ardmore
Arkadelphia

Winfield

Ash-
land

Ashtabula

Astoria

Atchison

Athens

Athens

Athens

Auburn

Auburn

Augusta-

Waterville

Austin

Bainbridge

Baraboo

Bardstown

Barre

Bartlesville

Batavia

Batesville

Bay City

Beatrice

Beaver
Dam

Bedford

Beeville

Bellefon-
taine

Bemidji

Bennettsville

Bennington

Berlin

Big
Rapids

Big Spring

Big Stone
Gap

Blackfoot

Bluefield

Blytheville

Bogalusa

Boone

Borger

Bozeman

Bradford

Brainerd

Branson

Breckenridge

Brenham

Brevard

Brookhaven

Brookings Brookings

Brownwood

Bucyrus-
Galion

Burley

Burlington

Butte-
Silver Bow

Cadillac

Calhoun

Cambridge

Cambridge

Camden

Campbellsv
ille

Cañon City

Carlsbad-Artesia

Cedar City

Cedartown

Celina

Centralia

Centralia

Charleston-
Mattoon

Chillicothe

Lebanon

Clarksburg

Clarksdale

Clearlake

Cleveland

Clewiston

Clinton

Clovis

Coffeyville

Coldwater

Colum-
bus

Columbus

Concord

Con-
ners-

ville

Cookeville

Coos Bay

Cordele

Corinth

Cornelia

Corning

Corsicana

Cortland

Coshocton

Craig
Craw-
fords-

ville

CrescentCity

Crossville

Cullman

Cullowhee

Danville
Danville

Da
yto

n

De-
catur

Defiance

Del Rio

Deming

DeRidder

Dickinson

Dixon

Dodge City

Douglas

Dublin

DuBois

Dumas

Duncan

Durango

Durant

Dyersburg

Eagle Pass

Easton

Edwards

Effingham

El Campo

El Dorado

Elizabeth City

Elk City

Elkins

Elko

Ellensburg

Emporia

ENID

Enterprise

Escanaba

Española

Eureka-Arcata

Evanston

Fairfield

Fairmont
Fallon

Faribault-
Northfield

Farmington

Fergus Falls

Fernley

Findlay

Fitzgerald

Forest
City

Forrest City

Fort
Dodge

Fort
Leonard

Wood

Fort
Madison-

Keokuk

Fort Morgan

Fort Polk
South

Frankfort

Frank-
fort

Fredericksburg

Freeport

Fremont

Fremont

Gaffney

Gainesville

Gales-
burg

Gallup

Garden City

GardnervilleRanchos

Georgetown

Gillette

Glasgow

Glenwood Springs

Gloversville

Grants

Great
Bend

Greeneville

Greens-
burg

Greenville

Green-
ville

Greenwood

Green-
wood

Grenada

Guymon

Hailey

Hannibal

Harrison

Hastings

Hays

Heber

Helena

Helena-
West

Helena

Henderson

Hereford

Hermiston-Pendleton

Hillsdale

Hobbs

Holland

HoodRiver

Houghton

Hudson

Huntingdon

Hunt-
ing-
ton

Huntsville

Huron

Hutchinson

Hutchinson

Indiana

Indianola

Iron
Mountain

Jackson

Jackson

Jacksonville

Jackson-
ville

Jamestown

Jamestown-

Dunkirk-
Fredonia

Jasper

Jefferson

Jesup

Kalispell

Kearney

Keene

Kendall-
ville

Kennett

Kerrville

Key
West

Kill
Devil

Hills

Kingsville

Kinston

Kirksville

Klamath Falls

LaconiaLa Grande

LaGrange

Lake
City

Lamesa

Laramie

Las Vegas

Laurel

Laurin-
burg

Lawrenceburg

Lebanon

Levelland

Lewisburg

Lewis-
burg

Le
wist

ow
n

Lexington

Liberal

Lincoln

Lock
Haven

Logans-
port

London

Los Alamos

Luding-
ton

Lufkin

Lumberton

Macomb

Madison

Madison-
ville

Magnolia

Malone

Malvern

Manitowoc

Marietta

Marinette

Marion

Marion

Marion

Marquette

Marshall

Marshall

Marshall-
town

Martin

Martinsville

Maryville

Mason
City

May-
field

Maysville

McAlester

McComb

McMinn-
ville

McPherson

Meadville

Menomonie

Meridian

Mexico

Miami

Middles-
borough

Milledge-
ville

Mineral
Wells

Minot

Mitchell

Moberly

Montrose

Morehead City

Morgan
City

Moscow

Moses Lake

Moultrie

Mountain
Home

Mountain
Home

Mount
Airy

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Sterling

Mount
Vernon

Mount
Vernon

Murray

Muscatine

Muskogee

Nacogdoches

Natchez
Natchitoches

Newberry

New
Castle

New
Castle

New
Philadelphia-

Dover

Newport

Newport

New Ulm

Nogales

Norfolk

North Platte

North
 Vernon

North
Wilkesboro

Norwalk

OakHarbor

Ogdensburg-

Massena

Oil City

Okeechobee

Olean

Oneonta

Ontario

Opelousas

Orangeburg

Oskaloosa

Othello

Ottawa

Ottawa

Ottumwa

Owa-
tonna

Oxford

Ozark

Paducah

Pahrump

Palatka

Palestine

Pampa

Paragould

Paris

Paris

Parsons

Payson

Pecos

Peru

Picayune

Pierre

Pinehurst-
Southern

Pines

Pittsburg

Plainview

Platteville

Plattsburgh

Plymouth

Ponca City

Pontiac

Poplar Bluff

Portales

Port Angeles

Port
Lavaca

Portsmouth

Pottsville

Price

Prineville

Pullman

Quincy

Raymondville

Red Bluff

Red WingRexburg

Rich-
mond

Richmond-
Berea

Rio Grande
City-Roma

Riverton

Roanoke
Rapids

Rochelle

Rocking-
ham

Rock Springs

Rolla

Roseburg

Roswell

Russellville

Ruston

Rutland

Safford

St. Marys

Salem

Salina

Sandpoint

Sandusky

Sanford

Sault Ste. Marie

Sayre

Scottsbluff

Scottsboro
Searcy

Sedalia

Selinsgrove

Selma

Seneca

Seneca
Falls

Sevierville

Seymour

Shawano

Shawnee

Shelby

Shelbyville

Shelton

Sheridan

Show Low

Sidney

Sikeston

Silver City

Snyder

Somerset

Somerset

Sonora

Spearfish

Spencer

Spirit
Lake

Starkville

Statesboro

Steamboat
Springs

Stephenville

Sterling

Sterling

Stevens
Point

Stillwater

Storm
Lake Sturgis

Sulphur
Springs

Summer-
ville

Sunbury

Susanville

Sweetwater

Tahlequah

Talladega-
Sylacauga

Taos

Taylorville

The Dalles

Thomaston

Thomas-
ville

Tiffin

Tifton

Toccoa

Torrington

Traverse City

Troy

Truckee-Grass Valley

Tullahoma-
Manchester

Tupelo

TWIN FALLS

Ukiah

Union
City

Urbana

Uvalde

Van Wert

Vermillion

Vernal

Vernon

Vicksburg

ABILENE

AKRON

ALBANY

ALBANY-LEBANON

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY-

TROY

ALBUQUERQUE

ALEXANDRIA

ALLENTOWN-

BETHLEHEM-

EASTON

ALTOONA

AMARILLO

AMES

ANN
ARBOR

ANNISTON-
OXFORD

APPLETON

ASHEVILLE

ATHENS-
CLARKE
COUNTY

ATLANTA-SANDY SPRINGS-ALPHARETTA

ATLANTIC CITY-HAMMONTON

AUBURN-
OPELIKA

AUGUSTA-

RICHMOND
COUNTY

AUSTIN-
ROUND ROCK-
GEORGETOWN

BAKERSFIELD

BALTIMORE-COLUMBIA-

TOWSON

BANGOR

BARNSTABLE TOWN

BATON ROUGE

BATTLE
CREEK

BAY
CITY

BEAUMONT-
PORT

ARTHUR

BECKLEY

BELLINGHAM

BEND
BILLINGS

BINGHAMTON

BIRMINGHAM-
HOOVER

BISMARCK

BLACKSBURG-

CHRISTIANSBURG

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMSBURG-

BERWICK

BOISE
CITY

BOULDER

BOWLING
GREEN

BREMERTON-SILVERDALE-PORT ORCHARD

BRIDGEPORT-

STAMFORD-

NORWALK

BROWNSVILLE-HARLINGEN

BRUNSWICK

BUFFALO-

CHEEKTOWAGA

BUR-
LING-

TON

BURLINGTON-

SOUTH
BURLINGTON

CALIFORNIA-

LEXINGTON 

      PARK

CANTON-
MASSILLON

CAPE CORAL-FORT MYERS

CAPE 
GIRARDEAU

CARBONDALE-
MARION

CARSONCITY

CASPER

CEDAR RAPIDS

CH
AM

BE
RS

BU
RG

-
W

AY
NE

SB
OR

O

CHAMPAIGN-
URBANA

CHARLESTON

CHARLESTON-

NORTH CHARLESTON

CHARLOTTE-

CONCORD-

GASTONIA

CHARLOTTESVILLE

CHATTANOOGA

CHEYENNE

CHICAGO-
NAPERVILLE-

ELGIN

CHICO

CINCINNATI

CLARKSVILLE

CLEVELAND

CLEVELAND-

ELYRIA

COEUR
D'ALENE

COLLEGE
STATION-

BRYAN

COLORADO SPRINGS
COLUMBIA

COLUMBIA

COLUMBUS

COLUM-
BUS

COLUMBUS

CORPUS
CHRISTI

CORVALLIS

CRESTVIEW-

FORT WALTON BEACH-

DESTIN

DALLAS-FORT WORTH-ARLINGTON

DALTON

DAN-
VILLE

DAPHNE-
FAIRHOPE-

FOLEY

DAVENPORT-MOLINE-

ROCK ISLAND

DAYTON-
KETTERING

DECATUR

DECATUR

DELTONA-
DAYTONA

BEACH-

ORMOND BEACH

DENVER-AURORA-LAKEWOOD

DES MOINES-
WEST DES MOINES

DETROIT-WARREN-

DEARBORN

DOTHAN

DOVER

DUBUQUE

DULUTH

DURHAM-

CHAPEL
HILL

EAST
STROUDSBURG

EAU CLAIRE

EL CENTRO

ELIZABETHTOWN-

    FORT KNOX

ELKHART-
GOSHEN

ELMIRA

EL PASO

ERIE

EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD

EVANSVILLE

FARGO

FARMINGTON FAYETTEVILLE

FAYETTEVILLE-
SPRINGDALE-ROGERS

FLAGSTAFF

FLINT

FLORENCE

FLORENCE-
MUSCLE
SHOALS

FOND DU LAC

FORT COLLINS

FORT
SMITH

FORT WAYNE

FRESNO

GADSDEN

GAINESVILLE

GAINESVILLE

GETTYSBURG

GLENS FALLS

GOLDS-
BORO

GRAND
FORKS

GRAND ISLAND

GRAND JUNCTION

GRAND RAPIDS-

KENTWOOD

GRANTS PASS

GREAT FALLS

GREELEY

GREEN BAY

GREENSBORO-

HIGH POINT
GREEN-

VILLE

GREENVILLE-

ANDERSON

GULFPORT-BILOXI

HAGERSTOWN-

MARTINSBURG

HAM-
MOND

HANFORD-CORCORAN

HARRISBURG-

CARLISLE

HARRISONBURG

HARTFORD-

EAST HARTFORD-

MIDDLETOWN

HATTIESBURG

HICKORY-
LENOIR-

MORGANTON

HINESVILLE

HOMOSASSA
SPRINGS

HOT
SPRINGS

HOUMA-THIBODAUXHOUSTON-THE WOODLANDS-SUGAR LAND

HUNTINGTON-

ASHLAND

HUNTSVILLE

IDAHO FALLS

INDIANAPOLIS-
CARMEL-

ANDERSON

IOWA
CITY

ITHACA

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSONVILLE

JACKSON-
VILLE

JANESVILLE-
BELOIT

JEFFERSON CITY

JOHNSON
CITY

JOHNS-
TOWN

JONESBORO

JOPLIN

KALAMAZOO-
PORTAGE

KANKAKEE

KANSAS CITY

KENNEWICK-RICHLAND

KILLEEN-TEMPLE

KINGSPORT-
BRISTOL

KINGSTON

KNOXVILLE

KOKOMO

LA CROSSE-
ONALASKA

LAFAYETTE

LAFAYETTE-WEST LAFAYETTE

LAKE CHARLES

LAKE HAVASU CITY-KINGMAN

LAKELAND-

WINTER HAVEN

LANCASTER

LANSING-
EAST

LANSING

LAREDO

LAS CRUCES

LAS VEGAS-HENDERSON-PARADISE

LAWRENCE

LAWTON

LEBANON

LEWISTON
LEWISTON-

AUBURN

LEXINGTON-
FAYETTE

LIMA

LINCOLN

LITTLE ROCK-
NORTH LITTLE ROCK-

CONWAY

LOGAN

LONGVIEW

LONGVIEW

LOS ANGELES-LONG BEACH-ANAHEIM

LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON

COUNTY

LUBBOCK

LYNCHBURG

MADERA

MADISON

MANCHESTER-

NASHUA

MANHATTAN

MANKATO

MANS-
FIELD

McALLEN-
EDINBURG-

MISSION

MEDFORD

MEMPHIS

MERCED

MICHIGAN CITY-
LA PORTE

MIDLAND

MIDLAND

MILWAUKEE-
WAUKESHA

MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL-
BLOOMINGTON

MISSOULA

MOBILE

MODESTO

MONROE

MONROE

MONTGOMERY

MORGANTOWN

MORRIS-
TOWN

MOUNT VERNON-ANACORTES

MUNCIE

MUSKEGON

MYRTLE BEACH-CONWAY-NORTH MYRTLE BEACH

NAPA

NAPLES-

MARCO ISLAND

NASHVILLE-DAVIDSON--

MURFREESBORO--FRANKLIN

NEW BERN

NEW
HAVEN-
MILFORD

NEW ORLEANS-METAIRIE

NEW YORK-NEWARK-JERSEY CITY

NILES

NORTH PORT-SARASOTA-BRADENTON

NORWICH-
NEW

LONDON

OCALA

OCEAN CITY

ODESSA

OGDEN-CLEARFIELD

OKLAHOMA CITY

OLYMPIA-LACEY-TUMWATER

OMAHA-
COUNCIL
BLUFFS

ORLANDO-

KISSIMMEE-

SANFORD

OSHKOSH-
NEENAH

OWENSBORO

OXNARD-THOUSAND OAKS-VENTURA

PANAMA
CITY

PARKERSBURG-

VIENNA

PENSACOLA-
FERRY PASS-

BRENT

PEORIA

PHILADELPHIA-CAMDEN-

WILMINGTON

PHOENIX-MESA-CHANDLER

PINE BLUFF

PITTSBURGH

PITTS-
FIELD

POCATELLO

PORTLAND-

SOUTH

PORTLAND

PORTLAND-VANCOUVER-HILLSBORO

PORT
ST. LUCIE

PRESCOTT VALLEY-PRESCOTT

PROVO-OREM

PUEBLO

PUNTA GORDA

RACINE

RALEIGH-
CARY

RAPID CITY

READINGREDDING

RENO

RICHMOND

RIVERSIDE-SAN BERNARDINO-ONTARIO

ROANOKE

ROCHESTER

ROCHESTER

ROCKFORD

ROCKY MOUNT

ROME

SACRAMENTO-ROSEVILLE-FOLSOM

SAGINAW

ST. CLOUD

ST. GEORGE

ST. JOSEPH

ST. LOUIS

SALEM

SALINAS

SALISBURY

SALT LAKE CITY

SAN ANGELO

SAN ANTONIO-
NEW BRAUNFELS

SAN DIEGO-CHULA VISTA-CARLSBAD

SAN FRANCISCO-OAKLAND-BERKELEY

SAN JOSE-SUNNYVALE-SANTA CLARA

SAN LUIS OBISPO-PASO ROBLES

SANTA CRUZ-WATSONVILLE

SANTA FE

SANTA MARIA-SANTA BARBARA

SANTA ROSA-       PETALUMA

SAVANNAH

SCRANTON--

WILKES-BARRE

SEATTLE-TACOMA-BELLEVUE

SEBRING-

AVON PARK

SHEBOYGAN

SHERMAN-
DENISON

SHREVEPORT-
BOSSIER CITY

SIERRA VISTA-DOUGLAS

SIOUX CITY

SIOUX FALLS

SOUTH
BEND-

MISHAWAKA

SPARTAN-
BURG

SPOKANE-SPOKANEVALLEY

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRING-
FIELD

STATE
COLLEGE

STAUNTON

STOCKTON

SUMTER

SYRACUSE

TALLAHASSEE

TAMPA-

ST. PETERSBURG-

CLEARWATER

TERRE
HAUTE

TEXARKANA

THE
VILLAGES

TOLEDO

TOPEKA

TRENTON-
PRINCETON

TUCSON

TULSA

TUSCALOOSA

TYLER

UTICA-ROME

VALDOSTA

VALLEJO

VICTORIA

VINELAND-

BRIDGETON

VISALIA

WACO

WALLA WALLA

WARNER
ROBINS

WASHINGTON-

ARLINGTON-

ALEXANDRIA

WATERLOO-
CEDAR FALLS

WATERTOWN-

FORT DRUM

WAUSAU-
WESTON

WEIRTON-

STEUBENVILLE

WENATCHEE

WHEELING

WICHITA

WICHITA FALLS

WILLIAMSPORT

WILMINGTON

WINCHESTER

WINSTON-

SALEM

WORCESTER

YAKIMA

YORK-

HANOVER

YUBA CITY

YUMA

Vidalia

    Vin-
cennes

Vineyard

Haven

Wa-
bash

Wahpeton

Wapakoneta

Warren

Warrensburg

Warsaw

Washington

Washington

Washington
Court House

Watertown

Watertown-
Fort

Atkinson

Wauchula

Waycross

Weatherford

West
Plains

White-
water

Williston

Willmar

Wilming-
ton

Wilson

Winnemucca

Winona

Wisconsin
Rapids-

Marshfield

Woodward

Wooster

Worthington

Yankton

Zanesville

Zapata

PALM BAY-MELBOURNE-TITUSVILLE

SEBASTIAN-VERO BEACH

MIAMI-
FORT LAUDERDALE-

POMPANO BEACH

CUMBERLAND

PROVIDENCE-

WARWICK

BOSTON-CAMBRIDGE-NEWTON

YOUNGSTOWN-

WARREN-
BOARDMAN

Point
Pleasant

HILTON HEAD ISLAND-BLUFFTON

VIRGINIA BEACH-NORFOLK-NEWPORT NEWS

Fort
Payne

MACON-BIBB
COUNTY

Eufaula

Atmore

Bonham

Ruidoso

Fairmont

Central
City

Browns-
ville

Pella

Carroll

Grand Rapids

Jennings

West
Point

St. Marys

Hope

Jasper

Alexander City

Scotts-
burg

Minden

POUGHKEEPSIE-

NEWBURGH-

MIDDLETOWN

Union

Granbury

Pearsall

Rockport

Mount Gay-

Shamrock

Anaheim-Santa Ana-Irvine

Boston

Cambridge-Newton-

Framingham

Camden

Chicago-
Naperville-

Evanston

Dallas-Plano-Irving

Detroit-
Dearborn-
Livonia

Elgin

Fort Lauderdale-

Pompano Beach-
Sunrise

Fort Worth-
Arlington-Grapevine

Gary

Lake County-
Kenosha County

Los Angeles-Long Beach-Glendale

Miami-
Miami Beach-

Kendall

Montgomery

County-Bucks

County-Chester County

Nassau County-

Suffolk CountyNewark

Oakland-Berkeley-Livermore

Philadelphia

Rockingham
County-

Strafford County

San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City

San
Rafael

Seattle-Bellevue-Kent

Frederick-
Gaithersburg-

Rockville

Tacoma-Lakewood

Warren-Troy-Farmington Hills

Washington-
Arlington-

Alexandria       

West Palm Beach-

Boca Raton-

Boynton Beach

Wilmington

New York-Jersey City-White Plains

New Brunswick-Lakewood

70°W75°W115°W120°W

120°W125°W130°W

50°N

25°N

Pacific Ocean

Gulf of Mexico

Atlantic Ocean

C A N A D A

M E X I C O

110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W

115°W120°W

75°W 70°W

125°W 120°W

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

25°N

55°N 115°W 110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W 75°W 70°W 65°W 60°W

AK

KETCHIKAN GATEWAY

MATANUSKA-SUSITNA

JUNEAU

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS
NORTH STAR

Juneau

Ketchikan

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS

60°N

150°W 130°W140°W160°W170°W170°E

50°N

Bering Sea

R U S S I A

C A N A D A

180°

55°N

65°N
70°N

HI

Hilo

Kapaa

KAHULUI-WAILUKU-LAHAINA

URBAN
HONOLULU

MAUI

HAWAII

HONOLULU

KAUAI

22°N

20°N

Pacific Ocean

160°W 156°W158°W 154°W

PR CIALES
COROZALMOROVIS

PONCE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

UTUADO

ADJUNTAS

AGUADILLA

AGUAS
BUENAS

AIBONITO

AÑASCO

ARROYO

BARRAN-
QUITAS

BA
YA

M
ÓN

CABO
ROJO

CAGUAS
NAGUABO

NARANJITO

PEÑUELAS

QUEBRADILLAS

RINCÓN

SALINAS

SAN
JUAN

SAN
LORENZO

SANTA
ISABEL

TOA ALTA

TOA BAJA

TRUJILLOALTO

VEGA
BAJA

VILLALBAYAUCO

CANÓVANAS

CAYEY

CEIBA

CIDRA

COAMO

FAJARDO

FL
OR

IDA

GUÁNICA

GU
AY

AN
ILL

A

GU
AY

NA
BO

GURABO

HORMIGUEROS

HUMACAO

LAJAS

LARES

LA
S P

IED
RA

S

LUQUILLO

MAUNABO

CAMUY

HATILLO

LOÍZA

PATILLAS
SABANA
GRANDE

SAN SEBASTIÁN

YABUCOA

JUNCOS

JUANA
DÍAZ

AGUADA

BARCELONETA

CAROLINA

COMERÍO

GUAYAMA

JAYUYA

MANATÍ

OROCOVIS

SAN
GERMÁN

VEGA
ALTAARECIBO

CATAÑO

DORADO

ISABELA

MOCA

RÍO
GRANDE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

LAS MARÍASMAYAGÜEZ

SAN GERMÁN
GUAYAMA

ARECIBO

SAN JUAN-BAYAMÓN-CAGUAS
AGUADILLA-ISABELA

PONCE

Coco

Coamo

Santa
Isabel

Jayuya

YAUCO

68°W

18°30'N

Atlantic Ocean

Caribbean Sea

67°30'W 67°W 66°30'W 66°W 65°30'W

18°N

Puerto Rico

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE  Economics and Statistics Administration  U.S. Census Bureau
Prepared by the Geography Division, April 2019

Miles0 100 200

Kilometers0 100 200

1:16,000,000

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

0 10 20 30 40 Miles

0 10 20 30 40 Kilometers

1:1,200,000

Legend

Outside Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

BALTIMORE* Core Based Statistical Area Incorporated Place
that is legally independent of any county

CUMBERLAND Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

Urbanized Area or Urban Cluster with a
population of 10,000 or more in 2010

Metropolitan Statistical AreaYAKIMA

Shelton Micropolitan Statistical Area

Metropolitan DivisionNewark

International

KS State (or statistical equivalent)

Core Based Statistical Area Description

    The United States Office of Management and Budget delineates metropolitan
and micropolitan statistical areas, which are referred to collectively as "core
based statistical areas" (CBSAs). The general concept of the metropolitan and
micropolitan statistical area is that of a core area containing a substantial
population nucleus, together with adjacent communities having a high degree
of economic and social integration with that core. Metropolitan statistical
areas contain at least one urbanized area of 50,000 or more population;
micropolitan statistical areas contain at least one urban cluster of at least
10,000 and less than 50,000 population. If specified criteria are met,
a metropolitan statistical area containing a single core with a population
of 2.5 million or more may be subdivided into metropolitan divisions, which
function as distinct areas within the larger metropolitan statistical area.
CBSAs are composed of entire counties. There are 392 metropolitan
statistical areas, of which 11 are subdivided into 31 metropolitan divisions,
and 546 micropolitan statistical areas in the United States and Puerto Rico,
as of September 2018.    

  CBSA boundaries and titles are as of September 2018, and reflect the
application of the 2010 Standards for Delineating Metropolitan and Micropolitan
Statistical Areas to Census Bureau data. All other boundaries and names are as of
January 1, 2018.    

Source Description

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas
of the United States and Puerto Rico

September 2018

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas of the United States and Puerto Rico September 2018

Population Division, (301) 763-2419.

Resources
Further information about geographic areas delineated under the metropolitan and micropolitan
statistical area standards is available at "Metro and Micro Areas" within the "Surveys/Programs"

area of the Census Bureau's Internet Site at www.census.gov, or by contacting:

AZ

AR

CA CO

CT

DC

GA

IL

IN

LA

MN

MS

MT

NM

ND

OK

PA

TN

VA

DE

WV

WI

WY

AL

FL

ID

KS

MD

NJ

NC

SC

WA

VT

UT

IA

KY

ME

MA

MI

MO

NE

NV

NH

NY

OH

OR

RI
SD

TX

ELDORADO

PLACER

DE
AR

BO
RN

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

WAYNE

ADAMS

PIATT

TIPPECANOE

OAKLAND

CHRISTIAN

GARFIELD

MONTGOMERY

LYNN

DUNN

ISABELLA

MEDINA

POLK

CADDO

ST. LOUIS

ASHTABULA

COFFEE

TUOLUMNE

PAULDING

CUMBERLAND

SCOTT

GEAUGA

DAWSON

GILLESPIE

PETERSBURG*

LYON

HOOD

HALE

ST. LUCIE

ESCAMBIA

HARALSON

BALTIMORE*

BRANCH

ALCORN

FRANKLIN

ARLINGTON

NEWTON

SPALDING

WAKE

KNOX

MARTINSVILLE*

MARATHON

MAHASKA

MENOMINEE

ATASCOSA

GREENE

HERNANDO

FRANKLIN

CHESAPEAKE*

ST. FRANCIS

GRANT

LINCOLN

PETTIS

GENESEE

MARION

TAYLOR

TOM GREEN

DANE

PHELPS

HANSON

FAIRFIELD

STEUBEN

MOWER

CASS

ERIE

MINNEHAHA

TELLER

MACOUPIN

KENDALL

HENRY

LAPEEROLMSTED

WEXFORD

JEFFERSON

KEWAUNEE

MOHAVE

MARSHALL

JOSEPHINE

ANDREWS

MATHEWS

HOT
SPRING

BOISE

MENARD

LAWRENCE

PUTNAM

MADISON

GENESEE

MONTEREY

MONTGOMERY

HANCOCK

CHELAN

CASS

SCHUYLER

BRADFORD

NUECES

SPOKANE

MORGAN

TIFT

LaSALLE

DUBOIS

FORD

EATON

DODGE

STARK

KENDALL

JOHNSON

CALUMET

BARTON

FLATHEAD

IRION

VERM
ILLION

SCOTTS BLUFF

PUTNAM

RENVILLE

RACINE

DeKALB

MADISON

MARSHALL

LINN

ALLEGAN

CREEK

LOGAN

FRANKLIN

STUTSMAN

HOPEWELL*

LEE

RANDOLPH

MACON

STORY

MASSAC

OUTAGAMIE

CERRO
GORDO

CLAY

WASHINGTON

SALINE

VANCE

WINNEBAGO

PORTER

CHRISTIAN

NOBLE

ALAMANCE

CHAMPAIGN

CHRISTIAN

COLONIAL
HEIGHTS*

FAIRFAX*

HARRISONBURG*

BECKHAM

BUTLER

SEDGWICK

BLACK HAWK

DeSOTO

BUENA VISTA

COLLIN

CORYELL

HARVEY

COWLEY

IONIA

KALAMAZOO

KENT

DODGE

MUSKEGON

FREEBORN

ST. JOSEPH

DOUGLAS

FALLS

UNION

BANDERA

GRUNDY

LINCOLN

RALLS

CHARLOTTESVILLE*

MARINETTE

BOWIE

CLARKE

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

LINN

CALDWELL

STEELE

CLAY

CLINTON

HENDRICKS

KEARNY

WYOMING

McKEAN
LIVINGSTON

BELKNAP

CARROLL

MADISON

LUNA

COOS

McLEOD

NEWTON

CA
BA

RR
US

MENOMINEE

SANBENITO

MADISON

INDIAN
RIVER

STOKES

ST.
JOSEPH

KNOX

MERCER

MIAMI

McPHERSON

McLEAN

SAN BERNARDINO

JONES

DAWSON

WASCO

MILLE
LACS

GILCHRIST

PICKAWAY

LEBANON

BROWN

HAYS

BEN HILL

CATOOSA

JONES

WALWORTH

CARSONCITY*

CALHOUN

DALLAS

PUTNAM

FRANKLIN

MONROE

MUSKINGUM

PERRY

STARK

RICHLAND

ROSS

WILLIAMSON

HARDEE

TUSCARAWAS

UNION

WARREN

MADISON

WILSON

PIKE

COSHOCTON

ARMSTRONG

FAYETTE

RICE

CLEVELAND

BREMER

ROCK-
WALL

SAN LUIS OBISPO

ADAMS

OLDHAM

OTTER TAIL

SANTA FE

HILLSDALE

WILLIAMSBURG*

DELAWARE

CRAWFORD

FOND DU LAC

CARROLL

MIDLAND

FAYETTE

BOONE

SHIAWASSEE

JACKSON

MARION

MIAMI

MONTGOMERY

POLK

OGLE

NEVADA

KINGS

SHASTA

OTTAWA

POLK

CASS

SCHLEY

NORTON*

HAMPTON*

HOWELL

MIDLAND

ARAPAHOE

SCURRY
JONES

CURRY

CALLAHAN

UPSHUR

CORTLAND

GOSPER

HUNT

BROOME

CARTER

WALKER

FULTON

BROOKE

PICKENS

MONON-
GALIA

SU
NFLO

WER

CALDWELL

DODDRIDGE

NASSAU

TAYLOR

CLINTON

FLAGLER

SEMINOLE

PAYNE

PIKE

JASPER

DALE

HOWARD

ELLIS

ORLEANS

WARREN

KOSCIUSKO

PERRY

TORRANCE

LINCOLN

MARION

COCONINO

GRAVES

PULASKI

GILA

WOODFORD

SANTA BARBARA

LIBERTY

PUTNAM

MANASSAS
PARK*

ELMORE

GREENE

COLQUITT

JEFFERSON

SAN PATRICIO

SUFFOLK*

OKTIBBEHA

COOSA

LABETTE

HENRY

TEHAMA

ELBERT

BARTHOLOMEW

ERATH

CARLTON

W
ASHINGTON

HURON

ECTOR

LINCOLN

SPENCER

HOCKING

SANDUSKY

CRAVEN

MIDDLESEX

EDMUNDS

TAYLOR

WASHTENAW

KOOTENAI

GRANT

WEBSTER

RADFORD*

ROOSEVELT

FORREST

DOUGHERTY

BROWN

McPHERSON

SAGINAW

WEAKLEY

POLK

DELAWARE

MOORE

ADAMS

DEAF SMITH

TOOMBS

SENECA

GUERNSEY

LITTLE RIVER

LENAWEE

WASHINGTON

LAWRENCE

HENRY

ARCHER

SEWARD

NOBLES

McLENNAN

WAPELLO

BENTON

RENO

BOND

JOHNSON

CROSBY

INGHAM

HARNETT

TURNER

WILLIAMSON

GRAFTON

GARFIELD

MADISON

HEARD

LORAIN

COFFEE

CARSON

WYANDOTTE

WAYNE

CRAWFORD

ISANTI

OKMULGEE

BUFFALO

WABASH

BOONE

SHAWANO

KERR

POQUOSON*

LYNCHBURG*

DeKALB

PONTOTOC

WORTH

OSCEOLA

HOWARD

MIAMI GATES

GRUNDY

WALTON

PERSON

LOGAN

ROCKLAND

RAPPA-
HANNOCK

ALLEGANY

POINSETT

BENTON

GUILFORD

CLINTON

SUMMIT

McDONOUGH

MORGAN

DADE

LOS ANGELES

JEFFERSON

STEPHENS

FINNEY

MARSHALL

BUTLER

WEBSTER

CHIPPEWA

FRESNO

MERCER

PEORIA

ALEX-
ANDRIA*

JACKSON

BEADLE

MADISON

PORTAGE

ANDERSON

UINTA

KEMPER

MARSHALL

CARROLL

HENDRY

GRAND
ISLE

WHATCOM

MERCER

BERKELEY

LOGAN

TOLLAND

SUSSEX

ADAMS

OHIO

KNOX

TRIGG

MEADE

TULARE

NORFOLK

WORCESTER

WAYNE
MIDDLES

EX

WESTCHESTER

CAYUGA

RENSSELAER

CRAWFORD

LOWNDES

GARLAND

PITKIN

ROUTT

W
HI

TF
IEL

D

WAYNE

BRACKEN

JEFFERSON

CAMERON

ORLEANS

ALPENA

CHIPPEWA

MORGAN

JASPER

PULASKI

ANOKA

LEE

ADAIR

DODGE

WILKES

COFFEE

DENTON

BENZIE

FLOYD

COMAL

BALDWIN

MORGAN

BELL

SALT LAKE

SAUK

LANCASTER

GASTON

RANDOLPH

ST. CLAIR

SCOTT

SULLIVAN

GRAND FORKS
CLATSOP

PICKENS

BLOUNT

JEFFERSON

ISLE OF
WIGHT

SALINE

KERN

PUEBLO

BARROW

COBB

UPSON

HANCOCK

DuPAGE

TAZEWELL

HANCOCK

PIKE

BOONE

KENNEBEC

CARVER

LINCOLN

SCHOHARIE

CALDWELL

CANADIAN

WOODWARD

CROOK

POSEY

JONES

LEFLORE

BOONE

BOSSIER

CHISAGO

WASHINGTON

SALEM*

McHENRY

PHILLIPS

VENTURA

IMPERIAL

LITCHFIELD

HILLSBOROUGH

CHATTA-
HOOCHEE

SULLIVAN

SCOTT

LEAVENW
ORTH

ISLAND

MORRIS

ONTARIO

FORSYTH

CHATHAM

ETOWAH

DALLAS

GRAHAM

KNOX

CLEAR
CREEK

BUTTS

FULTON

COWETA

OCONEE

WEST
BATON

ROUGE

GUTHRIE

BOURBON

RAPIDES

SALINE

PIERCE

SUFFOLK

NIAGARA

KLEBERG

CRAIG

LIVINGSTON

DORCHESTER

ROANE

HOWARD

BRAZOS

OLDHAM

CAMPBELL

HARDIN

TALBOT

NODAWAY

CASS

PRINCE
GEORGE

IOWA

SHERBURNE

WALKER

YORK

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

COCHISE

MILLER

ORANGE

OWYHEE

MARICOPA

KANKAKEE

STOREY

DU
RH

AM

STARK

MONTOUR

VENANGO

LYON

GLOUCESTER

ORANGE

GEORGETOWN

ANDERSON

YANKTON

CHAMBERS

CLAY

UINTAH

ORANGE

SNOHOMISH

BROWN

WOOD

YAVAPAI

JEFFERSON

FREMONT

CAMAS

BINGHAM

BULLITT

HOWARD

RA
MSE

Y

BROWN

TATE

CASCADE

YELLOWSTONE

MERRICK

BEDFORD

OTERO

LOGAN

ONONDAGA

MARLBORO

BRONX

BREVARD

CHAMPAIGN

CLARK

JEFFERSON

DAKOTA

GRANVILL
E

ALLEGHENY

LINCOLN

CLARK

LAURENS

DUNKLIN

SURRY

DAUPHIN

IREDELL

ARMSTRONG

ATLANTIC

ST. MARY

CHESTERFIELD

AIKEN

SUFFOLK

BERKS

CALLOWAY

LEXINGTON

PERRYERIE

KENOSHA

NEW
CASTLE

CHARLOTTE

HARTFORD

PENNINGTON

ARANSAS

BEAUFORT

ST. CROIX

SHEBOYGAN

DELTA

SCOTT

BUNCOMBE

ELKHART

YADKIN

WICOMICO

AN
DR

OS
CO

GG
IN

CRAWFORD

COOKE

WISE

JASPER

CHARLESTON

AUSTIN

TETON

RICHLAND

NEWBERRY

SCHUYLKILL

YUBA

JOHNSON

CASSIA

EDDY

DICKINSON

HOPKINS

RUTHERFORD

DICKSON

CAMBRIA

CLAY

BEE

SHERIDAN

ROCKINGHAM

SUMTER

SALUDA

NEWPORT

LAWRENCE

SOMERSET

GALVESTON

FAULKNER

DeKALB

GRATIOT

HOUGHTON

CENTRE

HAWKINS
SULLIVAN

DARLINGTON

DELAWARE

BRISTOL

WASHINGTON

FRANKLIN

HAMPDEN

HENDERSON

SEBASTIAN

CUSTER

TIPTON

SUMNER

CLINTON

KNOX

RUTLAND
HANCOCK

SKAMANIA

LAMAR

JEROME

NEW LONDON

LIVINGSTON

TROUP

VIGO

BRANTLEY

MANATEE

SAN JOAQUIN

McCRACKEN

FILLMORE

KENT

HILLSBOROUGH

CO
LU

MBIA

CACHE

LE SUEUR

YAKIMA

WALLAWALLA

WHITMAN

RICHLAND

NELSON

DALLAS

STAFFORD

CHILTON

WOOD

EAGLE

HIGHLANDS

NEW
HAVEN

DAVIS

CUMBERLAND

KEWEENAW

UTAH

LARAMIE

ALBEMARLE

GALLATIN

MONTGOMERY

WINDSOR

FR
AN

KL
IN

CLINTON

FLOYD

BALDWIN

AMELIA

MARION

NEWTON

CLARK

OZ
AU

KE
E

ROBERTSON

MARION

CROCKETT

GORDON

FRANKLIN

CHAVES

LEELANAU

MISSAUKEE

SPOTSYLVANIA

MERRIMACK

DYER

HOKE

STANISLAUS

FREMONT

JACKSON

ALACHUA

MADISON

HUNTINGDON

OWEN

WOODBURY

FRANKLIN

DAVIESS

WASHINGTON

OTTAWA

SUMNER

SCOT-
LANDLOUDON

HUGHES

CHESTER

GREENUP

MACON

MINIDOKA

LAKE

LACKA-
WANNA

SHELBY

LANCASTER

LAWRENCE

LEHIGH

LACLEDE

CHEROKEE

PIERCE

CONTRA COSTA

EFFINGHAM

OVERTON

POLK

ROWAN

WILL

CLINTON

LUZERNE

LAFAYETTE

WARREN

OSAGE

GEM

PAYETTE

DARE

BELL

DAVIDSON

BLUE EARTH

POTTAWATOMIE

McHENRY

WHITLEY

WASHINGTON

MONTGOMERY

SO
M

ER
SE

T

ULSTER

DAVIE

YORK

BOYD

BUTLER

OTTAWA

PAMLICO

TEXAS

PRINCE
WILLIAM

MANASSAS*

NORTHAMP-
TON

CAMDEN

HARDIN

JEFFER-
SON

ELMORE

MERCED

PIERCE

CHESTER

MARTIN

TARRANT

BURLINGTON

CUMBERLAND

BEAUFORT

CAMDEN

NEW
HANOVER

LUCAS

STEUBEN

RUTHERFORD

LAKE

LINCOLN

SPARTANBURG

BUTTE

CLAYTON

LONG

JACKSON

DAVIESS

HAMILTON

FLUVANNA

OSAGE

BRYAN

YORK

MATAGORDA

LAFAYETTE

LYON

CHEROKEE

THURSTON

KANAWHA

NATRONA

SAUNDERS

PROVIDENCE

ZAPATA

IRON

MOORE

OKLAHOMA

CLACKAMAS

SNYDER

UNION

STANLEY

SIOUX

DOÑA ANA

JOHNSON

HALL

CRAWFORD

DENVER

TERRELL

CUMBERLAND

DALLAS

WIN-
CHESTER*

BEDFORD

GOLIAD

QUEENS

UNION

ORANGE

NEWTON

WORTH

BUREAU

JASPER

PICKENS

CHEROKEE

DECATUR

FAYETTE

JOHNSON

GEARY

ROGERS

PULASKI

MADISON

WILSON

CHARLES

HAMILTON

GRANT

HENRY

METCALFE

BELTRAMI

LAFAYETTE

COLE

JESSAMINE

FR
ANKLIN

RAY

CHURCHILL

LEE

PORTAGE

RICHMOND

DUVAL

OLIVER

ORANGEBURG

MORTON

NORTH-

UMBERLAND

WESTMORELAND

MAURY
WARREN

JEFFERSON

LIBERTY

TWIN FALLS

ST. CLAIR

ALEXANDER

PIKE

DE SOTO

McKINLEY

CHEATHAM

NAVARRO

HOPKINS

HUTCHINSON

UVALDE

WARR
EN

HALL

CHEMUNG

DeKALB

SANTA CLARA

MONTGOMERY

NEW KENT

CULPEPER

STANTON

CASS

BULLOCH

SMITH

MOBILE

PLAQUEMINES

WASHINGTON

CHARLESCITY

COLUMBIA

GREENE

LAMPASAS

COMANCHE

CABELL

HOCKLEY

LASSEN

McINTOSH

JACKSON

CLAY

HUMBOLDT

RIO ARRIBA

GRANT

COLUMBIA

JEFFERSON

GUADALUPE

POTTER

ANDERSON

RICHMOND*

FRANKLIN

CRITTENDEN

LEE

BRYAN

LAKE

HAMILTON

BUTLER

JACKSON

ADAMS

GREENVILLE

LINCOLN

WARREN

JEFFERSON

CANYON

PINAL

MONROE

ANNE
ARUNDEL

ANDREW

EDGEFIELD

WASHINGTON

WISE

CAMPBELL

TUSCALOOSA

NACOGDOCHES

BENTON

SANTACRUZ

WINNEBAGO

ALLEN

BOONE

IBERIA

PIMA

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

WASHOE

UNION

PASSAIC

MONROE

DOUGLAS

ADA

BUTTE

FAYETTE

HUMBOLDT

CHATTOOGA

JERSEY

SAGADAHOC

ST.
MARY'S

PLYMOUTH

ST.
MARTIN

JEFFERSON

GALLIA

BUCKS

BARREN

LAUREL

SCOTT

HINDS

WEBSTER

ATCHISON
MASON

ST. BERNARD

CALCASIEU

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

CAMPBELL

WILLACY

JUAB

ORANGE

LINCOLN

JOHNSTON

WAGONER

HARRISON

ITAWAMBA

NYE

CLALLAM

ASOTIN

ROCK

MADISON

MOORETULSA

BURLESON

TIOGA

CALHOUN

CLARKE

SCOTT

SCHENECTADY

ROCKINGHAM

MARION

SEQUOYAH

COLUMBIA

TANEY

CALLAWAY

CANNON

GRAY

GRANT

LATAH

DAVIDSON

TAZEWELL

TUNICA

BRAZORIA

BRISTOL*

FLORENCE

CLAY

SANDOVAL

PALO PINTO

WARREN

GREENE

WALTON

CALHOUN

CLARK

RO
CK

-
DA

LE

SANGAMON

GRENADA

BERNALILLO

JACKSON

JOHNSON

MONT-
GOMERY

CARROLL

STEPHENSON

LIVINGSTON

HOUSTON

DICKINSON

MERCER

MARION

KEARNEY

DEFIANCE

SILVER BOW

BURKE

BATH

MORROW

HAYWOOD

ALBANY

BENTON

BERRIEN

HENRY

KANDIYOHI

PITTSBURG

FULTON

BRADLEY

GILES

ROANOKE*

MONROE

LAMAR

PENDLETON

MIFFLIN

WILKIN

MAHONING

GRAINGER

BOONE

DORCHESTER

UNION

BUCHANAN

MAVERICK

LIVINGSTON

ST.
LOUIS*

ONSLOW

HENRY

HANCOCK

KALKASKA

COWLITZ

LAWRENCE

LIMESTONE

BAXTER

BLOUNT

LAURENS

CATTARAUGUS

MEADE

DUKES

CODINGTON

YELL

DAVISON

WILSON

HENDERSON

WAUKESHA

CITRUS

SARPY

JASPER

SIMPSON

DIXON

IBERVILLE

ONEIDA

MISSISSIPPI

RICHMOND

GADSDEN LEONOKALOOSA

PUTNAM

EFFINGHAM

OBION

WASHINGTON

ST.
CLAIR

VAL VERDE

PERRY

KITTITAS

SANTA ROSA

HARRIS

CARBON

REEVES

LAKE

CHAMBERS

WINDHAM

MARQUETTE

PASQUOTANK

DANVILLE*

POLK

SH
EL

BY

WARREN

BLAIR

KITSAP

WAKULLA

WARE
GREGG

RANDALL

BROWARD

VERMILION

BEAUREGARD

MONROE

WALLER

WASHINGTON

CAMPBELL

CLARKE

DeSOTO

LAWRENCE

LINCOLN

BANNER

OCONEE

HORRY

WAYNE

W
OODFORD

GREENE

BELMONT

ATHENS

WASHINGTON

OHIO

SALEM

CARTERET

LANCASTER

EDMONSON

HERKIMER

MONROE

MADISON

TITUS

PENOBSCOT

LOS ALAMOS

MUSKOGEE

FORT BEND

FREDERICKS-
BURG*

POTTAWATOMIE

JACKSON

SENECA

GREENWOOD

PIKE

GAGE

MIAMI-DADE

UNION

DES
MOINES

FREDERICK

KINGS

M
AR

SH
AL

L

HALE

LOGAN

BLAINE

SANTA CRUZ

SARASOTA

BONNER

ST. JOHN THE

BAPTIST

PAWNEE

ALBANY

ST. TAMMANY

MECKLENBURG

FAYETTE

MINERAL

WALKER

WELD

JEFFERSON

PRINCE
GEORGE'S

SONOMA

WINONA

POPE

MARION

EAST
FELICIANA

FRANKLIN

PLATTE

EL PASO

COLUMBIA

CRISP

DUTCHESS

SEVIER

HARRISON

HIDALGO

SOLANO

WABASHA

BATES

SUMTER

MILLS

ANDER
SO

N

McCLAIN

KAUFMAN

BOLLINGER

LA
CROSSE

OSWEGO

YOLO

BOX ELDER

JONES

CARBON

BARTOW

MONTROSE

WARREN

SHELBY

NAVAJO

DISTRICT OF

COLUMBIA

HARRISON

NEWPORT
NEWS*

FAIRFIELD

ST. LAWRENCE

CALHOUN

WHITESIDE

SUMMIT

COLLIER

GLYNN

SUMTER

PEARL RIVER

ST.
JAMES

NORFOLK*

MOREHOUSE

PORTSMOUTH*

JACKSON

TOOELE

BASTROP

WASATCH

TRAVIS

LINCOLN

AUGLAIZE

TERREBONNE

UNION

MISSOULA

GILPIN

ST.
FRANCOIS

WICHITA

MASON

VICTORIA

CLERMONT

WEBB

FAYETTE

MER
IW

ETH
ER

MONROE

CLARK

POWHATAN

AUTAUGA

CAMERON

BOONE

LOGAN

STEVENS

MUSCOGEE

OGLETHORPE

CUYAHOGA

VIRGINIA
BEACH*

MACOMB

WHITLEY

EL PASO

BROOKS

BENNINGTON

DOUGLAS

PO
TT

AW
AT

TA
M

IE

FORSYTH

MALHEUR

CALVERT

LEE

ELLIS

LAFOURCHE

KENEDY

BOTETOURT

WASHINGTON

WAYNESBORO*

GREEN

LEE

DONIPHAN

LUBBOCK

KANE

EAU CLAIRE

ALLEN

LEA

NAPA

WARREN

WILLIAMSON

LANIER

FULTON

TWIGGS

HAMPSHIRE

VERMILION

MUSCATINE

DOUGLAS

SHAWNEE

ELKO

ST.
HELENA

TANGIPAHOA

LARIMER

NORTHAMPTON

ESSEX

BROWN

KENT

CALHOUN

VANDERBURGH

HENDERSON

RIVERSIDE

FLORENCE

MULTNOMAH

HALIFAX

CLAY

NASH

ALLEN

WHITE

ASHLAND

ROANOKE

UNION

KERSHAW

OTTAWA

MONT-
GOMERY

POLK

McDUFFIE

CROW
WING

NATCHITOCHES

MORGAN

COAHOMA

PHILADELPHIA

WARD

CAMDEN

JEFFERSON

CURRY

CAPE
MAY

RILEY

COLUMBIANA

OCONTO

WOOD

HU
DS

ON

NEW
YORK

MARTIN

PALM BEACH

OSAGE

MARION

MORROW

OKEECHOBEE

WRIGHT

CHESHIRE

LEWIS AND CLARK

MENDOCINO

DARKE

DINWIDDIE

MOFFAT

FRANKLIN

ORANGE

LEWIS

BEAVER

CHAUTAUQUA

CHATHAM

TETON

MORGAN

PUTNAM

RALEIGH

SUSSEX

BIBB

LEWIS

COLUMBIA

ST. LOUIS

SACRAMENTO

OUACHITA

BAY

SCOTT

JEFFERSON

FAIRFIELD

HUNTING-
TON

LARUE

WILLIAMS

HUNTERDON

NEZ
PERCE

BURKE

KENTON

HOUSTON

MEDINA

GWINNETT

M
ILW

AUKEE

BOLIVAR

WAS
HIN

GT
ON

GRANT

UMATILLA

CARBON

BERKSHIRE

PLATTE

ST.
JOHNS

LOWNDES

BRUNSWICK

ASCENSION

KING

LAKE

JIM
WELLS

WIRT

LEE

SUTTER

MADERA

BAKER

SEWARD

CULLMAN

PASCO

SCIOTO

TRUMBULL

WHARTON

CLARK

RANKIN

FREMONT

NELSON

HANCOCK

STRAFFORD

HOODRIVER

DAWSON

McMINN

GOOCHLAND

MONITEAU

WAYNE
PITT

LaPORTE

MADISON

CLINTON

SANMATEO

SAN FRANCISCO

LO
W

ND
ES

BROOKINGS

DELNORTE

HUDSPETH

SEQUATCHIE

SMITH

MECOSTA

MONTCALM

HENNEPIN

GRANT

BEXAR

DOUGLAS

GRADY

CLEVELAND

KAY

MARSHALL

ESSEX

CARTER

HAMBLEN

CHESTER

ADAMS

MORGAN BALTIMORE

PONTOTOC

RANDOLPH

AUGUSTA

SWEETWATER

BUTLER

BANNOCK

HE
ND

ER
SO

N HAMPSHIRE

FAYETTE

COLUMBIA

THOMAS

DESCHUTES MIDDLESEX

GALLATIN
SUMMIT

STAUNTON*

SHELBY

WABAUNSEE

WEBER

JEFFERSON

EAST
BATON
ROUGE

JACKSON

ADAMS

DUBUQUE

LYCOMING

BAY

ACADIA

WATAUGA

CUMBERLAND

BROWN

YORK

CONCORDIA

TRAN-
SYLVANIA

TALLADEGA

SAN DIEGO

MANITOWOC

BOULDER

HOUSTON

LAMAR

SAN MIGUEL

RHEA

CALHOUN

CHEROKEE

McCOOK

HENRICO

APPOMATTOX

JAMES
CITY

TOMPKINS

COTTON

NOLAN

POINTE
COUPEE

BERGEN

BALLARD

SOMERSET

BENTON

WASHINGTON

McLEAN

M
UR

RA
Y

UNICOI

FAIRFAX

PARK

OTSEGO

SARATOGA

ST. LANDRY

INDEPENDENCE

COLES

INDIANA

MARIN

WORCESTER

CLARK

VERNON

CIBOLA

VAN WERT

WILBARGER

FRANKLIN

LANE

FREDERICK

YAZOO

LINCOLN

OCEAN

PRESTON

OUACHITA

MADISON

FALLS
CHURCH*

BROOMFIELD

EDGECOMBE

JACKSON

HABER-
SHAM

PI
NE

LL
AS

McDOWELL

KING WILLIAM

CECIL

CRAIGHEAD

BRISTOL

PITTSYLVANIA

JEFFERSON

UNION

WAYNE

COPIAH

PENDER

PARKER

AMHERST

CATAWBA

FAUQUIER

WASHINGTON

DECATUR

JEFFERSON

JACKSON

NASSAU

ST. CHARLES

HARRISON

CLAY

GRAND
TRAVERSE

CLINTON

JEFFERSON

LONOKE

JENNINGS

HENRY

BONNEVILLE

UNION

GENEVA

WARRICK

ALAMEDA

MASON

DOUGLAS

CURRI-
TUCK

COCKE

NICOLLET

STEARNS

CUMBERLAND

JASPER

WASHINGTON

ROBERTSON

MASON

MESA

HARRISON

LENOIR

GRAYS HARBOR

SKAGIT

ECHOLS

ALEXANDER

MADISON

RUSSELL

ANGELINA

MENIFEE

HANCOCK

PER-
QUIMANS

DOUGLAS

CLEVELAND

MERCER

GRAYSON

ST.
CHARLES

EUREKA

CHITTENDEN

VALENCIA

CLEARFIELD

CASS

DAKOTA

COOK

ROCK ISLAND

BENTON

BURLEIGH

BERKELEY

AUDRAIN

MONTGOMERY

GLOUCESTER

HANOVER

RUSK

STARR

HARFORD

BOYLE

M
AR

SH
AL

L

LICKING

SUSSEX

RICHMOND

LOUDOUN

LA PLATA

PEACH

STEPHENS

QUEEN
ANNE'S

SHELBY

ROCKINGHAM

TAOS

ROBESON

COLBERT

CARROLL

MONTGOMERY

LINN

STANLY

YUMA

WEST
FELICIANA

COOS

PIERCE

MONMOUTH

ERIE

DOUGLAS

SAN JUAN

GOODHUE

KLAMATH

JACKSON

BIBB

VOLUSIA

WASH-
INGTON

DOUGLAS

YATES

YAMHILL

TROUSDALE

BARNSTABLE

LINCOLN

PULASKI

HARRIS

DeKALB

BARBOUR

QUIT-
MAN

ESCAMBIA

LINCOLN

MARTIN

MUHLENBERG

HEMPSTEAD

NEVADA

JEFFERSON
DAVIS

TALLAPOOSA

FANNIN

HAYWOOD

CARROLL

MARION

CLAY

ITASCA

ELK

GREENE

WASHINGTON

SHARP

FRANKLIN

OURAY

LEVY

STEWART

TREUTLEN

ATKINSON

TALBOT

POWER

JOHNSON

WARREN

PARKE

FRANKLIN

CHASE
GREEN

EST
ILL

CLAY

CARTER

ASSUMPTION

LAKE

PRENTISS

WEBSTER

HOLMES

COVINGTON

STONE

HOWARD

COOPER

RIPLEY

STILLWATER

MORA

SWAIN ANSON

BILLINGS

ELLIS

LOVE

CLARENDON

JERAULD

HAMLIN

GIBSON

STEWART

ROBERTS

LOVING
STERLING

CAMP

FRIO

DUVAL

BLAND

MADISON

KING AND QUEEN

SOUTHAMPTON
FRANKLIN*

JACKSON

MORGAN

CROOK

WESTON

Aberdeen

Aberdeen

Ada

Adrian

Alamogordo

Albe-
marle

Albert Lea

Albertville

Alexandria

Alice

Alma

Alpena

Altus

Americus

Amsterdam

Andrews

Angola

Arcadia

Ardmore
Arkadelphia

Winfield

Ash-
land

Ashtabula

Astoria

Atchison

Athens

Athens

Athens

Auburn

Auburn

Augusta-

Waterville

Austin

Bainbridge

Baraboo

Bardstown

Barre

Bartlesville

Batavia

Batesville

Bay City

Beatrice

Beaver
Dam

Bedford

Beeville

Bellefon-
taine

Bemidji

Bennettsville

Bennington

Berlin

Big
Rapids

Big Spring

Big Stone
Gap

Blackfoot

Bluefield

Blytheville

Bogalusa

Boone

Borger

Bozeman

Bradford

Brainerd

Branson

Breckenridge

Brenham

Brevard

Brookhaven

Brookings Brookings

Brownwood

Bucyrus-
Galion

Burley

Burlington

Butte-
Silver Bow

Cadillac

Calhoun

Cambridge

Cambridge

Camden

Campbellsv
ille

Cañon City

Carlsbad-Artesia

Cedar City

Cedartown

Celina

Centralia

Centralia

Charleston-
Mattoon

Chillicothe

Lebanon

Clarksburg

Clarksdale

Clearlake

Cleveland

Clewiston

Clinton

Clovis

Coffeyville

Coldwater

Colum-
bus

Columbus

Concord

Con-
ners-

ville

Cookeville

Coos Bay

Cordele

Corinth

Cornelia

Corning

Corsicana

Cortland

Coshocton

Craig
Craw-
fords-

ville

CrescentCity

Crossville

Cullman

Cullowhee

Danville
Danville

Da
yto

n

De-
catur

Defiance

Del Rio

Deming

DeRidder

Dickinson

Dixon

Dodge City

Douglas

Dublin

DuBois

Dumas

Duncan

Durango

Durant

Dyersburg

Eagle Pass

Easton

Edwards

Effingham

El Campo

El Dorado

Elizabeth City

Elk City

Elkins

Elko

Ellensburg

Emporia

ENID

Enterprise

Escanaba

Española

Eureka-Arcata

Evanston

Fairfield

Fairmont
Fallon

Faribault-
Northfield

Farmington

Fergus Falls

Fernley

Findlay

Fitzgerald

Forest
City

Forrest City

Fort
Dodge

Fort
Leonard

Wood

Fort
Madison-

Keokuk

Fort Morgan

Fort Polk
South

Frankfort

Frank-
fort

Fredericksburg

Freeport

Fremont

Fremont

Gaffney

Gainesville

Gales-
burg

Gallup

Garden City

GardnervilleRanchos

Georgetown

Gillette

Glasgow

Glenwood Springs

Gloversville

Grants

Great
Bend

Greeneville

Greens-
burg

Greenville

Green-
ville

Greenwood

Green-
wood

Grenada

Guymon

Hailey

Hannibal

Harrison

Hastings

Hays

Heber

Helena

Helena-
West

Helena

Henderson

Hereford

Hermiston-Pendleton

Hillsdale

Hobbs

Holland

HoodRiver

Houghton

Hudson

Huntingdon

Hunt-
ing-
ton

Huntsville

Huron

Hutchinson

Hutchinson

Indiana

Indianola

Iron
Mountain

Jackson

Jackson

Jacksonville

Jackson-
ville

Jamestown

Jamestown-

Dunkirk-
Fredonia

Jasper

Jefferson

Jesup

Kalispell

Kearney

Keene

Kendall-
ville

Kennett

Kerrville

Key
West

Kill
Devil

Hills

Kingsville

Kinston

Kirksville

Klamath Falls

LaconiaLa Grande

LaGrange

Lake
City

Lamesa

Laramie

Las Vegas

Laurel

Laurin-
burg

Lawrenceburg

Lebanon

Levelland

Lewisburg

Lewis-
burg

Le
wist

ow
n

Lexington

Liberal

Lincoln

Lock
Haven

Logans-
port

London

Los Alamos

Luding-
ton

Lufkin

Lumberton

Macomb

Madison

Madison-
ville

Magnolia

Malone

Malvern

Manitowoc

Marietta

Marinette

Marion

Marion

Marion

Marquette

Marshall

Marshall

Marshall-
town

Martin

Martinsville

Maryville

Mason
City

May-
field

Maysville

McAlester

McComb

McMinn-
ville

McPherson

Meadville

Menomonie

Meridian

Mexico

Miami

Middles-
borough

Milledge-
ville

Mineral
Wells

Minot

Mitchell

Moberly

Montrose

Morehead City

Morgan
City

Moscow

Moses Lake

Moultrie

Mountain
Home

Mountain
Home

Mount
Airy

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Sterling

Mount
Vernon

Mount
Vernon

Murray

Muscatine

Muskogee

Nacogdoches

Natchez
Natchitoches

Newberry

New
Castle

New
Castle

New
Philadelphia-

Dover

Newport

Newport

New Ulm

Nogales

Norfolk

North Platte

North
Vernon

North
Wilkesboro

Norwalk

OakHarbor

Ogdensburg-

Massena

Oil City

Okeechobee

Olean

Oneonta

Ontario

Opelousas

Orangeburg

Oskaloosa

Othello

Ottawa

Ottawa

Ottumwa

Owa-
tonna

Oxford

Ozark

Paducah

Pahrump

Palatka

Palestine

Pampa

Paragould

Paris

Paris

Parsons

Payson

Pecos

Peru

Picayune

Pierre

Pinehurst-
Southern

Pines

Pittsburg

Plainview

Platteville

Plattsburgh

Plymouth

Ponca City

Pontiac

Poplar Bluff

Portales

Port Angeles

Port
Lavaca

Portsmouth

Pottsville

Price

Prineville

Pullman

Quincy

Raymondville

Red Bluff

Red WingRexburg

Rich-
mond

Richmond-
Berea

Rio Grande
City-Roma

Riverton

Roanoke
Rapids

Rochelle

Rocking-
ham

Rock Springs

Rolla

Roseburg

Roswell

Russellville

Ruston

Rutland

Safford

St. Marys

Salem

Salina

Sandpoint

Sandusky

Sanford

Sault Ste. Marie

Sayre

Scottsbluff

Scottsboro
Searcy

Sedalia

Selinsgrove

Selma

Seneca

Seneca
Falls

Sevierville

Seymour

Shawano

Shawnee

Shelby

Shelbyville

Shelton

Sheridan

Show Low

Sidney

Sikeston

Silver City

Snyder

Somerset

Somerset

Sonora

Spearfish

Spencer

Spirit
Lake

Starkville

Statesboro

Steamboat
Springs

Stephenville

Sterling

Sterling

Stevens
Point

Stillwater

Storm
Lake Sturgis

Sulphur
Springs

Summer-
ville

Sunbury

Susanville

Sweetwater

Tahlequah

Talladega-
Sylacauga

Taos

Taylorville

The Dalles

Thomaston

Thomas-
ville

Tiffin

Tifton

Toccoa

Torrington

Traverse City

Troy

Truckee-Grass Valley

Tullahoma-
Manchester

Tupelo

TWIN FALLS

Ukiah

Union
City

Urbana

Uvalde

Van Wert

Vermillion

Vernal

Vernon

Vicksburg

ABILENE

AKRON

ALBANY

ALBANY-LEBANON

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY-

TROY

ALBUQUERQUE

ALEXANDRIA

ALLENTOWN-

BETHLEHEM-

EASTON

ALTOONA

AMARILLO

AMES

ANN
ARBOR

ANNISTON-
OXFORD

APPLETON

ASHEVILLE

ATHENS-
CLARKE
COUNTY

ATLANTA-SANDY SPRINGS-ALPHARETTA

ATLANTIC CITY-HAMMONTON

AUBURN-
OPELIKA

AUGUSTA-

RICHMOND
COUNTY

AUSTIN-
ROUND ROCK-
GEORGETOWN

BAKERSFIELD

BALTIMORE-COLUMBIA-

TOWSON

BANGOR

BARNSTABLE TOWN

BATON ROUGE

BATTLE
CREEK

BAY
CITY

BEAUMONT-
PORT

ARTHUR

BECKLEY

BELLINGHAM

BEND
BILLINGS

BINGHAMTON

BIRMINGHAM-
HOOVER

BISMARCK

BLACKSBURG-

CHRISTIANSBURG

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMSBURG-

BERWICK

BOISE
CITY

BOULDER

BOWLING
GREEN

BREMERTON-SILVERDALE-PORT ORCHARD

BRIDGEPORT-

STAMFORD-

NORWALK

BROWNSVILLE-HARLINGEN

BRUNSWICK

BUFFALO-

CHEEKTOWAGA

BUR-
LING-

TON

BURLINGTON-

SOUTH
BURLINGTON

CALIFORNIA-

LEXINGTON
PARK

CANTON-
MASSILLON

CAPE CORAL-FORT MYERS

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

CARBONDALE-
MARION

CARSONCITY

CASPER

CEDAR RAPIDS

CH
AM

BE
RS

BU
RG

-
W

AY
NE

SB
OR

O

CHAMPAIGN-
URBANA

CHARLESTON

CHARLESTON-

NORTH CHARLESTON

CHARLOTTE-

CONCORD-

GASTONIA

CHARLOTTESVILLE

CHATTANOOGA

CHEYENNE

CHICAGO-
NAPERVILLE-

ELGIN

CHICO

CINCINNATI

CLARKSVILLE

CLEVELAND

CLEVELAND-

ELYRIA

COEUR
D'ALENE

COLLEGE
STATION-

BRYAN

COLORADO SPRINGS
COLUMBIA

COLUMBIA

COLUMBUS

COLUM-
BUS

COLUMBUS

CORPUS
CHRISTI

CORVALLIS

CRESTVIEW-

FORT WALTON BEACH-

DESTIN

DALLAS-FORT WORTH-ARLINGTON

DALTON

DAN-
VILLE

DAPHNE-
FAIRHOPE-

FOLEY

DAVENPORT-MOLINE-

ROCK ISLAND

DAYTON-
KETTERING

DECATUR

DECATUR

DELTONA-
DAYTONA

BEACH-

ORMOND BEACH

DENVER-AURORA-LAKEWOOD

DES MOINES-
WEST DES MOINES

DETROIT-WARREN-

DEARBORN

DOTHAN

DOVER

DUBUQUE

DULUTH

DURHAM-

CHAPEL
HILL

EAST
STROUDSBURG

EAU CLAIRE

EL CENTRO

ELIZABETHTOWN-
FORT KNOX

ELKHART-
GOSHEN

ELMIRA

EL PASO

ERIE

EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD

EVANSVILLE

FARGO

FARMINGTON FAYETTEVILLE

FAYETTEVILLE-
SPRINGDALE-ROGERS

FLAGSTAFF

FLINT

FLORENCE

FLORENCE-
MUSCLE
SHOALS

FOND DU LAC

FORT COLLINS

FORT
SMITH

FORT WAYNE

FRESNO

GADSDEN

GAINESVILLE

GAINESVILLE

GETTYSBURG

GLENS FALLS

GOLDS-
BORO

GRAND
FORKS

GRAND ISLAND

GRAND JUNCTION

GRAND RAPIDS-

KENTWOOD

GRANTS PASS

GREAT FALLS

GREELEY

GREEN BAY

GREENSBORO-

HIGH POINT
GREEN-

VILLE

GREENVILLE-

ANDERSON

GULFPORT-BILOXI

HAGERSTOWN-

MARTINSBURG

HAM-
MOND

HANFORD-CORCORAN

HARRISBURG-

CARLISLE

HARRISONBURG

HARTFORD-

EAST HARTFORD-

MIDDLETOWN

HATTIESBURG

HICKORY-
LENOIR-

MORGANTON

HINESVILLE

HOMOSASSA
SPRINGS

HOT
SPRINGS

HOUMA-THIBODAUXHOUSTON-THE WOODLANDS-SUGAR LAND

HUNTINGTON-

ASHLAND

HUNTSVILLE

IDAHO FALLS

INDIANAPOLIS-
CARMEL-

ANDERSON

IOWA
CITY

ITHACA

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSONVILLE

JACKSON-
VILLE

JANESVILLE-
BELOIT

JEFFERSON CITY

JOHNSON
CITY

JOHNS-
TOWN

JONESBORO

JOPLIN

KALAMAZOO-
PORTAGE

KANKAKEE

KANSAS CITY

KENNEWICK-RICHLAND

KILLEEN-TEMPLE

KINGSPORT-
BRISTOL

KINGSTON

KNOXVILLE

KOKOMO

LA CROSSE-
ONALASKA

LAFAYETTE

LAFAYETTE-WEST LAFAYETTE

LAKE CHARLES

LAKE HAVASU CITY-KINGMAN

LAKELAND-

WINTER HAVEN

LANCASTER

LANSING-
EAST

LANSING

LAREDO

LAS CRUCES

LAS VEGAS-HENDERSON-PARADISE

LAWRENCE

LAWTON

LEBANON

LEWISTON
LEWISTON-

AUBURN

LEXINGTON-
FAYETTE

LIMA

LINCOLN

LITTLE ROCK-
NORTH LITTLE ROCK-

CONWAY

LOGAN

LONGVIEW

LONGVIEW

LOS ANGELES-LONG BEACH-ANAHEIM

LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON

COUNTY

LUBBOCK

LYNCHBURG

MADERA

MADISON

MANCHESTER-

NASHUA

MANHATTAN

MANKATO

MANS-
FIELD

McALLEN-
EDINBURG-

MISSION

MEDFORD

MEMPHIS

MERCED

MICHIGAN CITY-
LA PORTE

MIDLAND

MIDLAND

MILWAUKEE-
WAUKESHA

MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL-
BLOOMINGTON

MISSOULA

MOBILE

MODESTO

MONROE

MONROE

MONTGOMERY

MORGANTOWN

MORRIS-
TOWN

MOUNT VERNON-ANACORTES

MUNCIE

MUSKEGON

MYRTLE BEACH-CONWAY-NORTH MYRTLE BEACH

NAPA

NAPLES-

MARCO ISLAND

NASHVILLE-DAVIDSON--

MURFREESBORO--FRANKLIN

NEW BERN

NEW
HAVEN-
MILFORD

NEW ORLEANS-METAIRIE

NEW YORK-NEWARK-JERSEY CITY

NILES

NORTH PORT-SARASOTA-BRADENTON

NORWICH-
NEW

LONDON

OCALA

OCEAN CITY

ODESSA

OGDEN-CLEARFIELD

OKLAHOMA CITY

OLYMPIA-LACEY-TUMWATER

OMAHA-
COUNCIL
BLUFFS

ORLANDO-

KISSIMMEE-

SANFORD

OSHKOSH-
NEENAH

OWENSBORO

OXNARD-THOUSAND OAKS-VENTURA

PANAMA
CITY

PARKERSBURG-

VIENNA

PENSACOLA-
FERRY PASS-

BRENT

PEORIA

PHILADELPHIA-CAMDEN-

WILMINGTON

PHOENIX-MESA-CHANDLER

PINE BLUFF

PITTSBURGH

PITTS-
FIELD

POCATELLO

PORTLAND-

SOUTH

PORTLAND

PORTLAND-VANCOUVER-HILLSBORO

PORT
ST. LUCIE

PRESCOTT VALLEY-PRESCOTT

PROVO-OREM

PUEBLO

PUNTA GORDA

RACINE

RALEIGH-
CARY

RAPID CITY

READINGREDDING

RENO

RICHMOND

RIVERSIDE-SAN BERNARDINO-ONTARIO

ROANOKE

ROCHESTER

ROCHESTER

ROCKFORD

ROCKY MOUNT

ROME

SACRAMENTO-ROSEVILLE-FOLSOM

SAGINAW

ST. CLOUD

ST. GEORGE

ST. JOSEPH

ST. LOUIS

SALEM

SALINAS

SALISBURY

SALT LAKE CITY

SAN ANGELO

SAN ANTONIO-
NEW BRAUNFELS

SAN DIEGO-CHULA VISTA-CARLSBAD

SAN FRANCISCO-OAKLAND-BERKELEY

SAN JOSE-SUNNYVALE-SANTA CLARA

SAN LUIS OBISPO-PASO ROBLES

SANTA CRUZ-WATSONVILLE

SANTA FE

SANTA MARIA-SANTA BARBARA

SANTA ROSA-PETALUMA

SAVANNAH

SCRANTON--

WILKES-BARRE

SEATTLE-TACOMA-BELLEVUE

SEBRING-

AVON PARK

SHEBOYGAN

SHERMAN-
DENISON

SHREVEPORT-
BOSSIER CITY

SIERRA VISTA-DOUGLAS

SIOUX CITY

SIOUX FALLS

SOUTH
BEND-

MISHAWAKA

SPARTAN-
BURG

SPOKANE-SPOKANEVALLEY

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRING-
FIELD

STATE
COLLEGE

STAUNTON

STOCKTON

SUMTER

SYRACUSE

TALLAHASSEE

TAMPA-

ST. PETERSBURG-

CLEARWATER

TERRE
HAUTE

TEXARKANA

THE
VILLAGES

TOLEDO

TOPEKA

TRENTON-
PRINCETON

TUCSON

TULSA

TUSCALOOSA

TYLER

UTICA-ROME

VALDOSTA

VALLEJO

VICTORIA

VINELAND-

BRIDGETON

VISALIA

WACO

WALLA WALLA

WARNER
ROBINS

WASHINGTON-

ARLINGTON-

ALEXANDRIA

WATERLOO-
CEDAR FALLS

WATERTOWN-

FORT DRUM

WAUSAU-
WESTON

WEIRTON-

STEUBENVILLE

WENATCHEE

WHEELING

WICHITA

WICHITA FALLS

WILLIAMSPORT

WILMINGTON

WINCHESTER

WINSTON-

SALEM

WORCESTER

YAKIMA

YORK-

HANOVER

YUBA CITY

YUMA

Vidalia

Vin-
cennes

Vineyard

Haven

Wa-
bash

Wahpeton

Wapakoneta

Warren

Warrensburg

Warsaw

Washington

Washington

Washington
Court House

Watertown

Watertown-
Fort

Atkinson

Wauchula

Waycross

Weatherford

West
Plains

White-
water

Williston

Willmar

Wilming-
ton

Wilson

Winnemucca

Winona

Wisconsin
Rapids-

Marshfield

Woodward

Wooster

Worthington

Yankton

Zanesville

Zapata

PALM BAY-MELBOURNE-TITUSVILLE

SEBASTIAN-VERO BEACH

MIAMI-
FORT LAUDERDALE-

POMPANO BEACH

CUMBERLAND

PROVIDENCE-

WARWICK

BOSTON-CAMBRIDGE-NEWTON

YOUNGSTOWN-

WARREN-
BOARDMAN

Point
Pleasant

HILTON HEAD ISLAND-BLUFFTON

VIRGINIA BEACH-NORFOLK-NEWPORT NEWS

Fort
Payne

MACON-BIBB
COUNTY

Eufaula

Atmore

Bonham

Ruidoso

Fairmont

Central
City

Browns-
ville

Pella

Carroll

Grand Rapids

Jennings

West
Point

St. Marys

Hope

Jasper

Alexander City

Scotts-
burg

Minden

POUGHKEEPSIE-

NEWBURGH-

MIDDLETOWN

Union

Granbury

Pearsall

Rockport

Mount Gay-

Shamrock

Anaheim-Santa Ana-Irvine

Boston

Cambridge-Newton-

Framingham

Camden

Chicago-
Naperville-

Evanston

Dallas-Plano-Irving

Detroit-
Dearborn-
Livonia

Elgin

Fort Lauderdale-

Pompano Beach-
Sunrise

Fort Worth-
Arlington-Grapevine

Gary

Lake County-
Kenosha County

Los Angeles-Long Beach-Glendale

Miami-
Miami Beach-

Kendall

Montgomery

County-Bucks

County-Chester County

Nassau County-

Suffolk CountyNewark

Oakland-Berkeley-Livermore

Philadelphia

Rockingham
County-

Strafford County

San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City

San
Rafael

Seattle-Bellevue-Kent

Frederick-
Gaithersburg-

Rockville

Tacoma-Lakewood

Warren-Troy-Farmington Hills

Washington-
Arlington-

Alexandria

West Palm Beach-

Boca Raton-

Boynton Beach

Wilmington

New York-Jersey City-White Plains

New Brunswick-Lakewood

70°W75°W115°W120°W

120°W125°W130°W

50°N

25°N

Pacific Ocean

Gulf of Mexico

Atlantic Ocean

C A N A D A

M E X I C O

110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W

115°W120°W

75°W 70°W

125°W 120°W

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

25°N

55°N 115°W 110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W 75°W 70°W 65°W 60°W

AK

KETCHIKAN GATEWAY

MATANUSKA-SUSITNA

JUNEAU

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS
NORTH STAR

Juneau

Ketchikan

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS

60°N

150°W 130°W140°W160°W170°W170°E

50°N

Bering Sea

R U S S I A

C A N A D A

180°

55°N

65°N
70°N

HI

Hilo

Kapaa

KAHULUI-WAILUKU-LAHAINA

URBAN
HONOLULU

MAUI

HAWAII

HONOLULU

KAUAI

22°N

20°N

Pacific Ocean

160°W 156°W158°W 154°W

PR CIALES
COROZALMOROVIS

PONCE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

UTUADO

ADJUNTAS

AGUADILLA

AGUAS
BUENAS

AIBONITO

AÑASCO

ARROYO

BARRAN-
QUITAS

BA
YA

M
ÓN

CABO
ROJO

CAGUAS
NAGUABO

NARANJITO

PEÑUELAS

QUEBRADILLAS

RINCÓN

SALINAS

SAN
JUAN

SAN
LORENZO

SANTA
ISABEL

TOA ALTA

TOA BAJA

TRUJILLOALTO

VEGA
BAJA

VILLALBAYAUCO

CANÓVANAS

CAYEY

CEIBA

CIDRA

COAMO

FAJARDO

FL
OR

IDA

GUÁNICA

GU
AY

AN
ILL

A

GU
AY

NA
BO

GURABO

HORMIGUEROS

HUMACAO

LAJAS

LARES

LA
S PIE

DRA
S

LUQUILLO

MAUNABO

CAMUY

HATILLO

LOÍZA

PATILLAS
SABANA
GRANDE

SAN SEBASTIÁN

YABUCOA

JUNCOS

JUANA
DÍAZ

AGUADA

BARCELONETA

CAROLINA

COMERÍO

GUAYAMA

JAYUYA

MANATÍ

OROCOVIS

SAN
GERMÁN

VEGA
ALTAARECIBO

CATAÑO

DORADO

ISABELA

MOCA

RÍO
GRANDE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

LAS MARÍASMAYAGÜEZ

SAN GERMÁN
GUAYAMA

ARECIBO

SAN JUAN-BAYAMÓN-CAGUAS
AGUADILLA-ISABELA

PONCE

Coco

Coamo

Santa
Isabel

Jayuya

YAUCO

68°W

18°30'N

Atlantic Ocean

Caribbean Sea

67°30'W 67°W 66°30'W 66°W 65°30'W

18°N

Puerto Rico

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE Economics and Statistics Administration U.S. Census Bureau
Prepared by the Geography Division, April 2019

Miles0 100 200

Kilometers0 100 200

1:16,000,000

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

0 10 20 30 40 Miles

0 10 20 30 40 Kilometers

1:1,200,000

Legend

Outside Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

BALTIMORE* Core Based Statistical Area Incorporated Place
that is legally independent of any county

CUMBERLAND Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

Urbanized Area or Urban Cluster with a
population of 10,000 or more in 2010

Metropolitan Statistical AreaYAKIMA

Shelton Micropolitan Statistical Area

Metropolitan DivisionNewark

International

KS State (or statistical equivalent)

Core Based Statistical Area Description

The United States Office of Management and Budget delineates metropolitan
and micropolitan statistical areas, which are referred to collectively as "core
based statistical areas" (CBSAs). The general concept of the metropolitan and
micropolitan statistical area is that of a core area containing a substantial
population nucleus, together with adjacent communities having a high degree
of economic and social integration with that core. Metropolitan statistical
areas contain at least one urbanized area of 50,000 or more population;
micropolitan statistical areas contain at least one urban cluster of at least
10,000 and less than 50,000 population. If specified criteria are met,
a metropolitan statistical area containing a single core with a population
of 2.5 million or more may be subdivided into metropolitan divisions, which
function as distinct areas within the larger metropolitan statistical area.
CBSAs are composed of entire counties. There are 392 metropolitan
statistical areas, of which 11 are subdivided into 31 metropolitan divisions,
and 546 micropolitan statistical areas in the United States and Puerto Rico,
as of September 2018.

CBSA boundaries and titles are as of September 2018, and reflect the
application of the 2010 Standards for Delineating Metropolitan and Micropolitan
Statistical Areas to Census Bureau data. All other boundaries and names are as of
January 1, 2018.

Source Description

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas
of the United States and Puerto Rico

September 2018

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas of the United States and Puerto Rico September 2018

Population Division, (301) 763-2419.

Resources
Further information about geographic areas delineated under the metropolitan and micropolitan
statistical area standards is available at "Metro and Micro Areas" within the "Surveys/Programs"

area of the Census Bureau's Internet Site at www.census.gov, or by contacting:

AZ

AR

CA CO

CT

DC

GA

IL

IN

LA

MN

MS

MT

NM

ND

OK

PA

TN

VA

DE

WV

WI

WY

AL

FL

ID

KS

MD

NJ

NC

SC

WA

VT

UT

IA

KY

ME

MA

MI

MO

NE

NV

NH

NY

OH

OR

RI
SD

TX

ELDORADO

PLACER

DE
AR

BO
RN

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

WAYNE

ADAMS

PIATT

TIPPECANOE

OAKLAND

CHRISTIAN

GARFIELD

MONTGOMERY

LYNN

DUNN

ISABELLA

MEDINA

POLK

CADDO

ST. LOUIS

ASHTABULA

COFFEE

TUOLUMNE

PAULDING

CUMBERLAND

SCOTT

GEAUGA

DAWSON

GILLESPIE

PETERSBURG*

LYON

HOOD

HALE

ST. LUCIE

ESCAMBIA

HARALSON

BALTIMORE*

BRANCH

ALCORN

FRANKLIN

ARLINGTON

NEWTON

SPALDING

WAKE

KNOX

MARTINSVILLE*

MARATHON

MAHASKA

MENOMINEE

ATASCOSA

GREENE

HERNANDO

FRANKLIN

CHESAPEAKE*

ST. FRANCIS

GRANT

LINCOLN

PETTIS

GENESEE

MARION

TAYLOR

TOM GREEN

DANE

PHELPS

HANSON

FAIRFIELD

STEUBEN

MOWER

CASS

ERIE

MINNEHAHA

TELLER

MACOUPIN

KENDALL

HENRY

LAPEEROLMSTED

WEXFORD

JEFFERSON

KEWAUNEE

MOHAVE

MARSHALL

JOSEPHINE

ANDREWS

MATHEWS

HOT
SPRING

BOISE

MENARD

LAWRENCE

PUTNAM

MADISON

GENESEE

MONTEREY

MONTGOMERY

HANCOCK

CHELAN

CASS

SCHUYLER

BRADFORD

NUECES

SPOKANE

MORGAN

TIFT

LaSALLE

DUBOIS

FORD

EATON

DODGE

STARK

KENDALL

JOHNSON

CALUMET

BARTON

FLATHEAD

IRION

VERM
ILLION

SCOTTS BLUFF

PUTNAM

RENVILLE

RACINE

DeKALB

MADISON

MARSHALL

LINN

ALLEGAN

CREEK

LOGAN

FRANKLIN

STUTSMAN

HOPEWELL*

LEE

RANDOLPH

MACON

STORY

MASSAC

OUTAGAMIE

CERRO
GORDO

CLAY

WASHINGTON

SALINE

VANCE

WINNEBAGO

PORTER

CHRISTIAN

NOBLE

ALAMANCE

CHAMPAIGN

CHRISTIAN

COLONIAL
HEIGHTS*

FAIRFAX*

HARRISONBURG*

BECKHAM

BUTLER

SEDGWICK

BLACK HAWK

DeSOTO

BUENA VISTA

COLLIN

CORYELL

HARVEY

COWLEY

IONIA

KALAMAZOO

KENT

DODGE

MUSKEGON

FREEBORN

ST. JOSEPH

DOUGLAS

FALLS

UNION

BANDERA

GRUNDY

LINCOLN

RALLS

CHARLOTTESVILLE*

MARINETTE

BOWIE

CLARKE

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

LINN

CALDWELL

STEELE

CLAY

CLINTON

HENDRICKS

KEARNY

WYOMING

McKEAN
LIVINGSTON

BELKNAP

CARROLL

MADISON

LUNA

COOS

McLEOD

NEWTON

CA
BA

RR
US

MENOMINEE

SANBENITO

MADISON

INDIAN
RIVER

STOKES

ST.
JOSEPH

KNOX

MERCER

MIAMI

McPHERSON

McLEAN

SAN BERNARDINO

JONES

DAWSON

WASCO

MILLE
LACS

GILCHRIST

PICKAWAY

LEBANON

BROWN

HAYS

BEN HILL

CATOOSA

JONES

WALWORTH

CARSONCITY*

CALHOUN

DALLAS

PUTNAM

FRANKLIN

MONROE

MUSKINGUM

PERRY

STARK

RICHLAND

ROSS

WILLIAMSON

HARDEE

TUSCARAWAS

UNION

WARREN

MADISON

WILSON

PIKE

COSHOCTON

ARMSTRONG

FAYETTE

RICE

CLEVELAND

BREMER

ROCK-
WALL

SAN LUIS OBISPO

ADAMS

OLDHAM

OTTER TAIL

SANTA FE

HILLSDALE

WILLIAMSBURG*

DELAWARE

CRAWFORD

FOND DU LAC

CARROLL

MIDLAND

FAYETTE

BOONE

SHIAWASSEE

JACKSON

MARION

MIAMI

MONTGOMERY

POLK

OGLE

NEVADA

KINGS

SHASTA

OTTAWA

POLK

CASS

SCHLEY

NORTON*

HAMPTON*

HOWELL

MIDLAND

ARAPAHOE

SCURRY
JONES

CURRY

CALLAHAN

UPSHUR

CORTLAND

GOSPER

HUNT

BROOME

CARTER

WALKER

FULTON

BROOKE

PICKENS

MONON-
GALIA

SU
NFLO

WER

CALDWELL

DODDRIDGE

NASSAU

TAYLOR

CLINTON

FLAGLER

SEMINOLE

PAYNE

PIKE

JASPER

DALE

HOWARD

ELLIS

ORLEANS

WARREN

KOSCIUSKO

PERRY

TORRANCE

LINCOLN

MARION

COCONINO

GRAVES

PULASKI

GILA

WOODFORD

SANTA BARBARA

LIBERTY

PUTNAM

MANASSAS
PARK*

ELMORE

GREENE

COLQUITT

JEFFERSON

SAN PATRICIO

SUFFOLK*

OKTIBBEHA

COOSA

LABETTE

HENRY

TEHAMA

ELBERT

BARTHOLOMEW

ERATH

CARLTON

W
ASHINGTON

HURON

ECTOR

LINCOLN

SPENCER

HOCKING

SANDUSKY

CRAVEN

MIDDLESEX

EDMUNDS

TAYLOR

WASHTENAW

KOOTENAI

GRANT

WEBSTER

RADFORD*

ROOSEVELT

FORREST

DOUGHERTY

BROWN

McPHERSON

SAGINAW

WEAKLEY

POLK

DELAWARE

MOORE

ADAMS

DEAF SMITH

TOOMBS

SENECA

GUERNSEY

LITTLE RIVER

LENAWEE

WASHINGTON

LAWRENCE

HENRY

ARCHER

SEWARD

NOBLES

McLENNAN

WAPELLO

BENTON

RENO

BOND

JOHNSON

CROSBY

INGHAM

HARNETT

TURNER

WILLIAMSON

GRAFTON

GARFIELD

MADISON

HEARD

LORAIN

COFFEE

CARSON

WYANDOTTE

WAYNE

CRAWFORD

ISANTI

OKMULGEE

BUFFALO

WABASH

BOONE

SHAWANO

KERR

POQUOSON*

LYNCHBURG*

DeKALB

PONTOTOC

WORTH

OSCEOLA

HOWARD

MIAMI GATES

GRUNDY

WALTON

PERSON

LOGAN

ROCKLAND

RAPPA-
HANNOCK

ALLEGANY

POINSETT

BENTON

GUILFORD

CLINTON

SUMMIT

McDONOUGH

MORGAN

DADE

LOS ANGELES

JEFFERSON

STEPHENS

FINNEY

MARSHALL

BUTLER

WEBSTER

CHIPPEWA

FRESNO

MERCER

PEORIA

ALEX-
ANDRIA*

JACKSON

BEADLE

MADISON

PORTAGE

ANDERSON

UINTA

KEMPER

MARSHALL

CARROLL

HENDRY

GRAND
ISLE

WHATCOM

MERCER

BERKELEY

LOGAN

TOLLAND

SUSSEX

ADAMS

OHIO

KNOX

TRIGG

MEADE

TULARE

NORFOLK

WORCESTER

WAYNE

MIDDLES
EX

WESTCHESTER

CAYUGA

RENSSELAER

CRAWFORD

LOWNDES

GARLAND

PITKIN

ROUTT

W
HI

TF
IEL

D

WAYNE

BRACKEN

JEFFERSON

CAMERON

ORLEANS

ALPENA

CHIPPEWA

MORGAN

JASPER

PULASKI

ANOKA

LEE

ADAIR

DODGE

WILKES

COFFEE

DENTON

BENZIE

FLOYD

COMAL

BALDWIN

MORGAN

BELL

SALT LAKE

SAUK

LANCASTER

GASTON

RANDOLPH

ST. CLAIR

SCOTT

SULLIVAN

GRAND FORKS
CLATSOP

PICKENS

BLOUNT

JEFFERSON

ISLE OF
WIGHT

SALINE

KERN

PUEBLO

BARROW

COBB

UPSON

HANCOCK

DuPAGE

TAZEWELL

HANCOCK

PIKE

BOONE

KENNEBEC

CARVER

LINCOLN

SCHOHARIE

CALDWELL

CANADIAN

WOODWARD

CROOK

POSEY

JONES

LEFLORE

BOONE

BOSSIER

CHISAGO

WASHINGTON

SALEM*

McHENRY

PHILLIPS

VENTURA

IMPERIAL

LITCHFIELD

HILLSBOROUGH

CHATTA-
HOOCHEE

SULLIVAN

SCOTT

LEAVENW
ORTH

ISLAND

MORRIS

ONTARIO

FORSYTH

CHATHAM

ETOWAH

DALLAS

GRAHAM

KNOX

CLEAR
CREEK

BUTTS

FULTON

COWETA

OCONEE

WEST
BATON

ROUGE

GUTHRIE

BOURBON

RAPIDES

SALINE

PIERCE

SUFFOLK

NIAGARA

KLEBERG

CRAIG

LIVINGSTON

DORCHESTER

ROANE

HOWARD

BRAZOS

OLDHAM

CAMPBELL

HARDIN

TALBOT

NODAWAY

CASS

PRINCE
GEORGE

IOWA

SHERBURNE

WALKER

YORK

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

COCHISE

MILLER

ORANGE

OWYHEE

MARICOPA

KANKAKEE

STOREY

DU
RH

AM

STARK

MONTOUR

VENANGO

LYON

GLOUCESTER

ORANGE

GEORGETOWN

ANDERSON

YANKTON

CHAMBERS

CLAY

UINTAH

ORANGE

SNOHOMISH

BROWN

WOOD

YAVAPAI

JEFFERSON

FREMONT

CAMAS

BINGHAM

BULLITT

HOWARD

RA
MSE

Y

BROWN

TATE

CASCADE

YELLOWSTONE

MERRICK

BEDFORD

OTERO

LOGAN

ONONDAGA

MARLBORO

BRONX

BREVARD

CHAMPAIGN

CLARK

JEFFERSON

DAKOTA

GRANVILL
E

ALLEGHENY

LINCOLN

CLARK

LAURENS

DUNKLIN

SURRY

DAUPHIN

IREDELL

ARMSTRONG

ATLANTIC

ST. MARY

CHESTERFIELD

AIKEN

SUFFOLK

BERKS

CALLOWAY

LEXINGTON

PERRYERIE

KENOSHA

NEW
CASTLE

CHARLOTTE

HARTFORD

PENNINGTON

ARANSAS

BEAUFORT

ST. CROIX

SHEBOYGAN

DELTA

SCOTT

BUNCOMBE

ELKHART

YADKIN

WICOMICO

AN
DR

OS
CO

GG
IN

CRAWFORD

COOKE

WISE

JASPER

CHARLESTON

AUSTIN

TETON

RICHLAND

NEWBERRY

SCHUYLKILL

YUBA

JOHNSON

CASSIA

EDDY

DICKINSON

HOPKINS

RUTHERFORD

DICKSON

CAMBRIA

CLAY

BEE

SHERIDAN

ROCKINGHAM

SUMTER

SALUDA

NEWPORT

LAWRENCE

SOMERSET

GALVESTON

FAULKNER

DeKALB

GRATIOT

HOUGHTON

CENTRE

HAWKINS
SULLIVAN

DARLINGTON

DELAWARE

BRISTOL

WASHINGTON

FRANKLIN

HAMPDEN

HENDERSON

SEBASTIAN

CUSTER

TIPTON

SUMNER

CLINTON

KNOX

RUTLAND

HANCOCK

SKAMANIA

LAMAR

JEROME

NEW LONDON

LIVINGSTON

TROUP

VIGO

BRANTLEY

MANATEE

SAN JOAQUIN

McCRACKEN

FILLMORE

KENT

HILLSBOROUGH

CO
LU

MBIA

CACHE

LE SUEUR

YAKIMA

WALLAWALLA

WHITMAN

RICHLAND

NELSON

DALLAS

STAFFORD

CHILTON

WOOD

EAGLE

HIGHLANDS

NEW
HAVEN

DAVIS

CUMBERLAND

KEWEENAW

UTAH

LARAMIE

ALBEMARLE

GALLATIN

MONTGOMERY

WINDSOR

FR
AN

KL
IN

CLINTON

FLOYD

BALDWIN

AMELIA

MARION

NEWTON

CLARK

OZ
AU

KE
E

ROBERTSON

MARION

CROCKETT

GORDON

FRANKLIN

CHAVES

LEELANAU

MISSAUKEE

SPOTSYLVANIA

MERRIMACK

DYER

HOKE

STANISLAUS

FREMONT

JACKSON

ALACHUA

MADISON

HUNTINGDON

OWEN

WOODBURY

FRANKLIN

DAVIESS

WASHINGTON

OTTAWA

SUMNER

SCOT-
LANDLOUDON

HUGHES

CHESTER

GREENUP

MACON

MINIDOKA

LAKE

LACKA-
WANNA

SHELBY

LANCASTER

LAWRENCE

LEHIGH

LACLEDE

CHEROKEE

PIERCE

CONTRA COSTA

EFFINGHAM

OVERTON

POLK

ROWAN

WILL

CLINTON

LUZERNE

LAFAYETTE

WARREN

OSAGE

GEM

PAYETTE

DARE

BELL

DAVIDSON

BLUE EARTH

POTTAWATOMIE

McHENRY

WHITLEY

WASHINGTON

MONTGOMERY

SO
M

ER
SE

T

ULSTER

DAVIE

YORK

BOYD

BUTLER

OTTAWA

PAMLICO

TEXAS

PRINCE
WILLIAM

MANASSAS*

NORTHAMP-
TON

CAMDEN

HARDIN

JEFFER-
SON

ELMORE

MERCED

PIERCE

CHESTER

MARTIN

TARRANT

BURLINGTON

CUMBERLAND

BEAUFORT

CAMDEN

NEW
HANOVER

LUCAS

STEUBEN

RUTHERFORD

LAKE

LINCOLN

SPARTANBURG

BUTTE

CLAYTON

LONG

JACKSON

DAVIESS

HAMILTON

FLUVANNA

OSAGE

BRYAN

YORK

MATAGORDA

LAFAYETTE

LYON

CHEROKEE

THURSTON

KANAWHA

NATRONA

SAUNDERS

PROVIDENCE

ZAPATA

IRON

MOORE

OKLAHOMA

CLACKAMAS

SNYDER

UNION

STANLEY

SIOUX

DOÑA ANA

JOHNSON

HALL

CRAWFORD

DENVER

TERRELL

CUMBERLAND

DALLAS

WIN-
CHESTER*

BEDFORD

GOLIAD

QUEENS

UNION

ORANGE

NEWTON

WORTH

BUREAU

JASPER

PICKENS

CHEROKEE

DECATUR

FAYETTE

JOHNSON

GEARY

ROGERS

PULASKI

MADISON

WILSON

CHARLES

HAMILTON

GRANT

HENRY

METCALFE

BELTRAMI

LAFAYETTE

COLE

JESSAMINE

FR
ANKLIN

RAY

CHURCHILL

LEE

PORTAGE

RICHMOND

DUVAL

OLIVER

ORANGEBURG

MORTON

NORTH-

UMBERLAND

WESTMORELAND

MAURY
WARREN

JEFFERSON

LIBERTY

TWIN FALLS

ST. CLAIR

ALEXANDER

PIKE

DE SOTO

McKINLEY

CHEATHAM

NAVARRO

HOPKINS

HUTCHINSON

UVALDE

WARR
EN

HALL

CHEMUNG

DeKALB

SANTA CLARA

MONTGOMERY

NEW KENT

CULPEPER

STANTON

CASS

BULLOCH

SMITH

MOBILE

PLAQUEMINES

WASHINGTON

CHARLESCITY

COLUMBIA

GREENE

LAMPASAS

COMANCHE

CABELL

HOCKLEY

LASSEN

McINTOSH

JACKSON

CLAY

HUMBOLDT

RIO ARRIBA

GRANT

COLUMBIA

JEFFERSON

GUADALUPE

POTTER

ANDERSON

RICHMOND*

FRANKLIN

CRITTENDEN

LEE

BRYAN

LAKE

HAMILTON

BUTLER

JACKSON

ADAMS

GREENVILLE

LINCOLN

WARREN

JEFFERSON

CANYON

PINAL

MONROE

ANNE
ARUNDEL

ANDREW

EDGEFIELD

WASHINGTON

WISE

CAMPBELL

TUSCALOOSA

NACOGDOCHES

BENTON

SANTACRUZ

WINNEBAGO

ALLEN

BOONE

IBERIA

PIMA

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

WASHOE

UNION

PASSAIC

MONROE

DOUGLAS

ADA

BUTTE

FAYETTE

HUMBOLDT

CHATTOOGA

JERSEY

SAGADAHOC

ST.
MARY'S

PLYMOUTH

ST.
MARTIN

JEFFERSON

GALLIA

BUCKS

BARREN

LAUREL

SCOTT

HINDS

WEBSTER

ATCHISON
MASON

ST. BERNARD

CALCASIEU

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

CAMPBELL

WILLACY

JUAB

ORANGE

LINCOLN

JOHNSTON

WAGONER

HARRISON

ITAWAMBA

NYE

CLALLAM

ASOTIN

ROCK

MADISON

MOORETULSA

BURLESON

TIOGA

CALHOUN

CLARKE

SCOTT

SCHENECTADY

ROCKINGHAM

MARION

SEQUOYAH

COLUMBIA

TANEY

CALLAWAY

CANNON

GRAY

GRANT

LATAH

DAVIDSON

TAZEWELL

TUNICA

BRAZORIA

BRISTOL*

FLORENCE

CLAY

SANDOVAL

PALO PINTO

WARREN

GREENE

WALTON

CALHOUN

CLARK

RO
CK

-
DA

LE

SANGAMON

GRENADA

BERNALILLO

JACKSON

JOHNSON

MONT-
GOMERY

CARROLL

STEPHENSON

LIVINGSTON

HOUSTON

DICKINSON

MERCER

MARION

KEARNEY

DEFIANCE

SILVER BOW

BURKE

BATH

MORROW

HAYWOOD

ALBANY

BENTON

BERRIEN

HENRY

KANDIYOHI

PITTSBURG

FULTON

BRADLEY

GILES

ROANOKE*

MONROE

LAMAR

PENDLETON

MIFFLIN

WILKIN

MAHONING

GRAINGER

BOONE

DORCHESTER

UNION

BUCHANAN

MAVERICK

LIVINGSTON

ST.
LOUIS*

ONSLOW

HENRY

HANCOCK

KALKASKA

COWLITZ

LAWRENCE

LIMESTONE

BAXTER

BLOUNT

LAURENS

CATTARAUGUS

MEADE

DUKES

CODINGTON

YELL

DAVISON

WILSON

HENDERSON

WAUKESHA

CITRUS

SARPY

JASPER

SIMPSON

DIXON

IBERVILLE

ONEIDA

MISSISSIPPI

RICHMOND

GADSDEN LEONOKALOOSA

PUTNAM

EFFINGHAM

OBION

WASHINGTON

ST.
CLAIR

VAL VERDE

PERRY

KITTITAS

SANTA ROSA

HARRIS

CARBON

REEVES

LAKE

CHAMBERS

WINDHAM

MARQUETTE

PASQUOTANK

DANVILLE*

POLK

SH
EL

BY

WARREN

BLAIR

KITSAP

WAKULLA

WARE
GREGG

RANDALL

BROWARD

VERMILION

BEAUREGARD

MONROE

WALLER

WASHINGTON

CAMPBELL

CLARKE

DeSOTO

LAWRENCE

LINCOLN

BANNER

OCONEE

HORRY

WAYNE

W
OODFORD

GREENE

BELMONT

ATHENS

WASHINGTON

OHIO

SALEM

CARTERET

LANCASTER

EDMONSON

HERKIMER

MONROE

MADISON

TITUS

PENOBSCOT

LOS ALAMOS

MUSKOGEE

FORT BEND

FREDERICKS-
BURG*

POTTAWATOMIE

JACKSON

SENECA

GREENWOOD

PIKE

GAGE

MIAMI-DADE

UNION

DES
MOINES

FREDERICK

KINGS

M
AR

SH
AL

L

HALE

LOGAN

BLAINE

SANTA CRUZ

SARASOTA

BONNER

ST. JOHN THE

BAPTIST

PAWNEE

ALBANY

ST. TAMMANY

MECKLENBURG

FAYETTE

MINERAL

WALKER

WELD

JEFFERSON

PRINCE
GEORGE'S

SONOMA

WINONA

POPE

MARION

EAST
FELICIANA

FRANKLIN

PLATTE

EL PASO

COLUMBIA

CRISP

DUTCHESS

SEVIER

HARRISON

HIDALGO

SOLANO

WABASHA

BATES

SUMTER

MILLS

ANDER
SO

N

McCLAIN

KAUFMAN

BOLLINGER

LA
CROSSE

OSWEGO

YOLO

BOX ELDER

JONES

CARBON

BARTOW

MONTROSE

WARREN

SHELBY

NAVAJO

DISTRICT OF

COLUMBIA

HARRISON

NEWPORT
NEWS*

FAIRFIELD

ST. LAWRENCE

CALHOUN

WHITESIDE

SUMMIT

COLLIER

GLYNN

SUMTER

PEARL RIVER

ST.
JAMES

NORFOLK*

MOREHOUSE

PORTSMOUTH*

JACKSON

TOOELE

BASTROP

WASATCH

TRAVIS

LINCOLN

AUGLAIZE

TERREBONNE

UNION

MISSOULA

GILPIN

ST.
FRANCOIS

WICHITA

MASON

VICTORIA

CLERMONT

WEBB

FAYETTE

MER
IW

ETH
ER

MONROE

CLARK

POWHATAN

AUTAUGA

CAMERON

BOONE

LOGAN

STEVENS

MUSCOGEE

OGLETHORPE

CUYAHOGA

VIRGINIA
BEACH*

MACOMB

WHITLEY

EL PASO

BROOKS

BENNINGTON

DOUGLAS

PO
TT

AW
AT

TA
M

IE

FORSYTH

MALHEUR

CALVERT

LEE

ELLIS

LAFOURCHE

KENEDY

BOTETOURT

WASHINGTON

WAYNESBORO*

GREEN

LEE

DONIPHAN

LUBBOCK

KANE

EAU CLAIRE

ALLEN

LEA

NAPA

WARREN

WILLIAMSON

LANIER

FULTON

TWIGGS

HAMPSHIRE

VERMILION

MUSCATINE

DOUGLAS

SHAWNEE

ELKO

ST.
HELENA

TANGIPAHOA

LARIMER

NORTHAMPTON

ESSEX

BROWN

KENT

CALHOUN

VANDERBURGH

HENDERSON

RIVERSIDE

FLORENCE

MULTNOMAH

HALIFAX

CLAY

NASH

ALLEN

WHITE

ASHLAND

ROANOKE

UNION

KERSHAW

OTTAWA

MONT-
GOMERY

POLK

McDUFFIE

CROW
WING

NATCHITOCHES

MORGAN

COAHOMA

PHILADELPHIA

WARD

CAMDEN

JEFFERSON

CURRY

CAPE
MAY

RILEY

COLUMBIANA

OCONTO

WOOD

HU
DS

ON

NEW
YORK

MARTIN

PALM BEACH

OSAGE

MARION

MORROW

OKEECHOBEE

WRIGHT

CHESHIRE

LEWIS AND CLARK

MENDOCINO

DARKE

DINWIDDIE

MOFFAT

FRANKLIN

ORANGE

LEWIS

BEAVER

CHAUTAUQUA

CHATHAM

TETON

MORGAN

PUTNAM

RALEIGH

SUSSEX

BIBB

LEWIS

COLUMBIA

ST. LOUIS

SACRAMENTO

OUACHITA

BAY

SCOTT

JEFFERSON

FAIRFIELD

HUNTING-
TON

LARUE

WILLIAMS

HUNTERDON

NEZ
PERCE

BURKE

KENTON

HOUSTON

MEDINA

GWINNETT

M
ILW

AUKEE

BOLIVAR

WAS
HIN

GT
ON

GRANT

UMATILLA

CARBON

BERKSHIRE

PLATTE

ST.
JOHNS

LOWNDES

BRUNSWICK

ASCENSION

KING

LAKE

JIM
WELLS

WIRT

LEE

SUTTER

MADERA

BAKER

SEWARD

CULLMAN

PASCO

SCIOTO

TRUMBULL

WHARTON

CLARK

RANKIN

FREMONT

NELSON

HANCOCK

STRAFFORD

HOODRIVER

DAWSON

McMINN

GOOCHLAND

MONITEAU

WAYNE
PITT

LaPORTE

MADISON

CLINTON

SANMATEO

SAN FRANCISCO

LO
W

ND
ES

BROOKINGS

DELNORTE

HUDSPETH

SEQUATCHIE

SMITH

MECOSTA

MONTCALM

HENNEPIN

GRANT

BEXAR

DOUGLAS

GRADY

CLEVELAND

KAY

MARSHALL

ESSEX

CARTER

HAMBLEN

CHESTER

ADAMS

MORGAN BALTIMORE

PONTOTOC

RANDOLPH

AUGUSTA

SWEETWATER

BUTLER

BANNOCK

HE
ND

ER
SO

N HAMPSHIRE

FAYETTE

COLUMBIA

THOMAS

DESCHUTES MIDDLESEX

GALLATIN
SUMMIT

STAUNTON*

SHELBY

WABAUNSEE

WEBER

JEFFERSON

EAST
BATON
ROUGE

JACKSON

ADAMS

DUBUQUE

LYCOMING

BAY

ACADIA

WATAUGA

CUMBERLAND

BROWN

YORK

CONCORDIA

TRAN-
SYLVANIA

TALLADEGA

SAN DIEGO

MANITOWOC

BOULDER

HOUSTON

LAMAR

SAN MIGUEL

RHEA

CALHOUN

CHEROKEE

McCOOK

HENRICO

APPOMATTOX

JAMES
CITY

TOMPKINS

COTTON

NOLAN

POINTE
COUPEE

BERGEN

BALLARD

SOMERSET

BENTON

WASHINGTON

McLEAN

M
UR

RA
Y

UNICOI

FAIRFAX

PARK

OTSEGO

SARATOGA

ST. LANDRY

INDEPENDENCE

COLES

INDIANA

MARIN

WORCESTER

CLARK

VERNON

CIBOLA

VAN WERT

WILBARGER

FRANKLIN

LANE

FREDERICK

YAZOO

LINCOLN

OCEAN

PRESTON

OUACHITA

MADISON

FALLS
CHURCH*

BROOMFIELD

EDGECOMBE

JACKSON

HABER-
SHAM

PI
NE

LL
AS

McDOWELL

KING WILLIAM

CECIL

CRAIGHEAD

BRISTOL

PITTSYLVANIA

JEFFERSON

UNION

WAYNE

COPIAH

PENDER

PARKER

AMHERST

CATAWBA

FAUQUIER

WASHINGTON

DECATUR

JEFFERSON

JACKSON

NASSAU

ST. CHARLES

HARRISON

CLAY

GRAND
TRAVERSE

CLINTON

JEFFERSON

LONOKE

JENNINGS

HENRY

BONNEVILLE

UNION

GENEVA

WARRICK

ALAMEDA

MASON

DOUGLAS

CURRI-
TUCK

COCKE

NICOLLET

STEARNS

CUMBERLAND

JASPER

WASHINGTON

ROBERTSON

MASON

MESA

HARRISON

LENOIR

GRAYS HARBOR

SKAGIT

ECHOLS

ALEXANDER

MADISON

RUSSELL

ANGELINA

MENIFEE

HANCOCK

PER-
QUIMANS

DOUGLAS

CLEVELAND

MERCER

GRAYSON

ST.
CHARLES

EUREKA

CHITTENDEN

VALENCIA

CLEARFIELD

CASS

DAKOTA

COOK

ROCK ISLAND

BENTON

BURLEIGH

BERKELEY

AUDRAIN

MONTGOMERY

GLOUCESTER

HANOVER

RUSK

STARR

HARFORD

BOYLE

M
AR

SH
AL

L

LICKING

SUSSEX

RICHMOND

LOUDOUN

LA PLATA

PEACH

STEPHENS

QUEEN
ANNE'S

SHELBY

ROCKINGHAM

TAOS

ROBESON

COLBERT

CARROLL

MONTGOMERY

LINN

STANLY

YUMA

WEST
FELICIANA

COOS

PIERCE

MONMOUTH

ERIE

DOUGLAS

SAN JUAN

GOODHUE

KLAMATH

JACKSON

BIBB

VOLUSIA

WASH-
INGTON

DOUGLAS

YATES

YAMHILL

TROUSDALE

BARNSTABLE

LINCOLN

PULASKI

HARRIS

DeKALB

BARBOUR

QUIT-
MAN

ESCAMBIA

LINCOLN

MARTIN

MUHLENBERG

HEMPSTEAD

NEVADA

JEFFERSON
DAVIS

TALLAPOOSA

FANNIN

HAYWOOD

CARROLL

MARION

CLAY

ITASCA

ELK

GREENE

WASHINGTON

SHARP

FRANKLIN

OURAY

LEVY

STEWART

TREUTLEN

ATKINSON

TALBOT

POWER

JOHNSON

WARREN

PARKE

FRANKLIN

CHASE
GREEN

EST
ILL

CLAY

CARTER

ASSUMPTION

LAKE

PRENTISS

WEBSTER

HOLMES

COVINGTON

STONE

HOWARD

COOPER

RIPLEY

STILLWATER

MORA

SWAIN ANSON

BILLINGS

ELLIS

LOVE

CLARENDON

JERAULD

HAMLIN

GIBSON

STEWART

ROBERTS

LOVING
STERLING

CAMP

FRIO

DUVAL

BLAND

MADISON

KING AND QUEEN

SOUTHAMPTON
FRANKLIN*

JACKSON

MORGAN

CROOK

WESTON

Aberdeen

Aberdeen

Ada

Adrian

Alamogordo

Albe-
marle

Albert Lea

Albertville

Alexandria

Alice

Alma

Alpena

Altus

Americus

Amsterdam

Andrews

Angola

Arcadia

Ardmore
Arkadelphia

Winfield

Ash-
land

Ashtabula

Astoria

Atchison

Athens

Athens

Athens

Auburn

Auburn

Augusta-

Waterville

Austin

Bainbridge

Baraboo

Bardstown

Barre

Bartlesville

Batavia

Batesville

Bay City

Beatrice

Beaver
Dam

Bedford

Beeville

Bellefon-
taine

Bemidji

Bennettsville

Bennington

Berlin

Big
Rapids

Big Spring

Big Stone
Gap

Blackfoot

Bluefield

Blytheville

Bogalusa

Boone

Borger

Bozeman

Bradford

Brainerd

Branson

Breckenridge

Brenham

Brevard

Brookhaven

Brookings Brookings

Brownwood

Bucyrus-
Galion

Burley

Burlington

Butte-
Silver Bow

Cadillac

Calhoun

Cambridge

Cambridge

Camden

Campbellsv
ille

Cañon City

Carlsbad-Artesia

Cedar City

Cedartown

Celina

Centralia

Centralia

Charleston-
Mattoon

Chillicothe

Lebanon

Clarksburg

Clarksdale

Clearlake

Cleveland

Clewiston

Clinton

Clovis

Coffeyville

Coldwater

Colum-
bus

Columbus

Concord

Con-
ners-

ville

Cookeville

Coos Bay

Cordele

Corinth

Cornelia

Corning

Corsicana

Cortland

Coshocton

Craig
Craw-
fords-

ville

CrescentCity

Crossville

Cullman

Cullowhee

Danville
Danville

Da
yto

n

De-
catur

Defiance

Del Rio

Deming

DeRidder

Dickinson

Dixon

Dodge City

Douglas

Dublin

DuBois

Dumas

Duncan

Durango

Durant

Dyersburg

Eagle Pass

Easton

Edwards

Effingham

El Campo

El Dorado

Elizabeth City

Elk City

Elkins

Elko

Ellensburg

Emporia

ENID

Enterprise

Escanaba

Española

Eureka-Arcata

Evanston

Fairfield

Fairmont
Fallon

Faribault-
Northfield

Farmington

Fergus Falls

Fernley

Findlay

Fitzgerald

Forest
City

Forrest City

Fort
Dodge

Fort
Leonard

Wood

Fort
Madison-

Keokuk

Fort Morgan

Fort Polk
South

Frankfort

Frank-
fort

Fredericksburg

Freeport

Fremont

Fremont

Gaffney

Gainesville

Gales-
burg

Gallup

Garden City

GardnervilleRanchos

Georgetown

Gillette

Glasgow

Glenwood Springs

Gloversville

Grants

Great
Bend

Greeneville

Greens-
burg

Greenville

Green-
ville

Greenwood

Green-
wood

Grenada

Guymon

Hailey

Hannibal

Harrison

Hastings

Hays

Heber

Helena

Helena-
West

Helena

Henderson

Hereford

Hermiston-Pendleton

Hillsdale

Hobbs

Holland

HoodRiver

Houghton

Hudson

Huntingdon

Hunt-
ing-
ton

Huntsville

Huron

Hutchinson

Hutchinson

Indiana

Indianola

Iron
Mountain

Jackson

Jackson

Jacksonville

Jackson-
ville

Jamestown

Jamestown-

Dunkirk-
Fredonia

Jasper

Jefferson

Jesup

Kalispell

Kearney

Keene

Kendall-
ville

Kennett

Kerrville

Key
West

Kill
Devil

Hills

Kingsville

Kinston

Kirksville

Klamath Falls

LaconiaLa Grande

LaGrange

Lake
City

Lamesa

Laramie

Las Vegas

Laurel

Laurin-
burg

Lawrenceburg

Lebanon

Levelland

Lewisburg

Lewis-
burg

Le
wist

ow
n

Lexington

Liberal

Lincoln

Lock
Haven

Logans-
port

London

Los Alamos

Luding-
ton

Lufkin

Lumberton

Macomb

Madison

Madison-
ville

Magnolia

Malone

Malvern

Manitowoc

Marietta

Marinette

Marion

Marion

Marion

Marquette

Marshall

Marshall

Marshall-
town

Martin

Martinsville

Maryville

Mason
City

May-
field

Maysville

McAlester

McComb

McMinn-
ville

McPherson

Meadville

Menomonie

Meridian

Mexico

Miami

Middles-
borough

Milledge-
ville

Mineral
Wells

Minot

Mitchell

Moberly

Montrose

Morehead City

Morgan
City

Moscow

Moses Lake

Moultrie

Mountain
Home

Mountain
Home

Mount
Airy

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Sterling

Mount
Vernon

Mount
Vernon

Murray

Muscatine

Muskogee

Nacogdoches

Natchez
Natchitoches

Newberry

New
Castle

New
Castle

New
Philadelphia-

Dover

Newport

Newport

New Ulm

Nogales

Norfolk

North Platte

North
Vernon

North
Wilkesboro

Norwalk

OakHarbor

Ogdensburg-

Massena

Oil City

Okeechobee

Olean

Oneonta

Ontario

Opelousas

Orangeburg

Oskaloosa

Othello

Ottawa

Ottawa

Ottumwa

Owa-
tonna

Oxford

Ozark

Paducah

Pahrump

Palatka

Palestine

Pampa

Paragould

Paris

Paris

Parsons

Payson

Pecos

Peru

Picayune

Pierre

Pinehurst-
Southern

Pines

Pittsburg

Plainview

Platteville

Plattsburgh

Plymouth

Ponca City

Pontiac

Poplar Bluff

Portales

Port Angeles

Port
Lavaca

Portsmouth

Pottsville

Price

Prineville

Pullman

Quincy

Raymondville

Red Bluff

Red WingRexburg

Rich-
mond

Richmond-
Berea

Rio Grande
City-Roma

Riverton

Roanoke
Rapids

Rochelle

Rocking-
ham

Rock Springs

Rolla

Roseburg

Roswell

Russellville

Ruston

Rutland

Safford

St. Marys

Salem

Salina

Sandpoint

Sandusky

Sanford

Sault Ste. Marie

Sayre

Scottsbluff

Scottsboro
Searcy

Sedalia

Selinsgrove

Selma

Seneca

Seneca
Falls

Sevierville

Seymour

Shawano

Shawnee

Shelby

Shelbyville

Shelton

Sheridan

Show Low

Sidney

Sikeston

Silver City

Snyder

Somerset

Somerset

Sonora

Spearfish

Spencer

Spirit
Lake

Starkville

Statesboro

Steamboat
Springs

Stephenville

Sterling

Sterling

Stevens
Point

Stillwater

Storm
Lake Sturgis

Sulphur
Springs

Summer-
ville

Sunbury

Susanville

Sweetwater

Tahlequah

Talladega-
Sylacauga

Taos

Taylorville

The Dalles

Thomaston

Thomas-
ville

Tiffin

Tifton

Toccoa

Torrington

Traverse City

Troy

Truckee-Grass Valley

Tullahoma-
Manchester

Tupelo

TWIN FALLS

Ukiah

Union
City

Urbana

Uvalde

Van Wert

Vermillion

Vernal

Vernon

Vicksburg

ABILENE

AKRON

ALBANY

ALBANY-LEBANON

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY-

TROY

ALBUQUERQUE

ALEXANDRIA

ALLENTOWN-

BETHLEHEM-

EASTON

ALTOONA

AMARILLO

AMES

ANN
ARBOR

ANNISTON-
OXFORD

APPLETON

ASHEVILLE

ATHENS-
CLARKE
COUNTY

ATLANTA-SANDY SPRINGS-ALPHARETTA

ATLANTIC CITY-HAMMONTON

AUBURN-
OPELIKA

AUGUSTA-

RICHMOND
COUNTY

AUSTIN-
ROUND ROCK-
GEORGETOWN

BAKERSFIELD

BALTIMORE-COLUMBIA-

TOWSON

BANGOR

BARNSTABLE TOWN

BATON ROUGE

BATTLE
CREEK

BAY
CITY

BEAUMONT-
PORT

ARTHUR

BECKLEY

BELLINGHAM

BEND
BILLINGS

BINGHAMTON

BIRMINGHAM-
HOOVER

BISMARCK

BLACKSBURG-

CHRISTIANSBURG

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMSBURG-

BERWICK

BOISE
CITY

BOULDER

BOWLING
GREEN

BREMERTON-SILVERDALE-PORT ORCHARD

BRIDGEPORT-

STAMFORD-

NORWALK

BROWNSVILLE-HARLINGEN

BRUNSWICK

BUFFALO-

CHEEKTOWAGA

BUR-
LING-

TON

BURLINGTON-

SOUTH
BURLINGTON

CALIFORNIA-

LEXINGTON
PARK

CANTON-
MASSILLON

CAPE CORAL-FORT MYERS

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

CARBONDALE-
MARION

CARSONCITY

CASPER

CEDAR RAPIDS

CH
AM

BE
RS

BU
RG

-
W

AY
NE

SB
OR

O

CHAMPAIGN-
URBANA

CHARLESTON

CHARLESTON-

NORTH CHARLESTON

CHARLOTTE-

CONCORD-

GASTONIA

CHARLOTTESVILLE

CHATTANOOGA

CHEYENNE

CHICAGO-
NAPERVILLE-

ELGIN

CHICO

CINCINNATI

CLARKSVILLE

CLEVELAND

CLEVELAND-

ELYRIA

COEUR
D'ALENE

COLLEGE
STATION-

BRYAN

COLORADO SPRINGS
COLUMBIA

COLUMBIA

COLUMBUS

COLUM-
BUS

COLUMBUS

CORPUS
CHRISTI

CORVALLIS

CRESTVIEW-

FORT WALTON BEACH-

DESTIN

DALLAS-FORT WORTH-ARLINGTON

DALTON

DAN-
VILLE

DAPHNE-
FAIRHOPE-

FOLEY

DAVENPORT-MOLINE-

ROCK ISLAND

DAYTON-
KETTERING

DECATUR

DECATUR

DELTONA-
DAYTONA

BEACH-

ORMOND BEACH

DENVER-AURORA-LAKEWOOD

DES MOINES-
WEST DES MOINES

DETROIT-WARREN-

DEARBORN

DOTHAN

DOVER

DUBUQUE

DULUTH

DURHAM-

CHAPEL
HILL

EAST
STROUDSBURG

EAU CLAIRE

EL CENTRO

ELIZABETHTOWN-
FORT KNOX

ELKHART-
GOSHEN

ELMIRA

EL PASO

ERIE

EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD

EVANSVILLE

FARGO

FARMINGTON FAYETTEVILLE

FAYETTEVILLE-
SPRINGDALE-ROGERS

FLAGSTAFF

FLINT

FLORENCE

FLORENCE-
MUSCLE
SHOALS

FOND DU LAC

FORT COLLINS

FORT
SMITH

FORT WAYNE

FRESNO

GADSDEN

GAINESVILLE

GAINESVILLE

GETTYSBURG

GLENS FALLS

GOLDS-
BORO

GRAND
FORKS

GRAND ISLAND

GRAND JUNCTION

GRAND RAPIDS-

KENTWOOD

GRANTS PASS

GREAT FALLS

GREELEY

GREEN BAY

GREENSBORO-

HIGH POINT
GREEN-

VILLE

GREENVILLE-

ANDERSON

GULFPORT-BILOXI

HAGERSTOWN-

MARTINSBURG

HAM-
MOND

HANFORD-CORCORAN

HARRISBURG-

CARLISLE

HARRISONBURG

HARTFORD-

EAST HARTFORD-

MIDDLETOWN

HATTIESBURG

HICKORY-
LENOIR-

MORGANTON

HINESVILLE

HOMOSASSA
SPRINGS

HOT
SPRINGS

HOUMA-THIBODAUXHOUSTON-THE WOODLANDS-SUGAR LAND

HUNTINGTON-

ASHLAND

HUNTSVILLE

IDAHO FALLS

INDIANAPOLIS-
CARMEL-

ANDERSON

IOWA
CITY

ITHACA

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSONVILLE

JACKSON-
VILLE

JANESVILLE-
BELOIT

JEFFERSON CITY

JOHNSON
CITY

JOHNS-
TOWN

JONESBORO

JOPLIN

KALAMAZOO-
PORTAGE

KANKAKEE

KANSAS CITY

KENNEWICK-RICHLAND

KILLEEN-TEMPLE

KINGSPORT-
BRISTOL

KINGSTON

KNOXVILLE

KOKOMO

LA CROSSE-
ONALASKA

LAFAYETTE

LAFAYETTE-WEST LAFAYETTE

LAKE CHARLES

LAKE HAVASU CITY-KINGMAN

LAKELAND-

WINTER HAVEN

LANCASTER

LANSING-
EAST

LANSING

LAREDO

LAS CRUCES

LAS VEGAS-HENDERSON-PARADISE

LAWRENCE

LAWTON

LEBANON

LEWISTON
LEWISTON-

AUBURN

LEXINGTON-
FAYETTE

LIMA

LINCOLN

LITTLE ROCK-
NORTH LITTLE ROCK-

CONWAY

LOGAN

LONGVIEW

LONGVIEW

LOS ANGELES-LONG BEACH-ANAHEIM

LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON

COUNTY

LUBBOCK

LYNCHBURG

MADERA

MADISON

MANCHESTER-

NASHUA

MANHATTAN

MANKATO

MANS-
FIELD

McALLEN-
EDINBURG-

MISSION

MEDFORD

MEMPHIS

MERCED

MICHIGAN CITY-
LA PORTE

MIDLAND

MIDLAND

MILWAUKEE-
WAUKESHA

MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL-
BLOOMINGTON

MISSOULA

MOBILE

MODESTO

MONROE

MONROE

MONTGOMERY

MORGANTOWN

MORRIS-
TOWN

MOUNT VERNON-ANACORTES

MUNCIE

MUSKEGON

MYRTLE BEACH-CONWAY-NORTH MYRTLE BEACH

NAPA

NAPLES-

MARCO ISLAND

NASHVILLE-DAVIDSON--

MURFREESBORO--FRANKLIN

NEW BERN

NEW
HAVEN-
MILFORD

NEW ORLEANS-METAIRIE

NEW YORK-NEWARK-JERSEY CITY

NILES

NORTH PORT-SARASOTA-BRADENTON

NORWICH-
NEW

LONDON

OCALA

OCEAN CITY

ODESSA

OGDEN-CLEARFIELD

OKLAHOMA CITY

OLYMPIA-LACEY-TUMWATER

OMAHA-
COUNCIL
BLUFFS

ORLANDO-

KISSIMMEE-

SANFORD

OSHKOSH-
NEENAH

OWENSBORO

OXNARD-THOUSAND OAKS-VENTURA

PANAMA
CITY

PARKERSBURG-

VIENNA

PENSACOLA-
FERRY PASS-

BRENT

PEORIA

PHILADELPHIA-CAMDEN-

WILMINGTON

PHOENIX-MESA-CHANDLER

PINE BLUFF

PITTSBURGH

PITTS-
FIELD

POCATELLO

PORTLAND-

SOUTH

PORTLAND

PORTLAND-VANCOUVER-HILLSBORO

PORT
ST. LUCIE

PRESCOTT VALLEY-PRESCOTT

PROVO-OREM

PUEBLO

PUNTA GORDA

RACINE

RALEIGH-
CARY

RAPID CITY

READINGREDDING

RENO

RICHMOND

RIVERSIDE-SAN BERNARDINO-ONTARIO

ROANOKE

ROCHESTER

ROCHESTER

ROCKFORD

ROCKY MOUNT

ROME

SACRAMENTO-ROSEVILLE-FOLSOM

SAGINAW

ST. CLOUD

ST. GEORGE

ST. JOSEPH

ST. LOUIS

SALEM

SALINAS

SALISBURY

SALT LAKE CITY

SAN ANGELO

SAN ANTONIO-
NEW BRAUNFELS

SAN DIEGO-CHULA VISTA-CARLSBAD

SAN FRANCISCO-OAKLAND-BERKELEY

SAN JOSE-SUNNYVALE-SANTA CLARA

SAN LUIS OBISPO-PASO ROBLES

SANTA CRUZ-WATSONVILLE

SANTA FE

SANTA MARIA-SANTA BARBARA

SANTA ROSA-PETALUMA

SAVANNAH

SCRANTON--

WILKES-BARRE

SEATTLE-TACOMA-BELLEVUE

SEBRING-

AVON PARK

SHEBOYGAN

SHERMAN-
DENISON

SHREVEPORT-
BOSSIER CITY

SIERRA VISTA-DOUGLAS

SIOUX CITY

SIOUX FALLS

SOUTH
BEND-

MISHAWAKA

SPARTAN-
BURG

SPOKANE-SPOKANEVALLEY

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRING-
FIELD

STATE
COLLEGE

STAUNTON

STOCKTON

SUMTER

SYRACUSE

TALLAHASSEE

TAMPA-

ST. PETERSBURG-

CLEARWATER

TERRE
HAUTE

TEXARKANA

THE
VILLAGES

TOLEDO

TOPEKA

TRENTON-
PRINCETON

TUCSON

TULSA

TUSCALOOSA

TYLER

UTICA-ROME

VALDOSTA

VALLEJO

VICTORIA

VINELAND-

BRIDGETON

VISALIA

WACO

WALLA WALLA

WARNER
ROBINS

WASHINGTON-

ARLINGTON-

ALEXANDRIA

WATERLOO-
CEDAR FALLS

WATERTOWN-

FORT DRUM

WAUSAU-
WESTON

WEIRTON-

STEUBENVILLE

WENATCHEE

WHEELING

WICHITA

WICHITA FALLS

WILLIAMSPORT

WILMINGTON

WINCHESTER

WINSTON-

SALEM

WORCESTER

YAKIMA

YORK-

HANOVER

YUBA CITY

YUMA

Vidalia

Vin-
cennes

Vineyard

Haven

Wa-
bash

Wahpeton

Wapakoneta

Warren

Warrensburg

Warsaw

Washington

Washington

Washington
Court House

Watertown

Watertown-
Fort

Atkinson

Wauchula

Waycross

Weatherford

West
Plains

White-
water

Williston

Willmar

Wilming-
ton

Wilson

Winnemucca

Winona

Wisconsin
Rapids-

Marshfield

Woodward

Wooster

Worthington

Yankton

Zanesville

Zapata

PALM BAY-MELBOURNE-TITUSVILLE

SEBASTIAN-VERO BEACH

MIAMI-
FORT LAUDERDALE-

POMPANO BEACH

CUMBERLAND

PROVIDENCE-

WARWICK

BOSTON-CAMBRIDGE-NEWTON

YOUNGSTOWN-

WARREN-
BOARDMAN

Point
Pleasant

HILTON HEAD ISLAND-BLUFFTON

VIRGINIA BEACH-NORFOLK-NEWPORT NEWS

Fort
Payne

MACON-BIBB
COUNTY

Eufaula

Atmore

Bonham

Ruidoso

Fairmont

Central
City

Browns-
ville

Pella

Carroll

Grand Rapids

Jennings

West
Point

St. Marys

Hope

Jasper

Alexander City

Scotts-
burg

Minden

POUGHKEEPSIE-

NEWBURGH-

MIDDLETOWN

Union

Granbury

Pearsall

Rockport

Mount Gay-

Shamrock

Anaheim-Santa Ana-Irvine

Boston

Cambridge-Newton-

Framingham

Camden

Chicago-
Naperville-

Evanston

Dallas-Plano-Irving

Detroit-
Dearborn-
Livonia

Elgin

Fort Lauderdale-

Pompano Beach-
Sunrise

Fort Worth-
Arlington-Grapevine

Gary

Lake County-
Kenosha County

Los Angeles-Long Beach-Glendale

Miami-
Miami Beach-

Kendall

Montgomery

County-Bucks

County-Chester County

Nassau County-

Suffolk CountyNewark

Oakland-Berkeley-Livermore

Philadelphia

Rockingham
County-

Strafford County

San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City

San
Rafael

Seattle-Bellevue-Kent

Frederick-
Gaithersburg-

Rockville

Tacoma-Lakewood

Warren-Troy-Farmington Hills

Washington-
Arlington-

Alexandria

West Palm Beach-

Boca Raton-

Boynton Beach

Wilmington

New York-Jersey City-White Plains

New Brunswick-Lakewood

70°W75°W115°W120°W

120°W125°W130°W

50°N

25°N

Pacific Ocean

Gulf of Mexico

Atlantic Ocean

C A N A D A

M E X I C O

110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W

115°W120°W

75°W 70°W

125°W 120°W

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

25°N

55°N 115°W 110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W 75°W 70°W 65°W 60°W

AK

KETCHIKAN GATEWAY

MATANUSKA-SUSITNA

JUNEAU

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS
NORTH STAR

Juneau

Ketchikan

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS

60°N

150°W 130°W140°W160°W170°W170°E

50°N

Bering Sea

R U S S I A

C A N A D A

180°

55°N

65°N
70°N

HI

Hilo

Kapaa

KAHULUI-WAILUKU-LAHAINA

URBAN
HONOLULU

MAUI

HAWAII

HONOLULU

KAUAI

22°N

20°N

Pacific Ocean

160°W 156°W158°W 154°W

PR CIALES
COROZALMOROVIS

PONCE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

UTUADO

ADJUNTAS

AGUADILLA

AGUAS
BUENAS

AIBONITO

AÑASCO

ARROYO

BARRAN-
QUITAS

BA
YA

M
ÓN

CABO
ROJO

CAGUAS
NAGUABO

NARANJITO

PEÑUELAS

QUEBRADILLAS

RINCÓN

SALINAS

SAN
JUAN

SAN
LORENZO

SANTA
ISABEL

TOA ALTA

TOA BAJA

TRUJILLOALTO

VEGA
BAJA

VILLALBAYAUCO

CANÓVANAS

CAYEY

CEIBA

CIDRA

COAMO

FAJARDO

FL
OR

IDA

GUÁNICA

GU
AY

AN
ILL

A

GU
AY

NA
BO

GURABO

HORMIGUEROS

HUMACAO

LAJAS

LARES

LA
S PIE

DRA
S

LUQUILLO

MAUNABO

CAMUY

HATILLO

LOÍZA

PATILLAS
SABANA
GRANDE

SAN SEBASTIÁN

YABUCOA

JUNCOS

JUANA
DÍAZ

AGUADA

BARCELONETA

CAROLINA

COMERÍO

GUAYAMA

JAYUYA

MANATÍ

OROCOVIS

SAN
GERMÁN

VEGA
ALTAARECIBO

CATAÑO

DORADO

ISABELA

MOCA

RÍO
GRANDE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

LAS MARÍASMAYAGÜEZ

SAN GERMÁN
GUAYAMA

ARECIBO

SAN JUAN-BAYAMÓN-CAGUAS
AGUADILLA-ISABELA

PONCE

Coco

Coamo

Santa
Isabel

Jayuya

YAUCO

68°W

18°30'N

Atlantic Ocean

Caribbean Sea

67°30'W 67°W 66°30'W 66°W 65°30'W

18°N

Puerto Rico

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE Economics and Statistics Administration U.S. Census Bureau
Prepared by the Geography Division, April 2019

Miles0 100 200

Kilometers0 100 200

1:16,000,000

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

0 10 20 30 40 Miles

0 10 20 30 40 Kilometers

1:1,200,000

Legend

Outside Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

BALTIMORE* Core Based Statistical Area Incorporated Place
that is legally independent of any county

CUMBERLAND Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

Urbanized Area or Urban Cluster with a
population of 10,000 or more in 2010

Metropolitan Statistical AreaYAKIMA

Shelton Micropolitan Statistical Area

Metropolitan DivisionNewark

International

KS State (or statistical equivalent)

Core Based Statistical Area Description

The United States Office of Management and Budget delineates metropolitan
and micropolitan statistical areas, which are referred to collectively as "core
based statistical areas" (CBSAs). The general concept of the metropolitan and
micropolitan statistical area is that of a core area containing a substantial
population nucleus, together with adjacent communities having a high degree
of economic and social integration with that core. Metropolitan statistical
areas contain at least one urbanized area of 50,000 or more population;
micropolitan statistical areas contain at least one urban cluster of at least
10,000 and less than 50,000 population. If specified criteria are met,
a metropolitan statistical area containing a single core with a population
of 2.5 million or more may be subdivided into metropolitan divisions, which
function as distinct areas within the larger metropolitan statistical area.
CBSAs are composed of entire counties. There are 392 metropolitan
statistical areas, of which 11 are subdivided into 31 metropolitan divisions,
and 546 micropolitan statistical areas in the United States and Puerto Rico,
as of September 2018.

CBSA boundaries and titles are as of September 2018, and reflect the
application of the 2010 Standards for Delineating Metropolitan and Micropolitan
Statistical Areas to Census Bureau data. All other boundaries and names are as of
January 1, 2018.

Source Description

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas
of the United States and Puerto Rico

September 2018

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas of the United States and Puerto Rico September 2018

Population Division, (301) 763-2419.

Resources
Further information about geographic areas delineated under the metropolitan and micropolitan
statistical area standards is available at "Metro and Micro Areas" within the "Surveys/Programs"

area of the Census Bureau's Internet Site at www.census.gov, or by contacting:



Summary

The Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area has existed since the creation of SMSA in the 1950 
Census.  To represent that the Akron MSA did not exist before 2003 or didn’t exist in the 1980 
or 1990 U.S. Census is incorrect and misleading to the current discussion.  The Cleveland MSA 
has never included Summit and Portage Counties. The Akron MSA is and has been made up of 
Summit and Portage Counties since 1970.

AZ

AR

CA CO

CT

DC

GA

IL

IN

LA

MN

MS

MT

NM

ND

OK

PA

TN

VA

DE

WV

WI

WY

AL

FL

ID

KS

MD

NJ

NC

SC

WA

VT

UT

IA

KY

ME

MA

MI

MO

NE

NV

NH

NY

OH

OR

RI
SD

TX

ELDORADO

PLACER

DE
AR

BO
RN

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

WAYNE

ADAMS

PIATT

TIPPECANOE

OAKLAND

CHRISTIAN

GARFIELD

MONTGOMERY

LYNN

DUNN

ISABELLA

MEDINA

POLK

CADDO

ST. LOUIS

ASHTABULA

COFFEE

TUOLUMNE

PAULDING

CUMBERLAND

SCOTT

GEAUGA

DAWSON

GILLESPIE

PETERSBURG*

LYON

HOOD

HALE

ST. LUCIE

ESCAMBIA

HARALSON

BALTIMORE*

BRANCH

ALCORN

FRANKLIN

ARLINGTON

NEWTON

SPALDING

WAKE

KNOX

MARTINSVILLE*

MARATHON

MAHASKA

MENOMINEE

ATASCOSA

GREENE

HERNANDO

FRANKLIN

CHESAPEAKE*

ST. FRANCIS

GRANT

LINCOLN

PETTIS

GENESEE

MARION

TAYLOR

TOM GREEN

DANE

PHELPS

HANSON

FAIRFIELD

STEUBEN

MOWER

CASS

ERIE

MINNEHAHA

TELLER

MACOUPIN

KENDALL

HENRY

LAPEEROLMSTED

WEXFORD

JEFFERSON

KEWAUNEE

MOHAVE

MARSHALL

JOSEPHINE

ANDREWS

MATHEWS

HOT
SPRING

BOISE

MENARD

LAWRENCE

PUTNAM

MADISON

GENESEE

MONTEREY

MONTGOMERY

HANCOCK

CHELAN

CASS

SCHUYLER

BRADFORD

NUECES

SPOKANE

MORGAN

TIFT

LaSALLE

DUBOIS

FORD

EATON

DODGE

STARK

KENDALL

JOHNSON

CALUMET

BARTON

FLATHEAD

IRION

VERM
ILLION

SCOTTS BLUFF

PUTNAM

RENVILLE

RACINE

DeKALB

MADISON

MARSHALL

LINN

ALLEGAN

CREEK

LOGAN

FRANKLIN

STUTSMAN

HOPEWELL*

LEE

RANDOLPH

MACON

STORY

MASSAC

OUTAGAMIE

CERRO
GORDO

CLAY

WASHINGTON

SALINE

VANCE

WINNEBAGO

PORTER

CHRISTIAN

NOBLE

ALAMANCE

CHAMPAIGN

CHRISTIAN

COLONIAL
HEIGHTS*

FAIRFAX*

HARRISONBURG*

BECKHAM

BUTLER

SEDGWICK

BLACK HAWK

DeSOTO

BUENA VISTA

COLLIN

CORYELL

HARVEY

COWLEY

IONIA

KALAMAZOO

KENT

DODGE

MUSKEGON

FREEBORN

ST. JOSEPH

DOUGLAS

FALLS

UNION

BANDERA

GRUNDY

LINCOLN

RALLS

CHARLOTTESVILLE*

MARINETTE

BOWIE

CLARKE

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

LINN

CALDWELL

STEELE

CLAY

CLINTON

HENDRICKS

KEARNY

WYOMING

McKEAN
LIVINGSTON

BELKNAP

CARROLL

MADISON

LUNA

COOS

McLEOD

NEWTON

CA
BA

RR
US

MENOMINEE

SANBENITO

MADISON

INDIAN
RIVER

STOKES

ST.
JOSEPH

KNOX

MERCER

MIAMI

McPHERSON

McLEAN

SAN BERNARDINO

JONES

DAWSON

WASCO

MILLE
LACS

GILCHRIST

PICKAWAY

LEBANON

BROWN

HAYS

BEN HILL

CATOOSA

JONES

WALWORTH

CARSONCITY*

CALHOUN

DALLAS

PUTNAM

FRANKLIN

MONROE

MUSKINGUM

PERRY

STARK

RICHLAND

ROSS

WILLIAMSON

HARDEE

TUSCARAWAS

UNION

WARREN

MADISON

WILSON

PIKE

COSHOCTON

ARMSTRONG

FAYETTE

RICE

CLEVELAND

BREMER

ROCK-
WALL

SAN LUIS OBISPO

ADAMS

OLDHAM

OTTER TAIL

SANTA FE

HILLSDALE

WILLIAMSBURG*

DELAWARE

CRAWFORD

FOND DU LAC

CARROLL

MIDLAND

FAYETTE

BOONE

SHIAWASSEE

JACKSON

MARION

MIAMI

MONTGOMERY

POLK

OGLE

NEVADA

KINGS

SHASTA

OTTAWA

POLK

CASS

SCHLEY

NORTON*

HAMPTON*

HOWELL

MIDLAND

ARAPAHOE

SCURRY
JONES

CURRY

CALLAHAN

UPSHUR

CORTLAND

GOSPER

HUNT

BROOME

CARTER

WALKER

FULTON

BROOKE

PICKENS

MONON-
GALIA

SU
NFLO

WER

CALDWELL

DODDRIDGE

NASSAU

TAYLOR

CLINTON

FLAGLER

SEMINOLE

PAYNE

PIKE

JASPER

DALE

HOWARD

ELLIS

ORLEANS

WARREN

KOSCIUSKO

PERRY

TORRANCE

LINCOLN

MARION

COCONINO

GRAVES

PULASKI

GILA

WOODFORD

SANTA BARBARA

LIBERTY

PUTNAM

MANASSAS
PARK*

ELMORE

GREENE

COLQUITT

JEFFERSON

SAN PATRICIO

SUFFOLK*

OKTIBBEHA

COOSA

LABETTE

HENRY

TEHAMA

ELBERT

BARTHOLOMEW

ERATH

CARLTON

W
ASHINGTON

HURON

ECTOR

LINCOLN

SPENCER

HOCKING

SANDUSKY

CRAVEN

MIDDLESEX

EDMUNDS

TAYLOR

WASHTENAW

KOOTENAI

GRANT

WEBSTER

RADFORD*

ROOSEVELT

FORREST

DOUGHERTY

BROWN

McPHERSON

SAGINAW

WEAKLEY

POLK

DELAWARE

MOORE

ADAMS

DEAF SMITH

TOOMBS

SENECA

GUERNSEY

LITTLE RIVER

LENAWEE

WASHINGTON

LAWRENCE

HENRY

ARCHER

SEWARD

NOBLES

McLENNAN

WAPELLO

BENTON

RENO

BOND

JOHNSON

CROSBY

INGHAM

HARNETT

TURNER

WILLIAMSON

GRAFTON

GARFIELD

MADISON

HEARD

LORAIN

COFFEE

CARSON

WYANDOTTE

WAYNE

CRAWFORD

ISANTI

OKMULGEE

BUFFALO

WABASH

BOONE

SHAWANO

KERR

POQUOSON*

LYNCHBURG*

DeKALB

PONTOTOC

WORTH

OSCEOLA

HOWARD

MIAMI GATES

GRUNDY

WALTON

PERSON

LOGAN

ROCKLAND

RAPPA-
HANNOCK

ALLEGANY

POINSETT

BENTON

GUILFORD

CLINTON

SUMMIT

McDONOUGH

MORGAN

DADE

LOS ANGELES

JEFFERSON

STEPHENS

FINNEY

MARSHALL

BUTLER

WEBSTER

CHIPPEWA

FRESNO

MERCER

PEORIA

ALEX-
ANDRIA*

JACKSON

BEADLE

MADISON

PORTAGE

ANDERSON

UINTA

KEMPER

MARSHALL

CARROLL

HENDRY

GRAND ISLE

WHATCOM

MERCER

BERKELEY

LOGAN

TOLLAND

SUSSEX

ADAMS

OHIO

KNOX

TRIGG

MEADE

TULARE

NORFOLK

WORCESTER

WAYNE

MIDDLES
EX

WESTCHESTER

CAYUGA

RENSSELAER

CRAWFORD

LOWNDES

GARLAND

PITKIN

ROUTT

W
HI

TF
IEL

D

WAYNE

BRACKEN

JEFFERSON

CAMERON

ORLEANS

ALPENA

CHIPPEWA

MORGAN

JASPER

PULASKI

ANOKA

LEE

ADAIR

DODGE

WILKES

COFFEE

DENTON

BENZIE

FLOYD

COMAL

BALDWIN

MORGAN

BELL

SALT LAKE

SAUK

LANCASTER

GASTON

RANDOLPH

ST. CLAIR

SCOTT

SULLIVAN

GRAND FORKS
CLATSOP

PICKENS

BLOUNT

JEFFERSON

ISLE OF
WIGHT

SALINE

KERN

PUEBLO

BARROW

COBB

UPSON

HANCOCK

DuPAGE

TAZEWELL

HANCOCK

PIKE

BOONE

KENNEBEC

CARVER

LINCOLN

SCHOHARIE

CALDWELL

CANADIAN

WOODWARD

CROOK

POSEY

JONES

LEFLORE

BOONE

BOSSIER

CHISAGO

WASHINGTON

SALEM*

McHENRY

PHILLIPS

VENTURA

IMPERIAL

LITCHFIELD

HILLSBOROUGH

CHATTA-
HOOCHEE

SULLIVAN

SCOTT

LEAVENW
ORTH

ISLAND

MORRIS

ONTARIO

FORSYTH

CHATHAM

ETOWAH

DALLAS

GRAHAM

KNOX

CLEAR
CREEK

BUTTS

FULTON

COWETA

OCONEE

WEST
BATON

ROUGE

GUTHRIE

BOURBON

RAPIDES

SALINE

PIERCE

SUFFOLK

NIAGARA

KLEBERG

CRAIG

LIVINGSTON

DORCHESTER

ROANE

HOWARD

BRAZOS

OLDHAM

CAMPBELL

HARDIN

TALBOT

NODAWAY

CASS

PRINCE
GEORGE

IOWA

SHERBURNE

WALKER

YORK

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

COCHISE

MILLER

ORANGE

OWYHEE

MARICOPA

KANKAKEE

STOREY

DU
RH

AM

STARK

MONTOUR

VENANGO

LYON

GLOUCESTER

ORANGE

GEORGETOWN

ANDERSON

YANKTON

CHAMBERS

CLAY

UINTAH

ORANGE

SNOHOMISH

BROWN

WOOD

YAVAPAI

JEFFERSON

FREMONT

CAMAS

BINGHAM

BULLITT

HOWARD

RA
MSE

Y

BROWN

TATE

CASCADE

YELLOWSTONE

MERRICK

BEDFORD

OTERO

LOGAN

ONONDAGA

MARLBORO

BRONX

BREVARD

CHAMPAIGN

CLARK

JEFFERSON

DAKOTA

GRANVILL
E

ALLEGHENY

LINCOLN

CLARK

LAURENS

DUNKLIN

SURRY

DAUPHIN

IREDELL

ARMSTRONG

ATLANTIC

ST. MARY

CHESTERFIELD

AIKEN

SUFFOLK

BERKS

CALLOWAY

LEXINGTON

PERRYERIE

KENOSHA

NEW
CASTLE

CHARLOTTE

HARTFORD

PENNINGTON

ARANSAS

BEAUFORT

ST. CROIX

SHEBOYGAN

DELTA

SCOTT

BUNCOMBE

ELKHART

YADKIN

WICOMICO

AN
DR

OS
CO

GG
IN

CRAWFORD

COOKE

WISE

JASPER

CHARLESTON

AUSTIN

TETON

RICHLAND

NEWBERRY

SCHUYLKILL

YUBA

JOHNSON

CASSIA

EDDY

DICKINSON

HOPKINS

RUTHERFORD

DICKSON

CAMBRIA

CLAY

BEE

SHERIDAN

ROCKINGHAM

SUMTER

SALUDA

NEWPORT

LAWRENCE

SOMERSET

GALVESTON

FAULKNER

DeKALB

GRATIOT

HOUGHTON

CENTRE

HAWKINS
SULLIVAN

DARLINGTON

DELAWARE

BRISTOL

WASHINGTON

FRANKLIN

HAMPDEN

HENDERSON

SEBASTIAN

CUSTER

TIPTON

SUMNER

CLINTON

KNOX

RUTLAND

HANCOCK

SKAMANIA

LAMAR

JEROME

NEW LONDON

LIVINGSTON

TROUP

VIGO

BRANTLEY

MANATEE

SAN JOAQUIN

McCRACKEN

FILLMORE

KENT

HILLSBOROUGH

CO
LU

MBIA

CACHE

LE SUEUR

YAKIMA

WALLAWALLA

WHITMAN

RICHLAND

NELSON

DALLAS

STAFFORD

CHILTON

WOOD

EAGLE

HIGHLANDS

NEW
 HAVEN

DAVIS

CUMBERLAND

KEWEENAW

UTAH

LARAMIE

ALBEMARLE

GALLATIN

MONTGOMERY

WINDSOR

FR
AN

KL
IN

CLINTON

FLOYD

BALDWIN

AMELIA

MARION

NEWTON

CLARK

OZ
AU

KE
E

ROBERTSON

MARION

CROCKETT

GORDON

FRANKLIN

CHAVES

LEELANAU

MISSAUKEE

SPOTSYLVANIA

MERRIMACK

DYER

HOKE

STANISLAUS

FREMONT

JACKSON

ALACHUA

MADISON

HUNTINGDON

OWEN

WOODBURY

FRANKLIN

DAVIESS

WASHINGTON

OTTAWA

SUMNER

SCOT-
LANDLOUDON

HUGHES

CHESTER

GREENUP

MACON

MINIDOKA

LAKE

LACKA-
WANNA

SHELBY

LANCASTER

LAWRENCE

LEHIGH

LACLEDE

CHEROKEE

PIERCE

CONTRA COSTA

EFFINGHAM

OVERTON

POLK

ROWAN

WILL

CLINTON

LUZERNE

LAFAYETTE

WARREN

OSAGE

GEM

PAYETTE

DARE

BELL

DAVIDSON

BLUE EARTH

POTTAWATOMIE

McHENRY

WHITLEY

WASHINGTON

MONTGOMERY

SO
M

ER
SE

T

ULSTER

DAVIE

YORK

BOYD

BUTLER

OTTAWA

PAMLICO

TEXAS

PRINCE
WILLIAM

MANASSAS*

NORTHAMP-
TON

CAMDEN

HARDIN

JEFFER-
SON

ELMORE

MERCED

PIERCE

CHESTER

MARTIN

TARRANT

BURLINGTON

CUMBERLAND

BEAUFORT

CAMDEN

NEW
HANOVER

LUCAS

STEUBEN

RUTHERFORD

LAKE

LINCOLN

SPARTANBURG

BUTTE

CLAYTON

LONG

JACKSON

DAVIESS

HAMILTON

FLUVANNA

OSAGE

BRYAN

YORK

MATAGORDA

LAFAYETTE

LYON

CHEROKEE

THURSTON

KANAWHA

NATRONA

SAUNDERS

PROVIDENCE

ZAPATA

IRON

MOORE

OKLAHOMA

CLACKAMAS

SNYDER

UNION

STANLEY

SIOUX

DOÑA ANA

JOHNSON

HALL

CRAWFORD

DENVER

TERRELL

CUMBERLAND

DALLAS

WIN-
CHESTER*

BEDFORD

GOLIAD

QUEENS

UNION

ORANGE

NEWTON

WORTH

BUREAU

JASPER

PICKENS

CHEROKEE

DECATUR

FAYETTE

JOHNSON

GEARY

ROGERS

PULASKI

MADISON

WILSON

CHARLES

HAMILTON

GRANT

HENRY

METCALFE

BELTRAMI

LAFAYETTE

COLE

JESSAMINE

FR
ANKLIN

RAY

CHURCHILL

LEE

PORTAGE

RICHMOND

DUVAL

OLIVER

ORANGEBURG

MORTON

NORTH-

UMBERLAND

WESTMORELAND

MAURY
WARREN

JEFFERSON

LIBERTY

TWIN FALLS

ST. CLAIR

ALEXANDER

PIKE

DE SOTO

McKINLEY

CHEATHAM

NAVARRO

HOPKINS

HUTCHINSON

UVALDE

WARR
EN

HALL

CHEMUNG

DeKALB

SANTA CLARA

MONTGOMERY

NEW KENT

CULPEPER

STANTON

CASS

BULLOCH

SMITH

MOBILE

PLAQUEMINES

WASHINGTON

CHARLESCITY

COLUMBIA

GREENE

LAMPASAS

COMANCHE

CABELL

HOCKLEY

LASSEN

McINTOSH

JACKSON

CLAY

HUMBOLDT

RIO ARRIBA

GRANT

COLUMBIA

JEFFERSON

GUADALUPE

POTTER

ANDERSON

RICHMOND*

FRANKLIN

CRITTENDEN

LEE

BRYAN

LAKE

HAMILTON

BUTLER

JACKSON

ADAMS

GREENVILLE

LINCOLN

WARREN

JEFFERSON

CANYON

PINAL

MONROE

ANNE
ARUNDEL

ANDREW

EDGEFIELD

WASHINGTON

WISE

CAMPBELL

TUSCALOOSA

NACOGDOCHES

BENTON

SANTACRUZ

WINNEBAGO

ALLEN

BOONE

IBERIA

PIMA

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

WASHOE

UNION

PASSAIC

MONROE

DOUGLAS

ADA

BUTTE

FAYETTE

HUMBOLDT

CHATTOOGA

JERSEY

SAGADAHOC

ST.
MARY'S

PLYMOUTH

ST.
MARTIN

JEFFERSON

GALLIA

BUCKS

BARREN

LAUREL

SCOTT

HINDS

WEBSTER

ATCHISON
MASON

ST. BERNARD

CALCASIEU

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

CAMPBELL

WILLACY

JUAB

ORANGE

LINCOLN

JOHNSTON

WAGONER

HARRISON

ITAWAMBA

NYE

CLALLAM

ASOTIN

ROCK

MADISON

MOORETULSA

BURLESON

TIOGA

CALHOUN

CLARKE

SCOTT

SCHENECTADY

ROCKINGHAM

MARION

SEQUOYAH

COLUMBIA

TANEY

CALLAWAY

CANNON

GRAY

GRANT

LATAH

DAVIDSON

TAZEWELL

TUNICA

BRAZORIA

BRISTOL*

FLORENCE

CLAY

SANDOVAL

PALO PINTO

WARREN

GREENE

WALTON

CALHOUN

CLARK

RO
CK

-
DA

LE

SANGAMON

GRENADA

BERNALILLO

JACKSON

JOHNSON

MONT-
  GOMERY

CARROLL

STEPHENSON

LIVINGSTON

HOUSTON

DICKINSON

MERCER

MARION

KEARNEY

DEFIANCE

SILVER BOW

BURKE

BATH

MORROW

HAYWOOD

ALBANY

BENTON

BERRIEN

HENRY

KANDIYOHI

PITTSBURG

FULTON

BRADLEY

GILES

ROANOKE*

MONROE

LAMAR

PENDLETON

MIFFLIN

WILKIN

MAHONING

GRAINGER

BOONE

DORCHESTER

UNION

BUCHANAN

MAVERICK

LIVINGSTON

ST.
LOUIS*

ONSLOW

HENRY

HANCOCK

KALKASKA

COWLITZ

LAWRENCE

LIMESTONE

BAXTER

BLOUNT

LAURENS

CATTARAUGUS

MEADE

DUKES

CODINGTON

YELL

DAVISON

WILSON

HENDERSON

WAUKESHA

CITRUS

SARPY

JASPER

SIMPSON

DIXON

IBERVILLE

ONEIDA

MISSISSIPPI

RICHMOND

GADSDEN LEONOKALOOSA

PUTNAM

EFFINGHAM

OBION

WASHINGTON

ST.
CLAIR

VAL VERDE

PERRY

KITTITAS

SANTA ROSA

HARRIS

CARBON

REEVES

LAKE

CHAMBERS

WINDHAM

MARQUETTE

PASQUOTANK

DANVILLE*

POLK

SH
EL

BY

WARREN

BLAIR

KITSAP

WAKULLA

WARE
GREGG

RANDALL

BROWARD

VERMILION

BEAUREGARD

MONROE

WALLER

WASHINGTON

CAMPBELL

CLARKE

DeSOTO

LAWRENCE

LINCOLN

BANNER

OCONEE

HORRY

WAYNE

W
OODFORD

GREENE

BELMONT

ATHENS

WASHINGTON

OHIO

SALEM

CARTERET

LANCASTER

EDMONSON

HERKIMER

MONROE

MADISON

TITUS

PENOBSCOT

LOS ALAMOS

MUSKOGEE

FORT BEND

FREDERICKS-
BURG*

POTTAWATOMIE

JACKSON

SENECA

GREENWOOD

PIKE

GAGE

MIAMI-DADE

UNION

DES
MOINES

FREDERICK

KINGS

M
AR

SH
AL

L

HALE

LOGAN

BLAINE

SANTA CRUZ

SARASOTA

BONNER

ST. J
OHN THE

BAPTIST

PAWNEE

ALBANY

ST. TAMMANY

MECKLENBURG

FAYETTE

MINERAL

WALKER

WELD

JEFFERSON

PRINCE
GEORGE'S

SONOMA

WINONA

POPE

MARION

EAST
FELICIANA

FRANKLIN

PLATTE

EL PASO

COLUMBIA

CRISP

DUTCHESS

SEVIER

HARRISON

HIDALGO

SOLANO

WABASHA

BATES

SUMTER

MILLS

ANDER
SO

N

McCLAIN

KAUFMAN

BOLLINGER

LA
CROSSE

OSWEGO

YOLO

BOX ELDER

JONES

CARBON

BARTOW

MONTROSE

WARREN

SHELBY

NAVAJO

DISTRICT OF

COLUMBIA

HARRISON

NEWPORT
NEWS*

FAIRFIELD

ST. LAWRENCE

CALHOUN

WHITESIDE

SUMMIT

COLLIER

GLYNN

SUMTER

PEARL RIVER

ST.
JAMES

NORFOLK*

MOREHOUSE

PORTSMOUTH*

JACKSON

TOOELE

BASTROP

WASATCH

TRAVIS

LINCOLN

AUGLAIZE

TERREBONNE

UNION

MISSOULA

GILPIN

ST.
FRANCOIS

WICHITA

MASON

VICTORIA

CLERMONT

WEBB

FAYETTE

MER
IW

ETH
ER

MONROE

CLARK

POWHATAN

AUTAUGA

CAMERON

BOONE

LOGAN

STEVENS

MUSCOGEE

OGLETHORPE

CUYAHOGA

VIRGINIA
BEACH*

MACOMB

WHITLEY

EL PASO

BROOKS

BENNINGTON

DOUGLAS

PO
TT

AW
AT

TA
M

IE

FORSYTH

MALHEUR

CALVERT

LEE

ELLIS

LAFOURCHE

KENEDY

BOTETOURT

WASHINGTON

WAYNESBORO*

GREEN

LEE

DONIPHAN

LUBBOCK

KANE

EAU CLAIRE

ALLEN

LEA

NAPA

WARREN

WILLIAMSON

LANIER

FULTON

TWIGGS

HAMPSHIRE

VERMILION

MUSCATINE

DOUGLAS

SHAWNEE

ELKO

ST.
HELENA

TANGIPAHOA

LARIMER

NORTHAMPTON

ESSEX

BROWN

KENT

CALHOUN

VANDERBURGH

HENDERSON

RIVERSIDE

FLORENCE

MULTNOMAH

HALIFAX

CLAY

NASH

ALLEN

WHITE

ASHLAND

ROANOKE

UNION

KERSHAW

OTTAWA

MONT-
GOMERY

POLK

McDUFFIE

CROW
WING

NATCHITOCHES

MORGAN

COAHOMA

PHILADELPHIA

WARD

CAMDEN

JEFFERSON

CURRY

CAPE
MAY

RILEY

COLUMBIANA

OCONTO

WOOD

HU
DS

ON

NEW
YORK

MARTIN

PALM BEACH

OSAGE

MARION

MORROW

OKEECHOBEE

WRIGHT

CHESHIRE

LEWIS AND CLARK

MENDOCINO

DARKE

DINWIDDIE

MOFFAT

FRANKLIN

ORANGE

LEWIS

BEAVER

CHAUTAUQUA

CHATHAM

TETON

MORGAN

PUTNAM

RALEIGH

SUSSEX

BIBB

LEWIS

COLUMBIA

ST. LOUIS

SACRAMENTO

OUACHITA

BAY

SCOTT

JEFFERSON

FAIRFIELD

HUNTING-
TON

LARUE

WILLIAMS

HUNTERDON

NEZ
PERCE

BURKE

KENTON

HOUSTON

MEDINA

GWINNETT

M
ILW

AUKEE

BOLIVAR

WAS
HIN

GT
ON

GRANT

UMATILLA

CARBON

BERKSHIRE

PLATTE

ST.
JOHNS

LOWNDES

BRUNSWICK

ASCENSION

KING

LAKE

JIM
WELLS

WIRT

LEE

SUTTER

MADERA

BAKER

SEWARD

CULLMAN

PASCO

SCIOTO

TRUMBULL

WHARTON

CLARK

RANKIN

FREMONT

NELSON

HANCOCK

STRAFFORD

HOODRIVER

DAWSON

McMINN

GOOCHLAND

MONITEAU

WAYNE
PITT

LaPORTE

MADISON

CLINTON

SANMATEO

SAN FRANCISCO

LO
W

ND
ES

BROOKINGS

DELNORTE

HUDSPETH

SEQUATCHIE

SMITH

MECOSTA

MONTCALM

HENNEPIN

GRANT

BEXAR

DOUGLAS

GRADY

CLEVELAND

KAY

MARSHALL

ESSEX

CARTER

HAMBLEN

CHESTER

ADAMS

MORGAN BALTIMORE

PONTOTOC

RANDOLPH

AUGUSTA

SWEETWATER

BUTLER

BANNOCK

HE
ND

ER
SO

N HAMPSHIRE

FAYETTE

COLUMBIA

THOMAS

DESCHUTES MIDDLESEX

GALLATIN
SUMMIT

STAUNTON*

SHELBY

WABAUNSEE

WEBER

JEFFERSON

EAST
BATON
ROUGE

JACKSON

ADAMS

DUBUQUE

LYCOMING

BAY

ACADIA

WATAUGA

CUMBERLAND

BROWN

YORK

CONCORDIA

TRAN-
SYLVANIA

TALLADEGA

SAN DIEGO

MANITOWOC

BOULDER

HOUSTON

LAMAR

SAN MIGUEL

RHEA

CALHOUN

CHEROKEE

McCOOK

HENRICO

APPOMATTOX

JAMES
CITY

TOMPKINS

COTTON

NOLAN

POINTE
COUPEE

BERGEN

BALLARD

SOMERSET

BENTON

WASHINGTON

McLEAN

M
UR

RA
Y

UNICOI

FAIRFAX

PARK

OTSEGO

SARATOGA

ST. LANDRY

INDEPENDENCE

COLES

INDIANA

MARIN

WORCESTER

CLARK

VERNON

CIBOLA

VAN WERT

WILBARGER

FRANKLIN

LANE

FREDERICK

YAZOO

LINCOLN

OCEAN

PRESTON

OUACHITA

MADISON

FALLS
CHURCH*

BROOMFIELD

EDGECOMBE

JACKSON

HABER-
SHAM

PI
NE

LL
AS

McDOWELL

KING WILLIAM

CECIL

CRAIGHEAD

BRISTOL

PITTSYLVANIA

JEFFERSON

UNION

WAYNE

COPIAH

PENDER

PARKER

AMHERST

CATAWBA

FAUQUIER

WASHINGTON

DECATUR

JEFFERSON

JACKSON

NASSAU

ST. CHARLES

HARRISON

CLAY

GRAND
TRAVERSE

CLINTON

JEFFERSON

LONOKE

JENNINGS

HENRY

BONNEVILLE

UNION

GENEVA

WARRICK

ALAMEDA

MASON

DOUGLAS

CURRI-
TUCK

COCKE

NICOLLET

STEARNS

CUMBERLAND

JASPER

WASHINGTON

ROBERTSON

MASON

MESA

HARRISON

LENOIR

GRAYS HARBOR

SKAGIT

ECHOLS

ALEXANDER

MADISON

RUSSELL

ANGELINA

MENIFEE

HANCOCK

PER-
QUIMANS

DOUGLAS

CLEVELAND

MERCER

GRAYSON

ST.
CHARLES

EUREKA

CHITTENDEN

VALENCIA

CLEARFIELD

CASS

DAKOTA

COOK

ROCK ISLAND

BENTON

BURLEIGH

BERKELEY

AUDRAIN

MONTGOMERY

GLOUCESTER

HANOVER

RUSK

STARR

HARFORD

BOYLE

M
AR

SH
AL

L

LICKING

SUSSEX

RICHMOND

LOUDOUN

LA PLATA

PEACH

STEPHENS

QUEEN
ANNE'S

SHELBY

ROCKINGHAM

TAOS

ROBESON

COLBERT

CARROLL

MONTGOMERY

LINN

STANLY

YUMA

WEST
FELICIANA

COOS

PIERCE

MONMOUTH

ERIE

DOUGLAS

SAN JUAN

GOODHUE

KLAMATH

JACKSON

BIBB

VOLUSIA

WASH-
INGTON

DOUGLAS

YATES

YAMHILL

TROUSDALE

BARNSTABLE

LINCOLN

PULASKI

HARRIS

DeKALB

BARBOUR

QUIT-
MAN

ESCAMBIA

LINCOLN

MARTIN

MUHLENBERG

HEMPSTEAD

NEVADA

JEFFERSON
DAVIS

TALLAPOOSA

FANNIN

HAYWOOD

CARROLL

MARION

CLAY

ITASCA

ELK

GREENE

WASHINGTON

SHARP

FRANKLIN

OURAY

LEVY

STEWART

TREUTLEN

ATKINSON

TALBOT

POWER

JOHNSON

WARREN

PARKE

FRANKLIN

CHASE
GREEN

EST
ILL

CLAY

CARTER

ASSUMPTION

LAKE

PRENTISS

WEBSTER

HOLMES

COVINGTON

STONE

HOWARD

COOPER

RIPLEY

STILLWATER

MORA

SWAIN ANSON

BILLINGS

ELLIS

LOVE

CLARENDON

JERAULD

HAMLIN

GIBSON

STEWART

ROBERTS

LOVING
STERLING

CAMP

FRIO

DUVAL

BLAND

MADISON

KING AND QUEEN

SOUTHAMPTON
FRANKLIN*

JACKSON

MORGAN

CROOK

WESTON

Aberdeen

Aberdeen

Ada

Adrian

Alamogordo

Albe-
marle

Albert Lea

Albertville

Alexandria

Alice

Alma

Alpena

Altus

Americus

Amsterdam

Andrews

Angola

Arcadia

Ardmore
Arkadelphia

Winfield

Ash-
land

Ashtabula

Astoria

Atchison

Athens

Athens

Athens

Auburn

Auburn

Augusta-

Waterville

Austin

Bainbridge

Baraboo

Bardstown

Barre

Bartlesville

Batavia

Batesville

Bay City

Beatrice

Beaver
Dam

Bedford

Beeville

Bellefon-
taine

Bemidji

Bennettsville

Bennington

Berlin

Big
Rapids

Big Spring

Big Stone
Gap

Blackfoot

Bluefield

Blytheville

Bogalusa

Boone

Borger

Bozeman

Bradford

Brainerd

Branson

Breckenridge

Brenham

Brevard

Brookhaven

Brookings Brookings

Brownwood

Bucyrus-
Galion

Burley

Burlington

Butte-
Silver Bow

Cadillac

Calhoun

Cambridge

Cambridge

Camden

Campbellsv
ille

Cañon City

Carlsbad-Artesia

Cedar City

Cedartown

Celina

Centralia

Centralia

Charleston-
Mattoon

Chillicothe

Lebanon

Clarksburg

Clarksdale

Clearlake

Cleveland

Clewiston

Clinton

Clovis

Coffeyville

Coldwater

Colum-
bus

Columbus

Concord

Con-
ners-

ville

Cookeville

Coos Bay

Cordele

Corinth

Cornelia

Corning

Corsicana

Cortland

Coshocton

Craig
Craw-
fords-

ville

CrescentCity

Crossville

Cullman

Cullowhee

Danville
Danville

Da
yto

n

De-
catur

Defiance

Del Rio

Deming

DeRidder

Dickinson

Dixon

Dodge City

Douglas

Dublin

DuBois

Dumas

Duncan

Durango

Durant

Dyersburg

Eagle Pass

Easton

Edwards

Effingham

El Campo

El Dorado

Elizabeth City

Elk City

Elkins

Elko

Ellensburg

Emporia

ENID

Enterprise

Escanaba

Española

Eureka-Arcata

Evanston

Fairfield

Fairmont
Fallon

Faribault-
Northfield

Farmington

Fergus Falls

Fernley

Findlay

Fitzgerald

Forest
City

Forrest City

Fort
Dodge

Fort
Leonard

Wood

Fort
Madison-

Keokuk

Fort Morgan

Fort Polk
South

Frankfort

Frank-
fort

Fredericksburg

Freeport

Fremont

Fremont

Gaffney

Gainesville

Gales-
burg

Gallup

Garden City

GardnervilleRanchos

Georgetown

Gillette

Glasgow

Glenwood Springs

Gloversville

Grants

Great
Bend

Greeneville

Greens-
burg

Greenville

Green-
ville

Greenwood

Green-
wood

Grenada

Guymon

Hailey

Hannibal

Harrison

Hastings

Hays

Heber

Helena

Helena-
West

Helena

Henderson

Hereford

Hermiston-Pendleton

Hillsdale

Hobbs

Holland

HoodRiver

Houghton

Hudson

Huntingdon

Hunt-
ing-
ton

Huntsville

Huron

Hutchinson

Hutchinson

Indiana

Indianola

Iron
Mountain

Jackson

Jackson

Jacksonville

Jackson-
ville

Jamestown

Jamestown-

Dunkirk-
Fredonia

Jasper

Jefferson

Jesup

Kalispell

Kearney

Keene

Kendall-
ville

Kennett

Kerrville

Key
West

Kill
Devil

Hills

Kingsville

Kinston

Kirksville

Klamath Falls

LaconiaLa Grande

LaGrange

Lake
City

Lamesa

Laramie

Las Vegas

Laurel

Laurin-
burg

Lawrenceburg

Lebanon

Levelland

Lewisburg

Lewis-
burg

Le
wist

ow
n

Lexington

Liberal

Lincoln

Lock
Haven

Logans-
port

London

Los Alamos

Luding-
ton

Lufkin

Lumberton

Macomb

Madison

Madison-
ville

Magnolia

Malone

Malvern

Manitowoc

Marietta

Marinette

Marion

Marion

Marion

Marquette

Marshall

Marshall

Marshall-
town

Martin

Martinsville

Maryville

Mason
City

May-
field

Maysville

McAlester

McComb

McMinn-
ville

McPherson

Meadville

Menomonie

Meridian

Mexico

Miami

Middles-
borough

Milledge-
ville

Mineral
Wells

Minot

Mitchell

Moberly

Montrose

Morehead City

Morgan
City

Moscow

Moses Lake

Moultrie

Mountain
Home

Mountain
Home

Mount
Airy

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Sterling

Mount
Vernon

Mount
Vernon

Murray

Muscatine

Muskogee

Nacogdoches

Natchez
Natchitoches

Newberry

New
Castle

New
Castle

New
Philadelphia-

Dover

Newport

Newport

New Ulm

Nogales

Norfolk

North Platte

North
 Vernon

North
Wilkesboro

Norwalk

OakHarbor

Ogdensburg-

Massena

Oil City

Okeechobee

Olean

Oneonta

Ontario

Opelousas

Orangeburg

Oskaloosa

Othello

Ottawa

Ottawa

Ottumwa

Owa-
tonna

Oxford

Ozark

Paducah

Pahrump

Palatka

Palestine

Pampa

Paragould

Paris

Paris

Parsons

Payson

Pecos

Peru

Picayune

Pierre

Pinehurst-
Southern

Pines

Pittsburg

Plainview

Platteville

Plattsburgh

Plymouth

Ponca City

Pontiac

Poplar Bluff

Portales

Port Angeles

Port
Lavaca

Portsmouth

Pottsville

Price

Prineville

Pullman

Quincy

Raymondville

Red Bluff

Red WingRexburg

Rich-
mond

Richmond-
Berea

Rio Grande
City-Roma

Riverton

Roanoke
Rapids

Rochelle

Rocking-
ham

Rock Springs

Rolla

Roseburg

Roswell

Russellville

Ruston

Rutland

Safford

St. Marys

Salem

Salina

Sandpoint

Sandusky

Sanford

Sault Ste. Marie

Sayre

Scottsbluff

Scottsboro
Searcy

Sedalia

Selinsgrove

Selma

Seneca

Seneca
Falls

Sevierville

Seymour

Shawano

Shawnee

Shelby

Shelbyville

Shelton

Sheridan

Show Low

Sidney

Sikeston

Silver City

Snyder

Somerset

Somerset

Sonora

Spearfish

Spencer

Spirit
Lake

Starkville

Statesboro

Steamboat
Springs

Stephenville

Sterling

Sterling

Stevens
Point

Stillwater

Storm
Lake Sturgis

Sulphur
Springs

Summer-
ville

Sunbury

Susanville

Sweetwater

Tahlequah

Talladega-
Sylacauga

Taos

Taylorville

The Dalles

Thomaston

Thomas-
ville

Tiffin

Tifton

Toccoa

Torrington

Traverse City

Troy

Truckee-Grass Valley

Tullahoma-
Manchester

Tupelo

TWIN FALLS

Ukiah

Union
City

Urbana

Uvalde

Van Wert

Vermillion

Vernal

Vernon

Vicksburg

ABILENE

AKRON

ALBANY

ALBANY-LEBANON

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY-

TROY

ALBUQUERQUE

ALEXANDRIA

ALLENTOWN-

BETHLEHEM-

EASTON

ALTOONA

AMARILLO

AMES

ANN
ARBOR

ANNISTON-
OXFORD

APPLETON

ASHEVILLE

ATHENS-
CLARKE
COUNTY

ATLANTA-SANDY SPRINGS-ALPHARETTA

ATLANTIC CITY-HAMMONTON

AUBURN-
OPELIKA

AUGUSTA-

RICHMOND
COUNTY

AUSTIN-
ROUND ROCK-
GEORGETOWN

BAKERSFIELD

BALTIMORE-COLUMBIA-

TOWSON

BANGOR

BARNSTABLE TOWN

BATON ROUGE

BATTLE
CREEK

BAY
CITY

BEAUMONT-
PORT

ARTHUR

BECKLEY

BELLINGHAM

BEND
BILLINGS

BINGHAMTON

BIRMINGHAM-
HOOVER

BISMARCK

BLACKSBURG-

CHRISTIANSBURG

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMSBURG-

BERWICK

BOISE
CITY

BOULDER

BOWLING
GREEN

BREMERTON-SILVERDALE-PORT ORCHARD

BRIDGEPORT-

STAMFORD-

NORWALK

BROWNSVILLE-HARLINGEN

BRUNSWICK

BUFFALO-

CHEEKTOWAGA

BUR-
LING-

TON

BURLINGTON-

SOUTH
BURLINGTON

CALIFORNIA-

LEXINGTON 

      PARK

CANTON-
MASSILLON

CAPE CORAL-FORT MYERS

CAPE 
GIRARDEAU

CARBONDALE-
MARION

CARSONCITY

CASPER

CEDAR RAPIDS

CH
AM

BE
RS

BU
RG

-
W

AY
NE

SB
OR

O

CHAMPAIGN-
URBANA

CHARLESTON

CHARLESTON-

NORTH CHARLESTON

CHARLOTTE-

CONCORD-

GASTONIA

CHARLOTTESVILLE

CHATTANOOGA

CHEYENNE

CHICAGO-
NAPERVILLE-

ELGIN

CHICO

CINCINNATI

CLARKSVILLE

CLEVELAND

CLEVELAND-

ELYRIA

COEUR
D'ALENE

COLLEGE
STATION-

BRYAN

COLORADO SPRINGS
COLUMBIA

COLUMBIA

COLUMBUS

COLUM-
BUS

COLUMBUS

CORPUS
CHRISTI

CORVALLIS

CRESTVIEW-

FORT WALTON BEACH-

DESTIN

DALLAS-FORT WORTH-ARLINGTON

DALTON

DAN-
VILLE

DAPHNE-
FAIRHOPE-

FOLEY

DAVENPORT-MOLINE-

ROCK ISLAND

DAYTON-
KETTERING

DECATUR

DECATUR

DELTONA-
DAYTONA

BEACH-

ORMOND BEACH

DENVER-AURORA-LAKEWOOD

DES MOINES-
WEST DES MOINES

DETROIT-WARREN-

DEARBORN

DOTHAN

DOVER

DUBUQUE

DULUTH

DURHAM-

CHAPEL
HILL

EAST
STROUDSBURG

EAU CLAIRE

EL CENTRO

ELIZABETHTOWN-

    FORT KNOX

ELKHART-
GOSHEN

ELMIRA

EL PASO

ERIE

EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD

EVANSVILLE

FARGO

FARMINGTON FAYETTEVILLE

FAYETTEVILLE-
SPRINGDALE-ROGERS

FLAGSTAFF

FLINT

FLORENCE

FLORENCE-
MUSCLE
SHOALS

FOND DU LAC

FORT COLLINS

FORT
SMITH

FORT WAYNE

FRESNO

GADSDEN

GAINESVILLE

GAINESVILLE

GETTYSBURG

GLENS FALLS

GOLDS-
BORO

GRAND
FORKS

GRAND ISLAND

GRAND JUNCTION

GRAND RAPIDS-

KENTWOOD

GRANTS PASS

GREAT FALLS

GREELEY

GREEN BAY

GREENSBORO-

HIGH POINT
GREEN-

VILLE

GREENVILLE-

ANDERSON

GULFPORT-BILOXI

HAGERSTOWN-

MARTINSBURG

HAM-
MOND

HANFORD-CORCORAN

HARRISBURG-

CARLISLE

HARRISONBURG

HARTFORD-

EAST HARTFORD-

MIDDLETOWN

HATTIESBURG

HICKORY-
LENOIR-

MORGANTON

HINESVILLE

HOMOSASSA
SPRINGS

HOT
SPRINGS

HOUMA-THIBODAUXHOUSTON-THE WOODLANDS-SUGAR LAND

HUNTINGTON-

ASHLAND

HUNTSVILLE

IDAHO FALLS

INDIANAPOLIS-
CARMEL-

ANDERSON

IOWA
CITY

ITHACA

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSONVILLE

JACKSON-
VILLE

JANESVILLE-
BELOIT

JEFFERSON CITY

JOHNSON
CITY

JOHNS-
TOWN

JONESBORO

JOPLIN

KALAMAZOO-
PORTAGE

KANKAKEE

KANSAS CITY

KENNEWICK-RICHLAND

KILLEEN-TEMPLE

KINGSPORT-
BRISTOL

KINGSTON

KNOXVILLE

KOKOMO

LA CROSSE-
ONALASKA

LAFAYETTE

LAFAYETTE-WEST LAFAYETTE

LAKE CHARLES

LAKE HAVASU CITY-KINGMAN

LAKELAND-

WINTER HAVEN

LANCASTER

LANSING-
EAST

LANSING

LAREDO

LAS CRUCES

LAS VEGAS-HENDERSON-PARADISE

LAWRENCE

LAWTON

LEBANON

LEWISTON
LEWISTON-

AUBURN

LEXINGTON-
FAYETTE

LIMA

LINCOLN

LITTLE ROCK-
NORTH LITTLE ROCK-

CONWAY

LOGAN

LONGVIEW

LONGVIEW

LOS ANGELES-LONG BEACH-ANAHEIM

LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON

COUNTY

LUBBOCK

LYNCHBURG

MADERA

MADISON

MANCHESTER-

NASHUA

MANHATTAN

MANKATO

MANS-
FIELD

McALLEN-
EDINBURG-

MISSION

MEDFORD

MEMPHIS

MERCED

MICHIGAN CITY-
LA PORTE

MIDLAND

MIDLAND

MILWAUKEE-
WAUKESHA

MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL-
BLOOMINGTON

MISSOULA

MOBILE

MODESTO

MONROE

MONROE

MONTGOMERY

MORGANTOWN

MORRIS-
TOWN

MOUNT VERNON-ANACORTES

MUNCIE

MUSKEGON

MYRTLE BEACH-CONWAY-NORTH MYRTLE BEACH

NAPA

NAPLES-

MARCO ISLAND

NASHVILLE-DAVIDSON--

MURFREESBORO--FRANKLIN

NEW BERN

NEW
HAVEN-
MILFORD

NEW ORLEANS-METAIRIE

NEW YORK-NEWARK-JERSEY CITY

NILES

NORTH PORT-SARASOTA-BRADENTON

NORWICH-
NEW

LONDON

OCALA

OCEAN CITY

ODESSA

OGDEN-CLEARFIELD

OKLAHOMA CITY

OLYMPIA-LACEY-TUMWATER

OMAHA-
COUNCIL
BLUFFS

ORLANDO-

KISSIMMEE-

SANFORD

OSHKOSH-
NEENAH

OWENSBORO

OXNARD-THOUSAND OAKS-VENTURA

PANAMA
CITY

PARKERSBURG-

VIENNA

PENSACOLA-
FERRY PASS-

BRENT

PEORIA

PHILADELPHIA-CAMDEN-

WILMINGTON

PHOENIX-MESA-CHANDLER

PINE BLUFF

PITTSBURGH

PITTS-
FIELD

POCATELLO

PORTLAND-

SOUTH

PORTLAND

PORTLAND-VANCOUVER-HILLSBORO

PORT
ST. LUCIE

PRESCOTT VALLEY-PRESCOTT

PROVO-OREM

PUEBLO

PUNTA GORDA

RACINE

RALEIGH-
CARY

RAPID CITY

READINGREDDING

RENO

RICHMOND

RIVERSIDE-SAN BERNARDINO-ONTARIO

ROANOKE

ROCHESTER

ROCHESTER

ROCKFORD

ROCKY MOUNT

ROME

SACRAMENTO-ROSEVILLE-FOLSOM

SAGINAW

ST. CLOUD

ST. GEORGE

ST. JOSEPH

ST. LOUIS

SALEM

SALINAS

SALISBURY

SALT LAKE CITY

SAN ANGELO

SAN ANTONIO-
NEW BRAUNFELS

SAN DIEGO-CHULA VISTA-CARLSBAD

SAN FRANCISCO-OAKLAND-BERKELEY

SAN JOSE-SUNNYVALE-SANTA CLARA

SAN LUIS OBISPO-PASO ROBLES

SANTA CRUZ-WATSONVILLE

SANTA FE

SANTA MARIA-SANTA BARBARA

SANTA ROSA-       PETALUMA

SAVANNAH

SCRANTON--

WILKES-BARRE

SEATTLE-TACOMA-BELLEVUE

SEBRING-

AVON PARK

SHEBOYGAN

SHERMAN-
DENISON

SHREVEPORT-
BOSSIER CITY

SIERRA VISTA-DOUGLAS

SIOUX CITY

SIOUX FALLS

SOUTH
BEND-

MISHAWAKA

SPARTAN-
BURG

SPOKANE-SPOKANEVALLEY

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRING-
FIELD

STATE
COLLEGE

STAUNTON

STOCKTON

SUMTER

SYRACUSE

TALLAHASSEE

TAMPA-

ST. PETERSBURG-

CLEARWATER

TERRE
HAUTE

TEXARKANA

THE
VILLAGES

TOLEDO

TOPEKA

TRENTON-
PRINCETON

TUCSON

TULSA

TUSCALOOSA

TYLER

UTICA-ROME

VALDOSTA

VALLEJO

VICTORIA

VINELAND-

BRIDGETON

VISALIA

WACO

WALLA WALLA

WARNER
ROBINS

WASHINGTON-

ARLINGTON-

ALEXANDRIA

WATERLOO-
CEDAR FALLS

WATERTOWN-

FORT DRUM

WAUSAU-
WESTON

WEIRTON-

STEUBENVILLE

WENATCHEE

WHEELING

WICHITA

WICHITA FALLS

WILLIAMSPORT

WILMINGTON

WINCHESTER

WINSTON-

SALEM

WORCESTER

YAKIMA

YORK-

HANOVER

YUBA CITY

YUMA

Vidalia

    Vin-
cennes

Vineyard

Haven

Wa-
bash

Wahpeton

Wapakoneta

Warren

Warrensburg

Warsaw

Washington

Washington

Washington
Court House

Watertown

Watertown-
Fort

Atkinson

Wauchula

Waycross

Weatherford

West
Plains

White-
water

Williston

Willmar

Wilming-
ton

Wilson

Winnemucca

Winona

Wisconsin
Rapids-

Marshfield

Woodward

Wooster

Worthington

Yankton

Zanesville

Zapata

PALM BAY-MELBOURNE-TITUSVILLE

SEBASTIAN-VERO BEACH

MIAMI-
FORT LAUDERDALE-

POMPANO BEACH

CUMBERLAND

PROVIDENCE-

WARWICK

BOSTON-CAMBRIDGE-NEWTON

YOUNGSTOWN-

WARREN-
BOARDMAN

Point
Pleasant

HILTON HEAD ISLAND-BLUFFTON

VIRGINIA BEACH-NORFOLK-NEWPORT NEWS

Fort
Payne

MACON-BIBB
COUNTY

Eufaula

Atmore

Bonham

Ruidoso

Fairmont

Central
City

Browns-
ville

Pella

Carroll

Grand Rapids

Jennings

West
Point

St. Marys

Hope

Jasper

Alexander City

Scotts-
burg

Minden

POUGHKEEPSIE-

NEWBURGH-

MIDDLETOWN

Union

Granbury

Pearsall

Rockport

Mount Gay-

Shamrock

Anaheim-Santa Ana-Irvine

Boston

Cambridge-Newton-

Framingham

Camden

Chicago-
Naperville-

Evanston

Dallas-Plano-Irving

Detroit-
Dearborn-
Livonia

Elgin

Fort Lauderdale-

Pompano Beach-
Sunrise

Fort Worth-
Arlington-Grapevine

Gary

Lake County-
Kenosha County

Los Angeles-Long Beach-Glendale

Miami-
Miami Beach-

Kendall

Montgomery

County-Bucks

County-Chester County

Nassau County-

Suffolk CountyNewark

Oakland-Berkeley-Livermore

Philadelphia

Rockingham
County-

Strafford County

San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City

San
Rafael

Seattle-Bellevue-Kent

Frederick-
Gaithersburg-

Rockville

Tacoma-Lakewood

Warren-Troy-Farmington Hills

Washington-
Arlington-

Alexandria            

West Palm Beach-

Boca Raton-

Boynton Beach

Wilmington

New York-Jersey City-White Plains

New Brunswick-Lakewood

70°W75°W115°W120°W

120°W125°W130°W

50°N

25°N

Pacific Ocean

Gulf of Mexico

Atlantic Ocean

C A N A D A

M E X I C O

110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W

115°W120°W

75°W 70°W

125°W 120°W

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

25°N

55°N 115°W 110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W 75°W 70°W 65°W 60°W

AK

KETCHIKAN GATEWAY

MATANUSKA-SUSITNA

JUNEAU

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS
NORTH STAR

Juneau

Ketchikan

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS

60°N

150°W 130°W140°W160°W170°W170°E

50°N

Bering Sea

R U S S I A

C A N A D A

180°

55°N

65°N
70°N

HI

Hilo

Kapaa

KAHULUI-WAILUKU-LAHAINA

URBAN
HONOLULU

MAUI

HAWAII

HONOLULU

KAUAI

22°N

20°N

Pacific Ocean

160°W 156°W158°W 154°W

PR CIALES
COROZALMOROVIS

PONCE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

UTUADO

ADJUNTAS

AGUADILLA

AGUAS
BUENAS

AIBONITO

AÑASCO

ARROYO

BARRAN-
QUITAS

BA
YA

M
ÓN

CABO
ROJO

CAGUAS
NAGUABO

NARANJITO

PEÑUELAS

QUEBRADILLAS

RINCÓN

SALINAS

SAN
JUAN

SAN
LORENZO

SANTA
ISABEL

TOA ALTA

TOA BAJA

TRUJILLOALTO

VEGA
BAJA

VILLALBAYAUCO

CANÓVANAS

CAYEY

CEIBA

CIDRA

COAMO

FAJARDO

FL
OR

IDA

GUÁNICA

GU
AY

AN
ILL

A

GU
AY

NA
BO

GURABO

HORMIGUEROS

HUMACAO

LAJAS

LARES

LA
S P

IED
RA

S

LUQUILLO

MAUNABO

CAMUY

HATILLO

LOÍZA

PATILLAS
SABANA
GRANDE

SAN SEBASTIÁN

YABUCOA

JUNCOS

JUANA
DÍAZ

AGUADA

BARCELONETA

CAROLINA

COMERÍO

GUAYAMA

JAYUYA

MANATÍ

OROCOVIS

SAN
GERMÁN

VEGA
ALTAARECIBO

CATAÑO

DORADO

ISABELA

MOCA

RÍO
GRANDE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

LAS MARÍASMAYAGÜEZ

SAN GERMÁN
GUAYAMA

ARECIBO

SAN JUAN-BAYAMÓN-CAGUAS
AGUADILLA-ISABELA

PONCE

Coco

Coamo

Santa
Isabel

Jayuya

YAUCO

68°W

18°30'N

Atlantic Ocean

Caribbean Sea

67°30'W 67°W 66°30'W 66°W 65°30'W

18°N

Puerto Rico

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE  Economics and Statistics Administration  U.S. Census Bureau
Prepared by the Geography Division, April 2019

Miles0 100 200

Kilometers0 100 200

1:16,000,000

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

0 10 20 30 40 Miles

0 10 20 30 40 Kilometers

1:1,200,000

Legend

Outside Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

BALTIMORE* Core Based Statistical Area Incorporated Place
that is legally independent of any county

CUMBERLAND Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

Urbanized Area or Urban Cluster with a
population of 10,000 or more in 2010

Metropolitan Statistical AreaYAKIMA

Shelton Micropolitan Statistical Area

Metropolitan DivisionNewark

International

KS State (or statistical equivalent)

Core Based Statistical Area Description

     The United States Office of Management and Budget delineates metropolitan
and micropolitan statistical areas, which are referred to collectively as "core
based statistical areas" (CBSAs). The general concept of the metropolitan and
micropolitan statistical area is that of a core area containing a substantial
population nucleus, together with adjacent communities having a high degree
of economic and social integration with that core. Metropolitan statistical
areas contain at least one urbanized area of 50,000 or more population;
micropolitan statistical areas contain at least one urban cluster of at least
10,000 and less than 50,000 population. If specified criteria are met,
a metropolitan statistical area containing a single core with a population
of 2.5 million or more may be subdivided into metropolitan divisions, which
function as distinct areas within the larger metropolitan statistical area.
CBSAs are composed of entire counties. There are 392 metropolitan
statistical areas, of which 11 are subdivided into 31 metropolitan divisions,
and 546 micropolitan statistical areas in the United States and Puerto Rico,
as of September 2018.                                                                        

   CBSA boundaries and titles are as of September 2018, and reflect the
application of the 2010 Standards for Delineating Metropolitan and Micropolitan
Statistical Areas to Census Bureau data. All other boundaries and names are as of
January 1, 2018.                                                                              

Source Description

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas
of the United States and Puerto Rico

September 2018

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas of the United States and Puerto Rico September 2018

Population Division, (301) 763-2419.

Resources
Further information about geographic areas delineated under the metropolitan and micropolitan
statistical area standards is available at "Metro and Micro Areas" within the "Surveys/Programs"

area of the Census Bureau's Internet Site at www.census.gov, or by contacting:

AZ

AR

CA CO

CT

DC

GA

IL

IN

LA

MN

MS

MT

NM

ND

OK

PA

TN

VA

DE

WV

WI

WY

AL

FL

ID

KS

MD

NJ

NC

SC

WA

VT

UT

IA

KY

ME

MA

MI

MO

NE

NV

NH

NY

OH

OR

RI
SD

TX

ELDORADO

PLACER

DE
AR

BO
RN

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

WAYNE

ADAMS

PIATT

TIPPECANOE

OAKLAND

CHRISTIAN

GARFIELD

MONTGOMERY

LYNN

DUNN

ISABELLA

MEDINA

POLK

CADDO

ST. LOUIS

ASHTABULA

COFFEE

TUOLUMNE

PAULDING

CUMBERLAND

SCOTT

GEAUGA

DAWSON

GILLESPIE

PETERSBURG*

LYON

HOOD

HALE

ST. LUCIE

ESCAMBIA

HARALSON

BALTIMORE*

BRANCH

ALCORN

FRANKLIN

ARLINGTON

NEWTON

SPALDING

WAKE

KNOX

MARTINSVILLE*

MARATHON

MAHASKA

MENOMINEE

ATASCOSA

GREENE

HERNANDO

FRANKLIN

CHESAPEAKE*

ST. FRANCIS

GRANT

LINCOLN

PETTIS

GENESEE

MARION

TAYLOR

TOM GREEN

DANE

PHELPS

HANSON

FAIRFIELD

STEUBEN

MOWER

CASS

ERIE

MINNEHAHA

TELLER

MACOUPIN

KENDALL

HENRY

LAPEEROLMSTED

WEXFORD

JEFFERSON

KEWAUNEE

MOHAVE

MARSHALL

JOSEPHINE

ANDREWS

MATHEWS

HOT
SPRING

BOISE

MENARD

LAWRENCE

PUTNAM

MADISON

GENESEE

MONTEREY

MONTGOMERY

HANCOCK

CHELAN

CASS

SCHUYLER

BRADFORD

NUECES

SPOKANE

MORGAN

TIFT

LaSALLE

DUBOIS

FORD

EATON

DODGE

STARK

KENDALL

JOHNSON

CALUMET

BARTON

FLATHEAD

IRION

VERM
ILLION

SCOTTS BLUFF

PUTNAM

RENVILLE

RACINE

DeKALB

MADISON

MARSHALL

LINN

ALLEGAN

CREEK

LOGAN

FRANKLIN

STUTSMAN

HOPEWELL*

LEE

RANDOLPH

MACON

STORY

MASSAC

OUTAGAMIE

CERRO
GORDO

CLAY

WASHINGTON

SALINE

VANCE

WINNEBAGO

PORTER

CHRISTIAN

NOBLE

ALAMANCE

CHAMPAIGN

CHRISTIAN

COLONIAL
HEIGHTS*

FAIRFAX*

HARRISONBURG*

BECKHAM

BUTLER

SEDGWICK

BLACK HAWK

DeSOTO

BUENA VISTA

COLLIN

CORYELL

HARVEY

COWLEY

IONIA

KALAMAZOO

KENT

DODGE

MUSKEGON

FREEBORN

ST. JOSEPH

DOUGLAS

FALLS

UNION

BANDERA

GRUNDY

LINCOLN

RALLS

CHARLOTTESVILLE*

MARINETTE

BOWIE

CLARKE

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

LINN

CALDWELL

STEELE

CLAY

CLINTON

HENDRICKS

KEARNY

WYOMING

McKEAN
LIVINGSTON

BELKNAP

CARROLL

MADISON

LUNA

COOS

McLEOD

NEWTON

CA
BA

RR
US

MENOMINEE

SANBENITO

MADISON

INDIAN
RIVER

STOKES

ST.
JOSEPH

KNOX

MERCER

MIAMI

McPHERSON

McLEAN

SAN BERNARDINO

JONES

DAWSON

WASCO

MILLE
LACS

GILCHRIST

PICKAWAY

LEBANON

BROWN

HAYS

BEN HILL

CATOOSA

JONES

WALWORTH

CARSONCITY*

CALHOUN

DALLAS

PUTNAM

FRANKLIN

MONROE

MUSKINGUM

PERRY

STARK

RICHLAND

ROSS

WILLIAMSON

HARDEE

TUSCARAWAS

UNION

WARREN

MADISON

WILSON

PIKE

COSHOCTON

ARMSTRONG

FAYETTE

RICE

CLEVELAND

BREMER

ROCK-
WALL

SAN LUIS OBISPO

ADAMS

OLDHAM

OTTER TAIL

SANTA FE

HILLSDALE

WILLIAMSBURG*

DELAWARE

CRAWFORD

FOND DU LAC

CARROLL

MIDLAND

FAYETTE

BOONE

SHIAWASSEE

JACKSON

MARION

MIAMI

MONTGOMERY

POLK

OGLE

NEVADA

KINGS

SHASTA

OTTAWA

POLK

CASS

SCHLEY

NORTON*

HAMPTON*

HOWELL

MIDLAND

ARAPAHOE

SCURRY
JONES

CURRY

CALLAHAN

UPSHUR

CORTLAND

GOSPER

HUNT

BROOME

CARTER

WALKER

FULTON

BROOKE

PICKENS

MONON-
GALIA

SU
NFLO

WER

CALDWELL

DODDRIDGE

NASSAU

TAYLOR

CLINTON

FLAGLER

SEMINOLE

PAYNE

PIKE

JASPER

DALE

HOWARD

ELLIS

ORLEANS

WARREN

KOSCIUSKO

PERRY

TORRANCE

LINCOLN

MARION

COCONINO

GRAVES

PULASKI

GILA

WOODFORD

SANTA BARBARA

LIBERTY

PUTNAM

MANASSAS
PARK*

ELMORE

GREENE

COLQUITT

JEFFERSON

SAN PATRICIO

SUFFOLK*

OKTIBBEHA

COOSA

LABETTE

HENRY

TEHAMA

ELBERT

BARTHOLOMEW

ERATH

CARLTON

W
ASHINGTON

HURON

ECTOR

LINCOLN

SPENCER

HOCKING

SANDUSKY

CRAVEN

MIDDLESEX

EDMUNDS

TAYLOR

WASHTENAW

KOOTENAI

GRANT

WEBSTER

RADFORD*

ROOSEVELT

FORREST

DOUGHERTY

BROWN

McPHERSON

SAGINAW

WEAKLEY

POLK

DELAWARE

MOORE

ADAMS

DEAF SMITH

TOOMBS

SENECA

GUERNSEY

LITTLE RIVER

LENAWEE

WASHINGTON

LAWRENCE

HENRY

ARCHER

SEWARD

NOBLES

McLENNAN

WAPELLO

BENTON

RENO

BOND

JOHNSON

CROSBY

INGHAM

HARNETT

TURNER

WILLIAMSON

GRAFTON

GARFIELD

MADISON

HEARD

LORAIN

COFFEE

CARSON

WYANDOTTE

WAYNE

CRAWFORD

ISANTI

OKMULGEE

BUFFALO

WABASH

BOONE

SHAWANO

KERR

POQUOSON*

LYNCHBURG*

DeKALB

PONTOTOC

WORTH

OSCEOLA

HOWARD

MIAMI GATES

GRUNDY

WALTON

PERSON

LOGAN

ROCKLAND

RAPPA-
HANNOCK

ALLEGANY

POINSETT

BENTON

GUILFORD

CLINTON

SUMMIT

McDONOUGH

MORGAN

DADE

LOS ANGELES

JEFFERSON

STEPHENS

FINNEY

MARSHALL

BUTLER

WEBSTER

CHIPPEWA

FRESNO

MERCER

PEORIA

ALEX-
ANDRIA*

JACKSON

BEADLE

MADISON

PORTAGE

ANDERSON

UINTA

KEMPER

MARSHALL

CARROLL

HENDRY

GRAND ISLE

WHATCOM

MERCER

BERKELEY

LOGAN

TOLLAND

SUSSEX

ADAMS

OHIO

KNOX

TRIGG

MEADE

TULARE

NORFOLK

WORCESTER

WAYNE

MIDDLES
EX

WESTCHESTER

CAYUGA

RENSSELAER

CRAWFORD

LOWNDES

GARLAND

PITKIN

ROUTT

W
HI

TF
IEL

D

WAYNE

BRACKEN

JEFFERSON

CAMERON

ORLEANS

ALPENA

CHIPPEWA

MORGAN

JASPER

PULASKI

ANOKA

LEE

ADAIR

DODGE

WILKES

COFFEE

DENTON

BENZIE

FLOYD

COMAL

BALDWIN

MORGAN

BELL

SALT LAKE

SAUK

LANCASTER

GASTON

RANDOLPH

ST. CLAIR

SCOTT

SULLIVAN

GRAND FORKS
CLATSOP

PICKENS

BLOUNT

JEFFERSON

ISLE OF
WIGHT

SALINE

KERN

PUEBLO

BARROW

COBB

UPSON

HANCOCK

DuPAGE

TAZEWELL

HANCOCK

PIKE

BOONE

KENNEBEC

CARVER

LINCOLN

SCHOHARIE

CALDWELL

CANADIAN

WOODWARD

CROOK

POSEY

JONES

LEFLORE

BOONE

BOSSIER

CHISAGO

WASHINGTON

SALEM*

McHENRY

PHILLIPS

VENTURA

IMPERIAL

LITCHFIELD

HILLSBOROUGH

CHATTA-
HOOCHEE

SULLIVAN

SCOTT

LEAVENW
ORTH

ISLAND

MORRIS

ONTARIO

FORSYTH

CHATHAM

ETOWAH

DALLAS

GRAHAM

KNOX

CLEAR
CREEK

BUTTS

FULTON

COWETA

OCONEE

WEST
BATON

ROUGE

GUTHRIE

BOURBON

RAPIDES

SALINE

PIERCE

SUFFOLK

NIAGARA

KLEBERG

CRAIG

LIVINGSTON

DORCHESTER

ROANE

HOWARD

BRAZOS

OLDHAM

CAMPBELL

HARDIN

TALBOT

NODAWAY

CASS

PRINCE
GEORGE

IOWA

SHERBURNE

WALKER

YORK

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

COCHISE

MILLER

ORANGE

OWYHEE

MARICOPA

KANKAKEE

STOREY

DU
RH

AM

STARK

MONTOUR

VENANGO

LYON

GLOUCESTER

ORANGE

GEORGETOWN

ANDERSON

YANKTON

CHAMBERS

CLAY

UINTAH

ORANGE

SNOHOMISH

BROWN

WOOD

YAVAPAI

JEFFERSON

FREMONT

CAMAS

BINGHAM

BULLITT

HOWARD

RA
MSE

Y

BROWN

TATE

CASCADE

YELLOWSTONE

MERRICK

BEDFORD

OTERO

LOGAN

ONONDAGA

MARLBORO

BRONX

BREVARD

CHAMPAIGN

CLARK

JEFFERSON

DAKOTA

GRANVILL
E

ALLEGHENY

LINCOLN

CLARK

LAURENS

DUNKLIN

SURRY

DAUPHIN

IREDELL

ARMSTRONG

ATLANTIC

ST. MARY

CHESTERFIELD

AIKEN

SUFFOLK

BERKS

CALLOWAY

LEXINGTON

PERRYERIE

KENOSHA

NEW
CASTLE

CHARLOTTE

HARTFORD

PENNINGTON

ARANSAS

BEAUFORT

ST. CROIX

SHEBOYGAN

DELTA

SCOTT

BUNCOMBE

ELKHART

YADKIN

WICOMICO

AN
DR

OS
CO

GG
IN

CRAWFORD

COOKE

WISE

JASPER

CHARLESTON

AUSTIN

TETON

RICHLAND

NEWBERRY

SCHUYLKILL

YUBA

JOHNSON

CASSIA

EDDY

DICKINSON

HOPKINS

RUTHERFORD

DICKSON

CAMBRIA

CLAY

BEE

SHERIDAN

ROCKINGHAM

SUMTER

SALUDA

NEWPORT

LAWRENCE

SOMERSET

GALVESTON

FAULKNER

DeKALB

GRATIOT

HOUGHTON

CENTRE

HAWKINS
SULLIVAN

DARLINGTON

DELAWARE

BRISTOL

WASHINGTON

FRANKLIN

HAMPDEN

HENDERSON

SEBASTIAN

CUSTER

TIPTON

SUMNER

CLINTON

KNOX

RUTLAND

HANCOCK

SKAMANIA

LAMAR

JEROME

NEW LONDON

LIVINGSTON

TROUP

VIGO

BRANTLEY

MANATEE

SAN JOAQUIN

McCRACKEN

FILLMORE

KENT

HILLSBOROUGH

CO
LU

MBIA

CACHE

LE SUEUR

YAKIMA

WALLAWALLA

WHITMAN

RICHLAND

NELSON

DALLAS

STAFFORD

CHILTON

WOOD

EAGLE

HIGHLANDS

NEW
 HAVEN

DAVIS

CUMBERLAND

KEWEENAW

UTAH

LARAMIE

ALBEMARLE

GALLATIN

MONTGOMERY

WINDSOR

FR
AN

KL
IN

CLINTON

FLOYD

BALDWIN

AMELIA

MARION

NEWTON

CLARK

OZ
AU

KE
E

ROBERTSON

MARION

CROCKETT

GORDON

FRANKLIN

CHAVES

LEELANAU

MISSAUKEE

SPOTSYLVANIA

MERRIMACK

DYER

HOKE

STANISLAUS

FREMONT

JACKSON

ALACHUA

MADISON

HUNTINGDON

OWEN

WOODBURY

FRANKLIN

DAVIESS

WASHINGTON

OTTAWA

SUMNER

SCOT-
LANDLOUDON

HUGHES

CHESTER

GREENUP

MACON

MINIDOKA

LAKE

LACKA-
WANNA

SHELBY

LANCASTER

LAWRENCE

LEHIGH

LACLEDE

CHEROKEE

PIERCE

CONTRA COSTA

EFFINGHAM

OVERTON

POLK

ROWAN

WILL

CLINTON

LUZERNE

LAFAYETTE

WARREN

OSAGE

GEM

PAYETTE

DARE

BELL

DAVIDSON

BLUE EARTH

POTTAWATOMIE

McHENRY

WHITLEY

WASHINGTON

MONTGOMERY

SO
M

ER
SE

T

ULSTER

DAVIE

YORK

BOYD

BUTLER

OTTAWA

PAMLICO

TEXAS

PRINCE
WILLIAM

MANASSAS*

NORTHAMP-
TON

CAMDEN

HARDIN

JEFFER-
SON

ELMORE

MERCED

PIERCE

CHESTER

MARTIN

TARRANT

BURLINGTON

CUMBERLAND

BEAUFORT

CAMDEN

NEW
HANOVER

LUCAS

STEUBEN

RUTHERFORD

LAKE

LINCOLN

SPARTANBURG

BUTTE

CLAYTON

LONG

JACKSON

DAVIESS

HAMILTON

FLUVANNA

OSAGE

BRYAN

YORK

MATAGORDA

LAFAYETTE

LYON

CHEROKEE

THURSTON

KANAWHA

NATRONA

SAUNDERS

PROVIDENCE

ZAPATA

IRON

MOORE

OKLAHOMA

CLACKAMAS

SNYDER

UNION

STANLEY

SIOUX

DOÑA ANA

JOHNSON

HALL

CRAWFORD

DENVER

TERRELL

CUMBERLAND

DALLAS

WIN-
CHESTER*

BEDFORD

GOLIAD

QUEENS

UNION

ORANGE

NEWTON

WORTH

BUREAU

JASPER

PICKENS

CHEROKEE

DECATUR

FAYETTE

JOHNSON

GEARY

ROGERS

PULASKI

MADISON

WILSON

CHARLES

HAMILTON

GRANT

HENRY

METCALFE

BELTRAMI

LAFAYETTE

COLE

JESSAMINE

FR
ANKLIN

RAY

CHURCHILL

LEE

PORTAGE

RICHMOND

DUVAL

OLIVER

ORANGEBURG

MORTON

NORTH-

UMBERLAND

WESTMORELAND

MAURY
WARREN

JEFFERSON

LIBERTY

TWIN FALLS

ST. CLAIR

ALEXANDER

PIKE

DE SOTO

McKINLEY

CHEATHAM

NAVARRO

HOPKINS

HUTCHINSON

UVALDE

WARR
EN

HALL

CHEMUNG

DeKALB

SANTA CLARA

MONTGOMERY

NEW KENT

CULPEPER

STANTON

CASS

BULLOCH

SMITH

MOBILE

PLAQUEMINES

WASHINGTON

CHARLESCITY

COLUMBIA

GREENE

LAMPASAS

COMANCHE

CABELL

HOCKLEY

LASSEN

McINTOSH

JACKSON

CLAY

HUMBOLDT

RIO ARRIBA

GRANT

COLUMBIA

JEFFERSON

GUADALUPE

POTTER

ANDERSON

RICHMOND*

FRANKLIN

CRITTENDEN

LEE

BRYAN

LAKE

HAMILTON

BUTLER

JACKSON

ADAMS

GREENVILLE

LINCOLN

WARREN

JEFFERSON

CANYON

PINAL

MONROE

ANNE
ARUNDEL

ANDREW

EDGEFIELD

WASHINGTON

WISE

CAMPBELL

TUSCALOOSA

NACOGDOCHES

BENTON

SANTACRUZ

WINNEBAGO

ALLEN

BOONE

IBERIA

PIMA

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

WASHOE

UNION

PASSAIC

MONROE

DOUGLAS

ADA

BUTTE

FAYETTE

HUMBOLDT

CHATTOOGA

JERSEY

SAGADAHOC

ST.
MARY'S

PLYMOUTH

ST.
MARTIN

JEFFERSON

GALLIA

BUCKS

BARREN

LAUREL

SCOTT

HINDS

WEBSTER

ATCHISON
MASON

ST. BERNARD

CALCASIEU

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

CAMPBELL

WILLACY

JUAB

ORANGE

LINCOLN

JOHNSTON

WAGONER

HARRISON

ITAWAMBA

NYE

CLALLAM

ASOTIN

ROCK

MADISON

MOORETULSA

BURLESON

TIOGA

CALHOUN

CLARKE

SCOTT

SCHENECTADY

ROCKINGHAM

MARION

SEQUOYAH

COLUMBIA

TANEY

CALLAWAY

CANNON

GRAY

GRANT

LATAH

DAVIDSON

TAZEWELL

TUNICA

BRAZORIA

BRISTOL*

FLORENCE

CLAY

SANDOVAL

PALO PINTO

WARREN

GREENE

WALTON

CALHOUN

CLARK

RO
CK

-
DA

LE

SANGAMON

GRENADA

BERNALILLO

JACKSON

JOHNSON

MONT-
  GOMERY

CARROLL

STEPHENSON

LIVINGSTON

HOUSTON

DICKINSON

MERCER

MARION

KEARNEY

DEFIANCE

SILVER BOW

BURKE

BATH

MORROW

HAYWOOD

ALBANY

BENTON

BERRIEN

HENRY

KANDIYOHI

PITTSBURG

FULTON

BRADLEY

GILES

ROANOKE*

MONROE

LAMAR

PENDLETON

MIFFLIN

WILKIN

MAHONING

GRAINGER

BOONE

DORCHESTER

UNION

BUCHANAN

MAVERICK

LIVINGSTON

ST.
LOUIS*

ONSLOW

HENRY

HANCOCK

KALKASKA

COWLITZ

LAWRENCE

LIMESTONE

BAXTER

BLOUNT

LAURENS

CATTARAUGUS

MEADE

DUKES

CODINGTON

YELL

DAVISON

WILSON

HENDERSON

WAUKESHA

CITRUS

SARPY

JASPER

SIMPSON

DIXON

IBERVILLE

ONEIDA

MISSISSIPPI

RICHMOND

GADSDEN LEONOKALOOSA

PUTNAM

EFFINGHAM

OBION

WASHINGTON

ST.
CLAIR

VAL VERDE

PERRY

KITTITAS

SANTA ROSA

HARRIS

CARBON

REEVES

LAKE

CHAMBERS

WINDHAM

MARQUETTE

PASQUOTANK

DANVILLE*

POLK

SH
EL

BY

WARREN

BLAIR

KITSAP

WAKULLA

WARE
GREGG

RANDALL

BROWARD

VERMILION

BEAUREGARD

MONROE

WALLER

WASHINGTON

CAMPBELL

CLARKE

DeSOTO

LAWRENCE

LINCOLN

BANNER

OCONEE

HORRY

WAYNE

W
OODFORD

GREENE

BELMONT

ATHENS

WASHINGTON

OHIO

SALEM

CARTERET

LANCASTER

EDMONSON

HERKIMER

MONROE

MADISON

TITUS

PENOBSCOT

LOS ALAMOS

MUSKOGEE

FORT BEND

FREDERICKS-
BURG*

POTTAWATOMIE

JACKSON

SENECA

GREENWOOD

PIKE

GAGE

MIAMI-DADE

UNION

DES
MOINES

FREDERICK

KINGS

M
AR

SH
AL

L

HALE

LOGAN

BLAINE

SANTA CRUZ

SARASOTA

BONNER

ST. J
OHN THE

BAPTIST

PAWNEE

ALBANY

ST. TAMMANY

MECKLENBURG

FAYETTE

MINERAL

WALKER

WELD

JEFFERSON

PRINCE
GEORGE'S

SONOMA

WINONA

POPE

MARION

EAST
FELICIANA

FRANKLIN

PLATTE

EL PASO

COLUMBIA

CRISP

DUTCHESS

SEVIER

HARRISON

HIDALGO

SOLANO

WABASHA

BATES

SUMTER

MILLS

ANDER
SO

N

McCLAIN

KAUFMAN

BOLLINGER

LA
CROSSE

OSWEGO

YOLO

BOX ELDER

JONES

CARBON

BARTOW

MONTROSE

WARREN

SHELBY

NAVAJO

DISTRICT OF

COLUMBIA

HARRISON

NEWPORT
NEWS*

FAIRFIELD

ST. LAWRENCE

CALHOUN

WHITESIDE

SUMMIT

COLLIER

GLYNN

SUMTER

PEARL RIVER

ST.
JAMES

NORFOLK*

MOREHOUSE

PORTSMOUTH*

JACKSON

TOOELE

BASTROP

WASATCH

TRAVIS

LINCOLN

AUGLAIZE

TERREBONNE

UNION

MISSOULA

GILPIN

ST.
FRANCOIS

WICHITA

MASON

VICTORIA

CLERMONT

WEBB

FAYETTE

MER
IW

ETH
ER

MONROE

CLARK

POWHATAN

AUTAUGA

CAMERON

BOONE

LOGAN

STEVENS

MUSCOGEE

OGLETHORPE

CUYAHOGA

VIRGINIA
BEACH*

MACOMB

WHITLEY

EL PASO

BROOKS

BENNINGTON

DOUGLAS

PO
TT

AW
AT

TA
M

IE

FORSYTH

MALHEUR

CALVERT

LEE

ELLIS

LAFOURCHE

KENEDY

BOTETOURT

WASHINGTON

WAYNESBORO*

GREEN

LEE

DONIPHAN

LUBBOCK

KANE

EAU CLAIRE

ALLEN

LEA

NAPA

WARREN

WILLIAMSON

LANIER

FULTON

TWIGGS

HAMPSHIRE

VERMILION

MUSCATINE

DOUGLAS

SHAWNEE

ELKO

ST.
HELENA

TANGIPAHOA

LARIMER

NORTHAMPTON

ESSEX

BROWN

KENT

CALHOUN

VANDERBURGH

HENDERSON

RIVERSIDE

FLORENCE

MULTNOMAH

HALIFAX

CLAY

NASH

ALLEN

WHITE

ASHLAND

ROANOKE

UNION

KERSHAW

OTTAWA

MONT-
GOMERY

POLK

McDUFFIE

CROW
WING

NATCHITOCHES

MORGAN

COAHOMA

PHILADELPHIA

WARD

CAMDEN

JEFFERSON

CURRY

CAPE
MAY

RILEY

COLUMBIANA

OCONTO

WOOD

HU
DS

ON

NEW
YORK

MARTIN

PALM BEACH

OSAGE

MARION

MORROW

OKEECHOBEE

WRIGHT

CHESHIRE

LEWIS AND CLARK

MENDOCINO

DARKE

DINWIDDIE

MOFFAT

FRANKLIN

ORANGE

LEWIS

BEAVER

CHAUTAUQUA

CHATHAM

TETON

MORGAN

PUTNAM

RALEIGH

SUSSEX

BIBB

LEWIS

COLUMBIA

ST. LOUIS

SACRAMENTO

OUACHITA

BAY

SCOTT

JEFFERSON

FAIRFIELD

HUNTING-
TON

LARUE

WILLIAMS

HUNTERDON

NEZ
PERCE

BURKE

KENTON

HOUSTON

MEDINA

GWINNETT

M
ILW

AUKEE

BOLIVAR

WAS
HIN

GT
ON

GRANT

UMATILLA

CARBON

BERKSHIRE

PLATTE

ST.
JOHNS

LOWNDES

BRUNSWICK

ASCENSION

KING

LAKE

JIM
WELLS

WIRT

LEE

SUTTER

MADERA

BAKER

SEWARD

CULLMAN

PASCO

SCIOTO

TRUMBULL

WHARTON

CLARK

RANKIN

FREMONT

NELSON

HANCOCK

STRAFFORD

HOODRIVER

DAWSON

McMINN

GOOCHLAND

MONITEAU

WAYNE
PITT

LaPORTE

MADISON

CLINTON

SANMATEO

SAN FRANCISCO

LO
W

ND
ES

BROOKINGS

DELNORTE

HUDSPETH

SEQUATCHIE

SMITH

MECOSTA

MONTCALM

HENNEPIN

GRANT

BEXAR

DOUGLAS

GRADY

CLEVELAND

KAY

MARSHALL

ESSEX

CARTER

HAMBLEN

CHESTER

ADAMS

MORGAN BALTIMORE

PONTOTOC

RANDOLPH

AUGUSTA

SWEETWATER

BUTLER

BANNOCK

HE
ND

ER
SO

N HAMPSHIRE

FAYETTE

COLUMBIA

THOMAS

DESCHUTES MIDDLESEX

GALLATIN
SUMMIT

STAUNTON*

SHELBY

WABAUNSEE

WEBER

JEFFERSON

EAST
BATON
ROUGE

JACKSON

ADAMS

DUBUQUE

LYCOMING

BAY

ACADIA

WATAUGA

CUMBERLAND

BROWN

YORK

CONCORDIA

TRAN-
SYLVANIA

TALLADEGA

SAN DIEGO

MANITOWOC

BOULDER

HOUSTON

LAMAR

SAN MIGUEL

RHEA

CALHOUN

CHEROKEE

McCOOK

HENRICO

APPOMATTOX

JAMES
CITY

TOMPKINS

COTTON

NOLAN

POINTE
COUPEE

BERGEN

BALLARD

SOMERSET

BENTON

WASHINGTON

McLEAN

M
UR

RA
Y

UNICOI

FAIRFAX

PARK

OTSEGO

SARATOGA

ST. LANDRY

INDEPENDENCE

COLES

INDIANA

MARIN

WORCESTER

CLARK

VERNON

CIBOLA

VAN WERT

WILBARGER

FRANKLIN

LANE

FREDERICK

YAZOO

LINCOLN

OCEAN

PRESTON

OUACHITA

MADISON

FALLS
CHURCH*

BROOMFIELD

EDGECOMBE

JACKSON

HABER-
SHAM

PI
NE

LL
AS

McDOWELL

KING WILLIAM

CECIL

CRAIGHEAD

BRISTOL

PITTSYLVANIA

JEFFERSON

UNION

WAYNE

COPIAH

PENDER

PARKER

AMHERST

CATAWBA

FAUQUIER

WASHINGTON

DECATUR

JEFFERSON

JACKSON

NASSAU

ST. CHARLES

HARRISON

CLAY

GRAND
TRAVERSE

CLINTON

JEFFERSON

LONOKE

JENNINGS

HENRY

BONNEVILLE

UNION

GENEVA

WARRICK

ALAMEDA

MASON

DOUGLAS

CURRI-
TUCK

COCKE

NICOLLET

STEARNS

CUMBERLAND

JASPER

WASHINGTON

ROBERTSON

MASON

MESA

HARRISON

LENOIR

GRAYS HARBOR

SKAGIT

ECHOLS

ALEXANDER

MADISON

RUSSELL

ANGELINA

MENIFEE

HANCOCK

PER-
QUIMANS

DOUGLAS

CLEVELAND

MERCER

GRAYSON

ST.
CHARLES

EUREKA

CHITTENDEN

VALENCIA

CLEARFIELD

CASS

DAKOTA

COOK

ROCK ISLAND

BENTON

BURLEIGH

BERKELEY

AUDRAIN

MONTGOMERY

GLOUCESTER

HANOVER

RUSK

STARR

HARFORD

BOYLE

M
AR

SH
AL

L

LICKING

SUSSEX

RICHMOND

LOUDOUN

LA PLATA

PEACH

STEPHENS

QUEEN
ANNE'S

SHELBY

ROCKINGHAM

TAOS

ROBESON

COLBERT

CARROLL

MONTGOMERY

LINN

STANLY

YUMA

WEST
FELICIANA

COOS

PIERCE

MONMOUTH

ERIE

DOUGLAS

SAN JUAN

GOODHUE

KLAMATH

JACKSON

BIBB

VOLUSIA

WASH-
INGTON

DOUGLAS

YATES

YAMHILL

TROUSDALE

BARNSTABLE

LINCOLN

PULASKI

HARRIS

DeKALB

BARBOUR

QUIT-
MAN

ESCAMBIA

LINCOLN

MARTIN

MUHLENBERG

HEMPSTEAD

NEVADA

JEFFERSON
DAVIS

TALLAPOOSA

FANNIN

HAYWOOD

CARROLL

MARION

CLAY

ITASCA

ELK

GREENE

WASHINGTON

SHARP

FRANKLIN

OURAY

LEVY

STEWART

TREUTLEN

ATKINSON

TALBOT

POWER

JOHNSON

WARREN

PARKE

FRANKLIN

CHASE
GREEN

EST
ILL

CLAY

CARTER

ASSUMPTION

LAKE

PRENTISS

WEBSTER

HOLMES

COVINGTON

STONE

HOWARD

COOPER

RIPLEY

STILLWATER

MORA

SWAIN ANSON

BILLINGS

ELLIS

LOVE

CLARENDON

JERAULD

HAMLIN

GIBSON

STEWART

ROBERTS

LOVING
STERLING

CAMP

FRIO

DUVAL

BLAND

MADISON

KING AND QUEEN

SOUTHAMPTON
FRANKLIN*

JACKSON

MORGAN

CROOK

WESTON

Aberdeen

Aberdeen

Ada

Adrian

Alamogordo

Albe-
marle

Albert Lea

Albertville

Alexandria

Alice

Alma

Alpena

Altus

Americus

Amsterdam

Andrews

Angola

Arcadia

Ardmore
Arkadelphia

Winfield

Ash-
land

Ashtabula

Astoria

Atchison

Athens

Athens

Athens

Auburn

Auburn

Augusta-

Waterville

Austin

Bainbridge

Baraboo

Bardstown

Barre

Bartlesville

Batavia

Batesville

Bay City

Beatrice

Beaver
Dam

Bedford

Beeville

Bellefon-
taine

Bemidji

Bennettsville

Bennington

Berlin

Big
Rapids

Big Spring

Big Stone
Gap

Blackfoot

Bluefield

Blytheville

Bogalusa

Boone

Borger

Bozeman

Bradford

Brainerd

Branson

Breckenridge

Brenham

Brevard

Brookhaven

Brookings Brookings

Brownwood

Bucyrus-
Galion

Burley

Burlington

Butte-
Silver Bow

Cadillac

Calhoun

Cambridge

Cambridge

Camden

Campbellsv
ille

Cañon City

Carlsbad-Artesia

Cedar City

Cedartown

Celina

Centralia

Centralia

Charleston-
Mattoon

Chillicothe

Lebanon

Clarksburg

Clarksdale

Clearlake

Cleveland

Clewiston

Clinton

Clovis

Coffeyville

Coldwater

Colum-
bus

Columbus

Concord

Con-
ners-

ville

Cookeville

Coos Bay

Cordele

Corinth

Cornelia

Corning

Corsicana

Cortland

Coshocton

Craig
Craw-
fords-

ville

CrescentCity

Crossville

Cullman

Cullowhee

Danville
Danville

Da
yto

n

De-
catur

Defiance

Del Rio

Deming

DeRidder

Dickinson

Dixon

Dodge City

Douglas

Dublin

DuBois

Dumas

Duncan

Durango

Durant

Dyersburg

Eagle Pass

Easton

Edwards

Effingham

El Campo

El Dorado

Elizabeth City

Elk City

Elkins

Elko

Ellensburg

Emporia

ENID

Enterprise

Escanaba

Española

Eureka-Arcata

Evanston

Fairfield

Fairmont
Fallon

Faribault-
Northfield

Farmington

Fergus Falls

Fernley

Findlay

Fitzgerald

Forest
City

Forrest City

Fort
Dodge

Fort
Leonard

Wood

Fort
Madison-

Keokuk

Fort Morgan

Fort Polk
South

Frankfort

Frank-
fort

Fredericksburg

Freeport

Fremont

Fremont

Gaffney

Gainesville

Gales-
burg

Gallup

Garden City

GardnervilleRanchos

Georgetown

Gillette

Glasgow

Glenwood Springs

Gloversville

Grants

Great
Bend

Greeneville

Greens-
burg

Greenville

Green-
ville

Greenwood

Green-
wood

Grenada

Guymon

Hailey

Hannibal

Harrison

Hastings

Hays

Heber

Helena

Helena-
West

Helena

Henderson

Hereford

Hermiston-Pendleton

Hillsdale

Hobbs

Holland

HoodRiver

Houghton

Hudson

Huntingdon

Hunt-
ing-
ton

Huntsville

Huron

Hutchinson

Hutchinson

Indiana

Indianola

Iron
Mountain

Jackson

Jackson

Jacksonville

Jackson-
ville

Jamestown

Jamestown-

Dunkirk-
Fredonia

Jasper

Jefferson

Jesup

Kalispell

Kearney

Keene

Kendall-
ville

Kennett

Kerrville

Key
West

Kill
Devil

Hills

Kingsville

Kinston

Kirksville

Klamath Falls

LaconiaLa Grande

LaGrange

Lake
City

Lamesa

Laramie

Las Vegas

Laurel

Laurin-
burg

Lawrenceburg

Lebanon

Levelland

Lewisburg

Lewis-
burg

Le
wist

ow
n

Lexington

Liberal

Lincoln

Lock
Haven

Logans-
port

London

Los Alamos

Luding-
ton

Lufkin

Lumberton

Macomb

Madison

Madison-
ville

Magnolia

Malone

Malvern

Manitowoc

Marietta

Marinette

Marion

Marion

Marion

Marquette

Marshall

Marshall

Marshall-
town

Martin

Martinsville

Maryville

Mason
City

May-
field

Maysville

McAlester

McComb

McMinn-
ville

McPherson

Meadville

Menomonie

Meridian

Mexico

Miami

Middles-
borough

Milledge-
ville

Mineral
Wells

Minot

Mitchell

Moberly

Montrose

Morehead City

Morgan
City

Moscow

Moses Lake

Moultrie

Mountain
Home

Mountain
Home

Mount
Airy

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Sterling

Mount
Vernon

Mount
Vernon

Murray

Muscatine

Muskogee

Nacogdoches

Natchez
Natchitoches

Newberry

New
Castle

New
Castle

New
Philadelphia-

Dover

Newport

Newport

New Ulm

Nogales

Norfolk

North Platte

North
 Vernon

North
Wilkesboro

Norwalk

OakHarbor

Ogdensburg-

Massena

Oil City

Okeechobee

Olean

Oneonta

Ontario

Opelousas

Orangeburg

Oskaloosa

Othello

Ottawa

Ottawa

Ottumwa

Owa-
tonna

Oxford

Ozark

Paducah

Pahrump

Palatka

Palestine

Pampa

Paragould

Paris

Paris

Parsons

Payson

Pecos

Peru

Picayune

Pierre

Pinehurst-
Southern

Pines

Pittsburg

Plainview

Platteville

Plattsburgh

Plymouth

Ponca City

Pontiac

Poplar Bluff

Portales

Port Angeles

Port
Lavaca

Portsmouth

Pottsville

Price

Prineville

Pullman

Quincy

Raymondville

Red Bluff

Red WingRexburg

Rich-
mond

Richmond-
Berea

Rio Grande
City-Roma

Riverton

Roanoke
Rapids

Rochelle

Rocking-
ham

Rock Springs

Rolla

Roseburg

Roswell

Russellville

Ruston

Rutland

Safford

St. Marys

Salem

Salina

Sandpoint

Sandusky

Sanford

Sault Ste. Marie

Sayre

Scottsbluff

Scottsboro
Searcy

Sedalia

Selinsgrove

Selma

Seneca

Seneca
Falls

Sevierville

Seymour

Shawano

Shawnee

Shelby

Shelbyville

Shelton

Sheridan

Show Low

Sidney

Sikeston

Silver City

Snyder

Somerset

Somerset

Sonora

Spearfish

Spencer

Spirit
Lake

Starkville

Statesboro

Steamboat
Springs

Stephenville

Sterling

Sterling

Stevens
Point

Stillwater

Storm
Lake Sturgis

Sulphur
Springs

Summer-
ville

Sunbury

Susanville

Sweetwater

Tahlequah

Talladega-
Sylacauga

Taos

Taylorville

The Dalles

Thomaston

Thomas-
ville

Tiffin

Tifton

Toccoa

Torrington

Traverse City

Troy

Truckee-Grass Valley

Tullahoma-
Manchester

Tupelo

TWIN FALLS

Ukiah

Union
City

Urbana

Uvalde

Van Wert

Vermillion

Vernal

Vernon

Vicksburg

ABILENE

AKRON

ALBANY

ALBANY-LEBANON

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY-

TROY

ALBUQUERQUE

ALEXANDRIA

ALLENTOWN-

BETHLEHEM-

EASTON

ALTOONA

AMARILLO

AMES

ANN
ARBOR

ANNISTON-
OXFORD

APPLETON

ASHEVILLE

ATHENS-
CLARKE
COUNTY

ATLANTA-SANDY SPRINGS-ALPHARETTA

ATLANTIC CITY-HAMMONTON

AUBURN-
OPELIKA

AUGUSTA-

RICHMOND
COUNTY

AUSTIN-
ROUND ROCK-
GEORGETOWN

BAKERSFIELD

BALTIMORE-COLUMBIA-

TOWSON

BANGOR

BARNSTABLE TOWN

BATON ROUGE

BATTLE
CREEK

BAY
CITY

BEAUMONT-
PORT

ARTHUR

BECKLEY

BELLINGHAM

BEND
BILLINGS

BINGHAMTON

BIRMINGHAM-
HOOVER

BISMARCK

BLACKSBURG-

CHRISTIANSBURG

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMSBURG-

BERWICK

BOISE
CITY

BOULDER

BOWLING
GREEN

BREMERTON-SILVERDALE-PORT ORCHARD

BRIDGEPORT-

STAMFORD-

NORWALK

BROWNSVILLE-HARLINGEN

BRUNSWICK

BUFFALO-

CHEEKTOWAGA

BUR-
LING-

TON

BURLINGTON-

SOUTH
BURLINGTON

CALIFORNIA-

LEXINGTON 

      PARK

CANTON-
MASSILLON

CAPE CORAL-FORT MYERS

CAPE 
GIRARDEAU

CARBONDALE-
MARION

CARSONCITY

CASPER

CEDAR RAPIDS

CH
AM

BE
RS

BU
RG

-
W

AY
NE

SB
OR

O

CHAMPAIGN-
URBANA

CHARLESTON

CHARLESTON-

NORTH CHARLESTON

CHARLOTTE-

CONCORD-

GASTONIA

CHARLOTTESVILLE

CHATTANOOGA

CHEYENNE

CHICAGO-
NAPERVILLE-

ELGIN

CHICO

CINCINNATI

CLARKSVILLE

CLEVELAND

CLEVELAND-

ELYRIA

COEUR
D'ALENE

COLLEGE
STATION-

BRYAN

COLORADO SPRINGS
COLUMBIA

COLUMBIA

COLUMBUS

COLUM-
BUS

COLUMBUS

CORPUS
CHRISTI

CORVALLIS

CRESTVIEW-

FORT WALTON BEACH-

DESTIN

DALLAS-FORT WORTH-ARLINGTON

DALTON

DAN-
VILLE

DAPHNE-
FAIRHOPE-

FOLEY

DAVENPORT-MOLINE-

ROCK ISLAND

DAYTON-
KETTERING

DECATUR

DECATUR

DELTONA-
DAYTONA

BEACH-

ORMOND BEACH

DENVER-AURORA-LAKEWOOD

DES MOINES-
WEST DES MOINES

DETROIT-WARREN-

DEARBORN

DOTHAN

DOVER

DUBUQUE

DULUTH

DURHAM-

CHAPEL
HILL

EAST
STROUDSBURG

EAU CLAIRE

EL CENTRO

ELIZABETHTOWN-

    FORT KNOX

ELKHART-
GOSHEN

ELMIRA

EL PASO

ERIE

EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD

EVANSVILLE

FARGO

FARMINGTON FAYETTEVILLE

FAYETTEVILLE-
SPRINGDALE-ROGERS

FLAGSTAFF

FLINT

FLORENCE

FLORENCE-
MUSCLE
SHOALS

FOND DU LAC

FORT COLLINS

FORT
SMITH

FORT WAYNE

FRESNO

GADSDEN

GAINESVILLE

GAINESVILLE

GETTYSBURG

GLENS FALLS

GOLDS-
BORO

GRAND
FORKS

GRAND ISLAND

GRAND JUNCTION

GRAND RAPIDS-

KENTWOOD

GRANTS PASS

GREAT FALLS

GREELEY

GREEN BAY

GREENSBORO-

HIGH POINT
GREEN-

VILLE

GREENVILLE-

ANDERSON

GULFPORT-BILOXI

HAGERSTOWN-

MARTINSBURG

HAM-
MOND

HANFORD-CORCORAN

HARRISBURG-

CARLISLE

HARRISONBURG

HARTFORD-

EAST HARTFORD-

MIDDLETOWN

HATTIESBURG

HICKORY-
LENOIR-

MORGANTON

HINESVILLE

HOMOSASSA
SPRINGS

HOT
SPRINGS

HOUMA-THIBODAUXHOUSTON-THE WOODLANDS-SUGAR LAND

HUNTINGTON-

ASHLAND

HUNTSVILLE

IDAHO FALLS

INDIANAPOLIS-
CARMEL-

ANDERSON

IOWA
CITY

ITHACA

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSONVILLE

JACKSON-
VILLE

JANESVILLE-
BELOIT

JEFFERSON CITY

JOHNSON
CITY

JOHNS-
TOWN

JONESBORO

JOPLIN

KALAMAZOO-
PORTAGE

KANKAKEE

KANSAS CITY

KENNEWICK-RICHLAND

KILLEEN-TEMPLE

KINGSPORT-
BRISTOL

KINGSTON

KNOXVILLE

KOKOMO

LA CROSSE-
ONALASKA

LAFAYETTE

LAFAYETTE-WEST LAFAYETTE

LAKE CHARLES

LAKE HAVASU CITY-KINGMAN

LAKELAND-

WINTER HAVEN

LANCASTER

LANSING-
EAST

LANSING

LAREDO

LAS CRUCES

LAS VEGAS-HENDERSON-PARADISE

LAWRENCE

LAWTON

LEBANON

LEWISTON
LEWISTON-

AUBURN

LEXINGTON-
FAYETTE

LIMA

LINCOLN

LITTLE ROCK-
NORTH LITTLE ROCK-

CONWAY

LOGAN

LONGVIEW

LONGVIEW

LOS ANGELES-LONG BEACH-ANAHEIM

LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON

COUNTY

LUBBOCK

LYNCHBURG

MADERA

MADISON

MANCHESTER-

NASHUA

MANHATTAN

MANKATO

MANS-
FIELD

McALLEN-
EDINBURG-

MISSION

MEDFORD

MEMPHIS

MERCED

MICHIGAN CITY-
LA PORTE

MIDLAND

MIDLAND

MILWAUKEE-
WAUKESHA

MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL-
BLOOMINGTON

MISSOULA

MOBILE

MODESTO

MONROE

MONROE

MONTGOMERY

MORGANTOWN

MORRIS-
TOWN

MOUNT VERNON-ANACORTES

MUNCIE

MUSKEGON

MYRTLE BEACH-CONWAY-NORTH MYRTLE BEACH

NAPA

NAPLES-

MARCO ISLAND

NASHVILLE-DAVIDSON--

MURFREESBORO--FRANKLIN

NEW BERN

NEW
HAVEN-
MILFORD

NEW ORLEANS-METAIRIE

NEW YORK-NEWARK-JERSEY CITY

NILES

NORTH PORT-SARASOTA-BRADENTON

NORWICH-
NEW

LONDON

OCALA

OCEAN CITY

ODESSA

OGDEN-CLEARFIELD

OKLAHOMA CITY

OLYMPIA-LACEY-TUMWATER

OMAHA-
COUNCIL
BLUFFS

ORLANDO-

KISSIMMEE-

SANFORD

OSHKOSH-
NEENAH

OWENSBORO

OXNARD-THOUSAND OAKS-VENTURA

PANAMA
CITY

PARKERSBURG-

VIENNA

PENSACOLA-
FERRY PASS-

BRENT

PEORIA

PHILADELPHIA-CAMDEN-

WILMINGTON

PHOENIX-MESA-CHANDLER

PINE BLUFF

PITTSBURGH

PITTS-
FIELD

POCATELLO

PORTLAND-

SOUTH

PORTLAND

PORTLAND-VANCOUVER-HILLSBORO

PORT
ST. LUCIE

PRESCOTT VALLEY-PRESCOTT

PROVO-OREM

PUEBLO

PUNTA GORDA

RACINE

RALEIGH-
CARY

RAPID CITY

READINGREDDING

RENO

RICHMOND

RIVERSIDE-SAN BERNARDINO-ONTARIO

ROANOKE

ROCHESTER

ROCHESTER

ROCKFORD

ROCKY MOUNT

ROME

SACRAMENTO-ROSEVILLE-FOLSOM

SAGINAW

ST. CLOUD

ST. GEORGE

ST. JOSEPH

ST. LOUIS

SALEM

SALINAS

SALISBURY

SALT LAKE CITY

SAN ANGELO

SAN ANTONIO-
NEW BRAUNFELS

SAN DIEGO-CHULA VISTA-CARLSBAD

SAN FRANCISCO-OAKLAND-BERKELEY

SAN JOSE-SUNNYVALE-SANTA CLARA

SAN LUIS OBISPO-PASO ROBLES

SANTA CRUZ-WATSONVILLE

SANTA FE

SANTA MARIA-SANTA BARBARA

SANTA ROSA-       PETALUMA

SAVANNAH

SCRANTON--

WILKES-BARRE

SEATTLE-TACOMA-BELLEVUE

SEBRING-

AVON PARK

SHEBOYGAN

SHERMAN-
DENISON

SHREVEPORT-
BOSSIER CITY

SIERRA VISTA-DOUGLAS

SIOUX CITY

SIOUX FALLS

SOUTH
BEND-

MISHAWAKA

SPARTAN-
BURG

SPOKANE-SPOKANEVALLEY

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRING-
FIELD

STATE
COLLEGE

STAUNTON

STOCKTON

SUMTER

SYRACUSE

TALLAHASSEE

TAMPA-

ST. PETERSBURG-

CLEARWATER

TERRE
HAUTE

TEXARKANA

THE
VILLAGES

TOLEDO

TOPEKA

TRENTON-
PRINCETON

TUCSON

TULSA

TUSCALOOSA

TYLER

UTICA-ROME

VALDOSTA

VALLEJO

VICTORIA

VINELAND-

BRIDGETON

VISALIA

WACO

WALLA WALLA

WARNER
ROBINS

WASHINGTON-

ARLINGTON-

ALEXANDRIA

WATERLOO-
CEDAR FALLS

WATERTOWN-

FORT DRUM

WAUSAU-
WESTON

WEIRTON-

STEUBENVILLE

WENATCHEE

WHEELING

WICHITA

WICHITA FALLS

WILLIAMSPORT

WILMINGTON

WINCHESTER

WINSTON-

SALEM

WORCESTER

YAKIMA

YORK-

HANOVER

YUBA CITY

YUMA

Vidalia

    Vin-
cennes

Vineyard

Haven

Wa-
bash

Wahpeton

Wapakoneta

Warren

Warrensburg

Warsaw

Washington

Washington

Washington
Court House

Watertown

Watertown-
Fort

Atkinson

Wauchula

Waycross

Weatherford

West
Plains

White-
water

Williston

Willmar

Wilming-
ton

Wilson

Winnemucca

Winona

Wisconsin
Rapids-

Marshfield

Woodward

Wooster

Worthington

Yankton

Zanesville

Zapata

PALM BAY-MELBOURNE-TITUSVILLE

SEBASTIAN-VERO BEACH

MIAMI-
FORT LAUDERDALE-

POMPANO BEACH

CUMBERLAND

PROVIDENCE-

WARWICK

BOSTON-CAMBRIDGE-NEWTON

YOUNGSTOWN-

WARREN-
BOARDMAN

Point
Pleasant

HILTON HEAD ISLAND-BLUFFTON

VIRGINIA BEACH-NORFOLK-NEWPORT NEWS

Fort
Payne

MACON-BIBB
COUNTY

Eufaula

Atmore

Bonham

Ruidoso

Fairmont

Central
City

Browns-
ville

Pella

Carroll

Grand Rapids

Jennings

West
Point

St. Marys

Hope

Jasper

Alexander City

Scotts-
burg

Minden

POUGHKEEPSIE-

NEWBURGH-

MIDDLETOWN

Union

Granbury

Pearsall

Rockport

Mount Gay-

Shamrock

Anaheim-Santa Ana-Irvine

Boston

Cambridge-Newton-

Framingham

Camden

Chicago-
Naperville-

Evanston

Dallas-Plano-Irving

Detroit-
Dearborn-
Livonia

Elgin

Fort Lauderdale-

Pompano Beach-
Sunrise

Fort Worth-
Arlington-Grapevine

Gary

Lake County-
Kenosha County

Los Angeles-Long Beach-Glendale

Miami-
Miami Beach-

Kendall

Montgomery

County-Bucks

County-Chester County

Nassau County-

Suffolk CountyNewark

Oakland-Berkeley-Livermore

Philadelphia

Rockingham
County-

Strafford County

San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City

San
Rafael

Seattle-Bellevue-Kent

Frederick-
Gaithersburg-

Rockville

Tacoma-Lakewood

Warren-Troy-Farmington Hills

Washington-
Arlington-

Alexandria            

West Palm Beach-

Boca Raton-

Boynton Beach

Wilmington

New York-Jersey City-White Plains

New Brunswick-Lakewood

70°W75°W115°W120°W

120°W125°W130°W

50°N

25°N

Pacific Ocean

Gulf of Mexico

Atlantic Ocean

C A N A D A

M E X I C O

110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W

115°W120°W

75°W 70°W

125°W 120°W

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

25°N

55°N 115°W 110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W 75°W 70°W 65°W 60°W

AK

KETCHIKAN GATEWAY

MATANUSKA-SUSITNA

JUNEAU

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS
NORTH STAR

Juneau

Ketchikan

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS

60°N

150°W 130°W140°W160°W170°W170°E

50°N

Bering Sea

R U S S I A

C A N A D A

180°

55°N

65°N
70°N

HI

Hilo

Kapaa

KAHULUI-WAILUKU-LAHAINA

URBAN
HONOLULU

MAUI

HAWAII

HONOLULU

KAUAI

22°N

20°N

Pacific Ocean

160°W 156°W158°W 154°W

PR CIALES
COROZALMOROVIS

PONCE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

UTUADO

ADJUNTAS

AGUADILLA

AGUAS
BUENAS

AIBONITO

AÑASCO

ARROYO

BARRAN-
QUITAS

BA
YA

M
ÓN

CABO
ROJO

CAGUAS
NAGUABO

NARANJITO

PEÑUELAS

QUEBRADILLAS

RINCÓN

SALINAS

SAN
JUAN

SAN
LORENZO

SANTA
ISABEL

TOA ALTA

TOA BAJA

TRUJILLOALTO

VEGA
BAJA

VILLALBAYAUCO

CANÓVANAS

CAYEY

CEIBA

CIDRA

COAMO

FAJARDO

FL
OR

IDA

GUÁNICA

GU
AY

AN
ILL

A

GU
AY

NA
BO

GURABO

HORMIGUEROS

HUMACAO

LAJAS

LARES

LA
S P

IED
RA

S

LUQUILLO

MAUNABO

CAMUY

HATILLO

LOÍZA

PATILLAS
SABANA
GRANDE

SAN SEBASTIÁN

YABUCOA

JUNCOS

JUANA
DÍAZ

AGUADA

BARCELONETA

CAROLINA

COMERÍO

GUAYAMA

JAYUYA

MANATÍ

OROCOVIS

SAN
GERMÁN

VEGA
ALTAARECIBO

CATAÑO

DORADO

ISABELA

MOCA

RÍO
GRANDE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

LAS MARÍASMAYAGÜEZ

SAN GERMÁN
GUAYAMA

ARECIBO

SAN JUAN-BAYAMÓN-CAGUAS
AGUADILLA-ISABELA

PONCE

Coco

Coamo

Santa
Isabel

Jayuya

YAUCO

68°W

18°30'N

Atlantic Ocean

Caribbean Sea

67°30'W 67°W 66°30'W 66°W 65°30'W

18°N

Puerto Rico

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE  Economics and Statistics Administration  U.S. Census Bureau
Prepared by the Geography Division, April 2019

Miles0 100 200

Kilometers0 100 200

1:16,000,000

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

0 10 20 30 40 Miles

0 10 20 30 40 Kilometers

1:1,200,000

Legend

Outside Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

BALTIMORE* Core Based Statistical Area Incorporated Place
that is legally independent of any county

CUMBERLAND Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

Urbanized Area or Urban Cluster with a
population of 10,000 or more in 2010

Metropolitan Statistical AreaYAKIMA

Shelton Micropolitan Statistical Area

Metropolitan DivisionNewark

International

KS State (or statistical equivalent)

Core Based Statistical Area Description

     The United States Office of Management and Budget delineates metropolitan
and micropolitan statistical areas, which are referred to collectively as "core
based statistical areas" (CBSAs). The general concept of the metropolitan and
micropolitan statistical area is that of a core area containing a substantial
population nucleus, together with adjacent communities having a high degree
of economic and social integration with that core. Metropolitan statistical
areas contain at least one urbanized area of 50,000 or more population;
micropolitan statistical areas contain at least one urban cluster of at least
10,000 and less than 50,000 population. If specified criteria are met,
a metropolitan statistical area containing a single core with a population
of 2.5 million or more may be subdivided into metropolitan divisions, which
function as distinct areas within the larger metropolitan statistical area.
CBSAs are composed of entire counties. There are 392 metropolitan
statistical areas, of which 11 are subdivided into 31 metropolitan divisions,
and 546 micropolitan statistical areas in the United States and Puerto Rico,
as of September 2018.                                                                        

   CBSA boundaries and titles are as of September 2018, and reflect the
application of the 2010 Standards for Delineating Metropolitan and Micropolitan
Statistical Areas to Census Bureau data. All other boundaries and names are as of
January 1, 2018.                                                                              

Source Description

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas
of the United States and Puerto Rico

September 2018

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas of the United States and Puerto Rico September 2018

Population Division, (301) 763-2419.

Resources
Further information about geographic areas delineated under the metropolitan and micropolitan
statistical area standards is available at "Metro and Micro Areas" within the "Surveys/Programs"

area of the Census Bureau's Internet Site at www.census.gov, or by contacting:

AZ

AR

CA CO

CT

DC

GA

IL

IN

LA

MN

MS

MT

NM

ND

OK

PA

TN

VA

DE

WV

WI

WY

AL

FL

ID

KS

MD

NJ

NC

SC

WA

VT

UT

IA

KY

ME

MA

MI

MO

NE

NV

NH

NY

OH

OR

RI
SD

TX

ELDORADO

PLACER

DE
AR

BO
RN

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

WAYNE

ADAMS

PIATT

TIPPECANOE

OAKLAND

CHRISTIAN

GARFIELD

MONTGOMERY

LYNN

DUNN

ISABELLA

MEDINA

POLK

CADDO

ST. LOUIS

ASHTABULA

COFFEE

TUOLUMNE

PAULDING

CUMBERLAND

SCOTT

GEAUGA

DAWSON

GILLESPIE

PETERSBURG*

LYON

HOOD

HALE

ST. LUCIE

ESCAMBIA

HARALSON

BALTIMORE*

BRANCH

ALCORN

FRANKLIN

ARLINGTON

NEWTON

SPALDING

WAKE

KNOX

MARTINSVILLE*

MARATHON

MAHASKA

MENOMINEE

ATASCOSA

GREENE

HERNANDO

FRANKLIN

CHESAPEAKE*

ST. FRANCIS

GRANT

LINCOLN

PETTIS

GENESEE

MARION

TAYLOR

TOM GREEN

DANE

PHELPS

HANSON

FAIRFIELD

STEUBEN

MOWER

CASS

ERIE

MINNEHAHA

TELLER

MACOUPIN

KENDALL

HENRY

LAPEEROLMSTED

WEXFORD

JEFFERSON

KEWAUNEE

MOHAVE

MARSHALL

JOSEPHINE

ANDREWS

MATHEWS

HOT
SPRING

BOISE

MENARD

LAWRENCE

PUTNAM

MADISON

GENESEE

MONTEREY

MONTGOMERY

HANCOCK

CHELAN

CASS

SCHUYLER

BRADFORD

NUECES

SPOKANE

MORGAN

TIFT

LaSALLE

DUBOIS

FORD

EATON

DODGE

STARK

KENDALL

JOHNSON

CALUMET

BARTON

FLATHEAD

IRION

VERM
ILLION

SCOTTS BLUFF

PUTNAM

RENVILLE

RACINE

DeKALB

MADISON

MARSHALL

LINN

ALLEGAN

CREEK

LOGAN

FRANKLIN

STUTSMAN

HOPEWELL*

LEE

RANDOLPH

MACON

STORY

MASSAC

OUTAGAMIE

CERRO
GORDO

CLAY

WASHINGTON

SALINE

VANCE

WINNEBAGO

PORTER

CHRISTIAN

NOBLE

ALAMANCE

CHAMPAIGN

CHRISTIAN

COLONIAL
HEIGHTS*

FAIRFAX*

HARRISONBURG*

BECKHAM

BUTLER

SEDGWICK

BLACK HAWK

DeSOTO

BUENA VISTA

COLLIN

CORYELL

HARVEY

COWLEY

IONIA

KALAMAZOO

KENT

DODGE

MUSKEGON

FREEBORN

ST. JOSEPH

DOUGLAS

FALLS

UNION

BANDERA

GRUNDY

LINCOLN

RALLS

CHARLOTTESVILLE*

MARINETTE

BOWIE

CLARKE

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

LINN

CALDWELL

STEELE

CLAY

CLINTON

HENDRICKS

KEARNY

WYOMING

McKEAN
LIVINGSTON

BELKNAP

CARROLL

MADISON

LUNA

COOS

McLEOD

NEWTON

CA
BA

RR
US

MENOMINEE

SANBENITO

MADISON

INDIAN
RIVER

STOKES

ST.
JOSEPH

KNOX

MERCER

MIAMI

McPHERSON

McLEAN

SAN BERNARDINO

JONES

DAWSON

WASCO

MILLE
LACS

GILCHRIST

PICKAWAY

LEBANON

BROWN

HAYS

BEN HILL

CATOOSA

JONES

WALWORTH

CARSONCITY*

CALHOUN

DALLAS

PUTNAM

FRANKLIN

MONROE

MUSKINGUM

PERRY

STARK

RICHLAND

ROSS

WILLIAMSON

HARDEE

TUSCARAWAS

UNION

WARREN

MADISON

WILSON

PIKE

COSHOCTON

ARMSTRONG

FAYETTE

RICE

CLEVELAND

BREMER

ROCK-
WALL

SAN LUIS OBISPO

ADAMS

OLDHAM

OTTER TAIL

SANTA FE

HILLSDALE

WILLIAMSBURG*

DELAWARE

CRAWFORD

FOND DU LAC

CARROLL

MIDLAND

FAYETTE

BOONE

SHIAWASSEE

JACKSON

MARION

MIAMI

MONTGOMERY

POLK

OGLE

NEVADA

KINGS

SHASTA

OTTAWA

POLK

CASS

SCHLEY

NORTON*

HAMPTON*

HOWELL

MIDLAND

ARAPAHOE

SCURRY
JONES

CURRY

CALLAHAN

UPSHUR

CORTLAND

GOSPER

HUNT

BROOME

CARTER

WALKER

FULTON

BROOKE

PICKENS

MONON-
GALIA

SU
NFLO

WER

CALDWELL

DODDRIDGE

NASSAU

TAYLOR

CLINTON

FLAGLER

SEMINOLE

PAYNE

PIKE

JASPER

DALE

HOWARD

ELLIS

ORLEANS

WARREN

KOSCIUSKO

PERRY

TORRANCE

LINCOLN

MARION

COCONINO

GRAVES

PULASKI

GILA

WOODFORD

SANTA BARBARA

LIBERTY

PUTNAM

MANASSAS
PARK*

ELMORE

GREENE

COLQUITT

JEFFERSON

SAN PATRICIO

SUFFOLK*

OKTIBBEHA

COOSA

LABETTE

HENRY

TEHAMA

ELBERT

BARTHOLOMEW

ERATH

CARLTON

W
ASHINGTON

HURON

ECTOR

LINCOLN

SPENCER

HOCKING

SANDUSKY

CRAVEN

MIDDLESEX

EDMUNDS

TAYLOR

WASHTENAW

KOOTENAI

GRANT

WEBSTER

RADFORD*

ROOSEVELT

FORREST

DOUGHERTY

BROWN

McPHERSON

SAGINAW

WEAKLEY

POLK

DELAWARE

MOORE

ADAMS

DEAF SMITH

TOOMBS

SENECA

GUERNSEY

LITTLE RIVER

LENAWEE

WASHINGTON

LAWRENCE

HENRY

ARCHER

SEWARD

NOBLES

McLENNAN

WAPELLO

BENTON

RENO

BOND

JOHNSON

CROSBY

INGHAM

HARNETT

TURNER

WILLIAMSON

GRAFTON

GARFIELD

MADISON

HEARD

LORAIN

COFFEE

CARSON

WYANDOTTE

WAYNE

CRAWFORD

ISANTI

OKMULGEE

BUFFALO

WABASH

BOONE

SHAWANO

KERR

POQUOSON*

LYNCHBURG*

DeKALB

PONTOTOC

WORTH

OSCEOLA

HOWARD

MIAMI GATES

GRUNDY

WALTON

PERSON

LOGAN

ROCKLAND

RAPPA-
HANNOCK

ALLEGANY

POINSETT

BENTON

GUILFORD

CLINTON

SUMMIT

McDONOUGH

MORGAN

DADE

LOS ANGELES

JEFFERSON

STEPHENS

FINNEY

MARSHALL

BUTLER

WEBSTER

CHIPPEWA

FRESNO

MERCER

PEORIA

ALEX-
ANDRIA*

JACKSON

BEADLE

MADISON

PORTAGE

ANDERSON

UINTA

KEMPER

MARSHALL

CARROLL

HENDRY

GRAND ISLE

WHATCOM

MERCER

BERKELEY

LOGAN

TOLLAND

SUSSEX

ADAMS

OHIO

KNOX

TRIGG

MEADE

TULARE

NORFOLK

WORCESTER

WAYNE

MIDDLES
EX

WESTCHESTER

CAYUGA

RENSSELAER

CRAWFORD

LOWNDES

GARLAND

PITKIN

ROUTT

W
HI

TF
IEL

D

WAYNE

BRACKEN

JEFFERSON

CAMERON

ORLEANS

ALPENA

CHIPPEWA

MORGAN

JASPER

PULASKI

ANOKA

LEE

ADAIR

DODGE

WILKES

COFFEE

DENTON

BENZIE

FLOYD

COMAL

BALDWIN

MORGAN

BELL

SALT LAKE

SAUK

LANCASTER

GASTON

RANDOLPH

ST. CLAIR

SCOTT

SULLIVAN

GRAND FORKS
CLATSOP

PICKENS

BLOUNT

JEFFERSON

ISLE OF
WIGHT

SALINE

KERN

PUEBLO

BARROW

COBB

UPSON

HANCOCK

DuPAGE

TAZEWELL

HANCOCK

PIKE

BOONE

KENNEBEC

CARVER

LINCOLN

SCHOHARIE

CALDWELL

CANADIAN

WOODWARD

CROOK

POSEY

JONES

LEFLORE

BOONE

BOSSIER

CHISAGO

WASHINGTON

SALEM*

McHENRY

PHILLIPS

VENTURA

IMPERIAL

LITCHFIELD

HILLSBOROUGH

CHATTA-
HOOCHEE

SULLIVAN

SCOTT

LEAVENW
ORTH

ISLAND

MORRIS

ONTARIO

FORSYTH

CHATHAM

ETOWAH

DALLAS

GRAHAM

KNOX

CLEAR
CREEK

BUTTS

FULTON

COWETA

OCONEE

WEST
BATON

ROUGE

GUTHRIE

BOURBON

RAPIDES

SALINE

PIERCE

SUFFOLK

NIAGARA

KLEBERG

CRAIG

LIVINGSTON

DORCHESTER

ROANE

HOWARD

BRAZOS

OLDHAM

CAMPBELL

HARDIN

TALBOT

NODAWAY

CASS

PRINCE
GEORGE

IOWA

SHERBURNE

WALKER

YORK

MONTGOMERY

LAUDERDALE

COCHISE

MILLER

ORANGE

OWYHEE

MARICOPA

KANKAKEE

STOREY

DU
RH

AM

STARK

MONTOUR

VENANGO

LYON

GLOUCESTER

ORANGE

GEORGETOWN

ANDERSON

YANKTON

CHAMBERS

CLAY

UINTAH

ORANGE

SNOHOMISH

BROWN

WOOD

YAVAPAI

JEFFERSON

FREMONT

CAMAS

BINGHAM

BULLITT

HOWARD

RA
MSE

Y

BROWN

TATE

CASCADE

YELLOWSTONE

MERRICK

BEDFORD

OTERO

LOGAN

ONONDAGA

MARLBORO

BRONX

BREVARD

CHAMPAIGN

CLARK

JEFFERSON

DAKOTA

GRANVILL
E

ALLEGHENY

LINCOLN

CLARK

LAURENS

DUNKLIN

SURRY

DAUPHIN

IREDELL

ARMSTRONG

ATLANTIC

ST. MARY

CHESTERFIELD

AIKEN

SUFFOLK

BERKS

CALLOWAY

LEXINGTON

PERRYERIE

KENOSHA

NEW
CASTLE

CHARLOTTE

HARTFORD

PENNINGTON

ARANSAS

BEAUFORT

ST. CROIX

SHEBOYGAN

DELTA

SCOTT

BUNCOMBE

ELKHART

YADKIN

WICOMICO

AN
DR

OS
CO

GG
IN

CRAWFORD

COOKE

WISE

JASPER

CHARLESTON

AUSTIN

TETON

RICHLAND

NEWBERRY

SCHUYLKILL

YUBA

JOHNSON

CASSIA

EDDY

DICKINSON

HOPKINS

RUTHERFORD

DICKSON

CAMBRIA

CLAY

BEE

SHERIDAN

ROCKINGHAM

SUMTER

SALUDA

NEWPORT

LAWRENCE

SOMERSET

GALVESTON

FAULKNER

DeKALB

GRATIOT

HOUGHTON

CENTRE

HAWKINS
SULLIVAN

DARLINGTON

DELAWARE

BRISTOL

WASHINGTON

FRANKLIN

HAMPDEN

HENDERSON

SEBASTIAN

CUSTER

TIPTON

SUMNER

CLINTON

KNOX

RUTLAND

HANCOCK

SKAMANIA

LAMAR

JEROME

NEW LONDON

LIVINGSTON

TROUP

VIGO

BRANTLEY

MANATEE

SAN JOAQUIN

McCRACKEN

FILLMORE

KENT

HILLSBOROUGH

CO
LU

MBIA

CACHE

LE SUEUR

YAKIMA

WALLAWALLA

WHITMAN

RICHLAND

NELSON

DALLAS

STAFFORD

CHILTON

WOOD

EAGLE

HIGHLANDS

NEW
 HAVEN

DAVIS

CUMBERLAND

KEWEENAW

UTAH

LARAMIE

ALBEMARLE

GALLATIN

MONTGOMERY

WINDSOR

FR
AN

KL
IN

CLINTON

FLOYD

BALDWIN

AMELIA

MARION

NEWTON

CLARK

OZ
AU

KE
E

ROBERTSON

MARION

CROCKETT

GORDON

FRANKLIN

CHAVES

LEELANAU

MISSAUKEE

SPOTSYLVANIA

MERRIMACK

DYER

HOKE

STANISLAUS

FREMONT

JACKSON

ALACHUA

MADISON

HUNTINGDON

OWEN

WOODBURY

FRANKLIN

DAVIESS

WASHINGTON

OTTAWA

SUMNER

SCOT-
LANDLOUDON

HUGHES

CHESTER

GREENUP

MACON

MINIDOKA

LAKE

LACKA-
WANNA

SHELBY

LANCASTER

LAWRENCE

LEHIGH

LACLEDE

CHEROKEE

PIERCE

CONTRA COSTA

EFFINGHAM

OVERTON

POLK

ROWAN

WILL

CLINTON

LUZERNE

LAFAYETTE

WARREN

OSAGE

GEM

PAYETTE

DARE

BELL

DAVIDSON

BLUE EARTH

POTTAWATOMIE

McHENRY

WHITLEY

WASHINGTON

MONTGOMERY

SO
M

ER
SE

T

ULSTER

DAVIE

YORK

BOYD

BUTLER

OTTAWA

PAMLICO

TEXAS

PRINCE
WILLIAM

MANASSAS*

NORTHAMP-
TON

CAMDEN

HARDIN

JEFFER-
SON

ELMORE

MERCED

PIERCE

CHESTER

MARTIN

TARRANT

BURLINGTON

CUMBERLAND

BEAUFORT

CAMDEN

NEW
HANOVER

LUCAS

STEUBEN

RUTHERFORD

LAKE

LINCOLN

SPARTANBURG

BUTTE

CLAYTON

LONG

JACKSON

DAVIESS

HAMILTON

FLUVANNA

OSAGE

BRYAN

YORK

MATAGORDA

LAFAYETTE

LYON

CHEROKEE

THURSTON

KANAWHA

NATRONA

SAUNDERS

PROVIDENCE

ZAPATA

IRON

MOORE

OKLAHOMA

CLACKAMAS

SNYDER

UNION

STANLEY

SIOUX

DOÑA ANA

JOHNSON

HALL

CRAWFORD

DENVER

TERRELL

CUMBERLAND

DALLAS

WIN-
CHESTER*

BEDFORD

GOLIAD

QUEENS

UNION

ORANGE

NEWTON

WORTH

BUREAU

JASPER

PICKENS

CHEROKEE

DECATUR

FAYETTE

JOHNSON

GEARY

ROGERS

PULASKI

MADISON

WILSON

CHARLES

HAMILTON

GRANT

HENRY

METCALFE

BELTRAMI

LAFAYETTE

COLE

JESSAMINE

FR
ANKLIN

RAY

CHURCHILL

LEE

PORTAGE

RICHMOND

DUVAL

OLIVER

ORANGEBURG

MORTON

NORTH-

UMBERLAND

WESTMORELAND

MAURY
WARREN

JEFFERSON

LIBERTY

TWIN FALLS

ST. CLAIR

ALEXANDER

PIKE

DE SOTO

McKINLEY

CHEATHAM

NAVARRO

HOPKINS

HUTCHINSON

UVALDE

WARR
EN

HALL

CHEMUNG

DeKALB

SANTA CLARA

MONTGOMERY

NEW KENT

CULPEPER

STANTON

CASS

BULLOCH

SMITH

MOBILE

PLAQUEMINES

WASHINGTON

CHARLESCITY

COLUMBIA

GREENE

LAMPASAS

COMANCHE

CABELL

HOCKLEY

LASSEN

McINTOSH

JACKSON

CLAY

HUMBOLDT

RIO ARRIBA

GRANT

COLUMBIA

JEFFERSON

GUADALUPE

POTTER

ANDERSON

RICHMOND*

FRANKLIN

CRITTENDEN

LEE

BRYAN

LAKE

HAMILTON

BUTLER

JACKSON

ADAMS

GREENVILLE

LINCOLN

WARREN

JEFFERSON

CANYON

PINAL

MONROE

ANNE
ARUNDEL

ANDREW

EDGEFIELD

WASHINGTON

WISE

CAMPBELL

TUSCALOOSA

NACOGDOCHES

BENTON

SANTACRUZ

WINNEBAGO

ALLEN

BOONE

IBERIA

PIMA

CAPE
GIRARDEAU

WASHOE

UNION

PASSAIC

MONROE

DOUGLAS

ADA

BUTTE

FAYETTE

HUMBOLDT

CHATTOOGA

JERSEY

SAGADAHOC

ST.
MARY'S

PLYMOUTH

ST.
MARTIN

JEFFERSON

GALLIA

BUCKS

BARREN

LAUREL

SCOTT

HINDS

WEBSTER

ATCHISON
MASON

ST. BERNARD

CALCASIEU

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N

CAMPBELL

WILLACY

JUAB

ORANGE

LINCOLN

JOHNSTON

WAGONER

HARRISON

ITAWAMBA

NYE

CLALLAM

ASOTIN

ROCK

MADISON

MOORETULSA

BURLESON

TIOGA

CALHOUN

CLARKE

SCOTT

SCHENECTADY

ROCKINGHAM

MARION

SEQUOYAH

COLUMBIA

TANEY

CALLAWAY

CANNON

GRAY

GRANT

LATAH

DAVIDSON

TAZEWELL

TUNICA

BRAZORIA

BRISTOL*

FLORENCE

CLAY

SANDOVAL

PALO PINTO

WARREN

GREENE

WALTON

CALHOUN

CLARK

RO
CK

-
DA

LE

SANGAMON

GRENADA

BERNALILLO

JACKSON

JOHNSON

MONT-
  GOMERY

CARROLL

STEPHENSON

LIVINGSTON

HOUSTON

DICKINSON

MERCER

MARION

KEARNEY

DEFIANCE

SILVER BOW

BURKE

BATH

MORROW

HAYWOOD

ALBANY

BENTON

BERRIEN

HENRY

KANDIYOHI

PITTSBURG

FULTON

BRADLEY

GILES

ROANOKE*

MONROE

LAMAR

PENDLETON

MIFFLIN

WILKIN

MAHONING

GRAINGER

BOONE

DORCHESTER

UNION

BUCHANAN

MAVERICK

LIVINGSTON

ST.
LOUIS*

ONSLOW

HENRY

HANCOCK

KALKASKA

COWLITZ

LAWRENCE

LIMESTONE

BAXTER

BLOUNT

LAURENS

CATTARAUGUS

MEADE

DUKES

CODINGTON

YELL

DAVISON

WILSON

HENDERSON

WAUKESHA

CITRUS

SARPY

JASPER

SIMPSON

DIXON

IBERVILLE

ONEIDA

MISSISSIPPI

RICHMOND

GADSDEN LEONOKALOOSA

PUTNAM

EFFINGHAM

OBION

WASHINGTON

ST.
CLAIR

VAL VERDE

PERRY

KITTITAS

SANTA ROSA

HARRIS

CARBON

REEVES

LAKE

CHAMBERS

WINDHAM

MARQUETTE

PASQUOTANK

DANVILLE*

POLK

SH
EL

BY

WARREN

BLAIR

KITSAP

WAKULLA

WARE
GREGG

RANDALL

BROWARD

VERMILION

BEAUREGARD

MONROE

WALLER

WASHINGTON

CAMPBELL

CLARKE

DeSOTO

LAWRENCE

LINCOLN

BANNER

OCONEE

HORRY

WAYNE

W
OODFORD

GREENE

BELMONT

ATHENS

WASHINGTON

OHIO

SALEM

CARTERET

LANCASTER

EDMONSON

HERKIMER

MONROE

MADISON

TITUS

PENOBSCOT

LOS ALAMOS

MUSKOGEE

FORT BEND

FREDERICKS-
BURG*

POTTAWATOMIE

JACKSON

SENECA

GREENWOOD

PIKE

GAGE

MIAMI-DADE

UNION

DES
MOINES

FREDERICK

KINGS

M
AR

SH
AL

L

HALE

LOGAN

BLAINE

SANTA CRUZ

SARASOTA

BONNER

ST. J
OHN THE

BAPTIST

PAWNEE

ALBANY

ST. TAMMANY

MECKLENBURG

FAYETTE

MINERAL

WALKER

WELD

JEFFERSON

PRINCE
GEORGE'S

SONOMA

WINONA

POPE

MARION

EAST
FELICIANA

FRANKLIN

PLATTE

EL PASO

COLUMBIA

CRISP

DUTCHESS

SEVIER

HARRISON

HIDALGO

SOLANO

WABASHA

BATES

SUMTER

MILLS

ANDER
SO

N

McCLAIN

KAUFMAN

BOLLINGER

LA
CROSSE

OSWEGO

YOLO

BOX ELDER

JONES

CARBON

BARTOW

MONTROSE

WARREN

SHELBY

NAVAJO

DISTRICT OF

COLUMBIA

HARRISON

NEWPORT
NEWS*

FAIRFIELD

ST. LAWRENCE

CALHOUN

WHITESIDE

SUMMIT

COLLIER

GLYNN

SUMTER

PEARL RIVER

ST.
JAMES

NORFOLK*

MOREHOUSE

PORTSMOUTH*

JACKSON

TOOELE

BASTROP

WASATCH

TRAVIS

LINCOLN

AUGLAIZE

TERREBONNE

UNION

MISSOULA

GILPIN

ST.
FRANCOIS

WICHITA

MASON

VICTORIA

CLERMONT

WEBB

FAYETTE

MER
IW

ETH
ER

MONROE

CLARK

POWHATAN

AUTAUGA

CAMERON

BOONE

LOGAN

STEVENS

MUSCOGEE

OGLETHORPE

CUYAHOGA

VIRGINIA
BEACH*

MACOMB

WHITLEY

EL PASO

BROOKS

BENNINGTON

DOUGLAS

PO
TT

AW
AT

TA
M

IE

FORSYTH

MALHEUR

CALVERT

LEE

ELLIS

LAFOURCHE

KENEDY

BOTETOURT

WASHINGTON

WAYNESBORO*

GREEN

LEE

DONIPHAN

LUBBOCK

KANE

EAU CLAIRE

ALLEN

LEA

NAPA

WARREN

WILLIAMSON

LANIER

FULTON

TWIGGS

HAMPSHIRE

VERMILION

MUSCATINE

DOUGLAS

SHAWNEE

ELKO

ST.
HELENA

TANGIPAHOA

LARIMER

NORTHAMPTON

ESSEX

BROWN

KENT

CALHOUN

VANDERBURGH

HENDERSON

RIVERSIDE

FLORENCE

MULTNOMAH

HALIFAX

CLAY

NASH

ALLEN

WHITE

ASHLAND

ROANOKE

UNION

KERSHAW

OTTAWA

MONT-
GOMERY

POLK

McDUFFIE

CROW
WING

NATCHITOCHES

MORGAN

COAHOMA

PHILADELPHIA

WARD

CAMDEN

JEFFERSON

CURRY

CAPE
MAY

RILEY

COLUMBIANA

OCONTO

WOOD

HU
DS

ON

NEW
YORK

MARTIN

PALM BEACH

OSAGE

MARION

MORROW

OKEECHOBEE

WRIGHT

CHESHIRE

LEWIS AND CLARK

MENDOCINO

DARKE

DINWIDDIE

MOFFAT

FRANKLIN

ORANGE

LEWIS

BEAVER

CHAUTAUQUA

CHATHAM

TETON

MORGAN

PUTNAM

RALEIGH

SUSSEX

BIBB

LEWIS

COLUMBIA

ST. LOUIS

SACRAMENTO

OUACHITA

BAY

SCOTT

JEFFERSON

FAIRFIELD

HUNTING-
TON

LARUE

WILLIAMS

HUNTERDON

NEZ
PERCE

BURKE

KENTON

HOUSTON

MEDINA

GWINNETT

M
ILW

AUKEE

BOLIVAR

WAS
HIN

GT
ON

GRANT

UMATILLA

CARBON

BERKSHIRE

PLATTE

ST.
JOHNS

LOWNDES

BRUNSWICK

ASCENSION

KING

LAKE

JIM
WELLS

WIRT

LEE

SUTTER

MADERA

BAKER

SEWARD

CULLMAN

PASCO

SCIOTO

TRUMBULL

WHARTON

CLARK

RANKIN

FREMONT

NELSON

HANCOCK

STRAFFORD

HOODRIVER

DAWSON

McMINN

GOOCHLAND

MONITEAU

WAYNE
PITT

LaPORTE

MADISON

CLINTON

SANMATEO

SAN FRANCISCO

LO
W

ND
ES

BROOKINGS

DELNORTE

HUDSPETH

SEQUATCHIE

SMITH

MECOSTA

MONTCALM

HENNEPIN

GRANT

BEXAR

DOUGLAS

GRADY

CLEVELAND

KAY

MARSHALL

ESSEX

CARTER

HAMBLEN

CHESTER

ADAMS

MORGAN BALTIMORE

PONTOTOC

RANDOLPH

AUGUSTA

SWEETWATER

BUTLER

BANNOCK

HE
ND

ER
SO

N HAMPSHIRE

FAYETTE

COLUMBIA

THOMAS

DESCHUTES MIDDLESEX

GALLATIN
SUMMIT

STAUNTON*

SHELBY

WABAUNSEE

WEBER

JEFFERSON

EAST
BATON
ROUGE

JACKSON

ADAMS

DUBUQUE

LYCOMING

BAY

ACADIA

WATAUGA

CUMBERLAND

BROWN

YORK

CONCORDIA

TRAN-
SYLVANIA

TALLADEGA

SAN DIEGO

MANITOWOC

BOULDER

HOUSTON

LAMAR

SAN MIGUEL

RHEA

CALHOUN

CHEROKEE

McCOOK

HENRICO

APPOMATTOX

JAMES
CITY

TOMPKINS

COTTON

NOLAN

POINTE
COUPEE

BERGEN

BALLARD

SOMERSET

BENTON

WASHINGTON

McLEAN

M
UR

RA
Y

UNICOI

FAIRFAX

PARK

OTSEGO

SARATOGA

ST. LANDRY

INDEPENDENCE

COLES

INDIANA

MARIN

WORCESTER

CLARK

VERNON

CIBOLA

VAN WERT

WILBARGER

FRANKLIN

LANE

FREDERICK

YAZOO

LINCOLN

OCEAN

PRESTON

OUACHITA

MADISON

FALLS
CHURCH*

BROOMFIELD

EDGECOMBE

JACKSON

HABER-
SHAM

PI
NE

LL
AS

McDOWELL

KING WILLIAM

CECIL

CRAIGHEAD

BRISTOL

PITTSYLVANIA

JEFFERSON

UNION

WAYNE

COPIAH

PENDER

PARKER

AMHERST

CATAWBA

FAUQUIER

WASHINGTON

DECATUR

JEFFERSON

JACKSON

NASSAU

ST. CHARLES

HARRISON

CLAY

GRAND
TRAVERSE

CLINTON

JEFFERSON

LONOKE

JENNINGS

HENRY

BONNEVILLE

UNION

GENEVA

WARRICK

ALAMEDA

MASON

DOUGLAS

CURRI-
TUCK

COCKE

NICOLLET

STEARNS

CUMBERLAND

JASPER

WASHINGTON

ROBERTSON

MASON

MESA

HARRISON

LENOIR

GRAYS HARBOR

SKAGIT

ECHOLS

ALEXANDER

MADISON

RUSSELL

ANGELINA

MENIFEE

HANCOCK

PER-
QUIMANS

DOUGLAS

CLEVELAND

MERCER

GRAYSON

ST.
CHARLES

EUREKA

CHITTENDEN

VALENCIA

CLEARFIELD

CASS

DAKOTA

COOK

ROCK ISLAND

BENTON

BURLEIGH

BERKELEY

AUDRAIN

MONTGOMERY

GLOUCESTER

HANOVER

RUSK

STARR

HARFORD

BOYLE

M
AR

SH
AL

L

LICKING

SUSSEX

RICHMOND

LOUDOUN

LA PLATA

PEACH

STEPHENS

QUEEN
ANNE'S

SHELBY

ROCKINGHAM

TAOS

ROBESON

COLBERT

CARROLL

MONTGOMERY

LINN

STANLY

YUMA

WEST
FELICIANA

COOS

PIERCE

MONMOUTH

ERIE

DOUGLAS

SAN JUAN

GOODHUE

KLAMATH

JACKSON

BIBB

VOLUSIA

WASH-
INGTON

DOUGLAS

YATES

YAMHILL

TROUSDALE

BARNSTABLE

LINCOLN

PULASKI

HARRIS

DeKALB

BARBOUR

QUIT-
MAN

ESCAMBIA

LINCOLN

MARTIN

MUHLENBERG

HEMPSTEAD

NEVADA

JEFFERSON
DAVIS

TALLAPOOSA

FANNIN

HAYWOOD

CARROLL

MARION

CLAY

ITASCA

ELK

GREENE

WASHINGTON

SHARP

FRANKLIN

OURAY

LEVY

STEWART

TREUTLEN

ATKINSON

TALBOT

POWER

JOHNSON

WARREN

PARKE

FRANKLIN

CHASE
GREEN

EST
ILL

CLAY

CARTER

ASSUMPTION

LAKE

PRENTISS

WEBSTER

HOLMES

COVINGTON

STONE

HOWARD

COOPER

RIPLEY

STILLWATER

MORA

SWAIN ANSON

BILLINGS

ELLIS

LOVE

CLARENDON

JERAULD

HAMLIN

GIBSON

STEWART

ROBERTS

LOVING
STERLING

CAMP

FRIO

DUVAL

BLAND

MADISON

KING AND QUEEN

SOUTHAMPTON
FRANKLIN*

JACKSON

MORGAN

CROOK

WESTON

Aberdeen

Aberdeen

Ada

Adrian

Alamogordo

Albe-
marle

Albert Lea

Albertville

Alexandria

Alice

Alma

Alpena

Altus

Americus

Amsterdam

Andrews

Angola

Arcadia

Ardmore
Arkadelphia

Winfield

Ash-
land

Ashtabula

Astoria

Atchison

Athens

Athens

Athens

Auburn

Auburn

Augusta-

Waterville

Austin

Bainbridge

Baraboo

Bardstown

Barre

Bartlesville

Batavia

Batesville

Bay City

Beatrice

Beaver
Dam

Bedford

Beeville

Bellefon-
taine

Bemidji

Bennettsville

Bennington

Berlin

Big
Rapids

Big Spring

Big Stone
Gap

Blackfoot

Bluefield

Blytheville

Bogalusa

Boone

Borger

Bozeman

Bradford

Brainerd

Branson

Breckenridge

Brenham

Brevard

Brookhaven

Brookings Brookings

Brownwood

Bucyrus-
Galion

Burley

Burlington

Butte-
Silver Bow

Cadillac

Calhoun

Cambridge

Cambridge

Camden

Campbellsv
ille

Cañon City

Carlsbad-Artesia

Cedar City

Cedartown

Celina

Centralia

Centralia

Charleston-
Mattoon

Chillicothe

Lebanon

Clarksburg

Clarksdale

Clearlake

Cleveland

Clewiston

Clinton

Clovis

Coffeyville

Coldwater

Colum-
bus

Columbus

Concord

Con-
ners-

ville

Cookeville

Coos Bay

Cordele

Corinth

Cornelia

Corning

Corsicana

Cortland

Coshocton

Craig
Craw-
fords-

ville

CrescentCity

Crossville

Cullman

Cullowhee

Danville
Danville

Da
yto

n

De-
catur

Defiance

Del Rio

Deming

DeRidder

Dickinson

Dixon

Dodge City

Douglas

Dublin

DuBois

Dumas

Duncan

Durango

Durant

Dyersburg

Eagle Pass

Easton

Edwards

Effingham

El Campo

El Dorado

Elizabeth City

Elk City

Elkins

Elko

Ellensburg

Emporia

ENID

Enterprise

Escanaba

Española

Eureka-Arcata

Evanston

Fairfield

Fairmont
Fallon

Faribault-
Northfield

Farmington

Fergus Falls

Fernley

Findlay

Fitzgerald

Forest
City

Forrest City

Fort
Dodge

Fort
Leonard

Wood

Fort
Madison-

Keokuk

Fort Morgan

Fort Polk
South

Frankfort

Frank-
fort

Fredericksburg

Freeport

Fremont

Fremont

Gaffney

Gainesville

Gales-
burg

Gallup

Garden City

GardnervilleRanchos

Georgetown

Gillette

Glasgow

Glenwood Springs

Gloversville

Grants

Great
Bend

Greeneville

Greens-
burg

Greenville

Green-
ville

Greenwood

Green-
wood

Grenada

Guymon

Hailey

Hannibal

Harrison

Hastings

Hays

Heber

Helena

Helena-
West

Helena

Henderson

Hereford

Hermiston-Pendleton

Hillsdale

Hobbs

Holland

HoodRiver

Houghton

Hudson

Huntingdon

Hunt-
ing-
ton

Huntsville

Huron

Hutchinson

Hutchinson

Indiana

Indianola

Iron
Mountain

Jackson

Jackson

Jacksonville

Jackson-
ville

Jamestown

Jamestown-

Dunkirk-
Fredonia

Jasper

Jefferson

Jesup

Kalispell

Kearney

Keene

Kendall-
ville

Kennett

Kerrville

Key
West

Kill
Devil

Hills

Kingsville

Kinston

Kirksville

Klamath Falls

LaconiaLa Grande

LaGrange

Lake
City

Lamesa

Laramie

Las Vegas

Laurel

Laurin-
burg

Lawrenceburg

Lebanon

Levelland

Lewisburg

Lewis-
burg

Le
wist

ow
n

Lexington

Liberal

Lincoln

Lock
Haven

Logans-
port

London

Los Alamos

Luding-
ton

Lufkin

Lumberton

Macomb

Madison

Madison-
ville

Magnolia

Malone

Malvern

Manitowoc

Marietta

Marinette

Marion

Marion

Marion

Marquette

Marshall

Marshall

Marshall-
town

Martin

Martinsville

Maryville

Mason
City

May-
field

Maysville

McAlester

McComb

McMinn-
ville

McPherson

Meadville

Menomonie

Meridian

Mexico

Miami

Middles-
borough

Milledge-
ville

Mineral
Wells

Minot

Mitchell

Moberly

Montrose

Morehead City

Morgan
City

Moscow

Moses Lake

Moultrie

Mountain
Home

Mountain
Home

Mount
Airy

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Pleasant

Mount
Sterling

Mount
Vernon

Mount
Vernon

Murray

Muscatine

Muskogee

Nacogdoches

Natchez
Natchitoches

Newberry

New
Castle

New
Castle

New
Philadelphia-

Dover

Newport

Newport

New Ulm

Nogales

Norfolk

North Platte

North
 Vernon

North
Wilkesboro

Norwalk

OakHarbor

Ogdensburg-

Massena

Oil City

Okeechobee

Olean

Oneonta

Ontario

Opelousas

Orangeburg

Oskaloosa

Othello

Ottawa

Ottawa

Ottumwa

Owa-
tonna

Oxford

Ozark

Paducah

Pahrump

Palatka

Palestine

Pampa

Paragould

Paris

Paris

Parsons

Payson

Pecos

Peru

Picayune

Pierre

Pinehurst-
Southern

Pines

Pittsburg

Plainview

Platteville

Plattsburgh

Plymouth

Ponca City

Pontiac

Poplar Bluff

Portales

Port Angeles

Port
Lavaca

Portsmouth

Pottsville

Price

Prineville

Pullman

Quincy

Raymondville

Red Bluff

Red WingRexburg

Rich-
mond

Richmond-
Berea

Rio Grande
City-Roma

Riverton

Roanoke
Rapids

Rochelle

Rocking-
ham

Rock Springs

Rolla

Roseburg

Roswell

Russellville

Ruston

Rutland

Safford

St. Marys

Salem

Salina

Sandpoint

Sandusky

Sanford

Sault Ste. Marie

Sayre

Scottsbluff

Scottsboro
Searcy

Sedalia

Selinsgrove

Selma

Seneca

Seneca
Falls

Sevierville

Seymour

Shawano

Shawnee

Shelby

Shelbyville

Shelton

Sheridan

Show Low

Sidney

Sikeston

Silver City

Snyder

Somerset

Somerset

Sonora

Spearfish

Spencer

Spirit
Lake

Starkville

Statesboro

Steamboat
Springs

Stephenville

Sterling

Sterling

Stevens
Point

Stillwater

Storm
Lake Sturgis

Sulphur
Springs

Summer-
ville

Sunbury

Susanville

Sweetwater

Tahlequah

Talladega-
Sylacauga

Taos

Taylorville

The Dalles

Thomaston

Thomas-
ville

Tiffin

Tifton

Toccoa

Torrington

Traverse City

Troy

Truckee-Grass Valley

Tullahoma-
Manchester

Tupelo

TWIN FALLS

Ukiah

Union
City

Urbana

Uvalde

Van Wert

Vermillion

Vernal

Vernon

Vicksburg

ABILENE

AKRON

ALBANY

ALBANY-LEBANON

ALBANY-SCHENECTADY-

TROY

ALBUQUERQUE

ALEXANDRIA

ALLENTOWN-

BETHLEHEM-

EASTON

ALTOONA

AMARILLO

AMES

ANN
ARBOR

ANNISTON-
OXFORD

APPLETON

ASHEVILLE

ATHENS-
CLARKE
COUNTY

ATLANTA-SANDY SPRINGS-ALPHARETTA

ATLANTIC CITY-HAMMONTON

AUBURN-
OPELIKA

AUGUSTA-

RICHMOND
COUNTY

AUSTIN-
ROUND ROCK-
GEORGETOWN

BAKERSFIELD

BALTIMORE-COLUMBIA-

TOWSON

BANGOR

BARNSTABLE TOWN

BATON ROUGE

BATTLE
CREEK

BAY
CITY

BEAUMONT-
PORT

ARTHUR

BECKLEY

BELLINGHAM

BEND
BILLINGS

BINGHAMTON

BIRMINGHAM-
HOOVER

BISMARCK

BLACKSBURG-

CHRISTIANSBURG

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMINGTON

BLOOMSBURG-

BERWICK

BOISE
CITY

BOULDER

BOWLING
GREEN

BREMERTON-SILVERDALE-PORT ORCHARD

BRIDGEPORT-

STAMFORD-

NORWALK

BROWNSVILLE-HARLINGEN

BRUNSWICK

BUFFALO-

CHEEKTOWAGA

BUR-
LING-

TON

BURLINGTON-

SOUTH
BURLINGTON

CALIFORNIA-

LEXINGTON 

      PARK

CANTON-
MASSILLON

CAPE CORAL-FORT MYERS

CAPE 
GIRARDEAU

CARBONDALE-
MARION

CARSONCITY

CASPER

CEDAR RAPIDS

CH
AM

BE
RS

BU
RG

-
W

AY
NE

SB
OR

O

CHAMPAIGN-
URBANA

CHARLESTON

CHARLESTON-

NORTH CHARLESTON

CHARLOTTE-

CONCORD-

GASTONIA

CHARLOTTESVILLE

CHATTANOOGA

CHEYENNE

CHICAGO-
NAPERVILLE-

ELGIN

CHICO

CINCINNATI

CLARKSVILLE

CLEVELAND

CLEVELAND-

ELYRIA

COEUR
D'ALENE

COLLEGE
STATION-

BRYAN

COLORADO SPRINGS
COLUMBIA

COLUMBIA

COLUMBUS

COLUM-
BUS

COLUMBUS

CORPUS
CHRISTI

CORVALLIS

CRESTVIEW-

FORT WALTON BEACH-

DESTIN

DALLAS-FORT WORTH-ARLINGTON

DALTON

DAN-
VILLE

DAPHNE-
FAIRHOPE-

FOLEY

DAVENPORT-MOLINE-

ROCK ISLAND

DAYTON-
KETTERING

DECATUR

DECATUR

DELTONA-
DAYTONA

BEACH-

ORMOND BEACH

DENVER-AURORA-LAKEWOOD

DES MOINES-
WEST DES MOINES

DETROIT-WARREN-

DEARBORN

DOTHAN

DOVER

DUBUQUE

DULUTH

DURHAM-

CHAPEL
HILL

EAST
STROUDSBURG

EAU CLAIRE

EL CENTRO

ELIZABETHTOWN-

    FORT KNOX

ELKHART-
GOSHEN

ELMIRA

EL PASO

ERIE

EUGENE-SPRINGFIELD

EVANSVILLE

FARGO

FARMINGTON FAYETTEVILLE

FAYETTEVILLE-
SPRINGDALE-ROGERS

FLAGSTAFF

FLINT

FLORENCE

FLORENCE-
MUSCLE
SHOALS

FOND DU LAC

FORT COLLINS

FORT
SMITH

FORT WAYNE

FRESNO

GADSDEN

GAINESVILLE

GAINESVILLE

GETTYSBURG

GLENS FALLS

GOLDS-
BORO

GRAND
FORKS

GRAND ISLAND

GRAND JUNCTION

GRAND RAPIDS-

KENTWOOD

GRANTS PASS

GREAT FALLS

GREELEY

GREEN BAY

GREENSBORO-

HIGH POINT
GREEN-

VILLE

GREENVILLE-

ANDERSON

GULFPORT-BILOXI

HAGERSTOWN-

MARTINSBURG

HAM-
MOND

HANFORD-CORCORAN

HARRISBURG-

CARLISLE

HARRISONBURG

HARTFORD-

EAST HARTFORD-

MIDDLETOWN

HATTIESBURG

HICKORY-
LENOIR-

MORGANTON

HINESVILLE

HOMOSASSA
SPRINGS

HOT
SPRINGS

HOUMA-THIBODAUXHOUSTON-THE WOODLANDS-SUGAR LAND

HUNTINGTON-

ASHLAND

HUNTSVILLE

IDAHO FALLS

INDIANAPOLIS-
CARMEL-

ANDERSON

IOWA
CITY

ITHACA

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSON

JACKSONVILLE

JACKSON-
VILLE

JANESVILLE-
BELOIT

JEFFERSON CITY

JOHNSON
CITY

JOHNS-
TOWN

JONESBORO

JOPLIN

KALAMAZOO-
PORTAGE

KANKAKEE

KANSAS CITY

KENNEWICK-RICHLAND

KILLEEN-TEMPLE

KINGSPORT-
BRISTOL

KINGSTON

KNOXVILLE

KOKOMO

LA CROSSE-
ONALASKA

LAFAYETTE

LAFAYETTE-WEST LAFAYETTE

LAKE CHARLES

LAKE HAVASU CITY-KINGMAN

LAKELAND-

WINTER HAVEN

LANCASTER

LANSING-
EAST

LANSING

LAREDO

LAS CRUCES

LAS VEGAS-HENDERSON-PARADISE

LAWRENCE

LAWTON

LEBANON

LEWISTON
LEWISTON-

AUBURN

LEXINGTON-
FAYETTE

LIMA

LINCOLN

LITTLE ROCK-
NORTH LITTLE ROCK-

CONWAY

LOGAN

LONGVIEW

LONGVIEW

LOS ANGELES-LONG BEACH-ANAHEIM

LOUISVILLE/
JEFFERSON

COUNTY

LUBBOCK

LYNCHBURG

MADERA

MADISON

MANCHESTER-

NASHUA

MANHATTAN

MANKATO

MANS-
FIELD

McALLEN-
EDINBURG-

MISSION

MEDFORD

MEMPHIS

MERCED

MICHIGAN CITY-
LA PORTE

MIDLAND

MIDLAND

MILWAUKEE-
WAUKESHA

MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL-
BLOOMINGTON

MISSOULA

MOBILE

MODESTO

MONROE

MONROE

MONTGOMERY

MORGANTOWN

MORRIS-
TOWN

MOUNT VERNON-ANACORTES

MUNCIE

MUSKEGON

MYRTLE BEACH-CONWAY-NORTH MYRTLE BEACH

NAPA

NAPLES-

MARCO ISLAND

NASHVILLE-DAVIDSON--

MURFREESBORO--FRANKLIN

NEW BERN

NEW
HAVEN-
MILFORD

NEW ORLEANS-METAIRIE

NEW YORK-NEWARK-JERSEY CITY

NILES

NORTH PORT-SARASOTA-BRADENTON

NORWICH-
NEW

LONDON

OCALA

OCEAN CITY

ODESSA

OGDEN-CLEARFIELD

OKLAHOMA CITY

OLYMPIA-LACEY-TUMWATER

OMAHA-
COUNCIL
BLUFFS

ORLANDO-

KISSIMMEE-

SANFORD

OSHKOSH-
NEENAH

OWENSBORO

OXNARD-THOUSAND OAKS-VENTURA

PANAMA
CITY

PARKERSBURG-

VIENNA

PENSACOLA-
FERRY PASS-

BRENT

PEORIA

PHILADELPHIA-CAMDEN-

WILMINGTON

PHOENIX-MESA-CHANDLER

PINE BLUFF

PITTSBURGH

PITTS-
FIELD

POCATELLO

PORTLAND-

SOUTH

PORTLAND

PORTLAND-VANCOUVER-HILLSBORO

PORT
ST. LUCIE

PRESCOTT VALLEY-PRESCOTT

PROVO-OREM

PUEBLO

PUNTA GORDA

RACINE

RALEIGH-
CARY

RAPID CITY

READINGREDDING

RENO

RICHMOND

RIVERSIDE-SAN BERNARDINO-ONTARIO

ROANOKE

ROCHESTER

ROCHESTER

ROCKFORD

ROCKY MOUNT

ROME

SACRAMENTO-ROSEVILLE-FOLSOM

SAGINAW

ST. CLOUD

ST. GEORGE

ST. JOSEPH

ST. LOUIS

SALEM

SALINAS

SALISBURY

SALT LAKE CITY

SAN ANGELO

SAN ANTONIO-
NEW BRAUNFELS

SAN DIEGO-CHULA VISTA-CARLSBAD

SAN FRANCISCO-OAKLAND-BERKELEY

SAN JOSE-SUNNYVALE-SANTA CLARA

SAN LUIS OBISPO-PASO ROBLES

SANTA CRUZ-WATSONVILLE

SANTA FE

SANTA MARIA-SANTA BARBARA

SANTA ROSA-       PETALUMA

SAVANNAH

SCRANTON--

WILKES-BARRE

SEATTLE-TACOMA-BELLEVUE

SEBRING-

AVON PARK

SHEBOYGAN

SHERMAN-
DENISON

SHREVEPORT-
BOSSIER CITY

SIERRA VISTA-DOUGLAS

SIOUX CITY

SIOUX FALLS

SOUTH
BEND-

MISHAWAKA

SPARTAN-
BURG

SPOKANE-SPOKANEVALLEY

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRINGFIELD

SPRING-
FIELD

STATE
COLLEGE

STAUNTON

STOCKTON

SUMTER

SYRACUSE

TALLAHASSEE

TAMPA-

ST. PETERSBURG-

CLEARWATER

TERRE
HAUTE

TEXARKANA

THE
VILLAGES

TOLEDO

TOPEKA

TRENTON-
PRINCETON

TUCSON

TULSA

TUSCALOOSA

TYLER

UTICA-ROME

VALDOSTA

VALLEJO

VICTORIA

VINELAND-

BRIDGETON

VISALIA

WACO

WALLA WALLA

WARNER
ROBINS

WASHINGTON-

ARLINGTON-

ALEXANDRIA

WATERLOO-
CEDAR FALLS

WATERTOWN-

FORT DRUM

WAUSAU-
WESTON

WEIRTON-

STEUBENVILLE

WENATCHEE

WHEELING

WICHITA

WICHITA FALLS

WILLIAMSPORT

WILMINGTON

WINCHESTER

WINSTON-

SALEM

WORCESTER

YAKIMA

YORK-

HANOVER

YUBA CITY

YUMA

Vidalia

    Vin-
cennes

Vineyard

Haven

Wa-
bash

Wahpeton

Wapakoneta

Warren

Warrensburg

Warsaw

Washington

Washington

Washington
Court House

Watertown

Watertown-
Fort

Atkinson

Wauchula

Waycross

Weatherford

West
Plains

White-
water

Williston

Willmar

Wilming-
ton

Wilson

Winnemucca

Winona

Wisconsin
Rapids-

Marshfield

Woodward

Wooster

Worthington

Yankton

Zanesville

Zapata

PALM BAY-MELBOURNE-TITUSVILLE

SEBASTIAN-VERO BEACH

MIAMI-
FORT LAUDERDALE-

POMPANO BEACH

CUMBERLAND

PROVIDENCE-

WARWICK

BOSTON-CAMBRIDGE-NEWTON

YOUNGSTOWN-

WARREN-
BOARDMAN

Point
Pleasant

HILTON HEAD ISLAND-BLUFFTON

VIRGINIA BEACH-NORFOLK-NEWPORT NEWS

Fort
Payne

MACON-BIBB
COUNTY

Eufaula

Atmore

Bonham

Ruidoso

Fairmont

Central
City

Browns-
ville

Pella

Carroll

Grand Rapids

Jennings

West
Point

St. Marys

Hope

Jasper

Alexander City

Scotts-
burg

Minden

POUGHKEEPSIE-

NEWBURGH-

MIDDLETOWN

Union

Granbury

Pearsall

Rockport

Mount Gay-

Shamrock

Anaheim-Santa Ana-Irvine

Boston

Cambridge-Newton-

Framingham

Camden

Chicago-
Naperville-

Evanston

Dallas-Plano-Irving

Detroit-
Dearborn-
Livonia

Elgin

Fort Lauderdale-

Pompano Beach-
Sunrise

Fort Worth-
Arlington-Grapevine

Gary

Lake County-
Kenosha County

Los Angeles-Long Beach-Glendale

Miami-
Miami Beach-

Kendall

Montgomery

County-Bucks

County-Chester County

Nassau County-

Suffolk CountyNewark

Oakland-Berkeley-Livermore

Philadelphia

Rockingham
County-

Strafford County

San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City

San
Rafael

Seattle-Bellevue-Kent

Frederick-
Gaithersburg-

Rockville

Tacoma-Lakewood

Warren-Troy-Farmington Hills

Washington-
Arlington-

Alexandria            

West Palm Beach-

Boca Raton-

Boynton Beach

Wilmington

New York-Jersey City-White Plains

New Brunswick-Lakewood

70°W75°W115°W120°W

120°W125°W130°W

50°N

25°N

Pacific Ocean

Gulf of Mexico

Atlantic Ocean

C A N A D A

M E X I C O

110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W

115°W120°W

75°W 70°W

125°W 120°W

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

45°N

40°N

35°N

30°N

25°N

25°N

55°N 115°W 110°W 105°W 100°W 95°W 90°W 85°W 80°W 75°W 70°W 65°W 60°W

AK

KETCHIKAN GATEWAY

MATANUSKA-SUSITNA

JUNEAU

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS
NORTH STAR

Juneau

Ketchikan

ANCHORAGE

FAIRBANKS

60°N

150°W 130°W140°W160°W170°W170°E

50°N

Bering Sea

R U S S I A

C A N A D A

180°

55°N

65°N
70°N

HI

Hilo

Kapaa

KAHULUI-WAILUKU-LAHAINA

URBAN
HONOLULU

MAUI

HAWAII

HONOLULU

KAUAI

22°N

20°N

Pacific Ocean

160°W 156°W158°W 154°W

PR CIALES
COROZALMOROVIS

PONCE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

UTUADO

ADJUNTAS

AGUADILLA

AGUAS
BUENAS

AIBONITO

AÑASCO

ARROYO

BARRAN-
QUITAS

BA
YA

M
ÓN

CABO
ROJO

CAGUAS
NAGUABO

NARANJITO

PEÑUELAS

QUEBRADILLAS

RINCÓN

SALINAS

SAN
JUAN

SAN
LORENZO

SANTA
ISABEL

TOA ALTA

TOA BAJA

TRUJILLOALTO

VEGA
BAJA

VILLALBAYAUCO

CANÓVANAS

CAYEY

CEIBA

CIDRA

COAMO

FAJARDO

FL
OR

IDA

GUÁNICA

GU
AY

AN
ILL

A

GU
AY

NA
BO

GURABO

HORMIGUEROS

HUMACAO

LAJAS

LARES

LA
S P

IED
RA

S

LUQUILLO

MAUNABO

CAMUY

HATILLO

LOÍZA

PATILLAS
SABANA
GRANDE

SAN SEBASTIÁN

YABUCOA

JUNCOS

JUANA
DÍAZ

AGUADA

BARCELONETA

CAROLINA

COMERÍO

GUAYAMA

JAYUYA

MANATÍ

OROCOVIS

SAN
GERMÁN

VEGA
ALTAARECIBO

CATAÑO

DORADO

ISABELA

MOCA

RÍO
GRANDE

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

MAYAGÜEZ
(part)

LAS MARÍASMAYAGÜEZ

SAN GERMÁN
GUAYAMA

ARECIBO

SAN JUAN-BAYAMÓN-CAGUAS
AGUADILLA-ISABELA

PONCE

Coco

Coamo

Santa
Isabel

Jayuya

YAUCO

68°W

18°30'N

Atlantic Ocean

Caribbean Sea

67°30'W 67°W 66°30'W 66°W 65°30'W

18°N

Puerto Rico

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE  Economics and Statistics Administration  U.S. Census Bureau
Prepared by the Geography Division, April 2019

Miles0 100 200

Kilometers0 100 200

1:16,000,000

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

0 10 20 30 40 Miles

0 10 20 30 40 Kilometers

1:1,200,000

Legend

Outside Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

BALTIMORE* Core Based Statistical Area Incorporated Place
that is legally independent of any county

CUMBERLAND Core Based Statistical Area County
(or statistical equivalent)

Urbanized Area or Urban Cluster with a
population of 10,000 or more in 2010

Metropolitan Statistical AreaYAKIMA

Shelton Micropolitan Statistical Area

Metropolitan DivisionNewark

International

KS State (or statistical equivalent)

Core Based Statistical Area Description

     The United States Office of Management and Budget delineates metropolitan
and micropolitan statistical areas, which are referred to collectively as "core
based statistical areas" (CBSAs). The general concept of the metropolitan and
micropolitan statistical area is that of a core area containing a substantial
population nucleus, together with adjacent communities having a high degree
of economic and social integration with that core. Metropolitan statistical
areas contain at least one urbanized area of 50,000 or more population;
micropolitan statistical areas contain at least one urban cluster of at least
10,000 and less than 50,000 population. If specified criteria are met,
a metropolitan statistical area containing a single core with a population
of 2.5 million or more may be subdivided into metropolitan divisions, which
function as distinct areas within the larger metropolitan statistical area.
CBSAs are composed of entire counties. There are 392 metropolitan
statistical areas, of which 11 are subdivided into 31 metropolitan divisions,
and 546 micropolitan statistical areas in the United States and Puerto Rico,
as of September 2018.                                                                        

   CBSA boundaries and titles are as of September 2018, and reflect the
application of the 2010 Standards for Delineating Metropolitan and Micropolitan
Statistical Areas to Census Bureau data. All other boundaries and names are as of
January 1, 2018.                                                                              

Source Description

0 50 100 150 200 Miles

0 50 100 150 200 Kilometers

1:4,000,000

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas
of the United States and Puerto Rico

September 2018

Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Areas of the United States and Puerto Rico September 2018

Population Division, (301) 763-2419.

Resources
Further information about geographic areas delineated under the metropolitan and micropolitan
statistical area standards is available at "Metro and Micro Areas" within the "Surveys/Programs"

area of the Census Bureau's Internet Site at www.census.gov, or by contacting:





















 
 

301 S. Depeyster Street ● Kent, Ohio 44240 ● 330.676.7500 ● Fax 330.678.8033 
www.kentohio.org 

 

 

CITY OF KENT, OHIO 
 
                          
                         OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER  

 
 
 

Ms. Grace Gallucci 
Executive Director 
Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency (NOACA) 
1299 Superior Ave. 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 
 
Re: NOACA’s efforts to eliminate the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area 
 
Dear Ms. Gallucci, 
 
The City of Kent understands that your agency is pursuing the elimination of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area 
(MSA) as an official U.S. Census designation. The City of Kent strongly opposes this change in the MSA as being 
advanced by NOACA.  
 
It is the position of the City of Kent that combining the Akron, Canton and Cleveland MSAs would significantly 
reduce the importance of not only the Akron and Canton MSA’s but all of Northeast Ohio. Northeast Ohio is 
comprised of several strong urban cores that include Akron, Canton and Cleveland, which represents a level of 
regional diversity and strength that other homogenous regions can’t boast. Akron is synonymous with the rubber 
industry and more recently Polymers. Canton is synonymous with the Football Hall of Fame. The loss of these 
independent urban cores’ MSA identity would lessen not only Akron and Canton’s identity, but the identity of 
Northeast Ohio. 
 
While you and NOACA may view your agency’s efforts as a positive for the Greater Cleveland area, we view the 
effort as a negative for the City of Kent and our neighbors in Portage and Summit Counties. Kent is proud of its 
diversity and heritage and sees diversity as a strength. We believe that the elimination of the Akron and Canton 
MSAs will begin the gradual erosion of the region’s diversity and reduce our ability to advocate, plan and pursue 
future projects and economic development opportunities. Kent is a strong proponent of regional cooperation. 
However cooperation entails working together to find common ground and goals to move the region forward. This 
proposal, with its lack of regional support and regional discussion is not one that the City of Kent can support. 
 
Therefore, the City of Kent is joining with the growing number of communities in Portage and Summit Counties in 
opposition with this NOACA initiative. Understand that the City of Kent will take whatever steps necessary to ensure 
that the MSA’s in Northeast Ohio remain separate thereby accurately reflecting the geographic, social and economic 
diversity of our region. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Dave Ruller 
City Manager 
Kent, Ohio 
 
 
CC: Timothy Lennon, NOACA Board President, Geauga County Commissioner   

 
 
 

http://www.kentohio.org/


People Working Together for a Better Tomorrow 

 
April 23, 2020 
  
Ms. Grace Gallucci  
Executive Director  
Northeast Ohio Areawide Coordinating Agency (NOACA)  
1299 Superior Ave.  
Cleveland, OH 44114  
 
Re: NOACA's efforts to eliminate the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area  
 
Dear Ms. Gallucci,  
 
It has been brought to the attention of the village of Mantua that your agency is pursuing the elimination of the 
Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) as an official U.S. Census designation.  This letter is to inform you 
that the village of Mantua staunchly opposes this questionable initiative by NOACA.   
 
It is the position of our city that combining the Akron and Cleveland MSAs would significantly diminish the 
importance of the Akron MSA in the U.S. Census.  This action, if enacted by the Office of Management and 
Budget (OMB) and U.S. Census Bureau, would be detrimental to the greater Akron region in terms of loss of 
identity, loss of data and outside analysis specific to the Akron MSA, and jeopardizes the local control of 
communities within the Akron MSA.  Current OMB delineation rules do not support NOACA’s initiative and 
should not be changed.  
 
While you and the NOACA Policy Committee may view your agency’s efforts to expand the Cleveland MSA 
as something positive for the Greater Cleveland area, we view your efforts as a negative for Mantua and our 
neighbors throughout the Greater Akron area.  It is the position of our city that this effort to eliminate the Akron 
MSAs represents the beginning of a gradual encroachment upon our community’s abilities to advocate, plan and 
pursue future projects and economic development opportunities.  We have long advocated cooperative 
regionalism approaches to planning when practical, but this proposal by NOACA does not meet that criterion 
with regards to our city’s interests. 
 
We are adding our village’s voice to the growing chorus of communities within Portage and Summit counties 
that are opposed to this NOACA initiative.  We will pursue all courses of action available to our city to ensure 
that the U.S. Census Bureau maintains a separate Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) that reflects the 
interests of our community and our region. 
  
Sincerely, 

 
Linda Clark, Mayor                                                                                                                                                 
Village of Mantua                                                                                                                                                   
AMATS Policy Committee Chairwoman         
 

 

John Trew 
Village Administrator 

 
 

Michele Stuck 
Village Solicitor 

 

Linda Clark 
Mayor 

 
Jenny August 
Clerk-Treasurer 

Tax Administrator 

    VILLAGE OF MANTUA 
          OFFICE OF THE  
                  MAYOR 

 

4650 WEST HIGH STREET P.O. BOX 775 
 MANTUA, OHIO 44255 

PHONE (330) 274-8776 FAX (330) 274-2884 
 










	TAC, CIC and Policy Committee Meeting Packet - May 2020
	Policy Agenda - May 14, 2020
	Thursday, May 14, 2020

	TAC Agenda - May 6, 2020
	Wednesday, May 6, 2020

	CIC Agenda - May 7, 2020
	Thursday, May 7, 2020

	Attachment 2A - Policy Minutes - March 11, 2020
	OBSERVERS AND STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT
	REPRESENTING

	Attachment 2A - TAC Minutes - March 5, 2020
	Recordings of AMATS committee meetings are available in the Podcast section of the agency web site at www.amatsplanning.org/category/meetings/.
	OBSERVERS AND STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT

	REPRESENTING

	Attachment 2A - CIC Minutes - March 5, 2020 with Barnes Comments
	Attachment 2A - CIC Minutes - March 5, 2020
	Carson Barnes - Comments on AMATS Transportation Improvement Program STBG Funding Program

	Attachment 3A - Financial Progress Report
	Fin Prog Rprt

	Attachment 3C - Federal Program Balances - TABLES ONLY
	STBG
	CMAQ & TASA

	Attachment 6A - Resolution 2020-05 Transportation Outlook 2040 Amendment
	Attachment 6A - Resolution 2020-05 Transportation Outlook 2040 Amendment
	OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY

	Plan Amendment 5-14-20 - AMATS Transportation Outlook 2040
	0-1 - Cover (Amended 5-14-20)
	4-0 - Recommendations (Amended 5-14-20)
	5-1 - Appendix A - Air Quality Analysis (Amended 5-14-20)
	5-2 - Appendix B - Financial Plan (Amended 5-14-20)
	5-3 - Appendix C - Environmental Justice (Amended 5-14-20)


	Attachment 6B - Resolution 2020-06 Adopting the new TIP FY 2021-24
	Attachment 6B - Resolution 2020-06 Adopting the new TIP FY 2021-24
	Second Draft of the FY 2021-2024 TIP v8.0

	Attachment 6C - Resolutions 2020-07 and 2020-08 - Annual Consistency and Self Certification
	DATE: April 29, 2020
	RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-07
	OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY
	RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-07 - Continued


	Attachment 6D - Resolution 2020-09 FY 2021 Work Program and Budget
	Attachment 6D - Resolution 2020-09 FY 2021 Work Program - Cover Memo and Resolution - Sans Table 2
	AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY
	Technical Advisory Committee Members
	Work Program and Budget


	Attachment 6D - Table 2 - Final Local Share
	Attachment 6D - Resolution 2020-09 FY 2021 Work Program - Cover Memo and Resolution - Sans Table 2

	TAC, CIC and Policy Committee Meeting Packet - May 2020
	Attachment 6E - Resolution 2020-10 Opposing the Elimination of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area
	Attachment 6E - Resolution 2020-10 Opposing the Elimination of the Akron Metropolitan Statistical Area
	AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY
	Technical Advisory Committee Members
	OF THE AKRON METROPOLITAN AREA TRANSPORTATION STUDY

	Mayor Horrigan Akron Letter of Opposition
	Mayor Judge Barberton Letter of Opposition
	Joe Stefan Barberton Letter of Opposition
	Mayor Walters Cuy Falls Letter of Opposition
	Mayor Neugebauer Green Letter of Opposition
	Dave Ruller Kent Letter of Opposition
	Mayor Clark Mantua Letter of Opposition
	Portage County Commissioners Resolution of Opposition
	Mayor Broska Streetsboro Letter of Opposition





